Channa S. Prakash Sajid Fiaz Shah Fahad *Editors*

Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement



Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement

Channa S. Prakash • Sajid Fiaz • Shah Fahad Editors

Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement



Editors Channa S. Prakash College of Arts and Sciences Tuskegee University TUSKEGEE, AL, USA

Shah Fahad Department of Agriculture University of Haripur Khybr Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan Sajid Fiaz Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics The University of Haripur Haripur, Pakistan

ISBN 978-3-030-96924-0 ISBN 978-3-030-96925-7 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7

@ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

1	Principles and Practices of Genome Editing in Crop Plants Gai Yuhong, Adnan Rasheed, Zhao Zhuo, John J. Gardiner, Muhammad Umair Hassan, Shah Fahad, Syed Faheem Anjum Gillani, Maria Batool, and Wei Jian	1
2	The Revolution of Omics Technology in Plant Science Emre Aksoy, Hikmet Yılmaz, and Ceyhun Kayıhan	23
3	Multi-omics Approaches for Strategic Improvementsof Crops Under Changing Climatic ConditionsUmair Ashraf, Sammina Mahmood, Naveed Shahid,Muhammad Imran, Maham Siddique, and Muhammad Abrar	57
4	The Applications of Genomics and TranscriptomicsApproaches for Biotic Stress Tolerance in Crops.V. M. Malathi, M. Amrutha Lakshmi, and Sona Charles	93
5	Role of Metabolomics and Next-Generation Sequencing for Sustainable Crop Production. Muhammad Waseem, Oswald Nkurikiyimfura, Sylvain Niyitanga, Witness J. Nyimbo, Iffat Shaheen, and Mehtab Muhammad Aslam	123
6	Effect of Climate Change on Abiotic Stress Response Gene Networks in Arabidopsis thaliana Bayram Ali Yerlikaya, Dilan Ates, Buasimuhan Abudureyimu, and Emre Aksoy	149
7	The Application of Databases and Bioinformatics for the Genome Editing of Crops. Hafiz Muhammad Ahmad, Munnaza Ijaz, Farrukh Azeem, Muhammad Amjad Ali, Shahid Iqbal Awan, Omar Aziz, Muhammad Abdullah, and Mahmood-Ur-Rahman	173

8	Omics Technology: Revolution in Plant Biology Syed Abdul Majeed Musavi, Sharjeel Ahmad, Saira Abbas, Habib-ur-Rehman Athar, and Iftikhar Ahmed	197
9	Nanobiotechnology and Its Applications in Plant System Biology Abdul Rehman, Zahid Manzoor, Abdul Qayyum, Zhen Peng, Hongge Li, Guangyong Qin, Yinhua Jia, Zhaoe Pan, Shoupu He, and Xiongming Du	213
10	Advances in Integrated High-Throughput and PhenomicsApplication in Plants and AgricultureMuhammad Waseem, Iffat Shaheen, and Mehtab Muhammad Aslam	239
11	Understanding Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants by Proteomic Approach Muhammad Zakariya, Fazal Akbar, Arshad Iqbal, Syed Shujait Ali, Zafar Ali, Muhammad Suleman, Wajid Khan, Shahid Ali, Muzafar Shah, Muhammad Israr, and Akhtar Rasool	257
12	Novel Nanotechnology-Based Vector Delivery in CRISPR System for Transgene-Free Editing Sumbul Saeed, Adeel Ahmed, Sabzoi Nizamuddin, Sundus Saeed Qureshi, Raheel Shahzad, Nasr Ullah Khan, Muhammad Shaban, Muhammad Hafeez Ullah Khan, and Shahid Ullah Khan	279
13	The Mechanisms of Genome Editing Technologies in Crop Plants Yumna Ahmad, Saqlain Haider, Javed Iqbal, Banzeer Ahsan Abbasi, Tabassum Yaseen, and Tariq Mahmood	295
14	Genomic Region Analysis and Genome Editing for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals Sumit Jangra, Priti, Vrantika Chaudhary, Apurva Mishra, Ram C. Yadav, and Neelam R. Yadav	315
15	Genome Editing for Nutrient Use Efficiency in Crops Ayten Kübra Yağız, Caner Yavuz, Muhammad Naeem, Sarbesh Das Dangol, and Emre Aksoy	347
16	Aromatic Plants as New Candidates in Phytoremediation-OMICS Technology	385
Ind	ex	415

Chapter 1 Principles and Practices of Genome Editing in Crop Plants



Gai Yuhong, Adnan Rasheed, Zhao Zhuo, John J. Gardiner, Muhammad Umair Hassan, Shah Fahad, Syed Faheem Anjum Gillani, Maria Batool, and Wei Jian

Contents

1.1	Introduction.	2
1.2	CRISPR/Cas9 Revolution.	4
	1.2.1 SpCas9 Protein.	4
	1.2.2 Cas12	5
	1.2.3 Cas13	5
1.3	CRISPR/Cas9 uses to Improve the Diversity of Plants	5

G. Yuhong

College of Agronomy, Jilin Agricultural University, Changchun, China

A. Rasheed · J. J. Gardiner Jilin Changfa Modern Agricultural Science and Technology Group Co., Ltd., Changchun, China e-mail: adnanrasheed@jxau.edu.cn

Z. Zhuo College of Life Sciences, Jilin Normal University, Changchun, Jilin, China

M. U. Hassan

Research Center on Ecological Sciences, Jiangxi Agricultural University, Nanchang, China

S. Fahad

Department of Agronomy, The University of Haripur, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan e-mail: shahfahad@uoswabi.edu.pk

S. F. A. Gillani College of Agronomy, Gansu Agricultural University, Lanzhou, China

M. Batool College of Plant Science and Technology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China e-mail: maria.batool@webmail.hzau.edu.cn

 W. Jian (⊠)
 Jilin Changfa Modern Agricultural Science and Technology Group Co., Ltd., Changchun, China

College of Life Sciences, Changchun Normal University, Changchun, China

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_1

	1.3.1 The Use of CRISPR/Cas9 for Yield and Quality Improvement in Crops	6
	1.3.2 The Use of CRISPR/Cas9 to Develop Disease-Resistant Cultivars	8
	1.3.3 Crop Domestication.	10
1.4	Limitations of CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing System	12
1.5	Regulatory Concerns of GE.	12
1.6	Concluding Remarks and Future Research Directions	13
Refe	prences	14

1.1 Introduction

The total world population is expected to increase up to 10 billion at the end of 2050. As the land area and existing resources are reducing, the need of food will be be increased to 27% in 2050. This is therefore a big challenge to solve this problem (Hunter et al. 2017). Therefore, it is an urgent need of time to increase food production for the rapidly growing world population. In earlier times, the crops were improved through conventional methods (Rasheed et al. 2020a, b, c, d), which were not very convenient and time-saving (El-Mounadi et al. 2020). Due to lack of knowledge about gene numbers, mutagenesis, and genetic mapping, people have selected the crops over many generations for release of new cultivars (Li et al. 2013).

Several techniques of plant breeding have been developed to speed up the process of genome editing (GE) and to attain the goal of high-yielding cultivars. GE via programmable endonucleases is newly developed technique of genetic engineering in crops. Endonucleases are used to bring the breaks in the targeted regions of DNA. The DNA repairing process is then initiated by homology direct repair (HDR), and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). These factors act for completion of the process of insertions and deletions in breaking regions (Symington and Gautier 2011). Zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) are currently being used for genome editing. The newly emerged tool is CRISPR/Cas9 which is now a leading technique in genome editing (Bao et al. 2019; Shah et al. 2018). ZFNs are a kind of chimeric proteins made up of an artificial zinc finger genetic material mandatory area and a cleavage area, and they can be used to edit DNA to bring certain modifications (Cathomen and Joung 2008). ZFNs are being used in many crops like rice, maize, and *Arabidopsis* (Gallego-Bartolomé et al. 2019).

Unlike ZFNs, the TALENs are structure enzymes that contain a transcription activator-like effector attached to an enzymatic area of endonuclease (Christian et al. 2010). The attaching area of DNA in TALENs monomers in turn consists of essentially repeated area that regulates the binding of DNA and specificity of host. This CRD made by tandem recurrences of amino acids remains, and they attach with nucleotides' targeted sequence which permits the targeted design and enhances the number of sites to be targeted by ZFNs GE tools (Moscou and Bogdanove 2009). The TALENs GE tools have been used in variety of crops like potato (Clasen et al. 2016), rice (Shan et al. 2015), soybean (Du et al. 2016), and wheat (Liang et al.

2014). Genome editing consists of several types including TALENs, ZFNs, MNs, and CRISPR/Cas9 (Fig. 1.1). The types of genome editing are presented in Fig. 1.1.

CRISPR is a third-generation genome editing tool which was first used in 2013 and now considered as a potent editing tool (Shan et al. 2013). CRISPR/Cas9 is a type 11 structure and has the following three components, sgRNA, Cas9 proteins, and trans-activating crRNAs, and a precursor (Bhaya et al. 2011). Cas9 protein consists of HNH domain and nuclease domain and responsible for the maturation of ceRNA and DNA cleavage (Bhaya et al. 2011). The second part is tracrRNA which is a small trans-encoded RNA composed of arrangement which is almost complementary to the pre-crRNA repeats and permits the formation of duplex of RNA vital for crRNA growth and DNA cleavage (Horvath and Barrangou 2010). Pre-crRNAs are copied from CRISPR locus, which contains a recurrent repeat-spacer group. The recurrences are characteristically matching in stretch and order within a CRISPR loci but differs prominently among dissimilar locus. Most repeat orders show palindromes that can form hairpin-formed secondary assemblies (Horvath and Barrangou 2010). The insertions are resulting from entering viral genetic material and can monitor Cas9 to slice an entering protospacer, the structure in the external genome from which spacers are formed on following attack by viruses (Bhaya et al. 2011).

Since it was first discovered, Cas9 has been widely used in a large number of crops, like rice (Jiang et al. 2013), *Arabidopsis* (Feng et al. 2014), potato (Wang et al. 2015), apple (Nishitani et al. 2016), and cotton (Chen et al. 2017). In this chapter we have summarized the recent advancements on the use of genome manipulation in crops, their applications, their challenges, and their future prospective. CRISPR/Cas9 lead to the improvement of important crop traits like quality improvement, development of high-yielding varieties for growing population of world, climate-resilient cultivars to cope with environmental fluctuations, disease resistance to prevent yield lose, and domestication of wild crops to bring novel traits in cultivated crops as shown in Fig. 1.2. The role of CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing in crops is also shown in Fig. 1.2.



Fig. 1.1 Illustration of the types of genome editing and different types of proteins used in CRISPR-based genome editing system



Fig. 1.2 A graphical overview of the applications of genome editing in crop improvement, including quality improvement, development of high-yielding varieties, climate-resilient cultivars, diseases resistance, and crop domestication

1.2 CRISPR/Cas9 Revolution

Nothing was same before CRISPR introduction. CRISPR protein Cas9 in not only a protein, but it is also a big protein family like other protein families. The latest research has shown much more about new CRISPR systems with advantages and disadvantages (Zess and Begemann 2021).

1.2.1 SpCas9 Protein

Due to engineering of new Cas9 protein, the compatibility, specificity, and functionality of PAM have been broadened (Karvelis et al. 2017). The Cas9 protein requires 5-NGG PAM, while N is a nucleotide, and its genome can be changed, mainly in AT-rich species. Due to editing of Cas9 proteins resulted in development of many new variants having four PAM preferences has been completed (Kleinstiver et al. 2015; Nishimasu et al. 2018). These variants have been used in many crops like rice and *Arabidopsis* (Niu et al. 2020; Zhong et al. 2019). The rest of the SpCas9 modifications comprise of nuclease domain mutant, which result in new practical features. Silencing of a single nuclease area resulted in an enzyme that only creates a single-strand break, called nCas9, while deactivation of dual areas yields a non-functional Cas9 protein called dCas9 (Jiang and Doudna 2017).

1.2.2 Cas12

Cas12 also called Cpf1, from *Prevotella* and *Francisella*, is a class 2-type enzyme which has been broadly utilized in GE (Zess and Begemann 2021). The working principle of Cas12 is same like Cas9 which attaches with sgRNA to bring breaks in double-stranded DNA. Cas12 needs T-rich sequence of PAM when compared to G-rich PAM sequence of Cas9. The number of orthologs of Cas12 currently under use includes, *Acidaminococcus* (AsCas12a) and pathogen *Lachnospiraceae bacte-rium* (LbCas12) (Zetsche et al. 2015). In many biological systems, the orthologs of Cas12 are found to be more specific than the orthologs of Cas9 (Tang et al. 2017; Zhong et al. 2018). Frequent progress in the use of Cas12a for genome alteration will place this enzyme as substitute to Cas9.

1.2.3 Cas13

Cas13 also called as C2c2 possesses an RNase activity and aims to bring breakdown in RNA (Abudayyeh et al. 2016). Cas13a needs a protospacer bordering a place to bring a break in RNA molecule. Wonderfully, Cas13a also shows a non-specific RNase action which slices collateral RNA succeeding early attachment to the targeted RNA in virus and bacteria (Abudayyeh et al. 2016; Gootenberg et al. 2017). Analysis and development of additional orthologs and alternatives of Cas13a in crop plants will enhance extra RNA-targeting techniques for transcriptional guide-line, RNA-based manipulation, useful research, pathogen discovery, and plant diseases (Zhang et al. 2019).

Hence, a conventional way of gene transformation is not reliable and timesaving, so CRISPR/Cas9-based GE technique is now widely used for crop improvement, which involved genomic DNA, construction of sgRNA, cloning using vector, then transformation via *Agrobacterium* method, then regeneration of plants/mutants, screening of mutants, and DNA extraction for sequence analysis (Fig. 1.3).

1.3 CRISPR/Cas9 uses to Improve the Diversity of Plants

When CRISPR was adopted as a novel GE technique, CRISPR has brought together a wide range of scientific community and quickly applied for gene editing. The first use of CRISPR/Cas9 in two widely used food crops, wheat and rice, was reported



Fig. 1.3 The comparison of genome editing techniques including conventional, transgenic, and CRISPR/Cas9. CRISPR/Cas9 is a novel and the most reliable genome editing technique. The steps involved selection of DNA, sgRNA, cloning, transformation, regeneration, screening, DNA extraction, and sequence analysis

by Shan et al. (2013). After the initial success, CRISPR/Cas9 has been used in all agriculturally important crops like soybean, cotton, and potato (Li et al. 2021a).

1.3.1 The Use of CRISPR/Cas9 for Yield and Quality Improvement in Crops

Yield and quality improvement is the ultimate goal of any crop improvement program (Rasheed et al. 2021a, b, c). Yield and quality can be improved by improving plant resistance to several environmental stresses. Crop yield is a polygenic trait, and it is often hard to find the genes which are controlling this feature (Li et al. 2021a). Using modern techniques such as high-throughout sequencing, we can examine crop molecular architecture and identify genes that are related to crop yield. The negative regulator genes are negatively affecting the crop yield and quality and provide the best opportunity for CRISPR/Cas9 to induce the targeted mutations to improve yield (Pyott et al. 2016).

Gn1a and dep1 are the two negative controller genes connected to the traits like, number of grains/panicle, seed size, as well as grain size of rice crop (Ashikari et al. 2005). Cytokinin oxidase is synthesized by gene Gn1a. Due to the reduced expression level of Gn1a, the number of reproductive organs has been increased which ultimately increased the grain number (Ashikari et al. 2005). These three genes were successfully knocked out through CRISPR/Cas9 (Li et al. 2016). The mutant's plants exhibited dense panicles, enhanced grain number, and large grain size. The grain width 2 (gw2) adversely controls the weight of grain (Li 2014; Xu et al. 2016). These genes were edited and rice grain weight increased significantly, and knockouts of two or more genes produced a higher crop yield as well as larger grains (Xu et al. 2016). CRISPR/Cas9 also successfully mutated gene, OsPAO5 which resulted in an increase in grain weight, number of grains, and yield capability in rice crop (Lv et al. 2021). The switchgrass is a biofuel crop, and CRISPR-based 9 editing of teosinte branched 1 *tb1*, the plant biomass, and plant tiller density were improved by gene expression (Lotfi and Rezaei 2020).

Direct knockout of Bna MAXI alleles in rapeseed resulted in development of plants with more branches having semi-dwarf stature. As a result, these plants yielded more than wild counterparts (Zheng et al. 2020). Four GW2 homeologs, TaGW2, A1, B1, and D1, in wheat are knocked out by CRISPR/Cas9 which result in the increase in length and width of grain and 1000 GW (Zhang et al. 2018c). Wu et al. (2020) targeted the early heading date gene Edhi in rice using CRISPR/Cas9, and rice mutants with both in-frame shifts and frame shifts were generated. All of these mutants showed the high-yielding potential and longer vegetative growth period. The TaSBElla gene in spring and winter wheat cultivars was knocked out and mediated by CRISPR/Cas9 technique (Li et al. 2021a). Results showed that all edited plants showed higher concentration of starch, protein, and amylose compared to wild types (Li et al. 2021a). Sun et al. (2017) knocked out the starch-branching enzyme genes, SBE1 and SBEIIb, and got transgene-free rice showing high amylose content. By using CRISPR/Cas9 gene manipulation technology, Zhang et al. (2018a) successfully targeted the Waxy gene in rice genotypes. Due to knockout of genes, the elite rice cultivars showed lower content of amylose without affecting other desirable traits. There are several kinds of oil crops having different features. Usually oleic oil has a good quality due to good-quality fats (Zhou et al. 2020). The fad2 gene is responsible for good-quality oil production. Thus fad2 gene is a potential target for CRISPR/Cas9 to modify the quality of oil in many oil species. The Camelina sativa plants have high content of oleic acid which was improved from 16% to 50% using CRISPR/Cas9 gene-edited tool (Jiang et al. 2017).

The results showed that CRISPR/Cas9 based editing of *fad2* in plants showed lower content of less favorable fatty acids and linolenic acid. At the same time, the *fad2* gene was also knocked out in other crops like tobacco (Tian et al. 2020), cotton (Chen et al. 2021), soybean (Al Amin et al. 2019), as well as peanut (Yuan et al. 2019). CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of gene *fad2* resulted in enhanced oleic

acid contents in tobacco (Tian et al. 2020). Numerous plant oils comprise of important quantities of long-chain fatty acids which are unwanted for many diverse goals. By using CRISPR/Cas9, Ozseyhan et al. (2018) successfully edited the fatty acid elongase 1, *FAE1*, gene in *C. sativa*. Their outcomes presented that C20–C24 very long-chain fatty acid *VLCFAs* were decreased to below 2% of the overall fatty acids in the wild genotypes (Ozseyhan et al. 2018). The amino acid GABA is a nonproteinogenic amino acid which possesses beneficial effects on human health. By increasing the GABA content, the health benefits also increased. Its synthesis is controlled by glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD). By using CRISPR/Cas9, *GIGAD3* in tomato plants is targeted, and the resulted tomato plants showed more content of GABA in fruits (Nonaka et al. 2017).

CRISPR/Cas9 successfully edited the genes linked with GABA production, containing *GABA-TP2* and *GABA-TP3*. The resulted tomato plants had 19-fold higher content of GABA than wild plants (Li et al. 2018d). Hunziker et al. (2020) merged the CRISPR/Cas9 technology with Mark-AID to edit the *SIDET1* and *SICYC-B* genes to modify carotenoid synthesis. Banana plants enriched with β -carotene were obtained by Kaur et al. (2020) which showed six folds compared to wild types. CRISPR/Cas9 also used to improve the storage life of crops. For example as fruits are developed with good flavor, they turned into soft and problematic for long-term storage. Yu et al. (2017) used CRISPR/Cas9 to get both mutagenesis of *ALC* gene as well as replacement in tomatoes. The CRISPR-modified tomato revealed improved storage life and long shelf life without disturbing other characters like plant height and fruit inflexibility (Yu et al. 2017). Likewise, Li et al. (2018c) achieved tomato plants with changed fruit maturing in tomatoes. All these information would be valuable for future research. A list of crop improved for their yield quality using CRISPR/Cas9 is shown in Table 1.1.

1.3.2 The Use of CRISPR/Cas9 to Develop Disease-Resistant Cultivars

The CRISPR/Cas9 gene manipulation technology is now used for the development of disease-resistant cultivars (Wheatley and Yang 2021). Development of disease-resistant cultivars (Zaidi et al. 2020) is a promising approach for a sustainable agriculture (Pickar-Oliver and Gersbach 2019). Gene *MLO* also called mildew resistance locus is originally identified in barley. CRISPR/Cas9 mutagenesis of *MLO* in tomato (Nekrasov et al. 2017) and wheat (Wang et al. 2014) enhanced the resistance to mildew by decreasing its penetration into host. Likewise in *Arabidopsis* gene *EDRI* is a negative controller of defense signaling system, and CRISPR-based mutation of *TaEDRI* genes enhanced the plant resistance to mildew in wheat crop (Zhang et al. 2017). Likewise, the targeted mutagenesis of *DMR6* also enhanced the crop resistance against powdery mildew diseases in tomato (de Toledo Thomazella et al. 2016) (Table 1.2). CRISPR/Cas9 also brought the resistance to potyviruses by mutation in translation initiation factor *eIF4E* of eukaryotic organisms like cucumber (Chandrasekaran et al. 2016), cassava (Gomez et al. 2019), and *Arabidopsis*.

Crop	Gene	Trait	Technique	References
Wheat	TaSBEIIa	High amylose content	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2021b)
Rice	GS3	High yielding	CRISPR/ Cas9	Huang et al. (2021)
Rice	P450	High yielding	CRISPR/ Cas9	Usman et al. (2020)
Groundcherry	ClV1	Size of fruit	CRISPR/ Cas9	Lemmon et al. (2018)
Rice	OsBADH2	High yielding	CRISPR/ Cas9	Usman et al. (2020)
Wheat	TaGW2	Grain weight	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zhang et al. (2018c)
Tomato	ALC	Long shelf life	CRISPR/ Cas9	Yu et al. (2017)
Faba bean	VfTT8	White flower color	CRISPR/ Cas9	Gutierrez et al. (2020)
Rice	Waxy	Amylose content	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zhang et al. (2018a)
Tomato	GABA-TP3	GABA content	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2018d)
Soybean	Fad2	Oleic acid content	CRISPR/ Cas9	Al Amin et al. (2019)
Maize	ZmiIPK	Low contents of phytic acid	CRISPR/ Cas9	Liang et al. (2014)
Potato	St16DOX	Low steroidal content	CRISPR/ Cas9	Nakayasu et al. (2018)
Grape	IdnDH	Low tartaric acid	CRISPR/ Cas9	Ren et al. (2016)
Rapeseed	BnTT2	High fatty acid	CRISPR/ Cas9	Xie et al. (2020)
Flax	FAD2	High oleic acid	CRISPR/ Cas9	Jiang et al. (2017)
Sorghum	Wholek1Cgenefamily	Protein	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2018a)
Banana	PDS	Albino phenotype	CRISPR/ Cas9	Kaur et al. (2018)
Apple	TEF1	Early flowering	CRISPR/ Cas9	Charrier et al. (2019)
Cotton	GhMYB 25-like	Albino phenotype	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2017)
Ipomoea nil	CCD	Flower color	CRISPR/ Cas9	Watanabe et al. (2018)
Rice	TMS5	Higher yield	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zhou et al. (2016)

 Table 1.1
 List of genes targeted by CRISPR/Cas9 to improve yield and quality in different crops

(continued)

Crop	Gene	Trait	Technique	References
Barley	HvPM19	Short stature genotypes	CRISPR/ Cas9	Lawrenson et al. (2015)
Orange	CsLOB1	Tolerance to citrus canker	CRISPR/ Cas9	Peng et al. (2017)
Mung bean	Receptor-like kinase gene	Nitrogen fixation	CRISPR/ Cas9	Ji et al. (2019)
Cucumber	eLF4E	Resistance to Papaya ring spot mosaic virus	CRISPR/ Cas9	Chandrasekaran et al. (2016)
Lettuce	LsBIN2	Biallelic mutations	CRISPR/ Cas9	Woo et al. (2015)
Petunia	F3H	Flower color	CRISPR/ Cas9	Yu et al. (2021)

Table 1.1 (continued)

The GE of *TALE* gene within the promotor of *CsLOBI* in citrus (Peng et al. 2017) and *OsSWETII* in rice (Oliva et al. 2019) also conferred resistance to multiple ecotypes of *Xanthomonas* pathogen. Gene *TaNFLXI* is a wheat transcription factor which is responsible for limiting yield, and potential of crop is mutated by a CRISPR/Cas9 tool to enhance resistance against mycotoxin fungi (Brauer et al. 2020). In tobacco two genes, *NtPDS*, and *NtPDR6* which are accountable for pleiotropic drug resistance were modified by using CRISPR/Cas9 which resulted in increased resistance in crop. Results showed that plants showed 87.5% and 81.5 8 of mutation rate in *NtPRD6* and *NtPD*, but no effects were observed near off-targeted regions (Gao et al. 2015). In the same way in Arabidopsis, the knockout of *4E* gene resulted in the increase of resistance to *Turnip mosaic virus*, but it did not influence plant vigor (Pyott et al. 2016).

Several studies showed that CRISPR/Cas9 is very beneficial in increasing resistance to several diseases, like resistance to *tomato yellow leaf curl virus* (TYLCV) as well as *bean yellow dwarf virus* (BeYDV) (Ji et al. 2015; Oliva et al. 2019). Ethylene-dependent path in rice crop has been changed by CRISPR/Cas9 followed by mutation of the *OsEFF922* gene. The resulting mutants showed resistance to *Magnaporthe oryzae* (Wang et al. 2016). Such CRISPR/Cas9 uses together specify that it is a vital tool of GE and an important contributor to enhance plant disease resistance. A list of disease-resistant genes in crops is shown in Table 1.2.

1.3.3 Crop Domestication

Crop domestication is an important goal for a modern agricultural system. This is an alternate goal of the future agriculture (Lemmon et al. 2018; National Academies of Sciences and Medicine 2019). This process involves research in genetics, botany, and other fields (Larson et al. 2014). Domestication involves modification of the

Crop	Gene	Trait	Technique	References
Tomato	SlMlo1	Resistance to powdery mildew	CRISPR/ Cas9	Pramanik et al. (2021)
Sweet basil	ObDMR6	Resistance to downy mildew	CRISPR/ Cas9	Hasley et al. (2021)
Tomato	DMR6	Resistance to powdery mildew	CRISPR/ Cas9	de Toledo Thomazella et al. (2016)
Rice	OsSWEET11	Resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae	CRISPR/ Cas9	Oliva et al. (2019)
Banana	Viral genome	Resistance to streak virus	CRISPR/ Cas9	Tripathi et al. (2019)
Cucumber	eIF4E	Cucumber vein yellowing virus	CRISPR/ Cas9	Chandrasekaran et al. (2016)
Banana	DMR6	Resistance to bacterial diseases	CRISPR/ Cas9	Tripathi et al. (2021)
Citrus	CsLOB1	Resistance to Xanthomonas citri	CRISPR/ Cas9	Peng et al. (2017)
Tomato	SlMapk3	Resistance to <i>Botrytis cinerea</i>	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zhang et al. (2018b)
Apple	DIPM-2	Fire blight disease resistance	CRISPR/ Cas9	Malnoy et al. (2016)
Chickpea	RVE7	Drought tolerance	CRISPR/ Cas9	Badhan et al. (2021)
Grape	VvSWEET4	Botrytis cinerea	CRISPR/ Cas9	Breia et al. (2020)
Brassica	BrSWEET1a	P. brassicae	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2018b)
Arabidopsis	AtSWEET11	Resistance to clubroot disease	CRISPR/ Cas9	Li et al. (2018b)
Soybean	NBS-LRR	Novel disease resistance	CRISPR/ Cas9	Nagy et al. (2021)
Cotton	T7EI	Resistance against cotton leaf curl virus	CRISPR/ Cas9	Mubarik et al. (2021)
Banana	DMR6	Resistance to powdery mildew	CRISPR/ Cas9	Low et al. (2020)
Grape	LOB1	Resistance to canker	CRISPR/ Cas9	Jia et al. (2021)
Tomato	MLO ol-2	Resistance to powdery mildew	CRISPR/ Cas9	Prajapati and Nain (2021)
Potato	S-genes	Resistance to Phytophthora	CRISPR/ Cas9	Andersson et al. (2017)
Barley	MORC6a	Resistance to <i>Blumeria</i> graminis	CRISPR/ Cas9	Galli et al. (2021)
Cotton	CP and rep sequences	TYLCV	CRISPR/ Cas9	Tashkandi et al. (2018)
Cotton	Gh14–3-3d	Cotton Verticillium wilt	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zhang et al. (2018d)

 Table 1.2
 The use of CRISPRR/Cas9 for the development of disease-resistant cultivars

existing traits of wild species to the desired one (Denham et al. 2020; Kantar et al. 2017). The best examples of these characters comprise loss of pod shattering, loss of seed dormancy, seed dehiscence, removal of anti-nutritional composites, modifications in growth pattern, and flower as well as seed color. Understanding of genetics of these traits would help us to transfer these traits to the cultivated ones through several breeding techniques (Denham et al. 2020; Iqbal et al. 2020). It has become obvious in current years that understanding the nature of the multiplicity of procedures controlling domestication process is necessary to understand the origin of crop domestication (Buzdin et al. 2021).

1.4 Limitations of CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing System

The large size of CRISPR/Cas9 systems hinders its efficiency of editing, and it cannot be packed into viral carriers to transfer into somatic cells (Manghwar et al. 2019). The small size of CRISPR/Cas9 makes it suitable for efficient genome editing in crops. Cas9 needs a 5'-NGG-3'PAM directly neighboring to a 20-nt DNA target arrangement where it only identifies the NGG PAM location, and this can hinder its efficiency paralleled with novel CRISPR/Cas alternatives. Thus, the Cas9 alternate has further target competence, large DNA speciality, low off-target effects, and wide PAM compatibility. The Cas9 system is not able to bring target mutations in all regions compared to other variants (Zhang et al. 2015). However, we are hopeful that newly developed Cas variants will have more efficiency to bring the desired mutations (Hua et al. 2019). CRISPR/Cas9 brings changes at the basic loci which are related, but not same in homology to mark locations. The use of a Agrobacteriummediated system of transformation used in CRISR/Cas9 is time-consuming and costly. Thus, the application of tissue culture-free genome alteration methods suggests potential developments to its effectiveness. Problems still exist for commercialization of non-transgenic cultivars developed by CRISPR/Cas9 in numerous countries, mainly because of the development prices and limitations forced by regulatory organizations.

1.5 Regulatory Concerns of GE

GE is a promising tool of breeding to develop novel genotypes both in the public and private sectors (Gleim et al. 2020). The editing of genes and use of modified crops created an environment of uncertainty in many countries, which have been cleared over the last years. In recent years, the main countries in genome editing like the USA, Brazil, Australia, and Argentina agreed that all crops which have no foreign DNA element would be considered as traditionally developed crop cultivars, while at the same time, the European Union (EU) decided that all crops used for genome editing would go under the same regulatory measures like GM crops (Bhowmik et al. 2021).

The USA state secretary announced that novel crop breeding tools such as GE which are not pests or which are not developed using pests would not under go any extra regulatory measures. Following this announcement other nations like Brazil, Argentina, and Australia determined that if gene editing does not involve any foreign element, that crop would be considered as a traditionally developed crop. The EU Court of Justice in 2018 announced that all gene editing technologies would undergo the same regulations like other crops in the EU. The influence of this presiding on gene editing research share in the EU was instant. At the end of 2018, minor plant breeding companies were revealing identical investment policies to those of the large multinationals and would no longer be capitalizing in GE research within the EU (https://resource.wur.nl/en/show/Innovation-in-a-bind-Europeanruling-on-CRISPR-Cas-has-major-consequences.htm).

In Canada in 2018, a survey conducted in private and public breeding firms founded that more public breeders were practicing GE as paralleled with private crop breeders, 33% to 31% (Gleim et al. 2020). More public breeders were sympathetic of reviewing PNT guidelines as they relate to the use of gene editing technologies compared to private breeders (46% to 31%), respectively.

1.6 Concluding Remarks and Future Research Directions

The latest genome editing techniques has brought a remarkable benefit to improve crop genetics and breeding. The CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing technique has emerged as the most powerful tool to bring targeted mutagenesis in crop beyond biological boundaries. CRISPR/Cas9 is now being used in a variety of crops due to its simplicity, versatility, and robustness. Due to targeted mutagenesis, insertions, deletions, frameshift mutations, gene knockout, and multiple gene editing at the same time, the use of CRISPR/Cas9 is now helping the researchers to improve crop traits like yield, quality, disease resistance, and domestication. The CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technique has a great potential to bring any desirable change in plant genome. The use of CRISPR/Cas9 to develop high-yielding and disease crop cultivars will be the most promising way to solve the issues raised from a conventional way of crop breeding. The main challenge for crop researchers is to identify the wild types of plants and bring them under targeted mutagenesis as they possess a large number of desirable alleles that can be used to improve all kinds of traits in crops. It is a time-saving and cost-effective technique, and it allows the development of non-transgenic crops and increases the chances of its acceptance in all countries.

The CRISPR/Cas9 technique not only improved the genome editing in crops, but also many important traits like quality (Shufen et al. 2019), yield (Hussain et al. 2018), and resistance to biotic (Yin and Qiu 2019) and abiotic stresses (Zafar et al. 2020). CRISPR/Cas9 based genome editing techniques has also solved the issue of

male sterility in crops (Barman et al. 2019). CRISPR-based genome editing tools have the capability to mutate the multiple genes at one time (Xu et al. 2019). Hence, mutate multiple genes at one time will be a primary goal for plant breeder to improve any trait in cultivars. CRISPR-based genome editing is limited to several crops. In the future due to more application of CRISPR/Cas9, the present issues would be easily solved, and this will help scientists fulfill the global food supply demand. This technique will also lead to the development of environmentally sustainable crops. Researchers can easily knock out the negative regulators of important traits using CRISPR/Cas9. The improvement of multiple traits in cultivars could bring revolution in agricultural science. As more and more research is going on, integration of functional genomics, next generation sequencing (NGS), and other techniques will lead to the development of crop varieties with improved traits in the future. All these informations would be very helpful to understand the basis of GE and its utilization in crop breeding programs.

Acknowledgments Author are thankful to Dr. Wei Jian, for his supervision and support during the entire work. Also thankful to colleagues and friends for their help.

Author Contributions Gai Yuhong supervised the study. Adnan Rasheed prepared the draft. Zhai Zhuo and John J. Gardiner reviewed the draft for English language. Muhammad Umair Hassan, Shah Fahad, and Syed Faheem Anjum Gillani reviewed the book chapter and provided technical assistance. Maria Batool improved the scientific figures. Wei Jian supervised the study and reviewed the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Konermann S, Joung J, Slaymaker IM, Cox DB, Shmakov S, Makarova KS, Semenova E, Minakhin LJS (2016) C2c2 is a single-component programmable RNA-guided RNA-targeting CRISPR effector. Science 353(6299):aaf5573. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aaf5573
- Al Amin N, Ahmad N, Wu N, Pu X, Ma T, Du Y, Bo X, Wang N, Sharif R, Wang PJ (2019) CRISPR-Cas9 mediated targeted disruption of FAD2–2 microsomal omega-6 desaturase in soybean (Glycine max. L). BMC Biotechnol 19(1):1–10
- Andersson M, Turesson H, Nicolia A, Fält A-S, Samuelsson M, Hofvander P (2017) Efficient targeted multiallelic mutagenesis in tetraploid potato (Solanum tuberosum) by transient CRISPR-Cas9 expression in protoplasts. Plant Cell Rep 36(1):117–128
- Ashikari M, Sakakibara H, Lin S, Yamamoto T, Takashi T, Nishimura A, Angeles ER, Qian Q, Kitano H, Matsuoka MJ (2005) Cytokinin oxidase regulates rice grain production. Science 309(5735):741–745
- Badhan S, Ball AS, Mantri NI (2021) First report of CRISPR/Cas9 mediated DNA-free editing of 4CL and RVE7 genes in chickpea protoplasts. Int J Mol Sci 22(1):396
- Bao A, Burritt DJ, Chen H, Zhou X, Cao D, Tran L-SPJ (2019) The CRISPR/Cas9 system and its applications in crop genome editing. Critical Rev Biotech 39(3):321–336

- Barman HN, Sheng Z, Fiaz S, Zhong M, Wu Y, Cai Y, Wang W, Jiao G, Tang S, Wei XJ (2019) Generation of a new thermo-sensitive genic male sterile rice line by targeted mutagenesis of TMS5 gene through CRISPR/Cas9 system. BMC Plant Biol 19(1):1–9
- Bhaya D, Davison M, Barrangou R (2011) CRISPR-Cas systems in bacteria and archaea: versatile small RNAs for adaptive defense and regulation. Annu Rev Genet 45:273–297
- Bhowmik P, Konkin D, Polowick P, Hodgins CL, Subedi M, Xiang D, Yu B, Patterson N, Rajagopalan N, Babic V (2021) CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing in legume crops: opportunities and challenges. Legume Sci 3. https://doi.org/10.1002/leg3.96
- Brauer EK, Balcerzak M, Rocheleau H, Leung W, Schernthaner J, Subramaniam R, Ouellet T (2020) Genome editing of a deoxynivalenol-induced transcription factor confers resistance to Fusarium graminearum in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 33(3):553–560
- Breia R, Conde A, Pimentel D, Conde C, Fortes AM, Granell A, Gerós H (2020) VvSWEET7 is a mono-and disaccharide transporter up-regulated in response to Botrytis cinerea infection in grape berries. Front Plant Sci 10:1753
- Buzdin AV, Patrushev MV, Sverdlov ED (2021) Will Plant genome editing play a decisive role in "quantum-leap" improvements in crop yield to feed an increasing global human population? Plan Theory 10(8):1667
- Cathomen T, Joung JK (2008) Zinc-finger nucleases: the next generation emerges. Mol Therapy 16(7):1200–1207
- Chandrasekaran J, Brumin M, Wolf D, Leibman D, Klap C, Pearlsman M, Sherman A, Arazi T, Gal-On A (2016) Development of broad virus resistance in non-transgenic cucumber using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. Mol Plant Pathol 17(7):1140–1153
- Charrier A, Vergne E, Dousset N, Richer A, Petiteau A, Chevreau E (2019) Efficient targeted mutagenesis in apple and first time edition of pear using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Front Plant Sci 10:40. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00040
- Chen X, Lu X, Shu N, Wang S, Wang J, Wang D, Guo L, Yea W (2017) Targeted mutagenesis in cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Sci Rep 7:44304
- Chen Y, Fu M, Li H, Wang L, Liu R, Liu Z, Zhang X, Jin S (2021) High-oleic acid content, nontransgenic allotetraploid cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) generated by knockout of GhFAD2 genes with CRISPR/Cas9 system. Plant Biotechnol J 19(3):424
- Christian M, Cermak T, Doyle EL, Schmidt C, Zhang F, Hummel A, Bogdanove AJ, Voytas DF (2010) Targeting DNA double-strand breaks with TAL effector nucleases. Gen 186(2):757–761
- Clasen BM, Stoddard TJ, Luo S, Demorest ZL, Li J, Cedrone F, Tibebu R, Davison S, Ray EE, Daulhac A (2016) Improving cold storage and processing traits in potato through targeted gene knockout. Plant Biotechnol J 14(1):169–176
- de Toledo Thomazella DP, Brail Q, Dahlbeck D, Staskawicz B (2016) CRISPR-Cas9 mediated mutagenesis of a DMR6 ortholog in tomato confers broad-spectrum disease resistance. BioRxiv:064824
- Denham T, Barton H, Castillo C, Crowther A, Dotte-Sarout E, Florin SA, Pritchard J, Barron A, Zhang Y, Fuller DQ (2020) The domestication syndrome in vegetatively propagated field crops. Ann Bot 125(4):581–597
- Du H, Zeng X, Zhao M, Cui X, Wang Q, Yang H, Cheng H, Yu D (2016) Efficient targeted mutagenesis in soybean by TALENs and CRISPR/Cas9. Aust J Biotechnol 217:90–97
- El-Mounadi K, Morales-Floriano ML, Garcia-Ruiz H (2020) Principles, applications, and biosafety of plant genome editing using CRISPR-Cas9. Front Plant Sci 11:56
- Feng Z, Mao Y, Xu N, Zhang B, Wei P, Yang D-L, Wang Z, Zhang Z, Zheng R, Yang L (2014) Multigeneration analysis reveals the inheritance, specificity, and patterns of CRISPR/Casinduced gene modifications in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111(12):4632–4637
- Gallego-Bartolomé J, Liu W, Kuo PH, Feng S, Ghoshal B, Gardiner J, Zhao JM-C, Park SY, Chory J, Jacobsen SE (2019) Co-targeting RNA polymerases IV and V promotes efficient de novo DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. Cell 176(5):1068–1082. e1019
- Galli M, Martiny E, Imani J, Kumar N, Koch A, Steinbrenner J, Kogel KHJPBJ (2021) CRISPR/ SpCas9-mediated double knockout of barley microrchidia MORC1 and MORC6a reveals their

strong involvement in plant immunity, transcriptional gene silencing and plant growth. Plant Biotechnol J. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.13697

- Gao J, Wang G, Ma S, Xie X, Wu X, Zhang X, Wu Y, Zhao P, Xia Q (2015) CRISPR/Cas9mediated targeted mutagenesis in Nicotiana tabacum. Plant Mol Miol 87(1–2):99–110. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11103-014-0263-0
- Gleim S, Lubieniechi S, Smyth SJ (2020) CRISPR-Cas9 application in Canadian public and private plant breeding. The CRISPR J 3(1):44–51
- Gomez MA, Lin ZD, Moll T, Chauhan RD, Hayden L, Renninger K, Beyene G, Taylor NJ, Carrington JC, Staskawicz BJ (2019) Simultaneous CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of cassava eIF 4E isoforms nCBP-1 and nCBP-2 reduces cassava brown streak disease symptom severity and incidence. Plant Biotechnol J 17(2):421–434
- Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Lee JW, Essletzbichler P, Dy AJ, Joung J, Verdine V, Donghia N, Daringer NM, Freije CA (2017) Nucleic acid detection with CRISPR-Cas13a/C2c2. Science 356(6336):438–442
- Gutierrez N, Avila CM, Torres AM (2020) The bHLH transcription factor VfTT8 underlies zt2, the locus determining zero tannin content in faba bean (Vicia faba L.). Sci Rep 10(1):1–10
- Hasley JAR, Navet N, Tian MJPO (2021) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated mutagenesis of sweet basil candidate susceptibility gene ObDMR6 enhances downy mildew resistance. PLoS One 16(6):e0253245
- Horvath P, Barrangou R (2010) CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea. Science 327(5962):167–170
- Hua K, Tao X, Han P, Wang R, Zhu J-K (2019) Genome engineering in rice using Cas9 variants that recognize NG PAM sequences. Mol Plant 12(7):1003–1014
- Huang J, Gao L, Luo S, Liu K, Qin D, Pan Y, Dai G, Deng G, Zhu C (2021) Genetic editing of GS3 via CRISPR/Cas9 accelerates the breeding of three-line hybrid rice with superior yield and grain quality. Mol Breed. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-807286/v1
- Hunter MC, Smith RG, Schipanski ME, Atwood LW, Mortensen DA (2017) Agriculture in 2050: recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. Bioscience 67(4):386–391
- Hunziker J, Nishida K, Kondo A, Kishimoto S, Ariizumi T, Ezura H (2020) Multiple gene substitution by target-AID base-editing technology in tomato. Sci Rep 10(1):1–12
- Hussain B, Lucas SJ, Budak H (2018) CRISPR/Cas9 in plants: at play in the genome and at work for crop improvement. Briefings Funct Gen 17(5):319–328
- Iqbal MM, Erskine W, Berger JD, Nelson MN (2020) Phenotypic characterisation and linkage mapping of domestication syndrome traits in yellow lupin (Lupinus luteus L.). Theoret App Gen 133(10):2975–2987
- Ji X, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Gao C (2015) Establishing a CRISPR-Cas-like immune system conferring DNA virus resistance in plants. Nat Plants 1:15144. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nplants.2015.144
- Ji J, Zhang C, Sun Z, Wang L, Duanmu D, Fan QIJOMS (2019) Genome editing in cowpea Vigna unguiculata using CRISPR-Cas9. Int J Mol Sci 20(10):2471
- Jia H, Omar A, Orbović V, Wang N (2021) Biallelic editing of the LOB1 promoter via CRISPR/ Cas9 creates canker-resistant 'Duncan' grapefruit. Phytopathology. https://doi.org/10.1094/ PHYTO-04-21-0144-R
- Jiang F, Doudna JA (2017) CRISPR-Cas9 structures and mechanisms. Annu Rev Biophys 46:505-529
- Jiang W, Zhou H, Bi H, Fromm M, Yang B, Weeks DP (2013) Demonstration of CRISPR/Cas9/ sgRNA-mediated targeted gene modification in Arabidopsis, tobacco, sorghum and rice. Nucleic Acids Res 41(20):e188–e188
- Jiang WZ, Henry IM, Lynagh PG, Comai L, Cahoon EB, Weeks DP (2017) Significant enhancement of fatty acid composition in seeds of the allohexaploid, Camelina sativa, using CRISPR/ Cas9 gene editing. Plant Biotechnol J 15(5):648–657
- Kantar MB, Nashoba AR, Anderson JE, Blackman BK, Rieseberg LH (2017) The genetics and genomics of plant domestication. Bioscience 67(11):971–982

- Karvelis T, Gasiunas G, Siksnys V (2017) Harnessing the natural diversity and in vitro evolution of Cas9 to expand the genome editing toolbox. Curr Opin Microbiol 37:88–94
- Kaur N, Alok A, Shivani KN, Pandey P, Awasthi P, Tiwari S (2018) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated efficient editing in phytoene desaturase (PDS) demonstrates precise manipulation in banana cv. Rasthali genome. Funct Integr Genomics 18(1):89–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10142-017-0577-5
- Kaur N, Alok A, Kumar P, Kaur N, Awasthi P, Chaturvedi S, Pandey P, Pandey A, Pandey AK, Tiwari S (2020) CRISPR/Cas9 directed editing of lycopene epsilon-cyclase modulates metabolic flux for β-carotene biosynthesis in banana fruit. Metab Eng 59:76–86
- Kleinstiver BP, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Topkar VV, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, Gonzales AP, Li Z, Peterson RT, Yeh J-RJ (2015) Engineered CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with altered PAM specificities. Nature 523(7561):481–485
- Larson G, Piperno DR, Allaby RG, Purugganan MD, Andersson L, Arroyo-Kalin M, Barton L, Climer Vigueira C, Denham T, Dobney K, Doust AN, Gepts P, Gilbert MT, Gremillion KJ, Lucas L, Lukens L, Marshall FB, Olsen KM, Pires JC, Richerson PJ, Rubio de Casas R, Sanjur OI, Thomas MG, Fuller DQ (2014) Current perspectives and the future of domestication studies. Pro Nat Aca Sci USA 111(17):6139–6146. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1323964111
- Lawrenson T, Shorinola O, Stacey N, Li C, Østergaard L, Patron N, Uauy C, Harwood W (2015) Induction of targeted, heritable mutations in barley and Brassica oleracea using RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease. Genome Biol 16(1):1–13
- Lemmon ZH, Reem NT, Dalrymple J, Soyk S, Swartwood KE, Rodriguez-Leal D, Van Eck J, Lippman ZB (2018) Rapid improvement of domestication traits in an orphan crop by genome editing. Nat Plants 4(10):766–770
- Li J (2014) 1, 3 1 State Key Laboratory of Plant Genomics and National Center for Plant Gene Research, Institute of Genetics and Developmental Biology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, China; email: 2 School of Natural Sciences, University of Tasmania, Hobart 7001, Australia; email: 3 University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100049. China Ann Rev Plant Biol 69:437–468
- Li Y, Vonholdt BM, Reynolds A, Boyko AR, Wayne RK, Wu D-D, Zhang Y-P (2013) Artificial selection on brain-expressed genes during the domestication of dog. Mol Biol Evol 30(8):1867–1876
- Li M, Li X, Zhou Z, Wu P, Fang M, Pan X, Lin Q, Luo W, Wu G, Li H (2016) Reassessment of the four yield-related genes Gn1a, DEP1, GS3, and IPA1 in rice using a CRISPR/Cas9 system. Front Plant Sci 7:377
- Li C, Unver T, Zhang B (2017) A high-efficiency CRISPR/Cas9 system for targeted mutagenesis in cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.). Sci Rep 7(1):1–10
- Li A, Jia S, Yobi A, Ge Z, Sato SJ, Zhang C, Angelovici R, Clemente TE, Holding DR (2018a) Editing of an alpha-kafirin gene family increases, digestibility and protein quality in sorghum. Plant Physiol 177(4):1425–1438
- Li H, Li X, Xuan Y, Jiang J, Wei Y, Piao Z (2018b) Genome wide identification and expression profiling of SWEET genes family reveals its role during Plasmodiophora brassicae-induced formation of clubroot in Brassica rapa. Front Plant Sci 9:207
- Li R, Fu D, Zhu B, Luo Y, Zhu H (2018c) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated mutagenesis of lncRNA1459 alters tomato fruit ripening. The Plant J 94(3):513–524
- Li R, Li X, Fu D, Zhu B, Tian H, Luo Y, Zhu H (2018d) Multiplexed CRISPR/Cas9mediated metabolic engineering of γ-aminobutyric acid levels in Solanum lycopersicum. Plant Biotechnol J 16(2):415–427
- Li C, Brant E, Budak H, Zhang B (2021a) CRISPR/Cas: a Nobel prize award-winning precise genome editing technology for gene therapy and crop improvement. J Zhejiang University-SCIENCE B 22(4):253–284
- Li J, Jiao G, Sun Y, Chen J, Zhong Y, Yan L, Jiang D, Ma Y, Xia L (2021b) Modification of starch composition, structure and properties through editing of TaSBEIIa in both winter and spring wheat varieties by CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J 19(5):937–951

- Liang Z, Zhang K, Chen K, Gao C (2014) Targeted mutagenesis in Zea mays using TALENs and the CRISPR/Cas system. J Genet Genomics 41(2):63–68
- Lotfi M, Rezaei N (2020) CRISPR/Cas13: a potential therapeutic option of COVID-19. Biomed Pharmacother 131:110738
- Low YC, Lawton MA, Di R (2020) Validation of barley 2OGO gene as a functional orthologue of Arabidopsis DMR6 gene in fusarium head blight susceptibility. Sci Rep 10(1):1–13
- Lv Y, Shao G, Jiao G, Sheng Z, Xie L, Hu S, Tang S, Wei X, Hu P (2021) Targeted mutagenesis of POLYAMINE OXIDASE 5 that negatively regulates mesocotyl elongation enables the generation of direct-seeding rice with improved grain yield. Mol Plant 14(2):344–351
- Malnoy M, Viola R, Jung M-H, Koo O-J, Kim S, Kim J-S, Velasco R, Nagamangala Kanchiswamy C (2016) DNA-free genetically edited grapevine and apple protoplast using CRISPR/Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Front Plant Sci 7:1904
- Manghwar H, Lindsey K, Zhang X, Jin S (2019) CRISPR/Cas system: recent advances and future prospects for genome editing. Trends Plant Sci 24(12):1102–1125
- Moscou MJ, Bogdanove AJ (2009) A simple cipher governs DNA recognition by TAL effectors. Science 326(5959):1501–1501
- Mubarik MS, Wang X, Khan SH, Ahmad A, Khan Z, Amjid MW, Razzaq MK, Ali Z, Azhar MT (2021) Engineering broad-spectrum resistance to cotton leaf curl disease by CRISPR-Cas9 based multiplex editing in plants. GM Crops Food 12:647–658
- Nagy ED, Stevens JL, Yu N, Hubmeier CS, LaFaver N, Gillespie M, Gardunia B, Cheng Q, Johnson S, Vaughn ALJPCR (2021) Novel disease resistance gene paralogs created by CRISPR/Cas9 in soy. Plant Cell Rep 40(6):1047–1058
- Nakayasu M, Akiyama R, Lee HJ, Osakabe K, Osakabe Y, Watanabe B, Sugimoto Y, Umemoto N, Saito K, Muranaka T (2018) Generation of α-solanine-free hairy roots of potato by CRISPR/ Cas9 mediated genome editing of the St16DOX gene. Plant Physiol Biochem 131:70–77
- National Academies of Sciences E, Medicine (2019) Science breakthroughs to advance food and agricultural research by 2030. National Academies Press
- Nekrasov V, Wang C, Win J, Lanz C, Weigel D, Kamoun S (2017) Rapid generation of a transgenefree powdery mildew resistant tomato by genome deletion. Sci Rep 7(1):1–6
- Nishimasu H, Shi X, Ishiguro S, Gao L, Hirano S, Okazaki S, Noda T, Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Mori H (2018) Engineered CRISPR-Cas9 nuclease with expanded targeting space. Science 361(6408):1259–1262
- Nishitani C, Hirai N, Komori S, Wada M, Okada K, Osakabe K, Yamamoto T, Osakabe Y (2016) Efficient genome editing in apple using a CRISPR/Cas9 system. Sci Rep 6:31481. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep31481
- Niu Q, Wu S, Li Y, Yang X, Liu P, Xu Y, Lang Z (2020) Expanding the scope of CRISPR/Cas9mediated genome editing in plants using an xCas9 and Cas9-NG hybrid. J Integr Plant Biol 62(4):398–402
- Nonaka S, Arai C, Takayama M, Matsukura C, Ezura H (2017) Efficient increase of y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) content in tomato fruits by targeted mutagenesis. Sci Rep 7057. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-017-06400-y
- Oliva R, Ji C, Atienza-Grande G, Huguet-Tapia JC, Perez-Quintero A, Li T, Eom JS, Li C, Nguyen H, Liu B, Auguy F, Sciallano C, Luu VT, Dossa GS, Cunnac S, Schmidt SM, Slamet-Loedin IH, Vera Cruz C, Szurek B, Frommer WB, White FF, Yang B (2019) Broad-spectrum resistance to bacterial blight in rice using genome editing. Nat Biotechnol 37(11):1344–1350. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0267-z
- Ozseyhan ME, Kang J, Mu X, Lu C (2018) Mutagenesis of the FAE1 genes significantly changes fatty acid composition in seeds of Camelina sativa. Plant Physiol Biochem 123:1–7
- Peng A, Chen S, Lei T, Xu L, He Y, Wu L, Yao L, Zou X (2017) Engineering canker-resistant plants through CRISPR/Cas9-targeted editing of the susceptibility gene Cs LOB 1 promoter in citrus. Plant Biotechnol J 15(12):1509–1519
- Pickar-Oliver A, Gersbach CA (2019) The next generation of CRISPR–Cas technologies and applications. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 20(8):490–507

- Prajapati A, Nain VJB (2021) Screening of CRISPR/Cas9 gRNA for mimicking powdery mildew resistant MLO ol-2 mutant. Bioinformation 17(6):637–645
- Pramanik D, Shelake RM, Park J, Kim MJ, Hwang I, Park Y, J-YJIjoms K (2021) CRISPR/Cas9mediated generation of pathogen-resistant tomato against tomato yellow leaf curl virus and powdery mildew. Int J Mol Sci 22(4):1878
- Pyott DE, Sheehan E, Molnar A (2016) Engineering of CRISPR/Cas9-mediated potyvirus resistance in transgene-free Arabidopsis plants. Mol Plant Pathol 17(8):1276–1288
- Rasheed A, Fahad S, Hassan MU, Tahir MM, Aamer, Muhammad, Wu Z (2020a) A review on aluminum toxicity and quantitative trait loci maping in rice (Oryza sative L). Appl Ecol Environ Res 18:3951–3961
- Rasheed A, Fahad S, Aamer M, Hassan MU, Tahir MM, Wu Z (2020b) Role of genetic factors in regulating cadmium uptake, transport and accumulation mechanisms and quantitative trait loci mapping in rice. A review. Appl Ecol Environ Res 18:4005–4023
- Rasheed A, Hassan M, Aamer M, Bian J, Xu Z, He XWu Z (2020c) Iron toxicity, tolerance and quantitative trait loci mapping in rice; a review. Appl Ecol Environ Res 18:7483–7498
- Rasheed A, Hassan MU, Aamer M, Batool M, Sheng F, Ziming WHuijie L (2020d) A critical review on the improvement of drought stress tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 48:1756–1788
- Rasheed A, Hassan MU, Fahad S, Aamer M, Batool M, Ilyas M, Shang F, Wu ZLi H (2021a) Heavy metals stress and plants defense responses. In: Sustainable soil and land management and climate change. CRC Press, pp 57–82
- Rasheed A, Wassan GM, Khanzada H, Solangi AM, Aamer M, Ruicai H, Jianmin BZiming W (2021b) QTL underlying iron toxicity tolerance at seedling stage in backcross recombinant inbred lines (BRILs) population of rice using high density genetic map. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 49:12158–12158
- Rasheed A, Wassan GM, Khanzada H, Solangi AM, Han R, Li H, Bian JWu Z (2021c) Identification of genomic regions at seedling related traits in response to aluminium toxicity using a new high-density genetic map in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Genet Resour Crop Evol 68:1889–1903
- Ren C, Liu X, Zhang Z, Wang Y, Duan W, Li S, Liang Z (2016) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated efficient targeted mutagenesis in chardonnay (Vitis vinifera L.). Sci Rep 6(1):1–9
- Shah T, Andleeb T, Lateef S, Noor MA (2018) Genome editing in plants: advancing crop transformation and overview of tools. Plant Physiol Biochem 131:12–21
- Shan Q, Wang Y, Li J, Zhang Y, Chen K, Liang Z, Zhang K, Liu J, Xi JJ, Qiu J-L (2013) Targeted genome modification of crop plants using a CRISPR-Cas system. Nature Biotech 31(8):686–688
- Shan Q, Zhang Y, Chen K, Zhang K, Gao C (2015) Creation of fragrant rice by targeted knockout of the Os BADH 2 gene using TALEN technology. Plant Biotechnol J 13(6):791–800
- Shufen C, Yicong C, Baobing F, Guiai J, Zhonghua S, Ju L, Shaoqing T, Jianlong W, Peisong H, Xiangjin W (2019) Editing of rice isoamylase gene ISA1 provides insights into its function in starch formation. Ric Sci 26(2):77–87
- Sun Y, Jiao G, Liu Z, Zhang X, Li J, Guo X, Du W, Du J, Francis F, Zhao Y (2017) Generation of high-amylose rice through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of starch branching enzymes. Front Plant Sci 8:298
- Symington LS, Gautier J (2011) Double-strand break end resection and repair pathway choice. Annual Rev Gen 45:247–271
- Tang X, Lowder LG, Zhang T, Malzahn AA, Zheng X, Voytas DF, Zhong Z, Chen Y, Ren Q, Li Q (2017) A CRISPR–Cpf1 system for efficient genome editing and transcriptional repression in plants. Nat Plants 3(3):1–5
- Tashkandi M, Ali Z, Aljedaani F, Shami A, Mahfouz MM (2018) Engineering resistance against tomato yellow leaf curl virus via the CRISPR/Cas9 system in tomato. Plant Signal Behav 13(10):e1525996
- Tian Y, Chen K, Li X, Zheng Y, Chen F (2020) Design of high-oleic tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum L.) seed oil by CRISPR-Cas9-mediated knockout of NtFAD2–2. BMC Plant Biol 20:1–12

- Tripathi JN, Ntui VO, Ron M, Muiruri SK, Britt A, Tripathi L (2019) CRISPR/Cas9 editing of endogenous banana streak virus in the B genome of Musa spp. overcomes a major challenge in banana breeding. Comm Biol 2(1):1–11
- Tripathi JN, Ntui VO, Shah T, Tripathi L (2021) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of DMR6 orthologue in banana (Musa spp.) confers enhanced resistance to bacterial disease. Plant Biotechnol J. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.13614
- Usman B, Nawaz G, Zhao N, Liu Y, Li R (2020) Generation of high yielding and fragrant rice (Oryza sativa L.) lines by CRISPR/Cas9 targeted mutagenesis of three homoeologs of cytochrome P450 gene family and OsBADH2 and transcriptome and proteome profiling of revealed changes triggered by mutations. Plants 9(6):788
- Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Gao C, Qiu J-L (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol 32(9):947–951
- Wang S, Zhang S, Wang W, Xiong X, Meng F, Cui X (2015) Efficient targeted mutagenesis in potato by the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Plant Cell Rep 34(9):1473–1476
- Wang F, Wang C, Liu P, Lei C, Hao W, Gao Y, Liu Y-G, Zhao K (2016) Enhanced rice blast resistance by CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of the ERF transcription factor gene OsERF922. PLoS One 11(4):e0154027
- Watanabe K, Oda-Yamamizo C, Sage-Ono K, Ohmiya A, Ono MJTR (2018) Alteration of flower colour in Ipomoea nil through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated mutagenesis of carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase 4. Transgenic Res 27(1):25–38
- Wheatley MS, Yang Y (2021) Versatile applications of the CRISPR/Cas toolkit in plant pathology and disease management. Phytopathol PHYTO-08-20-0322-IA
- Woo JW, Kim J, Kwon SI, Corvalán C, Cho SW, Kim H, Kim S-G, Kim S-T, Choe S, Kim J-S (2015) DNA-free genome editing in plants with preassembled CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Nat Biotechnol 33(11):1162–1164
- Wu M, Liu H, Lin Y, Chen J, Fu Y, Luo J, Zhang Z, Liang K, Chen S, Wang F (2020) In-frame and frame-shift editing of the Ehd1 gene to develop japonica rice with prolonged basic vegetative growth periods. Front Plant Sci 11:307
- Xie T, Chen X, Guo T, Rong H, Chen Z, Sun Q, Batley J, Jiang J, Wang Y (2020) Targeted knockout of BnTT2 homologues for yellow-seeded Brassica napus with reduced flavonoids and improved fatty acid composition. J Agric Food Chem 68(20):5676–5690
- Xu R, Yang Y, Qin R, Li H, Qiu C, Li L, Wei P, Yang J (2016) Rapid improvement of grain weight via highly efficient CRISPR/Cas9-mediated multiplex genome editing in rice. J Gen Genomics= Yi Chuan Xue Bao 43(8):529–532
- Xu Z, Xu X, Gong Q, Li Z, Li Y, Wang S, Yang Y, Ma W, Liu L, Zhu B (2019) Engineering broadspectrum bacterial blight resistance by simultaneously disrupting variable TALE-binding elements of multiple susceptibility genes in rice. Mol Plant Pathol 12(11):1434–1446
- Yin K, Qiu J-L (2019) Genome editing for plant disease resistance: applications and perspectives. Philos Trans R Soc B 374(1767):20180322
- Yu QH, Wang B, Li N, Tang Y, Yang S, Yang T, Xu J, Guo C, Yan P, Wang Q (2017) CRISPR/ Cas9-induced targeted mutagenesis and gene replacement to generate long-shelf life tomato lines. Sci Rep 7(1):1–9
- Yu J, Tu L, Subburaj S, Bae S, Lee G-JJPCR (2021) Simultaneous targeting of duplicated genes in Petunia protoplasts for flower color modification via CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Plant Cell Rep 40(6):1037–1045
- Yuan M, Zhu J, Gong L, He L, Lee C, Han S, Chen C, He G (2019) Mutagenesis of FAD2 genes in peanut with CRISPR/Cas9 based gene editing. BMC Biotechnol 19(1):1–7
- Zafar SA, Zaidi SSEA, Gaba Y, Singla-Pareek SL, Dhankher OP, Li X, Mansoor S, Pareek A (2020) Engineering abiotic stress tolerance via CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome editing. J Exp Bot 71(2):470–479

- Zaidi SS-A, Mahas A, Vanderschuren H, Mahfouz MM (2020) Engineering crops of the future: CRISPR approaches to develop climate-resilient and disease-resistant plants. Genome Biol 21(1):1–19
- Zess E, Begemann M (2021) CRISPR-Cas9 and beyond: what's next in plant genome engineering. In Vitro Cellular Developmental Biology-Plant 57:584–594
- Zetsche B, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Slaymaker IM, Makarova KS, Essletzbichler P, Volz SE, Joung J, Van Der Oost J, Regev A (2015) Cpf1 is a single RNA-guided endonuclease of a class 2 CRISPR-Cas system. Cell 163(3):759–771
- Zhang XH, Tee LY, Wang X-G, Huang Q-S, Yang S-H (2015) Off-target effects in CRISPR/Cas9mediated genome engineering. Mol Therapy-Nucleic Acids 4:e264
- Zhang Y, Bai Y, Wu G, Zou S, Chen Y, Gao C, Tang D (2017) Simultaneous modification of three homoeologs of Ta EDR 1 by genome editing enhances powdery mildew resistance in wheat. The Plant J 91(4):714–724
- Zhang J, Zhang H, Botella JR, Zhu JK (2018a) Generation of new glutinous rice by CRISPR/Cas9targeted mutagenesis of the Waxy gene in elite rice varieties. J Integr Plant Biol 60(5):369–375
- Zhang S, Wang L, Zhao R, Yu W, Li R, Li Y, Sheng J, Shen L (2018b) Knockout of SIMAPK3 reduced disease resistance to Botrytis cinerea in tomato plants. J Agric For 66(34):8949–8956
- Zhang Y, Li D, Zhang D, Zhao X, Cao X, Dong L, Liu J, Chen K, Zhang H, Gao C (2018c) Analysis of the functions of ta GW 2 homoeologs in wheat grain weight and protein content traits. The Plant J 94(5):857–866
- Zhang Z, Ge X, Luo X, Wang P, Fan Q, Hu G, Xiao J, Li F, Wu J (2018d) Simultaneous editing of two copies of Gh14-3-3d confers enhanced transgene-clean plant defense against Verticillium dahliae in allotetraploid upland cotton. Front Plant Sci 9:842
- Zhang Y, Malzahn AA, Sretenovic S, Qi Y (2019) The emerging and uncultivated potential of CRISPR technology in plant science. Nat Plants 5(8):778–794
- Zheng M, Zhang L, Tang M, Liu J, Liu H, Yang H, Fan S, Terzaghi W, Wang H, Hua WJP (2020) Knockout of two Bna MAX 1 homologs by CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis improves plant architecture and increases yield in rapeseed (Brassica napus L.). Plant Biotech J 18(3):644–654
- Zhong Z, Zhang Y, You Q, Tang X, Ren Q, Liu S, Yang L, Wang Y, Liu X, Liu B (2018) Plant genome editing using FnCpf1 and LbCpf1 nucleases at redefined and altered PAM sites. Mol Plant Pathol 11(7):999–1002
- Zhong Z, Sretenovic S, Ren Q, Yang L, Bao Y, Qi C, Yuan M, He Y, Liu S, Liu X (2019) Improving plant genome editing with high-fidelity xCas9 and non-canonical PAM-targeting Cas9-NG. Mol Plant 12(7):1027–1036
- Zhou H, He M, Li J, Chen L, Huang Z, Zheng S, Zhu L, Ni E, Jiang D, Zhao B (2016) Development of commercial thermo-sensitive genic male sterile rice accelerates hybrid rice breeding using the CRISPR/Cas9-mediated TMS5 editing system. Sci Rep 6(1):1–12
- Zhou Y, Zhao W, Lai Y, Zhang B, Zhang D (2020) Edible plant oil: global status, health issues, and perspectives. Front Plant Sci 11:1315

Chapter 2 The Revolution of Omics Technology in Plant Science



Emre Aksoy, Hikmet Yılmaz, and Ceyhun Kayıhan

Contents

2.1	Introduction	24
2.2	First-Generation Sequencing.	25
2.3	Next-Generation Sequencing	26
2.4	Second-Generation Sequencing.	27
2.5	Pyrosequencing Technology	27
2.6	Illumina Technology	28
2.7	Ion Torrent Technology	30
2.8	Third-Generation Sequencing	30
2.9	Pacific Biosciences Technology	31
2.10	Oxford Nanopore Technology	32
2.11	Genomics.	32
2.12	Functional Genomics.	35
2.13	Transcriptomics	35
2.14	Proteomics	38
2.15	Metabolomics	39
2.16	Multi-omics	41
2.17	Single-Cell Technologies	42
2.18	Single-Cell Transcriptomics.	43
2.19	Conclusion.	46
Refer	ences	46

E. Aksoy (🖂)

H. Yılmaz · C. Kayıhan Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Sciences and Letters, Başkent University, Ankara, Turkey

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_2

Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: emreaks@metu.edu.tr

2.1 Introduction

Plants are exposed to many different environmental stressors during their life cycle. Depending on the species or genotype, these biotic and abiotic stress conditions can hinder plant growth and development and lead to yield penalties. Tolerance or resistance mechanisms have been studied extensively for years to characterize individual genes, proteins, and metabolites involved in these mechanisms. The development of DNA sequencing approaches facilitated the characterization of genomic regions leading to the whole-genome sequencing (WGS) of different species. Advancements in nucleic acid sequencing accelerated the WGS studies. At present, more than 1,000 plant genome assemblies are accessible in GenBank, even though many of them have low quality. WGS approach was extended to the sequencing of RNAs, proteins, and metabolites. Therefore, a new scientific discipline was required to study the genes, transcripts, proteins, and metabolites holistically.

The Greek terms "ome" and "omics" are expressions derived from the suffix -ome which implies "whole," "all," or "complete." Genome, transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome are the expressions generated by adding the suffix with the terms of the gene, transcript, protein, and metabolite, respectively. Genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics/lipidomics are the areas of studies that are referred to as omics. As the collective and high-throughput analyses, omics technologies integrated through robust systems biology, bioinformatics, and computational tools aim to study the mechanism, interaction, and function of cell populations, tissues, organs, and the whole organism at the molecular level (Nalbantoglu and Karadag 2019).

The approach toward omics studies has evolved since next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies are generated. The outputs of next-generation sequencing brought about brand-new approaches to gene regulation and the data on crop genomes. It serves a potential to be used in plant breeding within metagenomic and agrigenomic researches. Gene regulation mechanisms, genes taking part in the plant defense system against pathogens, and abiotic stress factors in the whole plant or at a cellular scale can be revealed via RNA sequencing. The genotypes of lots of single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are also determined with the methods developed within NGS. Additionally, molecular markers required for investigating genetic relationships among breeding materials, detailed genetic mapping of targeted genes, and genome-wide associations are developed with the methods called genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) and whole-genome resequencing. Determination of the genotypes of the required genetic materials enables improving the selection of individuals that resist abiotic stressors and increases the efficiency in agriculture (Vlk and Řepková 2017).

Nowadays, the omics terminology is adapted to other fields of study, including ionomics that deals with ionic changes, methylomics studying the methylation changes in nucleic acids, and toxicogenomics. Here in this chapter, we first describe the evolution of sequencing techniques and give examples of each omics technology in plant science.

2.2 First-Generation Sequencing

The sequencing technologies that give rise to decoding and sequencing the genomes of the organisms are based on the discovery of the DNA, which is a double-helix structure consisting of bases (adenine, thymine, cytosine, and guanine). The first laboratory methods used in the interpretation of the DNA sequences in terms of the letters of A, T, C, G, and N representing an ambiguity were generated by Sanger et al. from Cambridge University in 1977 and Maxam et al. from Harvard University in 1980 (Kchouk et al. 2017).

The first-generation sequencing technique was further improved by the Maxam-Gilbert method, which enables sequencing the DNA with chemical degradation of the fragments at specific bases with reagents such as formic acid, dimethyl sulfate, and hydrazine (Maxam et al. 1977). In this method, the strands of the DNA fragments are denatured, and the phosphate groups at the 5' ends of the denatured DNA strands are removed with phosphatase to identify the fragments on the gel after the radioactive isotopes of phosphorus. The radioactively labeled DNA fragments are exposed to chemical reactions in four different tubes in the presence of distinct base-specific chemical reagents. Each of the reagents results in base modification, removal of the base, and phosphodiester cleavage of the DNA strand at that site. Guanine cleavage is induced by DMS + piperidine, while the cleavage of guanine and adenine requires DMS + formic acid + piperidine. Hydrazine piperidine causes cytosine cleavage, and sodium chloride + hydrazine piperidine facilitates the cleavage of cytosine and thymine. At the end of the reactions in the four distinct tubes, labeled fragments with various sizes are separated by electrophoresis (Saraswathy and Ramalingam 2011). The polyacrylamide gel contains urea which prevents the formation of secondary structures in the single-stranded DNA. Then, the DNA sequence is determined by using autoradiography. This sequencing method does not involve DNA cloning. On the other hand, the development of the Sanger sequencing method is more applicable compared to the Maxam-Gilbert method due to its greater simplicity, higher accuracy, and lower radioactivity (Kulski 2016).

As mentioned above, Sanger sequencing developed by Frederick Sanger in 1977 is expressed as the chain termination, dideoxynucleotide, or the sequencing by synthesis method in which one strand of the DNA is used to identify the sequence (Kchouk et al. 2017). In this technique, dideoxynucleotides (ddNTPs) are used which are the analogs of the monomers of the DNA molecules, deoxyribonucleotides (dNTPs), lacking 3' hydroxyl groups required for the extension of the DNA strands (Heather 2015). The integration of the ddNTPs to the elongating DNA prevents the process to be terminated successfully as the subsequent base cannot be incorporated into the strand. Thus, the DNA fragments with different sizes and the ddNTP molecules at their ends as the analogs of the related bases are obtained. Chain termination reactions are conducted in four different tubes. Each tube contains a different type of ddNTP and the common reaction components including dNTP mix, template DNA, radiolabeled primer, and DNA polymerase. Radioactive isotopes of the phosphorus (³²P or ³³P) enable identifying the DNA sequence. The

tubes contain a small percentage of ddNTP (about 1%). The polyacrylamide gel with urea is also used, and the DNA sequence is determined in autoradiography (Sanger et al. 1977). The bands of the DNA fragments separated regarding their sizes on the gel slab are displayed with an imaging system, either of X-ray or UV light. The Sanger sequencing was firstly used to sequence the phiX174 genome (5374 bp) and the bacteriophage λ genome (48501 bp). The speed and accuracy of the sequencing were improved with the automatic sequencing machine based on capillary electrophoresis developed by Applied Biosystems in 1995. The genetic materials of varying plant species such as Arabidopsis (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000), rice (Goff et al. 2002), and soybean (Schmutz et al. 2010) and human genome were also sequenced with Sanger sequencing. The Sanger sequencing has been used for three decades and is still preferred in single or low-throughput DNA sequencing. On the other hand, Sanger sequencing is considered to be timeconsuming and expensive. The limited analysis speed also reduces the efficiency besides the inability to decode the complex genomes with the Sanger sequencing (Kchouk et al. 2017).

2.3 Next-Generation Sequencing

Following the domination of Sanger sequencing for 30 years, NGS was developed as a high-throughput DNA sequencing technology considered within the secondand third-generation sequencing methods (Kulski 2016). By this method, a high number of simultaneous sequencing reactions become feasible, and the cost of sequencing is lowered due to the developments in detection systems, microfluidics, and integrating the sequencing reactions to minimized dimensions (Türktaş et al. 2015; Kulski 2016). Increased scalability and speed of generating data paved the way for advanced studies on biological systems besides the decrease in time for obtaining gigabase-sized sequences from years to days or hours via NGS (Noman et al. 2017).

NGS enables carrying out studies on genetic approaches in plant breeding and biotechnology, evolution, discovering genetic markers, gene expression profiling via mRNA sequencing, and de novo draft genome sequences within the relevant method of NGS applications such as WGS, exome sequencing (exome-seq), RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), and methylation sequencing (methyl-seq) (Türktaş et al. 2015; Low et al. 2019). The NGS platforms with 99% accuracy rates may also detect nucleotides with errors. Although the current NGS methods are highly accurate, they are still prone to errors. Even the accuracies of more than 99% may accumulate hundreds of thousands of errors in the sequencing of large genomes since NGS platforms generate high amounts of output. The number of times a nucleotide is sequenced is referred to as "coverage" or "depth" (Sims et al. 2014). Coverage may also be used to refer to the percentage of target bases that have been sequenced a specific number of times. Coverage varies depending on the type of NGS and the research application. More coverage tends to be used when in search for a variant

that is less common (<1%) in a sample. For example, whole-genome sequencing generally requires approximately 30x coverage as this will detect 98% of heterozy-gous single-nucleotide variants identified in a microarray. The coverage can be calculated by the Lander-Waterman equation (Sims et al. 2014).

2.4 Second-Generation Sequencing

To overcome the limitations of the first-generation sequencing tools that were used for three decades such as Sanger sequencing, brand new sequencing methods were developed (Kchouk et al. 2017). Second-generation sequencing methods enable sequencing multiple DNA fragments simultaneously that facilitate assembly and determination of complex genomic regions, methylation detection, and gene isoform detection (Muhammad et al. 2019).

Millions of short fragments are read in parallel, the speed of the sequencing process is increased, electrophoresis is not required for detecting the output and the cost is reduced within the second-generation sequencing methods (Kchouk et al. 2017). Template libraries of randomly fragmented DNA or complementary DNA (cDNA) obtained from reverse transcription are generated with shotgun sequencing by ligating the linker or adapter sequences with the DNA molecules rather than performing cloning via a host cell (Kulski 2016). In second-generation sequencing, the read length of these technologies is shorter than the first generation; therefore, amplification is necessary for signal detection (Kang et al. 2019). A solid surface or beads are used in the library amplification process in the presence of miniaturized emulsion droplets or arrays, while the nucleotides to be sequenced are detected via luminescence or changes in electrical charge (Kulski 2016). These sequencing methods are classified in two, namely, sequencing by ligation (SBL) and sequencing by synthesis (SBS), and the sequencing platforms used are Roche/454 established in 2005, Illumina/Solexa in 2006, and the ABI/SOLiD (Sequencing by Oligonucleotide Ligation and Detection) in 2007 (Kchouk et al. 2017; Meera et al. 2019).

2.5 Pyrosequencing Technology

Pyrosequencing also known as 454 technology was the first second-generation technology developed in 2005. In this technology, the main principle is to determine the base with chemical luminescence. The pyrosequencing method is different from the Sanger sequencing since the nucleotide incorporation is performed in the presence of DNA polymerase, ATP sulfurylase, luciferase, and apyrase enzymes which are kinetically well-balanced (Ramon et al. 2003). PCR amplification and pyrosequencing of the query DNA fragments are utilized to carry out real-time sequencing (Rothberg et al. 2008). In the pyrosequencing method, adapter molecules provide the DNA molecules that have been previously fragmented to bind the agarose beads after attaching the DNA fragments. The agarose beads with DNA fragments are mixed with Tag polymerase and buffer solution before being introduced to an oilwater emulsion to induce emulsion PCR (emPCR). The DNA fragments are then amplified in the presence of dNTP and adapters considered as primers (Saraswathy and Ramalingam 2011). The nucleotides are formed and tested in terms of their inclusion in a DNA template which occurs by the release of pyrophosphate (PPi) proportional to the amount of the nucleotides (Ramon et al. 2003). ATP sulfurylase is the enzyme that uses pyrophosphate in ATP synthesis by converting it to ATP in the presence of adenosine 5' phosphosulfate. Production of oxyluciferin from luciferin is facilitated by luciferase driven by ATP. Light emission from the oxyluciferin formed previously providing chemical luminescence takes place as a result. The number of nucleotides is associated with the amount of light emitted providing the determination of the base sequence. The emitted light is illustrated with peaks having heights proportional to the number of nucleotides in a program after it is spotted with a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera. As the apyrase enzyme degrades the excess ATP and dNTP, another pyrosequencing cycle initiates with the integration of the subsequent dNTP, and the complementary strand of the DNA is constructed. A cyclic nucleotide dispensation order (NDO) is utilized to decode an unknown sequence with pyrosequencing. In this method, one of the dNTPs is recruited to the DNA template where the rest of the dNTPs are degraded in the presence of apyrase after each cycle of dNTP dispensation. Non-cyclic NDOs are also generated with the order of nucleotide dispensation and the heights of the peaks in the program in case the DNA sequence is known (Ramon et al. 2003).

Besides the disadvantages such as high cost and low accuracy of reading, the 454 technology can read long sequences (around 700 bp). In addition, the sequences are expected to be smaller than the outputs of the other second-generation sequencing methods, and homopolymers would be sequenced with lower accuracy (Saraswathy and Ramalingam 2011).

2.6 Illumina Technology

After developing Illumina sequencing in 2006, Solexa commercialized it as Illumina/Solexa Genome Analyzer. The platforms developed by this company, namely, MiSeq, NextSeq 500, and HiSeq 2500, can put forward 15 Gb, 120 Gb, and 1000 Gb of sequencing data in each run while their maximum read lengths are 2×300 bp, 2×150 bp, and 2×125 bp, respectively. In addition, the NovaSeq 6000 System is declared to present output up to 6 Tb and 20B reads in less than 2 days. It is also claimed that the Illumina sequencing technology has been used in generating more than 90% of the sequencing data of the world as being the most remarkable technology in the NGS market (Krishna et al. 2019).

As being a sequencing by synthesis (SBS)-based technology, cluster generation involves the fragmentation of DNA molecules and ligation of the fragments with short adapter oligo at both ends. This aids connection and amplification of fragments on a flow cell where sequencing reactions take place. There are microfluidic channels on the flow cell called lanes. Oligonucleotide sequences are attached in each lane and are complementary to the adapters. These complementary oligos form a cluster that is called polony since the appearance of each PCR-amplified DNA fragment looks like a bacterial colony (Turcatti et al. 2008). The flow cell surface that is used for the immobilization of the templates for sequencing enables increased stability of DNA and accessibility of enzymes to the DNA. It also reduces the nonspecific binding of the fluorescently labeled nucleotides. One thousand copies of a template with a diameter of one micron or less are generated within solid-phase amplification. Single-molecule cluster densities reaching the order of 10 million per square centimeter are obtained by different methods including photolithography and mechanical spotting.

In Illumina technology, the PCR amplification of the DNA fragments is performed using the adapter sequence as a primer, and each type of dNTP is labeled with different types of fluorescent labels. In each sequencing cycle, only a singlelabeled dNTP is introduced to the nucleic acid chain, and thus each type of dNTP signal helps the detection of base calling, while the signal length helps the identification of the number of the attached dNTPs. Fluorescently labeled nucleotides with a reversible terminator are used in Illumina sequencing. Therefore, the polymerization terminates in the presence of the nucleotide label. The fluorescent label is screened to determine the base after each dNTP incorporation. The dye is then removed from the 3' end by the enzymes for the subsequent nucleotide to be incorporated, and the next cycle begins. Even though the sequences generated after the process are short, large data can be generated accurately and fast (Turcatti et al. 2008). As a technology displaying an error rate below 1%, Illumina sequencing is claimed to be one of the most accurate NGS technologies. The incorporation bias is reduced by the natural competition in the presence of reversible terminator-bound dNTPs that are single, separate molecules. In each cycle, the measurements of the intensities of the signals induce the base calls which are the reasons behind significantly reduced raw error rates compared to the alternative technologies. Imaging the clusters on the flow cell surface is the most time-consuming step of the process besides the nucleotide incorporation phase facilitated by the enzymes. The substitution of a nucleotide located in a specified position in the genome which is named as single-nucleotide substitution is the error taking place most frequently (Turcatti et al. 2008).

Within the resequencing approaches, the sequences are allowed to be aligned to a reference in the Illumina data collection software. The full range of data collection, processing, and analysis modules to streamline collection and analysis of data with minimal user intervention is enabled with this software that was generated with the help of leading researchers. The open format of the software with simple application program interfaces also provides accessing data at various stages of processing and analysis.

2.7 Ion Torrent Technology

Ion Torrent technology is based on an SBS process similar to Illumina technology. DNA fragments are amplified by an emulsion PCR (emPCR) on beads that are washed over a picowell plate, and each nucleotide is added later on to release pyrophosphate (Heather 2015). Each ion chip contains a liquid flow chamber which helps the influx and efflux of nucleotides (Merriman et al. 2012). A complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor technology is used to detect the difference in pH caused by the release of protons (H^+ ions) during polymerization (Rothberg et al. 2011). The bottom of each chip is covered with millions of pH microsensors. The pH change is not specific to nucleotide types, and each type of dNTP is released in a fixed order. According to the measurement of pH change, the sequence is determined (Merriman et al. 2012). This technology allows for very rapid sequencing during the actual detection phase (Glen et al. 2011). The error rate of the Ion Torrent technology is higher than the Illumina since the indels are the major error in this technology. This technology cannot detect homopolymer sequences of identical nucleotide stretch such as TTTTTT due to the loss of signal as multiple matching dNTPs incorporate (Loman et al. 2012). If the DNA template has a homopolymeric region, pH change should be proportional to the attached nucleotide number. Instead, as the attached nucleotides increase in a homopolymer, the expected pH change decreases gradually. In addition, the lengths of the sequence read obtained in one experiment of Ion Torrent are various rather than being the same. The sequence reads from both ends of a fragment cannot be obtained with the current generation of Torrent devices (Lahens et al. 2017).

2.8 Third-Generation Sequencing

Several biological limitations such as assembly and determination of complex genomic regions, gene isoform detection, and methylation detection are not eliminated by the second-generation sequencing technologies because of the short read lengths, even though they present developments outstripping Sanger sequencing (Rhoads and Au 2015). Third-generation sequencing is presented as a promising technology to eliminate the mentioned limitations. The length of the read is also improved to tens of thousands of bases from tens of bases per read within the third-generation sequencing approaches, besides the decrease in time required for sequencing from days to hours and elimination of sequencing biases resulting from the PCR amplification process (Lu et al. 2016).

Unlike second-generation sequencing, third-generation sequencing technologies do not require the sample amplification step and can sequence a single DNA molecule. Also, they may produce more than 10 Kb reads and thus produce highly precise de novo assemblies and contiguous genome reconstruction even at the regions of high content of repetitive elements. These technologies include Pacific Biosciences, Helicos System (Helicos single-molecule sequencing), and Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT). The first commercial NGS implementation was the Helicos System that utilized single-molecule fluorescent sequencing. However, the Helicos Biosciences company filed for bankruptcy in 2012.

2.9 Pacific Biosciences Technology

Pacific Biosciences developed the PacBio RS II sequencer and the single-molecule, real-time (SMRT) sequencing system based on the properties of zero-mode waveguides (Schade et al. 2010). PacBio sequencing enables closing the gaps in reference assemblies and determination of structural variation in genomes with the highly contiguous *de novo* assemblies. The mutations that are related to the diseases can be spotted, and extended repetitive regions are sequenced by using relatively long reads. Additionally, isoforms of genes, novel genes, and isoforms of annotated genes can be determined with PacBio transcriptome sequencing as the whole transcripts and relatively long fragments are sequenced. Base modifications such as methylation can also be spotted with PacBio sequencing. Moreover, cost-effective and scalable hybrid sequencing strategies are generated to utilize short reads in relation to long reads (Rhoads et al. 2015).

SMRT sequencing is a method carried out in cells with 150,000 ultra-microwells at a zeptoliter scale. Each well contains a DNA polymerase molecule stabilized at the bottom with a nanostructure including a biotin-streptavidin system called zeromode waveguides (ZMWs) (Kulski 2016). DNA chains pass through the DNA polymerase, and complementary binding nucleotides promote the detection of the sequences via the signals from fluorescence labels that are attached to the end phosphate groups, which are generated by them (Rhoads et al. 2015). Long reads with high accuracy are obtained with a circulating structure (SMRTbell) constructed by the adaptors. In this technology, first, the sequencing templates are annealed. The complex consisting of template-primer-polymerase is immobilized to the 150,000 ZMWs. After the labeled nucleotides interact with the polymerase, the end phosphate group is cleaved, and the fluorescent signal is detected simultaneously and recorded with a CCD camera. Because the wavelength of the visible light is more than the diameter of a ZMW, the light reflected through the glass bottom reaches the bottom 30 nm of the ZMW. Therefore, the reduction in background noise and the detection of a recruited nucleotide are facilitated with the detection volume.

As the nucleotides are integrated and detected simultaneously rather than the second-generation technologies in which the nucleotides are added in order, the sequencing is completed faster. The accuracy of sequencing 900 bp read length has increased from 99.3% to 99.9% by circularizing the template and sequencing it multiple times by using SMRTbell (Travers et al. 2010; Koren et al. 2013). The drawbacks of SMRT are the high cost, the need for the high amount of DNA samples, and the error rate of 10-15%, which is mostly caused by indels.
2.10 Oxford Nanopore Technology

The third-generation sequencing technology developed in 2005 by Oxford Nanopore Technologies Ltd. enables simultaneous analysis of native DNA or RNA sequences at any length in fully scalable formats from pocket to population scale. It uses a nanometer-level channel in a membrane, and it determines the base sequence by the potential difference changing between the membranes passing through a singlestranded DNA (ssDNA). In this technology, the leader and the hairpin adapters are used. Each adapter is ligated to one end of the double-stranded DNA (dsDNA). The leader adapter is denoted as the Y adapter since it has a Y-shaped structure, while the hairpin adapter is called the HP adapter. Sequencing starts at the single-stranded 5' end of the Y adapter, followed by the template strand, then the HP adapter, and the complementary strand. Helicase enzyme translocates along dsDNA to ssDNA, and the hairpin protein makes each base of ssDNA pass through the nanopore at a constant rate, and so base calling may then be performed. Each type of dNTP causes different electrical potential changes that are read, and base sequences are determined (Branton et al. 2010). In this technology, sample preparation is minimal, and long read lengths can be generated in the Kb range compared to the secondgeneration sequencing technologies. Also, amplification and ligation steps are not required before sequencing. However, the optimization of the speed of DNA translocation through the nanopore should be needed to obtain the accurate measurement of the ionic current changes and to decrease the high error rates of base calling (Stoddart et al. 2009). Thus, the current error rates (roughly around 98%) are very high; therefore it cannot compete with existing sequencing technologies. Moreover, the low depth of coverage obtained with this technology is a possible barrier to accurate eukaryotic genome sequencing at the moment.

2.11 Genomics

Shotgun sequencing was used for some of the early plant genomes including *Arabidopsis*, soybean, poplar, and papaya (Michael and Van Buren, 2015). The sequence and genetic structure of plant genomes are determined with an extensive sequencing method called whole-genome sequencing (WGS). In early sequencing projects that focus on WGS, the genomes of strawberry (Shulaev et al. 2011) and wheat (Brenchley et al. 2012) were randomly fragmented, and elements with varying sizes are obtained. The reads obtained from the sequencing process were assembled with bioinformatic tools after the bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)-end sequencing is performed. De novo projects also utilize WGS besides the resequencing attempts. Preparing a draft of unknown plant genomes is managed with the whole DNA or mRNA de novo sequencing even though the process is time-consuming (Türktaş et al. 2015). Despite the possibility of determining locations of

the contigs or scaffolds with low accuracy, and missing several genes while generating draft genomes, the presence of genome information enables analyses with high throughputs and characterization of genes (Sarethy and Saharan 2021). Later, WGS approach was used to generate the draft genomes of einkorn (Ling et al. 2013), wheat, and *A. tauschii* (Jia et al. 2013). Moreover, resequencing is considered to be useful in transcriptome profiling and detecting SNPs to generate molecular markers. For instance, WGS enabled the construction of the reference genome of potato and discovering SNPs to compare a homozygous doubled-monoploid line with its heterozygous diploid line (The Potato Genome Sequencing Consortium 2011). WGS of many different crop and vegetable species has been completed in the last decade. Although the second-generation sequencing resulted in many lower-quality assemblies, a massive extension WGS of different plant species, especially of the crops, leads to a revolution in plant genomics.

One thousand one hundred twenty-two plant genome assemblies are deposited in GenBank, representing 631 land plant species. The advancements in the long-read sequencing markedly improved the NGS data quality; therefore the number of plant genome assemblies has increased dramatically in the past 20 years. Almost 60% of the plant genome assemblies have been sequenced in the last 3 years alone. Model plants and some crops were the first species whose genomes were fully sequenced. But now, any plant species can be sequenced due to a steady decline in sequencing costs.

The exons considered to be the coding region for the protein synthesis in the genome of an organism are called the exome. Even though they involve the total of the sequences inducing the generation of proteins taking part in phenotypic regulation, they are insufficient to decode fully the mechanisms behind the gene regulation. To enlighten the molecular background of the diseases and phenotypic traits, exome sequencing was introduced as an essential genetic tool. Exome sequencing helps with the identification of genes (whole exome, genes responsible for a disease, or class of genes), determination of phenotypic traits, identification of exome SNPs, and further computational and statistical applications to identify the signals of diseases (Hashmi et al. 2015).

WGS of different populations of the same plant species showed a high degree of genomic variation within the species; therefore it was obvious that single reference genomes no longer can represent the diversity within a species. This observation led to the advancement of the pan-genome concept, which was first developed in bacteria in 2015 (Tettelin et al. 2005). Pan-genomes can distinguish the primary genes that are present in all individuals and variable genes that are found in some individuals but absent in others. Hence, it symbolizes the genomic diversity within the species. Pan-genomes can be curated by three different methods, each with its benefits and disadvantages over the others (Bayer et al. 2020). The first pan-genome study in plants was a comparison of WGS of wild soybean relatives (Li et al. 2014). Another study in rice compared the genomes of three accessions (Schatz et al. 2014). At present, more than 8,000 studies reported pan-genome comparisons in plants (Bayer et al. 2020). These studies have impacts on understanding the biological

significance of genotypic variances at loci linked with tolerance and resistance, developmental processes, and yield enhancement.

The transposable elements in the plant genome are high in copy number since their segmental or tandem duplication takes place frequently. Therefore, an extended amount of repetitive elements is found in plant genomes. Autopolyploid or allopolyploid character of the genome or the age of ploidization affects the progress of the sequencing as ploidy is considered a challenge. To eliminate the obstacles caused by the complexity of the genome, library sequencing of fragmented genome elements is executed by using restriction enzymes or obtaining the sequences without using enzymes (Vlk and Řepková 2017). Variations or significant polymorphisms in the genome are considered to be useful in pre-breeding attempts with resequencing projects. The reference genomes of the desired plant are also intended to be generated within various projects. They are considered as providing information about the structure and function of the genome and the genome assembly patterns of the related species together with molecular markers and candidate genes that can be used in further studies (Vlk and Řepková 2017).

Epigenetic changes such as chromatin modifications, transposable element inactivation, paramutation, transgene silencing, and co-suppression are investigated with the sequencing approaches in detail in various plant species. The changes in gene expression and chromatin-based expressional responses generated against environmental stimuli prove the importance of epigenetic studies in plants (Köhler and Springer 2017). Traditional methods used in epigenetic studies involve bisulfite conversion, methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes, and antibodies specific to 5-methylcytosine. Microarray-based methods were also started to be combined with these methods to carry out a genome-wide analysis of DNA methylation (Buck and Lieb 2004). Recently, NGS technologies paved the way for epigenetic studies (Vlk and Řepková 2017). Therefore, the studies of applied epigenetics cause new opportunities for crop improvement. It has been suggested that varietal selection of crops is associated with variability caused by epigenetic mechanisms (Rodríguez López and Wilkinson 2015; Crisp et al. 2016; Fortes and Gallusci 2017; Gallusci et al. 2017). The potential to develop crop performance and energy use efficiency was shown in Brassica napus via an epigenetic selection of isogenic lines (Hauben et al. 2009). Organ-specific epigenetic modifications were determined in maize by Illumina sequencing technology (Wang et al. 2009a). The expression levels of genes are regulated by epigenetic mechanisms in response to plant development and biotic and abiotic stresses, and this affects the phenotype of plants (Kumar 2018).

DNA methylation, histone modifications, and small RNA molecules are the major epigenetic mechanisms affecting the expression levels of genes (Rodríguez López and Wilkinson 2015). DNA methylation is an important chromatin modification that can be inherited in animals and plants. It has been recently suggested that methylation of the promoter and the gene coding region has different effects on gene expression (Wang et al. 2015a, b). The methylation of the promoter region of a gene is related to the repression of transcription (Kass et al. 1997). On the other hand, the methylation of the gene coding region is found with an intermediate expression level in plants. It was shown that it can be involved in reducing erroneous

transcription by reducing intron retention by single-cell transcriptome sequencing data from *Arabidopsis* root quiescent center cells (Horvath et al. 2019). Furthermore, it can enhance the gene expression in certain gene families (Dubin et al. 2015; Anastasiadi et al. 2018). DNA methylation which targets cytosines in varying sequence patterns such as CG, CHG, and CHH can be revealed efficiently with NGS after treating the DNA with sodium bisulfite. Even though mostly the transposons are methylated as being primary targets for epigenetic silencing, the relation between the transposon polymorphism and DNA methylation variation is not easily described because they are highly repetitive and result in large insertion/deletion polymorphisms in the genome. The connection between transposon methylation and transposon insertions was studied using whole-genome bisulfite sequencing data sets by Daron and Slotkin (2017). Also, bisulfite conversion and Illumina sequencing were used together for the identification of the methylated genomic regions in tomato, and it was suggested the ripening of tomato fruits was under the control of epigenetic regulation along with hormonal control (Zhong et al. 2013).

2.12 Functional Genomics

Biological investigations were focused on genes and proteins in vitro during the early 1990s. However, as technologies improved and evolved, the approach shifted to research on different molecular aspects, viz., structural genomics, transcriptomics analysis, proteomics, and metabolomics. For instance, a multidisciplinary approach involving integrative analysis is crucial to study the complexity of plant-microorganism interactions (Sarethy and Saharan 2021).

2.13 Transcriptomics

The complete set of transcripts in a cell, and their quantity, for a specific developmental stage or condition, is called transcriptome. It is essential for understanding the functional elements of the genome and the molecular regulations of cells and tissues and also for revealing disease and development. The ultimate goals of transcriptomics are to determine all species of transcript such as mRNAs, small RNAs, and non-coding RNAs for revealing the transcriptional structure of genes and the changes in expression levels of each transcript during development and under different conditions (Wang et al. 2009). Several technologies have been developed for including hybridizationor sequence-based transcriptomics, approaches. Commercial high-density oligo microarrays and custom-made microarrays with fluorescently labeled cDNA are the important techniques used in hybridizationbased approaches. Furthermore, specialized microarrays have been used for some specific purposes such as the detection of spliced isoforms.

They are high-throughput, relatively inexpensive, and high sensitivity by lowering the detection threshold of the transcriptional level of the less represented genes of a mixture, thus facilitating the analysis of thousands of genes in the same reaction (Kerr et al. 2000). However, they have several limitations such as existing knowledge about genome sequence, high background levels due to cross-hybridization, and complicated normalization methods. Microarrays have been widely used to produce global expression profiles under abiotic stresses in plant species (Kayıhan and Evidoğan 2019). For instance, the AtH1 Arabidopsis GeneChip from Affymetrix has been employed to study transcriptome changes in Arabidopsis under salt stress. Accordingly, approximately 35% of the genome (~8000 genes) exhibited expression changes under salt or other abiotic stresses (El Ouakfaoui and Miki 2005). Changes in gene expression caused by drought stress by using microarrays have been suggested by several research groups. For the first time in the literature, Ozturk et al. (2002) found that genes encoding jasmonate-responsive, late embryogenesis abundant, and ABA-responsive proteins were upregulated in barley seedlings exposed to drought. Also, it was found by microarray that changes in the expressions of 300 genes were revealed in spring and winter wheat under cold stress (Gulik et al. 2005). Furthermore, microarray technology provided comprehensive data for K⁺ deficiency in plants, and this showed a more integrative point of view considering all aspects of K⁺ management in plants (Kayıhan and Eyidoğan 2019). Kayihan et al. (2017) and Öz et al. (2009) performed the microarray experiments in wheat and barley cultivars exposed to excess boron, respectively. They suggest that WRKY transcription factors, genes related to jasmonate biosynthesis, glutathione S transferase, and NIP4:1 can have a role in boron tolerance mechanisms in cereals. Also, global gene expression analyses were performed in Arabidopsis thaliana exposed to high B and low B conditions (Kasajima and Fujiwara 2007). They identified novel high B-induced genes including heat shock protein and multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family transporter genes. On the other hand, microarrays have been widely used for transgenic plants such as maize, canola, cotton, tomato, and soybean events (Leimanis et al. 2006; Xu et al. 2007; Schmidt et al. 2008; Zhou 2008; Kim 2010; Feng 2013).

The transcript levels of genes depending on their changes under different conditions are important information, and they can reflect the functions and transcriptional regulation relationships of genes. Modern omics technologies play an important role in better understanding gene expression. The best approach for the characterization of candidate transcripts that are responsible for many biological functions is transcriptome study. NGS technology provides us a powerful tool to reveal the transcriptional landscape of investigated tissue(s) at special developmental stage(s) because it can easily obtain transcriptome data from different plant tissue(s) and developmental stage(s). RNA-seq approach that uses NGS techniques is used for analysis and study of the entire transcriptome, and this approach provides an insight on the expression level of transcripts. Genes expressed within a defined period of time from a particular tissue or cell can be found by RNA-seq. There are some universal steps for this approach. RNA fragments are converted to a cDNA library by reverse transcriptase, and from both ends of cDNA fragments, cDNA library fragments are ligated to adapter molecules. Then adaptor attached library fragments are sequenced. Through cDNA sequencing, transcriptomes are studied deeply and efficiently. For plant transcriptomes, Illumina technology has generally better coverage. Reference genome and de novo assembling are two types of the assembly methods. For large NGS data of complex genomes without a reference genome, de novo assembly is useful (Wang et al. 2009). De novo transcriptomes are provided by some bioinformatic tools such as TRAPID (Van Bel et al. 2003) and Trinity (Brain et al. 2013). RNA-seq data is used for the development of molecular markers (Trick et al. 2009) and gene characterization (Dassanayake et al. 2009).

RNA-seq has successfully assisted in identifying several genes responsible for biotic and abiotic stress responses in various plant species. A large number of genes related to developmental stages were identified by RNA-seq in cucumber via 454 pyrosequencing (Ando et al. 2012). A combination of microarray and Roche technology was used to identify genes that were linked to the quality of cotton fibers (Nigam et al. 2014). To find genes associated with drought tolerance, RNA-seq analysis was performed in Populus euphratica Oliv. grown in arid or semi-arid regions using the Roche 454-GS FLX System (Tang et al. 2012). Likewise, sequencing red clover with Illumina technology discovered genes related to drought tolerance and determined the increase in metabolites such as pinitol, proline, and malate in leaves (Yates et al. 2014). The transcriptome of soybean (Fan et al. 2012), cotton (Xu et al. 2013a, b), and halophyte grass (Yamamoto et al. 2015) was sequenced to explore a molecular mechanism of salt tolerance in these plants. In addition, a whole-genome study was performed in soybean using Illumina technology, which examines the function of the plant-specific family of NAC transcription factors during development and dehydration stress (Le et al. 2011). Ion Torrent technology has been used in transcriptome analysis of finger millet, a hardy grain known for its tolerance to salinity, drought, and disease (Rahman et al. 2014). Transcriptome profiling of jatropha roots was carried out to elucidate molecular reactions to waterlogging (Juntawong et al. 2014). As the third generation, Pacific Biosciences' SMRT technology was used to investigate the interaction of Xanthomonas orvzae pv. orvzicola and its host, Oryza sativa L., by whole-genome sequencing of the pathogen and RNA-seq of the host under attack (Wilkins et al. 2015). Illumina sequencing was used to obtain responsible herbicide resistance genes for Lolium rigidum Gaudin (Gaines et al. 2014) and for copper tolerance (Wang et al. 2015a, b). In sweet potatoes (Ipomoea batatas L.), biotic stress resistance analyses of catalase genes were performed using NGS technologies, and it was found that a positive response to IbCAT2 may play an important role in stress responses (Yong et al. 2017). In tomatoes, an abiotic stress tolerance identification study was conducted to understand the plant responses and genetic regulatory networks involved in abiotic stress responses (Chaudhary et al. 2019). In plants, RNA-seq technology has been used to determine the patterns of differentially expressed genes between hybrids and their parents to understand the genetic basis of heterosis (Zhai et al. 2013; Hansey et al. 2012; Sexane et al. 2014). Accordingly, gene expression for allopolyploid heterosis was predominant in the emerging hexaploid wheat dominance (Swanson-Wagner et al. 2006), but over-dominance was the key element for nicotine biosynthesis in tobacco (Tian et al. 2018). Dominance and over-dominance effects were shown by heterotic genes in connection with ear development earlier in maize inforescence (Ding et al. 2014). In the chrysanthemum, two characteristics of flowering – the initial flowering time and the flowering duration – are regulated by the presence of two pairs of main genes (Zhang et al. 2011).

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are the key regulators at the post-transcriptional level in eukaryotic organisms. They regulate the expression levels of genes in response to development and various stress responses in plants. They are complementary with the target mRNAs and are highly conserved. Up till now, several technical approaches have been used to identify and verify the miRNAs. These are in silico prediction based on conserved sequences, to create miRNA libraries and to follow this with cloning and sequencing and finally the sequencing of miR-NAs. In silico prediction was applied in rice (Bonnet et al. 2004). Cadmiumresponsive miRNAs and their target genes in Raphanus sativus L. roots were identified by Illumina sequencing technology (Xu et al. 2013a, b). Also, circular RNAs were identified by transcriptome analysis by means of SMRT technology by Pacific Biosciences, and it was found that they had an important role in the function of miRNA and transcriptional control (Lu et al. 2015). On the other hand, long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), which are longer than 200 bp and do not encode any protein product, are another important regulatory mechanism associated with gene silencing, flowering time regulation, and abiotic stress responses (Wang et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2014). These molecules were identified in crops, such as wheat (Xin et al. 2011), rape mustard (Yu et al. 2013), apple (Celton et al. 2014), and poplar (Shuai et al. 2014) by tiling array, EST analyses, and RNA-seq.

2.14 Proteomics

Proteomics is one of the growing fields of biological research with an immersive positive impact on plant science. Proteomics is a term that refers to the comprehensive identification and quantitative study of protein expression in an organism, cell, tissue, or organelle at a certain time and under specific conditions (Tan and Chen et al. 2011). Understanding proteome profiles provides a direct connection between genomic and transcriptomic regulation and phenotype. Since the first plant proteomic study in maize (Touzet et al. 1996), exponential progress has been made in different crop species although the full potential of plant proteomics has yet to be realized. Recent advances in new or improved technologies, protocols, or workflows have opened up new possibilities for high-throughput proteome analysis and reduced protein assessment errors.

Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and differential in-gel electrophoresis (DIGE) have been used in many early proteomic studies to separate the proteins. However, its resolution is not enough to ensure reproducibility and sensitivity (Rabilloud et al. 2010). Therefore, chromatographic separation followed by mass spectrometry (MS) is now routinely employed in proteomic studies. There are some deviations of chromatographic separation techniques such as high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC). After proper separation of protein mixtures, they can be identified by single or double MS systems. Sometimes samples can be ionized by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time of flight (MALDI-TOF) before identification in MS. This technique uses a laser energy-absorbing matrix to create ions from large molecules with minimal fragmentation (Jurinke et al. 2004).

Genomics and proteomics have developed separately into two different disciplines, thus limiting the cross talk between scientists in the two fields, limiting the integration of useful information from both fields into a single data modality. However, depending on the encoded genomic variants, mutations, or posttranscriptional modifications at the nucleotide level, the final expressed sequence of a protein may vary. NGS can be used to capture and correctly decipher these variants. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and small insertion-deletion (INDELs) can be characterized using NGS, and these sequence variants can be easily translated in silico into different proteoforms that can be added to existing protein databases (Hernandez et al. 2014). As a result of the merging of genomics and proteomics, a new field known as proteogenomics has emerged (Jaffe et al. 2004; Nesvizhskii et al. 2014; Low et al. 2016; Sheynkman et al. 2016; Ruggles et al. 2017). The expression of a gene, for example, can be determined at the level of mRNAs and proteins in each allelic form using proteogenomics (Wingo et al. 2017). Exon-exon splice junctions, on the other hand, allow for the analysis of alternatively spliced proteomes. Moreover, proteogenomics has been increasingly used to understand the adaptive diversification of plant species and populations (Voelckel et al. 2017).

Tens of studies have been completed on proteomic analysis of various plant species under different developmental stages, abiotic or biotic stress conditions, at different tissues, organs, and cells (Reviewed by Tan et al. 2017; Mustafa and Komatsu et al. 2021; Smythers et al. 2021). Recently the Arabidopsis PeptideAtlas (www. peptideatlas.org/builds/arabidopsis/) was released to solve critical questions about the *Arabidopsis thaliana* proteome (van Wijk et al. 2021). It includes around 0.5 million unique peptides and 17,858 unique proteins at the highest confidence level.

2.15 Metabolomics

Metabolomics is the large-scale study of small molecules, also known as metabolites, in cells, biofluids, tissues, or organisms. The metabolome refers to these small molecules and their interactions within a biological system. Metabolomics is a powerful approach because, unlike other omics approaches, metabolites and their concentrations directly reflect the underlying biochemical activity and state of cells and tissues. As a result, metabolomics is the most accurate representation of the phenotype. Advancements in chromatographic separation and MS allowed for unbiased, high-throughput screening and characterization of the metabolites to study the metabolic pathways and phytochemicals to complement the other omics approaches (Lee et al. 2012; Kang et al. 2013; Kin et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2015). Because of the metabolome complexity, functional characterization of metabolites is a challenging strategy in plants (Chen et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2019). Moreover, plants within the same family generally produce the same or similar metabolites since the metabolic pathways are highly conserved in plant families, which make it easier to study the metabolites in the same family in different species (Ntie-Kang et al. 2013). Plant metabolomics studies can explain the spatiotemporal differences of some essential metabolites in different plant species, which are affected by environmental factors together with genetic determinants (Lee and Lee et al. 2015; Son et al. 2016). In general, genetic factors, nutritional status, and geo-climatic conditions all influence the chemical composition of dif-

Currently, MS or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectrometry is used in many metabolomics studies. Some studies use gas chromatography (GC)-MS for the separation and analysis of volatile compounds. However, studying all metabolites is a big challenge since the combination of multiple metabolomics methods is required for this purpose. Many metabolomics studies have been completed in different crop species (Reviewed by Kumar et al. 2017; Sharma et al. 2018; Fernandez et al. 2020). Recent efforts in plant metabolomics science focus on natural variations of metabolites (Reviewed by Sun et al. 2021). These efforts determined the type of natural variations reflecting the metabolomics changes in a given plant family or taxon (Hu et al. 2014; Kusano et al. 2015; Albrecht et al. 2016; Zhen et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2018a, b; Fang et al. 2019). Later, these natural variations were used to select for the genotypes with superior metabolic profiles (e.g., Zhen et al. 2016) and link a specific metabolite or metabolic pathway to a genomic region via the identification of metabolite QTLs (mQTLs) (Chen et al. 2018a, b; Shi et al. 2020; Jamaloddin et al. 2021) or metabolome-based GWAS (mGWAS) (Luo 2015; Fang and Lou 2019; Chen et al. 2020; Wei et al. 2021).

Similar studies have recently been employed in the determination of ionic changes in different plant species (Yang et al. 2018a, b; Pita-Barbosa et al. 2019; Ali et al. 2021; Singh et al. 2022). Comparative metabolomics and ionomics studies revealed the evolutionary divergence of metabolic pathways and how they are conserved in some species or genotype for enhancing the adaptation to a specific condition (Dos Santos et al. 2017; Mawalagedera et al. 2019; Deng et al. 2020; Rastogi et al. 2020). We are now at the beginning of a new phase in plant metabolism research, in which integrative genomics and metabolomics approaches are used (Rai et al. 2017). The supremacy of genomics and transcriptomics should be integrated with metabolomics and proteomics studies to identify novel genes controlling the metabolism.

ferent plant parts (Dias et al. 2016).

2.16 Multi-omics

Transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics studies can represent the overall changes in transcripts, proteins, and metabolites, respectively (Aizat et al. 2018); however, a more diverse overall approach is needed to combine and compare large data sets to understand the complex biological systems such as the interactome. Multi-omics data generation and acquisition have become an essential part of modern molecular biology and biotechnology to study the biological pathways under different conditions because of recent advancements in NGS, proteomics, and metabolomics technologies as well as computational and statistical tools (Fondi and Liò 2015; Fabregat et al. 2018). Advancements in systems biological systems led to a more accurate understanding of complex biological systems. Systematic multiomics integration (MOI) is essential for systems biology in plant science. MOI in plants has been a difficult task since the genomes of many non-model plant species are not well-annotated, the metabolic processes are diverse, and the interactome is massive (Jamil et al. 2020).

The earliest examples of MOI studies were very successful to demonstrate the power of the integrative omics approach to identify potential candidate genes, proteins, or metabolites for further functional characterization. For example, correlation analysis of transcriptomic and metabolomic data from the potato tubes led to the identification of novel transcript-metabolite pairs that can be further characterized in the future (Urbanczyk-Wochniak et al. 2003). In another study, transcriptomic and metabolomic data were integrated to understand the interactions of sulfur and nitrogen metabolisms and the involvement of secondary metabolites in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Hirai et al. 2004). Since then, the MOI has been extensively used by plant scientists for functional characterization of unknown genes and to understand the behavior of complex systems under different conditions. Several different online software have been developed to integrate multi-omics data, such as MapMan (Thimm et al. 2004), and reviewed by Fondi and Lio (2015). The systems biology approach has been integrated extensively in different plant species (Rai et al. 2019).

In contrast to these advancements, some hurdles have slowed the utilization of the systems biology approach, particularly in crop species. These include the incomplete transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome data sets or their total unavailability. Current software is not designed to integrate different omics data sets to describe the phenome. Machine learning and artificial intelligence should yet to be incorporated into this software. The metabolome or ionome can be easily influenced by the environmental changes so that the extensive data generated by metabolomics and ionomics may not be readily integrated with the date of transcriptomics and genomics. Therefore, the results obtained at the levels of transcriptome and genome may not be fully reflected at the metabolome or even phenotype (do Amaral and Souza 2017). Therefore, there are lots of complex and dynamic processes working in parallel in the cell.

2.17 Single-Cell Technologies

The sequencing of a single-cell genome or transcriptome to obtain genomic, transcriptome, or other multi-omics information to show cell population distinctions and cellular evolutionary relationships is referred to as single-cell sequencing technologies (Wen et al. 2018). The molecular insight into tissue and/or time point/ developmental groupings using bulk techniques, which average over many cells, has been gained. However, the inherent biases introduced by averaging over different cell populations limit these approaches. Bulk averaging can, in some cases, lead to qualitatively wrong conclusions, a phenomenon known as Simpson's dilemma (Trapnell et al. 2015). Single-cell technologies have the advantages of detecting heterogeneity among individual cells, distinguishing a small number of cells, and outlining cell maps when compared to standard sequencing technology (Wen et al. 2018). Single-cell genomic approaches offer a potent set of tools for identifying cellular heterogeneity, as well as the formation and differentiation of cell types in complex tissues.

Due to its expensive cost, early single-cell sequencing was not widely used (Wen et al. 2018). High-throughput single-cell transcriptomics has become an accessible and powerful tool for unbiased profiling of complex and heterogeneous systems, thanks to recent improvements in cost and throughput (Klein et al. 2015; Zilionis et al. 2017; Macosko et al. 2015) and the availability of fully commercialized workflows (Zheng et al. 2017). These data sets can be utilized in concert with novel computational approaches to uncover cell types and states (Shekhar et al. 2016; Villani et al. 2017a, b), recreate developmental pathways, make destiny decisions (Trapnell et al. 2014; Welch et al. 2016), and spatially model complex tissues (Satija et al. 2015; Achim et al. 2015).

The emergence of omics techniques has quickly revolutionized our perspectives on plant biology, thanks to the advancement of sequencing technologies. The cellular diversity inside a tissue or organism, on the other hand, is far more complex than can be assessed using bulk analysis, which can only produce populationaveraged results (Gawad et al. 2016). As sequencing technologies advanced, allowing smaller and smaller samples, eventually allowing single-cell analysis, the traditional consensus from bulk-based omics studies was questioned (Shapiro et al. 2013). Characterizing the single-cell genome is of significant interest because each cell undergoes a unique chain of DNA synthesis and damage repair events. In a single-cell sequencing-based investigation, there are numerous basic processes. The first step is the preparation of a cell lysate. Plant cell isolation and lysis, unlike animal models, are hampered by the natural cell wall, requiring the use of specific techniques. Single-cell whole-genome amplification (WGA) must be performed once the plant cell lysate has been generated. Single-cell genomics and epigenomic technologies are both based on single-cell WGA; however, single-cell epigenomics is more diverse due to the addition of sample preprocessing procedures for capturing various epigenomic features such as bisulfite conversion for DNA methylation (Smallwood et al. 2014) and proximity DNA ligation for chromatin conformation (Nagano et al. 2013). Single-cell sequencing technologies have been used to investigate the cell heterogeneity that underlies several bulk omics characteristics, such as genomic variation, DNA methylation, and chromatin accessibility, in a variety of animal models (Huang et al. 2015; Kelsey et al. 2017). In recent years, they have been advanced greatly in terms of sensitivity and throughput. These developments have made it possible to profile cell-specific genomic variants and epigenomic characteristics in plant models for the first time, and they hold a great promise for answering a wide range of plant biological problems at the single-cell level (Stuart and Satija et al. 2019). Recently, multiple experimental protocols, including the Assay for Transposase-Accessible Chromatin with High-Throughput Sequencing (ATAC-seq) (Buenrostro et al. 2015), single-cell combinatorial indexing ATAC-seq (sci-ATAC-seq) (Cusanovich et al. 2015), single-cell transposome hypersensitivity site sequencing (scTHS-seq) (Lake et al. 2018), plate-based scATAC-seq protocol (Chen et al. 2018a, b), and droplet-based single-cell combinatorial indexing ATACseq (dsci-ATAC-seq) (Lareau et al. 2019), have been developed to profile genomewide chromatin accessibility in single cells. Very recently, the use of single-nucleus RNA sequencing (sNucRNA-seq) and single-nucleus assay for transposaseaccessible chromatin sequencing (sNucATAC-seq) technologies on Arabidopsis roots was reported, and it was suggested that the differential chromatin accessibility is a critical mechanism to regulate gene activity at the cell-type level (Farmer et al. 2021). Furthermore, single-cell resolution maps of open chromatin in the Arabidopsis root to address the issue of tissue heterogeneity and to detect likely endoreduplication events were provided by single-cell ATAC-seq (Dorrity et al. 2021).

2.18 Single-Cell Transcriptomics

Differential gene expression is largely responsible for the development of multiple cell types and cell-specific functions in multicellular organisms. The transcriptome of individual cells is frequently profiled using single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq). scRNA-seq (single-cell RNA sequencing) is a next-generation sequencing technology that generates gene expression data from thousands of single cells. This large data collection can be used to answer questions like how many different cell kinds are present in a sample and how common each cell type is. The recent development of single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) has deepened our understanding of the cell as a functional unit, revealing new populations of cells with distinct gene expression profiles previously hidden within gene expression analyses performed on bulk cells and providing new insights based on gene expression profiles of hundreds to hundreds of thousands of individual cells (Ziegenhain et al. 2017; Macosko et al. 2015).

Single-cell RNA sequencing has been particularly useful in gaining insight into tissue cellular heterogeneity and identifying previously unknown cell types (Artegiani et al. 2017; Villani et al. 2017a, b; Glass et al. 2017). Single-cell technologies can also be used to identify subpopulations within a known cell type by

looking for differences in gene expression patterns within the cell population (Artegiani et al. 2017; Shalet and Satija et al. 2013). Furthermore, these technologies can effectively isolate the signal from rare cell populations, which would otherwise be lost in the output of RNA sequencing on a bulk cell population (Shalet and Satija et al. 2014; Grün et al. 2015; Mahata et al. 2014; Torre et al. 2018). Besides that, the technology can be used to infer potentially useful markers for cell types that lack known markers, such as cell surface proteins. Because single-cell sequencing is driven by cell clustering based on differentially expressed genes, the genes that drive the clustering can be studied as potential unique markers for the cell population of interest (Artegiani et al. 2017; Zhao and Gao et al. 2017). Finally, singlecell sequencing can be used to investigate cell lineage and differentiation regulation. A population of stem cells, for example, can be induced to differentiate, and singlecell sequencing at various time points can provide "snapshots" of the differentiation process. The trajectories that cell flows to reach each terminally differentiated state, as well as the key genes that are differentially regulated at each branch point, can then be inferred using these snapshots (Artegiani et al. 2017; Treutlein et al. 2014; Trapnell et al. 2014; Oiu et al. 2017).

Biological tissue samples are frequently used as an input material for single-cell experiments. In the first phase, a single-cell suspension is created by digesting the tissue in a process known as single-cell dissociation. Cells must be isolated to profile the mRNA in each one separately. Depending on the experimental protocol, single-cell isolation is done differently. Droplet-based approaches focus on catching each cell in its microfluidic droplet, whereas plate-based methods separate cells into wells on a plate. Multiple cells can be captured together (doublets or multiplets), non-viable cells can be captured, or no cell can be captured at all (empty droplets/ wells) in both circumstances. Droplet-based approaches rely on a low concentration flow of input cells to manage doublet rates; hence empty droplets are typical. Each well or droplet includes the chemicals required to break down cell membranes and perform library construct. The process of capturing intracellular mRNA, reversetranscribed to cDNA molecules and amplified, is known as library construction. The mRNA from each cell can be labeled with a well- or droplet-specific cellular barcode, while the cells go through this process in isolation. Moreover, captured molecules are labeled with a unique molecular identifier (UMI) in many experimental protocols. To enhance the probability of being measured, cellular cDNA is amplified before sequencing.

Cellular cDNA libraries are labeled with cellular barcodes and, depending on the protocol, UMIs after library formation. For sequencing, these libraries are pooled together (multiplexed). Read data is generated by sequencing and is subjected to quality control, grouping based on assigned barcodes (demultiplexing), and alignment in reading processing pipelines. Read data can be further demultiplexed for UMI-based methods to produce counts of captured mRNA molecules (count data). However, analyzing and utilizing the large amounts of data created by single-cell RNA sequencing research is difficult and requires knowledge of the experimental and computational pathways that go from the preparation of input cells to the production of interpretable data. Single-cell gene expression analysis was previously

limited to a few select transcripts from a few individual cells. Modern single-cell sequencing platforms like as Fluidigm C1, Drop-Seq, Chromium 10X, SCI-Seq, and many others have been developed during the past decade thanks to high-throughput sequencing and high-yield cell separation approaches. At any given time, these technologies can define the transcriptional profile of hundreds to thousands of single cells. All rely on the use of DNA barcodes to label mRNA molecules during reverse transcription and/or later processes, allowing the transcripts to be indexed back to their individual cells of origin. Despite the fact that each technique has its own manner of separating cells and labeling mRNA molecules, they all use the same computational pipelines to represent transcriptional profiles.

Single-cell gene expression analyses have not been widely used in plants to date, owing to the presence of the plant cell wall, which makes it difficult to separate and acquire individual cells. Although there is recognition of the potential benefit of large-scale single-cell transcriptome studies in plants, single-cell gene expression studies in plants have so far been limited to a small number of cells (Lieckfeldt et al. 2008; Brennecke et al. 2013; Efroni et al. 2015; Frank and Scanlon 2015; Efroni and Birnbaum 2016; Libault et al. 2017). Several groups have recently used single-cell transcriptomics to plants with high throughput (Denver et al. 2019; Efroni et al. 2015; Efroni et al. 2016; Jean-Baptiste et al. 2019; Kubo et al. 2019; Nelms et al. 2019; Ryu et al. 2019; Shulse et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019). Plant studies using single-cell RNA-seq have primarily focused on the well-studied and understood Arabidopsis root system (Denyer et al. 2019; Jean-Baptiste et al. 2019; Ryu et al. 2019; Shulse et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019). The Arabidopsis root, in particular, is a useful organ for scRNA-seq because it has a relatively small number of cells and cell types, and methods for isolating individual cells by protoplasting are available (Birnbaum et al. 2005; Bruex et al. 2012; Efroni et al. 2015; Li et al. 2016). Even in this highly tractable and well-understood system with many known marker genes and cell types, these landmark studies revealed a slew of new and more robust celltype marker genes and begun to characterize the transition states that give rise to developmental trajectories (Denyer et al. 2019; Jean-Baptiste et al. 2019; Ryu et al. 2019; Shulse et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019). Recently, Qing et al. (2020) performed the scRNA-seq on root tips of two agronomically important rice cultivars and identified more than 20,000 single cells. Using integration analysis of two cultivars, most of the major cell types were identified, and novel cell-type-specific marker genes for both cultivars were characterized. In addition, they found well-conserved cell types between the two rice cultivars associated with specific regulatory programs, including phytohormone signaling, biosynthesis, and response. To identify the effects of tissue heterogeneity, Dorrity et al. (2021) applied scATAC-seq and scRNA-seq to Arabidopsis roots separately. They identified thousands of differentially accessible sites using scATAC-seq results and the entirety of a cell's regulatory landscape and its transcriptome using scRNA-seq. To define the endoreduplication, cell division, and developmental progression, they integrated the scATAC-seq and scRNA-seq data and characterized cell type-specific motif enrichments of transcription factor family analysis and linked the expression of family members to changing accessibility at specific loci, resolving direct and indirect effects that shape expression (Dorrity et al. 2021).

2.19 Conclusion

The omics technologies have been tremendously developed since their first-time introduction in plant science, which was flowed by exponential studies in different plant taxa. At present, at least one research study on plant omics is published every day. These omics studies have generated extensive data such that the pace of software development to analyze this much of data cannot meet the demand. In the past, individual studies of genomics, transcriptomics, or metabolomics were enough to make a judgment about the plant species or genotypes. However, now the focus has shifted from generating high-throughput biological data sets to the integration of these data sets to derive biological meaning out of it. These data sets are valuable for future efforts in establishing models that can describe plant adaptation, cultivation, and production. Novel approaches such as artificial intelligence and machine learning will be required in the near future to get the most out of these data sets and predict the future scenarios, especially under ongoing climate crises.

In the near future, plant biologists will focus on understanding the interactome of different metabolisms in the plant and how these interactions are affecting the phenome. They will utilize integrated omics technologies together with genome editing and speed breeding. Identification of novel genomic, proteomic, or metabolomic markers will be very useful in screening different plant genotypes, wild relatives, or breeding lines to find and develop new cultivars highly adapted to the changing climate with higher yields and nutritional quality.

References

- Achim K, Pettit JB, Saraiva L et al (2015) High-throughput spatial mapping of single-cell RNAseq data to tissue of origin. Nat Biotechnol 33:503–509
- Aizat WM, Goh HH, Baharum SN (2018) Omics Applications for Systems Biology Cham. Springer, Switzerland
- Albrecht U, Fiehn O, Bowman KD (2016) Metabolic variations in different citrus rootstock cultivars associated with different responses to Huanglongbing. Plant Physiol Biochem 107:33–44
- Ali S, Tyagi A, Bae H (2021) Ionomic Approaches for Discovery of Novel Stress-Resilient Genes in Plants. Int J Mol Sci 22(13):7182
- Anastasiadi D, Esteve-Codina A, Piferrer F (2018) Consistent inverse correlation between DNA methylation of the first intron and gene expression across tissues and species. Epigenetics Chromatin 11:37
- Ando K, Carr KM, Grumet R (2012) Transcriptome analyses of early cucumber fruit growth identifies distinct gene modules associated with phases of development. BMC Genomics 13:518
- Artegiani B, Lyubimova A, Muraro M, van Es JH, van Oudenaarden A, Clevers H (2017) A singlecell RNA sequencing study reveals cellular and molecular dynamics of the hippocampal neurogenic niche. Cell Rep 21:3271–3284
- Bayer PE, Golicz AA, Scheben A, Batley J, Edwards D (2020) Plant pan-genomes are the new reference. Nat Plant 6(8):914–920
- Bayley H (2015) Nanopore sequencing: From imagination to reality. Clin Chem 61:25-31

- Birnbaum K, Jung JW, Wang JY, Lambert GM, Hirst JA, Galbraith DW, Benfey PN (2005) Cell type-specific expression profiling in plants via cell sorting of protoplasts from fluorescent reporter lines. Nat Methods 2:615–619
- Bonnet E, Wuyts J, Rouzé P, Van de Peer Y (2004) Detection of 91 potential conserved plant microRNAs in Arabidopsis thaliana and Oryza sativa identifies important target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:11511–11516
- Branton D, Deamer DW, Marziali A, Bayley H, Benner SA, Butler T, Di Ventra M, Garaj S, Hibbs A, Huang X (2010) The potential and challenges of nanopore sequencing. In: Nanoscience and technology: a collection of reviews from nature journals. World Scientific Singapore, pp 261–268
- Brenchley R, Spannagl M, Pfeifer M, Barker GL, D'Amore R, Allen AM, McKenzie N, Kramer M, Kerhornou A, Bolser D et al (2012) Analysis of the bread wheat genome using wholegenome shotgun sequencing. Nature 491:705–710
- Brennecke P, Anders S, Kim JK, Kołodziejczyk AA, Zhang X, Proserpio V, Baying B, Benes V, Teichmann SA, Marioni JC, Heisler MG (2013) Accounting for technical noise in single-cell RNA-seq experiments. Nat Methods 10:1093–1095
- Bruex A, Kainkaryam RM, Wieckowski Y, Kang YH, Bernhardt C, Xia Y, Zheng X, Wang JY, Lee MM, Benfey P et al (2012) A gene regulatory network for root epidermis cell differentiation in Arabidopsis. PLoS Genet 8:e1002446
- Buck MJ, Lieb JD (2004) ChIP-chip: considerations for the design, analysis, and application of genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments. Genomics 84:349–360
- Buenrostro JD, Wu B, Litzenburger UM, Ruff D, Gonzales ML, Snyder MP et al (2015) Singlecell chromatin accessibility reveals principles of regulatory variation. Nature 523:486–490
- Celton JM, Gaillard S, Bruneau M, Pelletier S, Aubourg S, Martin-Magniette ML, Navarro L, Laurens F, Renou JP (2014) Widespread anti-sense transcription in apple is correlated with siRNA production and indicates a large potential for transcriptional and/or posttranscriptional control. New Phytol 203:287–299
- Chaudhary J, Khatri P, Singla P, Kumawat S, Kumari A, Vikram A, Jindal SK, Kardile H, Kumar R, Sonah H, Deshmukh R (2019) Advances in omics approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in tomato. Biology 8(4):90
- Chen W, Gong L, Guo Z, Wang W, Zhang H, Liu X, Yu S, Xiong L, Luo J (2013) A novel integrated method for large-scale detection, identification, and quantification of widely targeted metabolites: application in the study of rice metabolomics. Mol Plant 6:1769–1780
- Chen J, Wang J, Chen W, Sun W, Peng M, Yuan Z, Shen S, Xie K, Jin C, Sun Y, Liu X (2018a) Metabolome analysis of multi-connected biparental chromosome segment substitution line populations. Plant Physiol 178(2):612–625
- Chen X, Miragaia RJ, Natarajan KN, Teichmann SA (2018b) A rapid and robust method for single cell chromatin accessibility profiling. Nat Commun 9:5345
- Chen J, Hu X, Shi T, Yin H, Sun D, Hao Y, Xia X, Luo J, Fernie AR, He Z, Chen W (2020) Metabolite-based genome-wide association study enables dissection of the flavonoid decoration pathway of wheat kernels. Plant Biotechnol J 18(8):1722–1735
- Crisp PA, Ganguly D, Eichten SR, Borevitz JO, Pogson BJ (2016) Reconsidering plant memory: intersections between stress recovery, RNA turnover, and epigenetics. Sci Adv 2:e1501340
- Cusanovich DA, Daza R, Adey A, Pliner HA, Christiansen L, Gunderson KL et al (2015) Multiplex single cell profiling of chromatin accessibility by combinatorial cellular indexing. Science 348:910–914
- Daron J, Slotkin RK (2017) EpiTEome: simultaneous detection of transposable element insertion sites and their DNA methylation levels. Genome Biol 18:91
- Dassanayake M, Haas JS, Bohnert HJ, Cheeseman JM (2009) Shedding light on an extremophile lifestyle through transcriptomics. New Phytol 183:764–775
- Deng M, Zhang X, Luo J, Liu H, Wen W, Luo H, Yan J, Xiao Y (2020) Metabolomics analysis reveals differences in evolution between maize and rice. Plant J 103(5):1710–1722

- Denyer T, Ma X, Klesen S, Scacchi E, Nieselt K, Timmermans MCP (2019) Spatiotemporal developmental trajectories in the Arabidopsis root revealed using high-throughput single-cell RNA sequencing. Dev Cell 48:840–852
- Dias MI, Sousa MJ, Alves RC, Ferreira IC (2016) Exploring plant tissue culture to improve the production of phenolic compounds: a review. Ind Crop Prod 82:9–22
- Ding H et al (2014) Heterosis in early maize ear inflorescence development, a genome-wide transcription analysis for two maize inbred lines and their hybrid. Int J Mol Sci 15:13892–13915
- do Amaral MN, Souza GM (2017) The challenge to translate OMICS data to whole plant physiology: the context matters. Front Plant Sci 8:2146–2146
- Dorrity MW, Alexandre CM, Hamm MO et al (2021) The regulatory landscape of *Arabidopsis* thaliana roots at single-cell resolution. Nat Commun 12:3334
- Dos Santos VS, Macedo FA, Do Vale JS, Silva DB, Carollo CA (2017) Metabolomics as a tool for understanding the evolution of Tabebuia sensu lato. Metabolomics 13(6):72
- Dubin MJ, Zhang P, Meng D, Remigereau MS, Osborne EJ, Paolo Casal F et al (2015) DNA methylation in arabidopsis has a genetic basis and shows evidence of local adaptation. Elife 4:05255
- Efroni I, Birnbaum KD (2016) The potential of single-cell profiling in plants. Genome Biol 17:65 Efroni I, Ip PL, Nawy T, Mello A, Birnbaum KD (2015) Quantification of cell identity from single-
- cell gene expression profiles. Genome Biol 16:9
- Efroni I, Mello A, Nawy T, Ip PL, Rahni R, Del Rose N, Powers A, Satija R, Birnbaum KD (2016) Root regeneration triggers an embryo-like sequence guided by hormonal interactions. Cell 165:1721–1733
- El Ouakfaoui S, Miki B (2005) The stability of the Arabidopsis transcriptome in transgenic plants expressing the marker genes nptII and uidA. Plant J 41(6):91–800
- Fabregat A, Jupe A, Matthews L, Sidiropoulos K, Gillespie M, Garapati P, Haw R, Jassal B, Korninger F, May B et al (2018) The Reactome Pathway Knowledgebase. Nucleic Acids Res 46:649–655
- Fan XD, Wang JQ, Yang N, Dong YY, Liu L, Wang FW, Wang N, Chen H, Liu WC, Sun YP, Wu JY, Li HY (2012) Gene expression profiling of soybean leaves and roots under salt, saline–alkali and drought stress by high-throughput Illumina sequencing. Gene 512:392–402
- Fang C, Luo J (2019) Metabolic GWAS-based dissection of genetic bases underlying the diversity of plant metabolism. Plant J 97(1):91–100
- Fang C, Fernie AR, Luo J (2019) Exploring the diversity of plant metabolism. Trends Plant Sci 24(1):83–98
- Farmer A, Thibivilliers S, Ryu KH, Schiefelbein J, Libault M (2021) Single-nucleus RNA and ATAC sequencing reveals the impact of chromatin accessibility on gene expression in Arabidopsis roots at the single-cell level. Mol Plant 14(3):372–383
- Feng J, Liang Y, Wang F, Chen J (2013) Detection of genetically modified tomato using PCR coupled with iParaflo[™] microfluidics microarrays. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 13:8266–8274
- Fernandez O, Millet EJ, Rincent R, Prigent S, Pétriacq P, Gibon Y (2020) Plant metabolomics and breeding. In: Advances in botanical research. Academic Press Inc, pp 207–235
- Fondi M, Liò P (2015) Multi-omics and metabolic modelling pipelines: challenges and tools for systems microbiology. Microbiol Res 171:52–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2015.01.003
- Fortes AM, Gallusci P (2017) Plant stress responses and phenotypic plasticity in the epigenomics era: perspectives on the grapevine scenario, a model for perennial crop plants. Front Plant Sci 8:82
- Frank MH, Scanlon MJ (2015) Cell-specific transcriptomic analyses of three-dimensional shoot development in the moss Physcomitrella patens. Plant J 83:743–751
- Gaines TA, Lorentz L, Figge A, Herrmann J, Maiwald F, Ott MC, Han H, Busi R, Yu Q, Powles SB, Beffa R (2014) RNA-Seq transcriptome analysis to identify genes involved in metabolism-based diclofop resistance in *Lolium rigidum*. Plant J 78:865–876
- Gallusci P, Dai Z, Génard M, Gauffretau A, Leblanc-Fournier N, Richard-Molar C et al (2017) Epigenetics for plant improvement: current knowledge and modeling avenues. Trends Plant Sci 22:610–623

- Gawad C et al (2016) Single-cell genome sequencing: current state of the science. Nat Rev Genet 17:175–188
- Glass LL, Calero-Nieto FJ, Jawaid W, Larraufie P, Kay RG, Göttgens B, Reimann F, Gribble FM (2017) Single-cell RNA-sequencing reveals a distinct population of proglucagon-expressing cells specific to the mouse upper small intestine. Mol Metab 6:1296–1303
- Glenn TC (2011) Field guide to next-generation DNA sequencers. Mol Ecol Resour 11:759-769
- Goff SA, Ricke D, Lan TH, Presting G, Wang R et al (2002) A draft sequence of the rice genome (Oryza sativa L. ssp. japonica). Science 296:92–100
- Grün D, Lyubimova A, Kester L, Wiebrands K, Basak O, Sasaki N, Clevers H, van Oudenaarden A (2015) Single-cell messenger RNA sequencing reveals rare intestinal cell types. Nature 525:251–255
- Gulik PJ, Drouin S, Yu Z et al (2005) Transcriptome comparison of winter and spring wheat responding to low temperature. Genome 48(5):913–923
- Hansey CN et al (2012) Maize (Zea mays L.) genome diversity as revealed by RNA–sequencing. PLoS One 7:e33071
- Hashmi U, Shafqat S, Khan F, Majid M, Hussain H, Kazi AG, John R, Ahmad P (2015) Plant exomics: concepts, applications and methodologies in crop improvement. Plant Signal Behav 10(1):e976152. https://doi.org/10.4161/15592324.2014.976152
- Hauben M, Haesendonckx B, Standaert E, Van Der Kelen K, Azmi A, Akpo H et al (2009) Energy use efficiency is characterized by an epigenetic component that can be directed through artificial selection to increase yield. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:20109–20114
- Heather JM (2015) T-cell receptor repertoire sequencing in health and disease. Doctoral dissertation, UCL (University College London)
- Hernandez C, Waridel P, Quadroni M (2014) Database construction and peptide identification strategies for proteogenomic studies on sequenced genomes. Curr Top Med Chem 14:425–434
- Hirai MY, Yano M, Goodenowe DB, Kanaya S, Kimura T, Awazuhara M, Arita M, Fujiwara T, Saito K (2004) Integration of transcriptomics and metabolomics for understanding of global responses to nutritional stresses in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(27):10205–10210
- Horvath H, Laenen B, Takuno S, Slotte T (2019) Single-cell expression noise and gene-body methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Heredity 123:81–91
- Hu C, Shi J, Quan S, Cui B, Kleessen S, Nikoloski Z, Tohge T, Alexander D, Guo L, Lin H, Wang J (2014) Metabolic variation between japonica and indica rice cultivars as revealed by non-targeted metabolomics. Sci Rep 4(1):1–10
- Huang L et al (2015) Single-cell whole-genome amplification and sequencing: methodology and applications. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 16:79–102
- Jaffe JD, Berg HC, Church GM (2004) Proteogenomic mapping as a complementary method to perform genome annotation. Proteomics 4:59–77
- Jamaloddin M, Maliha A, Gokulan CG, Gaur N, Patel HK (2021) Metabolomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement: an emerging approach. In: Omics technologies for sustainable agriculture and global food security, vol 1. Springer, Singapore, pp 241–279
- Jamil IN, Remali J, Azizan KA, Muhammad NAN, Arita M, Goh H-H, Aizat WM (2020) Systematic multi-omics integration (MOI) approach in plant systems biology. Front Plant Sci 11:944
- Jean-Baptiste K, McFaline-Figueroa JL, Alexandre CM, Dorrity MW, Saunders L, Bubb KL, Trapnell C, Fields S, Queitsch C, Cuperus JT (2019) Dynamics of gene expression in single root cells of A. thaliana. Plant Cell 31:993–1011
- Jia J, Zhao S, Kong X, Li Y, Zhao G, He W, Appels R, Pfeifer M, Tao Y, Zhang X et al (2013) *Aegilops tauschii* draft genome sequence reveals a gene repertoire for wheat adaptation. Nature 496:91–95
- Juntawong P, Sirikhachornkit A, Pimjan R, Sonthirod C, Sangsrakru D, Yoocha T, Tangphatsornruang S, Srinives P (2014) Elucidation of the molecular responses to waterlogging in Jatropha roots by transcriptome profiling. Front Plant Sci 5:658
- Jurinke C, Oeth P, van den Boom D (2004) MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Mol Biotechnol 26(2):147–163

- Kang D, Son GH, Park HM, Kim J, Choi JN, Kim HY et al (2013) Culture condition dependent metabolite profiling of Aspergillus fumigatus with antifungal activity. Fungal Biol 117:211–219
- Kang Y, Kang CS, Kim C (2019) History of nucleotide sequencing technologies: advances in exploring nucleotide sequences from Mendel to the 21st century. Hortic Sci Technol 37:549–558
- Kasajima I, Fujiwara T (2007) Identification of novel Arabidopsis thaliana genes which are induced by high levels of boron. Plant Biotechnol 24(3):355–360
- Kass SU, Pruss D, Wolffe AP (1997) How does DNA methylation repress transcription? Trends Genet 13:444–449
- Kayıhan C, Eyidoğan F (2019) Omics in oxidative stress tolerance in crops. In: Hasanuzzaman M, Fotopoulos V, Nahar K, Fujita M (eds) Reactive oxygen, nitrogen and sulfur species in plants: production, metabolism, signaling and defense mechanisms. Wiley-Blackwell, United States of America
- Kayihan C, Öz MT, Eyidoğan F et al (2017) Physiological, biochemical, and transcriptomic responses to boron toxicity in leaf and root tissues of contrasting wheat cultivars. Plant Mol Biol Repr 35(1):97–109
- Kchouk M, Gibrat J, Elloumi M (2017) Generations of sequencing technologies: from first to next generation. Biol Med 9:1–8
- Kelsey G et al (2017) Single-cell epigenomics: recording the past and predicting the future. Science 358:69–75
- Kerr MK, Martin M, Churchill GA (2000) Analysis of variance for gene expression microarray data. J Comput Biol 7:819–837
- Kim JH, Kim SY, Lee H, Kim YR, Kim HY (2010) An event-specific DNA microarray to identify genetically modified organisms in processed foods. J Agric Food Chem 58:6018–6026
- Kim J, Choi JN, Choi JH, Cha YS, Muthaiya MJ, Lee CH (2013) Effect of fermented soybean product (Cheonggukjang) intake on metabolic parameters in mice fed a high-fat diet. Mol Nutr Food Res 57:1886–1891
- Klein AM et al (2015) Droplet barcoding for single-cell transcriptomics applied to embryonic stem cells. Cell 161:1187–1201
- Köhler C, Springer N (2017) Plant epigenomics-eciphering the mechanisms of epigenetic inheritance and plasticity in plants. Genome Biol 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-017-1260-9
- Koren S, Harhay GP, Smith TP et al (2013) Reducing assembly complexity of microbial genomes with single-molecule sequencing. Genome Biol 14:R101
- Krishna BM, Khan MA, Khan ST (2019) Next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms: an exciting era of genome sequence analysis. Microbial Genomics in Sustainable Agroecosystems, pp 89–109
- Kubo M, Nishiyama T, Tamada Y, Sano R, Ishikawa M, Murata T, Imai A, Lang D, Demura T, Reski R et al (2019) Single-cell transcriptome analysis of Physcomitrella leaf cells during reprogramming using microcapillary manipulation. Nucleic Acids Res 47:4539–4553
- Kulski JK (2016) Next-generation sequencing an overview of the history, tools, and "omic" applications. Next generation sequencing - advances, applications and challenges. InTech
- Kumar S (2018) Epigenomics of plant responses to environmental stress. Epigenomes 2:1-17
- Kumar R, Bohra A, Pandey AK, Pandey MK, Kumar A (2017) Metabolomics for plant improvement: status and prospects. Front Plant Sci 8:1302
- Kusano M, Yang Z, Okazaki Y, Nakabayashi R, Fukushima A, Saito K (2015) Using metabolomic approaches to explore chemical diversity in rice. Mol Plant 8(1):58–67
- Lahens NF, Ricciotti E, Smirnova O, Toorens E, Kim EJ, Baruzzo G, Hayer KE, Ganguly T, Schug J, Grant GR (2017) A comparison of Illumina and Ion Torrent sequencing platforms in the context of differential gene expression. BMC Genomics 18(1):602
- Lake BB, Chen S, Sos BC, Fan J, Kaeser GE, Yung YC et al (2018) Integrative single-cell analysis of transcriptional and epigenetic states in the human adult brain. Nat Biotechnol 36:70–80
- Lareau CA, Duarte FM, Chew JG, Kartha VK, Burkett ZD, Kohlway AS et al (2019) Droplet-based combinatorial indexing for massive-scale single-cell chromatin accessibility. Nat Biotechnol 37:916–924

- Le DT, Nishiyama R, Watanabe Y, Mochida K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Tran LS (2011) Genome-wide survey and expression analysis of the plant-specific NAC transcription factor family in soybean during development and dehydration stress. DNA Res 18:263–276
- Lee S, Do SG, Kim SY, Kim J, Jin Y, Lee CH (2012) Mass spectrometry-based metabolite profiling and antioxidant activity of Aloe vera (Aloe barbadensis Miller) in different growth stages. J Agric Food Chem 60:11222–11228
- Lee S, Oh DG, Lee S, Kim GR, Lee JS, Son YK et al (2015) Chemotaxonomic metabolite profiling of 62 indigenous plant species and its correlation with bioactivities. Molecules 20:19719–19734
- Lee S, Oh DG, Singh D, Lee HJ, KIM GR, Lee S, Lee JS, Lee CH (2019) Untargeted metabolomics toward systematic characterization of antioxidant compounds in Betulaceae family plant extracts. Metabolites 9:186
- Leimanis S, Hernandez M, Fernandez S, Boyer F, Burns M, Bruderer S et al (2006) A microarraybased detection system for genetically modified (GM) food ingredients. Plant Mol Biol 61:123–139
- Li YH, Zhou G, Ma J, Jiang W, Jin LG, Zhang Z, Guo Y, Zhang J, Sui Y, Zheng L, Zhang SS (2014) De novo assembly of soybean wild relatives for pan-genome analysis of diversity and agronomic traits. Nat Biotechnol 32(10):1045–1052
- Li S, Yamada M, Han X, Ohler U, Benfey PN (2016) High-resolution expression map of the Arabidopsis root reveals alternative splicing and lincRNA regulation. Dev Cell 39:508–522
- Libault M, Pingault L, Zogli P, Schiefelbein J (2017) Plant systems biology at the single-cell level. Trends Plant Sci 22:949–960
- Lieckfeldt E, Simon-Rosin U, Kose F, Zoeller D, Schliep M, Fisahn J (2008) Gene expression profiling of single epidermal, basal and trichome cells of Arabidopsis thaliana. J Plant Physiol 165:1530–1544
- Ling HQ, Zhao S, Liu D, Wang J, Sun H, Zhang C, Fan H, Li D, Dong L, Tao Y et al (2013) Draft genome of the wheat A-genome progenitor *Triticum urartu*. Nature 496:87–90
- Liu Q, Liang Z, Feng D, Jiang S, Wang Y, Du Z, Li R, Hu G, Zhang P, Ma Y et al (2020) Transcriptional landscape of rice roots at the single cell resolution. Mol Plant 14(3):384–394
- Loman NJ (2012) Performance comparison of benchtop high-throughput sequencing platforms. Nat Biotechnol 30:434–439
- Low TY, Heck AJ (2016) Reconciling proteomics with next generation sequencing. Curr Opin Chem Biol 30:14–20
- Low TY, Mohtar MA, Ang MY, Jamal R (2019) Connecting proteomics to next-generation sequencing: proteogenomics and its current applications in biology. Proteomics 19(10):e1800235
- Lu T, Cui L, Zhou Y, Zhu Q, Fan D, Gong H, Zhao Q, Zhou C, Zhao Y, Lu D, Luo J, Wang Y, Tian Q, Feng Q, Huang T, Han B (2015) Transcriptome-wide investigation of circular RNAs in rice. RNA 21:2076–2087
- Lu H, Giordano F, Ning Z (2016) Oxford nanopore minION sequencing and genome assembly. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics 14(5):265–279
- Luo J (2015) Metabolite-based genome-wide association studies in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 24:31–38
- Macosko EZ, Basu A, Satija R, Nemesh J, Shekhar K, Goldman M, Tirosh I, Bialas AR, Kamitaki N, Martersteck EM et al (2015) Highly parallel genome-wide expression profiling of individual cells using nanoliter droplets. Cell 161:1202–1214
- Mahata B, Zhang X, Kolodziejczyk AA, Proserpio V, Haim-Vilmovsky L, Taylor AE, Hebenstreit D, Dingler FA, Moignard V, Göttgens B et al (2014) Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals T helper cells synthesizing steroids de novo to contribute to immune homeostasis. Cell Rep 7:1130–1142
- Mawalagedera SM, Callahan DL, Gaskett AC, Rønsted N, Symonds MR (2019) Combining evolutionary inference and metabolomics to identify plants with medicinal potential. Front Ecol Evol 7:267
- Maxam AM, Gilbert WA (1977) A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci 74:560–564

- Meera Krishna B, Khan MA, Khan ST (2019) Next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms: an exciting era of genome sequence analysis. In: Tripathi V, Kumar P, Tripathi P, Kishore A, Kamle M (eds) Microbial genomics in sustainable agroecosystems. Springer, Singapore
- Merriman B, Team ITD, Rothberg JM (2012) Progress in ion torrent semiconductor chip based sequencing. Electrophoresis 33:3397–3417
- Michael TP, Van Buren R (2015) Progress, challenges and the future of crop genomes. Curr Opin Plant Biol 24:71–81
- Muhammad II, Kong SL, Akmar Abdullah SN, Munusamy U (2019) RNA-seq and ChIP-seq as complementary approaches for comprehension of plant transcriptional regulatory mechanism. Int J Mol Sci 21(1):167
- Mustafa G, Komatsu S (2021) Plant proteomic research for improvement of food crop under stresses: a review. Molecul Omics
- Nagano T et al (2013) Single-cell Hi-C reveals cell-to-cell variability in chromosome structure. Nature 502:59–64
- Nalbantoglu S, Karadag A (2019) Introductory chapter: insight into the OMICS technologies and molecular medicine. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.86450
- Nelms B, Walbot V (2019) Defining the developmental program leading to meiosis in maize. Science 364:52–56
- Nesvizhskii AI (2014) Proteogenomics: concepts, applications and computational strategies. Nat Methods 11:1114–1125
- Nigam D, Kavita P, Tripathi RK, Ranjan A, Goel R, Asif M, Shukla A, Singh G, Rana D, Sawant SV (2014) Transcriptome dynamics during fibre development in contrasting genotypes of *Gossypium hirsutum* L. Plant Biotechnol J 12:20418
- Noman MS, Rashid M, Khan TA (2017) Next-generation high-throughput sequencing technologies: concept and applications. J Agric & Rural Res 1(1):15–23
- Ntie-Kang F, Lifongo LL, Mbaze LMA, Ekwelle N, Owono LCO (2013) Megnassan E. Cameroonian medicinal plants: a bioactivity versus ethnobotanical survey and chemotaxonomic classification. BMC Complement Altern Med 13:147
- Öz MT, Yilmaz R, Eyidogan F et al (2009) Microarray analysis of late response to boron toxicity in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) leaves. Turkish J Agric Forest 33:191–202
- Ozturk ZN, Talame V, Deyholos M et al (2002) Monitoring largescale changes in transcript abundance in drought- and salt stressed barley. Plant Mol Biol 48:551–573
- Pita-Barbosa A, Ricachenevsky FK, Flis PM (2019) One "OMICS" to integrate them all: ionomics as a result of plant genetics, physiology and evolution. Theor Exp Plant Physiol 31(1):71–89
- Qiu X, Mao Q, Tang Y, Wang L, Chawla R, Pliner HA, Trapnell C (2017) Reversed graph embedding resolves complex single-cell trajectories. Nat Methods 14:979–982
- Rabilloud T, Chevallet M, Luche S, Lelong C (2010) Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis in proteomics: past, present and future. J Proteomics 73(11):2064–2077
- Rahman H, Jagadeeshselvam N, Valarmathi R, Sachin B, Sasikala R, Senthil N, Sudhakar D, Robin S, Muthurajan R (2014) Transcriptome analysis of salinity responsiveness in contrasting genotypes of finger millet (*Eleusine coracana* L.) through RNA-sequencing. Plant Mol Biol 85:485–503
- Rai A, Saito K, Yamazaki M (2017) Integrated omics analysis of specialized metabolism in medicinal plants. Plant J 90:764–787
- Rai A, Yamazaki M, Saito K (2019) A new era in plant functional genomics. Curr Opin Syst Biol 15:58–67
- Ramon D, Braden M, Adams S, Marincola FM, Wang L (2003) Pyrosequencing[™]: a onestep method for high resolution HLA typing. J Transl Med 1(1):9
- Rastogi S, Shah S, Kumar R, Kumar A, Shasany AK (2020) Comparative temporal metabolomics studies to investigate interspecies variation in three Ocimum species. Sci Rep 10(1):1–15
- Rhoads A, Au KF (2015) PacBio sequencing and its applications. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics 13(5):278–289

- Rodríguez López CM, Wilkinson MJ (2015) Epi-fingerprinting and epiinterventions for improved crop production and food quality. Front Plant Sci 6:397
- Rothberg JM (2011) An integrated semiconductor device enabling non-optical genome sequencing. Nature 475:348–352
- Rothberg JM, Leamon JH (2008) The development and impact of 454 sequencing. Nat Biotechnol 26:1117
- Ruggles KV, Krug K, Wang X, Clauser KR, Wang J, Payne SH et al (2017) Methods, tools and current perspectives in proteogenomics. Mol Cell Proteomics 16:959–981
- Ryu KH, Huang L, Kang HM, Schiefelbein J (2019) Single-cell RNA sequencing resolves molecular relationships among individual plant cells. Plant Physiol 179:1444–1456
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR (1977) DNA sequencing with chain terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci 74:5463–5467
- Saraswathy N, Ramalingam P (2011) Concepts and techniques in genomics and proteomics. Elsevier, pp 57–76
- Sarethy IP, Saharan A (2021) Genomics, proteomics and transcriptomics in the biological control of plant pathogens: a review. Indian Phytopathol 74(1):3–12
- Satija R, Farrell JA, Gennert D, Schier AF, Regev A (2015) Spatial reconstruction of single-cell gene expression data. Nat Biotechnol 33:495–502
- Saxena RK, Edwards D, Varshney RK (2014) Structural variations in plant genomes. Brief Funct Genomics 13:296–307
- Schatz MC, Maron LG, Stein JC, Wences AH, Gurtowski J, Biggers E, Lee H, Kramer M, Antoniou E, Ghiban E, Wright MH (2014) Whole genome de novo assemblies of three divergent strains of rice, Oryza sativa, document novel gene space of aus and indica. Genome Biol 15(11):1–16
- Schmidt AM, Sahota R, Pope DS, Lawrence TS, Belton MP, Rott ME (2008) Detection of genetically modified canola using multiplex PCR coupled with oligonucleotide microarray hybridization. J Agric Food Chem 56:6791–6800
- Schmutz J, Cannon SB, Schlueter J, Ma J, Mitros T et al (2010) Genome sequence of the paleopolyploid soybean. Nature 463:178–183
- Shalek AK, Satija R, Adiconis X, Gertner RS, Gaublomme JT, Raychowdhury R, Schwartz S, Yosef N, Malboeuf C, Lu D et al (2013) Single-cell transcriptomics reveals bimodality in expression and splicing in immune cells. Nature 498:236–240
- Shalek AK, Satija R, Shuga J, Trombetta JJ, Gennert D, Lu D, Chen P, Gertner RS, Gaublomme JT, Yosef N et al (2014) Single-cell RNA-seq reveals dynamic paracrine control of cellular variation. Nature 510:363–369
- Shapiro E et al (2013) Single-cell sequencing-based technologies will revolutionize wholeorganism science. Nat Rev Genet 14:618–630
- Sharma K, Sarma S, Bohra A, Mitra A, Sharma NK, Kumar A (2018) Plant metabolomics: an emerging technology for crop improvement. New visions in plant science, 1st edn. IntechOpen, London, pp 65–79
- Shekhar K et al (2016) Comprehensive classification of retinal bipolar neurons by singlecell transcriptomics. Cell 166:1308–1323
- Sheynkman GM, Shortreed MR, Cesnik AJ, Smith LM (2016) Proteogenomics: integrating nextgeneration sequencing and mass spectrometry to characterize human proteomic variation. Annu Rev Anal Chem 9:521–545
- Shi T, Zhu A, Jia J, Hu X, Chen J, Liu W, Ren X, Sun D, Fernie AR, Cui F, Chen W (2020) Metabolomics analysis and metabolite-agronomic trait associations using kernels of wheat (Triticum aestivum) recombinant inbred lines. Plant J 103(1):279–292
- Shuai P, Liang D, Tang S, Zhang Z, Ye CY, Su Y, Xia X, Yin W (2014) Genome-wide identification and functional prediction of novel and drought-responsive lincRNAs in *Populus trichocarpa*. J Exp Bot 65:4975–4983
- Shulaev V, Sargent DJ, Crowhurst RN, Mockler TC, Folkerts O, Delcher AL, Jaiswal P, Mockaitis K, Liston A, Mane SP et al (2011) The genome of woodland strawberry (*Fragaria vesca*). Nat Genet 43:109–116

- Shulse CN, Cole BJ, Ciobanu D, Lin J, Yoshinaga Y, Gouran M, Turco GM, Zhu Y, O'Malley RC, Brady SM et al (2019) High-throughput single-cell transcriptome profiling of plant cell types. Cell Rep 27:2241–2247
- Sims D et al (2014) Sequencing depth and coverage: key considerations in genomic analyses. Nat Rev Genet 15:121–132
- Singh A, Jaiswal A, Singh A, Tomar RS, Kumar A (2022) Plant ionomics: toward high-throughput nutrient profiling. In: Plant nutrition and food security in the era of climate change. Academic Press, p 227254
- Smallwood SA et al (2014) Single-cell genome-wide bisulfite sequencing for assessing epigenetic heterogeneity. Nat Methods 11:817–820
- Smythers AL, Hicks LM (2021) Mapping the plant proteome: tools for surveying coordinating pathways. Emerging Topics in Life Sciences 5(2):203–220
- Son SY, Kim NK, Lee S, Singh D, Kim GR, Lee JS et al (2016) Metabolite fingerprinting, pathway analyses, and bioactivity correlations for plant species belonging to the Cornaceae, Fabaceae, and Rosaceae families. Plant Cell Rep 35:917–931
- Stoddart D, Heron A, Mikhailova E, Maglia G, Bayley H (2009) Single nucleotide discrimination in immobilized DNA oligonucleotides with a biological nanopore. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:7702–7707
- Stuart T, Satija R (2019) Integrative single-cell analysis. Nat Rev Genet 20:257-272
- Sun W, Chen Z, Hong J, Shi J (2021) Promoting human nutrition and health through plant metabolomics: current status and challenges. Biology 10(1):20
- Swanson-Wagner RA et al (2006) All possible modes of gene action are observed in a global comparison of gene expression in a maize F1 hybrid and its inbred parents. Proc Natl Acad Sci US 103:6805–6810
- Tan L, Chen S, Wang T, Dai S (2013) Proteomic insights into seed germination in response to environmental factors. Proteomics 13:1850–1870
- Tan BC, Lim YS, Lau SE (2017) Proteomics in commercial crops: an overview. J Proteomics 169:176–188
- Tettelin H, Masignani V, Cieslewicz MJ, Donati C, Medini D, Ward NL, Angiuoli SV, Crabtree J, Jones AL, Durkin AS, DeBoy RT (2005) Genome analysis of multiple pathogenic isolates of Streptococcus agalactiae: implications for the microbial "pan-genome". Proc Natl Acad Sci 102(39):13950–13955
- The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nature 408:796–815
- The Potato Genome Sequencing Consortium (2011) Genome sequence and analysis of the tuber crop potato. Nature 475:189–195
- Thimm O, Bläsing O, Gibon Y, Nagel A, Meyer S, Krüger P, Selbig J, Müller LA, Rhee SY, Stitt M (2004) MAPMAN: a user-driven tool to display genomics data sets onto diagrams of metabolic pathways and other biological processes. Plant J 37(6):914–939
- Tian M et al (2018) Transcriptomic analysis reveals overdominance playing a critical role in nicotine heterosis in Nicotiana tabacum L. BMC Plant Biol 18:48
- Torre E, Dueck H, Shaffer S, Gospocic J, Gupte R, Bonasio R, Kim J, Murray J, Raj A (2018) Rare cell detection by single-cell RNA sequencing as guided by single-molecule RNA FISH. Cell Syst 6:171–179
- Touzet P, Riccardi F, Damerval MC, Huet JC, Pernollet JC, Zivy M, de Vienne D (1996) The maize two-dimensional gel protein database: towards an integrated genome analysis program. Theor Appl Genet 93:997–1005
- Trapnell C (2015) Defining cell types and states with single-cell genomics. Genome Res 25:1491-1498
- Trapnell C, Cacchiarelli D, Grimsby J, Pokharel P, Li S, Morse M, Lennon NJ, Livak KJ, Mikkelsen TS, Rinn JL (2014) The dynamics and regulators of cell fate decisions are revealed by pseudo-temporal ordering of single cells. Nat Biotechnol 32:381–386
- Travers KJ, Chin CS, Rank DR, Eid JS, Turner SW (2010) A flexible and efficient template format for circular consensus sequencing and SNP detection. Nucleic Acids Res 38(15):e159

- Treutlein B, Brownfield DG, Wu AR, Neff NF, Mantalas GL, Espinoza FH, Desai TJ, Krasnow MA, Quake SR (2014) Reconstructing lineage hierarchies of the distal lung epithelium using single-cell RNA-seq. Nature 509:371–375
- Trick M, Long Y, Meng J, Bancroft I (2009) Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) discovery in the polyploid *Brassica napus* using Solexa transcriptome sequencing. Plant Biotechnol J 7:334–346
- Turcatti G, Romieu A, Fedurco M, Tairi AP (2008) A new class of cleavable fluorescent nucleotides: synthesis and optimization as reversible terminators for DNA sequencing by synthesis. Nucleic Acids Res 36:e25
- Türktaş M, Kurtoğlu K, Dorado G, Zhang B, Hernandez P, Ünver T (2015) Sequencing of plant genomes a review. Turkish J Agric Forest 39(3)
- Urbanczyk-Wochniak E, Luedemann A, Kopka J, Selbig J, Roessner-Tunali U, Willmitzer L, Fernie AR (2003) Parallel analysis of transcript and metabolic profiles: a new approach in systems biology. EMBO Rep 4(10):989–993
- Van Bel M, Proost S, Van Neste C, Deforce D, Van de Peer Y, Vandepoele K (2013) TRAPID: an efficient online tool for the functional and comparative analysis of de novo RNASeq transcriptomes. Genome Biol 14:R134
- van Wijk KJ, Leppert T, Sun Q, Boguraev SS, Sun Z, Mendoza L, Deutsch EW (2021) The Arabidopsis Peptide Atlas: harnessing worldwide proteomics data to create a comprehensive community proteomics resource. The Plant Cell
- Villani AC et al (2017a) Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. Science 356:eaah4573
- Villani AC, Satija R, Reynolds G, Sarkizova S, Shekhar K, Fletcher J, Griesbeck M, Butler A, Zheng S, Lazo S et al (2017b) Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. Science 356:eaah4573
- Vlk D, Řepková J (2017) Application of next-generation sequencing in plant breeding. Czech J Genet Plant Breed 53:89–96
- Voelckel C, Gruenheit N, Lockhart P (2017) Evolutionary transcriptomics and proteomics: insight into plant adaptation. Trends Plant Sci 22(6):462–471
- Wang Z, Gerstein M, Snyder M (2009) RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nat Rev Genet 10:57–63
- Wang H, Chung PJ, Liu J, Jang IC, Kean MJ, Xu J, Chua NH (2014) Genome-wide identification of long noncoding natural antisense transcripts and their responses to light in *Arabidopsis*. Genome Res 24:444–453
- Wang H, Beyene G, Zhai J, Feng S, Fahlgren N, Taylor NJ et al (2015a) CG gene body DNA methylation changes and evolution of duplicated genes in cassava. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:13729–13734
- Wang Y, Dong C, Xue Z, Jin Q, Xu Y (2015b) *De novo* transcriptome sequencing and discovery of genes related to copper tolerance in *Paeonia* ostii. Gene 576:126–135
- Wei W, Li S, Wang Y, Wang B, Fan G, Zeng Q, Zhao F, Xu C, Zhang X, Tang T, Feng X (2021) Metabolome-based genome-wide association study provides genetic insights into the natural variation of Foxtail Millet. Frontiers in Plant Science, p 1155
- Welch JD, Hartemink AJ, Prins JF (2016) SLICER: inferring branched, nonlinear cellular trajectories from single cell RNA-seq data. Genome Biol 17:106
- Wen L, Tang F (2018) Boosting the power of single-cell analysis. Nat Biotechnol 36(5):408-409
- Wilkins KE, Booher NJ, Wang L, Bogdanove AJ (2015) TAL effectors and activation of predicted host targets distinguish Asian from African strains of the rice pathogen *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. oryzicola while strict conservation suggests universal importance of five TAL effectors. Front Plant Sci 6:536
- Wingo TS, Duong DM, Zhou M, Dammer EB, Wu H, Cutler DJ et al (2017) Seyfried. J Proteome Res 16:3336–3347
- Xin M, Wang Y, Yao Y, Song N, Hu Z, Qin D, Xie C, Peng H, Ni Z, Sun Q (2011) Identification and characterization of wheat long non-protein coding RNAs responsive to powdery mildew infection and heat stress by using microarray analysis and SBS sequencing. BMC Plant Biol 11:61

- Xu J, Zhu S, Miao H, Huang W, Qiu M, Huang Y et al (2007) Eventspecific detection of seven genetically modified soybean and maizes using multiplex-PCR coupled with oligonucleotide microarray. J Agric Food Chem 55:5575–5579
- Xu P, Liu Z, Fan X, Gao J, Zhang X, Zhang X, Shen X (2013a) De novo transcriptome sequencing and comparative analysis of differentially expressed genes in *Gossypium aridum* under salt stress. Gene 525:26–34
- Xu L, Wang Y, Zhai L, Xu Y, Wang L, Zhu X, Gong Y, Yu R, Limera C, Liu L (2013b) Genomewide identification and characterization of cadmium-responsive microRNAs and their target genes in radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) roots. J Exp Bot 64:4271–4287
- Yamamoto N, Takano T, Tanaka K, Ishige T, Terashima S, Endo C, Kurusu T, Yajima S, Yano K, Tada Y (2015) Comprehensive analysis of transcriptome response to salinity stress in the halophytic turf grass *Sporobolus virginicus*. Front Plant Sci 6:241
- Yang M, Lu K, Zhao FJ, Xie W, Ramakrishna P, Wang G, Du Q, Liang L, Sun C, Zhao H, Zhang Z (2018a) Genome-wide association studies reveal the genetic basis of ionomic variation in rice. Plant Cell 30(11):2720–2740
- Yang X, Wei S, Liu B, Guo D, Zheng B, Feng L, Liu Y, Tomás-Barberán FA, Luo L, Huang D (2018b) A novel integrated non-targeted metabolomic analysis reveals significant metabolite variations between different lettuce (Lactuca sativa. L) varieties. Hortic Res 5(1):1–14
- Yates SA, Swain MT, Hegarty MJ, Chernukin I, Lowe M, Allison GG, Ruttink T, Abberton MT, Jenkins G, Skøt L (2014) *De novo* assembly of red clover transcriptome based on RNA-Seq data provides insight into drought response, gene discovery and marker identification. BMC Genomics 15:453
- Yong B, Wang X, Xu P, Zheng H, Fei X, Hong Z, Ma Q, Miao Y, Yuan X, Jiang Y, Shao H (2017) Isolation and abiotic stress resistance analyses of a catalase gene from Ipomoea batatas (L.) Lam. Biomed Res Int 2017:6847532
- Yu X, Yang J, Li X, Liu X, Sun C, Wu F, He Y (2013) Global analysis of cis-natural antisense transcripts and their heat responsive nat-siRNAs in *Brassica rapa*. BMC Plant Biol 13:208
- Zhai R et al (2013) Transcriptome analysis of rice root heterosis by RNA-Seq. BMC Genomics 14:19
- Zhang F et al (2011) Genetic analysis and associated SRAP markers for flowering traits of chrysanthemum (Chrysanthemum morifolium). Euphytica 177:15–24
- Zhang W, Han Z, Guo Q, Liu Y, Zheng Y, Wu F, Jin W (2014) Identification of maize long noncoding RNAs responsive to drought stress. PLoS One 9:e98958
- Zhang TQ, Xu ZG, Shang GD, Wang JW (2019) A single-cell RNA sequencing profiles the developmental landscape of Arabidopsis root. Mol Plant 12:648–660
- Zhao X, Gao S, Wu Z, Kajigaya S, Feng X, Liu Q, Townsley DM, Cooper J, Chen J, Keyvanfar K et al (2017) Single-cell RNA-seq reveals a distinct transcriptome signature of aneuploid hematopoietic cells. Blood 130:2762–2773
- Zhen S, Zhou J, Deng X, Zhu G, Cao H, Wang Z, Yan Y (2016) Metabolite profiling of the response to high-nitrogen fertilizer during grain development of bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). J Cereal Sci 69:85–94
- Zheng GXY et al (2017) Massively parallel digital transcriptional profiling of single cells. Nat Commun 8:14049
- Zhong S, Fei Z, Chen YR, Vrebalov J, Mcquinn R, Gapper N, Giovannoni J (2013) Single-base resolution methylomes of tomato fruit development reveal epigenome modifications associated with ripening. Nat Biotechnol 31:154–159
- Zhou PP, Zhang JZ, You YH, Wu YN (2008) Detection of genetically modified crops by combination of multiplex PCR and low-density DNA microarray. Biomed Environ Sci 21:53–62
- Ziegenhain C, Vieth B, Parekh S, Reinius B, Guillaumet-Adkins A, Smets M, Leonhardt H, Heyn H, Hellmann I, Enard W (2017) Comparative analysis of single-cell RNA sequencing methods. Mol Cell 65:631–643
- Zilionis R et al (2017) Single-cell barcoding and sequencing using droplet microfluidics. Nat Protoc 12:44–73

Chapter 3 Multi-omics Approaches for Strategic Improvements of Crops Under Changing Climatic Conditions



Umair Ashraf, Sammina Mahmood, Naveed Shahid, Muhammad Imran, Maham Siddique, and Muhammad Abrar

Contents

3.1	Introdu	uction	58
3.2	Impac	ts of Changing Climate on Food Crops	59
	3.2.1	Vegetables	60
	3.2.2	Cereals	60
	3.2.3	Pulses.	63
3.3	Conve	ntional Breeding vs Novel Approaches for Crop Improvement	63
	3.3.1	Modern Breeding Approaches for Crop Improvement	63
	3.3.2	Genome Applications by Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) Technology	67
	3.3.3	High-Throughput Marker Genotyping Technology Role in Crop Improvement.	68
	3.3.4	Genome Editing by CRISPR/Cas9 Approach	69
3.4	Omics	Approaches for Crop Improvement Under Climate Change Scenario	70
	3.4.1	Genomic Approach	71
	3.4.2	Transcriptomic Approach.	72
	3.4.3	Proteomic and Metabolomic Approaches.	73
	3.4.4	Phenomic Approach.	75
	3.4.5	Ionomic Approach	75
3.5	Abioti	c Stress Tolerance in Crops: Integrating Omics Methods	76
3.6	Conclu	sion and Future Perspectives	80
Refe	rences.	-	80

U. Ashraf (⊠) · S. Mahmood · N. Shahid

Department of Botany, Division of Science and Technology, University of Education, Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan e-mail: umair.ashraf@ue.edu.pk

M. Imran

Department of Crop Science and Technology, College of Agriculture, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, PR China

M. Siddique

Department of Botany, Government College Women University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

M. Abrar

State Key Laboratory of Grassland Agro-Ecosystem, School of Life Sciences, Lanzhou University, Lanzhou, Gansu, China

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_3

3.1 Introduction

Variations in climatic conditions generally disturb the agro-ecosystems and food supply chain (Hasegawa et al. 2018). As agriculture significantly depends on the prevailing climatic conditions, thus crops often undergo external environmental and/or abiotic stresses due to climate variations (Hussain et al. 2018). Crop plants may suffer individual and concurrent effects of many abiotic stresses, such as salinity, chilling, drought, waterlogging, heavy metals, and temperature fluxes, which extensively impede the growth and development and reduce agricultural productivity over the globe (Ashraf et al. 2015; Raza et al. 2020; Ashraf et al. 2017a,b; Anjum et al. 2017). Moreover, global warming due to emissions of greenhouse gases also resulted in an increase in temperature and drought conditions that also threaten crop productivity, e.g., 20-30% yield loss was noticed in two major cereals, i.e., wheat and maize (Wang et al. 2019). Previously, traditional plant breeding techniques have produced several widely used high-yielding crop cultivars throughout the world for decades; however, requirements of longer time span on a variety of development and breeding cycles are the major drawbacks regarding implementation of such techniques. In addition, it is a roadblock in plant breeders' ability to respond quickly to rising food supply demands under changing climate scenarios (Lenaerts et al. 2019).

In the current era, the focus of plant breeding is to develop high-yielding crop varieties for the traits under consideration with minimal interventions during crop growth period. This has been accomplished by adopting modern biotechnological techniques which helped introduce genes with novel properties by breaking the inter-species and inter-genus barriers (Moose and Mumm 2008; Shiferaw et al. 2013). This all aims to furnish crops at a faster rate with the properties which their ancestors possessed to tolerate adverse environmental conditions. This does not mean that conventional breeding is ruled out from the agricultural system due to its inappropriateness. Actually, the current century is based on techniques to realize maximum output from the existing agricultural system due to huge food demand for rapidly increasing population from the existing set of agricultural land (Moose and Mumm 2008; Voss-Fels et al. 2019). The said task that increased production from limited land area with better adaptability for adverse environmental conditions could not be accomplished by depending merely upon conventional breeding. Although conventional breeding techniques are classical, most promising with least controversies associated with them, but, the time required to get the objective, blindness to ascertain the intrusion of target trait and transfer of only a fraction of genetic variations among crossing species, hindered its efficacy (Swamy and Sarla 2008). These factors majorly paved the way in the adoption of modern plant breeding and multi-omics approaches to address the debate of "sustainable agricultural intensification" by advocating ever-increasing global food demand under climate change conditions (Tester and Langridge 2010; Cheema 2018). The general impacts of abiotic stresses due to changing climate and importance of multi-omics approaches for crop improvement have been depicted in Fig. 3.1.



Fig. 3.1 Impacts of abiotic stresses on crop plants due to changing climate and role of multi-omics approaches in crop improvement

3.2 Impacts of Changing Climate on Food Crops

Crop production is vulnerable to climate change, which linked to an increase in carbon dioxide levels, shifting rainfall patterns, and rising temperatures (Mo et al. 2017). Enhancing agricultural output in one way while also addressing climate change risks on the other war is a difficult task. As a result, we need to pay greater attention to adaptation and mitigation. Climate change has substantial impacts on food crops; therefore, changes in policies, as well as the assistance of national adaptation funds and other resources, are required to alleviate negative influences of climate change on crop plants especially food crops. The growth responses, yield variability, and crop performance of vegetables, cereals, and pulses have been discussed below:

3.2.1 Vegetables

Vegetables are the best source of micronutrients and provide more revenue to smallholder farmers than staple crops (Rojas et al. 2013). Among vegetables tomato, cabbage, onion, hot pepper, and eggplant are widely cultivated (Julkowska and Testerink 2015). In Asia, the highest yields are generally obtained in the east region, where the temperature is mostly temperate or sub-temperate. Because most vegetables prefer lower temperatures, thus the production is the lowest in hot and humid lowlands of Southeast Asia (Ali 2000). Average tomato yields in sub-Saharan Africa (excluding South Africa) and tropical Asia are only approximately 10-12 MT/hectare, well below those in temperate areas. The intensity of environmental stress placed on vegetable crops will be influenced by climate change. For instance, rising temperatures, decreasing irrigation water supply, floods, and salt will be key stumbling blocks to maintaining and growing vegetable output. Temperature fluctuations hider vegetable growth and productivity, e.g., high temperatures are common in the tropics during the growing season, and as the climate changes, crops in this region would be susceptible to high-temperature stress. Temperatures are rising, according to climatic trends in tomato-growing areas, and the intensity and regularity of above-optimal temperature events will rise in the future decades (Tao et al. 2008). Temperature, alone or in combination with other environmental variables, has a significant impact on tomato vegetative and reproductive activities (Makeen et al. 2021). Plants' metabolic processes that are essential for regular cell and photosynthetic activity are disrupted by high temperatures (Ergin et al. 2021). High temperatures can impair tomato output by reducing fruit set and producing smaller, lower-quality fruits (Solankey et al. 2021). Moreover, high-temperature stress shortens the time of photo-assimilation, triggers the developmental stages in determinate vegetables, and hampers fruit-set of fruiting vegetables (Bisbis et al. 2018).

3.2.2 Cereals

3.2.2.1 Maize

Temperatures are predicted to increase 1.5–4 °C globally during the next century (Vescio et al. 2021). Temperatures that are higher than the optimum for plant development are thought to be harmful for successful crop production (Battisti and Naylor 2009). Warmer temperatures and greater vapor pressure deficit (VPD) reduced yield of maize by $8.5 \pm 1.4\%$ and $12.9 \pm 1.8\%$, respectively, as compared to the normal conditions, while applying both variables at the same time reduced yield by $24.2 \pm 2.8\%$. Higher CO₂ concentrations, on the other hand, increased maize production by $17.2 \pm 3.5\%$. When increasing CO₂ levels were combined with warmer temperatures or greater VPD, this rise in yield reduced, and the combination of the three climatic impacts (Temp, VPD, and CO₂) largely cancelled each

other out, resulting in a lesser drop in yield of $-4 \pm 3.4\%$ (Resop et al. 2016). The onset of drought conditions impaired the normal metabolism, photosystems, and chlorophyll pigments in maize (Efeoğlu et al. 2009). Drought conditions hampered the early establishment of maize, whereas seed priming with Zn and Se enhanced germination and antioxidant activities (Nawaz et al. 2021). Moreover, Dong et al. (2021) reported that heat tolerance in long-season than short-season maize lines is subjected to more kernel formation by sustaining comparatively stable anthesis-silking interval. Based on meteorological and phenological data for 30 years, i.e., 1981–2010, it was observed that the vegetative growth interval has extended in spring-planted and inter-cropping maize and shortened in the summer season, whereas reproductive period has extended in spring- and summer-planted maize (Liu et al. 2021a, b). Overall, quantification of the changes in crop phenological development stages owing to climate change and anthropogenic management activities may assist to design promising climate change adaptation strategies in crop plants.

3.2.2.2 Rice

Rice, a staple crop in Asia, nourishes roughly 557 million people and is critical for maintaining food security, promoting rural employment, and generating export money (Xu et al. 2012; Le 2016). Rice yield growth in Asia declined at the start of the twenty-first century, and it is unable to keep up with the regional rapid population increase, resulting in high demands, supply shortages, and high prices. Rice is typically very susceptible to climatic fluctuations; thus recent trends of climate change would have serious impacts on its growth and productivity (Maruyama et al. 2014a, b; Kong et al. 2017). Future climate change is unknown, which would exacerbate the food security issues in Asia and other vulnerable regions (Palazzo et al. 2017; Carpena 2019).

Climatic change is responsible for a third of worldwide rice, maize, wheat, and soybean production variability, i.e., 32-39% (Ray et al. 2015), whereas the effects on rice yield in various locations have been estimated using external factors that include temperature, CO₂ fertilization, rainfall, and other climatic aspects. Without accounting for CO₂ fertilization effects, predictions using an "InfoCrop rice model" under the A1b, A2, B1, and B2 scenarios suggested that rice yields in India would decline by 4% in 2020, 7% in 2050, and 10% in 2080 (Soora et al. 2013). Rice yields in China will reduce by 6.1 to 18.6%, 13.5 to 31.9%, and 23.6 to 40.2%, respectively, if world temperatures rise by 1, 2, or 3° C (Tao et al. 2008). Under the representative concentration route (RCP) 8.5, Cambodia would see the greatest loss in rice yields in Southeast Asia (about 45% in the 2080s) (Chun et al. 2016). Climate change would have a detrimental influence on rice production. Other researches, on the other hand, show that climate change has a favorable influence on rice production. For example, according to the A2a, A2b, A2c, and B2a scenarios, rice yields in Bangladesh would improve by 7.58\%, 8.31\%, 4.57\%, and 1.67\%, respectively.

Variations in rice output in major rice-producing nations such as Bangladesh, China, India, and Myanmar (BCIM) were observed as a result of climate change. The BCIM countries have been identified as the world's most climate-vulnerable areas because they account for 60.63% of world rice production and 59.74% of global rice consumption; these four nations play critical roles in the global rice trade pattern. A study conducted in Nepal reported that climate change has a significant impact on rice production, with an increase in severe precipitation having a negative impact. According to the extreme climate condition model, a 1% increase in days with extreme rainfall variation (i.e., three standard deviations above or below the long-term average) reduces rice output by 0.28% or 5.34 kg per family (Baldos et al. 2019). However, there is little indication that the rise in severe temperature days has had a similar impact. The average climate condition model, on the other hand, shows that a rise in long-term average monsoon temperature has a considerable negative influence on rice production. They further reported that a 1 °C rise in average summer temperature reduces rice output by 0.48% (4183 kg) per season; nevertheless, with increasing average temperatures, this impact diminishes. However, no evidence was found about the linkage of rise in average monsoon precipitation with increased rice output (Janes et al. 2019).

3.2.2.3 Wheat

Climate change may cause prolonged dry spells or more intense heat waves in some areas, thus severely reducing agricultural productivity by inducing water and temperature stress, especially during critical crop growth stages (Rounsevell et al. 1999). Dry land areas, such as dry and semi-arid parts of South Asia, are particularly susceptible to climate change, especially given their current water scarcities and higher temperatures approaching tolerance limits (Liu et al. 2019). Land degradation and restricted water supplies have hampered current agricultural output and put the food security of most of the countries in this region in danger.

Monsoon patterns, driven by monsoon lows and depressions in the Arabian Sea and the Bay of Bengal, dominate the weather system in Swat (Pakistan). The average annual temperature in Chitral district is 16 °C, and this area receives 451 mm of total annual rainfall, with more than 60% of that falling during the wheat growing season (October–April). The average annual temperature in Swat district is 19 °C and it receives 966 mm of rain annually, with 41% of that falling during the wheat growing season (October–March). These two districts were chosen to enable a comparison of the effects of climate change on wheat production at various elevations and in different weather systems. Wheat cultivated in the highlands and foothills is generally utilized for both food and fodder. Wheat is cultivated for food up to a height of around 1500 meters. On the other hand, wheat is used as fodder above this temperature since lower temperature rises of 1.5 °C and 3.0 °C, yields in Chitral district (Pakistan) are anticipated to increase by 14% and 23%, respectively (Hussain and Mudasser 2007). Furthermore, direct and indirect impacts of climate change on wheat productivity were assessed using crop models by Daloz et al. (2021) and reported that the direct impacts (via fluctuations in temperature and precipitation) caused -1 to -8% wheat yield loss, whereas indirect impacts (via changes in water availability) led to -4% to -36% yield loss in wheat. Moreover, climate change conditions were found to substantially affect the phenology and yield of wheat, while these effects can be minimized by some agronomic strategies by modifying sowing times and irrigation scheduling (Azmat et al. 2021). Rise in temperature could enhance water deficit and the chances of drought in winter wheat (Zhang et al. 2021a, b). Hence, the uncertainty and complexity of climate change, it is important to modify agronomic, crop management, and breeding strategies to induce the crop tolerance and resilience in food crops to cope against deleterious effects of climate change.

3.2.3 Pulses

Climate change has been one of the most widely debated topics in recent decades, owing to its direct influence on food supply and security. Changes in the statistical distribution of weather patterns have a significant influence on agricultural crops, especially rain-fed crops such as pulses (Gorim and Vandenberg 2017). Pulse crops suffer from forced maturity and reduced yields as a result of very high temperatures throughout the growing season, particularly during flowering and pod development. Drought, flood, excessive salinity, soil acidification, waterlogging, and other abiotic stressors are made easier by variations in rainfall patterns connected with humidity and their associated consequences (Basu et al. 2009). The impacts of abiotic stresses induced by changing climatic conditions on vegetables, cereals, and pulses have been presented in Table 3.1.

3.3 Conventional Breeding vs Novel Approaches for Crop Improvement

3.3.1 Modern Breeding Approaches for Crop Improvement

Crop breeding has been boosted by the addition of mutagenesis techniques which further expanded on a larger scale with the emergence of recombinant DNA technologies, both contributed in bio-diversification of crop plants to a great extent (Sammina et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2012). Genetic alteration of crop plant for one or multiple genes by recombinant DNA technology relies on *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. This technique which remained in use since the 1990s has marked several success stories in the production of major food and oil crops with improved resistance to biotic and abiotic environmental conditions. These crops include

dure the erest		Semuros, coronas, c	m guine com nu	CHAILBUILS CITITIALIC CUITULUUIS UII 1000 CLUP	2
Cron trine	Cron nome	Experiment	Ctrace tuna	Immost on soon	Dafarannae
Crup type		type	ouces type	IIIIpact VII VIOP	INCICI CITICOS
Vegetables	Potato (Solanum tuberosum)	Field	Drought	Drought negatively affected the primary vegetative growth and tuber formation in potato	Rojas and Pino et al. (2013)
	Tomato (Lycopersicum esculentus)	Field	Salinity	Salinity reduced shoot and leaf growth and causes premature death of leaves	Julkowska and Testerink (2015)
	Brinjal (Solanum melongena)	Botanical garden	Salinity	Salinity reduced plant growth and net carbon dioxide assimilation rate	Shahbaz et al. (2013)
		of University of			
		Agriculture,			
		Faisalabad (UAF)			
	Cauliflower (Brassica oleracea)	Field	Low temperature	Low temperature increased yield and	Kalisz et al. (2014)
				number of curds	
	Radish (Raphanus sativus)	Field	Heat	Reduced yield	Gao et al. (2019)
	Pumpkin (Cucurbita pepo)	Field	Salinity	Decreased chlorophyll content and root and shoot biomass	Akram et al. (2017)
	Beetroot (Beta vulgaris)	Field	Drought	Reduced plant growth, height, and leaf	Hosseini et al. (2019)
				area	
	Spinach (Spinacia oleracea)	Lab	Salinity	Reduced water uptake efficiency, total phenolic contents, and seed vigor	Ibrahim et al. (2019)
	Lettuce (Lactuca sativa)	Field	Salinity	Reduced growth, relative leaf water	Yildirim and Correia (2015)
				contents, stomatal conductance, and	
				nutrient elements	
	Cucumber (Cucumis sativus)	Lab	Drought	Reduced plant growth and productivity	Akula and Ravishankar (2011)

Table 3.1 Impacts of different abiotic stresses on vegetables, cereals, and pulses owing to changing climatic conditions on food crons

Table 3.1 (cont	nuea)				
		Experiment			
Crop type	Crop name	type	Stress type	Impact on crop	References
Pulses	Lentil (Lens culinaris)	Field	Drought	Yield loss, delayed flowering, and reduced plant growth	Gorim and Vandenberg (2017)
	Chickpea (<i>Cicer arietinum</i>)	Field	Salinity	Decreased leaf water and chlorophyll contents and increased lipid peroxidation	Kaur (2014)
	Mung bean (Vigna radiata)	Field	High temperature and waterlogging	Yield loss, reduced the number of flowers and production of pods	Singh et al. (2011)
	Peas (Pisum sativum)	Field	Drought and frost	Decreased yield and net profit ratio	Kumar et al. (2019)
	Faba beans (<i>Vicia faba</i>)	Field	Low and high temperature	Damaged reproductive organs	Zhang et al. (2018)
	Cowpeas (Vigna unguiculata)	Field	Drought	Reduced growth rate and produced immature pods	Junior et al. (2021)
	Kidney beans (Phaseolus vulgaris)	Field	Salinity	Decreased fresh and dry weight of seedlings and reduced biomass	Osnato et al. (2021)
	Black mung bean (Vigna mungo)	Green house	Heavy metals	Yield loss and decreased shoot and root length	Ahmad et al. (2021)
	Dry peas (Pisum sativum)	Field	Salinity	Higher accumulation of Na ⁺ in shoots and roots	Ahmad and Ali et al. (2021)
	Broad beans (Vicia faba)	Field	Drought	Reduced plant height and the number of pods per plant	Ucar et al. (2021)

 Table 3.1 (continued)

wheat, rice, maize, soybean, cotton, rapeseed, sunflower, etc., grown worldwide as major transgenic crops with improved yield and least use of agrochemicals (Young et al. 2019). However, besides the immense contribution of transgene technology in crop improvement, in the recent decade, attention is paid to precise editing of plant genome. Introduction of novel genome sequencing, genotyping, and genome editing tools has revolutionized plant breeding worldwide. These methods allow for targeted and precise DNA alteration/modification in a short time and are considered to have a greater impact on plant genetics and breeding program (Chen et al. 2019; Li et al. 2019; Young et al. 2019). These novel technologies include next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Varshney et al. 2009), high-throughput marker genotyping technology (Kumar et al. 2012; Mammadov et al. 2012, Chen et al. 2015; Singh et al. 2016), and most recently cutting-edge technique called clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/CRISPR-associated protein 9 (CRISPR/Cas9) (Mao et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2019). All these technologies are based on detection of genetic variation within a gene pool.

3.3.2 Genome Applications by Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) Technology

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) in the current era is meant for a platform which provides nucleotide information of millions of sequence reads in a cost-effective manner within a short time (Varshney et al. 2009). Three major approaches are currently being used under NGS which includes applied biosystems such as SOLiD, genome sequencer FLX (Roche/454), and Illumina genome analyzer each having their own mechanism, benefits, and drawbacks (Gupta 2008; Mardis 2008; Shendure and Ji 2008). All three approaches are in use with differential impacts and effects based on objective, target species, and resource availability. The common among all is to generate nucleotide sequence of millions of reads within a short time with a variable potential. The genome sequence obtained has revolutionized the field of molecular marker development and marker-assisted selection (MAS) in plant breeding programs. Several success stories have been marked in multiple plant species, e.g., soybean (Hyten et al. 2008), maize (Barbazuk et al. 2007), sorghum (Paterson et al. 2009), rice (Goff et al. 2002), potato (Diambra 2011), apple (Velasco et al. 2010), etc. Apart from its role in rapid molecular marker development, other applications of NGS include association and comparative mapping, de novo sequencing, polymorphism detection, whole-genome analysis, transcriptome expression analysis, evolutionary biology, and population genetics (Varshney et al. 2009).

Decreasing the cost of sequencing with the passage of time is promoting its use for the crops having large genome size, polyploids, and underutilized crops which otherwise are not being paid attention before. The NGS data obtained could be manipulated in various ways by the use of data analysis tools for various applications. These applications could be structural/functional genomics, DNA-protein
interaction, polygenetics, meta-genomics, and single-cell genomics, and the knowledge obtained from these studies could be utilized to decipher the complex network of genes with various biological functions, like never before. In the future, NGS technology has the potential to boost the crop improvement programs to its next level with more number of sequenced plant genomes (Kumar et al. 2012; Mammadov et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2015; Singh et al. 2016).

3.3.3 High-Throughput Marker Genotyping Technology Role in Crop Improvement

Genome sequencing paved the way to the development of molecular markers in high-throughput manner as per the sequencing data obtained and analyzed by the use of genome analysis tools. The success of marker development also depends upon its cost-effectiveness and high-throughput development with enhanced accuracy within a short period of time. Unlike before where few reads were obtained and analyzed for marker presence, NGS made it possible to develop thousands of molecular markers within a short time. Molecular markers exhibit a variety of basic and applied applications in crop improvement programs. These applications associated with successful and presence of abundant identifiable molecular markers include linkage map development, quantitative trait loci (QTLs) mapping in population, genome finger printing, marker-assisted selection (MAS), genetic diversity, and evolutionary analysis (Zalapa et al. 2012). Several types of molecular markers have been developed which include AFLP, SSR, ESTs, SNP, etc., each having variable merits, de-merits, uses, and benefits. A large number of SSRs (simple sequence repeats) and EST (expressed sequence tags) SSRs were developed in multiple crops by using NGS successfully (Kumari et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2015; Hao et al. 2015; Singh et al. 2016).

In addition, the SNP (single-nucleotide polymorphism) are found the most promising and innovative marker as it has the potential to detect the variation at the single-nucleotide level among the species (Kumar et al. 2012; Mammadov et al. 2012). For genotyping of this most promising marker, two assays are mostly used, i.e., (1) illumine golden gate assay and (2) whole-genome genotyping infinium assay (Rostoks et al. 2006; Hyten et al. 2008; Akhunov et al. 2009; Hyten et al. 2009). Both assays have different base mechanisms to get activated and the processes of development which is called high-throughput marker genotyping. This high-throughput marker genotyping is particularly important for diversity, characterization, and genome/association/comparative mapping (Rostoks et al. 2006; Hyten et al. 2009).

3.3.4 Genome Editing by CRISPR/Cas9 Approach

CRISPR/Cas9 is a nature-occurred gene editing tool and a high-throughput cuttingedge genomics technique having extensive applications in gene transformation, knockout mutation, monitoring of gene expression, and its regulation at the genomic and epigenomic level and in drug discovery (Bortesi et al. 2016; Fiaz et al. 2021). With the addition of CRISPR/Cas9 in the field of molecular biology, it is possible to manipulate or edit an organism's genome in a precise and specific way, leading toward precision breeding. CRISPR/Cas9 is categorized into two main classes and six types: class I (types I, III, IV) and class II (types II, V, VI), with type II being the most widely used system in genome editing (Zhang et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2019). This system is discovered in bacterial and archaeal immune system in which CRISPR loci contained a cluster of consecutive repeats separated by spacer sequence. Other parts of the functional system include a Cas9 encoding operon and transcription setup. In response to immune system activation, these specific repeats get incorporated into bacterial genome by the activity of foreign invader or any viral genome (Jinek et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2014). After infection, bacteria produce the same DNA which gets back incorporated into an invader virus along with one nuclease, called "Cas." "Cas" then eventually acts as internal molecular scissors and cuts the invader/virus DNA into pieces. Based on its mechanism of action, it is also known as acquired immune defense system in prokaryotes against viruses (Zhang et al. 2014).

In the recent decade, the CRISPR/Cas9 system has two major targets with respect to crop breeding. Firstly, to find the efficient delivery method to enhance the potential of this system by eliminating off-target effects. Secondly, tracing and modification of key genes controlling growth and development in plants. This happens with the aid of genome sequencing, which is helpful in recognizing and locating specific sequences within the genome, which could be altered by the use of genome editors (Li et al. 2017). In a short period of time, CRISPR/Cas9 has a promising achievement in crop improvement.

Under natural conditions, plants are exposed to various biotic and abiotic stresses simultaneously, which results in reduction of yield and crop quality (Pandey et al. 2017; Ashraf et al. 2020; Hussain et al. 2020). Many of these stresses are under quantitative gene action, and it's very difficult to figure out the exact mechanism of action and control. A remarkable achievement had been attained by creating resistant crop cultivars against diseases through knockout mutants by the use of the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Few success stories include *Potyvirus* in *Arabidopsis*, causing *Turnip mosaic virus* (TuMV) which is a major issue controlled by eIF(iso)4E; thus the knockout mutants using CRISPR/Cas9 have been generated which showed resistance to TuMV (Porter and Grills 2016). Likewise in watermelon, Clpsk1 gene editing showed enhanced resistance against *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *niveum* (Zhang et al. 2020a, b), as well as Os8n3 and OsERF922 mutations exhibited resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae (Xoo) and Magnaporthe oryzae, respectively (Wang et al. 2016; Kim et al. 2019). Other success examples include genes in

tomato for SiMlo (Nekrasov et al. 2017) and SIJAZ2 (Ortigosa et al. 2019) and mlo in wheat (Diambra 2011; Hückelhoven and Panstruga 2011; Wang et al. 2014). All given genes are effective in imparting resistance against bacterial and fungal diseases which are located and manipulated by the use of CRISPR/Cas9 and resistance created against the pathogen successfully.

Common abiotic stresses which a plant copes with under natural conditions include drought, heat, salinity, and environmental pollution. Lots of structural and regulatory genes are found associated with a single stress condition and not a single gene which plays a dominant role in stress tolerance against any of these abiotic stress conditions (Zhang 2015; Zafar et al. 2020). Recently, ARGOS8 gene regulating ethylene production in maize is manipulated by the use of CRISPR/Cas9 and as a result enhanced drought tolerance observed in mutant plants under field conditions (Shi et al. 2017). Likewise in tomato knockout mutant for the gene SIAGAMOUS-like6 allowed the plant to tolerate heat stress successfully (Klap et al. 2017). Water use efficiency in tomato enhanced under drought and salinity stress in knockout mutant of ARF transcription factor (Bouzroud et al. 2020). The "G protein" mutants gs3 and dep1 in rice enhanced tolerance against salt stress (Cui et al. 2020), while ppa6 to alkaline stress positively (Wang, Wang et al. 2019). Thus, CRISPR/Cas9 is not only useful in creating knockout mutants but also useful in activation and regulation of gene expression (Meng et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2017; Paixão et al. 2019; Peng et al. 2020). Overall, to cope with fluctuating adverse environmental conditions is a complicated task and controlled by multiple genes or gene network with different magnitude of effects. In the current era, plant breeders had made a remarkable progress in a very short time by the use of the CRISPR/Cas9 approach which otherwise was nearly impossible. The guickly developed and adopted CRISPR/Cas9 approach provided a perfect tool to realize yield increments with improved tolerance to adverse environmental conditions. Current multiple omics, including whole-genome sequencing (DNA, RNA), further aid into the success stories in CRISPR/Cas9-based crop improvement.

3.4 Omics Approaches for Crop Improvement Under Climate Change Scenario

Plant molecular biology is concerned with the study of biological processes, their genetic regulation, and interactions with the environment (Yadav et al. 2020). In recent years, advances in omics technologies like genomics have made molecular biology research more efficient. As a result, the linkages between molecular machineries may be examined in great detail, allowing researchers to incorporate genes, proteins, and a wide range of other key regulatory components into their research (Muthamilarasan et al. 2019). The term "omics" refers to this large-scale research. The genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic analyses are all important aspects of omics (Subramanian et al. 2020). These omics methods are often

utilized in many agricultural and plant research areas. As technology develops, omics techniques have advanced dramatically in the previous decade (Anders et al. 2021). All these aspects of omics are discussed below:

3.4.1 Genomic Approach

In genomics, genes and whole genomes are analyzed in depth. It is now possible to read an organism's whole genome using high-throughput sequencing practices such as next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Tanaka et al. 2020). The stress-related genes may now be predicted with the use of genome-wide association studies, or GWAS, and next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Saidi and Hajibarat 2020). The use of genomics techniques has grown in relevance for the discovery of genes involved in the tolerance of multiple abiotic stresses. Researchers have made great progress in the genomics era in scanning the genomes of several crop species during the last few years (Brozynska et al. 2016).

Furthermore, genomics is critical in identifying genetic diversity that underpins improved performance and breeding efficiency, therefore contributing to crop species' genetic improvement. Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping is an outstanding mode to explore the genetically complex systems for abiotic stress tolerance in plants (Shen et al. 2018). Through QTL mapping, specific resistance loci were studied which indicates the presence of genes involved a development process of the plant during stress conditions (Adhikari et al. 2019). For instance, "B73" and "Mo17," the two inbred maize lines commonly used in American maize germplasm, have varying levels of resistance to low temperatures during the seedling stage. In addition, seedling reaction to low-temperature exposure varied greatly among different inbred maize lines. Quantitative trait loci (QTLs) were identified to study this variation from the recombinant line population of maize. Two QTLs with several candidate genes were identified which also involved in hormone response and abiotic stress response (Qiu et al. 2020).

Different types of markers are involved in genome-wide analysis of the desired traits and use them in crop improvement during the breeding process as RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism), RAPD (rapid amplified polymorphic DNA), AFLP (amplified fragment length polymorphism), SAMPL (selectively amplified microsatellite polymorphic microsatellite loci), SRAP (sequence-related amplified polymorphism), and TRAP (target region amplification polymorphism) (Singh et al. 2021; Soltabayeva et al. 2021). However, with the introduction of next-generation sequencing (NGS) for large-scale genotyping and genomics-assisted breeding, SNPs have been the most preferred markers (Thabet et al. 2021).

Recently, Liu et al. (2020) identified 26 QTLs from rice cultivars of Vietnam genotyped with SNP markers and found that several genes present in QTLs were involved in salinity stress tolerance and also in signal transduction and hormonal response. These QTLs are further used in the breeding process for crop improvement. Alkali-tolerant gene loci were studied in two varieties of japonica rice under

alkali treatment. Four candidate genes were identified on chromosomes 2 and 3 using next-generation sequencing technology (Sun et al. 2021). Furthermore, 302 wild landraces and modified soybean accessions were sequenced, and 230 selective sweeps and 162 copy number variations were found. By studying genome-wide correlations between novel sequences and domestication or improvement characteristics, 13 previously unidentified loci for agronomic variables were identified which include oil content, plant height, and pubescence shape. Using quantitative trait locus (QTL) data, 230 areas were studied, from which 96 correspond to previously discovered oil QTLs and 21 contain genes involved in fatty acid production (Zhou et al. 2015).

3.4.2 Transcriptomic Approach

It is possible to discover genes that respond to stress through the use of genomewide transcriptome analysis methods. Through plant breeding and/or gene editing methods, these genes might serve as prospective targets for improving drought stress tolerance (Dudziak et al. 2019). Transcriptional responses to abiotic stress have been studied using a variety of techniques, including expressed sequence tags (ESTs), superSAGE, and microarrays. These findings show that abiotic stress alters the expression patterns of numerous genes involved in diverse biological processes (Alonge et al. 2020). It is possible to quantify transcriptome alterations underlying developmental transitions and stress responses using RNA sequencing at the genome scale (Ding et al. 2020).

It is via ESTs that new gene structures, such as expression systems, gene maps, and cDNA sequencing initiatives, may be discovered and built upon. The ESTs have long been regarded as the ideal method for revealing sequence-related information under adverse environmental circumstances (Khazaei et al. 2020). It has been shown that SAGE is a powerful tool for studying gene expression. The SAGE technique generates a tag that identifies a gene transcriptome product. SAGE is regarded as the most cost-effective and high-throughput method for mRNA isolation, cloning, and sequencing (Kumar et al. 2015). The "tag" used in the SAGE method is a short nucleotide sequence with a pointed head-to-head specific restriction enzyme. In other words, SAGE represents digitally expressed gene expression. Several SAGE applications are found in plants, such as pathogen-host interactions, plant responses to a variety of abiotic stressors, transcriptome profiling, and the metabolism of numerous hazardous chemicals (Jain et al. 2021).

To identify salt-responsive genes, a variety of methods are being used including cDNA microarrays, serial gene expression analysis, suppression subtractive hybridization, differential display RT-PCR, and complementary DNA-amplified fragment length polymorphism (cDNA-AFLP) (Bajwa and Khan 2021). The cDNA-AFLP's specificity and sensitivity allow it to differentiate between homologous sequences and find even the low-expression genes. However, because of the great sensitivity of this technique, even uncommon transcripts can be identified (Kamyab et al. 2021). In addition, this is a less labor-intensive and very effective mRNA fingerprinting technique for identifying genes that exhibit differential expression in stressed plants/ crops (Zhang et al. 2020a, b).

Gene expression may be observed using cDNA microarrays, which are an effective tool for evaluating the possible roles of many genes. Microarray cDNA studies of gene expression in different plants under a variety of abiotic factors have been well published (ul Qamar et al. 2020). RNA-sequencing is a new technology that makes use of and provides a new perspective on the transcriptome sequence by allowing total access to transcripts. As a result, RNA-seq may be used to replace a variety of approaches for quantifying transcripts, with the added benefit of increased sensitivity and the capacity to distinguish between related gene paralogs that differ by only a few nucleotides (Xu et al. 2021).

The thermotolerant germplasm of rice, SDWG005, was identified, and their anther structures that are involved in thermotolerance were studied. By transcriptome analysis, 3559 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were identified and divided into categories according to their expressions. The major gene categories involved in thermoregulation include transcription factors and protein and nucleic acid metabolism-related genes (Liu et al. 2020). Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were also identified from the wheat cultivar, TW004, under salt stress. Expression analysis of DEGs revealed that they are mostly involved in metabolic pathways that are related to salt stress. Different types of transcription factors involved in salt stress tolerance were also identified, such as MYB (Deng et al. 2020).

3.4.3 Proteomic and Metabolomic Approaches

In proteomics, the proteome in a complicated biological system under a particular circumstance is studied in detail. Plant proteomics offers a unique chance to study the process and production of various proteins in agricultural plants under distinct environmental conditions. Because of this, it's possible to better understand gene regulation and metabolic pathways within plant species because it offers more information about the proteins' interactions with one another (Jorrin-Novo 2020).

Because of the activation of stress-responsive pathways in response to biotic and non-biotic stressors, the plant proteome changes significantly. Heat-shock proteins, abundant proteins in late embryogenesis, kinases and phosphatases, redox enzymes, secondary metabolism enzymes, osmolyte biosynthetic enzymes, photosynthesis, and enzymatic reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavenger proteins are proteins that are known to play a function in the abiotic stress response (Kosová et al. 2018).

Salt-induced proteome changes were studied in barely landraces using the twodimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D-PAGE) proteomic study. Results revealed that under salt stress, the accumulation of 11 salt-responsive proteins have differed between the two accessions, while 43 proteins were genotypespecific (Jardak et al. 2021). Proteomes of anthers of two soybean cultivars, heat-resistant and heat-sensitive, were studied using the iTRAQ approach. Results showed that most of the proteins related to heat tolerance are involved in carbohydrate and energy metabolism, protein synthesis and degradation, nitrogen assimilation, and ROS detoxification (Li et al. 2020).

In *Arabidopsis*, drought tolerance is controlled by jasmonate ZIM-domain protein 7 (JAZ7) utilizing TMT-based quantitative proteomics and targeted metabolomics (Meng et al. 2019). *Arabidopsis* AT-Hook-Like10 phosphorylation needed for stress growth control is elucidated using more sophisticated proteomics techniques, such as quantitative phosphoproteomics (Wong et al. 2019). To understand the function of genes in eukaryotic organisms, including plants, RNA silencing has proven to be a novel and potentially useful reverse genetics tool (Rajam 2020).

Metabolomics is a systematic research in which all the metabolites of a crop plant are identified and quantified. A plant's biochemical response to climate change may be described using metabolomics, which allows us to understand the interconnections between different components in a biological system. Other functional genomics techniques, such as genomes, proteomics, and transcriptomics, can be utilized in combination with metabolomics (Razzaq et al. 2019).

Endogenous plant component proteomics and metabolomics study is becoming increasingly popular, and a strong technique like MS imaging is being used frequently to conduct this research. For protein analysis, mass spectrometry methods like matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) and electrospray ionization (ESI) have been frequently employed (Agarrwal and Nair 2020).

Primary and secondary metabolites make up the majority of the plant's metabolome. The metabolic profiling of primary and secondary metabolites offers substantial information on the biochemical processes that take place during plant metabolism (Sung et al. 2015). Some plant secondary and primary metabolites are related to metabolic processes that are quite complicated. These metabolites may be effectively identified, measured, and studied using contemporary metabolomics methods such as gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), liquid chromatography-mass spectroscopy (LCMS), and non-destructive nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy (Che-Othman et al. 2020).

As none of the single technique or instrument can be utilized to examine all of a metabolome's metabolites, many distinct technologies are necessary for comprehensive coverage. The techniques involved in metabolomics study include mass spectrometry (MS) (Yadav et al. 2019), non-destructive nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy (Cuperlovic-Culf et al. 2019), high-performance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC) (D'Amelia et al. 2018), gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) (Chang et al. 2019), liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) (Zhou et al. 2019), direct infusion mass spectrometry (DIMS), ultraperformance liquid chromatography (UPLC), and high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) (Thomason et al. 2018).

Bernardo et al. (2019) studied the drought-induced changes in wheat secondary metabolism. By employing metabolomics, mycorrhizal inoculation was initiated in two wheat varieties at various phases of drought. According to the findings, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) colonization in a water-stressed environment modulates several molecules, most of which are sugars and lipids. Integrated transcriptome

and metabolic profile analysis were used to determine the response of sunflower under drought stress. The findings indicated that increasing the expression level of photosynthesis in sunflower plants delays senescence by affecting many key metabolic pathways and candidate genes (Moschen et al. 2017).

3.4.4 Phenomic Approach

Breeding operations rely heavily on genetic and phenotypic connections. The study of a plant's phenotypic or genotypic expression under certain environmental conditions is known as plant phenomics (Deery and Jones 2021). Due to the intricate biosynthetic mechanisms that regulate various plants' abiotic stress resistance, phenotyping remains a difficult challenge under abiotic stress circumstances. The importance of phenotyping has emerged in the postgenomic age since crop improvement techniques such as GWAS, GS, MAS, and QTL mapping largely rely on highthroughput phenotyping (HTP) in crops (Ndlovu 2020). Modern phenomics methods make use of hyperspectral/multispectral cameras to collect hundreds of reflectance data points in a variety of settings and phases of crop development using discrete narrow bands. Agronomic characteristics may now be rapidly and precisely gathered using phenotyping technology (Atkinson et al. 2018). Furthermore, utilizing highly heritable secondary phenotypes closely related to the selection phenotypes, the main goal of a high-throughput phenotype (HTP) is to reduce the cost of data per plot and enhance the accuracy of the crop-growing season forecast (Matias et al. 2020). The proper mapping of genes/QTLs/alleles responsible for the trait of interest requires precise phenotyping of germplasms. Phenotyping using traditional methods is time-consuming and labor expensive (Bohra et al. 2021). Phenomics has proven successful in selecting field crops that can withstand abiotic stressors, such as drought (Jangra et al. 2021).

High-throughput, precise, and automated measurements of phenotypic information such as plant growth, architecture, and composition are all part of the process. This new technology has allowed for the collection and analysis of a huge amount of phenotyping data, which has previously been a barrier to functional genomics research and agricultural breeding (Pazhamala et al. 2021).

3.4.5 Ionomic Approach

Ionomics is the study of a plant's whole mineral nutrient and traces element makeup. Additionally, the field of ionomics studies the molecular mechanisms that underlie plant elemental composition (Du et al. 2020). There have been several applications of ionomics in plant biology, ranging from studying plant growth and stress biology to meeting human food needs (Shakoor et al. 2016). To find out how metabolic, genetic, developmental, and environmental factors impact the elemental

composition of target tissues and organs, ionome research looks at the entire organism's chemical makeup (Pita-Barbosa et al. 2019).

Ionomics relies on mutant screening and natural variation to uncover genes and alleles that are crucial for elemental accumulation and variations in the ionomes of different genotypes (Hindt et al. 2017). Ionomics-based biomarkers in stress biology can help identify whether or not a plant has achieved a specific biochemical or physiological state under a variety of unfavorable environmental conditions. As a result, they can aid in the screening of plants that are more vulnerable to biotic and abiotic stressors, which is impossible with current high-throughput techniques. Ionomics has also identified genes that govern natural variation in the plant ionome and are important for stress tolerance (Ali et al. 2021).

The physiological and ionomic differences between Cd-tolerant and Cd-sensitive maize genotypes will be investigated using ionomic and physiological studies. Cd-tolerant cultivars had considerably greater proline, phenolics, and antioxidant accumulation, as well as enhanced rhizosphere and root cell sap absorption and translocation of N, P, K, Ca2+, Mg, Zn, and Fe when compared to Cd-sensitive cultivars. These nutrients are crucial in enhancing plant physiological, biochemical, and molecular responses to stress (Abbas et al. 2021). The role of silicon nanoparticles (SiNPs) in rice toxicity reduction was investigated. They observed that molecular priming with SiNPs decreased F accumulation and increased the amount of non-enzymatic antioxidants in rice grains, such as glutathione, flavonoids, anthocyanins, and phenols, leading to improved injuries and yield (Banerjee et al. 2021). A comparison of gluten-containing and gluten-free foods was studied. Ionomic analysis revealed that gluten-free foods contain a high amount of arsenic and mercury than the gluten-containing foods (Punshon and Jackson 2018).

Ionomics study reveals the susceptibility and resistance characteristics of two olive cultivars to discover target genes for the treatment of olive disease (D'Attoma et al. 2019). By increasing the content of non-enzymatic antioxidants in *T. aestivum* L., 60 mg/kg K substantially decreased the harmful effects of Cd (Yasin et al. 2018). *Malus halliana* was subjected to saline-alkali stress, which generated an ion imbalance and Na+ toxicity, and was then analyzed at the molecular level. An ionomics study demonstrated the importance of Ca2+-mediated signaling for maintaining Na+/K+ balance and decreasing stress-induced damage (Jia et al. 2020).

3.5 Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crops: Integrating Omics Methods

Genomics is the study of the complex biological activities of a cell's genetic material, the genome, using high-throughput technology. Functional genomics is critical for determining and proving the functions and roles of all genes discovered on the genome in cellular metabolism. Genomic analysis is widely used in agriculture to discover single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) using a comparative genomics method. The ultimate goal is to find SNPs or quantitative trait loci (QTLs) associated with a certain phenotype. SNPs are relatively prevalent in genome, however, and normally do not generate a discernible phenotype because of significant environmental stress on plants. This is particularly essential in the case of abiotic stress studies that need the monitoring of the wanted phenotypic expression, the tolerance of abiotic stress, to prevent changes in the intended trait under various environmental circumstances due to genotype x environment (G x E) interaction. As a result, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) techniques are frequently used to find SNPs linked to abiotic stress tolerance in field crops (He et al. 2014; Unamba et al. 2015; Kang et al. 2016). For numerous field crops, both GWAS and GBS have been used to discover SNPs or QTLs that may be linked to tolerance to a variety of abiotic stressors (Table 3.2). More study is needed to enhance field crop tolerance to abiotic stressors, and more research is needed to assure agriculture's long-term viability.

Transcriptomic is the result that all RNA molecules from the genome are sequenced, profiled, and counted, enabling comprehensive and/or comparative analysis in quantitative terms of gene expression. Gene expression or transcription, on the other hand, varies depending on the stage of development, tissue, and even cells within the same tissue. Transcriptomics, therefore, shows the metabolic activity of the plant at a specific moment in time, development stage, and tissues or on the environmental circumstances. Microarray platforms or next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms are often used for transcriptomic research, and both provide highthroughput data for all transcripts depending on the available genome sequence in NGS and the sequence depth in microarrays (Unamba et al. 2015). Most work on transcriptome of abiotic stress tolerance reacts to a particular treatment, such as drought, salinity, cold, or heat. However, as previously indicated, the climate change models predict numerous stressors to impact field crop output. Thus, transcriptomic alterations following combination therapies became the principal technique in the study of transcriptomes. The knowledge of changes in gene expression patterns when they are primed is another perspective that may provide insights into the important components to increase the tolerance of the plant toward abiotic stress situations. Both of these approaches are required to get new insights into transcriptome experiments in order to improve field plant abiotic stress tolerance.

Proteomics uses high-performance technologies to identify and investigate proteins, potential post-translational modifications, structures, activities, and interactions with other proteins or cellular components in order to better understand cellular metabolism (Table 3.2). Proteomics research focused on using twodimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D-PAGE) to examine the reactivity and/or tolerance of agricultural crops to abiotic stress, as well as the identification and characterization of the protein spots produced. In 2D-PAGE, the first dimension separates proteins based on their isoelectric point (pI), whereas the second dimension separates proteins based on their molecular weight (MW). In theory, no two proteins in a cell can have the same pI or MW, allowing for high-resolution separation with each spot on the gel representing a different protein. Interactions with other proteins, DNA, or RNA can be investigated using yeast two-hybrid systems or protein microarrays, as well as structural studies using nuclear magnetic resonance

Omics approach	Crops	Abiotic stress tolerance	References		
Genomics	Soybean	Drought	Kaler et al. (2017)		
		Salinity	Zeng et al. (2017)		
	Rice	Salinity	Naveed et al. (2018)		
		Drought	Guo et al. (2018)		
	Wheat	Drought	Mwadzingeni et al. (2017)		
		Heat	ElBasyoni et al. (2017)		
	Cotton	Drought	Batayeva et al. (2018)		
		Salinity	Cai et al. (2017)		
Transcriptomics	Rice	Metal toxicity	Song et al. (2014)		
I		Cold, salt	Ganguly et al. (2012)		
		Cold	Guan et al. (2019)		
	Cotton	Cold, salt, drought	Imran et al. (2020)		
		Drought	Hasan et al. (2019)		
		Cold	Cheng et al. (2020)		
	Soybean	Drought	Xu et al. (2018)		
	5	Aluminum	You et al. (2011)		
		Cold	Min et al. (2020)		
	Wheat	Cold	Díaz et al. (2019)		
		Drought	Ma et al. (2017)		
		Water deficit	Reddy et al. (2014)		
Proteomics	Cotton	Salinity	Peng et al. (2018)		
		Drought	Xiang et al. (2018)		
		Chilling	Cheng et al. (2010)		
	Soybean	Heat, water	Katam et al. (2020)		
		Drought	Hossain and Komatsu (2014)		
		Drought, salinity	Yan et al. (2021)		
	Wheat	Salt	Zhu et al. (2021)		
		Abiotic stress	Soriano et al. (2021)		
		Drought	Lin et al. (2021)		
	Rice	Salinity	Damaris et al. (2016)		
		Chilling	Ji et al. (2017)		
Metabolomics	Soybean	Drought	Silvente et al. (2012)		
		Heat	Chebrolu et al. (2016)		
		Salinity	Lu et al. (2013)		
		Chilling	Maruyama et al. (2014a, b)		
	Rice	Salinity, drought	Fumagalli et al. (2009)		
		Heat	Wada et al. (2020)		
		Abiotic	Saia et al. (2019)		
	Cotton	Salinity	Liu et al. (2021a, b)		
		Drought	Zhang et al. (2021a, b)		
		Drought	Saia and Fragasso et al. (2019)		
	Wheat	Water	Bernardo and Carletti et al. (2019)		
		Abiotic	Guo et al. (2020)		
		Nitrogen	Zhang et al. (2017)		

 Table 3.2
 Abiotic stress tolerance in different crops under multi-omics approaches

(NMR) or X-ray crystallography and subcellular localization using fluorescent proteins like EGFP or X-ray tomography (Moreno-Risueno et al. 2010). Nonetheless, proteomics has been widely utilized to better understand how many field crops, including rice, wheat, and maize, respond to abiotic stress situations (Table 3.2). Proteomics, rather than genomes and transcriptomics, appears to be more promising in terms of giving relevant background information for understanding and creating abiotic stress-tolerant field crops, and technical advances will definitely be necessary to attain these aims.

Metabolomics is the study of all metabolic byproducts, hormones, signaling molecules, and secondary metabolites present in a biological sample using methods such as mass spectroscopy (MS), gas chromatography-MS (GC-MS), liquid chromatography-MS (LC-MS), capillary electrophoresis-MS (CE-MS), and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) (Oliver et al. 1998; Hong et al. 2016; Tian et al. 2016; Samota et al. 2017). Understanding complex phenotypic responses of plants to changes in environmental conditions requires metabolomic analysis. Metabolomics is perhaps the most difficult of the omics techniques, because the metabolome varies greatly depending on developmental stage and growth factors (Fuhrer and Zamboni 2015). As a result, it is reasonable to state that metabolomics has not been employed efficiently in investigations of field crop abiotic stress tolerance. Despite the fact that it does not yield definitive results like genomes, transcriptomics, or even proteomics, metabolomics provides a consistent metabolic quantitative trait locus (mQTL) that seems to be used as an indicator for breeding experiments to enhance agricultural crop tolerance to abiotic stress (Mochida and Shinozaki 2011). The mQTL can be used as metabolite markers in response to abiotic stress conditions, in addition to phenotypic studies such as GWAS, if the change in metabolite concentration influences the phenotypic change.

The field of omics technologies has broadened as a result of the introduction of high-performance technologies in many study fields. To integrate data from genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics studies, systems biology techniques are employed (Fig. 3.2). The primary challenge is the integration of data from diverse omics techniques to abiotic stress with different plants and/or genotypes.



Fig. 3.2 Schematic diagram showing integration of different omics approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in crops

3.6 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Climate change affects crop growth cycles, phenological development, crop productivities, and food quality. Variations in temperature, CO₂ levels, and rainfall patterns have substantial impacts on agricultural crops; thus it could be a threat to future food security. Studying growth and yield responses of crop plants to different abiotic stresses owing to climate change is important in order to develop climateresilient crops. Development and integration of modern genetics into classical breeding and development of new plant types and resistant cultivars through genetic manipulation are now being focused to meet the future food demands to reduce food security risk. Multi-omics approaches, i.e., genomics, proteomics, transcriptomics, phenomics, and ionomics, are playing a crucial role to identify a genetic basis of crop performance and improvement as well as stress tolerance mechanisms in crop plants under various environmental stresses. In the future, integration and combination of multi-omics approaches would be helpful to identify potential candidate genes and their pathways to develop models to mark agronomically important traits to enhance crop performance under changing climatic scenario through precision breeding.

References

- Abbas S, Javed MT, Ali Q, Akram MS, Tanwir K, Ali S, Chaudhary HJ, Iqbal N (2021) Elucidating Cd-mediated distinct rhizospheric and in planta ionomic and physio-biochemical responses of two contrasting *Zea mays* L. cultivars. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 27(2):297–312
- Adhikari L, Makaju SO, Missaoui AM (2019) QTL mapping of flowering time and biomass yield in tetraploid alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). BMC Plant Biol 19(1):1–15
- Agarrwal R, Nair S (2020) Metabolomics-assisted crop improvement. Advancement in crop improvement techniques. Elsevier, pp 263–274
- Ahmad M, Ali Q, Hafeez M, Malik A (2021) Improvement for biotic and abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Biol & Clinic Sci Res J 2021(1)
- Akhunov E, Nicolet C, Dvorak J (2009) Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping in polyploid wheat with the Illumina GoldenGate assay. Theor Appl Genet 119(3):507–517
- Akram NA, Shafiq F, Ashraf M (2017) Ascorbic acid-a potential oxidant scavenger and its role in plant development and abiotic stress tolerance. Front Plant Sci 8:613
- Akula R, Ravishankar GA (2011) Influence of abiotic stress signals on secondary metabolites in plants. Plant Signal Behav 6(11):1720–1731
- Ali M (2000) Dynamics of vegetable production, distribution and consumption in Asia. AVRDC
- Ali S, Tyagi A, Bae H (2021) Ionomic Approaches for Discovery of Novel Stress-Resilient Genes in Plants. Int J Mol Sci 22(13):7182
- Alonge M, Wang X, Benoit M, Soyk S, Pereira L, Zhang L, Suresh H, Ramakrishnan S, Maumus F, Ciren D (2020) Major impacts of widespread structural variation on gene expression and crop improvement in tomato. Cell 182(1):145–161
- Amrutha V, Shanija S, Beena R, Nithya N, Jaslam M, Soni K, Viji M (2021) Population structure analysis and marker trait association in selected set of Indian tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L) unistica under high temperature condition. Const Pacour Crep Evolution 25
 - L.) varieties under high temperature condition. Genet Resour Crop Evol:1-25

- Anders S, Cowling W, Pareek A, Gupta KJ, Singla-Pareek SL, Foyer CH (2021) Gaining Acceptance of Novel Plant Breeding Technologies. Trends Plant Sci 26(6):575–587
- Anjum SA, Ashraf U, Tanveer M, Khan I, Hussain S, Shahzad B, Zohaib A, Abbas F, Saleem MF, Ali I, Wang LC (2017) Drought induced changes in growth, osmolyte accumulation and antioxidant metabolism of three maize hybrids. Front Plant Sci 8:69. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2017.00069
- Ashraf U, Kanu AS, Mo Z, Hussain S, Anjum SA, Khan I, Abbas RN, Tang X (2015) Lead toxicity in rice: effects, mechanisms, and mitigation strategies—a mini review. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(23):18318–18332
- Ashraf U, Hussain S, Anjum SA, Abbas F, Tanveer M, Noor MA, Tang X (2017a) Alterations in growth, oxidative damage, and metal uptake of five aromatic rice cultivars under lead toxicity. Plant Physiol Biochem 115:461–471
- Ashraf U, Kanu AS, Deng Q, Mo Z, Pan S, Tian H, Tang X (2017b) Lead (Pb) toxicity; physiobiochemical mechanisms, grain yield, quality, and Pb distribution proportions in scented rice. Front Plant Sci 8:259. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00259
- Ashraf U, Mahmood MH, Hussain S, Abbas F, Anjum SA, Tang X (2020) Lead (Pb) distribution and accumulation in different plant parts and its associations with grain Pb contents in fragrant rice. Chemosphere 248:126003
- Atkinson JA, Jackson RJ, Bentley AR, Ober E, Wells DM (2018) Field phenotyping for the future. Ann Plant Rev Online:719–736
- Azmat M, Ilyas F, Sarwar A, Huggel C, Vaghefi SA, Hui T, Qamar MU, Bilal M, Ahmed Z (2021) Impacts of climate change on wheat phenology and yield in Indus basin, Pakistan. Sci Total Environ 790:148221
- Bajwa HK, Khan H (2021) Genomics, proteomics and metabolic approaches against abiotic stress. Environmental Stress Physiology of Plants and Crop Productivity, p 183
- Baldos UL, Hertel TW, Moore FC (2019) Understanding the spatial distribution of welfare impacts of global warming on agriculture and its drivers. Am J Agric Econ 101(5):1455–1472
- Banerjee A, Singh A, Sudarshan M, Roychoudhury A (2021) Silicon nanoparticle-pulsing mitigates fluoride stress in rice by fine-tuning the ionomic and metabolomic balance and refining agronomic traits. Chemosphere 262:127826
- Barbazuk WB, Emrich SJ, Chen HD, Li L, Schnable PS (2007) SNP discovery via 454 transcriptome sequencing. Plant J 51(5):910–918
- Basu P, Ali M, Chaturvedi S (2009) Terminal heat stress adversely affects chickpea productivity in northern India—strategies to improve thermo tolerance in the crop under climate change. W3 Workshop Proceedings: Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture, International Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing New Delhi
- Batayeva D, Labaco B, Ye C, Li X, Usenbekov B, Rysbekova A, Dyuskalieva G, Vergara G, Reinke R, Leung H (2018) Genome-wide association study of seedling stage salinity tolerance in temperate japonica rice germplasm. BMC Genet 19(1):1–11
- Battisti DS, Naylor RL (2009) Historical warnings of future food insecurity with unprecedented seasonal heat. Science 323(5911):240–244
- Bernardo L, Carletti P, Badeck FW, Rizza F, Morcia C, Ghizzoni R, Rouphael Y, Colla G, Terzi V, Lucini L (2019) Metabolomic responses triggered by arbuscular mycorrhiza enhance tolerance to water stress in wheat cultivars. Plant Physiol Biochem 137:203–212
- Bisbis MB, Gruda N, Blanke M (2018) Potential impacts of climate change on vegetable production and product quality–a review. J Clean Prod 170:1602–1620
- Bohra A, Satheesh Naik S, Kumari A, Tiwari A, Joshi R (2021) Integrating Phenomics with Breeding for Climate-Smart Agriculture. In: Omics Technologies for Sustainable Agriculture and Global Food Security (Vol II). Springer, pp 1–24
- Bortesi L, Zhu C, Zischewski J, Perez L, Bassié L, Nadi R, Forni G, Lade SB, Soto E, Jin X (2016) Patterns of CRISPR/Cas9 activity in plants, animals and microbes. Plant Biotechnol J 14(12):2203–2216

- Bouzroud S, Gasparini K, Hu G, Barbosa MAM, Rosa BL, Fahr M, Bendaou N, Bouzayen M, Zsögön A, Smouni A (2020) Down regulation and loss of auxin response factor 4 function using CRISPR/Cas9 alters plant growth, stomatal function and improves tomato tolerance to salinity and osmotic stress. Genes 11(3):272
- Brozynska M, Furtado A, Henry RJ (2016) Genomics of crop wild relatives: expanding the gene pool for crop improvement. Plant Biotechnol J 14(4):1070–1085
- Cai C, Wu S, Niu E, Cheng C, Guo W (2017) Identification of genes related to salt stress tolerance using intron-length polymorphic markers, association mapping and virus-induced gene silencing in cotton. Sci Rep 7(1):1–15
- Carpena F (2019) How do droughts impact household food consumption and nutritional intake? A study of rural India. World Dev 122:349–369
- Chang J, Cheong BE, Natera S, Roessner U (2019) Morphological and metabolic responses to salt stress of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars which differ in salinity tolerance. Plant Physiol Biochem 144:427–435
- Chebrolu KK, Fritschi FB, Ye S, Krishnan HB, Smith JR, Gillman JD (2016) Impact of heat stress during seed development on soybean seed metabolome. Metabolomics 12(2):28
- Cheema A (2018) Plant breeding its applications and future prospects. Int J Eng Technol Sci Res 5:88–94
- Chen X-B, Xie Y-H, Sun X-M (2015) Development and characterization of polymorphic genic-SSR markers in Larix kaempferi. Molecules 20(4):6060–6067
- Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C (2019) CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 70:667–697
- Cheng L, Gao X, Li S, Shi M, Javeed H, Jing X, Yang G, He G (2010) Proteomic analysis of soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Meer.] seeds during imbibition at chilling temperature. Mol Breed 26(1):1–17
- Cheng G, Zhang L, Wang H, Lu J, Wei H, Yu S (2020) Transcriptomic profiling of young Cotyledons response to chilling stress in two contrasting cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) genotypes at the seedling stage. Int J Mol Sci 21(14):5095
- Che-Othman MH, Jacoby RP, Millar AH, Taylor NL (2020) Wheat mitochondrial respiration shifts from the tricarboxylic acid cycle to the GABA shunt under salt stress. New Phytol 225(3):1166–1180
- Chun JA, Li S, Wang Q, Lee W-S, Lee E-J, Horstmann N, Park H, Veasna T, Vanndy L, Pros K (2016) Assessing rice productivity and adaptation strategies for Southeast Asia under climate change through multi-scale crop modeling. Agr Syst 143:14–21
- Cloutier M, Chatterjee D, Elango D, Cui J, Bruns MA, Chopra S (2021) Sorghum root flavonoid chemistry, cultivar, and frost stress effects on rhizosphere bacteria and fungi. Phytobiome J 5(1):39–50
- Cui Y, Jiang N, Xu Z, Xu Q (2020) Heterotrimeric G protein are involved in the regulation of multiple agronomic traits and stress tolerance in rice. BMC Plant Biol 20(1):1–13
- Cuperlovic-Culf M, Vaughan MM, Vermillion K, Surendra A, Teresi J, McCormick SP (2019) Effects of atmospheric CO₂ level on the metabolic response of resistant and susceptible wheat to Fusarium graminearum infection. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 32(4):379–391
- D'Amelia L, Dell'Aversana E, Woodrow P, Ciarmiello LF, Carillo P (2018) Metabolomics for crop improvement against salinity stress. Salinity responses and tolerance in plants, vol 2. Springer, pp 267–287
- D'Attoma G, Morelli M, Saldarelli P, Saponari M, Giampetruzzi A, Boscia D, Savino VN, De La Fuente L, Cobine PA (2019) Ionomic differences between susceptible and resistant olive cultivars infected by *Xylella fastidiosa* in the outbreak area of Salento, Italy. Pathogens 8(4):272
- Daloz AS, Rydsaa JH, Hodnebrog Ø, Sillmann J, van Oort B, Mohr CW, Agrawal M, Emberson L, Stordal F, Zhang T (2021) Direct and indirect impacts of climate change on wheat yield in the Indo-Gangetic plain in India. J Agric Food Res 4:100132

- Damaris RN, Li M, Liu Y, Chen X, Murage H, Yang P (2016) A proteomic analysis of salt stress response in seedlings of two African rice cultivars. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics 1864(11):1570–1578
- Deery DM, Jones HG (2021) Field phenomics: will it enable crop improvement? Plant Phenomic 2021
- Deng C, Zhang Z, Yan G, Wang F, Zhao L, Liu N, Abudurezike A, Li Y, Wang W, Shi S (2020) Salt-responsive transcriptome analysis of triticale reveals candidate genes involved in the key metabolic pathway in response to salt stress. Sci Rep 10(1):1–9
- Diambra LA (2011) Genome sequence and analysis of the tuber crop potato. Nature 475:189-195
- Díaz ML, Soresi DS, Basualdo J, Cuppari SJ, Carrera A (2019) Transcriptomic response of durum wheat to cold stress at reproductive stage. Mol Biol Rep 46(2):2427–2445
- Ding J, Adiconis X, Simmons SK, Kowalczyk MS, Hession CC, Marjanovic ND, Hughes TK, Wadsworth MH, Burks T, Nguyen LT (2020) Systematic comparison of single-cell and singlenucleus RNA-sequencing methods. Nat Biotechnol 38(6):737–746
- Dong X, Guan L, Zhang P, Liu X, Li S, Fu Z, Tang L, Qi Z, Qiu Z, Jin C (2021) Responses of maize with different growth periods to heat stress around flowering and early grain filling. Agric For Meteorol 303:108378
- Du F, Liu P, Wang K, Yang Z, Wang L (2020) Ionomic responses of rice plants to the stresses of different arsenic species in hydroponics. Chemosphere 243:125398
- Dudziak K, Zapalska M, Börner A, Szczerba H, Kowalczyk K, Nowak M (2019) Analysis of wheat gene expression related to the oxidative stress response and signal transduction under shortterm osmotic stress. Sci Rep 9(1):1–14
- Efeoğlu B, Ekmekçi Y, Çiçek N (2009) Physiological responses of three maize cultivars to drought stress and recovery. S Afr J Bot 75(1):34–42
- ElBasyoni I, Saadalla M, Baenziger S, Bockelman H, Morsy S (2017) Cell membrane stability and association mapping for drought and heat tolerance in a worldwide wheat collection. Sustainability 9(9):1606
- Ergin S, Aydogan C, Turhan E (2021) Physiological effects of high temperature stress in some cucurbit plants. Current Trends in Natural Sciences 10(19):235–245
- Fiaz S, Khan SA, Younas A, Shahzad K, Ali H, Noor MA, Ashraf U, Nadeem F (2021) Application of CRISPR/Cas system for genome editing in cotton. In: CRISPR and RNAi Systems. Elsevier, pp 277–301
- Fuhrer T, Zamboni N (2015) High-throughput discovery metabolomics. Curr Opin Biotechnol 31:73–78
- Fumagalli E, Baldoni E, Abbruscato P, Piffanelli P, Genga A, Lamanna R, Consonni R (2009) NMR techniques coupled with multivariate statistical analysis: tools to analyse *Oryza sativa* metabolic content under stress conditions. J Agron Crop Sci 195(2):77–88
- Ganguly M, Datta K, Roychoudhury A, Gayen D, Sengupta DN, Datta SK (2012) Overexpression of Rab16A gene in indica rice variety for generating enhanced salt tolerance. Plant Signal Behav 7(4):502–509
- Gao S, Tang G, Hua D, Xiong R, Han J, Jiang S, Zhang Q, Huang C (2019) Stimuli-responsive bio-based polymeric systems and their applications. J Mater Chem B 7(5):709–729
- Godoy F, Olivos-Hernández K, Stange C, Handford M (2021) Abiotic stress in crop species: improving tolerance by applying plant metabolites. Plants 10(2):186
- Goff SA, Ricke D, Lan T-H, Presting G, Wang R, Dunn M, Glazebrook J, Sessions A, Oeller P, Varma H (2002) A draft sequence of the rice genome (Oryza sativa L. ssp. japonica). Science 296(5565):92–100
- Gorim LY, Vandenberg A (2017) Evaluation of wild lentil species as genetic resources to improve drought tolerance in cultivated lentil. Front Plant Sci 8:1129
- Guan S, Xu Q, Ma D, Zhang W, Xu Z, Zhao M, Guo Z (2019) Transcriptomics profiling in response to cold stress in cultivated rice and weedy rice. Gene 685:96–105

- Guo Z, Yang W, Chang Y, Ma X, Tu H, Xiong F, Jiang N, Feng H, Huang C, Yang P (2018) Genome-wide association studies of image traits reveal genetic architecture of drought resistance in rice. Mol Plant 11(6):789–805
- Guo X, Xin Z, Yang T, Ma X, Zhang Y, Wang Z, Ren Y, Lin T (2020) Metabolomics response for drought stress tolerance in chinese wheat genotypes (*Triticum aestivum*). Plants 9(4):520
- Gupta PK (2008) Single-molecule DNA sequencing technologies for future genomics research. Trends Biotechnol 26(11):602–611
- Hao W, Wang S, Liu H, Zhou B, Wang X, Jiang T (2015) Development of SSR markers and genetic diversity in white birch (*Betula platyphylla*). PLoS One 10(4):e0125235
- Hasan MM-U, Ma F, Islam F, Sajid M, Prodhan ZH, Li F, Shen H, Chen Y, Wang X (2019) Comparative transcriptomic analysis of biological process and key pathway in three cotton (*Gossypium spp.*) species under drought stress. Int J Mol Sci 20(9):2076
- Hasegawa T, Fujimori S, Havlík P, Valin H, Bodirsky BL, Doelman JC, Fellmann T, Kyle P, Koopman JF, Lotze-Campen H (2018) Risk of increased food insecurity under stringent global climate change mitigation policy. Nat Clim Chang 8(8):699–703
- He J, Zhao X, Laroche A, Lu Z-X, Liu H, Li Z (2014) Genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS), an ultimate marker-assisted selection (MAS) tool to accelerate plant breeding. Front Plant Sci 5:484
- Hindt MN, Akmakjian GZ, Pivarski KL, Punshon T, Baxter I, Salt DE, Guerinot ML (2017) BRUTUS and its paralogs, BTS LIKE1 and BTS LIKE2, encode important negative regulators of the iron deficiency response in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Metallomics 9(7):876–890
- Hong J, Yang L, Zhang D, Shi J (2016) Plant metabolomics: an indispensable system biology tool for plant science. Int J Mol Sci 17(6):767
- Hossain Z, Komatsu S (2014) Potentiality of soybean proteomics in untying the mechanism of flood and drought stress tolerance. Proteomes 2(1):107–127
- Hosseini S, Ivanov D, Dolgui A (2019) Review of quantitative methods for supply chain resilience analysis. Transp Res E: Logist Transp Rev 125:285–307
- Hückelhoven R, Panstruga R (2011) Cell biology of the plant–powdery mildew interaction. Curr Opin Plant Biol 14(6):738–746
- Hussain S (2003) Mountain ecosystems: emerging challenges and opportunities for agriculture in Northern Pakistan. Mountains of Pakistan: Protection, Potential and Prospects, pp 180–191
- Hussain SS, Mudasser M (2007) Prospects for wheat production under changing climate in mountain areas of Pakistan – an econometric analysis. Agr Syst 94(2):494–501
- Hussain HA, Hussain S, Khaliq A, Ashraf U, Anjum SA, Men S, Wang L (2018) Chilling and drought stresses in crop plants: implications, cross talk, and potential management opportunities. Front Plant Sci 9:393. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00393
- Hussain HA, Men S, Hussain S, Zhang Q, Ashraf U, Anjum SA, Ali I, Wang L (2020) Maize tolerance against drought and chilling stresses varied with root morphology and antioxidative defense system. Plants 9(6):720. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9060720
- Hyten DL, Song Q, Choi I-Y, Yoon M-S, Specht JE, Matukumalli LK, Nelson RL, Shoemaker RC, Young ND, Cregan PB (2008) High-throughput genotyping with the GoldenGate assay in the complex genome of soybean. Theor Appl Genet 116(7):945–952
- Hyten DL, Smith JR, Frederick RD, Tucker ML, Song Q, Cregan PB (2009) Bulked segregant analysis using the GoldenGate assay to locate the Rpp3 locus that confers resistance to soybean rust in soybean. Crop Sci 49(1):265–271
- Ibrahim MI, Sapuan SM, Zainudin ES, Zuhri MYM (2019) Extraction, chemical composition, and characterization of potential lignocellulosic biomasses and polymers from corn plant parts. BioResources 14(3):6485–6500
- Imran M, Shafiq S, Naeem MK, Widemann E, Munir MZ, Jensen KB, Wang RR-C (2020) Histone deacetylase (HDAC) gene family in allotetraploid cotton and its diploid progenitors: in silico identification, molecular characterization, and gene expression analysis under multiple abiotic stresses, DNA damage and phytohormone treatments. Int J Mol Sci 21(1):321

- Jain R, Gupta S, Kachhwaha S, Kothari S (2021) Integrated metabolome and transcriptome analysis: a new platform/technology for functional biology and natural products research. Crop Improvement, CRC Press, pp 37–51
- Janes T, McGrath F, Macadam I, Jones R (2019) High-resolution climate projections for South Asia to inform climate impacts and adaptation studies in the Ganges-Brahmaputra-Meghna and Mahanadi deltas. Sci Total Environ 650:1499–1520
- Jangra S, Chaudhary V, Yadav RC, Yadav NR (2021) High-throughput phenotyping: a platform to accelerate crop improvement. Phenomics:1–23
- Jardak R, Riahi J, Dallagi W, Planchon S, Boubakri H, Bouamama B, Bouagila A, Nefissi R, Mejri S, Renaut J (2021) Proteomic analysis of salt-responsive proteins in the leaves of two contrasting Tunisian barley landraces. Plant Growth Regul:1–18
- Ji L, Zhou P, Zhu Y, Liu F, Li R, Qiu Y (2017) Proteomic analysis of Rice seedlings under cold stress. Protein J 36(4):299–307
- Jia X, Zhu Y, Zhang R, Zhu Z, Zhao T, Cheng L, Gao L, Liu B, Zhang X, Wang Y (2020) Ionomic and metabolomic analyses reveal the resistance response mechanism to saline-alkali stress in Malus halliana seedlings. Plant Physiol Biochem 147:77–90
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA–guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337(6096):816–821
- Jorrin-Novo JV (2020) What is new in (plant) proteomics methods and protocols: the 2015–2019 quinquennium. plant proteomics. Springer, pp 1–10
- Julkowska MM, Testerink C (2015) Tuning plant signaling and growth to survive salt. Trends Plant Sci 20(9):586–594
- Junior CAS, D'Amico-Damião V, Carvalho RF (2021) Phytochrome type B family: the abiotic stress responses signaller in plants. Ann Appl Biol 178(2):135–148
- Kaler AS, Ray JD, Schapaugh WT, King CA, Purcell LC (2017) Genome-wide association mapping of canopy wilting in diverse soybean genotypes. Theor Appl Genet 130(10):2203–2217
- Kalisz A, Sękara A, Cebula S, Grabowska A, Kunicki E (2014) Impact of low-temperature transplant treatment on yield and quality of cauliflower curds in late spring production. Sci Hortic 176:134–142
- Kamyab S, Alami-Saeid K, Eslahi M, Moradi M (2021) cDNA-AFLP technique discloses differential gene expression in response to salinity in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Genet Resour Crop Evol:1–13
- Kang YJ, Lee T, Lee J, Shim S, Jeong H, Satyawan D, Kim MY, Lee SH (2016) Translational genomics for plant breeding with the genome sequence explosion. Plant Biotechnol J 14(4):1057–1069
- Katam R, Shokri S, Murthy N, Singh SK, Suravajhala P, Khan MN, Bahmani M, Sakata K, Reddy KR (2020) Proteomics, physiological, and biochemical analysis of cross tolerance mechanisms in response to heat and water stresses in soybean. PLoS One 15(6):e0233905
- Kaur J (2014) A comprehensive review on metabolic syndrome. Cardiology Research and Practice 2014
- Khazaei H, O'Sullivan DM, Stoddard FL, Adhikari KN, Paull JG, Schulman AH, Andersen SU, Vandenberg A (2020) Recent advances in faba bean genetic and genomic tools for crop improvement. Legume Sci
- Kim Y-A, Moon H, Park C-J (2019) CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of Os8N3 in rice to confer resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae. Rice 12(1):1–13
- Klap C, Yeshayahou E, Bolger AM, Arazi T, Gupta SK, Shabtai S, Usadel B, Salts Y, Barg R (2017) Tomato facultative parthenocarpy results from SI AGAMOUS-LIKE 6 loss of function. Plant Biotechnol J 15(5):634–647
- Kong L, Ashraf U, Cheng S, Rao G, Mo Z, Tian H, Pan S, Tang X (2017) Short-term water management at early filling stage improves early-season rice performance under high temperature stress in South China. Eur J Agron 90:117–126
- Korhonen A, Traum D, Màrquez L (2019) Celebrity profiling. Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics

- Kosová K, Vítámvás P, Urban MO, Prášil IT, Renaut J (2018) Plant abiotic stress proteomics: the major factors determining alterations in cellular proteome. Front Plant Sci 9:122
- Kumar S, Banks TW, Cloutier S (2012) SNP discovery through next-generation sequencing and its applications. Int J Plant Genomic 2012:831460
- Kumar S, Rajendran K, Kumar J, Hamwieh A, Baum M (2015) Current knowledge in lentil genomics and its application for crop improvement. Front Plant Sci 6:78
- Kumar R, Sahoo S, Joanni E, Singh RK, Tan WK, Kar KK, Matsuda A (2019) Recent progress in the synthesis of graphene and derived materials for next generation electrodes of high performance lithium ion batteries. Prog Energy Combust Sci 75:100786
- Kumari M, Grover A, Yadav PV, Arif M, Ahmed Z (2013) Development of EST-SSR markers through data mining and their use for genetic diversity study in Indian accessions of *Jatropha curcas* L.: a potential energy crop. Gene & Genomic 35(5):661–670
- Le TT (2016) Effects of climate change on rice yield and rice market in Vietnam. J Agric Appl Economic 48(4):366–382
- Lee K, Zhang Y, Kleinstiver BP, Guo JA, Aryee MJ, Miller J, Malzahn A, Zarecor S, Lawrence-Dill CJ, Joung JK (2019) Activities and specificities of CRISPR/Cas9 and Cas12a nucleases for targeted mutagenesis in maize. Plant Biotechnol J 17(2):362–372
- Lenaerts B, Collard BC, Demont M (2019) Improving global food security through accelerated plant breeding. Plant Sci 287:110207
- Li C, Unver T, Zhang B (2017) A high-efficiency CRISPR/Cas9 system for targeted mutagenesis in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Sci Rep 7(1):1–10
- Li J, Manghwar H, Sun L, Wang P, Wang G, Sheng H, Zhang J, Liu H, Qin L, Rui H (2019) Whole genome sequencing reveals rare off-target mutations and considerable inherent genetic or/and somaclonal variations in CRISPR/Cas9-edited cotton plants. Plant Biotechnol J 17(5):858–868
- Li J, Nadeem M, Chen L, Wang M, Wan M, Qiu L, Wang X (2020) Differential proteomic analysis of soybean anthers by iTRAQ under high-temperature stress. J Proteomics 229:103968
- Lin C, Heng S, Jie K, Haijiang X, Xiyan Y (2021) Integrated transcriptome and proteome analysis reveals complex regulatory mechanism of cotton in response to salt stress. J Cotton Res 4(1):1–13
- Liu X, He P, Chen W, Gao J (2019) Improving multi-task deep neural networks via knowledge distillation for natural language understanding. arXiv. preprint arXiv:1904.09482
- Liu G, Zha Z, Cai H, Qin D, Jia H, Liu C, Qiu D, Zhang Z, Wan Z, Yang Y (2020) Dynamic transcriptome analysis of anther response to heat stress during anthesis in thermotolerant rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Int J Mol Sci 21(3):1155
- Liu B, Wang X, Li K, Cai Z (2021a) Spatially resolved metabolomics and lipidomics reveal salinity and drought-tolerant mechanisms of cottonseeds. J Agric Food Chem 69(28):8028–8037
- Liu Y, Zhang J, Pan T, Ge Q (2021b) Assessing the adaptability of maize phenology to climate change: the role of anthropogenic-management practices. J Environ Manage 293:112874
- Lu Y, Lam H, Pi E, Zhan Q, Tsai S, Wang C, Kwan Y, Ngai S (2013) Comparative metabolomics in *Glycine max* and *Glycine soja* under salt stress to reveal the phenotypes of their offspring. J Agric Food Chem 61(36):8711–8721
- Ma J, Li R, Wang H, Li D, Wang X, Zhang Y, Zhen W, Duan H, Yan G, Li Y (2017) Transcriptomics analyses reveal wheat responses to drought stress during reproductive stages under field conditions. Front Plant Sci 8:592
- Makeen AAMA, Mohamed HA, Omara S (2021) Modification of microclimate for better growth and develop of summer tomato crop. Gezira J Agric Sci 2(1):59–73
- Mammadov J, Aggarwal R, Buyyarapu R, Kumpatla S (2012) SNP markers and their impact on plant breeding. Int J Plant Genomics 2012
- Mao Y, Zhang H, Xu N, Zhang B, Gou F, Zhu J-K (2013) Application of the CRISPR–Cas system for efficient genome engineering in plants. Mol Plant 6(6):2008
- Mardis ER (2008) Next-generation DNA sequencing methods. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 9:387–402

- Maruyama A, Haneishi Y, Okello SE, Asea G, Tsuboi T, Takagaki M, Kikuchi M (2014a) Rice green revolution and climatic change in East Africa: an approach from the technical efficiency of rainfed rice farmers in Uganda. Agric Sci:2014
- Maruyama K, Urano K, Yoshiwara K, Morishita Y, Sakurai N, Suzuki H, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Shibata D, Saito K (2014b) Integrated analysis of the effects of cold and dehydration on rice metabolites, phytohormones, and gene transcripts. Plant Physiol 164(4):1759–1771
- Mathan J, Singh A, Ranjan A (2021) Sucrose transport in response to drought and salt stress involves ABA-mediated induction of OsSWEET13 and OsSWEET15 in rice. Physiol Plant 171(4):620–637
- Matias FI, Caraza-Harter MV, Endelman JB (2020) FIELDimageR: an R package to analyze orthomosaic images from agricultural field trials. The Plant Phenom J 3(1):e20005
- Meng Z, Meng Z, Zhang R, Liang C, Wan J, Wang Y, Zhai H, Guo S (2015) Expression of the rice arginase gene OsARG in cotton influences the morphology and nitrogen transition of seedlings. PLoS One 10(11):e0141530
- Meng L, Zhang T, Geng S, Scott PB, Li H, Chen S (2019) Comparative proteomics and metabolomics of JAZ7-mediated drought tolerance in Arabidopsis. J Proteomics 196:81–91
- Min X, Liu Z, Wang Y, Liu W (2020) Comparative transcriptomic analysis provides insights into the coordinated mechanisms of leaves and roots response to cold stress in Common Vetch. Ind Crop Prod 158:112949
- Mo ZW, Pan SG, Ashraf U, Kanu AS, Li W, Wang ZM, Duan MY, Tian H, Kargbo MB, Tang XR (2017) Local climate affects growth and grain productivity of precision hill-direct-seeded rice in South China. Appl Ecol Environ Res 15(1):113–125
- Mochida K, Shinozaki K (2011) Advances in omics and bioinformatics tools for systems analyses of plant functions. Plant Cell Physiol 52(12):2017–2038
- Moose SP, Mumm RH (2008) Molecular plant breeding as the foundation for 21st century crop improvement. Plant Physiol 147(3):969–977
- Moreno-Risueno MA, Busch W, Benfey PN (2010) Omics meet networks—using systems approaches to infer regulatory networks in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13(2):126–131
- Moschen S, Di Rienzo JA, Higgins J, Tohge T, Watanabe M, González S, Rivarola M, García-García F, Dopazo J, Hopp HE (2017) Integration of transcriptomic and metabolic data reveals hub transcription factors involved in drought stress response in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Plant Mol Biol 94(4):549–564
- Muthamilarasan M, Singh NK, Prasad M (2019) Multi-omics approaches for strategic improvement of stress tolerance in underutilized crop species: a climate change perspective. Adv Genet 103:1–38
- Mwadzingeni L, Shimelis H, Rees DJG, Tsilo TJ (2017) Genome-wide association analysis of agronomic traits in wheat under drought-stressed and non-stressed conditions. PLoS One 12(2):e0171692
- Naveed SA, Zhang F, Zhang J, Zheng T-Q, Meng L-J, Pang Y-L, Xu J-L, Li Z-K (2018) Identification of QTN and candidate genes for salinity tolerance at the germination and seedling stages in rice by genome-wide association analyses. Sci Rep 8(1):1–11
- Nawaz F, Zulfiqar B, Ahmad KS, Majeed S, Shehzad MA, Javeed HMR, Tahir MN, Ahsan M (2021) Pretreatment with selenium and zinc modulates physiological indices and antioxidant machinery to improve drought tolerance in maize (*Zea mays* L.). S Afr J Bot 138:209–216
- Ndlovu N (2020) Application of genomics and phenomics in plant breeding for climate resilience. Asian Plant Res J:53–66
- Nekrasov V, Wang C, Win J, Lanz C, Weigel D, Kamoun S (2017) Rapid generation of a transgenefree powdery mildew resistant tomato by genome deletion. Sci Rep 7(1):1–6
- Oliver SG, Winson MK, Kell DB, Baganz F (1998) Systematic functional analysis of the yeast genome. Trends Biotechnol 16(9):373–378
- Ortigosa A, Gimenez-Ibanez S, Leonhardt N, Solano R (2019) Design of a bacterial speck resistant tomato by CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of SI JAZ 2. Plant Biotechnol J 17(3):665–673

- Osnato M, Cereijo U, Sala J, Matías-Hernández L, Aguilar-Jaramillo AE, Rodríguez-Goberna MR, Riechmann JL, Rodríguez-Concepción M, Pelaz S (2021) The floral repressors TEMPRANILLO1 and 2 modulate salt tolerance by regulating hormonal components and photo-protection in Arabidopsis. Plant J 105(1):7–21
- Paixão JFR, Gillet F-X, Ribeiro TP, Bournaud C, Lourenço-Tessutti IT, Noriega DD, de Melo BP, de Almeida-Engler J, Grossi-de-Sa MF (2019) Improved drought stress tolerance in *Arabidopsis* by CRISPR/dCas9 fusion with a histone acetyltransferase. Sci Rep 9(1):1–9
- Palazzo A, Vervoort JM, Mason-D'Croz D, Rutting L, Havlík P, Islam S, Bayala J, Valin H, Kadi HAK, Thornton P (2017) Linking regional stakeholder scenarios and shared socioeconomic pathways: quantified West African food and climate futures in a global context. Glob Environ Chang 45:227–242
- Pandey P, Irulappan V, Bagavathiannan MV, Senthil-Kumar M (2017) Impact of combined abiotic and biotic stresses on plant growth and avenues for crop improvement by exploiting physiomorphological traits. Front Plant Sci 8:537
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A (2009) The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457(7229):551–556
- Pazhamala LT, Kudapa H, Weckwerth W, Millar AH, Varshney RK (2021) Systems biology for crop improvement. The Plant Genome (TSI), pp 1–23
- Peng Z, He S, Gong W, Xu F, Pan Z, Jia Y, Geng X, Du X (2018) Integration of proteomic and transcriptomic profiles reveals multiple levels of genetic regulation of salt tolerance in cotton. BMC Plant Biol 18(1):1–19
- Peng R, Jones DC, Liu F, Zhang B (2020) From sequencing to genome editing for cotton improvement. Trends Biotechnol 39(3)
- Pita-Barbosa A, Ricachenevsky FK, Wilson M, Dottorini T, Salt DE (2019) Transcriptional plasticity buffers genetic variation in zinc homeostasis. Sci Rep 9(1):1–11
- Porter G, Grills N (2016) Medication misuse in India: a major public health issue in India. J Public Health 38(2)
- Punshon T, Jackson BP (2018) Essential micronutrient and toxic trace element concentrations in gluten containing and gluten-free foods. Food Chem 252:258–264
- Qiu Y, Kaiser C, Schmidt C, Broders K, Robertson AE, Jamann TM (2020) Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with maize resistance to bacterial leaf streak. Crop Sci 60(1):226–237
- Rajam MV (2020) RNA silencing technology: A boon for crop improvement. J Biosci 45(1):1-5
- Ray DK, Gerber JS, MacDonald GK, West PC (2015) Climate variation explains a third of global crop yield variability. Nat Commun 6(1):1–9
- Raza A, Ashraf F, Zou X, Zhang X, Tosif H (2020) Plant adaptation and tolerance to environmental stresses: mechanisms and perspectives. In: Plant ecophysiology and adaptation under climate change: mechanisms and perspectives I. Springer, pp 117–145
- Razzaq A, Sadia B, Raza A, Khalid Hameed M, Saleem F (2019) Metabolomics: a way forward for crop improvement. Metabolites 9(12):303
- Reddy SK, Liu S, Rudd JC, Xue Q, Payton P, Finlayson SA, Mahan J, Akhunova A, Holalu SV, Lu N (2014) Physiology and transcriptomics of water-deficit stress responses in wheat cultivars TAM 111 and TAM 112. J Plant Physiol 171(14):1289–1298
- Resop JP, Fleisher DH, Timlin DJ, Mutiibwa D, Reddy V (2016) Climate, water management, and land use: Estimating potential potato and corn production in the US northeastern seaboard region. Trans ASABE 59(6):1539–1553
- Rojas C, Pino J, Basnou C, Vivanco M (2013) Assessing land-use and-cover changes in relation to geographic factors and urban planning in the metropolitan area of Concepción (Chile). Implications for biodiversity conservation. Appl Geogr 39:93–103
- Rostoks N, Ramsay L, MacKenzie K, Cardle L, Bhat PR, Roose ML, Svensson JT, Stein N, Varshney RK, Marshall DF (2006) Recent history of artificial outcrossing facilitates whole-genome association mapping in elite inbred crop varieties. Proc Natl Acad Sci 103(49):18656–18661

- Rounsevell M, Evans S, Bullock P (1999) Climate change and agricultural soils: impacts and adaptation. Clim Change 43(4):683–709
- Saia S, Fragasso M, De Vita P, Beleggia R (2019) Metabolomics provides valuable insight for the study of durum wheat: a review. J Agric Food Chem 67(11):3069–3085
- Saidi A, Hajibarat Z (2020) Application of Next Generation Sequencing, GWAS, RNA seq, WGRS, for genetic improvement of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) under drought stress. Biocatalysis and Agricultural. Biotechnology 29:101801
- Sammina M, AShraf, Rehman Z, Ikram M, Mehmood S (2021) Plant resilience to abiotic stress mitigated through phytohormones' production and their transcriptional control. In: Plant growth regulators for climate-smart agriculture. CRC Press, pp 165–186
- Samota M, Bhatt L, Yadav D, Garg N, Bajiya R (2017) Metabolomics for functional genomics. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 6:2531–2537
- Shahbaz M, Mushtaq Z, Andaz F, Masood A (2013) Does proline application ameliorate adverse effects of salt stress on growth, ions and photosynthetic ability of eggplant (Solanum melongena L.)? Sci Hortic 164:507–511
- Shakoor N, Ziegler G, Dilkes BP, Brenton Z, Boyles R, Connolly EL, Kresovich S, Baxter I (2016) Integration of experiments across diverse environments identifies the genetic determinants of variation in *Sorghum bicolor* seed element composition. Plant Physiol 170(4):1989–1998
- Shen L, Wang C, Fu Y, Wang J, Liu Q, Zhang X, Yan C, Qian Q, Wang K (2018) QTL editing confers opposing yield performance in different rice varieties. J Integr Plant Biol 60(2):89–93
- Shendure J, Ji H (2008) Next-generation DNA sequencing. Nat Biotechnol 26(10):1135-1145
- Shi J, Gao H, Wang H, Lafitte HR, Archibald RL, Yang M, Hakimi SM, Mo H, Habben JE (2017) ARGOS 8 variants generated by CRISPR-Cas9 improve maize grain yield under field drought stress conditions. Plant Biotechnol J 15(2):207–216
- Shiferaw B, Smale M, Braun H-J, Duveiller E, Reynolds M, Muricho G (2013) Crops that feed the world 10. Past successes and future challenges to the role played by wheat in global food security. Food Secur 5(3):291–317
- Silvente S, Sobolev AP, Lara M (2012) Metabolite adjustments in drought tolerant and sensitive soybean genotypes in response to water stress. PLoS One 7(6):e38554
- Singh J, Mishra N, Banerjee S, Sharma YC (2011) Comparative studies of physical characteristics of raw and modified sawdust for their use as adsorbents for removal of acid dye. bioresources 6(3):2732–2743
- Singh BK, Mishra DC, Yadav S, Ambawat S, Vaidya E, Tribhuvan KU, Kumar A, Kumar S, Kumar S, Chaturvedi K (2016) Identification, characterization, validation and cross-species amplification of genic-SSRs in Indian Mustard (Brassica juncea). J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 25(4):410–420
- Singh A, Müller B, Schnürer A (2021) Profiling temporal dynamics of acetogenic communities in anaerobic digesters using next-generation sequencing and T-RFLP. Sci Rep 11(1):1–14
- Solankey SS, Kumari M, Akhtar S, Singh HK, Ray PK (2021) Challenges and opportunities in vegetable production in changing climate: mitigation and adaptation strategies. Advances in research on vegetable production under a changing climate, vol 1. Springer, pp 13–59
- Soltabayeva A, Ongaltay A, Omondi JO, Srivastava S (2021) Morphological, physiological and molecular markers for salt-stressed plants. Plants 10(2):243
- Song A, Li P, Fan F, Li Z, Liang Y (2014) The effect of silicon on photosynthesis and expression of its relevant genes in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) under high-zinc stress. PLoS One 9(11):e113782
- Soora NK, Aggarwal PK, Saxena R, Rani S, Jain S, Chauhan N (2013) An assessment of regional vulnerability of rice to climate change in India. Clim Change 118(3):683–699
- Soriano JM, Colasuonno P, Marcotuli I, Gadaleta A (2021) Meta-QTL analysis and identification of candidate genes for quality, abiotic and biotic stress in durum wheat. Sci Rep 11(1):1–15
- Subramanian I, Verma S, Kumar S, Jere A, Anamika K (2020) Multi-omics data integration, interpretation, and its application. Bioinformatic Biol Insight 14:1177932219899051
- Sun J, Wang J, Guo W, Yin T, Zhang S, Wang L, Xie D, Zou D (2021) Identification of alkalitolerant candidate genes using the NGS-assisted BSA strategy in rice. Mol Breed 41(8):1–14

- Sung J, Lee S, Lee Y, Ha S, Song B, Kim T, Waters BM, Krishnan HB (2015) Metabolomic profiling from leaves and roots of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) plants grown under nitrogen, phosphorus or potassium-deficient condition. Plant Sci 241:55–64
- Swamy BM, Sarla N (2008) Yield-enhancing quantitative trait loci (QTLs) from wild species. Biotechnol Adv 26(1):106–120
- Tanaka N, Shenton M, Kawahara Y, Kumagai M, Sakai H, Kanamori H, Yonemaru J, Fukuoka S, Sugimoto K, Ishimoto M (2020) Whole-genome sequencing of the NARO World Rice Core Collection (WRC) as the basis for diversity and association studies. Plant Cell Physiol 61(5):922–932
- Tao F, Hayashi Y, Zhang Z, Sakamoto T, Yokozawa M (2008) Global warming, rice production, and water use in China: developing a probabilistic assessment. Agric For Meteorol 148(1):94–110
- Tester M, Langridge P (2010) Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science 327(5967):818–822
- Thabet SG, Moursi YS, Sallam A, Karam MA, Alqudah AM (2021) Genetic associations uncover candidate SNP markers and genes associated with salt tolerance during seedling developmental phase in barley. Environ Exp Bot 188:104499
- Thomason K, Babar MA, Erickson JE, Mulvaney M, Beecher C, MacDonald G (2018) Comparative physiological and metabolomics analysis of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) following post-anthesis heat stress. PLoS One 13(6):e0197919
- Tian H, Lam SM, Shui G (2016) Metabolomics, a powerful tool for agricultural research. Int J Mol Sci 17(11):1871
- Ucar B, Kajtez J, Foidl BM, Eigel D, Werner C, Long KR, Emnéus J, Bizeau J, Lomora M, Pandit A (2021) Biomaterial based strategies to reconstruct the nigrostriatal pathway in organotypic slice co-cultures. Acta Biomater 121:250–262
- Ul Qamar MT, Faryad A, Bari A, Zahid B, Zhu X, Chen L-L (2020) Effectiveness of conventional crop improvement strategies vs. omics. Environment, climate, plant and vegetation growth. Springer, pp 253–284
- Unamba CI, Nag A, Sharma RK (2015) Next generation sequencing technologies: the doorway to the unexplored genomics of non-model plants. Front Plant Sci 6:1074
- Varshney RK, Nayak SN, May GD, Jackson SA (2009) Next-generation sequencing technologies and their implications for crop genetics and breeding. Trends Biotechnol 27(9):522–530
- Velasco R, Zharkikh A, Affourtit J, Dhingra A, Cestaro A, Kalyanaraman A, Fontana P, Bhatnagar SK, Troggio M, Pruss D (2010) The genome of the domesticated apple (Malus × domestica Borkh.). Nat Genet 42(10):833–839
- Vescio R, Abenavoli MR, Sorgonà A (2021) Single and combined abiotic stress in maize root morphology. Plants 10(1):5
- Voss-Fels KP, Stahl A, Hickey LT (2019) Q&A: Modern crop breeding for future food security. BMC Biol 17(1):1–7
- Wada H, Hatakeyama Y, Nakashima T, Nonami H, Erra-Balsells R, Hakata M, Nakata K, Hiraoka K, Onda Y, Nakano H (2020) On-site single pollen metabolomics reveals varietal differences in phosphatidylinositol synthesis under heat stress conditions in rice. Sci Rep 10(1):1–11
- Wang TL, Uauy C, Robson F, Till B (2012) TILLING in extremis. Plant Biotechnol J 10(7):761-772
- Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Gao C, Qiu J-L (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol 32(9):947–951
- Wang F, Wang C, Liu P, Lei C, Hao W, Gao Y, Liu Y-G, Zhao K (2016) Enhanced rice blast resistance by CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of the ERF transcription factor gene OsERF922. PLoS One 11(4):e0154027
- Wang Y, Meng Z, Liang C, Meng Z, Wang Y, Sun G, Zhu T, Cai Y, Guo S, Zhang R (2017) Increased lateral root formation by CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of arginase genes in cotton. Science China. Life Sci 60(5):524
- Wang Y, Wang L, Zhou J, Hu S, Chen H, Xiang J, Zhang Y, Zeng Y, Shi Q, Zhu D (2019) Research progress on heat stress of rice at flowering stage. Ric Sci 26(1):1–10

- Wong MM, Bhaskara GB, Wen T-N, Lin W-D, Nguyen TT, Chong GL, Verslues PE (2019) Phosphoproteomics of Arabidopsis Highly ABA-Induced1 identifies AT-Hook–Like10 phosphorylation required for stress growth regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(6):2354–2363
- Xiang Z, Pan-pan L, Chen-hua W, Guo-qiang D, Jian W, Sheng P, Yuan C, De-hua C (2018) Mechanism of reduced insecticidal protein expression in Bt cotton under high temperature and drought based on proteomics. Yingyong Shengtai Xuebao 29(8)
- Xu X, Liu X, Ge S, Jensen JD, Hu F, Li X, Dong Y, Gutenkunst RN, Fang L, Huang L (2012) Resequencing 50 accessions of cultivated and wild rice yields markers for identifying agronomically important genes. Nat Biotechnol 30(1):105–111
- Xu C, Xia C, Xia Z, Zhou X, Huang J, Huang Z, Liu Y, Jiang Y, Casteel S, Zhang C (2018) Physiological and transcriptomic responses of reproductive stage soybean to drought stress. Plant Cell Rep 37(12):1611–1624
- Xu X, Crow M, Rice BR, Li F, Harris B, Liu L, Demesa-Arevalo E, Lu Z, Wang L, Fox N (2021) Single-cell RNA sequencing of developing maize ears facilitates functional analysis and trait candidate gene discovery. Dev Cell 56(4):557-568. e556
- Yadav AK, Carroll AJ, Estavillo GM, Rebetzke GJ, Pogson BJ (2019) Wheat drought tolerance in the field is predicted by amino acid responses to glasshouse-imposed drought. J Exp Bot 70(18):4931–4948
- Yadav S, Modi P, Dave A, Vijapura A, Patel D, Patel M (2020) Effect of abiotic stress on crops. In: Sustainable Crop Production. IntechOpen, Rijeka
- Yan M, Zheng L, Li B, Shen R, Lan P (2021) Comparative proteomics reveals new insights into the endosperm responses to drought, salinity and submergence in germinating wheat seeds. Plant Mol Biol 105(3):287–302
- Yasin NA, Zaheer MM, Khan WU, Ahmad SR, Ahmad A, Ali A, Akram W (2018) The beneficial role of potassium in Cd-induced stress alleviation and growth improvement in *Gladiolus grandiflora* L. Int J Phytoremediation 20(3):274–283
- Yildirim C, Correia A-P (2015) Exploring the dimensions of nomophobia: Development and validation of a self-reported questionnaire. Comput Hum Behav 49:130–137
- You J, Zhang H, Liu N, Gao L, Kong L, Yang Z (2011) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in soybean roots. Genome 54(11):923–933
- Young J, Zastrow-Hayes G, Deschamps S, Svitashev S, Zaremba M, Acharya A, Paulraj S, Peterson-Burch B, Schwartz C, Djukanovic V (2019) CRISPR-Cas9 editing in maize: systematic evaluation of off-target activity and its relevance in crop improvement. Sci Rep 9(1):1–11
- Younis M, Ali S, Rizvi STR, Tantawy M, Tariq KU, Bekir A (2021) Investigation of solitons and mixed lump wave solutions with (3+ 1)-dimensional potential-YTSF equation. Commun Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 94:105544
- Zafar SA, Zaidi SS e A, Gaba Y, Singla-Pareek SL, Dhankher OP, Li X, Mansoor S, Pareek A (2020) Engineering abiotic stress tolerance via CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome editing. J Exp Bot 71(2):470–479
- Zalapa JE, Cuevas H, Zhu H, Steffan S, Senalik D, Zeldin E, McCown B, Harbut R, Simon P (2012) Using next-generation sequencing approaches to isolate simple sequence repeat (SSR) loci in the plant sciences. Am J Bot 99(2):193–208
- Zeng A, Chen P, Korth K, Hancock F, Pereira A, Brye K, Wu C, Shi A (2017) Genome-wide association study (GWAS) of salt tolerance in worldwide soybean germplasm lines. Mol Breed 37(3):1–14
- Zhang B (2015) MicroRNA: a new target for improving plant tolerance to abiotic stress. J Exp Bot 66(7):1749–1761
- Zhang F, Wen Y, Guo X (2014) CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing: progress, implications and challenges. Hum Mol Genet 23(R1):R40–R46
- Zhang Y, Liang Z, Zong Y, Wang Y, Liu J, Chen K, Qiu J-L, Gao C (2016) Efficient and transgenefree genome editing in wheat through transient expression of CRISPR/Cas9 DNA or RNA. Nat Commun 7(1):1–8

- Zhang Y, Ma X-M, Wang X-C, Liu J-H, Huang B-Y, Guo X-Y, Xiong S-P, La G-X (2017) UPLC-QTOF analysis reveals metabolomic changes in the flag leaf of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under low-nitrogen stress. Plant Physiol Biochem 111:30–38
- Zhang X, Zhou X, Lin M, Sun J (2018) Shufflenet: An extremely efficient convolutional neural network for mobile devices. Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition
- Zhang M, Liu Q, Yang X, Xu J, Liu G, Yao X, Ren R, Xu J, Lou L (2020a) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated mutagenesis of Clpsk1 in watermelon to confer resistance to Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. niveum. Plant Cell Rep 39(5):589–595
- Zhang Y, Gao S-y, Liu H-h, Zhang X-l, Zeng A-s, Wang J-j, Hou X-l, Li Y (2020b) cDNA-AFLP analysis of differentially expressed genes during microspore embryogenesis in non-heading Chinese cabbage. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 56(1):18–28
- Zhang L, Chu Q-Q, Jiang Y-L, Fu C, Lei Y-D (2021a) Impacts of climate change on drought risk of winter wheat in the North China Plain. J Integr Agric 20(10):2601–2612
- Zhang X, Chen J, Feng K, Wang N, Zhang S, Ma H, Ge C, Shen Q, Liu R, Zhao X (2021b) Widely targeted metabolomics reveals the different metabolic changes in leaves and roots of two cotton varieties under drought stress. J Agron Crop Sci
- Zhou L, Yarra R (2021) Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of bZIP transcription factors in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) under abiotic stress. Protoplasma:1–15
- Zhou Z, Jiang Y, Wang Z, Gou Z, Lyu J, Li W, Yu Y, Shu L, Zhao Y, Ma Y (2015) Resequencing 302 wild and cultivated accessions identifies genes related to domestication and improvement in soybean. Nat Biotechnol 33(4):408–414
- Zhou S, Zhang YK, Kremling KA, Ding Y, Bennett JS, Bae JS, Kim DK, Ackerman HH, Kolomiets MV, Schmelz EA (2019) Ethylene signaling regulates natural variation in the abundance of antifungal acetylated diferuloylsucroses and *Fusarium graminearum* resistance in maize seedling roots. New Phytol 221(4):2096–2111
- Zhu D, Luo F, Zou R, Liu J, Yan Y (2021) Integrated physiological and chloroplast proteome analysis of wheat seedling leaves under salt and osmotic stresses. J Proteomics 234:104097



Chapter 4 The Applications of Genomics and Transcriptomics Approaches for Biotic Stress Tolerance in Crops

V. M. Malathi, M. Amrutha Lakshmi, and Sona Charles

Contents

4.1	Introdu	iction	94			
4.2	Biotic	Biotic Stress				
	4.2.1	Biotic Stress: General Concepts	95			
	4.2.2	The Impact of Biotic Stress in Crop Production and Productivity	95			
	4.2.3	Mechanism of Plant Defence Responses to Biotic Stress	96			
4.3	Manag	Aanagement of Biotic Stress.				
	4.3.1	Challenges and Opportunities	99			
	4.3.2	Breeding for Resistant Varieties.	100			
4.4	Omics	Technologies: A Paradigm Shift in Breeding Approaches	100			
	4.4.1	Generations of Sequencers.	101			
	4.4.2	Genomics	101			
	4.4.3	Transcriptomics	102			
	4.4.4	Bioinformatics Tools for Transcriptomics.	103			
	4.4.5	Artificial Intelligence-Based Prediction Methods	103			
	4.4.6	Data Integration and Knowledge Discovery	105			
4.5	Recent	Achievements and Applications of Omics Tools for Biotic Stress Tolerance	106			
	4.5.1	Application of Genomics in Biotic Stress Tolerance	106			
	4.5.2	Application of Transcriptomics in Biotic Stress Tolerance	108			
4.6	Conclu	ision	115			
Refe	rences.		115			

*All authors have equally contributed to this chapter.

V. M. Malathi

Biochemistry Section, ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Hyderabad, Telengana, India

M. A. Lakshmi Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR-Indian Institute of Oil Palm Research, Pedavegi, Andhra Pradesh, India

S. Charles (🖂)

Crop Improvement and Biotechnology Division, ICAR-Indian Institute of Spices Research, Vellimadukunnu, Kozhikode, Kerala, India e-mail: sona.charles@icar.gov.in

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_4

4.1 Introduction

One of the major challenges faced by the twenty-first-century agriculture relates to the ever-increasing human population worldwide and the subsequent food requirements. Presently, 820 million people among the global population of 7.3 billion experience chronic hunger; with the population expected to reach 9 billion by 2050, the problem of food security may get even more exacerbated. In order to meet the global food needs by 2050, at least 70% rise in food production has been predicted. Furthermore, there is a need to double the food production in the developing countries of Asia and Africa, where the future population increase is predicted to be more concentrated (Sharma et al. 2017). Owing to the fact that mankind is primarily relied upon plant-based diets, enhancing crop productivity in a sustainable manner is the need of the hour. Crop productivity is often hindered by several factors including both biotic and abiotic stresses. In addition, plants, in its natural habitats, are subjected to a wide array of stresses throughout their life cycle. This comprises both the abiotic (physicochemical) and the biotic stresses. The major abiotic stress factors include drought, cold, heat, UV radiation and high salinity, while biotic stress includes the damages caused by other living organisms, viz. pests and pathogens. Biotic stress is regarded as one of the important causes of global crop losses accounting for about 35% of the total food production (Bainsla and Meena 2016).

In order to cope with the stresses, plants have evolved a robust defence mechanism. Plant responses to biotic stress are highly complex and involve the regulation and expression of a wide array of resistance-related genes and changes at physiological, biochemical, and molecular levels culminating in the tolerance and/or resistance to the biotic stressors (Boyko and Kovalchuk 2008; Li et al. 2019). Yet, the degree of tolerance to various biotic stressors varies widely between different plants. On the counterpart, the pests and pathogens can quickly acquire new virulence factors, overcoming the host resistance. Hence, it is highly essential to improve host plant defence against biotic stressors in order to prevent huge crop yield losses and attain sustainable food production.

Understanding the host plant response to biotic stress and the underlying aspects would pave the way for breeding crop varieties with improved biotic stress tolerance. Breeding for biotic stress tolerance is an indispensable part of most crop improvement programmes. Conventional breeding strategies to develop stresstolerant crops are now being synergized by various biotechnological tools including molecular markers and omics-based approaches. Recently, the application of genomic and transcriptomic tools has paved the way for better understanding of stress tolerance in model and non-model crops. Over the past decade, there has been an explosion of publicly available *omics* resources that could provide an in-depth understanding of molecular aspects in plant biology research, including the stress tolerance studies. Further, to completely exploit the often heterogeneous and expanding data, bioinformatics tools are continuously developed and upgraded to deal with state-of-the-art sequencing technologies. Analytical methods in bioinformatics are inseparable components in extracting the wealth of data in genome and transcriptome analysis, evolutionary studies, comparative genomics and

genome-wide association studies. Also, transcriptomic datasets have a predictive potential for tissue-specific or condition-specific classification and gene or biomarker identification. With the increasingly accessible multi-omics datasets, the challenge lies in the aptitude to combinatorically analyse the data. In this chapter, we will discuss the various biotic stresses and their responses by plants and how the high-throughput multi-omics approaches can impact studies on biotic stress tolerance in economically important crops. We will also cover the scope of emerging artificial intelligence-based methods in stress biology.

4.2 Biotic Stress

4.2.1 Biotic Stress: General Concepts

The term biotic stress refers to the damage caused to plants by other living entities, including weeds, birds, insect pests, mites, nematodes and pathogenic microorganisms such as bacteria, virus, fungi, etc. Among the biotic stressors, most damage to plants is caused by the pathogens and insect pests. Bacterial and fungal pathogens are capable of inducing a number of symptoms including galls, blights, soft rots, vascular wilts, leaf spots and cankers. Viral pathogens can cause local lesions as well as systemic damage to the plants that is manifested as stunting and chlorosis, among other symptoms. Nematode parasites attack various plant parts and produce symptoms related to nutrient deficiency, viz. stunting and wilting (Schumann and D'Arcy 2006; Doughari 2015; Gimenez et al. 2018). Weeds compete for sunlight, water, nutrients and space with crops. Furthermore, they serve as a breeding ground for insects and pathogens that attack crop plants. The virulence factors of these pathogenic microorganisms may vary widely and include proteins, intra- or extracellular toxins and/or RNA that attacks the plant's immune system. Insect pests and mites are the other major biotic stressors that attack plants. Insect pests can be either monophagous (feeding on a single host) or polyphagous. Most insect pests are surface feeders impairing foliage through chewing (Plutella xylostella, a pest of cruciferous crops), piercing or sucking (mealy bugs), while some are subsurface feeders which cause desiccation damage by attacking roots (grubs) (Clark and Kenna 2010). Besides, many insects are viral vectors too; for instance, the brown planthopper, Nilaparvata lugens (Stål), transmits ragged stunt and grassy stunt virus.

4.2.2 The Impact of Biotic Stress in Crop Production and Productivity

Biotic stresses have a significant impact on the availability and safety of plants for human and animal consumption. They are serious stumbling blocks to global food production combined with post-harvest spoilage and quality deterioration, with an

			Yield	
Biotic stress	Causative agent	Crop	loss	References
Fungus	Blast (Magnaporthe oryzae)	Rice	10-30%	Wilson and Talbot (2009)
Bacteria	Wilt (Ralstonia solanacearum)	Potato	50%	Mukherjee and Dasgupta (1989)
Virus	Cassava mosaic virus	Tapioca	70%	Fargette and Fauquet (1988)
Viroid	Potato spindle tuber viroid	Potato	59%	Singh and Kaur (2014)
Phytoplasma	Root wilt	Coconut	35-80%	Ramjegathesh et al. (2012)
Insect	Fall armyworm (Spodoptera frugiperda)	Maize	15–73%	Day et al. (2017)
Nematode	Rice root-knot nematode (<i>M. graminicola</i>)	Rice	15-30%	Khan and Ahamad (2020)
Weeds	Striga asiatica	Sorghum	5 to 90%	Obilana and Ramaiah (1992)

Table 4.1 Yield losses due to biotic stress

estimated yield loss of over 40% resulting in huge economic losses (Oerke 2006; Savary et al. 2019). The extent and severity of biotic stress damages vary from crop to crop and location to location. For instance, among crops, global attainable yield loss due to pests ranged from 50% in wheat to greater than 80% in cotton (Oerke 2006). The impact of various biotic agents in terms of crop loss is depicted in Table 4.1.

It is noteworthy that diseases can cause an annual estimated loss of 10–16% of the global harvest to the tune of US\$220 billion (Strange and Scott 2005; Oerke 2006). On the other hand, an estimated 18–20% of annual crop production at a value of \$ 470 billion has been reportedly destroyed by arthropod pests globally, with a greater proportion of the losses in the developing countries. On the global scale, the projected yield loss by plant parasitic nematodes is 12.3%, amounting to \$157 billion dollars. Weeds account for an annual financial loss of 3.3 billion, USD 11 billion and USD 33 billion in Australia, India and the USA, respectively (Llewellyn et al. 2016; Gharde et al. 2018; Pimentel et al. 2005). Therefore, a key aspect of food security is timely and effective management of aforementioned biotic stresses which often disproportionately impact the most vulnerable and health-disparate populations locally and globally.

4.2.3 Mechanism of Plant Defence Responses to Biotic Stress

Biotic stress is known to co-exist since the evolution of plants, and during these years, plants have developed a sophisticated defence system to overcome the deleterious effects of biotic stress. Plant defence to biotic stress is highly dynamic and includes the constitutive and induced responses (Fig. 4.1). Once a plant senses any



Fig. 4.1 Interplay of various plant defence mechanisms

kind of biotic invasion, a series of cellular and molecular processes are triggered to surmount detrimental effects on its growth and survival.

Plant constitutive defence includes various physical barriers, including cuticle, suberin coat and surface waxes, which help block the entry of various pathogens including fungi and bacteria and structural features including trichomes, spines and thorns to hinder or deter insect pests. These physical barriers serve as passive front-line defence against biotic stress. Also, plants are capable of producing a wide range of defensive chemicals which provide protection against herbivory and microbial invasion. Some of these chemicals are constitutively produced by the plants and include peptides, proteins, protease inhibitors and other organic compounds called secondary metabolites with anti-nutritional or toxic properties (Taiz and Zeiger 2006; Santamaria et al. 2013).

Other mechanisms of defence that are induced upon an attack by a herbivore or microbial pathogen are referred to as induced defence, and it includes the local response (response primarily produced at the site of infestation) and the systemic response (response produced in the distal undamaged tissue of the plant) (Santamaria et al. 2013). Induction of plant response often requires appropriate receptors that perceive the biotic invasion and in turn triggers the signal transduction pathways leading to the expression of appropriate genes involved in defence response. The biotic defence response in plants is known to be triggered by two levels of pathogen recognition. The first level of response, referred to as the pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI), involves the plant pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize the pathogen-associated molecular

patterns (PAMPs), which are molecular signatures of the pathogen. PTI is also triggered when the PRRs recognize the damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are molecules produced by damaged plant cells or those plant cells undergoing pathogen invasion (Gimenez et al. 2018; Iqbal et al. 2021; Rato et al. 2021). In case of insect herbivores, PRRs recognize the conserved herbivoreassociated elicitors (HAEs), herbivore-associated molecular patterns (HAMPs) or herbivore effectors. In the more robust second level, specific effectors from pathogens and herbivores (Avr proteins) are recognized by the plant resistance (R) proteins (Dangl and McDowell 2006). This type of defence is called the effector-triggered immunity (ETI). Most R gene products have a specific domain with conserved nucleotide-binding site (NBS) and also a leucine-rich repeat (LRR) involved in the recognition of pathogen effectors (Dodds and Rathjen 2010).

Initial events that occur upon the sensing of biotic stress by plants include ion imbalances leading to variations in the membrane potentials. Precisely, PTI and ETI initially trigger the activation of membrane channels with subsequent enhancement in the cytosolic calcium (Ca^{2+}) concentrations. Further, the Ca^{2+} sensors in the cells which are Ca²⁺-binding proteins sense the Ca²⁺ ions modulating the downstream cascade which includes several transcriptional activation events generating specific defence responses. Calmodulin (CaM), CaM-like proteins (CMLs) and Ca2+dependent kinases (CDPKs) are among the well-identified Ca²⁺ sensors (Santamaria et al. 2013; Iqbal et al. 2021). The generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are among the other early responses triggered by PTI and ETI (Muthamilarasan and Prasad 2013). Activated MAPKs modulate the downstream responses which includes phosphorylation of a number of transcription factors that regulate the expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins as well as the phytohormones, viz. salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (Nishad et al. 2020). Abscisic acid (ABA), auxin, brassinosteroids (BRs), cytokinins (CK), gibberellic acid, etc. are among the other hormonal molecules involved in the regulation of plant immune response. ETI shares downstream signalling cascades with PTI; however the former stimulates hypersensitive responses (HRs) in the infected cells and often results in programmed cell death (PCD), thus eliciting a long-lasting response (Mur et al. 2008; Rato et al. 2021).

Phytohormones including SA, JA and ET are components of downstream signalling cascades induced by PTI and ETI and play important roles in regulating the defence responses to biotic agents including pathogens. SA is involved in stimulating the more robust defence systemic acquired resistance (SAR), often part of R gene downstream response, which triggers the expression of PR genes, generating systemic resistance against a broad spectrum of pathogens. The phytohormone pathways including those of SA, JA and ET often interact and elicit plant responses against a number of pathogens (Glazebrook 2005; Iqbal et al. 2021).

Owing to their diverse feeding habits, plant responses to insect herbivores are highly complex and include both direct and indirect responses. Direct responses involve repairing the tissue damage caused by the herbivores and activation of defence mechanisms for preventing future attacks. The indirect response includes the release of volatile organics that attract the natural enemies of the biotic agents especially herbivores, thereby strengthening the defence. These volatiles also serve as signals to trigger defence in the neighbouring plants still not encountered with the pest or pathogen (Alba et al. 2012). Responses to insect pests often involve activation of local or systemic responses that triggers signalling pathways involving JA, systemin and oligogalacturonoids (OGAs). among others (Fürstenberg-Hägg et al. 2013; Gimenez et al. 2018). Among the phytohormones, JA plays a pivotal role in both direct and indirect responses to herbivores; plant cells transduce JA signals into the activation of transcriptional regulation of defence genes, with many dependent on the MAP kinase pathway. SA and ET are among the other hormones involved in the expression of plant defences against herbivores (Santamaria et al. 2013). Plants also exhibit indirect response to herbivore attack by producing an array of volatiles from the lipoxygenase (LOX) and terpenoid signalling pathways that repel the herbivore or attract its natural enemies (Iqbal et al. 2021). Furthermore, a number defensive proteins that interfere with insect digestion and development including protein/enzyme inhibitors, lectins, chitinase and polyphenol oxidases are produced as a response against herbivore attack (Fürstenberg-Hägg et al. 2013).

These resistance strategies help the plants combat various biotic stressors. The term 'biotic stress tolerance' refers to the ability of the host to compensate in part for the fitness costs brought about by the biotic stressors, i.e. the ability of the plants to survive and reproduce under biotic stress (Redondo-Gomez 2013). Despite the robust resistance strategies evolved by plants to overcome biotic stress, economic losses due to the damage caused by biotic stressors are still high. Therefore, development of biotic stress-tolerant crops is one of the major aspects of crop improvement programmes.

4.3 Management of Biotic Stress

4.3.1 Challenges and Opportunities

To ensure food security and safety, there is an urgent and inevitable demand of effective management and control of biotic stresses in crops in the light of everincreasing global population. Major management strategies that are being followed are farming practices, application of chemical and biological agents and breeding of resistant varieties. However, effectiveness of these strategies is confronted by multiple challenges like evolution of novel variants of pathogens/pests, wide host range and narrow genetic base of the cultivated varieties in crops. Despite their effectiveness, agrochemicals can be a threat to human health, food safety and the environment. Hence, exploitation of biological control methods coupled with breeding of resistant varieties offer cost-effective, eco-friendly and sustainable strategy to combat biotic stresses.

4.3.2 Breeding for Resistant Varieties

Over the years, various pursuits have been made to develop new cultivars that are resistant to several biotic stresses by conventional breeding. However, breeders have faced significant challenges in the process, like a longer breeding cycle, laborious selection process and linkage drag. Moreover, it could fetch only temporary success due to fast-evolving pests and pathogens, narrow genetic base and scarcity of durable resistance sources leading to the breakdown of resistance in the field (Mgonja et al. 2016). Abiotic stresses, such as drought, also increase the likelihood of resistance breakdown (Gupta et al. 2017). Hence, there is a need of adopting strategies for the development of durable resistance in crops, which is a key to sustainable management of biotic stresses. Gene staking/pyramiding of multiple R genes or allele of a major R gene can provide an excellent strategy for the attainment of broad-spectrum, dynamic and durable resistance against different strains of pest and pathogens. Therefore, exploring new resistant genes and exploiting intrinsic genetic defence resources are the imperative tasks both in practice and theory. Recent breakthroughs in molecular genetics and biotechnology have bestowed novel tools and technologies for breeders to develop resistant varieties through a precise and durable strategy known as molecular breeding. Over the past decades, we have seen the successful use of advanced molecular and genomic tools like molecular markers, expressed sequence tags (ESTs), microarrays, RNA-Seq and genetic transformation and genome editing methods to explore the genetic basis of stress tolerance and eventually to develop improved crop cultivars.

4.4 Omics Technologies: A Paradigm Shift in Breeding Approaches

Recent advances in next-generation sequencing technologies have shed light on the genomic sequences, genes and pathways involved in the mechanism of stress response as well as tolerance. Fast and memory-efficient computational tools have become the need of the hour to perform complex operations on genomes and transcriptomes. Bioinformatics tools play a major role in stress management through computational algorithms to extract meaningful knowledge from high volume of data generated through state-of-the-art sequencing methods. The opportunities in integration of omics data (also known as multi-omics/integromics/panomics) are plentiful in this era of affordable data generation technologies.

Forthcoming of omics resources in combination with efficient computational algorithms has shed light on novel plant resistance genes in the past years. Analysis of resistance gene datasets and databases has aided in facilitating the development of diagnostic tests and breeding strategies. Omics data warrants a greener revolution, according to the guidelines outlined by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (Pérez-de-Castro et al. 2012).

4.4.1 **Generations of Sequencers**

The evolution of sequencing technology began in 1977 when Frederick Sanger developed the chain termination method which relied on DNA polymerase. This method was used in sequencing the complete genome of bacteriophage PhiX174. A chemical-based dideoxy method was developed by Maxam and Gilbert in 1977 that cut DNA at specific bases. The chain termination method and dideoxy technique constituted the first generation of sequencing technology and could produce read lengths less than 1 kb. Following the successful efforts using first-generation technologies, cheaper and faster alternatives were sought that ushered to the next generation which attempted to parallelize sequencing reactions. Roche 454 Pyrosequencing, Illumina (sequencing by synthesis) and SOLiD (sequencing by ligation) come under second-generation sequencers. The third-generation singlemolecule real-time (SMRT) sequencers attempted to reduce the cost of sequencing. Pacific Biosciences, Helicos sequencing and Oxford Nanopore Technologies are pioneers in SMRT which produced long reads. Long-read sequencing can provide gapless assembly of sequences with minimal loss of information. Highly efficient computational algorithms are being developed for accurate interrogation and extraction of meaningful pattern from the genomic data to answer the questions of biological context. The richness of the information derived from sequencers is ever increasing, and the cost is declining rapidly indicating a biological data boom in the near future.

4.4.2 **Genomics**

Plant genomes are characterized by their large size, gene composition, number of repetitive sequences and polyploid nature indicating that all plant genomes are not equally sequencable. Genomic approaches have been infiltrating into almost every aspect of plant science. Genomics act as a bridge in between the genotype and phenotype of plants. Out of the 39,100 plant species, only around 600 complete plant genome assemblies are available (Kersey 2019). Among plant genomes, Arabidopsis thaliana remains the gold standard with well-annotated five chromosomes and organellar genomes with only a gap of 161 bp. The largest plant genome assembly is that of sugar pine (Stevens et al. 2016). Several genome projects such as 10KP Project (Twyford 2018) and Earth BioGenome Project (Lewin et al. 2018) are working towards sequencing of plant genomes. Genome sequencing is an inevitable component of plant research that can help uncover pathways and genes in precision agriculture practices.

4.4.3 Transcriptomics

Transcriptome is the small percentage of genome which gets transcribed (Frith et al. 2005). In other words, it is the link between the genome and function of a gene. The earliest attempts to sequence the transcriptome began in the 1990s. Microarray and RNA-Seq are two contemporary technologies to characterize the transcriptome. Microarrays use predetermined capture sequences called probes, while RNA-Seq uses high-throughput sequencing to quantify the sequences. Gene regulation may be well understood by measuring the expression at different time points, conditions or tissues.

Quantification of RNA molecules is vital in understanding the condition-specific behaviour of plants. A cDNA library is prepared from replicated samples after enrichment of mRNAs by rRNA depletion/polyA selection/RNA capture methods. This is followed by fragmentation of cDNA of various lengths. In the presence of longer fragments, paired end sequencing may be considered. Appropriate sequencing technologies are applied to the prepared samples. Transcriptomic studies are inevitable to identify which genes are turned on or off in a particular condition.

The avalanche of data generated from genomic studies remains obsolete until proper data mining and inference algorithms are applied to deduce meaningful patterns from them. Despite the evolving knowledge base in plant stress, the underlying factors contributing to the response mechanisms have not been fully understood. Some of the challenges of exploring expression datasets are as follows:

- (a) Extracting genes that contribute to a particular condition: In experimental conditions where we have controls and samples treated under biotic stress conditions, the aim is to identify genes that are activated or inactivated during the treatment. Tools to infer differential gene expression pattern on count data are also developed. This includes popular R-based tools such as DeSeq2, edgeR and limma.
- (b) Identify relationships between genes: A group of genes whose expression pattern is similar across all samples under similar conditions are co-expressed genes. It is hypothesized and proven that genes that display similar expression pattern belong to a common biological pathway. The most commonly used similarity metrices to compare the expression of a pair of genes include Pearson correlation, Euclidian distance and mutual information, but are not limited to these. Clustering algorithms extract groups of similar genes from transcriptomic data.
- (c) Infer causal relationships between genes: Causal inference assumes that a change in expression values will subsequently bring about a change in another gene, if they have common regulators. There is a time lag between the direct targets of regulated and the downstream targets. Causal inference takes into consideration the strength and directionality of the response genes.
- (d) Identify expression patterns between regulator and target: This type of pattern identification problems considers the Boolean expression concept of the target and regulator. Transcriptional regulators of plants include DNA-binding tran-



Fig. 4.2 Evolution and features of sequencing technologies

scription factors that act as activators or repressors and co-factors that interact with DNA-binding TFs that activate or co-repress RNA synthesis (Moore et al. 2011). The regulator gene may be assigned the states *on/off* for the expressions active/inactive or high/low. The expression pattern is then propagated to the target genes of the network as Boolean states. Hence in response to a stress stimulus, the plant immunity is rapidly activated, and hundreds of downstream genes are massively reprogrammed.

(e) Explore the dynamic nature of transcriptional network: To explore the dynamicity of a network, ordinary differential equations are used to model the changes in gene expression either by interpolation or extrapolation (Fig. 4.2).

4.4.4 Bioinformatics Tools for Transcriptomics

In order to harness the complete potential of hidden information in transcriptomic and genomic datasets, several computational tools have been developed (Table 4.2).

4.4.5 Artificial Intelligence-Based Prediction Methods

Artificial intelligence methods are increasingly used in predicting complex biological phenomena using high-quality training data. Prediction methods are highly useful in bringing field-scale observations to genome-scale data. Machine learning methods encompass data-driven predictions and are widely used in analysing big data in agricultural research.
Tool	Hypothesis	References
FASTQC	Quality control checks on raw sequence data	https://www.bioinformatics. babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/
Cutadapt	Adapter trimming	Martin (2011)
Trim galore!	Adapter trimming and quality control	https://www.bioinformatics. babraham. ac.uk/projects/trim_galore/
PRINSEQ	Sequence-based statistics	Schmieder and Edwards (2011)
UCHIME	Detection of chimeric sequences	Edgar et al. (2011)
SVASeq	Batch effect correction	Leek (2014)
Bowtie	Short-read aligner	Langmead et al. (2009)
BWA	Short-read aligner	Li and Durbin (2009)
HISAT	Spliced aligner	Kim et al. (2015)
STAR	De novo aligner for long reads	Dobin et al. (2013)
featuresCount	Read quantifier	Liao et al. (2014)
Kallisto	Calculate read abundance	Bray et al. (2016)
DeSeq2	Geometric normalization strategy	Love et al. (2014)
edgeR	Trimmed mean of M- values is computed as the weighted mean of log ratios between this test and the reference	Robinson et al. (2010)
Limma	Quantile normalization method and uses weighted mean of log ratio-based method	Smyth (2005)

 Table 4.2 Computational tools equipped to process raw sequence data to provide biologically meaningful insights

Transcriptome analysis reveals differentially expressed genes (DEGs) under various environmental conditions. A machine learning-based gene classification approach has been devised using DEGs in biotic and abiotic stress conditions in rice (Shaik and Ramakrishna 2014). Gene prioritization using machine learning has been performed in *Arabidopsis* and rice using sequence annotation and protein interaction network information (Lin et al. 2019). Time series analysis of multiple stress types was predicted using neural networks in *Arabidopsis*. The analysis method named StressGenePred utilizes two prediction models, namely, biomarker model and stress-type model (Kang et al. 2019).

Development of a model that can explain and quantify stress will have a significant impact in scientific crop research, crop improvement and plant breeding. Application of deep learning in agriculture has led to the identification of biotic stress in apple (AlexNet, GoogLeNet, VGGNet-16, ResNet-20 algorithms), banana (LeNet), cassava (Inception-v3, ImageNet), olive (LeNet), cucumber (CNN), tomato (AlexNet, ZFNet, VGG-16, GoogLeNet, ResNet-50, ResNet-101, ResNetXt-101, Faster RCNN, R-FCN, SSD), maize (CNN), wheat (VGG-FCN, VGG-CNN) and radish (VGG-A, CNN). However, integration of image data along with multi-omics datasets will allow better feature selection in the models.

4.4.6 Data Integration and Knowledge Discovery

Recent advances in bioinformatics resources including software, databases and web servers have brought a major change in plant stress research. In the last few decades, massive data emerging from stress-associated studies in plants require appropriate management and analysis. These resources enable better interpretation of data generated through several experiments and prove useful for stress biology community. With a rapid progress in sequencing technologies producing high-throughput massive data, it is essential to integrate the information in public secondary databases of relevant themes.

Data integration can be considered as an important aspect of bioinformatics. The comprehensive understanding of genome functionalities requires a multidimensional perspective of several omics layers. The ultimate aim of any data integration platform should be to extract meaningful knowledge from multiple datasets like genomics, proteomics and metabolomics to incorporate data that can be hardly extracted from a single experimental source. Mapping the relationships among various components of the transcriptome such as methylome and non-coding RNAs to gene expression is integral to strengthen the assumptions derived from genomic and transcriptomic studies. Integration of multi-omics data requires the experimental approaches to be considerably unbiased and how each dataset is generated. Several databases have been developed to integrate the available information regarding abiotic stress in one single platform. The list of biotic stress gene databases is summarized in Table 4.3.

Resources	Description	References
Plant stress gene database	Stress-related genes across 11 species	http://ccbb.jnu.ac.in/ stressgenes/
The Arabidopsis stress responsive gene database	Stress-related genes in Arabidopsis thaliana	Borkotoky et al. (2013)
Arabidopsis stress responsive transcription factor database	Stress-related transcription factors	Shameer et al. (2009)
STIFDB2	Stress-responsive genes in Arabidopsis thaliana and Oryza sativa	Naika et al. (2013)
Plant stress protein database	Manually curated stress protein from 134 species	Anil Kumar et al. (2014)
Plant PhysioSpace	Compare response to stress in various plant species	Esfahani et al. (2020)
Plant stress RNA-Seq nexus	Expression profiles of coding and non-coding stress-related transcripts	Li et al. (2018)

 Table
 4.3
 Online resources for accessing stress-related data derived from genomic and transcriptomic methods

4.5 Recent Achievements and Applications of Omics Tools for Biotic Stress Tolerance

4.5.1 Application of Genomics in Biotic Stress Tolerance

Genome-based approaches are highly useful in detecting genetic variation which enhances breeding efficiency and thus contributes to crop improvement. Genomic approaches also facilitate to decipher the unexplored genetic mechanisms of stress tolerance and enable the development of stress-tolerant crop varieties. Structural and functional genomic aspects have been widely employed in plant biotic stress tolerance studies since the past few decades. Construction of physical and genetic maps to identify traits of interest is dealt with structural genomics, while functional genomics involves the study of gene functions with regard to the trait of interest.

Molecular markers, viz. restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), simple sequence repeats (SSRs), selectively amplified microsatellite polymorphic locus (SAMPL), sequence-related amplified polymorphism (SRAP), target region amplification polymorphism (TRAP) and SNPs, are among the genomic tools widely applied for tagging and mapping the genes of interest and their further utilization in targeted breeding. With the advancements in NGS and the high-throughput sequence analysis platforms being freely available, SNPs became the preferred markers for large-scale genotyping and genomics-assisted breeding (Muthamilarasan et al. 2019). SNPs, which are the single nucleotide variations in the genome of an organism, enable survey of a large number of sites in a given DNA sequence and have been extensively deployed in plant stress tolerance studies, among others. Array-based genotyping and genotyping by sequencing (GBS) are the two most important techniques for SNP detection (Kaur et al. 2021).

The various genome-wide markers are further utilized in genetic mapping. Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping and association mapping are important tools to understand the genetic basis of phenotypic variation (Kloth et al. 2012). Owing to higher mapping resolution, association mapping has gathered momentum among breeders for genetic mapping studies. Candidate genome association mapping (identification of SNPs in candidate genes responsible for the phenotypic variation) and genome-wide association (GWA) mapping (genome-wide analysis of SNPs and its correlation with various complex traits) are the two broad categories of association studies. GWA mapping has emerged as an important genomic tool that is useful to understand multiple traits in crops including those related to single or multiple stresses (Challa and Neelapu 2018). GWAS also provides insights on structural variants (SVs) that are pivotal in regulating several crop traits. Hence, GWAS is being widely applied in the tolerance of crops to various stresses. The association between genetic variation and phenotypic trait of interest, viz. biotic stress tolerance, can be further exploited for marker-assisted selection (MAS) in breeding programmes. Further, the enhancement in hybrid breeding has been achieved through MAS with GBS. GBS enables the discovery of polymorphisms

and simultaneously obtains the genotypic information across the whole population of interest, especially for high diversity species. This process employs restriction enzyme-based complexity reduction coupled with DNA-barcoded adapters to generate multiplex libraries of samples for NGS (Elshire et al. 2011).

Functional genomics encompasses the functional characterization of genes of interest, for instance, stress-responsive genes. With the recent developments in sequencing technologies, high-quality genome sequences of a wide array of crops were made available. For example, the PacBio sequencing platform with long single-molecule reads, viz. >5 kb, provides better assembly of genomes with reduced gaps. Genome sequences of crops provide access to genes, thereby enabling isolation of genes for functional characterization (Muthamilarasan et al. 2019). Also comparative genomics enables the identification of mutants related to various traits in crops including disease resistance. The past few studies involving application of genomic approaches for deciphering biotic stress tolerance in plants are described here.

Application of GWAS could accomplish the identification of genomic regions for seedling resistance as well as adult plant resistance (APR) against yellow rust of wheat (Rosewarne et al. 2013; Zegeye et al. 2014; Jighly et al. 2015). Similarly, in wheat pre-breeding lines derived from various exotic crosses, GWAS opened the avenue for identification of 14 SNP markers and 7 haplotypes associated with yellow rust which can be promising targets for marker-assisted selection (Ledesma-Ramírez et al. 2019). GWAS can also be successfully employed to understand tritrophic interactions which allow plants to attract potential natural enemies against infestation by insect pests. Recently, GWAS involving 146 maize genotypes was conducted to gain insights on the plant trait of emitting herbivore-induced plant volatiles (HIPVs) to attract the natural enemy, Cotesia sesamiae, upon exposure to the stem borer, Chilo partellus eggs. The study identified 101 marker trait associations, many of which are adjacent to defence -related genes, viz. genes involved in the JA-defence pathway, terpene biosynthesis, benzoxazinone synthesis and known resistance genes (maize insect resistance 1), thus revealing the maize genomic regions associated with indirect defence (Tamiru et al. 2020). Further, Manivannan et al. (2021) could discover SNP markers and constructed linkage map from F5 population of pepper with contrasting parents for powdery mildew resistance, viz. AR1 (PM resistant) and TF68 (PM sensitive) by high-throughput GBS.

The advent of pathogenomics could significantly unravel genome evolution and mechanism of pathogenesis which can pave the way for the sustainable deployment of broad-spectrum and durable resistance to fast-evolving pathogens. For instance, Firrao et al. (2018) could reveal genomic structural variations affecting virulence clonal expansion of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *actinidiae* (Psa) biovar 3 in Europe through the analysis of Illumina sequencing datasets of 11 European and 1 non-European Psa genomes. In a similar manner, the genome-wide analysis of the plant pathogenic bacteria *Ralstonia solanacearum* was performed by Cho et al. (2019). Similarly, the study conducted by Vleeshouwers et al. (2008) demonstrated that *Phytophthora* effector genomics (effector-omics) greatly accelerates discovery and

functional profiling of potato disease resistance and *Phytophthora infestans* avirulence genes.

Comparative genome sequencing between highly resistant (Tetep and Tadukan) and susceptible (HR-12 and Co-39) *indica* rice cultivars against *Magnaporthe oryzae* could identify prominent blast-resistant genes *Pi-ta* and *Pi54* which can be further exploited in marker-assisted breeding programme (Mahesh et al. 2016). To decipher the changes in gene expression in cucumber after aphid attack and the candidate genes that enhance resistance to the pest, the whole genome of aphidresistant cucumber cultivar was analysed through digital gene expression (DGE). The studies identified several target genes involved in aphid resistance in cucumber, viz. genes encoding LRR proteins (Liang et al. 2015).

4.5.2 Application of Transcriptomics in Biotic Stress Tolerance

The transcriptome reveals the expression levels of genes in an organism and hence can provide meaningful insights on plant tolerance to stress conditions (Wang et al. 2020). Transcriptomic analyses have been widely used to study biotic stress tolerance in plants. Monitoring of the dynamics of SA, JA and ET signalling in *A. thaliana* after infestation by a set of pathogens and pests revealed that the kinetics of phytohormone signalling varies greatly with each host-attacker combination. Each of the host-attacker combination signal signatures was translated into a wide array of transcriptional alterations which involved the overexpression of stress-related genes. The transcriptomic profiles induced by pathogens and pests with different modes of infestation can overlap with each other (De Vos et al. 2005).

Transcriptomics approaches can be broadly classified into three, based on their functional applicability, and are described as follows and summarized in Table 4.4.

4.5.2.1 Identification of Disease-Resistant Gene, Susceptibility Genes and Defence Regulatory Genes

Transcriptomic tools enable better understanding of mechanism under pinning molecular and physiological basis of plant-pest interactions. It provides pristine knowledge on resistance mechanism of R gene and defence regulatory network in plants. It helps in exploring potential novel R genes that can be used for developing resistant varieties through conventional and/or molecular breeding. The genes upregulated in resistant varieties can be targeted for improvement through molecular breeding and transgenic approaches. On the other hand, genes that are upregulated in susceptibility reaction against disease could be potential targets for silencing by T-DNA insertion, transposon tagging and RNAi and genome editing. The study of expression profiles of host and pathogen enables identification of virulence genes in the pathogen and effector target sites in the host cells (Westermann et al. 2012;

		Comparative		
Crons	Biotic agent	strategy	Findings	References
Pathogen	Biotie ugent	stategy	1 manigo	references
Rice	Bacterial leaf blight	Resistant vs susceptible	Upregulation of genes encoding peroxidase, phytosulfokinase, RLKs, serine/threonine kinase, TFs (WRKY, NAC, MYB, bZIP, AP2/ERF, etc.) and phytohormones in resistant line	Tariq et al. (2018)
Rice	Blast (Magnaporthe oryzae)	Resistant vs susceptible	Higher expression of genes involved in PTI such as brassinolide- insensitive 1, flagellin- sensitive 2 and elongation factor Tu receptor, ethylene (ET) biosynthesis and signalling leading to partial resistance <i>Pi21</i> -RNAi line	Zhang et al. (2018)
Wheat	Stripe rust (<i>Puccinia</i> striiformis f. sp. tritici)	Inoculated vs uninoculated	Identified genes regulating the mechanisms of lignification, reactive oxygen species and sugar, respectively, are involved in adult plant resistance	Hao et al. (2016)
Wheat	Powdery mildew	Resistant vs susceptible	Developed molecular markers linked to powdery mildew resistance gene Pm4b in F _{2:3} mapping population	Wu et al. (2018)
Wheat	Stripe rust (<i>Puccinia</i> striiformis f. sp. tritici)	Resistant vs susceptible	Constructed a high- density genetic map of wheat and localized the stripe rust resistance gene <i>Yr15</i> to a 0.77 cM interval	Ramirez- Gonzalez et al. (2015)
Wheat	Stripe rust (<i>Puccinia</i> striiformis f. sp. tritici)	Resistant vs susceptible	<i>YrMM58</i> and <i>YrHY1</i> for resistance to stripe rust were mapped in the distal ~16 Mb region on chromosome 2AS	Wang et al. (2018)

		Comparative		
Crops	Biotic agent	strategy	Findings	References
Rice	Bacterial leaf blight (Xanthomonas oryzae pv. Oryzae)	Wild vs cultivated	Identified genes involved in phytohormone signalling, ubiquitin- mediated proteolysis and phenylpropanoid biosynthesis and resistance genes	Cheng et al. (2016)
Rice	Bacterial leaf blight (Xanthomonas oryzae pv. Oryzae)	Virulent vs susceptible	Identified 1235 DEGs at various time points	Wang et al. (2019)
Sorghum	Grain mould (fungal complex)	Resistant vs susceptible	Increased expression of SbLYK5 SbDFN7.1 and SbDFN7.2 in resistant gene	Nida et al. (2021)
Maize	Colletotrichum graminicola	Inoculated vs uninoculated	Defence signalling genes involved in the accumulation of salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) signalling pathways and chromatin modification against pathogen	de Jesus Miranda et al. (2017)
Tomato	Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV)	Resistant vs susceptible	Identification of the role of PR-5 in Sw-7-mediated resistance	Padmanabhan et al. (2019)
Tomato	Bacterial wilt (Ralstonia solanacearum)	Silicon (treated vs untreated)	Upregulation of genes involved in PTI, oxidation resistance, water-deficit stress tolerance and differential expression of multiple hormone-related genes	Jiang et al. (2019)
Potato	Late blight of potato (LBP)	Ethylene (treated vs untreated)	Multiple signalling pathways including ET, salicylic acid, jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, auxin, cytokinin and gibberellin were induced involved in the response to exogenous ET	Yang et al. (2020)

Table 4.4 (continued)

		Comparative		
Crops	Biotic agent	strategy	Findings	References
Canola (B.	Sclerotinia	Resistant vs	Elucidated the role of	Chittem et al.
napus)	sclerotiorum	susceptible	peroxisome-related pathway cell wall degradation and detoxification of host metabolites in pathogenesis	(2020)
Coffee	Rust (<i>Hemileia</i> vastatrix)	Resistant vs susceptible	Unfolded the role of prehaustorial resistance in resistant line	Florez et al. (2017)
Cotton	Cotton leaf curl disease (<i>cotton leaf</i> <i>curl virus</i>)	Wild vs cultivated	Identified multiple genes involved in disease resistance and pathogen defence	Naqvi et al. (2017)
Cabbage	Clubroot (Plasmodiophora brassicae)	Virulent and avirulent in resistant line	Robust activation of ETI in avirulent-resistant reaction	Fu et al. (2019)
Chinese cabbage	Downy mildew (<i>Pseudoperonospora</i> <i>cubensis</i>)	Resistant and susceptible	Expression of more cis- and trans-functional long non-coding RNAs in the resistant lines Identified and functionally characterised candidate resistance-related long non-coding RNA, MSTRG.19915	Zhang et al. (2021)
Ginger	Bacterial wilt (Ralstonia solanacearum)		Identified nine miRNA/ miRTGs as the candidate pairs involved in disease resistance	Snigdha and Prasath (2021)
Sugarcane	Ratoon stunting (<i>Leifsonia xyli</i> subsp. <i>xyli</i>)	Inoculated vs uninoculated	Downregulation of gibberellin response via increased DELLA activity and downregulation of GID1 proteins, coupled with inhibition of photosynthetic processes	Zhu et al. (2021)
Insect pests	3			
Cotton	Aphid and whitefly	Infested vs noninfested	Suppression of genes involved in phytohormone-mediated plant defence response, viz. cationic peroxidase 3, lipoxygenase I, TGA2 and non-specific lipase	Dubey et al. (2013)

Table 4.4 (continued)

		Comparative transcriptome		
Crops	Biotic agent	strategy	Findings	References
Cotton	Whitefly	Resistant vs susceptible	Upregulation of genes encoding protein kinases, transcription factors, metabolite synthesis and phytohormone signalling WRKY40 and copper transport protein were identified as the hub genes in host defence	Li et al. (2016)
Rice	Leaffolder and BPH	Resistant to leaffolder vs moderately resistant to BPH	Activation of genes involved in JA biosynthesis and regulation of shikimate and phenylpropanoid pathways in response to leaffolder and induction of salicylic acid- responsive genes and cellular signalling cascades to BPH	Li et al. (2021)
Wheat	Aphid (Schizaphis graminum)	At various post- infestation times	Upregulation of salicylic acid-mediated pathway and MAPK-WRKY pathway of the antioxidant enzyme peroxidase and superoxide dismutase	Zhang et al. (2020a)
Pepper (Capsicum annum)	Spider mites	Resistant vs susceptible	Mite infestation induces both JA and SA signalling and pathogen-related defence responses including WRKY transcription factors	Zhang et al. (2020b)
Tomato	Tuta absoluta	Resistant vs susceptible	Activation or repression of key transcription factors regulating important defence genes such as those involved in cuticle formation, synthesis of anti-nutritive enzymes, chemical toxins and various secondary metabolites	D'Esposito et al. (2021)

Table 4.4 (continued)

		Comparative		
Crops	Biotic agent	transcriptome	Findings	Pafarancas
Tomato and eggplant	Tuta absoluta	Tomato vs eggplant	Tomato is prone to the pest infestation than eggplant. Genes associated with salicylic acid, PR1b1, NPR1, NPR3, MAPKs and ANP1 families mediate the immunity of eggplant	Chen et al. (2021)
Nematodes			1	
Cotton	Southern root-knot nematode (<i>Meloidogyne</i> <i>incognita</i>)	Resistant vs susceptible	3789 differentially expressed genes out of which a large number of significant genes were downregulated in the susceptible genotypes. The defence response, detoxification and callose deposition genes in the qMi-C11 and qMi-C14 loci were upregulated	Kumar et al. (2019a, b)
Chickpeas	Pratylenchus thornei	Resistant vs susceptible	Members of WRKY and bZIP family of transcription factors were uniquely expressed in the resistant genotypes	Channale et al. (2021)
Rice	Meloidogyne incognita and Meloidogyne graminicola	Inoculated and uninoculated	2062 and 1386 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were identified in response to infection by <i>Meloidogyne</i> graminicola	Zhou et al. (2020)
Wheat	Heterodera avenae	Inoculated and uninoculated	Defence-related genes were downregulated in biotic stress pathways upon infection	Chen et al. (2017)
Pepper	Meloidogyne incognita	Resistant vs susceptible	Identified differentially expressed genes on chromosome P9	Hu et al. (2020)
Sweet potato	Meloidogyne incognita	Resistant vs susceptible	Determined the significant role of peroxidase genes	Sung et al. (2019)

 Table 4.4 (continued)

Boyd et al. 2013), which will further help understand the supplanting of plant resistance by new physiological races of the pathogen.

Capitalizing the knowledge on molecular mechanisms in plant-pest interaction unravels the defence gene networks in pathogen recognition, signal transduction, transcription and defence-related proteins. Exploitation of such signalling networks that regulate innate defence mechanisms may be one among the several strategies for broad-spectrum and durable plant resistance, either by overexpression of positive regulators or silencing of regulators involved in innate immunity. Yet another strategy is by modifying the R gene through choosing appropriate promoters or altering the domains involved in effector recognition. Ultimately, the aforesaid downstream application of transcriptomics may be utilized for achieving sustainable and durable resistance.

4.5.2.2 Identification of Long Non-coding RNAs and MicroRNAs

MicroRNAs have been identified in many crops which regulate plant-pest interaction, either through silencing genes or by blocking mRNA translation. Expression patterns can open avenues on their stress adaptation functions. Several researchers reported that pathogen attacks in plants induce numerous miRNAs and later control and contribute towards the reprogramming of gene expression (Ramachandran et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2018; Xin et al. 2010; Hunt et al. 2019; Fahim et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2016). The role of miRNA regulatory network in guarding ginger against bacterial wilt caused by Ralstonia solanacearum was elucidated by analysing the transcriptome of resistant and susceptible lines using 'psRNATarget' server and identified nine miRNA/miRTGs which are the key candidate pairs in response to R. solanacearum infection in ginger (Snigdha and Prasath 2021). Similarly, differential expression of miRNAs was observed in wheat and barley after infection with powdery mildew (Xin et al. 2010; Hunt et al. 2019). Much research has been carried out to overexpress significant miRNAs to enhance disease resistance in susceptible plants. Overexpressing miR 319b in rice was found to be a positive regulator of the rice defence response against the blast disease (Zhang et al. 2018). The same strategic approach has also been successfully adopted against viral infection in economically important crops such as wheat, maize, tomato and grape wine (Fahim et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2016).

In addition to miRNAs, long non-coding RNAs are mainstream regulators in plant defence against biotic stress. The study carried out by Zhang et al. (2021) on comparative gene profiling of two resistant lines (T12–19 and 12–85) and one susceptible line (91–112) of Chinese cabbage against downy mildew could reveal increased expression of more *cis*- and *trans*-functional long non-coding RNAs in the resistant lines. Furthermore, they identified and functionally characterised candidate resistance-related long non-coding RNA, MSTRG.19915, which is a long non-coding natural antisense transcript of a MAPK gene, BrMAPK15.

4.5.2.3 Identification of Functional Markers

Lack of tightly linked marker is the major hurdle that prevents precise identification of resistant gene in marker-assisted selection practices. Bulked segregant analysis-RNA-Seq (BSR-Seq) is a new genetic mapping strategy that combines the power of bulked segregant analysis (BSA) (Michelmore et al. 1991) and the ease of RNA-Seq technique that can resolve the issue. For instance, Wu et al. (2018) could develop molecular markers linked to powdery mildew resistance Gene Pm4b in $F_{2:3}$ mapping population of wheat by coupling SNP discovery from transcriptome sequencing data with BSR-Seq. Similarly, Ramirez-Gonzalez et al. (2015) constructed a highdensity genetic map of wheat and localized the stripe rust (caused by *Puccinia striiformis* West.) resistance gene *Yr15* to a 0.77 cM interval. In the same manner, *YrMM58* and *YrHY1* for resistance to stripe rust were also mapped in the distal ~16 Mb region on chromosome 2AS (Wang et al. 2017). These studies have demonstrated that BSR-Seq is highly effective in identifying SNP markers for finemapping and even cloning target genes, especially in the less polymorphic regions of the plant genome.

4.6 Conclusion

Biotic stress is one of the major limiting factors for production and productivity of food crops. A paradigm shift from conventional breeding into molecular breeding and now the genomics-assisted breeding has bestowed new opportunities in developing biotic stress-tolerant crops. Genome- and transcriptome-scale studies have been assisting not only to unravel the complex mechanisms underlying biotic stress tolerance but also to identify novel and valuable genic resources that can be exploited in breeding programmes. Further, the advent of genome editing techniques has ameliorated targeted breeding strategies in terms of simplicity, accuracy and power. Therefore high-throughput multi-*omics* strategies have opened new avenues in crop protection and improvement. However, memory-efficient computational tools to handle the big genomic data are still in its infancy. Hence, hand-in-hand development of both sequencing technology and bioinformatics analysis is the need of the hour.

References

Alba JM, Bleeke PM, Glas JJ, Schimme BCJ, Wijk M, Sabelis MW, Schuurink RC, Kant MR (2012) The impact of induced plant volatiles on plant-arthropod interactions. In: Smagghe G, Diaz I (eds) Arthropod-plant interactions- novel insights and approaches for IPM. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 15–73

- Anil Kumar S, Hima Kumari P, Sundararajan VS, Suravajhala P, Kanagasabai R, Kavi Kishor PB (2014) PSPDB: Plant Stress Protein Database. Plant Mol Biol Report 32:940–942. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11105-014-0698-0
- Bainsla NK, Meena HP (2016) Breeding for resistance to biotic stresses in plants. Recent Adv Plant Stress Physiol 379:411
- Borkotoky S, Saravanan V, Jaiswal A, Das B, Selvaraj S, Murali A, Lakshmi PTV (2013) The Arabidopsis stress responsive gene database. Int J Plant Genomics 2013:949564. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/949564
- Boyd LA, Ridout C, O'Sullivan DM, Leach JE, Leung H (2013) Plant-pathogen interactions: disease resistance in modern agriculture. Trends Genet 29:233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tig.2012.10.011
- Boyko A, Kovalchuk I (2008) Epigenetic control of plant stress response. Environ Mol Mutagen 49:61–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20347
- Bray NL, Pimentel H, Melsted P, Pachter L (2016) Near-optimal probabilistic RNA-seq quantification. Nat Biotechnol 34:525–527. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3519
- Challa S, Neelapu NR (2018) Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. In: Shabir Hussain Wani SH (ed) Biochemical, physiological and molecular avenues for combating abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Academic Press, Cham, pp 135–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813066-7.00009-7
- Channale S, Kalavikatte D, Thompson JP, Kudapa H, Bajaj P, Varshney RK, Zwart RS, Thudi M (2021) Transcriptome analysis reveals key genes associated with root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* resistance in chickpea. Sci Rep 11:17491. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-021-96906-3
- Chen C, Cui L, Chen Y, Zhang H, Liu P, Wu P, Qiu D, Zou J, Yang D, Yang L, Liu H, Zhou Y, Li H (2017) Transcriptional responses of wheat and the cereal cyst nematode *Heterodera avenae* during their early contact stage. Sci Rep 7:14471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14047-y
- Chen L, Li X, He T, Li P, Liu Y, Zhou S, Wu Q, Chen T, Lu Y, Hou Y (2021) Comparative biochemical and transcriptome analyses in tomato and eggplant reveal their differential responses to *Tuta absoluta* infestation. Genomics 113:2108–2121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2021.05.002
- Cheng XJ, He B, Chen L, Xiao SQ, Fu J, Chen Y, Yu TQ, Cheng ZQ, Feng H (2016) Transcriptome analysis confers a complex disease resistance network in wild rice *Oryza meyeriana* against *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae*. Sci reports 6:1–1
- Chittem K, Yajima WR, Goswami RS, del Río Mendoza LE (2020) Transcriptome analysis of the plant pathogen *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* interaction with resistant and susceptible canola (*Brassica napus*) lines. PLoS One 15:e0229844
- Cho H, Song E-S, Heu S, Baek J, Lee YK, Lee S, Lee S-W, Park DS, Lee T-H, Kim J-G, Hwang I (2019) Prediction of host-specific genes by pan-genome analyses of the Korean *Ralstonia solanacearum* species complex. Front Microbiol 10:506
- Clark JM, Kenna MP (2010) Lawn and turf: management and environmental issues of turfgrass pesticides. In: Hayes' handbook of pesticide toxicology. Academic Press, pp 1047–1076
- D'Esposito D, Manzo D, Ricciardi A, Pietro GA, De Natale A, Frusciante L, Pennacchio F, Ercolano MR (2021) Tomato transcriptomic response to *Tuta absoluta* infestation. BMC Plant Biol 21:358. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-021-03129-9
- Dangl JL, McDowell JM (2006) Two modes of pathogen recognition by plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci 103:8575–8576. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603183103
- Day R, Abrahams P, Bateman M, Beale T, Clottey V, Cock M, Colmenarez Y, Corniani N, Early R, Godwin J, Gomez J (2017) Fall armyworm: impacts and implications for Africa. Outlooks Pest Manag 28:196–201
- De Vos M, Van Oosten VR, Van Poecke RMP, Van Pelt JA, Pozo MJ, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Métraux J-P, Van Loon LC, Dicke M, Pieterse CMJ (2005) Signal signature and transcriptome changes of Arabidopsis during pathogen and insect attack. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 18:923–937. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-18-0923

- Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, Batut P, Chaisson M, Gingeras TR (2013) STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics 29:15–21. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635
- Dodds PN, Rathjen JP (2010) Plant immunity: towards an integrated view of plant–pathogen interactions. Nat Rev Genet 11:539–548. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2812
- Doughari J (2015) An overview of plant immunity. J Plant Pathol Microbiol 6(11):10-4172
- Dubey NK, Goel R, Ranjan A, Idris A, Singh SK, Bag SK, Chandrashekar K, Pandey KD, Singh PK, Sawant SV (2013) Comparative transcriptome analysis of *Gossypium hirsutum* L. in response to sap sucking insects: aphid and whitefly. BMC Genomics 14:241. https://doi.org/1 0.1186/1471-2164-14-241
- Edgar RC, Haas BJ, Clemente JC, Quince C, Knight R (2011) UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics 27:2194–2200. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/btr381
- Elshire RJ, Glaubitz JC, Sun Q, Poland JA, Kawamoto K, Buckler ES, Mitchell SE (2011) A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. PLoS One 6:e19379
- Esfahani AH, Maß J, Hallab A, Schuldt BM, Nevarez D, Usadel B, Ott M-C, Buer B, Schuppert A (2020) Plant PhysioSpace: a robust tool to compare stress response across plant species. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.16.384305
- Fahim M, Millar AA, Wood CC, Larkin PJ (2012) Resistance to wheat streak mosaic virus generated by expression of an artificial polycistronic microRNA in wheat. Plant Biotechnol J 10:150–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2011.00647.x
- Fargette D, Fauquet C (1988) A preliminary study on the influence of intercropping maize and cassava on the spread of African cassava mosaic virus by whiteflies. Aspects Appl Biol 17:195–202
- Firrao G, Torelli E, Polano C, Ferrante P, Ferrini F, Martini M, Marcelletti S, Scortichini M, Ermacora P (2018) Genomic structural variations affecting virulence during clonal expansion of pseudomonas syringae pv. Actinidiae Biovar 3 in Europe. Front Microbiol 9:656. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00656
- Florez JC, Mofatto LS, do Livramento Freitas-Lopes R, Ferreira SS, Zambolim EM, Carazzolle MF, Zambolim L, Caixeta ET (2017) High throughput transcriptome analysis of coffee reveals prehaustorial resistance in response to *Hemileia vastatrix* infection. Plant Mol Biol 95:607–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-017-0676-7
- Frith MC, Pheasant M, Mattick JS (2005) Genomics: the amazing complexity of the human transcriptome. Eur J Hum Genet 13:894–897. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201459
- Fu P, Piao Y, Zhan Z, Zhao Y, Pang W, Li X, Piao Z (2019) Transcriptome profile of *Brassica rapa* L. reveals the involvement of Jasmonic acid, ethylene, and Brassinosteroid signaling pathways in clubroot resistance. Agronomy 9:589. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9100589
- Fürstenberg-Hägg J, Zagrobelny M, Bak S (2013) Plant defence against insect herbivores. Int J Mol Sci 14:10242–10297. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140510242
- Gharde Y, Singh PK, Dubey RP, Gupta PK (2018) Assessment of yield and economic losses in agriculture due to weeds in India. Crop Prot 107:12–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cropro.2018.01.007
- Gimenez E, Salinas M, Manzano-Agugliaro F (2018) Worldwide research on plant defence against biotic stresses as improvement for sustainable agriculture. Sustainability 10(2):391. https://doi. org/10.3390/su10020391
- Glazebrook J (2005) Contrasting mechanisms of defence against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu Rev Phytopathol 43:205–227. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. phyto.43.040204.135923
- Gupta P, Nutan KK, Singla-Pareek SL, Pareek A (2017) Abiotic stresses cause differential regulation of alternative splice forms of GATA transcription factor in rice. Front Plant Sci 8:1944. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01944

- Hao Y, Wang T, Wang K, Wang X, Fu Y, Huang L, Kang Z (2016) Transcriptome analysis provides insights into the mechanisms underlying wheat plant resistance to stripe rust at the adult plant stage. PLoS One 11:e0150717
- Hu W, Kingsbury K, Mishra S, DiGennaro P (2020) A comprehensive transcriptional profiling of pepper responses to root-knot nematode. Genes (Basel) 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/ genes11121507
- Hunt M, Banerjee S, Surana P, Liu M, Fuerst G, Mathioni S, Meyers BC, Nettleton D, Wise RP (2019) Small RNA discovery in the interaction between barley and the powdery mildew pathogen. BMC Genomics 20:610. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-5947-z
- Iqbal Z, Iqbal MS, Hashem A, Abd Allah EF, Ansari MI (2021) Plant defense responses to biotic stress and its interplay with fluctuating dark/light conditions. Front Plant Sci 12:631810. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.631810
- Jiang N, Fan X, Lin W, Wang G, Cai K (2019) Transcriptome analysis reveals new insights into the bacterial wilt resistance mechanism mediated by silicon in tomato. Int J Mol Sci 20:761. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20030761
- Jighly A, Oyiga BC, Makdis F, Nazari K, Youssef O, Tadesse W, Abdalla O, Ogbonnaya FC (2015) Genome-wide DArT and SNP scan for QTL associated with resistance to stripe rust (*Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. tritici) in elite ICARDA wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) germplasm. Theor Appl Genet 128:1277–1295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-015-2504-2
- Kang D, Ahn H, Lee S, Lee C-J, Hur J, Jung W, Kim S (2019) StressGenePred: a twin prediction model architecture for classifying the stress types of samples and discovering stress-related genes in Arabidopsis. BMC Genomics 20:949. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-6283-z
- Kaur B, Sandhu KS, Kamal R, Kaur K et al (2021) Omics for the improvement of abiotic, biotic, and agronomic traits in major cereal crops: applications, challenges, and prospects. Plan Theory 210:1989. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10101989
- Kersey PJ (2019) Plant genome sequences: past, present, future. Curr Opin Plant Biol 48:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2018.11.001
- Khan MR, Ahamad F (2020) Incidence of root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne graminicola*) and resulting crop losses in paddy rice in Northern India. Plant Dis 104:186–193. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-12-18-2154-RE
- Kim D, Langmead B, Salzberg S (2015) HISAT: a fast spliced aligner with low memory requirements. Nat Methods 12:357–360
- Kis A, Tholt G, Ivanics M, Várallyay É, Jenes B, Havelda Z (2016) Polycistronic artificial miRNAmediated resistance to wheat dwarf virus in barley is highly efficient at low temperature. Mol Plant Pathol 17:427–437
- Kloth KJ, Thoen MPM, Bouwmeester HJ, Jongsma MA, Dicke M (2012) Association mapping of plant resistance to insects. Trends Plant Sci 17:311–319
- Kumar P, Khanal S, Da Silva M, Singh R, Davis RF, Nichols RL et al (2019a) Transcriptome analysis of a nematode resistant and susceptible upland cotton line at two critical stages of *Meloidogyne incognita* infection and development. PLoS One 14:e0221328. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221328
- Kumar V, Khan MR, Walia RK (2019b) Crop loss estimations due to plant-parasitic nematodes in major crops in India. Natl Acad Sci Lett 43:409–412
- Langmead B, Trapnell C, Pop M, Salzberg SL (2009) Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. Genome Biol 10:R25. https://doi.org/10.1186/ gb-2009-10-3-r25
- Ledesma-Ramírez L, Solís-Moya E, Iturriaga G, Sehgal D, Reyes-Valdes MH, Montero-Tavera V et al (2019) GWAS to identify genetic loci for resistance to yellow rust in wheat pre-breeding lines derived from diverse exotic crosses. Front Plant Sci 10:1390
- Leek JT (2014) svaseq: removing batch effects and other unwanted noise from sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res 42:e161. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku864

- Lewin HA, Robinson GE, Kress WJ, Baker WJ, Coddington J, Crandall KA, Durbin R, Edwards SV et al (2018) Earth BioGenome project: sequencing life for the future of life. Proc Natl Acad Sci 115:4325–4333. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1720115115
- Li H, Durbin R (2009) Fast and accurate short read alignment with burrows-wheeler transform. Bioinformatics 25:1754–1760. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp324
- Li J, Zhu L, Hull JJ, Liang S, Daniell H, Jin S, Zhang X (2016) Transcriptome analysis reveals a comprehensive insect resistance response mechanism in cotton to infestation by the phloem feeding insect, *Bemisia tabaci* (whitefly). Plant Biotechnol J 14:1956–1975. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12554
- Li JR, Liu CC, Sun CH et al (2018) Plant stress RNA-seq nexus: a stress-specific transcriptome database in plant cells. BMC Genomics 19:966. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5367-5
- Li T, Wang YH, Liu JX, Feng K, Xu ZS, Xiong AS (2019) Advances in genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic approaches to study biotic stress in fruit crops. Crit Rev Biotechnol 39:680–692
- Li Y, Cheah BH, Fang YF et al (2021) Transcriptomics identifies key defence mechanisms in rice resistant to both leaf-feeding and phloem feeding herbivores. BMC Plant Biol 21:306. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12870-021-03068-5
- Liang D, Liu M, Hu Q et al (2015) Identification of differentially expressed genes related to aphid resistance in cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.). Sci Rep 5:9645. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep09645
- Liao Y, Smyth GK, Shi W (2014) featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. Bioinformatics 30:923–930. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/btt656
- Lin F, Fan J, Rhee SY (2019) QTG-finder: a machine-learning based algorithm to prioritize causal genes of quantitative trait loci in Arabidopsis and rice. G3 Bethesda 9:3129–3138. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.119.400319
- Llewellyn RS, Ronning D, Ouzman J, Walker S, Mayfield A, Clarke M (2016) Impact of weeds on Australian grain production: the cost of weeds to Australian grain growers and the adoption of weed management and tillage practices. Report for GRDC, CSIRO, 112
- Love MI, Huber W, Anders S (2014) Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol 15:550. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Mahesh HB, Shirke MD, Singh S, Rajamani A, Hittalmani S, Wang GL, Gowda M (2016) Indica rice genome assembly, annotation and mining of blast disease resistance genes. BMC Genomics 17:1–2
- Manivannan A, Choi S, Jun TH, Yang EY, Kim JH et al (2021) Genotyping by sequencing-based discovery of SNP markers and construction of linkage map from F5 population of pepper with contrasting powdery mildew resistance trait. Biomed Res Int 2021:6673010. https://doi. org/10.1155/2021/6673010
- Martin M (2011) Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. EMBnet J 17:10–12
- Mgonja EM, Balimponya EG, Kang H, Bellizzi M et al (2016) Genome-wide association mapping of rice resistance genes against *Magnaporthe oryzae* isolates from four African countries. Phytopathology 106:1359–1365
- Michelmore RW, Paran I, Kesseli RV (1991) Identification of markers linked to disease-resistance genes by bulked segretant analysis: a rapid method to detect markers in specific genomic regions by using segregating populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:9828–9832. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.88.21.9828
- Miranda V d J, Porto WF, Fernandes G d R, Pogue R, Nolasco DO, Araujo ACG, Cota LV, de Freitas CG, Dias SC, Franco OL (2017) Comparative transcriptomic analysis indicates genes associated with local and systemic resistance to *Colletotrichum graminicola* in maize. Sci Rep 7:2483. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02298-8
- Moore JW, Loake GJ, Spoel SH (2011) Transcription dynamics in plant immunity. Plant Cell 23:2809–2820. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.111.087346

- Mukherjee N, Dasgupta MK (1989) Udvider rog (plant disease). Poschimbongo Rajyo Pustak Porsad (West Bengal State Book Board), Kolkata
- Mur LA, Kenton P, Lloyd AJ, Ougham H, Prats E (2008) The hypersensitive response; the centenary is upon us but how much do we know? J Exp Bot 59:501–520. https://doi.org/10.1093/ jxb/erm239
- Muthamilarasan M, Prasad M (2013) Plant innate immunity: an updated insight into defence mechanism. J Biosci 38:433–449
- Muthamilarasan M, Singh NK, Prasad M (2019) Multi-omics approaches for strategic improvement of stress tolerance in underutilized crop species: a climate change perspective. Adv Genet 103:1–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adgen.2019.01.001
- Naika M, Shameer K, Mathew OK, Gowda R, Sowdhamini R (2013) STIFDB2: an updated version of plant stress-responsive transcription factor database with additional stress signals, stress-responsive transcription factor binding sites and stress-responsive genes in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Cell Physiol 54:e8. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcs185
- Naqvi RZ, Zaidi SSEA, Akhtar KP, Strickler S et al (2017) Transcriptomics reveals multiple resistance mechanisms against cotton leaf curl disease in a naturally immune cotton species, *Gossypium arboreum*. Sci Rep 7:1–15
- Nida H, Lee S, Li Y, Mengiste T (2021) Transcriptome analysis of early stages of sorghum grain mold disease reveals defence regulators and metabolic pathways associated with resistance. BMC Genomics 22:1–17
- Nishad R, Ahmed T, Rahman VJ, Kareem A (2020) Modulation of plant defence system in response to microbial interactions. Front Microbiol 11:1298. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01298
- Obilana AT, Ramaiah KV (1992) Striga (witchweeds) in Sorghum and millet: knowledge and future research needs. In: International workshop on Sorghum and millets diseases: a second world review. ICRISAT, Patancheru
- Oerke EC (2006) Crop losses to pests. J Agric Sci 144:31-43
- Padmanabhan C, Ma Q, Shekasteband R et al (2019) Comprehensive transcriptome analysis and functional characterization of PR-5 for its involvement in tomato Sw-7 resistance to tomato spotted wilt tospovirus. Sci Rep 9:1–17
- Pérez-de-Castro AM, Vilanova S, Cañizares J, Pascual L, Blanca JM, Díez MJ, Prohens J, Picó B (2012) Application of genomic tools in plant breeding. Curr Genomics 13:179–195. https://doi. org/10.2174/138920212800543084
- Pimentel D, Zuniga R, Morrison D (2005) Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. Ecol Econ 52:273–288. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.10.002
- Ramachandran SR, Mueth NA, Zheng P, Hulbert SH (2020) Analysis of miRNAs in two wheat cultivars infected with *Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *tritici*. Front Plant Sci 10:1574. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01574
- Ramirez-Gonzalez RH, Segovia V, Bird N, Fenwick P, Holdgate S, Berry S et al (2015) RNA-Seq bulked segregant analysis enables the identification of high-resolution genetic markers for breeding in hexaploid wheat. Plant Biotechnol J 13:613–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pbi.12281
- Ramjegathesh R, Karthikeyan G, Rajendran L, Johnson I, Raguchander T, Samiyappan R (2012) Root (wilt) disease of coconut palms in South Asia – an overview. Arch Phytopathol Plant Prot 45:2485–2493. https://doi.org/10.1080/03235408.2012.729772
- Rato C, Carvalho MF, Azevedo C et al (2021) Genome editing for resistance against plant pests and pathogens. Transgenic Res 30:427–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11248-021-00262-x
- Redondo-Gomez S (2013) Abiotic and biotic stress tolerance in plants. In: Rout GR, Das AB (eds) Molecular stress physiology plants. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-0807-5_1
- Robinson MD, McCarthy DJ, Smyth GK (2010) edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. Bioinformatics 26(1):139–140. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp616

- Rosewarne GM, Herrera-Foessel SA, Singh RP, Huerta-Espino J, Lan C, He Z (2013) Quantitative trait loci of stripe rust resistance in wheat. Theor Appl Genet 126:2427-2449. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00122-013-2159-9
- Santamaria ME, Martínez M, Cambra I et al (2013) Understanding plant defence responses against herbivore attacks: an essential first step towards the development of sustainable resistance against pests. Transgenic Res 22:697-708. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11248-013-9725-4
- Savary S, Willocquet L, Pethybridge SJ, Esker P, McRoberts N, Nelson A (2019) The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. Nat Ecol Evol 3(3):430-439
- Schmieder R, Edwards R (2011) Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. Bioinformatics 27(6):863-864. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr026
- Schumann GL, D'Arcy CJ (2006) Essential plant pathology. American Phytopathological Society (APS Press)
- Shaik R, Ramakrishna W (2014) Machine learning approaches distinguish multiple stress conditions using stress-responsive genes and identify candidate genes for broad resistance in rice. Plant Physiol 164(1):481-495. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.225862
- Shameer K, Ambika S, Varghese SM, Karaba N, Udayakumar M, Sowdhamini R (2009) STIFDB-Arabidopsis stress responsive transcription factor data base. Int J Plant Genomics. https://doi. org/10.1155/2009/583429
- Sharma S, Kooner R, Arora R (2017) Insect pests and crop losses. In: Arora R, Sandhu S (eds) Breeding insect resistant crops for sustainable agriculture. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-981-10-6056-4_2
- Singh B, Kaur A (2014) Incidence of potato spindle tuber viroid (PSTVs) in potato growing areas of Punjab. Vegetos 27:96-100
- Smyth GK (2005) Limma: linear models for microarray data. In: Gentleman R, Carey VJ, Huber W, Irizarry RA, Dudoit S (eds) Bioinformatics and computational biology solutions using R and bioconductor. Statistics for biology and health. Springer, New York. https://doi.org/10.100 7/0-387-29362-0_23
- Snigdha M, Prasath D (2021) Transcriptomic analysis to reveal the differentially expressed miRNA targets and their miRNAs in response to Ralstonia solanacearum in ginger species. BMC Plant Biol 21:1-14
- Stevens KA, Wegrzyn JL, Zimin A, Puiu D, Crepeau M, Cardeno C, Paul R, Gonzalez-Ibeas D et al (2016) Sequence of the sugar pine megagenome. Genetics 204:1613-1626. https://doi. org/10.1534/genetics.116.193227
- Strange RN, Scott PR (2005) Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Annu Rev Phytopathol 43:83-116
- Sun L, Lin C, Du J, Song Y, Jiang M, Liu H et al (2016) Dimeric artificial microRNAs mediate high resistance to RSV and RBSDV in transgenic rice plants. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 126:127-139
- Sung YW, Lee IH, Shim D et al (2019) Transcriptomic changes in sweet potato peroxidases in response to infection with the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. Mol Biol Rep 46:4555-4564. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-019-04911-7
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (2006) Secondary metabolites and plant defense. Plant Physiol 4:315–344
- Tamiru A, Paliwal R, Manthi SJ et al (2020) Genome wide association analysis of a stemborer egg induced "call-for-help" defence trait in maize. Sci Rep 10:11205. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-020-68075-2
- Tariq R, Wang CL, Qin TF, Xu F, Tang Y, Gao Y et al (2018) Comparative transcriptome profiling of rice near-isogenic line carrying Xa23 under infection of Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae. Int J Mol Sci 19:717. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19030717
- Twyford AD (2018) The road to 10,000 plant genomes. Nat Plants 4:312-313. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41477-018-0165-2
- Vleeshouwers VG, Rietman H, Krenek P, Champouret N, Young C, Oh SK, Wang M, Bouwmeester K, Vosman B, Visser RG, Jacobsen E (2008) Effector genomics accelerates discovery and func-

tional profiling of potato disease resistance and *Phytophthora infestans* avirulence genes. PLoS One 3(8):e2875

- Wang Y, Xie J, Zhang H, Guo B, Ning S, Chen Y, Lu P, Wu Q, Li M, Zhang D, Guo G (2017) Mapping stripe rust resistance gene YrZH22 in Chinese wheat cultivar Zhoumai 22 by bulked segregant RNA-Seq (BSR-Seq) and comparative genomics analyses. Theor Appl Genet 130:2191–2201
- Wang Y, Zhang H, Xie J, Guo B, Chen Y, Zhang H, Lu P, Wu Q, Li M, Zhang D et al (2018) Mapping stripe rust resistance genes by BSR-Seq: YrMM58 and YrHY1 on chromosome 2AS in Chinese wheat lines Mengmai 58 and Huaiyang 1 are Yr17. Crop J 6:91–98. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cj.2017.03.002
- Wang X, Li N, Li W et al (2020) Advances in transcriptomics in the response to stress in plants. Glob Med Genet 7:30–34. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1714414
- Westermann AJ, Gorski SA, Vogel J (2012) Dual RNA-seq of pathogen and host. Nat Rev Microbiol 10:618–630. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2852
- Wilson RA, Talbot NJ (2009) Under pressure: investigating the biology of plant infection by Magnaporthe oryzae. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:185–195. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2032
- Wu P, Xie J, Hu J, Qiu D, Liu Z, Li J, Li M, Zhang H, Yang L, Liu H, Zhou Y (2018) Development of molecular markers linked to powdery mildew resistance gene Pm4b by combining SNP discovery from transcriptome sequencing data with bulked segregant analysis (BSR-Seq) in wheat. Front Plant Sci 9:95
- Xin M, Wang Y, Yao Y, Xie C, Peng H, Ni Z et al (2010) Diverse set of microRNAs are responsive to powdery mildew infection and heat stress in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). BMC Plant Biol 10:123
- Yang X, Chen L, Yang Y, Guo X, Chen G, Xiong X, Dong D, Li G (2020) Transcriptome analysis reveals that exogenous ethylene activates immune and defence responses in a high late blight resistant potato genotype. Sci Rep 10(1):1–14
- Zegeye H, Rasheed A, Makdis F, Badebo A, Ogbonnaya FC (2014) Genome-wide association mapping for seedling and adult plant resistance to stripe rust in synthetic hexaploid wheat. PLoS One 9:e105593. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105593
- Zhang X, Bao Y, Shan D, Wang Z, Song X, Wang Z et al (2018) *Magnaporthe oryzae* induces the expression of a microRNA to suppress the immune response in rice. Plant Physiol 177:352–368
- Zhang Y, Bouwmeester HJ, Kappers IF (2020a) Metabolome analysis identifies defence responses in spider mite-infested pepper (*Capsicum annuum*). J Exp Bot 71:330–343. https://doi. org/10.1093/jxb/erz422
- Zhang Y, Bouwmeester HJ, Kappers IF (2020b) Combined transcriptome and metabolome analysis identifies defence responses in spider mite-infested pepper (*Capsicum annuum*). J Exp Bot 71(1):330–343
- Zhang B, Su T, Li P, Xin X, Cao Y, Wang W, Zhao X, Zhang D, Yu Y, Li DY (2021) Identification of long noncoding RNAs involved in resistance to downy mildew in Chinese cabbage. Hort Res 8(1):1–15
- Zhou Y, Zhao D, Shuang L, Xiao D, Xuan Y, Duan Y, Chen L, Wang Y, Liu X, Fan H, Zhu X (2020) Transcriptome analysis of rice roots in response to root-knot nematode infection. Int J Mol Sci 21(3):848. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21030848
- Zhu K, Yang LT, Li CX, Lakshmanan P, Xing YX, Li YR (2021) A transcriptomic analysis of sugarcane response to *Leifsonia xyli* subsp. *xyli* infection. PLoS One 16(2):e0245613

Chapter 5 Role of Metabolomics and Next-Generation Sequencing for Sustainable Crop Production



Muhammad Waseem, Oswald Nkurikiyimfura, Sylvain Niyitanga, Witness J. Nyimbo, Iffat Shaheen, and Mehtab Muhammad Aslam

Contents

5.1	Introd	uction	124
5.2	Role of	of NGS in Agricultural Crop Production	125
	5.2.1	Genomics and Pangenomes for Agriculture	127
	5.2.2	Agri-genomics for Sustainable Agricultural Production	128
	5.2.3	Application of Next-Generation Sequencing in Plant Breeding	130
5.3	Metab	olomics Approaches to Improve Crop Production	132
	5.3.1	Association Analysis Between Metabolites and Trait	133
	5.3.2	Metabolomics to Evaluate GM Crops	134
	5.3.3	Metabolomics-Guided Elucidation of Plant Stress Responses	135

M. Waseem (🖂)

College of Horticulture, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China

Department of Botany, University of Narowal, Narowal, Pakistan e-mail: m.waseem.botanist@gmail.com

O. Nkurikiyimfura

Key Lab for Bio-Pesticide and Chemical Biology, Ministry of Education, Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

S. Niyitanga Department of Plant Pathology, Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

W. J. Nyimbo Fujian Provincial Key Laboratory of Agroecological Processing and Safety Monitoring, Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

I. Shaheen Faculty of Agriculture Science and Technology, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

M. M. Aslam (⊠) College of Agriculture, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou, Jiangsu, China

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_5

College of Horticulture, Hainan University, Haikou, China

	5.3.4 Metabolomics for Improvement of Fruits	136
5.4	Future Perspectives	138
5.5	Conclusion	138
Refe	rences	138

5.1 Introduction

In recent times, a huge advancement has been made in "omics" including transcriptomics, genomics, metabolomics, proteomics, phenomics, and epigenomics (Yang et al. 2012). These "omics" approaches have heightened data precision and speed up the selection process for breeding programs, which is important to ensure global food security (Kumar et al. 2017). Recent studies have witnessed the notable contribution of genomics and phenomics in producing higher genetic seeds and improving crop growth performance through the breeding system (Langridge and Fleury 2011; Wang et al. 2017a; Xavier et al. 2017). Nevertheless, the omics has a great selection potential of key traits and allows us to improve plant performance by developing new strategies. Among all omics approaches, metabolomics is a multifaceted approach and received very less attention in plant selection and trait mapping, particularly in crop science.

Metabolites are essential components owing to their effect on root architecture and plant biomass (Turner et al. 2016). To date, metabolomics has arisen as a major breakthrough, which facilitates accurate metabolite profiling of plants, microbes, and animals (Takáč et al. 2017; van Dam and Bouwmeester 2016). Metabolomics is capable of making precise and efficient detection of a wide range of metabolites from any extract (Wen et al. 2015). In another context, metabolomics can offer metabolite analysis even at the cellular level, for instance, tiny organic compounds involved in regulating cellular events therefore represent the entire cell physiological state. With the rapid advancement in metabolomics, investigation of metabolite transgenic/mutant lines holds a potential to identify underlying genetic or metabolic network. In addition, metabolomics integrated with functional characterization of gene allow us to investigate how a candidate gene or genes impact metabolic pathway and reveal regulation among linked pathways, which are otherwise difficult to accomplish through conventional approaches like microarray (Kusano and Saito 2012). Integrated-omics approaches permit researchers to screen out potential traits for improving crop yield, quality, and nutritional values. Furthermore, omics studies may extend to other regulatory processes at posttranscriptional and posttranslational modification and epigenetic regulation. Consequently, interactome studies aimed to explore molecular interaction among biomolecules which expand our knowledge on genotype-phenotype association (Anguraj Vadivel 2015; Vidal 2011).

Metabolomics approaches are applied in a range of crop species irrespective of successful transgenic system with a great potential to assist screening of key traits (Daygon and Fitzgerald 2013; Simó et al. 2014). With the advent of integrated metabolomics, the accessibility to whole genome, genotyping assays, and genetic

variants was prime breakthroughs to efficiently incorporate metabolomics in the crop breeding system (Zivy et al. 2015). The major tools that witnessed considerable improvement in metabolomics analysis are nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and mass spectrometry (MS) (Lei et al. 2011; Matsuda et al. 2010).

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) revolution agriculture sciences through Illumina sequencing, high-throughput marker, applied biosystems SOLiD technologies (Lyu et al. 2020). The availability of high-quality genome of plants holds an evident ability for targeted research toward crop improvement. Among other NGS technologies, transcriptomics offers the understanding of functional mechanisms that the genome encodes (Imadi et al. 2015). In the past decades, agricultural scientists have relied on NGS technologies that enable them to identify high-resolution interaction of targeted traits and gene variants which resulted to a significant rise in the scope of transcriptomics toward improving agricultural systems (Tian et al. 2011). NGS platforms (NGSPs), serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE), microarrays, and massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) are representative approaches employed for genome-wide associated and high-throughput analysis (Costa et al. 2010; Mardis 2008). NGS-based techniques also offer DNA methylation study of single-base mutation among various plant species such as rice and Arabidopsis (Wang et al. 2011). These approaches dissect in-depth knowledge about DNA methylation and regulation. In this chapter we focus on the role of metabolomics and NGS approaches in improving crop traits, for better understanding of gene functioning and for the development of sustainable agricultural system.

5.2 Role of NGS in Agricultural Crop Production

The rise of genomics revolutionizes plant breeding, facilitates better understanding of plant genomes, and dissects the genetics of pivotal agronomic traits (Table 5.1). Further, the recent breakthroughs in genome editing approaches, particularly CRISPR/Cas9, an efficient gateway to accurate genome alteration in the target genome (Scheben and Edwards 2018), offer a robust transfer of knowledge from the lab to the field. The genes with beneficial agronomic traits may be specifically transformed via genome editing, thus allowing better phenotypic manipulation.

Genetic diversity is one of the key requisites in breeding programs. However, crop domestication and evolution have considerably decreased genetic diversity, causing the loss of numerous loci associated with important agronomic traits (Gross and Olsen 2010; McCouch 2004). The availability of draft genome sequences of numerous accessions of a plant species facilitated genome dissection using genome-scale research. Recently, genome-wide associated studies (GWAS) coupled with a penal of several accessions from diverse crops have been proven to be an invaluable resource for studying dynamics of genomic variation during selective breeding and crop domestication (Zhou et al. 2015; Varshney et al. 2017a). Comparative genome studies by Morrell et al. (2012) emphasize the significance of genomics that "the future of agricultural development will focus on comparisons of individual plant

Crops	SNPs	Approaches	Phenotypic traits	References
Oryza sativa	16,345	GWAS	Days to heading and culm length	Ogawa et al. (2018)
O. sativa (IR64)	7152	Joint linkage analysis	Days to heading	Fragoso et al. (2017)
Triticum aestivum	17,267	Interval QTL mapping	Powdery mildew	Stadlmeier et al. (2018)
<i>T. aestivum</i> (Berkut)	800,000			Jordan et al. (2018)
<i>T. aestivum</i> (Asassa)	13,000	GWAS	Phenological traits and plant height	Kidane et al. (2019)
Sorghum bicolor	79,728	GWAS	Height of the plant	Ongom and Ejeta (2018)
S. bicolor (RTx430)	90,000	Joint linkage analysis	Heading time and plant height	Bouchet et al. (2017)
Pisum sativum (Cameor)	13,204	GWAS	Seed yield components, seed composition, plant phenology, and plant morphology	Tayeh et al. (2015)
Vigna unguiculata	51,128	Interval QTL mapping	Heading time, growth habit, seed size, maturity, photoperiod	Huynh et al. (2018)
Vicia faba	156	Association mapping	Morphological traits, shoot water, fatty acid synthesis	Sallam and Martsch (2015)
<i>Hordeum</i> <i>vulgare</i> (Barke)	27,000	GWAS	Glossy spike, glossy sheath, and black hull color	Nice et al. (2016)
	5398	GWAS	Yield-related traits	Sharma et al. (2018)
Glycine max (IA3023)	5303	GWAS	Stability of grain yield	Xavier et al. (2018)
Zea mays	54,234	Linkage mapping and association mapping	Days to pollen shed, plant height, ear height, and grain yield	Dell'Acqua et al. (2015)
Z. mays (B73)	1106	Joint linkage analysis and GWAS	Northern leaf blight	Poland et al. (2011)
	1106	Joint linkage analysis and GWAS	Kernel composition	Cook et al. (2012)
	-	GWAS	Leaf traits	Tian et al. (2011)

Table 5.1 Application of NGS-based approaches in phenotypic traits of agricultural crops

genomes." The accessibility to enormous, sequenced genomes offers to identify core and essential genes in crop speciation that stepped genomics into pangenomic analysis.

Plant genomics has slow transition from individual genome assemblies toward multiple genomes, representing the entire genetic repertoire of a species or family

(Bayer et al. 2020; Golicz et al. 2020) and exploring the complete genomic variation (Fuentes et al. 2019; Golicz et al. 2016; Varshney et al. 2017b). It became more clear that an individual reference genome sequence was insufficient to reflect the wide range of genomic diversities within species, prompting growth and development, and adaptation (Golicz et al. 2020).

5.2.1 Genomics and Pangenomes for Agriculture

Global food security is a prime challenge with the present world's population (Tomlinson 2013), increased urbanization, and reduced agricultural land (Satterthwaite et al. 2010). Global warming, notably varying patterns of rainfall, temperature extremes, CO_2 levels, as well as ozone, poses threats to agriculture through salinity and drought, which restrict both water and agricultural land use (Godfray et al. 2010). Therefore, to ensure global food security, climate-resilient crop able to adapt to varying environments needs to be developed for sustainable growth and development. Advancements in conventional crop breeding boosted the crop yields between 1960 and 2015; instead, yield attributes to the green revolution are diminishing for the main crops (Grassini et al. 2013) to meet the demand in the foreseeable future (Ray et al. 2013). Therefore, developing novel crop varieties that are sustainable and can produce high yields and adapt to distinct environmental stresses is a key requisite for improving agricultural productivity to food security.

NGS facilitates the more readily accessible to certain crop traits at a very low cost, thereby improving the use of genomics for crop development (Yuan et al. 2017). Considerable sequencing exertions have been made in many plants which serve as a foundation for crop development in breeding programs (Badouin et al. 2017; Springer et al. 2018; Varshney et al. 2017b). Besides, resequencing efforts of wild and cultivated cultivars have gotten insights into the genetic diversity (Varshney et al. 2017a; Wang et al. 2018) that exists in the species in terms of InDels and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) facilitating marker breeding. However, the bottleneck of the studies is the failure to represent the whole genetic diversity of a particular species (Saxena et al. 2014; Springer et al. 2018).

Pangenome studies revealed approximately 50% of the genes in species functioning as accessory genes (Golicz et al. 2020). In plants, pangenome studies in *Brassica oleracea* L. revealed that about 20% of the overall genes functioned related to major agronomic traits, including flowering, metabolism of glucosinolate, disease resistance, and biosynthesis of vitamin, are in variable regions (Golicz et al. 2016). Later on, Montenegro et al. (2017) detected several thousands of novel genes and variable genes accounting for about 40% of the total gene in wheat. Presently, pangenomes have been assembled for different species including soybean (Liu et al. 2020), tomato (Alonge et al. 2020; Gao et al. 2019), sesame (Yu et al. 2019), rice (Zhao et al. 2018), pigeon pea (Zhao et al. 2020), barley (Jayakodi et al. 2020), apple (Sun et al. 2020), and others. Pangenome increases read mapping accuracy and variant calling (Garrison et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2019; Tian et al. 2020). Plant accessory (variable) genes are overrepresented in signaling, disease resistance, and abiotic stress response activities (Hurgobin et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2018). The use of the pangenome reference will also enable the inclusion of variations other than SNPs in GWAS. Several studies showed that structural variations in association analyses might aid in identifying causative variants (Fuentes et al. 2019) with integrated phenotypic plasticity and environmental adaptability presenting exciting opportunity for crop development (Gage et al. 2019). For instance, the oilseed rape genomic variation permitted to identify missing quantitative trait loci (QTLs) linked with disease resistance. Therefore, the genomic selection in the future will involve the integration of pangenomes to obtain all potential associations.

5.2.2 Agri-genomics for Sustainable Agricultural Production

Current agricultural production systems are under enormous pressure to double their output to feed the world's ever-growing population. Climate change exacerbates the global food production system, and global crop yields fall with an increase in global mean temperature (Varshney et al. 2020). Importantly, this fall in yield further declines with even decreasing land resources and water systems while fulfilling ecosystem preservation requirements (Ronald 2014). The selection of crops with desirable traits time consuming and labors in breeding programs poses a roadblock to plant breeders responding more quickly to rising food supply demands (Lenaerts et al. 2019). Recent advancements in genomic technology have strengthened breeders' toolbox (Bohra et al. 2020; Varshney et al. 2019). When genomic technologies are integrated into novel approaches like rapid generation turnover, gene editing, haplotype-based breeding, and genomic selection, the pace of genetic gains in breeding programs was expected to rise to accomplish sustainable food production.

Conventional QTL mapping approaches have poor throughput, are laborintensive and time-consuming, and have an inadequate genetic resolution. The availability of a whole genome sequencing has considerably aided trait analysis and gene identification in plants (Jaganathan et al. 2020). Over the last decade, a set of trait mapping techniques, including SNP ratio mapping (SRM), SHOREmap, MutMap, next-generation mapping (NGM), and QTL-seq, have emerged (Bohra 2013; Zhang et al. 2019).

The release of genome-wide markers like SNPs/CNVs from whole genome resequencing initiatives has considerably aided GWAS to identify phenotypic variation associated with the smallest feasible genomic regions. For instance, WGRS-based GWAS in rice (Huang et al. 2010), sesame (Wei et al. 2015), soybean (Zhou et al. 2015), pigeon pea (Varshney et al. 2017a), chickpea (Varshney et al. 2019), and cotton (Ma et al. 2018) identified highly resolved marker-trait associations (MTAs) associated with economically important

traits particularly plant domestication. A GWAS of rice landraces for 500 accessions revealed 80 MTAs for 14 distinct aspects related to grain production and quality, physiology, and drought stress (Huang et al. 2010). GWAS of a core sample of 419 cotton lines allows for fine dissection of fiber-related characteristics and the flowering time trait in cotton (Ma et al. 2018). WGRS-based GWAS on 302 sequenced in legumes, particularly soybean genotypes effectively identify novel QTLs or MTAs affecting a variety of domestication-related traits (Zhou et al. 2015). Similarly, another WGRS-SNP study on 106 accession soybeans under salinity delineates 328 SNPs associated with leaf chlorophyll content, while 401 SNPs account for leaf scorch score (Patil et al. 2016). Likewise, GWAS of 234 lines in soybean revealed the genetic architecture of salinity resistance, with significant MTAs for chlorophyll content ratio, leaf scorch score, leaf chloride content, and leaf sodium concentration (Do et al. 2019).

Gene editing methods that encompass a range of sophisticated techniques for directly generating new alleles are the most efficient approach without transgenics (Zhang et al. 2018). CRISPR (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat) with the CRISPR/Cas system is the simplest gene editing system widely used in crop gene editing techniques and applications (Chen et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2018). CRISPR/Cas9 causes a double-strand break in the DNA and depends on the cell's endogenous DNA repair mechanisms to rejoin the broken strands. While most DNA repair processes are fundamentally correct, they are mistake-prone, and these faults result in the formation of new alleles. CRISPR/Cas9 for biallelic editing and Mendelian inheritance of these changes was initially described in *Arabidopsis* and crop plants such as rice (Zhang et al. 2014) and tomato (Brooks et al. 2014). Gene editing integrated with genomics is an excellent tool for gene discovery frequently in model species. Wang et al. (2014) demonstrated that wheat powdery mildew resistance is developed by simultaneous editing of three homeoalleles.

When genomic methods are employed for gene identification, increasing the recombination events around the target haplotype can be time-consuming. As a result, identifying the actual causal gene among many possible candidates can be time-consuming. Classical transgenics have proven beneficial and instructive, but they are inaccurate due to location impact and gene dosage where the transgene inserts into the host genome. The availability of gene editing methods provides significant benefits in finding candidate genes and genetic connections to unravel gene activity in the knowledge of QTL areas. The edit(s) can be performed in the actual gene; thus there are no position or dose consequences. Gene expression can be completely knocked out, which was previously impossible utilizing RNAi methods, which generally resulted in a decrease in gene expression but rarely in zero expression (Eamens et al. 2008). Also this implies that editing candidate genes allows for the precise identification of single-gene activity. Another advantage is the ability to target several candidate genes in a single experiment.

5.2.3 Application of Next-Generation Sequencing in Plant Breeding

Recent sequencing initiatives have put forth an enormous effort to sequence increasingly complicated genomes. Plant genomes have a high concentration of repetitive elements, with tandem or segmental duplication. Ploidy is also a sequencing barrier, and findings are affected by various factors, including the genome's autopolyploid or allopolyploid status or the age of the polyploidization event. For a long time, genome complexity has been a concern. It needed to be minimized using sequencing library with the genome partial representation employing restriction enzymes without enzyme digestion (Ray and Satya 2014). Numerous studies sought to create species representative genome in question. A representative genome is a valuable resource to investigate genome function and guide the assembly of the genome in adjacent species. Furthermore, the full accessibility to genome sequences allows for mining a huge number of candidate genes. Resequencing schemes are appropriate to pre-breeding events since they aim to detect genetic variants and infer information on beneficial polymorphisms.

Transcriptome sequencing (RNA-seq) is a novel approach for measuring and transcriptome mapping that uses newly developed deep-sequencing technologies. This method involves turning RNA molecules into cDNA library containing fragments along with adaptors, sequencing of these fragments, and then aligning the resultant sequence against representative genome or de novo assembly (Wang et al. 2009). RNA-seq is a technique for obtaining sequence-expressed data in a given sample/tissue over a set period, even for those species without genome availability (Novaes et al. 2008). An attractive way to study significant and complex genomes and de novo assembly using NGS data is a better option. Roche technology has been used effectively to sequence several non-model plants, including comparative transcript sequencing that resulted from two olive trees at the stage of fruit development (Alagna et al. 2009) and also used in gene characterization (Dassanayake et al. 2009) and molecular marker development (Trick et al. 2009). TRAPID and TrinotateWeb (http://trinotate.github.io) are two user-friendly interfaces to discover candidate genes from de novo assembly (Van Bel et al. 2013). Kamei et al. (2016) created a platform that allows plant breeders, even those having no bioinformatics experience, to use any crop to examine de novo transcriptome assembly from a very complex genome.

NGS and RNA-seq technologies allow gene expression analysis, an essential tool for molecular breeders, and identify gene interest that imparts defense mechanisms under biotic or environmental stresses. It has been reported that *Puccinia striiformis* is a pathogen that causes wheat damage, while its RNA-seq discovered key genes encode effector proteins, which may improve tolerance pathogen (Garnica et al. 2013). Using Roche 454, many genes related to developmental stages were discovered in cucumber transcriptome analysis (Ando et al. 2012). Tang et al. (2013) used Roche's 454-GS FLX System in an RNA-seq investigation of *Populus*

euphratica Oliv. and identified genes relevant for drought resistance grown under semiarid/dry regions.

Similarly, a transcriptome of *Trifolium pratense* sequenced using Illumina technology and genes accountable in drought resistance were identified. Upon drought stress, malate, proline, and pinitol metabolites were found in leaves with high concentrations (Yates et al. 2014). Salinity is also becoming a severe issue; numerous reports are dedicated to identifying a plant's molecular mechanism resistant to salt stress. A similar process has been discovered in cotton (Xu et al. 2013). Furthermore, in *Lolium rigidum*, Illumina technology was utilized to discover genes responsive to herbicide resistance (Gaines et al. 2014). In this regard to examine the role of the NAC transcription factors during dehydration and development of soybean, Illumina technology was utilized (Le et al. 2011).

In addition, transcriptome study of finger millet was analyzed using Ion Torrent, and finger millet is a tough crop known for its tolerance against disease, salt, and drought (Rahman et al. 2014). This technology was later used for the transcriptome profiling of *Jatropha curcas* to unravel molecular responses to waterlogging (Juntawong et al. 2014). Pacific Biosciences SMRT technology was also used to investigate the relationship between the bacterial pathogen *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzicola* and its host (rice) utilizing pathogen genome sequencing and attacked host RNA sequencing (Wilkins et al. 2015).

There are many different molecular markers, but the most common are single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and simple sequence repeats (SSR). Initially, identification of molecular markers was limited to *Arabidopsis* and rice species. Even in species with no reference genomes, such as common bean (Cortés et al. 2011) and wheat (Trebbi et al. 2011), molecular markers have been gradually discovered. Nonetheless, mining for molecular markers in other important species is hampered due to the error of sequencing techniques caused by an inadequate reference genome, the presence of repetitive sequences, or sequencing errors. As a result, Azam et al. (2012) developed coverage-based consensus calling (CbCC), a new method for finding SNPs in *Cicer arietinum*. It comprises four publicly accessible local alignment tools: Maq, BowTie, NovoAlign, and SOAP2.

NGS provides many methods capable of making genome-wide SNP identification and genotyping in one step. Genotyping techniques employ restriction enzymes to capture a genome's reduced representation (Miller et al. 2007). Genotyping by sequencing (Poland and Rife 2012) is a novel method for sequencing multiplexed samples that is both fast and robust. It combines the discovery of genome-wide molecular markers with genotyping (Davey et al. 2011). Desired characteristics can also be introduced into plants that do not naturally express them via genetic engineering techniques. However, genome editing of site-specific nucleases is a very sophisticated method for accurate and effective engineering of the genome, and it assures to transform crop improvement in applied research (Andersen et al. 2015). It involves insertion, deletion, or replacement of a segment of DNA at specific places using designed nucleases that cause clear double-strand breaks (DSBs) and activate DNA repair mechanisms. Although with significant limitations, all the nucleases listed above have been employed to introduce specific mutations in plants. A recurring challenge in all situations is the practical and functional transport of all reagents to the cells or organisms' level under study.

The CRISPR/CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9) tool seems to overcome the shortcomings of the previous methods (Fichtner et al. 2014). Targetable nucleases have been successfully used for *Arabidopsis*, rice, soybean, tobacco, barley, maize, cabbage, and grass utilizing various strategies such as protoplasts, *Agrobacterium* T-DNA plasmids, embryonic callus, and subsequent plant regeneration (Araki and Ishii 2015; Jiang et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2010). Mutations may be generated highly using targetable nucleases and known mutations transmitted across cultivars without disturbing their beneficial genetic background. Although genome editing approaches are still in their early stages and are not commonly used, their advantages in robustness, speed, and precision over traditional mutagenesis are undeniable (Osakabe and Osakabe 2015). Genome-editing using artificial nucleases, with precise gene expression measurements, can speed up plant breeding by allowing for the same and predictable modification of genomes (Andersen et al. 2015) and restoring lost characteristics through reverse breeding (Carroll 2012).

5.3 Metabolomics Approaches to Improve Crop Production

Omics improved our understanding of the behavior of organisms at genetics to the environment level (Valdés et al. 2013). Plant secondary metabolites are considered as non-essential natural products but key components for plant adaptation and protection to environmental stresses (Yang et al. 2018). Metabolomics emerge as a powerful tool to dissect GMCs and allow to unveil the influences of genetic application. In this context, it is challenging to the faces of metabolomics due to the diversity of metabolites in plant compared to other organisms (Dixon et al. 2006). In the past decades, metabolomics has been extensively used in breeding programs for various crop species due to its potential for selection of superior traits (Kumar et al. 2021). Metabolomics tools, such as non-destructive liquid chromatography massspectroscopy (LC-MS), nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC), high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS), direct flow injection (DFI), gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS), and ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC), have accelerated metabolic profiling. Among these LC-MS, NMR-based GC-MS, and CE-MS approaches have been increasingly used in metabolomics (Razzaq et al. 2019).

Integration of modern metabolomics with next-generation sequencing technology, whole genome sequencing, mGWAS, and mQTLs provides an efficient and robust opportunity in sustainable agriculture. Moreover, in the last decade, a plethora of plant genomes has been sequenced, and integrated metabolomics to nextgeneration sequencing technology enable the comparative genome analysis in a number of species to identify hundreds of genes and pathways. For instance, different types of cucurbitacin in different species of Cucurbitaceae include cucurbitacin B, C, and D from melon, cucumber, and watermelon, respectively (Shang et al. 2014). A comparative genome analysis identified a few highly conserved genes such as acyltransferases and cytochrome P450 involved in cucurbitacin biosynthesis (Zhou et al. 2016). Introduction of a wide range of metabolites profiling tools in plant physiology and genetics largely enhancing our technical capacities in these research frontiers will be critical for future metabiotic engineering approaches.

5.3.1 Association Analysis Between Metabolites and Trait

Metabolomics is a very powerful approach for several agronomic goals including sustainability/crop resilience, food quality, safety, and fortification and the shelf life fruits (Jacobs et al. 2021). Crop breeding is largely based on selection and development of crop varieties with desirable traits either through conventional breeding approaches or using modern genetic technologies. Integration of genetic approaches with metabolomics enables breeders or researchers to solve key agronomic issues based on their performance under a wide range of environments (Langridge and Fleury 2011). Next-generation sequencing approaches identify a number of metabolic quantitative trait loci (mQTLs) and metabolic genome-wide association study (mGWAS) to analyze the nature of qualitative and quantitative traits in crops. Metabolomics identifies a plethora of secondary metabolites and their correlation with each other and important agronomic traits. It could lead to the development of more rational models to link genotype-phenotype or pathway with yield or specific metabolite or quality-associated traits (Carreno-Quintero et al. 2013). Therefore, the application of both targeted and untargeted metabolomics assists in spatialtemporal metabolic profiling of developing plants. These spatial-temporal metabolic signatures are capable of identifying a set of key biomarker metabolites reliable to produce crops with desirable genetic and developmental traits. For instance, various metabolic approaches have been applied to study rice tillering with 83% metabolic variation (Tarpley et al. 2005). Phytochemical metabolomics profiling of soybean identifies a set of flavonoid kaempferol glycosides during vegetative to reproductive-phase transition (Song et al. 2014). Even through metabolomics has certain limitations, it has a potential to revolutionize plant science and crop breeding and improvement.

Plants produce a range of metabolites at a specific stage of development, in specific organs, and in response to various environmental stimuli (Roldan et al. 2014). Therefore, these metabolites have plant-/organ-specific functions (Dong et al. 2015). For instance, phenol amides, a secondary metabolite ubiquitous in plants, play a pivotal role in a wide range of biological processes involving defense and development (Park et al. 2009). Comprehensive mGWAS profiling of rice revealed two spermidine hydroxycinnamoyltransferases for natural variation of levels of spermidine conjugates (Dong et al. 2015). In *Arabidopsis*, sphingolipids are required for male reproductive development (Feldman et al. 2015). Anthocyanins, a class of flavanols, accumulate in hypocotyls, while few alkaloids pile up in roots/radicals, and some phenolic compounds and flavanols build up in cotyledons (Roldan et al. 2014). Gong et al. (2013) identify 900 mQTLs in rice metabolome showing distinct accumulation patterns and regulating complex genetic and developmental roles. Moreover, several mQTLs were identified in germinating seed and leaf. Similarly, tissue-specific accumulation of metabolite is pivotal for adaptation and survival of species. Metabolic profiling of 76 tomato introgression lines revealed 30 mQTLs regulating seed metabolism (Gong et al. 2013). Interpreting the effects of genetic improvement on plant primary metabolism will provide useful insights for genetic manipulation and improve our underlying understanding of growth and development of the plant (Wen et al. 2015).

Evaluating the biochemical and genetics of plant metabolism in genetically diverse populations may facilitate the identification of common genomic regions to establish morphological and metabolic traits and determine physiological linkage (Schauer et al. 2006). Combined metabolic studies revealed a considerable variation in levels of lignin precursors and few primary metabolites in *Arabidopsis* and maize (Lisec et al. 2008; Riedelsheimer et al. 2012). The study in potatoes demonstrated the colocalization of starch- and cold sweetening-related traits with loci for metabolites (Carreno-Quintero et al. 2012). These approaches were further placed by evaluating correlation networks between metabolites and specific traits. For example, Toubiana et al. (2012) demonstrated tomato metabolites are influenced by developmental stages. While in maize, correlation between different genetic determinants of metabolic features across tissues was revealed (Wen et al. 2015). The importance of metabolomics in crop breeding becomes extensive, will deepen or broaden our understanding, and provide insights in crop domestication.

5.3.2 Metabolomics to Evaluate GM Crops

Since 1983, genetically modified crops (GMCs) have been developed owing to various beneficial agronomic traits including fast ripening, high feed value, enhanced antioxidant capacity, tolerance to herbicides, and value-added micronutrient contents (Lönnerdal 2003). Currently, there is no evidence of a biological concern on the availability of GMCs. Applications of metabolomics have been increasingly used in analyzing GMCs to broaden our understanding on the nature or composition of GMCs with those produced through conventional approaches (Simó et al. 2014). Currently, mass spectrometry-based metabolomics approached are being extensively used to evaluate MGCs for un-/intended influences. The complexity of plant biological system restricts the development of a suitable tool for global metabolomics. Therefore, a combination of various analytical approaches such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS), and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) is routinely employed (Stewart and Shepherd 2013). The plant has a plethora of complex and diverse metabolites and poses limitations in the global metabolomics.

Other included metabolites with low abundance are difficult to measure but still critical for plant safety or toxicity.

The development of crops with improved phenotype characteristics, particularly quality of fruit and grains as well as yields and productivity, is of utmost importance to breeders and farmers. Traditional breeding programs allow the development of varieties with desirable characteristics such as yield but for complex traits like quality and composition are achieved only through genetic approaches (Breseghello and Coelho 2013). The genetic modification allowed to achieve desirable traits through modification of a single or two genes. However, more recently, integration of omics in crop breeding and genetics discloses the unintended effects of GMCs to the global food safety analytical technologies (Yang et al. 2021). Rice is a global staple food owing to nutritional values and can influence the quality of human life (Cantrell and Reeves 2002). Comparative metabolomics assisted in identifying the desired or undesired metabolites in almost all agricultural crops such as rice, tomato, maize, corn, and wheat (Simó et al. 2014). The results also demonstrate that certain environmental factors exert influences on metabolic profile of plants than genetic modification (Zhou et al. 2009). In this context, the metabolic studies comparing GMCs with non-GMCs are frequently combined with parallel studies under different growth conditions, different ecological environment, and over several generations to assess the intended or unintended effects of genetic manipulation (Zhou et al. 2009). If the metabolic variation falls in the range of natural variations between GMC and non-GMC counterpart parent lines, it has been considered at the safe metabolic level (Harrigan et al. 2010). Recently, detection of any undesirable metabolite caused by genetic modification in GMCs seems to be more powerful than the desirable metabolite (Harrigan et al. 2010). Nonetheless, for GM food safety, the applications of undesirable metabolites in GMCs have not been approved and require counter validation within the global regulatory framework. Metabolomics need to integrate with more sophisticated, efficient, and robust metabolic profiling approaches for detection of as many secondary metabolites as possible.

5.3.3 Metabolomics-Guided Elucidation of Plant Stress Responses

Plants being sessile encounter a variety of environmental stresses throughout their life cycle and have evolved on a variety of adaptive strategies at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional level (Verslues et al. 2006). Efforts have been placed in evaluating the metabolic responses to different stresses and could lead to the development of stress-resistant crops in metabolism-assisted breeding programs. There is an urgent need for metabolomics integration in genomics for crop improvement and with high environment resiliency. The quantitative and qualitative metabolite screening in response to various environmental perturbations identifies

stress-tolerant plant and reveals the biochemical and genetic mechanisms governing plant responses to stresses (Hong et al. 2016).

Environmental stresses arise from conditions that are unfavorable for the optimal growth and development of organisms (Bueno and Lopes (2020) Abiotic stresses are produced by inappropriate levels of physical components of the environment and cause injury through unique mechanisms that result in specific responses (Kaplan et al., 2004). Thus, it is important to improve the traits of available crops for the next generation of crops with high productivity and resilience to climate change (Lankadurai et al. 2013). Although plants are unceasingly affected by abiotic stresses such as drought, temperatures, and salinity, metabolomics has brought ways to elucidate the response-to-stress mechanisms and create resistance strategies in affected plants (Michaletti et al. 2018). Stress causes innumerable transformations in plant metabolisms, such as disturbances in enzyme activities, high requirement for various metabolites, and high levels of reactive oxygen species (Nadarajah 2020). Stress influences each species in different ways and even under some circumstances can be positive to obtain a desired crop response. There is an abundance of plant response mechanisms against stresses as stated by Fahad et al. (2017). Metabolomics is important in the analysis of stress biology in plants and also has the potential to elucidate the mechanisms for tolerance to abiotic stress in plants (Razzag et al. 2019).

5.3.4 Metabolomics for Improvement of Fruits

Fruit is a complex organ that varies greatly in color, size, and shape and undergoes a series of coordinated growth and development processes. Fruit quality such as nutritional and organoleptic aspects is closely related to their biochemical composition like metabolites. Crop domesticated, genetically manipulated, and further influenced by various environmental stresses tuned fruit biochemical properties. The red ripe fruit's biochemical composition results from complex metabolic changes (Allwood et al. 2021). Moreover, biochemical changes occur during fruit ripening, after its harvest, storage, and transportation (Fortes et al. 2017). Tomato fruits accumulate more secondary metabolites is of great agronomic interest placed it as an ideal model in fruit metabolomics (Stevens et al. 2018). Over a decade, integrated application of genomics and metabolomics in transgenic crops revealed different genomic regions associated with metabolic traits (Hanhineva et al. 2008). Mass spectroscopy and NMR are predominated approaches within plant fruit metabolomics. The proton nuclear magnetic resonance (1H NMR) spectroscopy is more appropriate to evaluate bulk metabolites. To analyze the metabolites importance to fruit including volatile organic compounds and nonvolatile metabolites after derivatization, GC-MS and, while LC-MS is appropriate for polar and nonpolar compounds. Therefore, for fruit metabolite analysis, integration of multiple analytical techniques is commonly applied to address metabolic reprofiling during fruit set, onset of ripening, postharvest, and other effects induced by different environmental stresses, including both biotic and abiotic (Fig. 5.1).

Fruit has a complex tissue structure, and metabolic studies at fruit set and fruit development revealed several sensitive metabolites (Ru et al. 2017). A study of grapes using stenospermocarpy highlighted regulation of hormone or sugarmediated pathways (Domingos et al. 2016) or regulatory genes for specialized metabolism (Mounet et al. 2009). These findings expended the understanding of the underlying molecular events during fruit set and inflorescence. In the past, breeding programs are focused on selection of agronomic traits including fruit size, yield, and shelf life. More recently, comparative metabolomics approaches were used to explore genetic and natural variation in different crops that contribute to nutraceutical quality and fruit flavor (Allwood et al. 2021). Integrated metabolomics revealed a molecular basis of fruit involving fruit coloration. In Ficus carica, cyanidin 3-O-malonylhexoside accumulates in purple-peeled cultivar (Wang et al. 2017b). Five anthocyanins are identified as candidates involved in flesh coloration (Ying et al. 2019). In Actinidia arguta, a study focuses on seven anthocyanin biosynthesis genes associated with pigmentation and elucidates the role of pigmentation development in fleshy fruit at the transcriptional level (Li et al. 2018).

Fruit shelf life is critical for a commercial fruit. Key metabolite analysis shows that sugars including sucrose, myo-inositol, galactinol, raffinose, trehalose, and sorbitol play a remarkable role and negatively affect postharvest physiology (Uarrota et al. 2019). Utilization of metabolomics in postharvest stages in the fruit volatilome demonstrates the reduced supply of electrons from TCA (Araújo et al. 2011). However, targeted approaches revealed plenty of branched-chain fatty acids, amino acids, and ethanol fermentation (Tietel et al. 2011). Malate influences fruit shelf life (Centeno et al. 2011), and a study in tomato revealed a correlation between malate and loss of fruit quality, in postharvest shelf life pomelo (Sun et al. 2013).



Fig. 5.1 Overview of integration of genomics and metabolomics approaches to fruit improvement. These approaches are performed at various stages of fruit development and at postharvest aided with one or several analytical techniques

5.4 Future Perspectives

Undoubtedly, plant metabolomics has offered us the advantage of precise screening of desirable traits and their underlying metabolic pathway toward improving key attributes of plants. In this context, next-generation sequencing has provided a tremendous and cost-effective support to interpret the metabolic traits. The newly emerged avenues such as EWAS, GS, and GWAS permit proficient metabolite profiling and metabolomics-assisted breeding. Among all "omics" approaches, transcriptomics is the most diverse field that offers deep insights in regulating gene expression and functional characterization. Taken together, transcriptomic sequencing shed light on the selection of gene and their functionality. NGS technologies are improving, and their application is rapidly expanding in scientific disciplines. Plant biology gained a lot from genomics, including plant breeding and evolutionary studies. In comparative genomics, the accessibility of whole genome sequence of the number of plants enables understanding of genetic, evolutionary, and developmental processes which create a diversity of agricultural plants. Therefore, we anticipate that the integration of next-generation sequencing and metabolomics greatly improves plant breeding programs to develop superior plants with better agronomic traits and fulfills the challenge of food security in the twenty-first century.

5.5 Conclusion

Next-generation sequencing technology has been evolved to the fourth generation of sequencing technology and paved the path from whole genome sequencing to resequencing, metagenomics, and methylome. Thus, the application of NGS in the agricultural sector is pivotal in breeding programs. On the other hand, metabolomics differed from nuclei acid sequencing approaches. Altering the metabolic profile of crops will impact the taste, texture, bioactivity, nutrient composition, shelf life, and functionality. In combination with genomics, the exploration of the molecular network of the plants helps understand its biochemical networking and finally results in the functional development of a system in relation to the genotype. The integration of NGS with metabolomics will help develop a powerful tool for investigating phenotype-genotype and prediction of metabolism in non-model plants.

References

- Alagna F, D'Agostino N, Torchia L, Servili M, Rao R, Pietrella M, Giuliano G, Chiusano ML, Baldoni L, Perrotta G (2009) Comparative 454 pyrosequencing of transcripts from two olive genotypes during fruit development. BMC Genomics 10:1–15
- Allwood JW, Gibon Y, Osorio S, Araújo WL, Vallarino JG, Pétriacq P, Moing A (2021) Developmental metabolomics to decipher and improve fleshy fruit quality. In: Advances in botanical research. Academic Press, pp 3–34

- Alonge M, Wang X, Benoit M, Soyk S, Pereira L, Zhang L, Suresh H, Ramakrishnan S, Maumus F, Ciren D (2020) Major impacts of widespread structural variation on gene expression and crop improvement in tomato. Cell 182:145-161.e23
- Andersen MM, Landes X, Xiang W, Anyshchenko A, Falhof J, Østerberg JT, Olsen LI, Edenbrandt AK, Vedel SE, Thorsen BJ (2015) Feasibility of new breeding techniques for organic farming. Trends Plant Sci 20:426–434
- Ando K, Carr KM, Grumet R (2012) Transcriptome analyses of early cucumber fruit growth identifies distinct gene modules associated with phases of development. BMC Genomics 13:1–16
- Anguraj Vadivel AK (2015) Gel-based proteomics in plants: time to move on from the tradition. Front Plant Sci 6:369
- Araki M, Ishii T (2015) Towards social acceptance of plant breeding by genome editing. Trends Plant Sci 20:145–149
- Araújo WL, Nunes-Nesi A, Osorio S, Usadel B, Fuentes D, Nagy R, Balbo I, Lehmann M, Studart-Witkowski C, Tohge T (2011) Antisense inhibition of the iron-sulphur subunit of succinate dehydrogenase enhances photosynthesis and growth in tomato via an organic acid–mediated effect on stomatal aperture. Plant Cell 23:600–627
- Azam S, Thakur V, Ruperao P, Shah T, Balaji J, Amindala B, Farmer AD, Studholme DJ, May GD, Edwards D (2012) Coverage-based consensus calling (CbCC) of short sequence reads and comparison of CbCC results to identify SNPs in chickpea (Cicer arietinum; Fabaceae), a crop species without a reference genome. Am J Bot 99:186–192
- Badouin H, Gouzy J, Grassa CJ, Murat F, Staton SE, Cottret L, Lelandais-Brière C, Owens GL, Carrère S, Mayjonade B (2017) The sunflower genome provides insights into oil metabolism, flowering and Asterid evolution. Nature 546:148–152
- Bayer PE, Golicz AA, Scheben A, Batley J, Edwards D (2020) Plant pan-genomes are the new reference. Nat Plants 6:914–920
- Bohra A (2013) Emerging paradigms in genomics-based crop improvement. Sci World J 2013
- Bohra A, Saxena K, Varshney RK, Saxena RK (2020) Genomics-assisted breeding for pigeonpea improvement. Theor Appl Genet 133:1721–1737
- Bouchet S, Olatoye MO, Marla SR, Perumal R, Tesso T, Yu J, Tuinstra M, Morris GP (2017) Increased power to dissect adaptive traits in global sorghum diversity using a nested association mapping population. Genetics 206:573–585
- Breseghello F, Coelho ASG (2013) Traditional and modern plant breeding methods with examples in rice (Oryza sativa L.). J Agric Food Chem 61:8277–8286
- Brooks C, Nekrasov V, Lippman ZB, Van Eck J (2014) Efficient gene editing in tomato in the first generation using the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/CRISPRassociated9 system. Plant Physiol 166:1292–1297
- Bueno PCP, Norberto PL (2020) Metabolomics to characterize adaptive and signaling responses in legume crops under abiotic stresses. ACS omega 5, no. 4:1752–1763.
- Cantrell RP, Reeves TG (2002) The cereal of the world's poor takes center stage. Science 296:53-53
- Carreno-Quintero N, Acharjee A, Maliepaard C, Bachem CWB, Mumm R, Bouwmeester H, Visser RGF, Keurentjes JJB (2012) Untargeted metabolic quantitative trait loci analyses reveal a relationship between primary metabolism and potato tuber quality. Plant Physiol 158:1306–1318
- Carreno-Quintero N, Bouwmeester HJ, Keurentjes JJB (2013) Genetic analysis of metabolome– phenotype interactions: from model to crop species. Trends Genet 29:41–50
- Carroll D (2012) A CRISPR approach to gene targeting. Mol Ther 20:1658-1660
- Centeno DC, Osorio S, Nunes-Nesi A, Bertolo ALF, Carneiro RT, Araújo WL, Steinhauser M-C, Michalska J, Rohrmann J, Geigenberger P (2011) Malate plays a crucial role in starch metabolism, ripening, and soluble solid content of tomato fruit and affects postharvest softening. Plant Cell 23:162–184
- Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C (2019) CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 70:667–697
- Cook JP, McMullen MD, Holland JB, Tian F, Bradbury P, Ross-Ibarra J, Buckler ES, Flint-Garcia SA (2012) Genetic architecture of maize kernel composition in the nested association mapping and inbred association panels. Plant Physiol 158:824–834
- Cortés AJ, Chavarro MC, Blair MW (2011) SNP marker diversity in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). Theor Appl Genet 123:827
- Costa V, Gallo MA, Letizia F, Aprile M, Casamassimi A, Ciccodicola A (2010) PPARG: gene expression regulation and next-generation sequencing for unsolved issues. PPAR Res 2010
- Dassanayake M, Haas J, Bohnert H, Cheeseman J (2009) Shedding light on an extremophile lifestyle through transcriptomics. New Phytol 183:764–775
- Davey JW, Hohenlohe PA, Etter PD, Boone JQ, Catchen JM, Blaxter ML (2011) Genome-wide genetic marker discovery and genotyping using next-generation sequencing. Nat Rev Genet 12:499–510
- Daygon VD, Fitzgerald MA (2013) Application of metabolomics for providing a new generation of selection tools for crop improvement. Future Medicine
- Dell'Acqua M, Gatti DM, Pea G, Cattonaro F, Coppens F, Magris G, Hlaing AL, Aung HH, Nelissen H, Baute J (2015) Genetic properties of the MAGIC maize population: a new platform for high definition QTL mapping in Zea mays. Genome Biol 16:1–23
- Dixon RA, Gang DR, Charlton AJ, Fiehn O, Kuiper HA, Reynolds TL, Tjeerdema RS, Jeffery EH, German JB, Ridley WP (2006) Applications of metabolomics in agriculture. J Agric Food Chem 54:8984–8994
- Do TD, Vuong TD, Dunn D, Clubb M, Valliyodan B, Patil G, Chen P, Xu D, Nguyen HT, Shannon JG (2019) Identification of new loci for salt tolerance in soybean by high-resolution genomewide association mapping. BMC Genomics 20:1–16
- Domingos S, Fino J, Paulo OS, Oliveira CM, Goulao LF (2016) Molecular candidates for earlystage flower-to-fruit transition in stenospermocarpic table grape (Vitis vinifera L.) inflorescences ascribed by differential transcriptome and metabolome profiles. Plant Sci 244:40–56
- Dong X, Gao Y, Chen W, Wang W, Gong L, Liu X, Luo J (2015) Spatiotemporal Distribution of Phenolamides and the Genetics of Natural Variation of Hydroxycinnamoyl Spermidine in Rice. Mol Plant 8:111–121
- Eamens A, Wang M-B, Smith NA, Waterhouse PM (2008) RNA silencing in plants: yesterday, today, and tomorrow. Plant Physiol 147:456–468
- Fahad S, Bajwa AA, Nazir U, Anjum SA, Farooq A, Zohaib A, Sadia S, Nasim W, Adkins S, Saud S, Ihsan MZ (2017) Crop production under drought and heat stress: plant responses and management options. Frontiers in Plant Sci p. 1147
- Feldman MJ, Poirier BC, Lange BM (2015) Misexpression of the Niemann-Pick disease type C1 (NPC1)-like protein in Arabidopsis causes sphingolipid accumulation and reproductive defects. Planta 242:921–933
- Fichtner F, Castellanos RU, Ülker B (2014) Precision genetic modifications: a new era in molecular biology and crop improvement. Planta 239:921–939
- Fortes AM, Granell A, Pezzotti M, Bouzayen M (2017) Molecular and metabolic mechanisms associated with fleshy fruit quality. Front Plant Sci 8:1236
- Fragoso CA, Moreno M, Wang Z, Heffelfinger C, Arbelaez LJ, Aguirre JA, Franco N, Romero LE, Labadie K, Zhao H (2017) Genetic architecture of a rice nested association mapping population. G3 Gene Genom Genet 7:1913–1926
- Fuentes RR, Chebotarov D, Duitama J, Smith S, De la Hoz JF, Mohiyuddin M, Wing RA, McNally KL, Tatarinova T, Grigoriev A (2019) Structural variants in 3000 rice genomes. Genome Res 29:870–880
- Gage JL, Vaillancourt B, Hamilton JP, Manrique-Carpintero NC, Gustafson TJ, Barry K, Lipzen A, Tracy WF, Mikel MA, Kaeppler SM (2019) Multiple maize reference genomes impact the identification of variants by genome-wide association study in a diverse inbred panel. Plant Geno 12

- Gaines TA, Lorentz L, Figge A, Herrmann J, Maiwald F, Ott MC, Han H, Busi R, Yu Q, Powles SB (2014) RNA-Seq transcriptome analysis to identify genes involved in metabolism-based diclofop resistance in Lolium rigidum. Plant J 78:865–876
- Gao L, Gonda I, Sun H, Ma Q, Bao K, Tieman DM, Burzynski-Chang EA, Fish TL, Stromberg KA, Sacks GL (2019) The tomato pan-genome uncovers new genes and a rare allele regulating fruit flavor. Nat Genet 51:1044–1051
- Garnica DP, Upadhyaya NM, Dodds PN, Rathjen JP (2013) Strategies for wheat stripe rust pathogenicity identified by transcriptome sequencing. PloS one 8:e67150
- Garrison E, Sirén J, Novak AM, Hickey G, Eizenga JM, Dawson ET, Jones W, Garg S, Markello C, Lin MF (2018) Variation graph toolkit improves read mapping by representing genetic variation in the reference. Nat Biotechnol 36:875–879
- Godfray HCJ, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D, Muir JF, Nisbett N, Pretty J, Robinson S, Toulmin C, Whiteley R (2010) The future of the global food system. The Royal Society
- Golicz AA, Batley J, Edwards D (2016) Towards plant pangenomics. Plant Biotechnol J 14:1099–1105
- Golicz AA, Bayer PE, Bhalla PL, Batley J, Edwards D (2020) Pangenomics comes of age: from bacteria to plant and animal applications. Trends Genet 36:132–145
- Gong L, Chen W, Gao Y, Liu X, Zhang H, Xu C, Yu S, Zhang Q, Luo J (2013) Genetic analysis of the metabolome exemplified using a rice population. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110:20320–20325
- Grassini P, Eskridge KM, Cassman KG (2013) Distinguishing between yield advances and yield plateaus in historical crop production trends. Nat Commun 4:1–11
- Gross BL, Olsen KM (2010) Genetic perspectives on crop domestication. Trends Plant Sci 15:529–537
- Hanhineva K, Rogachev I, Kokko H, Mintz-Oron S, Venger I, Kärenlampi S, Aharoni A (2008) Non-targeted analysis of spatial metabolite composition in strawberry (Fragaria× ananassa) flowers. Phytochemistry 69:2463–2481
- Harrigan GG, Lundry D, Drury S, Berman K, Riordan SG, Nemeth MA, Ridley WP, Glenn KC (2010) Natural variation in crop composition and the impact of transgenesis. Nat Biotechnol 28:402–404
- Hong J, Yang L, Zhang D, Shi J (2016) Plant metabolomics: an indispensable system biology tool for plant science. Int J Mol Sci 17:767
- Huang X, Sang T, Zhao Q, Feng Q, Zhao Y, Li C, Zhu C, Lu T, Zhang Z, Li M (2010) Genomewide association studies of 14 agronomic traits in rice landraces. Nat Genet 42:961–967
- Hurgobin B, Golicz AA, Bayer PE, Chan CKK, Tirnaz S, Dolatabadian A, Schiessl SV, Samans B, Montenegro JD, Parkin IA (2018) Homoeologous exchange is a major cause of gene presence/ absence variation in the amphidiploid Brassica napus. Plant Biotechnol J 16:1265–1274
- Huynh BL, Ehlers JD, Huang BE, Muñoz-Amatriaín M, Lonardi S, Santos JRP, Ndeve A, Batieno BJ, Boukar O, Cisse N (2018) A multi-parent advanced generation inter-cross (MAGIC) population for genetic analysis and improvement of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L. Walp.). Plant J 93:1129–1142
- Imadi SR, Kazi AG, Ahanger MA, Gucel S, Ahmad P (2015) Plant transcriptomics and responses to environmental stress: an overview. J Genet 94:525–537
- Jacobs DM, van den Berg MA, Hall RD (2021) Towards superior plant-based foods using metabolomics. Curr Opin Biotechnol 70:23–28
- Jaganathan D, Bohra A, Thudi M, Varshney RK (2020) Fine mapping and gene cloning in the post-NGS era: advances and prospects. Theor Appl Genet 133:1791–1810
- Jayakodi M, Padmarasu S, Haberer G, Bonthala VS, Gundlach H, Monat C, Lux T, Kamal N, Lang D, Himmelbach A (2020) The barley pan-genome reveals the hidden legacy of mutation breeding. Nature 588:284–289
- Jiang W, Zhou H, Bi H, Fromm M, Yang B, Weeks DP (2013) Demonstration of CRISPR/Cas9/ sgRNA-mediated targeted gene modification in Arabidopsis, tobacco, sorghum and rice. Nucleic Acids Res 41:e188–e188

- Jordan KW, Wang S, He F, Chao S, Lun Y, Paux E, Sourdille P, Sherman J, Akhunova A, Blake NK (2018) The genetic architecture of genome-wide recombination rate variation in allopolyploid wheat revealed by nested association mapping. Plant J 95:1039–1054
- Juntawong P, Sirikhachornkit A, Pimjan R, Sonthirod C, Sangsrakru D, Yoocha T, Tangphatsornruang S, Srinives P (2014) Elucidation of the molecular responses to waterlogging in Jatropha roots by transcriptome profiling. Front Plant Sci 5:658
- Kamei CLA, Severing EI, Dechesne A, Furrer H, Dolstra O, Trindade LM (2016) Orphan crops browser: a bridge between model and orphan crops. Mol Breed 36:9
- Kaplan F, Kopka J, Haskell DW, Zhao W, Schiller KC, Gatzke N., . . . Guy CL (2004) Exploring the temperature-stress metabolome of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 136(4):4159–4168.
- Kidane YG, Gesesse CA, Hailemariam BN, Desta EA, Mengistu DK, Fadda C, Pè ME, Dell'Acqua M (2019) A large nested association mapping population for breeding and quantitative trait locus mapping in Ethiopian durum wheat. Plant Biotechnol J 17:1380–1393
- Kim D, Paggi JM, Park C, Bennett C, Salzberg SL (2019) Graph-based genome alignment and genotyping with HISAT2 and HISAT-genotype. Nat Biotechnol 37:907–915
- Kumar R, Bohra A, Pandey AK, Pandey MK, Kumar A (2017) Metabolomics for plant improvement: status and prospects. Front Plant Sci 8:1302
- Kumar M, Kumar Patel M, Kumar N, Bajpai AB, Siddique KHM (2021) Metabolomics and Molecular Approaches Reveal Drought Stress Tolerance in Plants. Int J Mol Sci 22:9108
- Kusano M, Saito K (2012) Role of metabolomics in crop improvement. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 21:24–31
- Lankadurai BP, Nagato EG, Simpson MJ (2013) Environmental metabolomics:an emerging approach to study organism responses to environmental stressors. Environ Rev 21:180–205
- Langridge P, Fleury D (2011) Making the most of 'omics' for crop breeding. Trends Biotechnol 29:33–40
- Le DT, Nishiyama R, Watanabe Y, Mochida K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Tran L-SP (2011) Genome-wide survey and expression analysis of the plant-specific NAC transcription factor family in soybean during development and dehydration stress. DNA Res 18:263–276
- Lei Z, Huhman DV, Sumner LW (2011) Mass spectrometry strategies in metabolomics. J Biol Chem 286:25435–25442
- Lenaerts B, Collard BC, Demont M (2019) Improving global food security through accelerated plant breeding. Plant Sci 287:110207
- Li Y, Fang J, Qi X, Lin M, Zhong Y, Sun L, Cui W (2018) Combined analysis of the fruit metabolome and transcriptome reveals candidate genes involved in flavonoid biosynthesis in Actinidia arguta. Int J Mol Sci 19:1471
- Lisec J, Meyer RC, Steinfath M, Redestig H, Becher M, Witucka-Wall H, Fiehn O, Törjék O, Selbig J, Altmann T (2008) Identification of metabolic and biomass QTL in Arabidopsis thaliana in a parallel analysis of RIL and IL populations. Plant J 53:960–972
- Liu Y, Du H, Li P, Shen Y, Peng H, Liu S, Zhou G-A, Zhang H, Liu Z, Shi M (2020) Pan-genome of wild and cultivated soybeans. Cell 182:162-176.e13
- Lönnerdal B (2003) Genetically Modified Plants for Improved Trace Element Nutrition. J Nutr 133:1490S–1493S
- Lyu S, Gao L, Zhang R, Zhang C, Hou X (2020) Correlation analysis of expression profile and quantitative iTRAQ-LC-MS/MS proteomics reveals resistance mechanism against TuMV in Chinese cabbage (Brassica rapa ssp. pekinensis). Front Genet 11:963
- Ma Z, He S, Wang X, Sun J, Zhang Y, Zhang G, Wu L, Li Z, Liu Z, Sun G (2018) Resequencing a core collection of upland cotton identifies genomic variation and loci influencing fiber quality and yield. Nat Genet 50:803–813
- Mardis ER (2008) The impact of next-generation sequencing technology on genetics. Trends Genet 24:133–141

- Matsuda F, Hirai MY, Sasaki E, Akiyama K, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Provart NJ, Sakurai T, Shimada Y, Saito K (2010) AtMetExpress development: a phytochemical atlas of Arabidopsis development. Plant Physiol 152:566–578
- McCouch S (2004) Diversifying selection in plant breeding. PLoS Biol 2:e347
- Miller MR, Dunham JP, Amores A, Cresko WA, Johnson EA (2007) Rapid and cost-effective polymorphism identification and genotyping using restriction site associated DNA (RAD) markers. Genome Res 17:240–248
- Montenegro JD, Golicz AA, Bayer PE, Hurgobin B, Lee H, Chan CKK, Visendi P, Lai K, Doležel J, Batley J (2017) The pangenome of hexaploid bread wheat. Plant J 90:1007–1013
- Morrell PL, Buckler ES, Ross-Ibarra J (2012) Crop genomics: advances and applications. Nat Rev Genet 13:85–96
- Mounet F, Moing A, Garcia V, Petit J, Maucourt M, Deborde C, Bernillon S, Le Gall G, Colquhoun I, Defernez M (2009) Gene and metabolite regulatory network analysis of early developing fruit tissues highlights new candidate genes for the control of tomato fruit composition and development. Plant Physiol 149:1505–1528
- Michaletti A, Naghavi MR, Toorchi M, Zolla L, Rinalducci S (2018) Metabolomics and proteomics reveal drought-stress responses of leaf tissues from spring-wheat. Sci Rep 8:1–18.
- Nadarajah, Kalaivani K (2020) ROS homeostasis in abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Inter J Molecul Sci 21(15):5208
- Nice LM, Steffenson BJ, Brown-Guedira GL, Akhunov ED, Liu C, Kono TJY, Morrell PL, Blake TK, Horsley RD, Smith KP (2016) Development and genetic characterization of an advanced backcross-nested association mapping (AB-NAM) population of wild× cultivated barley. Genetics 203:1453–1467
- Novaes E, Drost DR, Farmerie WG, Pappas GJ, Grattapaglia D, Sederoff RR, Kirst M (2008) High-throughput gene and SNP discovery in Eucalyptus grandis, an uncharacterized genome. BMC Genomics 9:1–14
- Ogawa D, Nonoue Y, Tsunematsu H, Kanno N, Yamamoto T, J-i Y (2018) Discovery of QTL alleles for grain shape in the Japan-MAGIC rice population using haplotype information. G3 Gene Genom Genet 8:3559–3565
- Ongom PO, Ejeta G (2018) Mating design and genetic structure of a multi-parent advanced generation intercross (MAGIC) population of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench). G3 Gene Genom Genet 8:331–341
- Osakabe Y, Osakabe K (2015) Genome editing with engineered nucleases in plants. Plant Cell Physiol 56:389–400
- Park S, Kang K, Kim YS, Back K (2009) Endosperm-specific expression of tyramine N-hydroxycinnamoyltransferase and tyrosine decarboxylase from a single self-processing polypeptide produces high levels of tyramine derivatives in rice seeds. Biotechnol Lett 31:911–915
- Patil G, Do T, Vuong TD, Valliyodan B, Lee J-D, Chaudhary J, Shannon JG, Nguyen HT (2016) Genomic-assisted haplotype analysis and the development of high-throughput SNP markers for salinity tolerance in soybean. Sci Rep 6:1–13
- Poland JA, Rife TW (2012) Genotyping-by-sequencing for plant breeding and genetics. Plant Geno 5
- Poland JA, Bradbury PJ, Buckler ES, Nelson RJ (2011) Genome-wide nested association mapping of quantitative resistance to northern leaf blight in maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108:6893–6898
- Rahman H, Jagadeeshselvam N, Valarmathi R, Sachin B, Sasikala R, Senthil N, Sudhakar D, Robin S, Muthurajan R (2014) Transcriptome analysis of salinity responsiveness in contrasting genotypes of finger millet (Eleusine coracana L.) through RNA-sequencing. Plant Mol Biol 85:485–503
- Ray S, Satya P (2014) Next generation sequencing technologies for next generation plant breeding. Front Plant Sci 5:367
- Ray DK, Mueller ND, West PC, Foley JA (2013) Yield trends are insufficient to double global crop production by 2050. PloS one 8:e66428

- Razzaq A, Sadia B, Raza A, Khalid Hameed M, Saleem F (2019) Metabolomics: A way forward for crop improvement. Metabolites 9:303
- Riedelsheimer C, Lisec J, Czedik-Eysenberg A, Sulpice R, Flis A, Grieder C, Altmann T, Stitt M, Willmitzer L, Melchinger AE (2012) Genome-wide association mapping of leaf metabolic profiles for dissecting complex traits in maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci 109:8872–8877
- Roldan MVG, Engel B, de Vos RC, Vereijken P, Astola L, Groenenboom M, van de Geest H, Bovy A, Molenaar J, van Eeuwijk F (2014) Metabolomics reveals organ-specific metabolic rearrangements during early tomato seedling development. Metabolomics 10:958–974
- Ronald PC (2014) Lab to farm: applying research on plant genetics and genomics to crop improvement. PLoS Biol 12:e1001878
- Ru L, Osorio S, Wang L, Fernie AR, Patrick JW, Ruan Y-L (2017) Transcriptomic and metabolomics responses to elevated cell wall invertase activity during tomato fruit set. J Exp Bot 68:4263–4279
- Sallam A, Martsch R (2015) Association mapping for frost tolerance using multi-parent advanced generation inter-cross (MAGIC) population in faba bean (Vicia faba L.). Genetica 143:501–514
- Satterthwaite D, McGranahan G, Tacoli C (2010) Urbanization and its implications for food and farming. Philos Trans Royal Soc B Biol Sci 365:2809–2820
- Saxena RK, Edwards D, Varshney RK (2014) Structural variations in plant genomes. Brief Funct Genomics 13:296–307
- Schauer N, Semel Y, Roessner U, Gur A, Balbo I, Carrari F, Pleban T, Perez-Melis A, Bruedigam C, Kopka J (2006) Comprehensive metabolic profiling and phenotyping of interspecific introgression lines for tomato improvement. Nat Biotechnol 24:447–454
- Scheben A, Edwards D (2018) Bottlenecks for genome-edited crops on the road from lab to farm. Genome Biol 19:1–7
- Shang Y, Ma Y, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Duan L, Chen H, Zeng J, Zhou Q, Wang S, Gu W (2014) Biosynthesis, regulation, and domestication of bitterness in cucumber. Science 346:1084–1088
- Sharma R, Draicchio F, Bull H, Herzig P, Maurer A, Pillen K, Thomas WTB, Flavell AJ (2018) Genome-wide association of yield traits in a nested association mapping population of barley reveals new gene diversity for future breeding. J Exp Bot 69:3811–3822
- Simó C, Ibáez C, Valdés A, Cifuentes A, García-Cañas V (2014) Metabolomics of genetically modified crops. Int J Mol Sci 15:18941–18966
- Song H-H, Ryu HW, Lee KJ, Jeong IY, Kim DS, Oh S-R (2014) Metabolomics investigation of flavonoid synthesis in soybean leaves depending on the growth stage. Metabolomics 10:833–841
- Springer NM, Anderson SN, Andorf CM, Ahern KR, Bai F, Barad O, Barbazuk WB, Bass HW, Baruch K, Ben-Zvi G (2018) The maize W22 genome provides a foundation for functional genomics and transposon biology. Nat Genet 50:1282–1288
- Stadlmeier M, Hartl L, Mohler V (2018) Usefulness of a multiparent advanced generation intercross population with a greatly reduced mating design for genetic studies in winter wheat. Front Plant Sci 9:1825
- Stevens RG, Baldet P, Bouchet J-P, Causse M, Deborde C, Deschodt C, Faurobert M, Garchery C, Garcia V, Gautier H (2018) A systems biology study in tomato fruit reveals correlations between the ascorbate pool and genes involved in ribosome biogenesis, translation, and the heat-shock response. Front Plant Sci 9:137
- Stewart D, Shepherd LVT (2013) Chapter 9: Metabolomics for the safety assessment of genetically modified (GM) crops. In: Weimer BC, Slupsky C (eds) Metabolomics in food and nutrition. Woodhead Publishing, pp 192–216
- Sun X, Zhu A, Liu S, Sheng L, Ma Q, Zhang L, Nishawy EME, Zeng Y, Xu J, Ma Z (2013) Integration of metabolomics and subcellular organelle expression microarray to increase understanding the organic acid changes in post-harvest citrus fruit. J Integr Plant Biol 55:1038–1053
- Sun X, Jiao C, Schwaninger H, Chao CT, Ma Y, Duan N, Khan A, Ban S, Xu K, Cheng L (2020) Phased diploid genome assemblies and pan-genomes provide insights into the genetic history of apple domestication. Nat Genet 52:1423–1432

- Takáč T, Šamajová O, Šamaj J (2017) Integrating cell biology and proteomic approaches in plants. J Proteome 169:165–175
- Tang S, Liang H, Yan D, Zhao Y, Han X, Carlson JE, Xia X, Yin W (2013) Populus euphratica: the transcriptomic response to drought stress. Plant Mol Biol 83:539–557
- Tarpley L, Duran AL, Kebrom TH, Sumner LW (2005) Biomarker metabolites capturing the metabolite variance present in a rice plant developmental period. BMC Plant Biol 5:1–12
- Tayeh N, Klein A, Le Paslier M-C, Jacquin F, Houtin H, Rond C, Chabert-Martinello M, Magnin-Robert J-B, Marget P, Aubert G (2015) Genomic prediction in pea: effect of marker density and training population size and composition on prediction accuracy. Front Plant Sci 6:941
- Tian F, Bradbury PJ, Brown PJ, Hung H, Sun Q, Flint-Garcia S, Rocheford TR, McMullen MD, Holland JB, Buckler ES (2011) Genome-wide association study of leaf architecture in the maize nested association mapping population. Nat Genet 43:159–162
- Tian X, Li R, Fu W, Li Y, Wang X, Li M, Du D, Tang Q, Cai Y, Long Y (2020) Building a sequence map of the pig pan-genome from multiple de novo assemblies and Hi-C data. Sci China Life Sci 63:750–763
- Tietel Z, Feldmesser E, Lewinsohn E, Fallik E, Porat R (2011) Changes in the transcriptome of Mor'mandarin flesh during storage: emphasis on molecular regulation of fruit flavor deterioration. J Agric Food Chem 59:3819–3827
- Tomlinson I (2013) Doubling food production to feed the 9 billion: a critical perspective on a key discourse of food security in the UK. J Rural Stud 29:81–90
- Toubiana D, Semel Y, Tohge T, Beleggia R, Cattivelli L, Rosental L, Nikoloski Z, Zamir D, Fernie AR, Fait A (2012) Metabolic profiling of a mapping population exposes new insights in the regulation of seed metabolism and seed, fruit, and plant relations. PLoS Genet 8:e1002612
- Trebbi D, Maccaferri M, de Heer P, Sørensen A, Giuliani S, Salvi S, Sanguineti MC, Massi A, van der Vossen EAG, Tuberosa R (2011) High-throughput SNP discovery and genotyping in durum wheat (Triticum durum Desf.). Theor Appl Genet 123:555–569
- Trick M, Long Y, Meng J, Bancroft I (2009) Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) discovery in the polyploid Brassica napus using Solexa transcriptome sequencing. Plant Biotechnol J 7:334–346
- Turner MF, Heuberger AL, Kirkwood JS, Collins CC, Wolfrum EJ, Broeckling CD, Prenni JE, Jahn CE (2016) Non-targeted metabolomics in diverse sorghum breeding lines indicates primary and secondary metabolite profiles are associated with plant biomass accumulation and photosynthesis. Front Plant Sci 7:953
- Uarrota VG, Fuentealba C, Hernández I, Defilippi-Bruzzone B, Meneses C, Campos-Vargas R, Lurie S, Hertog M, Carpentier S, Poblete-Echeverría C (2019) Integration of proteomics and metabolomics data of early and middle season Hass avocados under heat treatment. Food Chem 289:512–521
- Valdés A, Simó C, Ibáñez C, García-Cañas V (2013) Foodomics strategies for the analysis of transgenic foods. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 52:2–15
- Van Bel M, Proost S, Van Neste C, Deforce D, Van de Peer Y, Vandepoele K (2013) TRAPID: an efficient online tool for the functional and comparative analysis of de novo RNA-Seq transcriptomes. Genome Biol 14:1–10
- van Dam NM, Bouwmeester HJ (2016) Metabolomics in the rhizosphere: tapping into belowground chemical communication. Trends Plant Sci 21:256–265
- Varshney RK, Saxena RK, Upadhyaya HD, Khan AW, Yu Y, Kim C, Rathore A, Kim D, Kim J, An S (2017a) Whole-genome resequencing of 292 pigeonpea accessions identifies genomic regions associated with domestication and agronomic traits. Nat Genet 49:1082–1088
- Varshney RK, Shi C, Thudi M, Mariac C, Wallace J, Qi P, Zhang H, Zhao Y, Wang X, Rathore A (2017b) Pearl millet genome sequence provides a resource to improve agronomic traits in arid environments. Nat Biotechnol 35:969–976
- Varshney RK, Thudi M, Roorkiwal M, He W, Upadhyaya HD, Yang W, Bajaj P, Cubry P, Rathore A, Jian J (2019) Resequencing of 429 chickpea accessions from 45 countries provides insights into genome diversity, domestication and agronomic traits. Nat Genet 51:857–864

- Varshney RK, Sinha P, Singh VK, Kumar A, Zhang Q, Bennetzen JL (2020) 5Gs for crop genetic improvement. Curr Opin Plant Biol 56:190–196
- Verslues PE, Agarwal M, Katiyar-Agarwal S, Zhu J, Zhu JK (2006) Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. Plant J 45:523–539
- Vidal M (2011) E. Cusick M. & Barabási A.-L. Interactome networks and human disease. Cell 144:986–998
- Wang Z, Gerstein M, Snyder M (2009) RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nat Rev Genet 10:57–63
- Wang W-S, Pan Y-J, Zhao X-Q, Dwivedi D, Zhu L-H, Ali J, Fu B-Y, Li Z-K (2011) Droughtinduced site-specific DNA methylation and its association with drought tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). J Exp Bot 62:1951–1960
- Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Gao C, Qiu J-L (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol 32:947–951
- Wang C, Hu S, Gardner C, Lübberstedt T (2017a) Emerging avenues for utilization of exotic germplasm. Trends Plant Sci 22:624–637
- Wang Z, Cui Y, Vainstein A, Chen S, Ma H (2017b) Regulation of fig (Ficus carica L.) fruit color: metabolomic and transcriptomic analyses of the flavonoid biosynthetic pathway. Front Plant Sci 8:1990
- Wang W, Mauleon R, Hu Z, Chebotarov D, Tai S, Wu Z, Li M, Zheng T, Fuentes RR, Zhang F (2018) Genomic variation in 3,010 diverse accessions of Asian cultivated rice. Nature 557:43–49
- Wei X, Liu K, Zhang Y, Feng Q, Wang L, Zhao Y, Li D, Zhao Q, Zhu X, Zhu X (2015) Genetic discovery for oil production and quality in sesame. Nat Commun 6:1–10
- Wen W, Li K, Alseekh S, Omranian N, Zhao L, Zhou Y, Xiao Y, Jin M, Yang N, Liu H (2015) Genetic determinants of the network of primary metabolism and their relationships to plant performance in a maize recombinant inbred line population. Plant Cell 27:1839–1856
- Wilkins KE, Booher NJ, Wang L, Bogdanove AJ (2015) TAL effectors and activation of predicted host targets distinguish Asian from African strains of the rice pathogen Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzicola while strict conservation suggests universal importance of five TAL effectors. Front Plant Sci 6:536
- Xavier A, Hall B, Hearst AA, Cherkauer KA, Rainey KM (2017) Genetic architecture of phenomicenabled canopy coverage in Glycine max. Genetics 206:1081–1089
- Xavier A, Jarquin D, Howard R, Ramasubramanian V, Specht JE, Graef GL, Beavis WD, Diers BW, Song Q, Cregan PB (2018) Genome-wide analysis of grain yield stability and environmental interactions in a multiparental soybean population. G3 Gene Genom Genet 8:519–529
- Xu P, Liu Z, Fan X, Gao J, Zhang X, Zhang X, Shen X (2013) De novo transcriptome sequencing and comparative analysis of differentially expressed genes in Gossypium aridum under salt stress. Gene 525:26–34
- Yang CQ, Fang X, Wu XM, Mao YB, Wang LJ, Chen XY (2012) Transcriptional regulation of plant secondary metabolism F. J Integr Plant Biol 54:703–712
- Yang L, Wen K-S, Ruan X, Zhao Y-X, Wei F, Wang Q (2018) Response of plant secondary metabolites to environmental factors. Molecules 23:762
- Yang Y, Saand MA, Huang L, Abdelaal WB, Zhang J, Wu Y, Li J, Sirohi MH, Wang F (2021) Applications of multi-omics technologies for crop improvement. Front Plant Sci 1846
- Yates SA, Swain MT, Hegarty MJ, Chernukin I, Lowe M, Allison GG, Ruttink T, Abberton MT, Jenkins G, Skøt L (2014) De novo assembly of red clover transcriptome based on RNA-Seq data provides insight into drought response, gene discovery and marker identification. BMC Genomics 15:1–15
- Ying H, Shi J, Zhang S, Pingcuo G, Wang S, Zhao F, Cui Y, Zeng X (2019) Transcriptomic and metabolomic profiling provide novel insights into fruit development and flesh coloration in Prunus mira Koehne, a special wild peach species. BMC Plant Biol 19:1–16

- Yu J, Golicz AA, Lu K, Dossa K, Zhang Y, Chen J, Wang L, You J, Fan D, Edwards D (2019) Insight into the evolution and functional characteristics of the pan-genome assembly from sesame landraces and modern cultivars. Plant Biotechnol J 17:881–892
- Yuan Y, Bayer PE, Batley J, Edwards D (2017) Improvements in genomic technologies: application to crop genomics. Trends Biotechnol 35:547–558
- Zhang F, Maeder ML, Unger-Wallace E, Hoshaw JP, Reyon D, Christian M, Li X, Pierick CJ, Dobbs D, Peterson T (2010) High frequency targeted mutagenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana using zinc finger nucleases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:12028–12033
- Zhang H, Zhang J, Wei P, Zhang B, Gou F, Feng Z, Mao Y, Yang L, Zhang H, Xu N (2014) The CRISPR/C as9 system produces specific and homozygous targeted gene editing in rice in one generation. Plant Biotechnol J 12:797–807
- Zhang Z, Ge X, Luo X, Wang P, Fan Q, Hu G, Xiao J, Li F, Wu J (2018) Simultaneous editing of two copies of Gh14-3-3d confers enhanced transgene-clean plant defense against Verticillium dahliae in allotetraploid upland cotton. Front Plant Sci 9:842
- Zhang H, Wang X, Pan Q, Li P, Liu Y, Lu X, Zhong W, Li M, Han L, Li J (2019) QTG-Seq accelerates QTL fine mapping through QTL partitioning and whole-genome sequencing of bulked segregant samples. Mol Plant 12:426–437
- Zhao Q, Feng Q, Lu H, Li Y, Wang A, Tian Q, Zhan Q, Lu Y, Zhang L, Huang T (2018) Pangenome analysis highlights the extent of genomic variation in cultivated and wild rice. Nat Genet 50:278–284
- Zhao J, Bayer PE, Ruperao P, Saxena RK, Khan AW, Golicz AA, Nguyen HT, Batley J, Edwards D, Varshney RK (2020) Trait associations in the pangenome of pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan). Plant Biotechnol J 18:1946–1954
- Zhou J, Ma C, Xu H, Yuan K, Lu X, Zhu Z, Wu Y, Xu G (2009) Metabolic profiling of transgenic rice with cryIAc and sck genes: An evaluation of unintended effects at metabolic level by using GC-FID and GC–MS. J Chromatogr B 877:725–732
- Zhou Z, Jiang Y, Wang Z, Gou Z, Lyu J, Li W, Yu Y, Shu L, Zhao Y, Ma Y (2015) Resequencing 302 wild and cultivated accessions identifies genes related to domestication and improvement in soybean. Nat Biotechnol 33:408–414
- Zhou Y, Ma Y, Zeng J, Duan L, Xue X, Wang H, Lin T, Liu Z, Zeng K, Zhong Y (2016) Convergence and divergence of bitterness biosynthesis and regulation in Cucurbitaceae. Nat Plants 2:1–8
- Zivy M, Wienkoop S, Renaut J, Pinheiro C, Goulas E, Carpentier S (2015) The quest for tolerant varieties: the importance of integrating "omics" techniques to phenotyping. Front Plant Sci 6:448

Chapter 6 Effect of Climate Change on Abiotic Stress Response Gene Networks in *Arabidopsis thaliana*



Bayram Ali Yerlikaya, Dilan Ates, Buasimuhan Abudureyimu, and Emre Aksoy

Contents

6.1	Introduction	150
6.2	Bioinformatic Analyses	151
6.3	Basic Region/Leucine Zipper Family	156
6.4	Homeodomain Leucine Zipper Family	157
6.5	Zinc Finger Protein Family	157
6.6	B3 Domain Family	158
6.7	APETALA2/ETHYLENE-RESPONSIVE FACTOR Family	159
6.8	Myeloblastosis Family	159
6.9	WRKY Family	160
6.10	NAM, ATAF, and CUC Families.	161
6.11	Heat Shock Factor Family	161
6.12	GIBBERELLIC ACID INSENSITIVE (GAI), REPRESSOR OF GAI (RGA),	
	and SCARECROW (SCR) Families	162
6.13	C2C2-CO-Like Family	162
6.14	Type B Arabidopsis thaliana Response Regulator Family	163
6.15	14-3-3 Family	164
6.16	Other Regulatory Proteins: Calcium Sensor Family	164
6.17	Conclusion and Future Prospects.	165
Refer	ences	166

B. A. Yerlikaya

Department of Agricultural Genetic Engineering, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Technologies, Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Niğde, Turkey

Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

D. Ates · B. Abudureyimu

Department of Agricultural Genetic Engineering, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Technologies, Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Niğde, Turkey

E. Aksoy (🖂)

Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: emreaks@metu.edu.tr

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_6

6.1 Introduction

Climate change threatens future food security, and, in turn, societal welfare since changing climatic conditions has been changing agricultural production and is expected to worsen in coming decades. Climate change decreases crop yield by intensifying the environmental stress duration or strength on plants. Environmental stresses such as drought, high/low temperature, salinity, and flooding put extensive pressure on plant growth and development (Fahad et al. 2021a).

Plants respond to environmental stress conditions in some conserved regulatory networks, whereas there are minute unique differences between the stresses (Fahad et al. 2021b). These global stress response pathways are essential to determine the stress tolerance level of a species. Among global stress response pathways, generally, genes coding for antioxidants and/or reactive oxygen species (ROS)-scavenging enzymes stand out. Additionally, there is a vast majority of different proteins, including transporters, aquaporins, heat shock proteins, freeze proteins, and secondary metabolites, integrated into stress response pathways. Taken together, all these responses act in synchrony to develop a tolerance response in the organism. Integration of different stress response pathways is a difficult task and needs precise control. The pathways are controlled at transcriptional, post-transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels. Transcriptional control is performed with the help of transcription factors (TFs) that bind to the cis-elements at the promoter regions of the genes. TFs can induce or suppress the transcription, thereby affecting the mRNA abundance of target genes. This suggests that TFs are the most important regulators in stress response pathways. According to one report, there are more than 1533 TFs in the Arabidopsis genome (Riechmann et al. 2000), whereas this number is over 1789 according to another report (Guo et al. 2005). Transcription factors are organized into 49 families and constitute 6% of Arabidopsis genes (Riechmann 2008).

In addition to a high number of transcription factors encoded in the *Arabidopsis* genome, they can be induced or repressed by other TFs or other ways of stress signaling such as divalent metal binding, phosphorylation, or receptor–protein interactions. Moreover, the same transcription factor can induce a downstream gene while repressing another one. A TF gene can also be induced or suppressed by different stress conditions. Therefore, stress signaling triggers a massive network of genes to be activated and leads to the interaction of their products to develop the proper tolerance response (Song et al. 2016). This suggests that the understanding of abiotic stress response gene networks is essential to develop food crops resilient to climate change.

Recent bioinformatics analyses have identified a core gene network that is essential in abiotic stress tolerance in plants. These genes include various TFs with essential roles in regulating the downstream tolerance mechanisms. However, a more detailed analysis is required to understand the core transcriptional regulatory network of stress-responsive genes in the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Here, we explain the identification of a core transcriptional regulatory network of stressresponsive genes in *Arabidopsis* by bioinformatic analyses under several abiotic stress conditions. These TFs are grouped in different families with previously known functions in stress tolerance in plants while some families need further studies to investigate the potential roles in the network.

6.2 **Bioinformatic Analyses**

To identify the gene networks affected by different abiotic stresses, extensive bioinformatic studies have already been done in Arabidopsis thaliana (Shinozaki et al. 2003; Fujita et al. 2006; Seki et al. 2007; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2007; Tran et al. 2007; Nakashima et al. 2009; Urano et al. 2010; Nakashima et al. 2014), rice (Cooper et al. 2003; Yun et al. 2010; Seo et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2012; Sharma et al. 2013), and wheat (Tardif et al. 2007). Here, we analyzed the differentially expressed genes in A. thaliana from a total of eight abiotic stress conditions that were deposited under the AtGenExpress global stress expression dataset (accession numbers: TAIR-ME00325, TAIR-ME00327, TAIR-ME00328, TAIR-ME00329, TAIR-ME00338, TAIR-ME00339, TAIR-ME00340, TAIR-ME00345) (Kilian et al. 2007; Goda et al. 2008; Wanke et al. 2009). First, differentially expressed gene lists were developed from individual stress microarray data by GeneSpring GX software (Agilent), then the list of overlapping genes that are differentially expressed in all stress conditions was generated. In all stress conditions, 11 or 9 genes were upregulated or downregulated, respectively. To understand the stress regulatory networks that function in all stress conditions, transcription factors or proteins that show putative DNA-binding function have been screened out from the list of all differentially expressed genes. Eleven genes in nine transcription factor families were found to be upregulated, whereas eight genes in eight transcription factor families were downregulated under all stress conditions (Tables 6.1 and 6.2). These genes are defined as the core gene cluster differentially expressed in various abiotic stresses, and the details about their known functions are provided in the following sections.

To elucidate the potential functions of the core gene cluster, network interactions of these core genes were identified via Atted II (Obayashi et al. 2017) and String software (Szklarczyk et al. 2016). According to these analyses, the co-expressed network of genes included very well-known abiotic stress response genes, such as late embryogenesis-abundant proteins, aquaporins, kinases, phosphatases, and chaperons. The extended gene networks included several transcription factors that are co-expressed with the core transcription factor gene clusters, suggesting that the abiotic stress response and tolerance is a complex phenomenon that integrates different signaling pathways (Fig. 6.1). Upregulated core genes were grouped in three gene clusters. The biggest of the three, the first cluster, included *SAP12*, *SCL11*, *WRKY25*, *CPDK32*, *EDF2/RAV2*, *RD26*, and *ZAT6*. The other two clusters were centered separately around *MYB44* and *NDB2*. Downregulated core genes, on the other hand, were separated into four groups. *BZIP61*, *BBX27*, *HAT1*, and *MYB30* were clustered in the largest group of clusters, whereas *MYB59* and *DEWAX* generated separate clusters of their own. *SOS3* and *ARR5* were clustered together.

	Gene		
AGI	abbreviation	Gene name	Family name
AT3G21890	BBX31	B-BOX DOMAIN PROTEIN31	C2C2-CO-like
AT3G57530	CPDK32	CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE32	EF-hand- containing
AT4G05020	NDB2	NAD(P)H DEHYDROGENASEB2	protein
AT5G67300	MYB44	MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN44	MYB
AT2G30250	WRKY25	WRKY DNA-BINDING PROTEIN25	WRKY
AT4G27410	RD26 / NAC72	RESPONSIVE TO DESICCATION26 / NAC DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN72	NAC
AT3G28210	SAP12	STRESS-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN12	C2H2
AT5G04340	ZAT6	ZINC FINGER OF ARABİDOPSİS THALIANA6	
AT4G36990	HSF4/TBF1/ HSFB1	HEAT SHOCK FACTOR4 / TL1-BINDING TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR1 / HEAT SHOCK FACTORB1	Heat shock factor
AT5G59450	SCL11	SCARECROW-LIKE11	GRAS
AT1G68840	TEM2/EDF2/ RAV2	<i>TEMPRANILLO2 / ETHYLENE RESPONSE</i> <i>DNA BINDING FACTOR2 / RELATED TO</i> <i>ABI3/VP1 2</i>	B3 DNA binding

 Table 6.1
 Core gene cluster upregulated in various abiotic stresses

 Table 6.2
 Core gene cluster downregulated in various abiotic stresses

	Gene		
AGI	abbreviation	Gene name	Family name
AT1G34760	GRF11	GENERAL REGULATORY FACTOR11	14-3-3
AT1G68190	BBX27	B-BOX DOMAIN PROTEIN27	C2C2-CO-like
AT3G48100	ARR5	ARABİDOPSİS THALIANA RESPONSE REGULATOR2	aRR-B
AT3G58120	BZIP61	BASIC LEUCINE ZIPPER	bZIP
AT4G17460	HAT1	HOMEOBOX-LEUCINE ZIPPER PROTEIN HATI	EaR repressome
AT5G24270	CBL4/SOS3	CALCINEURIN B-LIKE PROTEIN4 / SALT OVERLY SENSITIVE3	EF-hand-containing protein
AT5G61590	DEWAX	DECREASE WAX BIOSYNTHESIS	AP2/ERF
AT5G59780	MYB59	MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN59	MYB
AT3G28910	MYB30	MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN30	

Interestingly, *GRF11* was not clustered with any other genes, suggesting that the gene requires more attention in understanding its functions in general stress response networks.

Cluster analysis of proteins that are identified in our core gene network indicated a large group of proteins interacting with each other (Fig. 6.2). The proteins in the network included the majority of the transcription factors affected by all abiotic stresses. Only some proteins, including HAT1, BZIP61, ARR5, BBX31, MYB59, DEWAX, and SCL11, were not identified in this network. Interestingly, some other



Fig. 6.1 Abiotic stress response gene networks in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. (a) Co-expression gene network of upregulated core genes (b) Co-expression gene network of downregulated core genes. The gene networks were drawn with Atted II software (Obayashi et al. 2017)



Fig. 6.2 Abiotic stress response protein networks in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The networks were drawn with String software (Szklarczyk et al. 2016)

stress-related proteins were also clustered in this network, including heat shock proteins and salinity tolerance pathway proteins. Protein cluster analysis represented significantly more interactions than expected (with a protein–protein interaction enrichment p-value of 2.22×10^{-16}), suggesting that the interactions in the protein network are theoretically significant. Therefore, further wet laboratory

experiments are needed for their verification. Blast2GO software (Conesa et al. 2005) was used to determine gene ontologies (GOs) that the protein network is representing (Fig. 6.3). As can be seen in the figure, the majority of the GOs were related to abiotic stress responses and hormonal signaling, indicating the necessity



Fig. 6.3 Gene ontology analysis according to the biological processes. (**a**) GO analysis of upregulated genes. (**b**) GO analysis of downregulated genes. The analysis was done with Blast2GO (Conesa et al. 2005)

of hormonal control on abiotic stress tolerance signaling. To confirm the Blast2GO analysis results, GO enrichment analysis was performed by using String software (Table 6.3). Accordingly, the top 10 biological processes GO terms enriched in abiotic stress response protein networks were related with environmental or chemical stress responses, further indicating the identified list of transcription factor genes and proteins that are functionally involved in stress response signaling networks.

Finally, four entities were shared between the networks identified in Atted II and String software, except for the transcription factors identified in our core gene list (Table 6.4). Since Atted II only compares the co-expressed genes whereas String compares any potential protein-protein interactions (even including the text mining), the entities that are identified in the intersection of both software specifically indicate the most striking genes in the entire dataset. Among these genes, DREB26 and WRKY33 have been shown to function in abiotic stress signaling and tolerance (Jiang and Deyholos 2009; Kazama et al. 2013). EXORDIUM (EXO) was identified as a probable intermediary protein that functions in brassinosteroid-promoted leaf and root growth (Schröder et al. 2009). Its mutants show several morphological deficiencies. However, its potential functions under abiotic stress tolerance have not been studied yet. Finally, CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE28 (CPK28) was identified as a functional negative regulator of the BIK1 innate immune response pathway via regulating cytosolic calcium (Ca²⁺) levels (Monaghan et al. 2015). It contains a 14-3-3-binding motif and was shown to phosphorylate 14-3-3 proteins (Swatek et al. 2014) as well as itself (Bender et al. 2017) for regulation of calcium signaling via the Ca²⁺-calmodulin pathway. Although no reports prove the integration of CPK28 in abiotic stress response signaling networks, through the Ca²⁺-calmodulin pathway and activation of 14-3-3 proteins, CPK28 shows a high potential to have an important function in stress signaling in the cells.

		Gene cour	ıt	False discovery
GO term	Description	Observed	Background	rate
GO:0009628	Response to abiotic stimulus	23	1699	1.51e-15
GO:0050896	Response to stimulus	33	5064	1.51e-15
GO:0006950	Response to stress	26	2932	2.60e-14
GO:1901700	Response to oxygen-containing compound	19	1398	1.00e-12
GO:0042493	Response to drug	14	533	1.16e-12
GO:0042221	Response to chemical	23	2654	4.73e-12
GO:0009408	Response to heat	10	184	8.44e-12
GO:0009266	Response to temperature stimulus	12	505	1.23e-10
GO:0010200	Response to chitin	8	113	1.44e-10
GO:0046677	Response to antibiotic	9	253	1.84e-09

 Table 6.3
 Functional enrichments in abiotic stress response protein networks

	Gene	
AGI	abbreviation	Gene name
AT1G21910	DREB26	DEHYDRATION RESPONSE ELEMENT-BINDING PROTEIN26
AT2G38470	WRKY33	WRKY DNA-BINDING PROTEIN33
AT4G08950	EXO	EXORDIUM
AT5G66210	CPK28	CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE28

 Table 6.4
 Genes identified by Atted II and String software in abiotic stress response network

6.3 Basic Region/Leucine Zipper Family

The Arabidopsis genome includes 77 members of the basic region/leucine zipper family (bZIP) (Riechmann et al. 2000; Corrêa et al. 2008). Genetic and molecular studies of these AtbZIP factors demonstrated that they have key functions on diverse biological processes such as abiotic stress, biotic stress, light signaling, phytohormone response, seed maturation, and other developmental processes (Dröge-Laser et al. 2018). During the evolution of plants, early recruitment of bZIP TFs may contribute to this diversity, which is in contrast to apparently more bounded functions of the plant-specific R2R3-MYB and WRKY TFs (Eulgem et al. 2000). The ABFs or AREBs are bZIP TFs regulating ABA-dependent gene expression by binding to the ABRE motifs. ABA and abiotic stresses such as drought, cold, or salinity activate gene expression through cis-elements that consist of the ABA-responsive elements (ABRE) in vegetative tissues. Based on the in vitro and yeast assays, ABA-responsive element-binding proteins (AREBs) and ABRE-binding factors (ABFs) can bind to different ABRE-containing promoters (Choi et al. 2000). ABA and relevant stresses therefore possibly activate both transcriptional and posttranslational regulation of several groups of bZIPs (Jakoby et al. 2002). One of the members of the bZIP transcription factor family, AtbZIP61, was downregulated under relevant stress conditions in our bioinformatic analyses. The bZIP34 and bZIP61 are two putative Arabidopsis E group bZIP transcription factors that can form heterodimers through their N-terminal regions for transcriptional activation. AtbZIP34 and AtbZIP61 have eight close homologs in Arabidopsis, and they contain a proline residue in the third heptad of the zipper region, which is a common property for physiological responses in plants to various abiotic stress (Kaur and Asthir 2015). In Arabidopsis mutants of bZIP34 and bZIP61, heterodimer formation was not observed by yeast two-hybrid assay or electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA), and interestingly mutated forms of AtbZIP34m and AtbZIP61m, where the proline residue was replaced by an alanine residue in the zipper region, could form a homodimer and bind G-box element instead of ABRE (Shen et al. 2007). Both bZIPs are highly expressed in the pollen and interact with bZIP18, which is required for proper pollen development (Gibalová et al. 2017). AtbZIP34 was shown to be necessary for correct pollen wall development (Gibalová et al. 2009). Interestingly, there are no previous studies on the potential roles of these two bZIPs under abiotic stress tolerance.

6.4 Homeodomain Leucine Zipper Family

The homeodomain leucine zipper (HD-ZIP) family of TFs is special to the plants, indicating their roles in growth and developmental processes unique for plants. The HD-ZIP family includes four subfamilies containing leucine zipper domain (ZIP) adjacent to a homeodomain (HD), which can form homo- and heterodimers (Ariel et al. 2007). HD-ZIP II subfamily can be discriminated from HD-Zip I subfamily proteins by containing a conserved "CPSCE" motif, which is present downstream of the leucine zipper (Chew et al. 2013). HOMEOBOX-LEUCINE ZIPPER PROTEIN1 (HAT1) encoding an EaR repressome family protein was found to be downregulated in relevant stress conditions based on our study. HAT1 and its close homologs belong to the class of HD-ZIP II transcription factors, with their roles as a repressor binding to promoters of their target genes, and are involved in plant development and abiotic and biotic stress responses (Tan et al. 2018). The HD-ZIP II family has many important roles in biological processes such as meristem determination, gynoecium and fruit development, auxin and other hormone responses, shade avoidance, and leaf polarity (Harris et al. 2011). Each of these roles suggests that this family is directly or indirectly connected to the environmental stress signaling (Zhang et al. 2014). Tan et al. (2018) demonstrated HAT1 and HAT3 as the important regulators of ABA signaling under drought stress since they suppressed ABA signaling and drought responses.

6.5 Zinc Finger Protein Family

Zinc finger proteins (ZFPs) possess one or more zinc finger(s) that bond zinc ion(s) by histidine (His) and cysteine (Cys) residues, playing several important regulatory roles in plant development and growth, stress responses, and phytohormone responses through four ZFP subfamilies, C_2H_2 , CCCH, C_3HC_4 , and C_4 (Li et al. 2013). The cysteine2/histidine2-type zinc finger proteins are one of the largest TF families, and some of its members have essential roles in abiotic and biotic stress responses. In our analysis, two members of the C₂H₂ transcription factor family have been identified among the core stress-related transcription factors. Both SAP12 and ZAT6 were upregulated under relevant stress conditions. STRESS-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN12 (SAP12) is a member of the stress-associated protein (SAP) family that is considered a novel regulator of abiotic stress responses (Ströher et al. 2009; Giri et al. 2013). Its expression is highly induced under several abiotic stress conditions, resulting in the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Gadjev et al. 2006). Similar to our study, the SAP12 transcript level was highly increased with respect to the redox potential under salt and cold stresses (Ströher et al. 2009). Cysteine2/histidine2-type transcription factor ZINC FINGER of ARABİDOPSİS THALIANA6 (AtZAT6) was transcriptionally induced under dehydration, cold, salt, osmotic stresses, as well as hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) treatment

and pathogen infection (Mito et al. 2011; Liu et al. 2013; Shi et al. 2018a). Exogenous melatonin application-enhanced freezing tolerance is largely relieved in *AtZAT6* knock-down mutant, but was improved in *AtZAT6*-overexpressing plants (Shi and Chan 2014). It was shown that *AtZAT6* overexpression lines could tolerate the cold more efficiently than the nontransgenic plants, and the enhanced tolerance was due to the upregulation of *CBF* genes. Additionally, ZAT6 was shown that ZAT6 positively regulates the expression of genes involved in glutathione production such as *GSH1*, *GSH2*, *PCS1*, and *PCS2* under Cd treatment.

6.6 B3 Domain Family

Members of the plant-specific B3 transcription factor superfamily contain a B3 domain, and the superfamily is divided into four subfamilies: LAV (LEAFY COTYLEDON2 [LEC2]-ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE3 [ABI3]-VAL), ARF (AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR), REM (REPRODUCTIVE MERISTEM), and RAV (Related to ABI3/VP1), encoding 118 genes in Arabidopsis (Swaminathan et al. 2008). ABI3 binds with bZIP TF, ABI5, to regulate the seed and seedling development and growth (Finkelstein et al. 2005; Lumba et al. 2014). RAV superfamily in Arabidopsis includes 13 members. Six members of the RAV superfamily consist of the DNA-binding domain and AP2 domain. Due to the AP2 domain, they are classified in AP2/ERF transcription factors. One of the members of the B3 transcription factor family, TEMPRANILLO2/ETHYLENE RESPONSE DNA BINDING FACTOR2/RELATED TO ABI3/VP1 2 (TEM2/EDF2/RAV2), was upregulated under relevant stress conditions in our study. RAV2 is required for the upregulation of genes involved in stress response pathways in various species (Li et al. 2011a, b). Fu et al. (2014) investigated the potential functions of three homologous proteins, RAV1, RAV1L, and RAV2, and prove that these three RAV transcription factors have functions in both growth and abiotic stress responses in Arabidopsis. They performed their analysis with the mutants (rav1, rav11, and rav2) and overexpression lines (35S-RAV1OE, 35S-RAV1LOE, and 35S-RAV2OE) of these three RAV transcription factors. When drought stress was applied to the mutants and wild type, they both showed a similar pattern. However, water loss of the 35S-RAV10E and 35S-RAV2OE transgenic plants was significantly higher than that of wild type. Under salt stress conditions, no differences were observed in seed germination of rav mutants in comparison with the wild type. RAV overexpression lines showed decreased seed germination rates compared with the wild type. These results indicate that RAVs negatively regulate drought and salinity tolerance in Arabidopsis. When AtRAV1 and AtRAV2 were overexpressed in cotton, it resulted in longer cotton fibers under drought in the field (Mittal et al. 2015). The overexpression lines showed delayed flowering and retained bolls at higher nodes. RAV2 was also identified to interact physically with a trihelix transcription factor GT-4 in salt tolerance (Wang et al. 2014).

6.7 APETALA2/ETHYLENE-RESPONSIVE FACTOR Family

APETALA2/ETHYLENE-RESPONSIVE FACTOR (AP2/ERF) family of transcription factors from several plant species have demonstrated that this TF family is involved in abiotic stress responses (Mizoi et al. 2012). Many of the transcription factors in AP2 and ERF/DREBP subfamilies are mostly involved in ethylene- and ABA-related responses (Zhu et al. 2010). DREB1/CBF and DREB2 subgroups have key roles in the acquisition of stress tolerance by controlling gene transcription sets via DRE/CRT sequences in stress-inducible gene promoters (Agarwal et al. 2006). By crosstalking with each other, AP2/ERF family transcription factors mostly regulate physiological, biochemical, and developmental responses to several environmental stress factors (Mizoi et al. 2012). DECREASE WAX BIOSYNTHESIS (DEWAX) encoding an AP2/ERF transcription factor (ERF107) was found to be downregulated in our study under relevant stress conditions. DEWAX is known as a negative transcriptional regulator that can repress the expression of genes included in cuticular wax biosynthesis in Arabidopsis (Go et al. 2014; Suh et al. 2014). It is specifically expressed in the epidermis and upregulated at dark. DEWAX is involved in resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in *A. thaliana* and *Camelina sativa* by physically binding to the promoters and inducing the expression of genes involved in biotic stress tolerance such as PRX37, IGMT1, and PDF1.2a (Ju et al. 2017). Under abiotic stress conditions, there are no specific studies about the functions of DEWAX; therefore, there is a gap in the literature.

6.8 Myeloblastosis Family

Myeloblastosis (MYB) superfamily is the most abundant group of transcription factors in plants. In total, 198 genes in the MYB superfamily were discovered in the Arabidopsis genome. Among these, 5 are R1R2R3-MYB, 126 are R2R3-MYB, 64 are MYB-related, and 3 are atypical MYB genes (Cominelli and Tonelli 2009). Based on many studies about the MYB family, most of its members showed significant regulation by abiotic and biotic stresses (Persak and Pitzschke 2014). There are also some studies related to the hormonal regulation of MYB TFs (Roy et al. 2016). Based on our study, three members of the MYB TF family were included in the core gene set. MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN59 (MYB59) and MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN30 (MYB30) were downregulated, whereas MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN44 (MYB44) was upregulated under stress conditions. MYB59 is identified as a negative regulator of nutrient stress signaling in plants. It is overaccumulated under Cd and regulates the cell cycle progression and root elongation. Moreover, it is a repressor of Ca2+ homeostasis and signaling under Ca²⁺ deficiency, thus regulating stress responses (Fasani et al. 2019). MYB59 also maintains the balance of K^+ and NO_3^- distribution between roots and shoots by regulating the transcription of the nitrate transporter

NRT1.5/NPF7.3 under low K⁺ stress (Du et al. 2019). Liao et al. (2017) have demonstrated that transcription factor MYB30 can bind and regulate ANNEXIN (ANN) genes and promote their expression at a functional level. ANNs have controls on oxidative and heat stress responses. Moreover, MYB30 participates in ABA responses via SUMO ligase SIZ1-mediated sumovlation, and the stability of MYB30 is disrupted by a RING-type ubiquitin E3 ligase RHA2b in ABA signaling (Zheng et al. 2018). According to a recent study, MYB30 is highly upregulated under ROS treatment and controls a gene network, leading to the blockage of root cell elongation via hydrogen peroxide production (Mabuchi et al. 2018). MYB44 overexpression lines showed elevated tolerance to salt stress compared with wild type (Persak and Pitzschke 2013). Moreover, AtMYB44 was shown to suppress the gene transcription of type 2C protein phosphatases (PP2Cs) involved in ABA signaling such as ABI1, ABI2, and HAI1 (Nguyen et al. 2019a, b) or late embryogenesisabundant protein LEA4-5 (Nguyen et al. 2019a, b) through histone H3 acetylation (H3ac) and methylation (H3K4me3) around transcription start site under salinity and osmotic stresses.

6.9 WRKY Family

WRKY transcription factor family is one of the largest families that have comprehensive biological functions in plant biotic and abiotic stress responses, nutrient deprivation, hormone-controlled processes, seed and trichome development, senescence, and embryogenesis (Rushton et al. 2010). WRKYs can act as transcriptional activators or repressors in various homo- and heterodimer combinations (Ülker and Somssich 2004; Eulgem and Somssich 2007; Rushton et al. 2010; Agarwal et al. 2011). One of the WRKY members, WRKY25, was upregulated under all stress conditions in our analysis. In addition to our study, Castillo et al. (2018) studied high levels of nitric oxide (NO) combined with stress-triggered responses and development, analyzing early changes in the transcriptome for the identification of transcription factors involved in NO sensing. In that study, WRKY25 was found hypersensitive in ABA signaling in NO-triggered responses. Moreover, Zheng et al. (2007) have investigated the function of WRKY25 in plant defense responses against the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae*. WRKY25 was found as a negative regulator of salicylic acid (SA)-mediated defense mechanism against P. syringae. According to Kilian et al. (2007), WRKY25 was negatively regulated by heat and salt stresses. In contrast to Kilian et al. (2007), Jiang and Deyholos (2009) have shown that the transcript abundance of WRKY25 and its close relative WRKY33 were increased under salt stress. Additionally, the expression level of WRKY25 was also induced by heat stress (Li et al. 2009, 2011a, b; Zhou et al. 2015).

6.10 NAM, ATAF, and CUC Families

One of the largest TF families, the plant-specific NAM, ATAF, and CUC transcription factor (NAC) family, has vital roles in plant growth, development, and abiotic plant responses (Nakashima et al. 2012; Nuruzzaman et al. 2013). Many studies reported that lots of the stress-responsive NAC factors have been used to develop stress-tolerant crops by genetic engineering (Nuruzzaman et al. 2013). There are more than a hundred NAC proteins included in Arabidopsis and rice (Olsen et al. 2005). Based on our study, one of the members of the NAC family belonging to the ATAF subfamily, RD26/NAC72, was positively regulated under all relevant stress conditions. Similar to our work, RD26 was markedly upregulated by salt, drought, and abscisic acid (ABA) treatments (Chung et al. 2014; Fujita et al. 2004; Tran et al. 2004; Takasaki et al. 2015). However, Huang et al. (2018) showed that the transcript level of RD26 was negatively regulated by sodium chloride (NaCl), but slightly increased under NaCl + ABA treatment. In addition, RD26 has been shown as a key regulator of starch degradation and the accumulation of mono- and disaccharides by directly enhancing the expression of AMY1, SFP1, and SWEET15 that are involved in carbohydrate metabolism and transport under the control of dark-induced senescence (Kamranfar et al. 2018). Interestingly, heterologous expression of AtRD26 homolog in Eutrema salsugineum, NAC1, in Arabidopsis inhibited the vegetative growth of Arabidopsis, and the overexpression lines were more tolerant to salt and oxidative stresses than the wild type (Liu et al. 2018).

6.11 Heat Shock Factor Family

Heat shock transcription factors (HSFs) act as regulators of genes induced by thermal stress, coding heat shock proteins. Most eukaryotes have 1-3 heat shock factors; however, plants have more than 20 heat shock factors, classified as classes A, B, and C (Baniwal et al. 2004). HSFs are essential for plants to respond to adverse abiotic stress conditions by regulating stress-responsive genes (Nover et al. 2001; Klaus-Dieter 2012). In our analysis, we found that one of the HSFs, HSF4/TBF1/ HSFB1 (ARABİDOPSİS THALIANA HEAT SHOCK FACTOR4, TL1-BINDING TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR1, ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA HEAT SHOCK FACTOR B1), is upregulated under adverse stress conditions. Normally, HSF4 is shown to respond to heat stress (Charng et al. 2007; Tunc-Ozdemir et al. 2013; Weng et al. 2014), but its transcript level also increases under several biotic and abiotic stress conditions (Nover et al. 2001; Klaus-Dieter 2012). Genome-wide expression profiling showed that HSF4 has an essential role in the growth to defense transition (Pajerowska-Mukhtar et al. 2012). Additionally, HSF4 expression is tightly regulated at both the transcriptional and translational levels. In vitro and in vivo experiments indicate that HSF4/TBF1 binds to TL1 cis-element (translocon 1; GAAGAAGAA), which is in the promoter regions of NPR1-dependent ER-resident genes through the involvement of an unknown TF, regulating the genes associated with pathogen infection and salicylic acid (Wang et al. 2005; Pajerowska-Mukhtar et al. 2012). Additionally, HSFB1 and HSFB2b suppress the response of heat shock under nonheat stress conditions (Ikeda et al. 2011). *HsfB1* and *HsfB2b* are the necessary heat stress-inducible heat shock protein genes to acquire thermotolerance, and they are activated by histone chaperone ASF1 under heat stress conditions (Weng et al. 2014). Moreover, HSF4/TBF1 is associated with the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Nagashima et al. 2014).

6.12 GIBBERELLIC ACID INSENSITIVE (GAI), REPRESSOR OF GAI (RGA), and SCARECROW (SCR) Families

GRAS proteins are plant-specific proteins, which are found in higher angiosperms (Cenci and Rouard 2017). Thirty-three GRAS proteins are present in the Arabidopsis genome, and they are divided into eight groups according to their amino acid sequence similarities (Lee et al. 2008). Its name is derived after the three initially identified members GIBBERELLIC ACID INSENSITIVE (GAI), REPRESSOR OF GA (RGA), and SCARECROW (SCR) (Pysh et al. 1999). GRAS proteins have key roles in very diverse processes, including plant growth and development, signal transduction, meristem maintenance, and development (Hirsch and Oldroyd 2009; Sun et al. 2012). They are especially very critical for gibberellin and mycorrhizal signaling (Xue et al. 2015). GRAS proteins include several conserved regions at their N-terminus, two leucine-rich areas (LHRI and LHRII) flanking VHIID motifs, PFYRE and SAW (Pysh et al. 1999; Bolle 2004). Based on our study, one of the GRAS proteins SCL11 (SCARECROW-LIKE11) was upregulated under all relevant stress conditions. In addition to our study, Ma et al. (2006) investigated that SCL11 was extensively upregulated under salt stress. However, the biological roles of SCL11 are largely unknown; therefore, it requires further studies.

6.13 C2C2-CO-Like Family

The *Arabidopsis* genome consists of 30 members of the C2C2-CO-like transcription factor family containing an atypical domain composition. These proteins have one response regulator receiver domain and two motifs that suggest a role in transcriptional regulation: an acidic domain and a basic motif within the CONSTANS family of transcription factors (Griffiths et al. 2003). Saibo et al. (2008) investigated that the C2C2-CO-like gene family was primarily involved in drought stress responses in *Arabidopsis* (Mun et al. 2017). Two of the members of the C2C2-CO-like transcription factor family were determined in our bioinformatic analyses.

B-BOX DOMAIN PROTEIN31/MICROPROTEIN1A (BBX31/MIP1A) was upregulated, whereas B-BOX DOMAIN PROTEIN27 (BBX27) was downregulated under relevant stress conditions. In addition to our study, Gangappa and Botto (2014) investigated that BBX31 negatively regulated photomorphogenesis under visible light. It induced photomorphogenesis under UV-B and increased tolerance to high doses of UV-B radiation. BBX31 and HY5 oppositely and independently have control on seedlings to adapt to varying light intensities (Gangappa and Botto 2014). In another research, BBX31 was identified as a key signaling factor in visible and UV-B light signal transduction in Arabidopsis (Heng et al. 2019). BBX31 expression is promoted by UV-B radiation in a fluorescence-dependent manner. HY5 can directly bind to the promoter of *BBX31* and increase its transcript levels (Heng et al. 2019). Gain-of-function and loss-of-function mutants of BBX31 showed that it plays a negative role in photomorphogenesis under white light; however, it acts as a positive regulator of UV-B signaling. Genetic interaction studies investigated that BBX31 promotes photomorphogenesis apart from HY5. There was no evidence for direct BBX31-HY5 interaction, and they primarily induced different sets of genes in white light. Under the high intensity of UV-B radiation, BBX31 induced the accumulation of UV-protective flavonoids and phenolic compounds, resulting in tolerance to UV-B radiation by regulating genes involved in photoprotection. Under UV-B radiation, overexpression of BBX31 promoted transcript level of HY5 in a UV RESISTANCE LOCUS8-dependent manner, indicating that BBX31 may regulate HY5 transcription. Under low intensities of white light, BBX31 also controlled primary root elongation. Multiple primary and secondary metabolites were identified in 35S-BBX31 by GC-MS- and HPLC-based metabolite profiling, which may suggest their involvement in UV-B tolerance in plants (Yadav et al. 2019). BBX27 was downregulated in our study; however, there is no study about its control under abiotic stress conditions in the literature. Therefore, further studies need to be conducted to understand the functions of members of the C2C2-CO-like family in plants under environmental stress conditions.

6.14 Type B Arabidopsis thaliana Response Regulator Family

There are 15 members of the aRR-B family in the *Arabidopsis* genome. Type B *Arabidopsis thaliana* response regulators (ARRs) are transcription factors having functions in the final step of signaling systems (Mason et al. 2005). ARR family members function as DNA-binding transcriptional regulators, whose activities are mostly seen as regulated by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation. The major subfamily of type B ARRs was investigated, resulting particularly in high expression in regions where cytokinin plays a key role (Yoshinori et al. 2004). Pavlů et al. (2018) studied that cytokinin is a plant hormone having major roles not only in plant growth and development processes but also in stress responses. Expression patterns of abiotic stress-related genes were overlapped with those of cytokinin metabolism and signaling genes (Pavlů et al. 2018). Based on our analysis, one of the members of

the aRR-B family, *RESPONSE REGULATOR5/ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA RESPONSE REGULATOR2/INDUCED BY CYTOKININ6 (ARR5/ATRR2/IBC6)*, was downregulated under relevant stress conditions; however, this transcription factor has not been characterized yet, and further research is needed to determine the function of ARR5 under abiotic stress conditions.

6.15 14-3-3 Family

The 14-3-3 family of proteins are not classified as transcription factors; however, they are phosphoserine-binding proteins that have key functions on targets via direct protein-protein interactions and play essential roles in metabolic pathways (De Lille et al. 2001). The 14-3-3s have important features in generating proton gradients through the plasma membrane and promoting H⁺-ATPase in the plasma membrane (Jahn et al. 1997). Due to this specific feature of the 14-3-3 proteins, their genes can be regulated by several biotic and abiotic stresses such as low temperature (Jarillo et al. 1994), pathogen attack (Brandt and Neve 1992), salt stress (Xu and Shi 2006), hypoxia (De Vetten and Ferl 1995), and drought (Porcel et al. 2006). During plant growth and development, various members of the 14-3-3 family are involved in multiple stress and signaling pathways, suggesting their roles in crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stresses (Cao et al. 2007). In the Arabidopsis genome, 15 members of the 14-3-3 protein family are present (Rosenquist et al. 2001). This family is also called general regulatory factors (GRFs) in A. thaliana because of their potential roles in a wide range of cellular processes (Rooney and Ferl 1995). Based on our analysis, the transcript level of one member of the GRF protein family GRF11 (GENERAL REGULATORY FACTOR11) was upregulated under all relevant stress conditions. In addition to our study, *GRF11* is frequently reported to be induced by Fe deficiency (Jian et al. 2013). There is no more study about GRF11 in the literature. Therefore, further studies need to be conducted under abiotic stress conditions to determine the functions of this protein in signal transduction.

6.16 Other Regulatory Proteins: Calcium Sensor Family

Ca²⁺ sensors are known as Ca²⁺-binding proteins, and most of the Ca²⁺-binding proteins consist of EF-hand motifs having a conserved helix–loop–helix structure that can bind a single Ca²⁺ ion (Day et al. 2002). The family of Ca²⁺ sensors includes calmodulin (CaM), calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs), and calcineurin B-like proteins (CBL). Most of the Ca²⁺-binding proteins have been studied to involve in the transduction of signals related to biotic and abiotic stress (Wang et al. 2013). Based on our study, three members of EF-hand-containing protein family, namely, CALCINEURIN B-LIKE PROTEIN4/SALT OVERLY SENSITIVE3 (CBL4/SOS3), CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE32 (CDPK32), and NAD(P)H DEHYDROGENASEB2 (NDB2), were differentially expressed under relevant stress conditions. SOS3 protein is mainly known to be associated with salinity responses (Gong et al. 2004). Salt stress responses in plants are being controlled mainly by the proteins involved in the salt overly sensitive (SOS) pathway, which have responses to ion homeostasis and salt tolerance in plants (Ji et al. 2013). SOS1, SOS2, and SOS3 loci were first discovered by forward genetic screens through salthypersensitive growth. The calcium sensor SOS3 promotes the kinase SOS2, which positively regulates SOS1 under salt stress conditions (Ma et al. 2014). SOS1 is a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter that transports Na⁺ out of cells under salt stress (Shi et al. 2000; Oiu et al. 2002). High-affinity K⁺ TRANSPORTER1 (HKT1) can limit the root-toshoot sodium transportation and has been proven to be involved in the salt tolerance with SOS pathway in A. thaliana (Uozumi et al. 2000). Distinct physiological roles for HKT1 and SOS3 have been shown to protect plants against salinity (Horie et al. 2006). Salinity tolerance mechanisms have been studied a lot; therefore, the details of SOS3 functions are not detailed here. Recently, proteins that induce or suppress the SOS pathway have been shown (Yang et al. 2019a, b), suggesting that there are still missing steps in the salinity tolerance mechanisms. Another member, CDPK32, has been shown as the critical component of Ca²⁺ homeostasis based on the overexpression and mutant studies (Zhou et al. 2014). AtCPK32 has autophosphorylation activity and can phosphorylate ABF4 in vitro, thereby regulating the ABAresponsive gene expression via ABF4 (Shi et al. 2018a). Nitrate triggers a unique Ca²⁺-CPK signaling via CPK32 and its orthologs in Arabidopsis (Liu et al. 2017). The third member, NDB2, has been shown to regulate hormones such as auxin (through alternative oxidase AOX1a) and play important roles in salt and oxidative stresses (Elhafez et al. 2006). NDB2 and AOX1a cluster together as they are members of an alternative respiratory pathway in mitochondria (Van Aken et al. 2009). Together, these proteins can form a complete respiratory chain, dissipating energy as heat and not contributing to ATP synthesis (Clifton et al. 2005). The relation of NBD2 with hormones suggests that it can also get involved in plant growth and development (Smith et al. 2011).

6.17 Conclusion and Future Prospects

As the climatic changes will lead to extensive environmental stress conditions in the future, sessile plants are expected to be affected the most. This eventually causes a drastic decrease in crop yield and food production. Technological advances in molecular plant breeding, hybrid breeding, plant genetic engineering, genomics, and genome editing have been deployed in the development of new crop species that can tolerate environmental stress conditions. Even though the genetics of abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms have been studied in the last 50 years, we now start to understand the real meaning of those mechanisms and the network of genes regulating them with the help of bioinformatics and systems biology. As transcription factors are located in the heart of abiotic stress signaling networks, our approach here

detailed a core cluster of 20 differentially regulated transcription factors in various abiotic stresses. Important functions of some of these transcription factors have already been demonstrated under different abiotic stresses. However, more extensive research is required to understand their roles in stress tolerance and regulation of downstream gene products. Since transcription factors can target several genes involved in various metabolic pathways, genetic engineering or molecular breeding of plants by using one or multiple of these identified transcription factors may eventually lead to the development of crop species with higher levels of stress tolerance.

References

- Agarwal PK, Agarwal P, Reddy MK et al (2006) Role of DREB transcription factors in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Rep 25(12):1263–1274
- Agarwal P, Reddy MP, Chikara J et al (2011) WRKY: its structure, evolutionary relationship, DNA-binding selectivity, role in stress tolerance and development of plants. Mol Biol Rep 38(6):3883–3896
- Ariel FD, Manavella PA, Dezar C et al (2007) The true story of the HD-Zip family. Trends Plant Sci 12(9):419–426
- Baniwal SK, Bharti K, Chan KY et al (2004) Heat stress response in plants: a complex game with chaperones and more than twenty heat stress transcription factors. J Biosci 29(4):471–487
- Bender KW, Blackburn RK, Monaghan J et al (2017) Autophosphorylation-based calcium (Ca2+) sensitivity priming and Ca2+/calmodulin inhibition of *Arabidopsis* thaliana Ca2+-dependent protein kinase 28 (CPK28). J Biol Chem 292(10):3988–4002
- Bolle C (2004) The role of GRAS proteins in plant signal transduction and development. Planta 218(5):683–692
- Brandt P, Neve RL (1992) Expression of plasma membrane calcium-pumping ATPase mRNAs in developing rat brain and adult brain subregions: evidence for stage-specific expression. J Neurochem 59(4):1566–1569
- Cao A, Jain A, Baldwin JC et al (2007) Phosphate differentially regulates 14-3-3 family members and GRF9 plays a role in Pi-starvation induced responses. Planta 226(5):1219–1230
- Castillo MC, Coego A, Costa-Broseta Á et al (2018) Nitric oxide responses in *Arabidopsis* hypocotyls are mediated by diverse phytohormone pathways. J Exp Bot 69(21):5265–5278
- Cenci A, Rouard M (2017) Evolutionary analyses of GRAS transcription factors in angiosperms. Front Plant Sci 8:273
- Charng YY, Liu HC, Liu NY et al (2007) A heat-inducible transcription factor, HsfA2, is required for extension of acquired thermotolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 143(1):251–262
- Chen J, Yang L, Yan X et al (2016) Zinc-finger transcription factor ZAT6 positively regulates cadmium tolerance through the glutathione-dependent pathway in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 171(1):707–719
- Chew W, Hrmova M, Lopato S (2013) Role of homeodomain leucine zipper (HD-Zip) IV transcription factors in plant development and plant protection from deleterious environmental factors. Int J Mol 14(4):8122–8147
- Choi HI, Hong JH, Ha JO et al (2000) ABFs, a family of ABA-responsive element binding factors. J Biol Chem 275(3):1723–1730
- Chung Y, Kwon SI, Choe S (2014) Antagonistic regulation of *Arabidopsis* growth by brassinosteroids and abiotic stresses. Mol Cell 37(11):795
- Clifton R, Lister R, Parker KL et al (2005) Stress-induced co-expression of alternative respiratory chain components in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Mol Biol 58(2):193

- Cominelli E, Tonelli C (2009) A new role for plant R2R3-MYB transcription factors in cell cycle regulation. Cell Res 19(11):1231
- Conesa A, Götz S, García-Gómez JM et al (2005) Blast2GO: a universal tool for annotation, visualization and analysis in functional genomics research. Bioinformatics 21(18):3674–3676
- Cooper B, Clarke JD, Budworth P et al (2003) A network of rice genes associated with stress response and seed development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(8):4945–4950
- Corrêa LGG, Riaño-Pachón DM, Schrago CG et al (2008) The role of bZIP transcription factors in green plant evolution: adaptive features emerging from four founder genes. PLoS One 3(8):e2944
- Day IS, Reddy VS, Ali GS et al (2002) Analysis of EF-hand-containing proteins in *Arabidopsis*. Genome Biol 3(10):research0056-1
- De Lille JM, Sehnke PC, Ferl RJ (2001) The *Arabidopsis* 14-3-3 family of signaling regulators. Plant Physiol 126(1):35–38
- De Vetten NC, Ferl RJ (1995) Characterization of a maize G-box binding factor that is induced by hypoxia. Plant J 7(4):589–601
- Dröge-Laser W, Snoek BL, Snel B et al (2018) The *Arabidopsis* bZIP transcription factor family—an update. Curr Opin Plant Biol 45:36–49
- Du XQ, Wang FL, Li H et al (2019) The transcription factor MYB59 regulates K+/NO3- translocation in the Arabidopsis response to low K+ stress. Plant Cell 31(3):699–714
- Elhafez D, Murcha MW, Clifton R et al (2006) Characterization of mitochondrial alternative NAD (P) H dehydrogenases in *Arabidopsis*: intraorganelle location and expression. Plant Cell Physiol 47(1):43–54
- Eulgem T, Somssich IE (2007) Networks of WRKY transcription factors in defense signaling. Curr Opin Plant Biol 10(4):366–371
- Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Robatzek S et al (2000) The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. Trends Plant Sci 5(5):199–206
- Fahad S, Sonmez O, Saud S et al (2021a) Engineering tolerance in crop plants against abiotic stress. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fahad S, Sonmez O, Saud S et al (2021b) Developing climate-resilient crops: improving global food security and safety. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fasani E, DalCorso G, Costa A et al (2019) The Arabidopsis thaliana transcription factor MYB59 regulates calcium signalling during plant growth and stress response. Plant Mol Biol 99(6):517–534
- Finkelstein R, Gampala SS, Lynch TJ et al (2005) Redundant and distinct functions of the ABA response loci ABA-INSENSITIVE (ABI) 5 and ABRE-BINDING FACTOR (ABF) 3. Plant Mol Biol 59(2):253–267
- Fu M, Kang HK, Son SH et al (2014) A subset of Arabidopsis RAV transcription factors modulates drought and salt stress responses independent of ABA. Plant Cell Physiol 55(11):1892–1904
- Fujita M, Fujita Y, Maruyama K et al (2004) A dehydration-induced NAC protein, RD26, is involved in a novel ABA-dependent stress-signaling pathway. Plant J 39(6):863–876
- Fujita M, Fujita Y, Noutoshi Y et al (2006) Crosstalk between abiotic and biotic stress responses: a current view from the points of convergence in the stress signaling networks. Curr Opin Plant Biol 9(4):436–442
- Gadjev I, Vanderauwera S, Gechev TS (2006) Transcriptomic footprints disclose specificity of reactive oxygen species signaling in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 141(2):436–445
- Gangappa SN, Botto JF (2014) The BBX family of plant transcription factors. Trends Plant Sci 19(7):460–470
- Gibalová A, Reňák D, Matczuk K et al (2009) AtbZIP34 is required for *Arabidopsis* pollen wall patterning and the control of several metabolic pathways in developing pollen. Plant Mol Biol 70(5):581–601
- Gibalová A, Steinbachová L, Hafidh S et al (2017) Characterization of pollen-expressed bZIP protein interactions and the role of ATbZIP18 in the male gametophyte. Plant Reprod 30(1):1–17

- Giri J, Dansana PK, Kothari KS et al (2013) SAPs as novel regulators of abiotic stress response in plants. Bioessays 35(7):639–648
- Go YS, Kim H, Kim HJ et al (2014) *Arabidopsis* cuticular wax biosynthesis is negatively regulated by the DEWAX gene encoding an AP2/ERF-type transcription factor. Plant Cell 26(4):1666–1680
- Goda H, Sasaki E, Akiyama K (2008) The AtGenExpress hormone and chemical treatment data set: experimental design, data evaluation, model data analysis and data access. Plant J 55(3):526–542
- Gong D, Guo Y, Schumaker KS et al (2004) The SOS3 family of calcium sensors and SOS2 family of protein kinases in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 134(3):919–926
- Griffiths S, Dunford RP, Coupland G et al (2003) The evolution of CONSTANS-like gene families in barley, rice, and *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 131(4):1855–1867
- Guo A, He K, Liu D (2005) DATF: a database of *Arabidopsis* transcription factors. Bioinformatics 21(10):2568–2569
- Harris JC, Hrmova M, Lopato S et al (2011) Modulation of plant growth by HD-Zip class I and II transcription factors in response to environmental stimuli. New Phytol 190(4):823–837
- Heng Y, Lin F, Jiang Y et al (2019) B-box containing proteins BBX30 and BBX31, acting downstream of HY5, negatively regulate photomorphogenesis in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 180(1):497–508
- Hirsch S, Oldroyd GE (2009) GRAS-domain transcription factors that regulate plant development. Plant Signal Behav 4(8):698–700
- Horie T, Horie R, Chan WY et al (2006) Calcium regulation of sodium hypersensitivities of *sos3* and *athkt1* mutants. Plant Cell Physiol 47(5):622–633
- Huang KC, Lin WC, Cheng WH (2018) Salt hypersensitive mutant 9, a nucleolar APUM23 protein, is essential for salt sensitivity in association with the ABA signaling pathway in *Arabidopsis*. BMC Plant Biol 18(1):40
- Ikeda M, Mitsuda N, Ohme-Takagi M (2011) *Arabidopsis* HsfB1 and HsfB2b act as repressors of the expression of heat-inducible Hsfs but positively regulate the acquired thermotolerance. Plant Physiol 157(3):1243–1254
- Jakoby M, Weisshaar B, Dröge-Laser W (2002) bZIP transcription factors in *Arabidopsis*. Trends Plant Sci 7(3):106–111
- Jarillo JA, Capel J, Leyva A et al (1994) Two related low-temperature-inducible genes of *Arabidopsis* encode proteins showing high homology to 14-3-3 proteins, a family of putative kinase regulators. Plant Mol Biol 25(4):693–704
- Jian L, Yang W W, Chen L Q, Chen C, Qin C W, Jin Y Z, Shi S J, Zheng (2013) New Phytologist 197(3) 815-824. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12057
- Jahn A T, Fuglsang A, Olsson I M, Brüntrup D B, Collinge D, Volkmann M, Sommarin M G, Palmgren C, Larsson (1997) The 14-3-3 protein interacts directly with the C-terminal region of the plant plasma membrane H(+)-ATPase. The Plant Cell 9(10):1805-1814. https://doi. org/10.1105/tpc.9.10.1805
- Ji H, Pardo JM, Batelli G et al (2013) The Salt Overly Sensitive (SOS) pathway: established and emerging roles. Mol Plant 6(2):275–286
- Jiang Y, Deyholos MK (2009) Functional characterization of Arabidopsis NaCl-inducible WRKY25 and WRKY33 transcription factors in abiotic stresses. Plant Mol Biol 69(1-2):91–105
- Ju S, Go YS, Choi HJ et al (2017) DEWAX transcription factor is involved in resistance to *Botrytis* cinerea in Arabidopsis thaliana and Camelina sativa. Front Plant Sci 8:1210
- Kamranfar I, Xue GP, Tohge T et al (2018) Transcription factor RD 26 is a key regulator of metabolic reprogramming during dark-induced senescence. New Phytol 218(4):1543–1557
- Kaur G, Asthir B (2015) Proline: a key player in plant abiotic stress tolerance. Biol Plant 59(4):609–619
- Kazama D, Itakura M, Kurusu T et al (2013) Identification of chimeric repressors that confer salt and osmotic stress tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plants 2(4):769–785

- Kilian J, Whitehead D, Horak J (2007) The AtGenExpress global stress expression data set: protocols, evaluation and model data analysis of UV-B light, drought and cold stress responses. Plant J 50(2):347–363
- Klaus-Dieter, Scharf T, Berberich I, Ebersberger L, Nover (2012) The plant heat stress transcription factor (Hsf) family: Structure function and evolution. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1819(2):104-119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.10.002
- Lee MH, Kim B, Song SK et al (2008) Large-scale analysis of the GRAS gene family in *Arabidopsis* thaliana. Plant Mol Biol 67(6):659–670
- Li S, Fu Q, Huang W et al (2009) Functional analysis of an *Arabidopsis* transcription factor WRKY25 in heat stress. Plant Cell Rep 28(4):683–693
- Li S, Fu Q, Chen L et al (2011a) Arabidopsis thaliana WRKY25, WRKY26, and WRKY33 coordinate induction of plant thermotolerance. Planta 233(6):1237–1252
- Li CW, Su RC, Cheng CP et al (2011b) Tomato RAV transcription factor is a pivotal modulator involved in the AP2/EREBP-mediated defense pathway. Plant Physiol 156(1):213–227
- Li WT, He M, Wang J et al (2013) Zinc finger protein (ZFP) in plants-A review. Plant Omics 6(6):474
- Liao C, Zheng Y, Guo Y (2017) MYB30 transcription factor regulates oxidative and heat stress responses through ANNEXIN-mediated cytosolic calcium signaling in *Arabidopsis*. New Phytol 216(1):163–177
- Liu XM, Nguyen XC, Kim KE et al (2013) Phosphorylation of the zinc finger transcriptional regulator ZAT6 by MPK6 regulates *Arabidopsis* seed germination under salt and osmotic stress. Biochem Biophys Res 430(3):1054–1059
- Liu KH, Niu Y, Konishi M et al (2017) Discovery of nitrate–CPK–NLP signalling in central nutrient–growth networks. Nature 545(7654):311
- Liu C, Sun Q, Zhao L et al (2018) Heterologous expression of the transcription factor EsNAC1 in *Arabidopsis* enhances abiotic stress resistance and retards growth by regulating the expression of different target genes. Front Plant Sci 9:1495
- Lumba S, Toh S, Handfield LF et al (2014) A mesoscale abscisic acid hormone interactome reveals a dynamic signaling landscape in *Arabidopsis*. Dev Cell 29(3):360–372
- Ma S, Gong Q, Bohnert HJ (2006) Dissecting salt stress pathways. J Exp Bot 57(5):1097-1107
- Ma DM, Xu WR, Li HW et al (2014) Co-expression of the Arabidopsis SOS genes enhances salt tolerance in transgenic tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea* Schreb.). Protoplasma 251(1):219–231
- Mabuchi K, Maki H, Itaya T et al (2018) MYB30 links ROS signaling, root cell elongation, and plant immune responses. PNAS 115(20):E4710–E4719
- Mason MG, Mathews DE, Argyros DA et al (2005) Multiple type-B response regulators mediate cytokinin signal transduction in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 17(11):3007–3018
- Mi C, Suh Y S, Go (2014) Plant Signaling & Behavior 9(8):e29463. https://doi.org/10.4161/ psb.29463
- Mito T, Seki M, Shinozaki K et al (2011) Generation of chimeric repressors that confer salt tolerance in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Biotechnol J 9(7):736–746
- Mittal A, Jiang Y, Ritchie GL et al (2015) *AtRAV1* and *AtRAV2* overexpression in cotton increases fiber length differentially under drought stress and delays flowering. Plant Sci 241:78–95
- Mizoi J, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2012) AP2/ERF family transcription factors in plant abiotic stress responses. BBA-Gene Regul Mech 1819(2):86–96
- Monaghan J, Matschi S, Romeis T et al (2015) The calcium-dependent protein kinase CPK28 negatively regulates the BIK1-mediated PAMP-induced calcium burst. Plant Signal Behav 10(5):e1018497
- Mun BG, Lee SU, Park EJ et al (2017) Analysis of transcription factors among differentially expressed genes induced by drought stress in *Populus davidiana*. 3 Biotech 7(3):209
- Nagashima Y, Iwata Y, Ashida M et al (2014) Exogenous salicylic acid activates two signaling arms of the unfolded protein response in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell Physiol 55(10):1772–1778
- Nakashima K, Ito Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2009) Transcriptional regulatory networks in response to abiotic stresses in *Arabidopsis* and grasses. Plant Physiol 149(1):88–95

- Nakashima K, Takasaki H, Mizoi J et al (2012) NAC transcription factors in plant abiotic stress responses. BBA-Gene Regul Mech 1819(2):97–103
- Nakashima K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2014) The transcriptional regulatory network in the drought response and its crosstalk in abiotic stress responses including drought, cold, and heat. Front Plant Sci 5:170
- Nguyen NH, Jung C, Cheong JJ (2019a) Chromatin remodeling for the transcription of type 2C protein phosphatase genes in response to salt stress. Plant Physiol Biochem 141:325–331
- Nguyen NH, Nguyen CTT, Jung C et al (2019b) AtMYB44 suppresses transcription of the late embryogenesis abundant protein gene AtLEA4-5. Biochem Biophys Res 511(4):931–934
- Nover L, Bharti K, Döring P et al (2001) *Arabidopsis* and the heat stress transcription factor world: how many heat stress transcription factors do we need? Cell Stress Chaperones 6(3):177
- Nuruzzaman M, Sharoni AM, Kikuchi S (2013) Roles of NAC transcription factors in the regulation of biotic and abiotic stress responses in plants. Front Microbiol 4:248
- Obayashi T, Aoki Y, Tadaka S et al (2017) ATTED-II in 2018: a plant co-expression database based on investigation of the statistical property of the mutual rank index. Plant Cell Physiol 59(1):3–e3
- Olsen AN, Ernst HA, Leggio LL (2005) NAC transcription factors: structurally distinct, functionally diverse. Trends Plant Sci 10(2):79–87
- Pajerowska-Mukhtar KM, Wang W, Tada Y et al (2012) The HSF-like transcription factor TBF1 is a major molecular switch for plant growth-to-defense transition. Curr Biol 22(2):103–112
- Pavlů J, Novak J, Koukalová V et al (2018) Cytokinin at the crossroads of abiotic stress signalling pathways. Int J Mol 19(8):2450
- Persak H, Pitzschke A (2013) Tight interconnection and multi-level control of Arabidopsis MYB44 in MAPK cascade signalling. PLoS One 8(2):e57547
- Persak H, Pitzschke A (2014) Dominant repression by *Arabidopsis* transcription factor MYB44 causes oxidative damage and hypersensitivity to abiotic stress. Int J Mol 15(2):2517–2537
- Porcel R, Aroca R, Cano C et al (2006) Identification of a gene from the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus intraradices encoding for a 14-3-3 protein that is up-regulated by drought stress during the AM symbiosis. Microbial Ecol 52(3):575
- Pysh LD, Wysocka-Diller JW, Camilleri C et al (1999) The GRAS gene family in *Arabidopsis*: sequence characterization and basic expression analysis of the SCARECROW-LIKE genes. Plant J 18(1):111–119
- Qiu QS, Guo Y, Dietrich MA et al (2002) Regulation of SOS1, a plasma membrane Na+/H+ exchanger in *Arabidopsis* thaliana, by SOS2 and SOS3. PNAS 99(12):8436–8441
- Riechmann JL (2008) Transcription factors of *Arabidopsis* and rice: a genomic perspective. In: Grasser KD (ed) Annual plant reviews, volume 29, regulation of transcription in plants. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, pp 28–53
- Riechmann JL, Heard J, Martin G et al (2000) Arabidopsis transcription factors: genome-wide comparative analysis among eukaryotes. Science 290(5499):2105–2110
- Rooney MF, Ferl RJ (1995) Sequences of three Arabidopsis general regulatory factor genes encoding GF14 (14-3-3) proteins. Plant Physiol 107(1):283
- Rosenquist M, Alsterfjord M, Larsson C et al (2001) Data mining the *Arabidopsis* genome reveals fifteen 14-3-3 genes. Expression is demonstrated for two out of five novel genes. Plant Physiol 127(1):142–149
- Roy, S. (2016). Function of MYB domain transcription factors in abiotic stress and epigenetic control of stress response in plant genome. Plant signaling & behavior, 11(1), e1117723.
- Rushton PJ, Somssich IE, Ringler P et al (2010) WRKY transcription factors. Trends Plant Sci 15(5):247–258
- Saibo NJ, Lourenço T, Oliveira MM (2008) Transcription factors and regulation of photosynthetic and related metabolism under environmental stresses. Ann Bot 103(4):609–623
- Schröder F, Lisso J, Lange P et al (2009) The extracellular EXO protein mediates cell expansion in *Arabidopsis* leaves. BMC Plant Biol 9(1):20

- Seki M, Umezawa T, Urano K et al (2007) Regulatory metabolic networks in drought stress responses. Curr Opin Plant Biol 10(3):296–302
- Seo YS, Chern M, Bartley LE et al (2011) Towards establishment of a rice stress response interactome. PLoS Genet 7(4):e1002020
- Sharma R, De Vleesschauwer D, Sharma MK et al (2013) Recent advances in dissecting stressregulatory crosstalk in rice. Mol Plant 6(2):250–260
- Shen H, Cao K, Wang X (2007) A conserved proline residue in the leucine zipper region of AtbZIP34 and AtbZIP61 in *Arabidopsis* thaliana interferes with the formation of homodimer. Biochem Biophys Res 362(2):425–430
- Shi H, Chan Z (2014) The cysteine2/histidine2-type transcription factor ZINC FINGER OF ARABİDOPSİS THALIANA 6-activated C-REPEAT-BINDING FACTOR pathway is essential for melatonin-mediated freezing stress resistance in Arabidopsis. J Pineal Res 57(2):185–191
- Shi H, Ishitani M, Kim C et al (2000) The *Arabidopsis* thaliana salt tolerance gene SOS1 encodes a putative Na+/H+ antiporter. PNAS 97(12):6896–6901
- Shi H, Liu G, Wei Y et al (2018a) The zinc-finger transcription factor ZAT6 is essential for hydrogen peroxide induction of anthocyanin synthesis in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Mol Biol 97(1–2):165–176
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2007) Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. J Exp Bot 58(2):221–227
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Seki M (2003) Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses. Curr Opin Plant Biol 6(5):410–417
- Smith C, Barthet M, Melino V et al (2011) Alterations in the mitochondrial alternative NAD (P) H dehydrogenase NDB4 lead to changes in mitochondrial electron transport chain composition, plant growth and response to oxidative stress. Plant Cell Physiol 52(7):1222–1237
- Song L, Huang SSC, Wise A et al (2016) A transcription factor hierarchy defines an environmental stress response network. Science 354(6312):1550
- Ströher E, Wang XJ, Roloff N et al (2009) Redox-dependent regulation of the stress-induced zincfinger protein SAP12 in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Plant 2(2):357–367
- Sun X, Jones WT, Rikkerink EH (2012) GRAS proteins: the versatile roles of intrinsically disordered proteins in plant signalling. Biochem J 442(1):1–12
- Swatek KN, Wilson RS, Ahsan N et al (2014) Multisite phosphorylation of 14-3-3 proteins by calcium-dependent protein kinases. Biochem J 459(1):15–25
- Swaminathan K, Peterson T, Jack (2008) The plant B3 superfamily. Trends in Plant Science 13(12): 647-655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2008.09.006
- Szklarczyk D, Morris JH, Cook H et al (2016) The STRING database in 2017: qualitycontrolled protein–protein association networks, made broadly accessible. Nucleic Acids Res 45(D1):D362–D368
- Takasaki H, Maruyama K, Takahashi F et al (2015) SNAC-As, stress-responsive NAC transcription factors, mediate ABA-inducible leaf senescence. Plant J 84(6):1114–1123
- Tan W, Zhang D, Zhou H et al (2018) Transcription factor HAT1 is a substrate of SnRK2. 3 kinase and negatively regulates ABA synthesis and signaling in *Arabidopsis* responding to drought. PLoS Genet 14(4):e1007336
- Tardif G, Kane NA, Adam H et al (2007) Interaction network of proteins associated with abiotic stress response and development in wheat. Plant Mol Biol 63(5):703–718
- Tran LSP, Nakashima K, Sakuma Y et al (2004) Isolation and functional analysis of *Arabidopsis* stress-inducible NAC transcription factors that bind to a drought-responsive cis-element in the early responsive to dehydration stress 1 promoter. Plant Cell 16(9):2481–2498
- Tran LSP, Nakashima K, Shinozaki K et al (2007) Plant gene networks in osmotic stress response: from genes to regulatory networks. Methods Enzymol 428:109–128. Elsevier
- Tunc-Ozdemir M, Tang C, Ishka MR et al (2013) A cyclic nucleotide-gated channel (CNGC16) in pollen is critical for stress tolerance in pollen reproductive development. Plant Physiol 161(2):1010–1020
- Ülker B, Somssich IE (2004) WRKY transcription factors: from DNA binding towards biological function. Curr Opin Plant Biol 7(5):491–498

- Uozumi N, Kim EJ, Rubio F et al (2000) The *Arabidopsis* HKT1 gene homolog mediates inward Na+ currents in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes and Na+ uptake in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Plant Physiol 122(4):1249–1260
- Urano K, Kurihara Y, Seki M et al (2010) 'Omics' analyses of regulatory networks in plant abiotic stress responses. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13(2):132–138
- Van Aken O, Zhang B, Carrie C et al (2009) Defining the mitochondrial stress response in *Arabidopsis* thaliana. Mol Plant 2(6):1310–1324
- Wang D, Weaver ND, Kesarwani M et al (2005) Induction of protein secretory pathway is required for systemic acquired resistance. Science 308(5724):1036–1040
- Wang TZ, Zhang JL, Tian QY et al (2013) A Medicago truncatula EF-Hand family gene, MtCaMP1, is involved in drought and salt stress tolerance. PLoS One 8(4):e58952
- Wang XH, Li QT, Chen HW et al (2014) Trihelix transcription factor GT-4 mediates salt tolerance via interaction with TEM2 in *Arabidopsis*. BMC Plant Biol 14(1):339
- Wanke D, Berendzen KW, Kilian J et al (2009) Insights into the *Arabidopsis* abiotic stress response from the AtGenExpress expression profile dataset. In: Hirt H (ed) Plant stress biology: from genomics to systems biology. Wiley, pp 199–225
- Weng M, Yang Y, Feng H et al (2014) Histone chaperone ASF1 is involved in gene transcription activation in response to heat stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Environ 37(9):2128–2138
- Xu WF, Shi WM (2006) Expression profiling of the 14-3-3 gene family in response to salt stress and potassium and iron deficiencies in young tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) roots: analysis by real-time RT–PCR. Ann Bot 98(5):965–974
- Xue L, Cui H, Buer B et al (2015) Network of GRAS transcription factors involved in the control of arbuscule development in *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Physiol 167(3):854–871
- Yadav A, Bakshi S, Yadukrishnan P et al (2019) The B-box-containing microprotein miP1a/ BBX31 regulates photomorphogenesis and UV-B protection. Plant Physiol 179(4):1876–1892
- Yadav A, Bakshi S, Yadukrishnan P et al (2019) The B-box-containing microprotein miP1a/ BBX31 regulates photomorphogenesis and UV-B protection. Plant Physiol 179(4):1876–1892
- Yang Z, Wang C, Xue Y et al (2019a) Calcium-activated 14-3-3 proteins as a molecular switch in salt stress tolerance. Nat Commun 10(1):1199
- Yang Y, Zhang C, Tang RJ et al (2019b) Calcineurin B-Like Proteins CBL4 and CBL10 Mediate Two Independent Salt Tolerance Pathways in *Arabidopsis*. Int J Mol 20(10):2421
- Yang Z, Wang C, Xue Y et al (2019a) Calcium-activated 14-3-3 proteins as a molecular switch in salt stress tolerance. Nat Commun 10(1):1199
- Yun KY, Park MR, Mohanty B et al (2010) Transcriptional regulatory network triggered by oxidative signals configures the early response mechanisms of japonica rice to chilling stress. BMC Plant Biol 10(1):16
- Yoshinori, Tajima A, Imamura T, Kiba Y, Amano T, Yamashino T, Mizuno (2004) Comparative Studies on the Type-B Response Regulators Revealing their Distinctive Properties in the Histo-Asp Phosphorelay Signal Transduction of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant and Cell Physiology 45(1):28-39. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcg154
- Zhang L, Yu S, Zuo K et al (2012) Identification of gene modules associated with drought response in rice by network-based analysis. PLoS One 7(5):e33748
- Zhang D, Ye H, Guo H et al (2014) Transcription factors involved in brassinosteroid repressed gene expression and their regulation by BIN2 kinase. Plant Signal Behav 9(3):59–70
- Zheng Z, Mosher SL, Fan B et al (2007) Functional analysis of *Arabidopsis* WRKY25 transcription factor in plant defense against *Pseudomonas syringae*. BMC Plant Biol 7(1):2
- Zheng Y, Chen Z, Ma L et al (2018) The ubiquitin E3 ligase RHA2b promotes degradation of MYB30 in abscisic acid signaling. Plant Physiol 178(1):428–440
- Zhou L, Lan W, Jiang Y et al (2014) A calcium-dependent protein kinase interacts with and activates a calcium channel to regulate pollen tube growth. Mol Plant 7(2):369–376
- Zhou J, Wang J, Zheng Z et al (2015) Characterization of the promoter and extended C-terminal domain of Arabidopsis WRKY33 and functional analysis of tomato WRKY33 homologues in plant stress responses. J Exp Bot 66(15):4567–4583
- Zhu Q, Zhang J, Gao X (2010) The Arabidopsis AP2/ERF transcription factor RAP2. 6 participates in ABA, salt and osmotic stress responses. Gene 457(1-2):1–12

Chapter 7 The Application of Databases and Bioinformatics for the Genome Editing of Crops



Hafiz Muhammad Ahmad, Munnaza Ijaz, Farrukh Azeem, Muhammad Amjad Ali, Shahid Iqbal Awan, Omar Aziz, Muhammad Abdullah, and Mahmood-Ur-Rahman

Contents

Introd	uction	174	
Integrated Crop Databases.			
CRISI	PR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing Databases	177	
7.3.1	Cas-Database	178	
7.3.2	Cpf1-Database	178	
7.3.3	CRISPR-Local	179	
7.3.4	MultiGuideScan,	179	
7.3.5	Synergizing CRISPR	179	
7.3.6	GudePro	179	
7.3.7	PAVOOC	180	
	Introd Integr CRISI 7.3.1 7.3.2 7.3.3 7.3.4 7.3.5 7.3.6 7.3.7	Introduction.Integrated Crop Databases.CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing Databases.7.3.1Cas-Database.7.3.2Cpf1-Database.7.3.3CRISPR-Local.7.3.4MultiGuideScan.7.3.5Synergizing CRISPR.7.3.6GudePro.7.3.7PAVOOC.	

H. M. Ahmad (⊠) · M. Ijaz · F. Azeem · Mahmood-Ur-Rahman (⊠) Department of Bioinformatics and Biotechnology, Government College University, Faisalabad, Pakistan e-mail: farrukh@gcuf.edu.pk; mahmoodansari@gcuf.edu.pk

M. A. Ali

Centre for Agriculture Biochemistry and Biotechnology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan e-mail: amjad.ali@uaf.edu.pk

S. I. Awan

Plant Pathology and Plant-Microbe Biology, Cornell University, Geneva, New York, USA e-mail: sai23@cornell.edu

O. Aziz

Department of Soil and Environmental Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan e-mail: omar.aziz@uaf.edu.pk

M. Abdullah Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia e-mail: muhammad.abdullah@uq.edu.au

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_7

	7.3.8	SWISS	180
	7.3.9	CRISPOR 4.99.	180
	7.3.10	CHOPCHOP V3	180
7.4	Conclu	ision	190
Refe	rences.		190

7.1 Introduction

Humans take 66% of their daily energy requirements from different staple crops, like wheat, rice, and corn (Ahmad et al. 2015a). With the increasing world population, food demand is also increasing, which puts pressure on plant breeders around the globe to produce high-yielding crops (Hu et al. 2018). In addition to this, water scarcity, climate change, and limited agricultural land are posing more challenges to agriculture (Iglesias et al. 2011; Mancosu et al. 2015; Schneider and Asch 2020). However, genomics is helping to modify genetic components for increasing crop productivity (Kole et al. 2015). Genome-editing techniques have proven useful in the improvement of crop yields, the resistance against stresses, and enhancing the nutritional contents of crops, as shown in Figs. 7.1 and 7.2. Crop genome sequences are needed for identifying agronomically important variations in the genomes of crop plants. In the last decade, the cost of DNA sequencing has decreased rapidly, which has led to the production of genomic data in enormous amounts, which provides substantial opportunities for crop breeders (Edwards et al. 2013).

Advancements in bioinformatics tools have provided fast procedures for analyzing large genomes of plants (Ahmad et al. 2021b). Third-generation technologies that can produce >10-kb-long sequence reads have been developed in recent years and have made crop genome sequencing easier. Today, genomic sequences of approximately 260 plants can be found in GenBank, which includes almost all major crops. For a long period of time, crop breeding has primarily relied on crossing and phenotypic selection, which can produce better genotypes by recombination of genetic elements. The genome sequences of plants help in identifying all genes, variants, and genetic pathways responsible for beneficial agronomic traits, and the modifications that emerged throughout the breeding process can be analyzed on a genotypic level. The readily available genomic data sets support breeders in mapping the quantitative trait loci. New and better crops can be developed after the identification of different genomic variations produced during breeding in crop species, followed by a selection of the best variants for desired traits (Dwivedi et al. 2017; Mousavi-Derazmahalleh et al. 2019).

Genomic selection (GS) is an approach that connects different variants present in a whole-genome sequence to avoid repeated phenotyping in the breeding process. Advanced bioinformatics tools are crucial for analyzing, processing, and gaining functional insights from big genomic data sets of plants (Moore et al. 2010; Batley and Edwards 2016). Variant identification, sequence alignment, and genome assembly are some standard bioinformatics approaches used while analyzing sequence data. The algorithms required for performing these analyses are nontrivial, and different computational tools use unique parameters. Sequence alignment tools developed for aligning short sequences did not perform well when used for long sequences (Hwang et al. 2015; Sedlazeck et al. 2018).

The other challenge is to reduce impact of preferences of using various tools during assembly of genome sequences (Ong et al. 2016). Therefore, choosing the right tool for analyzing the data set is crucial. There are many tools available for genome assembly and processing and for identifying variants, but selecting an appropriate analysis method and tool is another challenge (Grierson et al. 2011). The existing databases for crops, like Gramene (https://www.gramene.org), GrainGenes (https:// wheat.pw.usda.gov/GG3/), and Wheat Information System (http://www.wheatis. org), would help in storing an enormous amount of data and allowing breeders to access the genetic information easily (Scheben et al. 2018; Tello-Ruiz et al. 2018). Bioinformatics and genomics play a substantial role in enhancing the yield of modified crop varieties. The integrative approaches that simultaneously use genomics, phenotyping, and bioinformatics can assist breeders in dealing with big data sets and identifying targets (Evans et al. 2013; Ahmad et al. 2021b). In this book chapter, we have tried to explain the application of databases and bioinformatics in developing improved crops. Furthermore, we have integrated the role of computational tools in the genome editing of crop plants.

7.2 Integrated Crop Databases

With the establishment of new "omics" technologies and third-generation sequencing, an enormous amount of data is being produced and is becoming available to scientists for investigating various crop traits at gene and population levels (Pathak et al. 2018; Khandagale et al. 2020). Crop genomic databases are divided into two categories: crop-specific databases and general databases. Crop-specific databases are limited to some specific crops, while general databases contain information on various crop species. General databases such as European Molecular Biology Laboratory (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/), GenBank (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ genbank/), Phytozome (https://phytozome-next.jgi.doe.gov/), and Plant Genomic Database (https://www.plantgdb.org) play significant roles in storing genomic data; however, they provide very less or no phenotypic information (Nakaya et al. 2017; Wei et al. 2018; Madeira et al. 2019; Sayers et al. 2019). It is a major challenge for plant scientists and breeders to link genotypic information to phenotype because phenotypes depend on genomics, environmental factors, and epigenomics (Alonso et al. 2019; Rey et al. 2020). However, some crop databases, like GrainGenes (https://wheat.pw.usda.gov/GG3/), integrate the marker and gene expression data with genomic information, but there is a need to develop such repositories further (Ahmad et al. 2021b). Creating an integrative database by merging different annotated genomes, phenomes, interaction networks, and gene functions is quite difficult because the relevant data sets are dispersed in many formats in various databases that have dissimilar coverage and quality. Complex plant genomic databases can be combined by the intelligent mining of big crop databases that would allow easy

gene discovery for crop improvement (Hassani-Pak and Rawlings 2017). The various databases for important crop species are presented in Table 7.1. A web-based artificially intelligent search tool known as KnetMiner (https://knetminer.com) has been developed that integrates biological data present in different repositories. KnetMiner has the ability to discover unique connections among morphological traits and genes (Hassani-Pak and Rawlings 2017). In the KnetMiner approach, the four major steps involved are as follows: (i) integrating diverse biological data sets into a knowledge graph, (ii) improving the knowledge graph by mining the literature, (iii) identifying links among evidence nodes and genes, and (iv) visualizing the integrated data by applying an algorithm selected based on the evidence obtained. Integrative databases can be made for important crops, such as corn, wheat, barley, etc., by using the KnetMiner approach, which provides useful insights into indirect associations between biological processes and distant traits. A single information system for rice and wheat is also in its development stage, which would help scientists in improving these crops (Yuan et al. 2017; Scheben et al. 2018). The identification of genes associated with various phenotypic traits and the understanding of complex traits can be achieved through advances in data mining approaches and by developing integrative crop databases, which are useful for improving crops.

Name of database	Plant species	Online web link
The Arabidopsis information resource (TAIR)	Arabidopsis thaliana	https://www.arabidopsis.org
Phytozome V13	Hosts genome of about 261 spp.	www.phytozome.net/
Sunflower genome database (SGD)	Helianthus annuus	https://www.sunflowergenome.org
MaizeGDB 2018	Zea maize	https://www.maizegdb.org
Brapa_1.0	Brassica rapa	https://plants.ensembl.org/Brassica_ rapa/Info/Index
CottonFGD	Gossipium spp.	https://cottonfgd.org
OryzaGenome	Oryza spp.	http://viewer.shigen.info/ oryzagenome21detail/index.xhtml
TOMATOOMICS	Solanum lycopersicum	http://bioinf.mind.meiji.ac.jp/ tomatomics/
WGVD	Triticum aestivum	http://animal.nwsuaf.edu.cn/code/ index.php/Wheat
BarleyVarDB	Hordeum vulagre	http://146.118.64.11/BarleyVar
GmGDB	Glycine max	http://www.plantgdb.org/GmGDB/
GrainGenes	Avena sativa and Triticum aestivum	https://wheat.pw.usda.gov/GG3/
Chickpea transcriptome database (CTDB)	Cicer atretinum	http://www.nipgr.res.in/ctdb.html
European cultivated potato database	Solanum tuberosa	https://www.europotato.org

 Table 7.1
 Important crop-specific databases and their web links
7.3 CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing Databases

The domestication of crops and the improvement of crop genomics have always been the target of plant breeders. However, with the development of modern technologies for crop improvement have been shifted from selection of superiority phenotypic traits to targeted genome editing assemblies. Previously used genome-editing techniques (i.e., "transcriptional activator-like effector nuclease" (TALEN) and "zinc finger nuclease" (ZFN)) were designed with the help of DNA-binding proteins to break double-stranded DNAs. But these methods were not populated as it was difficult to design a specific protein for each targeted gene. Since the development of the first-ever genome-edited plant by homing endonucleases and zinc finger nucleases, a lot of development have been made in genome-editing techniques. Recent advances in genome editing include the development of a new technique called CRISPR/Cas9, which is like a bacterial II immune system and can target foreign nucleic acids (Farooq et al. 2018). Currently, CRISPR/Cas9 is being extensively used for miRNA editing, fluorescent imaging, bi-allelic mutation, epigenetic control, multiplex genome editing, and controlling gene expression (Farooq et al. 2018). Due to the widespread use of CRISPR/Cas9 in plant genome editing, various databases have been developed that contain different information about the designing of gRNAs, CRISPR-mediated mutants, DNA/RNA plugs, base editing, etc. Some important CRISPR databases are presented in Table 7.2.

Name of database	Web link	Function	References
CRISPR-PLANT	https://www. genome.arizona. edu/crispr/	Used for designing and constructing sgRNAs for plant genome editing	Lei et al. (2014)
Cas-database	http://www. rgenome.net/ cas-database/	Tool to construct gRNA library for Cas9	Park et al. (2016)
CRISPR-P 2.0	http://cbi.hzau. edu.cn/crispr/	Synthesis of plant sgRNA for CRISPR Cas9 system	Liu et al. (2017)
CRISPR-P 2.0	http://crispr.hzau. edu.cn/CRISPR2/	Designs sgRNAs with minimum off-target results with high efficiency	Liu et al. (2017)
Cpf1-database	http://www. rgenome.net/ cpf1-database/	Constructs genome-wide gRNA libraries for gene knockout studies	Park and Bae (2018)
Synergizing CRISPR	https://github.com/ Alexzsx/CRISPR	Tool designed to determine CRISPR Cas9 off-target activities	Zhang et al. (2019)
GuidePro	https://github.com/ MDhewei/ GuidePro	Predicts sgRNA in CRISPR/Cas9 protein knockouts	He et al. (2021)

Table 7.2 Different databases used for genome editing in crops by using CRISPR/Cas9 system

continued

Name of database	Web link	Function	References
PAVOOC	https://pavooc.me	Homology modeling, template generation, and visualization of amino acids in 3D	Schaefer et al. (2019)
Plant genome editing database (PGED)	http://plantcrispr. org	Tool established to provide information regarding plant mutants developed by CRISPR/ Cas9	Zheng et al. (2019)
Cas-OFFinder	http://www. rgenome.net/ cas-offinder/	Detects potential off-target sites of Cas9 RNA-guided endonucleases	Bae et al. (2014)
Cas-designer	http://rgenome. net/cas-designer/	Online tool to identify CRISPR- Cas9 sites	Park et al. (2015)
CRISPOR 4.99	http://crispor.tefor. net	Detection of off-target sites and primer designing for gRNAs in plants	Concordet and Haeussler (2018)
CRISPETA	http://crispeta.crg. eu	Causes genome deletion with paired gRNAs	Pulido-Quetglas et al. (2017)
CRISPR-ERA	http://CRISPR- ERA.stanford.edu	Web tool to design sgRNAs for CRISPR/Cas9	Liu and Wang (2021)
CHOPCHOP v3	https://chopchop. cbu.uib.no	CRISPR tool designed to identify CRISPR Cas single-guided RNAs	Labun et al. (2019)
CRISPR-P 2.0	http://crispr.hzau. edu.cn/CRISPR2/	Design and construct specific gRNAs for CRISPR-Cas9- mediated genome editing in plants	Liu et al. (2017)

7.3.1 Cas-Database

Cas-Database is an online tool for designing genome-wide gRNA libraries for Cas9 nucleases from *Streptococcus pyogenes* (SpCas9). Cas-Database's user-friendly online interface enables users to determine optimum target sequences by simply altering the filtering variables. It also offers a strong method for selecting several best possible target sequences present in multiple genes at the same time to construct a genome-wide library (Park et al. 2016).

7.3.2 Cpf1-Database

Cpf1-Database is a web-based tool that can select guide RNAs (gRNAs) from all potential genome-wide target sites in the most appropriate ways. This database is designed for gRNA library and works on LbCpf1 and AsCpf1 nuclease on genome scale, having recognition sequences "5'-TTTN-3" on 5' ends of the targeted sites (Park and Bae 2018).

7.3.3 CRISPR-Local

CRISPR-Local is a large and easy-to-use tool that helps in creating sgRNAs in different plants and other organisms. The genetic difference among individuals of various genetic backgrounds can be understood by this tool because it is based on high sgRNAs approach. The sgRNA design can be improved by CRISPR-Local in the following ways: (i) designing of appropriate sgRNAs for nonreference crops; (ii) screening of sgRNAs that can target several genes at the same time; (iii) no need to make multiple submissions and repeat calculations, which helps in conserving computational resources; and (iv) use of both graphical user interface (GUI) and command-line modes in diverse applications (Sun et al. 2019).

7.3.4 MultiGuideScan

MultiGuideScan is a modified version of GuideScan, which was not much populated because it was computationally expensive to design CRISPR gRNA libraries from large genomic data. For this reason, Li et al. (2019) developed this new web tool, which was more efficient in the construction of gRNA libraries as it implements the different processes of GuideScan. MultiGuideScan can construct RNA libraries from large genomic data with 9–12 times higher speed.

7.3.5 Synergizing CRISPR

This tool determines various ensemble learning approaches to predict the CRISPR/ Cas9 system's off-target effects. The suggested ensemble learning technique works to maximize off-target prediction capabilities by combining various CRISPR offtarget prediction tools. Integration of the best prediction models may lead towards better performance than using the individual tools. It may help to understand the impact of enhanced prediction skills on chromatin annotations and evolutionary conservation (Zhang et al. 2019).

7.3.6 GudePro

GuidePro is a two-layer ensemble predictor that allows numerous variables to be used to prefer sgRNAs in protein knockouts. GuidePro surpasses the current techniques and consistently outperforms the existing methods for predicting phenotypes caused by protein loss-of-function, indicating its resilience in selecting sgRNAs in diverse CRISPR/Cas9 knockout applications (He et al. 2021).

7.3.7 *PAVOOC*

A web-based CRISPR sgRNA design tool that prioritizes the most effective sgRNA candidates using state-of-the-art machine learning models is known as "prediction and visualization of on- and off-targets for CRISPR" (PAVOOC). Unlike other tools, it maps sgRRNAs to functional domains and protein structures and may visualize cut sites on corresponding crystal structures. PAVOOC also allows the creation of homology-directed repair templates for genome editing experiments as well as a 3D visualization of amino acids that are mutated (Schaefer et al. 2019).

7.3.8 SWISS

This database describes the editing of genome persuaded through single system. This simultaneous and wide-editing induced by a single system (SWISS) tool provides multiple genome-editing tools for plants. By using paired sgRNAs, SWISS can produce insertions/deletions in addition to base editing (Li et al. 2020).

7.3.9 CRISPOR 4.99

CRISPOR aims to provide a complete solution, including cloning, guide RNA selection, expression analysis, and primer designing, for assessing the activity of guide RNA and finding possible off-targets.

7.3.10 CHOPCHOP V3

This genome editing database works for about 200 genomes. Its major functions include identifying sgRNAs and supporting RNA accessibility predictions and alternative transcript isoforms. Furthermore, this database plays a role in CRISPR repression or activation and the enrichment of long red target loci as well as predicts Cas9 repair outcomes.

Improvement of Crop Genome Assemblies by Third-Generation Sequencing

Since the prices for next-generation sequencing (NGS) have become low, whole genome sequencing and resequencing are becoming important for many plant-related studies. Although, there are major limitations of NGS, like: vague alignment of repetitive elements that may inherent biases that produces highly fragmented genome assemblies (Sedlazeck et al. 2018). The advent of third-generation sequencings, such as Oxford Nanopore Technology sequencing (ONT) and the real-time sequencing of Pacific Biosciences (PacBio), has allowed the sequencing of long

reads with more accurate and continuous genome assemblies (Pérez-de-Castro et al. 2012; Li et al. 2018). Third-generation sequencing techniques help in generating high-quality de novo assemblies of genomes by spanning reads of complex genomic sites, like regions with more repetitive sequences necessary for understanding different structural variants. Furthermore, genome annotation can be improved by a third-generation sequencing technique known as isoform sequencing, which produces full-length sequenced transcripts, allowing a precise study of splice sites, alternatively spliced regions, and exons (Li et al. 2018). A well-annotated and completely assembled genome can allow plant breeders to identify the genes responsible for beneficial agronomic traits, designs genome-wide molecular markers, determine the location of genes, and describe the functions of genes. Long-range mapping techniques are useful for the mapping of long reads on chromosomes with great accuracy, which is possible for nonmodel crops, too (Jiao and Schneeberger 2017).

To identify structural variants and generate high-quality platforms, BioNano Genomics (https://bionanogenomics.com) is a new optical mapping platform that can perform labeling of big DNA sequences (>250 kb) at low cost. For instance, optical mapping and PacBio sequencing have assembled the genome of Oropetium thomaeum, which is a drought-tolerant species of grass, and a contig with the size of 2.4 Mb with 99.5% genome coverage was obtained (Vanburen et al. 2015). A high-resolution chromosome of wheat was also mapped with contigs having N50 of 1.3 Mb by using optical mapping data (Staňková et al. 2016). The repetitive regions can be identified by long-read sequencing with high accuracy. The repetitive sequences cannot be mapped through short mapping sequencing because these techniques wrongly assess their content. The improvement in the assembly of highly complicated crop genomes is the most beneficial application of third-generation sequencing. Genome size, repetitive sequences, ploidy, and available funds are some important parameters for selecting a genome sequencing technique for a crop. Illumina short-read sequencing, ONT, and PacBio are some recently developed sequencing techniques that can be used alone or in combination with other mapping technologies, like BioNano. The cost of these techniques varies from country to country, but with the passage of time, the cost of third-generation sequencing is decreasing. As such, its application can be broadened to include the improvement of crops.

Role of Integrative Genomics in Crop Improvement and Trait Discovery

Integrative genomics provides useful insights for identifying economically important traits for improving crops. The following strategies could be used for integrative genomics.

Identification of Quantitative Trait Loci

The association between phenotype and genotype could be estimated by an analysis of quantitative trait loci (QTL) (Ahmad et al. 2015a, b). With the increased number of studies on QTL in plants, the identification of high-quality candidate loci and the integration of information obtained from various QTL studies have become very difficult (Ahmad et al. 2018). In this scenario, a meta analysis tool is needed, which

can combine the outcomes of different studies and completely uses existing sources for predicting the exact location of QTL in genomes (MacKay et al. 2009; Mace and Jordan 2011). There are some bioinformatics tools available that can perform a meta analysis of QTL. For example, MetaQTL is a consensus model and statistics-based computational source that could precisely etimate the exact location and function of QTL; also, here, the confidence interval of QTL is reduced (Veyrieras et al. 2007; Ahmad et al. 2018).

Some other bioinformatics tools, like RASOUAL (https://bio.tools/rasqual) and solQTL (http://solgenomics.net/qtl/), also help in the visualization and linking of OTL data with various genome databases (Tecle et al. 2010; Kumasaka et al. 2016). A meta analysis of QTL was done on wheat, soyabean, cotton, and maize crops to map associated characteristics to mitigate biotic and abiotic stresses in these crops (Liu et al. 2012; Said et al. 2013). The OTL studies have helped plant breeders improve the yields and variety development in important food crops in previous years. OTL mapping is one of the most powerful and effective tools for establishing a linkage between genotypes and phenotypes in plants. The complete genome can be scanned, and rare alleles can be identified by using limited genetic markers with the help of OTL mapping, given that it is a hypothesis-driven approach. When a gene of interest segregates from a crop population, this approach proves useful. However, there is a major disadvantage of OTL mapping; that is, due to its low resolution, it is difficult to distinguish between physically adjacent and pleiotropic genes. Only the allelic diversity of the parent population can be assessed. This problem can, however, be resolved with the help of genome-wide association studies (GWASs), which determine the genomic regions with diverse traits in unrelated crop populations (Hu et al. 2018).

Genome-Wide Association Study and Determination of Breeding Targets

A genome-wide association study (GWAS), in contrast to OTL mapping, depends on natural populations and provides a good resolution for the identification of multiple events in crops, like recombination and natural variations linked with different phenotypes (Ali et al. 2019). In crop species, the links between phenotype and genotype have been explored by detecting linkage imbalance to achieve high-resolution mapping in GWAS (Huang and Han 2014). GWAS can detect a relatively wider range of genomic traits as compared to QTL mapping analysis. When the aim is to identify specific candidate genes which could be integrated in crops directly for improvement, then genome wide association studies uses more likely same technique as of QTL mapping (Korte and Farlow 2013). GWAS has been carried out in various food and oilseed crops, such as wheat, maize, rice, canola, soybean, and sunflower (Huang et al. 2010; Tian et al. 2011; Sonah et al. 2015; Gacek et al. 2017; Ahmad et al. 2021a, b). In Oryza sativa, 3.6 million single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been identified in a genome-wide study that can explain 36% of phenotypic variants by using identified loci, which allow the further discovery of alleles and genes with beneficial traits for improving crops (Huang et al. 2010). Through GWAS, it has been revealed that variations in liguleless genes can interfere with a leaf's structure and turn leaves in an upright direction in maize (Tian et al.

2011). The advancements in bioinformatics tools offer more opportunities to perform GWAS with more ease. For example, a bioinformatics tool known as PLINK (https://zzz.bwh.harvard.edu/plink/) is widely used for GWAS and employs standard regression analysis to establish the linkage between the genotypes and phenotypes of crops (Purcell et al. 2007). But standard regression cannot provide enough sensitivity for GWAS to identify rare variants (Ma et al. 2014a). Another common GWAS tool is Trait Analysis by association, Evolution and Linkage (TASSEL), which is based on a linear model that incorporates family and population structures; it can also describe population effects, unlike PLINK (Bradbury et al. 2007). The Genome Association and Prediction Integrated Tool (GAPIT) (https://zzlab.net/ GAPIT/) is another important bioinformatics tool that is based on a linear model that can efficiently handle big data sets (Lipka et al. 2012).

Forward and Reverse Genetic Approaches for the Screening of Desired Traits Forward genetic screening is a plant-breeding tool that can identify and characterize genes depending on the known phenotype (Jankowicz-cieslak and Till 2015), while reverse genetic screening identifies the change in phenotype due to modifications in a particular gene or regulatory region (Hou et al. 2020; Jo et al. 2021). In forward genetics, the targeted phenotype that segregates from a crop population can be initially monitored with QTL analyses. However, the reverse genetic approach is used to determine the phenotype associated with known genes (having mutation or strating point of a transformed pathway) that have been identified through QTL mapping or GWAS. Both forward genetic and reverse genetic approaches are important to determine the functional variations associated with different agronomic traits, like improved nutritional quality, improved yield, and biotic and abiotic resistance (Ahmad et al. 2015b). Molecular markers and gene cloning can be enormously improved through forward genetic screening. The forward genetic approach only allows the screening of a selective coding region and excludes intergenic sequences, rather than analyzing whole-genome sequences and identifying multiple sequences that have no association to phenotype development. It is reported that only 20 Mb out of 389 Mb of rice genome can efficiently recover induced mutations (Henry et al. 2014).

Crop breeding and functional genomics can be studied using a reverse genetic approach. Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING), a molecular biology technique based on reverse genetics, is beneficial for inducing mutations conventionally and nonconventionally (inducing mutations by high-throughput techniques). TILLING is helpful in recovering mutation from any genomic region and determining the novel phenotypes in crops. This approach was used to induce homozygous mutations in a gene responsible for wax synthesis in wheat crops (Slade et al. 2005). These both approaches can also be used in combination, for example, in Lotus, after applying technique of TILLING (a reverse genetics approach), the alleles were recovered by forward genetics in 275 cultivars and it can reduce the cost up to tenfold in comparison with whole genome sequencing (Hu et al. 2018).

Selection of C Is Regulatory Elements for Crop Editing

DNA sequences that regulate gene expression are termed cis-regulatory elements (CREs). In the promoter regions of genes, CREs act as enhancers and silencers to interact with their corresponding transcription factor proteins, i.e. activators and repressors, respectively. Surprisingly, almost half of crop variants have been produced through mutations in CREs (Meyer and Purugganan 2013). The majority of mutations necessary for the domestication of crops are often present in CREs (Swinnen et al. 2016). It has been reported that reducing the repression of grain width genes by creating mutations in rice CREs can produce slender rice without decreasing its yield (Wang et al. 2015). When breeding, targeting CREs can be more beneficial when the goal is to enhance or reduce the gene expression instead of knocking out the gene completely. CREs are present in chromatin and support protein binding, but they are not expressed, like genes, which makes them difficult to identify and characterize. Techniques like ATAC-se, Plant PAN, PLACE, PlantCare, DNase-I hypersensitivity mapping, and ChIP-seq are some important methods that help predict CREs in genomes (Johnson et al. 2007; Buenrostro et al. 2016). The genome-wide identification, validation, and functional assessment of CREs can be achieved by combining genome editing and chromatin detection approaches. In addition to this, many bioinformatics approaches, like the analysis of sequence conservation of various promoter sequences, can be used for CRE detection in crops. With the help of these approaches, it has become much easier to identify CREs in plants and animals (Velde et al. 2014). As the high-throughput techniques have been generating an enormous amount of data linked with CREs, it has become difficult to target specific CREs for breeders. Plant cis-acting regulatory element database is an integrated database that provides comprehensive information about CREs and their functions in plants (Waqas et al. 2019). However, the functions of CREs in regulatory pathways are unknown, and their effects on gene regulation can be determined by experimentation only.

Application of Machine Learning in Crop Editing

Machine learning (ML) can allow different algorithms to interpret big data sets by making patterns. The data sets produced by sequencing and photo imaging can be easily interpreted by using different analytical approaches through ML in lesser time. It can help plant breeders in developing the relationship between the phenotypes and genotypes of crops.

Crop Phenotyping

Crop phenotyping is used to measure structural and functional characteristics at cell and organism levels and is mandatory for crop improvement and GWAS (Walter et al. 2015). With the advancements in sequencing techniques and genomic research, the demand for crop phenotyping has increased because it helps in understanding complex genomic data. Conventional crop phenotyping is often considered a bottleneck approach because it is time- consuming, labor intensive, applicable to limited data sets only, and error-prone (Liu et al. 2014). Technological advances like machine learning (ML), automatic sensors, and high-throughput imaging have laid the foundation for the development of robotic high-throughput crop phenotyping to overcome the disadvantages associated with traditional crop phenotyping. The phenotypical features within and across crop populations can be generated with the help of this new technique.

High-throughput crop phenotyping primarily consists of four steps: (i) detection via automatic sensors or high-troughput imaging techniques, (ii) classification of phenotypical data, (iii) quantification of important features, and (iv) providing specific predictions based on algorithms or models (Singh et al. 2016). ML-based crop phenotyping is mainly used for identifying stress-associated phenotypes and monitoring various plant diseases. It has been stated that the severity of iron deficiency was assessed in soybean using a real-time ML-based crop phenotyping techinque (Naik et al. 2017). The real-time severity of iron deficiency in soybean was determined by developing a model with the help of collected phenotypic data through ML algorithms, multi-class support vector machines and linear discriminant analysis. Another study has revealed the severity of stressses due to nutrient deficiency, bacteria and fungi in Glycine max with the help of a deep ML based crop phenotyping method (Ghosal et al. 2018). Although ML has been successfully implemented in phenotyping and genomics, it is still facing several challenges. The modeling based on ML involves only big data sets to construct a model and develop an algorithm because small data sets may lead towards staistically non-significant predictions (Ubbens and Stavness 2017). Crop phenotyping is an expensive and time-consuming approach because it uses big data sets, and most of the crops require a long time to complete their growth cycle. Thus, high-throughput ML is limited to commercial companies and big research institutes only (Heckmann et al. 2017). The cost of production and applying machine learning should be minimized to widen its use in farms for crop improvement.

Functional Annotation and Crop Genomics

Machine learning (ML) plays an important role in numerous areas of plant genomics, including the identification of SNPs in polyploid crops, genome assembly, and the iterative interpretation of gene regulatory pathways. ML can be beneficial for improving the genome assemblies of polyploid crops that have complicated genome redundancies (Ma et al. 2014b). Complete genome assembly and annotation are bases for the identification of genetic modifications and the determination of the structure and function of genes, which are crucial steps in a crop trait discovery pipeline. It is very difficult to assemble a highly redundant genome by conventional genome assembly approaches that are based on linear algorithms. It has been reported that a high-quality genome assembly of Triticum aestivum was generated with the help of ML (Brenchley et al. 2012). Portcullis is an RNA-seq mapping tool that is based on ML, which can differentiate between natural and artificial splice sites, and it was proved helpful for annotating the genome of wheat (Mapleson et al. 2018). Unknown candidate genes can be identified by establishing a relationship between genes and cis-regulatory elements for improving crops. A regulatory network constructed on the basis only of the coexpression of genes cannot provide complete information about gene regulation (Hecker et al. 2009). Therefore, gene regulatory networks have been constructed by using ML approaches that can

incorporate data on different regulatory signals simultaneously. SNPs are important genetic modifications of plant genomes (Hu et al. 2018). False-positive SNPs can be filtered with the help of a tool known as SNP-ML, which uses tree bagging and neural networks and is based on machine learning. This can determine SNPs in strawberry, cotton, and peanut with 98% accuracy (Luo et al. 2019).

Role of Databases and Bioinformatics Tools in Crop Editing

Information on the characteristics of crops can be accessed, transferred, and retrieved with the help of bioinformatics. It uses different computational approaches to answer different biological questions. The storage, retrieval, and analysis of various forms of biological data (nucleic acids, protein sequences, functions, structures, and regulatory pathways) come under the domain of bioinformatics (Libault et al. 2017). The different computational tools used in genome editing are presented in Fig. 7.1. Nucleic acid and protein databases are a prerequisite for collecting data in bioinformatics. The data stored in these databases should be managed by creating a system based on defined roles, known as a database management system.

Biological data are stored in two types of databases: (i) sequence databases, which store the sequence information of nucleic acids and proteins, and (ii) structure databases, which store information on protein structures. There are three famous databases that store the sequence information of nucleic acids: EMBL (https://www.embl.de), DDBJ (https://www.ddbj.nig.ac.jp/index-e.html), and NCBI (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). Important databases for storing and retrieving protein information are Protein Information Resource (https://proteininformationresource.org/), (https://www.expasy.org/resources/ SWISS PROT uniprotkb-swiss-prot), and Martinsried Institute for Protein Sequences (http://www. pnfsoftware.com/mips-decompiler). Two other databases-Molecular Modeling (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/MMDB/mmdb.shtml) Database and Protein Data Bank (https://www.rcsb.org/)—are used to predict the structure of proteins (Table 7.3).

Bioinformatics tools or programs help plant breeders analyze data with great ease. The Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST, https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/Blast.cgi) is one of the most extensively used bioinformatics platforms. BLAST is a time-efficient approach that identifies similar patterns among different sequences, but its sensitivity varies. BLAST needs a query sequence for searching against databases that have multiple sequences related to a query sequence. There are different variants of BLAST available that are used for the comparison of protein and gene sequences with public databases. These are (i) BLASTn (https://blast. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch), which uses nucleotide query sequences and returns the most related sequences from databases; (ii) BLASTp (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE=Proteins), which uses protein query sequences and returns the most related protein sequences from databases; (iii) PSI-BLAST (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/sss/psiblast/), which is used for finding distant relatives of protein sequences; (iv) BLASTx (https://blast.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PROGRAM=blastx&PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch&LINK_ LOC=blasthome), which uses all the six open reading frames of a nucleotide query



Fig. 7.1 Various omics approaches integrated into the genome editing of crops

sequence to compare it against a protein database; (v) tBLASTx (https://blast.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PROGRAM=tblastx&PAGE TYPE=BlastSearch&BAST SPEC=&LINK_LOC=blasttab), which is used for determining the distant relatives of nucleotide sequences; (vi) tBLASTn (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast. cgi?PROGRAM=tblastn&PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch&LINK_LOC=blasthome), which is used to compare protein query sequences against the six open reading frames of nucleotide sequences; (vii) Primer-BLAST (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/tools/primerblast/index.cgi?ORGANISM=1235996&INPUTSEQUENCE= JX869059.1&LINK_LOC=nuccore), which is used to design the primers of a specific sequence; and (viii) MegaBLAST (https://www.ultimateears.com/en-us/wireless.speakers/megablast.html), which is used to compare large numbers of query sequences by using command-line BLAST. Out of these all, the variants BLASTn and BLASTp are most widely used because they directly compare the sequence and do not require the translation of sequences. All variants of BLAST are used for comparing sequences, DNA mapping, establishing phylogeny, locating domains, and identifying species.

Cn3D (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/CN3D/cn3d.shtml) is a powerful stand-alone tool for analyzing the 3D structures of proteins. It displays



Fig. 7.2 Prime objectives for the genome editing of crops plants

alignments, structures, and sequences simultaneously. Another important tool is Taxonomy Browser (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Taxonomy/Browser/wwwtax. cgi), which enables plant breeders to identify phylogenetic trees by using common names, names of phenotypically similar crops, and partial taxonomic names (Mohnot 2020). Here, we have mentioned the most important tools available at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) and the different bioinformatics databases and their applications in plant breeding.

Table 1.3 Databases 101 su uctural and runch	וטוומו כוומומרוכנונצמנוטוו טו עומות עוטוכוווא	
Database	Functions	Web link
Protein data Bank (PDB)	Determines the structure of large biological molecules, i.e. proteins, nucleic acids, etc.	https://www.rcsb.org/
Universal protein resource (UniProt)	Database for providing functional information about protein sequences	https://www.uniprot.org
Protein data Bank Japan (PDBJ)	Provides an archive of macromolecular structures	https://pdbj.org
Structure integration with function, taxonomy and sequences (SIFTS)	Determines structure-based annotations for proteins	http://pdbe.org/sifts/
Cn3D	Analyzes the 3D structure of proteins	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/CN3D/ cn3d.shtml
Protein information resource (PIR)	Stores and retrieves protein information	https://proteininformationresource.org/
Swiss-Prot	Provides structural domains, functions, and posttranscriptional modifications of proteins	https://www.expasy.org/resources/ uniprotkb-swiss-prot/
Martinsried Institute for Protein Sequences (MIPS)	Protein sequence, homology modeling, and yeast genome	http://www.pnfsoftware.com/mips-decompiler/
Molecular modeling database (MMDB)	Modeling and 3D sturcture of macromolecules	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/MMDB/ docs/mmdb_help.html
Expasy	Determines the physio-chemical characteristics of proteins	https://www.expasy.org
RCSB protein data Bank	Determines the 3D structures of biomolecules	https://www.rcsb.org
STRING	Used to find interactions among proteins	https://string-db.org

Table 7.3 Databases for structural and functional characterization of plant proteins

7.4 Conclusion

Plant breeders face substantial challenges in analyzing crop data obtained through high-throughput techniques, and it is necessary to understand and analyze these data for improving crop production. These problems can be solved by applying novel breeding methods and using bioinformatics tools. This process can be accelerated by genetic screening, such as metal QTL mapping and forward and reverse genetics approaches. Furthermore, genome-editing techniques have accelerated the breeding process through the manipulation of targeted genes. Computational tools have helped develop various databases, which are important sources of plant genomic and proteomic information. Machine learning has improved crop phenotyping, genome annotation, and crop genomics, which help in the discovery of beneficial crop traits. These techniques may be helpful in meeting the food demand of the rapidly increasing world population.

References

- Ahmad HM, Mahmood-Ur-Rahman FA, Qurban A (2015a) QTL mapping for the improvement of drought tolerance in cereal crops: An overview. Life Sci J 12:102–108
- Ahmad HM, Mahmood-Ur-Rahman QA, Awan SI (2015b) Plant cuticular waxes: a review on functions, composition, biosyntheses mechanism and transportation. Life Sci J 12(4):60–67
- Ahmad HM, Mahmood-ur-Rahman A, Farrukh et al (2018) QTL mapping for crop improvement against abiotic stresses in cereals. J Anim Plant Sci 28(6):1558–1573
- Ahmad HM, Rahman M, Ahmar S et al (2021a) Comparative genomic analysis of MYB transcription factors for cuticular wax biosynthesis and drought stress tolerance in Helianthus annuus L. Saudi J Biol Sci 28(10):5693–5703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.06.009
- Ahmad HM, Wang X, Fiaz S et al (2021b) Comprehensive genomics and expression analysis of eceriferum (CER) genes in sunflower (Helianthus annuus). Saudi J Biol Sci. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.07.077
- Ali MA, Shahzadi M, Zahoor A et al (2019) Resistance to cereal cyst nematodes in wheat and barley: An emphasis on classical and modern approaches. Int J Mol Sci 20:432. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20020432
- Alonso C, Ramos-Cruz D, Becker C (2019) The role of plant epigenetics in biotic interactions. New Phytol 221:731–737. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15408
- Bae S, Park J, Kim J-S (2014) Cas-OFFinder: a fast and versatile algorithm that searches for potential off-target sites of Cas9 RNA-guided endonucleases. Bioinformatics 30:1473–1475. https:// doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu048
- Batley J, Edwards D (2016) The application of genomics and bioinformatics to accelerate crop improvement in a changing climate. Curr Opin Plant Biol 30:78–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pbi.2016.02.002
- Bradbury PJ, Zhang Z, Kroon DE et al (2007) TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. Bioinformatics 23:2633–2635. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/btm308
- Brenchley R, Spannagl M, Pfeifer M et al (2012) Analysis of the bread wheat genome using whole-genome shotgun sequencing. Nature 491:705–710. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11650

- Buenrostro J, Wu B, Chang H, Greenleaf W (2016) ATAC-seq: a method for assaying chromatin accessibility genome-wide. Curr Protoc Mol Biol 109:1–10. https://doi. org/10.1002/0471142727.mb2129s109.ATAC-seq
- Concordet J-P, Haeussler M (2018) CRISPOR: intuitive guide selection for CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing experiments and screens. Nucleic Acids Res 46:W242–W245. https://doi.org/10.1093/ nar/gky354
- Dwivedi SL, Scheben A, Edwards D et al (2017) Assessing and exploiting functional diversity in germplasm pools to enhance abiotic stress adaptation and yield in cereals and food legumes. Front Plant Sci 8:1–30. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01461
- Edwards D, Batley J, Snowdon RJ (2013) Accessing complex crop genomes with next-generation sequencing. Theor Appl Genet 126:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-012-1964-x
- Evans K, Jung S, Lee T et al (2013) Addition of a breeding database in the genome database for Rosaceae. Database 2013:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/bat078
- Farooq R, Hussain K, Nazir S et al (2018) CRISPR/Cas9; a robust technology for producing genetically engineered plants. Cell Mol Biol 64:31. https://doi.org/10.14715/cmb/2018.64.14.6
- Gacek K, Bayer PE, Bartkowiak-Broda I et al (2017) Genome-wide association study of genetic control of seed fatty acid biosynthesis in Brassica napus. Front Plant Sci 7:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.02062
- Ghosal S, Blystone D, Singh AK et al (2018) An explainable deep machine vision framework for plant stress phenotyping. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:4613–4618. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1716999115
- Grierson CS, Barnes SR, Chase MW et al (2011) One hundred important questions facing plant science research. New Phytol 192:6–12
- Hassani-Pak K, Rawlings C (2017) Knowledge discovery in biological databases for revealing candidate genes linked to complex phenotypes. J Integr Bioinform 14:1–9. https://doi. org/10.1515/jib-2016-0002
- He W, Wang H, Wei Y et al (2021) GuidePro: a multi-source ensemble predictor for prioritizing sgRNAs in CRISPR/Cas9 protein knockouts. Bioinformatics 37:134–136. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa1068
- Hecker M, Lambeck S, Toepfer S et al (2009) Gene regulatory network inference: data integration in dynamic models – a review. Biosystems 96:86–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biosystems.2008.12.004
- Heckmann D, Schlüter U, Weber APM (2017) Machine learning techniques for predicting crop photosynthetic capacity from leaf reflectance spectra. Mol Plant 10:878–890. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molp.2017.04.009
- Henry IM, Nagalakshmi U, Lieberman MC et al (2014) Efficient genome-wide detection and cataloging of EMS-induced mutations using Exome capture and next-generation sequencing. Plant Cell 26:1382–1397. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.121590
- Hou YJ, Okuda K, Edwards CE et al (2020) Article SARS-CoV-2 reverse genetics reveals a variable infection gradient in the respiratory tract. Cell Press 182:429–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.042
- Hu H, Scheben A, Edwards D (2018) Advances in integrating genomics and bioinformatics in the plant breeding pipeline. Agriculture 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture8060075
- Huang X, Han B (2014) Natural variations and genome-wide association studies in crop plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol 65:531–551. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050213-035715
- Huang X, Wei X, Sang T et al (2010) Genome-wide asociation studies of 14 agronomic traits in rice landraces. Nat Genet 42:961–967. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.695
- Hwang S, Kim E, Lee I, Marcotte EM (2015) Systematic comparison of variant calling pipelines using gold standard personal exome variants. Sci Rep 5:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17875
- Iglesias A, Mougou R, Moneo M, Quiroga S (2011) Towards adaptation of agriculture to climate change in the Mediterranean. Reg Environ Chang 11:159–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-010-0187-4

- Jankowicz-cieslak J, Till BJ (2015) Forward and reverse genetics in crop breeding. In: Al-Khayri JM, Jain SM, Johnson DV (eds) Advances in plant breeding strategies: breeding, biotechnology and molecular tools, 1st edn. Springer Nature, pp 215–240
- Jiao WB, Schneeberger K (2017) The impact of third generation genomic technologies on plant genome assembly. Curr Opin Plant Biol 36:64–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2017.02.002
- Jo YD, Kang HS, Choi HI, Kim JB (2021) Genotype-by-sequencing analysis of mutations and recombination in pepper progeny of gamma-irradiated gametophytes. Plan Theory 10:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10010144
- Johnson DS, Mortazavi A, Myers RM, Wold B (2007) Genome-wide mapping of in vivo protein-DNA interactions. Science (80-) 316:1497–1502. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1141319
- Khandagale K, Krishna R, Roylawar P et al (2020) Omics approaches in Allium research: Progress and way ahead. PeerJ 8:1–34. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9824
- Kole C, Muthamilarasan M, Henry R et al (2015) Application of genomics-assisted breeding for generation of climate resilient crops: Progress and prospects. Front Plant Sci 6:1–16. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00563
- Korte A, Farlow A (2013) The advantages and limitations of trait analysis with GWAS: a review. Plant Methods 9:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4811-9-29
- Kumasaka N, Knights AJ, Gaffney DJ (2016) Fine-mapping cellular QTLs with RASQUAL and ATAC-seq. Nat Genet 48:206–213. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3467
- Labun K, Montague TG, Krause M et al (2019) CHOPCHOP v3: expanding the CRISPR web toolbox beyond genome editing. Nucleic Acids Res 47:W171–W174. https://doi.org/10.1093/ nar/gkz365
- Lei Y, Lu L, Liu H-Y et al (2014) CRISPR-P: a web tool for synthetic single-guide RNA design of CRISPR-system in plants. Mol Plant 7:1494–1496. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssu044
- Li C, Lin F, An D et al (2018) Genome sequencing and assembly by long reads in plants. Genes (Basel) 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9010006
- Li T, Wang S, Luo F et al (2019) MultiGuideScan: a multi-processing tool for designing CRISPR guide RNA libraries. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btz616
- Li C, Zong Y, Jin S et al (2020) SWISS: multiplexed orthogonal genome editing in plants with a Cas9 nickase and engineered CRISPR RNA scaffolds. Genome Biol 21:141. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13059-020-02051-x
- Libault M, Pingault L, Zogli P, Schiefelbein J (2017) Plant systems biology at the single-cell level. Trends Plant Sci 22:949–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2017.08.006
- Lipka AE, Tian F, Wang Q et al (2012) GAPIT: genome association and prediction integrated tool. Bioinformatics 28:2397–2399. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts444
- Liu H, Wang X (2021) CRISPR-ERA: a webserver for guide RNA design of gene editing and regulation. pp 65–69
- Liu R, Zhang H, Zhao P et al (2012) Mining of candidate maize genes for nitrogen use efficiency by integrating gene expression and QTL data. Plant Mol Biol Report 30:297–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11105-011-0346-x
- Liu N, Koh ZX, Goh J et al (2014) Prediction of adverse cardiac events in emergency department patients with chest pain using machine learning for variable selection. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 14:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-14-75
- Liu H, Ding Y, Zhou Y et al (2017) CRISPR-P 2.0: an improved CRISPR-Cas9 tool for genome editing in plants. Mol Plant 10:530–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2017.01.003
- Luo R, Sedlazeck FJ, Lam TW, Schatz MC (2019) A multi-task convolutional deep neural network for variant calling in single molecule sequencing. Nat Commun 10:1–11. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-019-09025-z
- Ma C, Blackwell T, Boehnke M, Scott LJ (2014a) Recommended joint and meta-analysis strategies for case- control association testing of single low-count variants. Genet Epidemiol 23:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.21742.Recommended
- Ma C, Zhang HH, Wang X (2014b) Machine learning for big data analytics in plants. Trends Plant Sci 19:798–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2014.08.004

- Mace ES, Jordan DR (2011) Integrating sorghum whole genome sequence information with a compendium of sorghum QTL studies reveals uneven distribution of QTL and of gene-rich regions with significant implications for crop improvement. Theor Appl Genet 123:169–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-011-1575-y
- MacKay TFC, Stone EA, Ayroles JF (2009) The genetics of quantitative traits: challenges and prospects. Nat Rev Genet 10:565–577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2612
- Madeira F, Park YM, Lee J et al (2019) The EMBL-EBI search and sequence analysis tools APIs in 2019. Nucleic Acids Res 47:W636–W641. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz268
- Mancosu N, Snyder RL, Kyriakakis G, Spano D (2015) Water scarcity and future challenges for food production. Water 7:975–992. https://doi.org/10.3390/w7030975
- Mapleson D, Venturini L, Kaithakottil G, Swarbreck D (2018) Efficient and accurate detection of splice junctions from RNA-seq with Portcullis. Gigascience 7:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/ gigascience/giy131
- Meyer RS, Purugganan MD (2013) Evolution of crop species: genetics of domestication and diversification. Nat Rev Genet 14:840–852. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3605
- Mohnot P (2020) Agriculture and environmental-E Newa letter. 1:
- Moore JH, Asselbergs FW, Williams SM (2010) Bioinformatics challenges for genome-wide association studies. Bioinformatics 26:445–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp713
- Mousavi-Derazmahalleh M, Bayer PE, Hane JK et al (2019) Adapting legume crops to climate change using genomic approaches. Plant Cell Environ 42:6–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pce.13203
- Naik HS, Zhang J, Lofquist A et al (2017) A real-time phenotyping framework using machine learning for plant stress severity rating in soybean. Plant Methods 13:1–12. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13007-017-0173-7
- Nakaya A, Ichihara H, Asamizu E et al (2017) Plant Genome DataBase Japan (PGDBj). In: Plant genomics databases: methods and protocols, methods in molecular biology. Springer Sciene + Buisness Media, New York, pp 45–77
- Ong Q, Nguyen P, Phuong Thao N, Le L (2016) Bioinformatics approach in plant genomic research. Curr Genomics 17:368–378. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389202917666160331202956
- Park J, Bae S (2018) Cpf1-database: web-based genome-wide guide RNA library design for gene knockout screens using CRISPR-Cpf1. Bioinformatics 34:1077–1079. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/btx695
- Park J, Bae S, Kim J-S (2015) Cas-designer: a web-based tool for choice of CRISPR-Cas9 target sites. Bioinformatics btv537. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv537
- Park J, Kim J-S, Bae S (2016) Cas-database: web-based genome-wide guide RNA library design for gene knockout screens using CRISPR-Cas9. Bioinformatics 32:2017–2023. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btw103
- Pathak RK, Baunthiyal M, Pandey D, Kumar A (2018) Augmentation of crop productivity through interventions of omics technologies in India: challenges and opportunities. 3 Biotech 8. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13205-018-1473-y
- Pérez-de-Castro AM, Vilanova S, Cañizares J et al (2012) Application of genomic tools in plant breeding. Curr Genomics 13:179–195. https://doi.org/10.1109/cdc.1996.577319
- Pulido-Quetglas C, Aparicio-Prat E, Arnan C et al (2017) Scalable design of paired CRISPR guide RNAs for genomic deletion. PLoS Comput Biol 13:e1005341. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pcbi.1005341
- Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K et al (2007) PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am J Hum Genet 81:559–575. https://doi. org/10.1086/519795
- Rey O, Eizaguirre C, Angers B et al (2020) Linking epigenetics and biological conservation: towards a conservation epigenetics perspective. Funct Ecol 34:414–427. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2435.13429

- Said JI, Lin Z, Zhang X et al (2013) A comprehensive meta QTL analysis for fiber quality, yield, yield related and morphological traits, drought tolerance, and disease resistance in tetraploid cotton. BMC Genomics 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-14-776
- Sayers EW, Cavanaugh M, Clark K et al (2019) GenBank. Nucleic Acids Res 47:D94–D99. https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky989
- Schaefer M, Clevert D-A, Weiss B, Steffen A (2019) PAVOOC: designing CRISPR sgRNAs using 3D protein structures and functional domain annotations. Bioinformatics 35:2309–2310. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty935
- Scheben A, Batley J, Edwards D (2018) Revolution in genotyping platforms for crop improvement. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 164:37–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2017_47
- Schneider P, Asch F (2020) Rice production and food security in Asian mega deltas—a review on characteristics, vulnerabilities and agricultural adaptation options to cope with climate change. J Agron Crop Sci 206:491–503. https://doi.org/10.1111/jac.12415
- Sedlazeck FJ, Lee H, Darby CA, Schatz MC (2018) Piercing the dark matter: bioinformatics of long-range sequencing and mapping. Nat Rev Genet 19:329–346. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41576-018-0003-4
- Singh A, Ganapathysubramanian B, Singh AK, Sarkar S (2016) Machine learning for highthroughput stress phenotyping in plants. Trends Plant Sci 21:110–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tplants.2015.10.015
- Slade AJ, Fuerstenberg SI, Loeffler D et al (2005) A reverse genetic, nontransgenic approach to wheat crop improvement by TILLING. Nat Biotechnol 23:75–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1043
- Sonah H, O'Donoughue L, Cober E et al (2015) Identification of loci governing eight agronomic traits using a GBS-GWAS approach and validation by QTL mapping in soya bean. Plant Biotechnol J 13:211–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12249
- Staňková H, Hastie AR, Chan S et al (2016) BioNano genome mapping of individual chromosomes supports physical mapping and sequence assembly in complex plant genomes. Plant Biotechnol J 14:1523–1531. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12513
- Sun J, Liu H, Liu J et al (2019) CRISPR-local: a local single-guide RNA (sgRNA) design tool for non-reference plant genomes. Bioinformatics 35:2501–2503. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/bty970
- Swinnen G, Goossens A, Pauwels L (2016) Lessons from domestication: targeting cis-regulatory elements for crop improvement. Trends Plant Sci 21:506–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tplants.2016.01.014
- Tecle IY, Menda N, Buels RM et al (2010) solQTL: a tool for QTL analysis, visualization and linking to genomes at SGN database. BMC Bioinformatics 11:525. https://doi.org/10.1186/147 1-2105-11-525
- Tello-Ruiz MK, Naithani S, Stein JC et al (2018) Gramene 2018: unifying comparative genomics and pathway resources for plant research. Nucleic Acids Res 46:D1181–D1189. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1111
- Tian F, Bradbury PJ, Brown PJ et al (2011) Genome-wide association study of leaf architecture in the maize nested association mapping population. Nat Genet 43:159–162. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.746
- Ubbens JR, Stavness I (2017) Deep plant phenomics: a deep learning platform for complex plant phenotyping tasks. Front Plant Sci 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01190
- Van de Velde J, Heyndrickx KS, Vandepoele K (2014) Inference of transcriptional networks in Arabidopsis through conserved noncoding sequence analysis. Plant Cell 26:2729–2745. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.114.127001
- Vanburen R, Bryant D, Edger PP et al (2015) Single-molecule sequencing of the desiccationtolerant grass Oropetium thomaeum. Nature 527:508–511. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15714
- Veyrieras JB, Goffinet B, Charcosset A (2007) MetaQTL: a package of new computational methods for the meta-analysis of QTL mapping experiments. BMC Bioinformatics 8. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2105-8-49

- Walter A, Liebisch F, Hund A (2015) Plant phenotyping: from bean weighing to image analysis. Plant Methods 11:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-015-0056-8
- Wang S, Li S, Liu Q et al (2015) The OsSPL16-GW7 regulatory module determines grain shape and simultaneously improves rice yield and grain quality. Nat Genet 47:949–954. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.3352
- Waqas M, Azhar MT, Rana IA et al (2019) Genome-wide identification and expression analyses of WRKY transcription factor family members from chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) reveal their role in abiotic stress-responses. Genes Genomics 41:467–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13258-018-00780-9
- Wei Y, Liu G, Chang Y et al (2018) Melatonin biosynthesis enzymes recruit WRKY transcription factors to regulate melatonin accumulation and transcriptional activity on W-box in cassava. J Pineal Res 65:1–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpi.12487
- Yuan Y, Scheben A, Chan CKK, Edwards D (2017) Databases for wheat genomics and crop improvement. Methods Mol Biol 1679:277–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7337-8_18
- Zhang S, Li X, Lin Q, Wong K-C (2019) Synergizing CRISPR/Cas9 off-target predictions for ensemble insights and practical applications. Bioinformatics 35:1108–1115. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty748
- Zheng Y, Zhang N, Martin GB, Fei Z (2019) Plant Genome Editing Database (PGED): a call for submission of information about genome-edited plant mutants. Mol Plant 12:127–129. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2019.01.001

Chapter 8 Omics Technology: Revolution in Plant Biology



Syed Abdul Majeed Musavi, Sharjeel Ahmad, Saira Abbas, Habib-ur-Rehman Athar, and Iftikhar Ahmed

Contents

8.1	Introduction	197
8.2	Genomics as a Revolutionary Discipline	199
	8.2.1 Proteomics.	201
	8.2.2 Transcriptomics	203
	8.2.3 Metabolomics	204
8.3	Application of Foodomics in the Safety, Security, and Sustainability of Food	205
	8.3.1 Cryobionomics	207
8.4	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	208
Refe	rences	210

8.1 Introduction

In the age of rapid developments in the field of science and technology, there is a great shift from macro- to micro- or even nanolevel developments. Twenty-first century is considered the century of nanodevelopments, where millions of nanotechnologies, such as omics, have emerged and replaced the old ones. Omics are among those revolutionary technologies that are helpful in understanding, altering,

S. Abbas

Habib-ur-Rehman Athar Institute of Pure and Applied Biology, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

S. A. M. Musavi

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Sindh Agriculture University, Tandojam, Pakistan

S. Ahmad \cdot I. Ahmed (\boxtimes)

National Microbial Culture Collection of Pakistan (NCCP), Bio-resource Conservation Institute (BCI), National Agriculture Research Center (NARC), Islamabad, Pakistan e-mail: iftikhar.ahmed@parc.gov.pk

Department of Zoology, University of Science and Technology, Bannu, Pakistan

mapping, and shaping the genetic constitution of an individual, including individual plants. Of the approximately 391,000 plant species available on earth, 94% are flowering plants and have significant importance for human needs, such as food, shelter, health, etc., as well as for the whole ecological system. To understand plant genetics with respect to its adaptation to environmental adversaries, a prominent area of research for crop improvement is plant genomics. For a better exploitation of plants, it is imperative to better characterize plants genotypically and phenotypically; that is, we need new advanced tools. Advancements in RNA or DNA sequencing techniques revolutionized transcriptomics and genomics. Similarly, analytical techniques such as HPLC, LC-MS, GC-MS, and MALDI-TOFF helped in the development of metabolomics, proteomics, and lipidomics. Various researchers are of the view that if all the techniques for prebreeding are combined, we will have extensive and elaborated information to explain phenotypic unique variations in genetics (Scossa et al. 2021).

There is constant pressure to increase the production of major crops, like maize, rice, wheat, and cotton. Moreover, climate change causes a further decrease in productivity (Voss-Fels et al. 2019). There is an urgent need to develop high-yielding and resistant cultivars for greater production with lesser inputs using new techniques such as omics, which may help in feeding nine billion people in 2050 (Godfray et al. 2010a, b). Technologies like proteomics, genomics, and transcriptomics are helpful in the identification of relevant genes, proteins, and molecules, which play important roles in plant stress tolerance (Soni et al. 2015). The different disciplines of omics are listed in Fig. 8.1.



Fig. 8.1 The different omics disciplines

Transcriptomics	miRNomics	Epigenomics	Genomics
Gene expression analysis	Expression analysis	Targeted bisulfite sequencing	Targeted sequencing
Noncoding RNA analysis	miRNA identification	CHIP-seq	Whole-exome sequencing
Gene fusion detection	miRNA editing	MeDIP-seq methylCap-seq	Whole-genome sequencing
mRNA splice analysis		Whole-genome bisulfite sequence	
RNA editing			

Table 8.1 Advance operations of omics in plant sciences

Metabolomics techniques enlighten us about the depth of complex metabolic mechanisms, the diverseness of biological processes involved in plant growth and development, and stress resistance against biotic or abiotic stresses. A few metabolites were routinely analyzed in plants using spectrophotometric techniques. However, GC-MS and LC-MS helped in analyzing small to large metabolites present in low or high quantities. Furthermore, associated bioinformatics tools helped in the exploration of complex metabolic networks and complicated biosynthetic pathways. Large data sets or reference databases have already been developed for different plant species for bioinformatics analysis. Recent research has shown significant advancements in the field of metabolomics, which have opened the doors for more improvements in plants for commercial cultivation (Shalini et al. 2018). The advance applications of omics in plant sciences are listed in Table 8.1.

The cryopreservation of plants is a complex process for the preservation of quality donor parent materials, which usually involves preculture, preconditioning, cryopreservation, cryoprotection, rewarming, and regrowth (Kaczmarczyk et al. 2012; Reed 2008). Cryobionomics gives us information about cryoinjuries on stored germplasm, cell signaling during this process, the mechanism of regrowth, as well as the implications of genetic constancy in stored material. Research on omics will dig into the whole cryopreservation mechanism and help in tackling the issue of the recalcitrance of germplasm. Omics, in general, have unlimited application not only in plant divisions but also in all divisions of living beings (Carpentier et al. 2005; Vertommen et al. 2007). The different kinds of omics are listed in Fig. 8.2.

This chapter significantly reveals how important omics disciplines are due to their revolutionary contribution in the genome of plant sciences and their helpful application in food safety, security, sustainability, and the welfare of mankind.

8.2 Genomics as a Revolutionary Discipline

Genome is the complete set of genetic information of an individual's DNA. Genomics is a discipline concerned with the internal structure of genomes, the functional properties and mapping of genomes, and the editing of genomes. Genomics works on the



Fig. 8.2 A list of the different omics disciplines

phenomena of quantification and combined characterization of an individual's genes, their interaction and effects on an individual ("WHO definitions of genetics and genomics") (Geschwind and Flint 2015). Genomics is considered as one of the developing, emerging, evolutionary and revolutionary discipline which consists of various sophisticated tools and techniques that can be used in different disciplines especially in plants to program the internal mechanisms of an organism. It has been used in different areas of agriculture such as plant protection, plant pathology, plant genetics, plant breeding, molecular genetics, biotechnology, animals, livestock, biochemistry and many more (Bustamante et al. 2011).

Accurate and appropriate methodologies for marker assisted selection and molecular breeding, provision of approaches based on knowledge to plant biotechnology are provided by genomics, in order to accelerate the synthesis of novel plant cultivars. Functional gene products are recognized by the studies of gene expression that provides phenotypes and this data can be used for the crop improvement process. The specific addition of genes inside the plant can give rise to desirable phenotype rapidly as compared to conventional plant breeding methods (Lander 1996).

The interrelationship of genes of an individual is very much necessary for continuity of bodily activities. Important economical traits are incorporated into agricultural crops through the advanced genomic technologies, thus helps in designing of crops of desirable characteristics which fulfill the food demands of people. Molecular level analysis, genomic sequencing of plants are being exploited by researchers in different areas of plant sciences (Shalini et al. 2018).

Advanced genomic technologies have paved the way forward to produce qualitative foods along with different beneficial objectives such as high grain yield of rice and drought tolerant cultivars in maize, grain quality in wheat, etc. (Ashikari et al. 2005), as well as shelf life longevity in banana cultivars (Mehrotra and Goyal 2013). SNPs and SSR which are the discoveries of genome sequencing technologies are being provided to improve qualitative traits in economical crops (Salgotra et al. 2014). Marker-assisted selection is also used to select progeny with desirable traits. Mutation breeding is also used to produce desirable crops having certain targeted economic characters by exposure to mutagenic reagents (Fleming 1983).

The prior identification of desirable traits in an individual has become easy through the application of molecular markers. The genetic diversity can be amended and accessed of the economical characters of crop plants by the help of such DNA markers (Collard and Mackill 2008). Generations of genetical as well as physical mapping have been done through the appropriate use of these DNA markers. They are also use to recognized areas which are needed for the crop environmental adaptation against different harsh circumstances (Varshney et al. 2009). The process of cosegregation is needed to create genetic maps which represent the position of markers in the group of linkage. Greater marker densities of genetic maps have been provided by next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies. The mapping technology of quantitative trait loci (QTL) has been replaced by these enhanced maps technology. As molecular tool of characterization, the association maps are more accurate and detailed (Perez-de-Castro et al. 2012).

The transition of gene study from a single hereditary unit to a complete genome is a revolutionary step of genomics. It is helpful in understanding of gene interrelationships inside the genome. Such genomic modernization and technology would helpful in exploitation of evolutionary hierarchy of edible crops and reorganization of their ancestry that from where these present modern-day crops have been evolved. These genomic tools are equipping scientists to produce genetically engineered crops which provide sustainability of the food system and equal distribution of qualitative food among the global population. Furthermore, these genomic studies performs better to explore and understand the functional properties of genes in order to exploit better-off hereditary information for sustainable use(Shalini et al. 2018). The whole mechanisms of Genome sequence are as sculptured in Fig. 8.3.

8.2.1 Proteomics

The large-scale study of proteins is known as proteomics. Proteins comprise 50% dry weight of the cell, and it is an important part of an individual and consider as the main hub of various bodily activities. Meanwhile, the complete set of proteins produced by an organism is considered a proteome. Proteomics concern the handling of proteins at the molecular level (Anderson 1998; Blackstock and Weir 1999).

Identification and characterization of complete set of proteins' received from a genome can be done through the applications of proteomics (Wilkins et al. 1996). Amino acids are the building blocks of proteins. The determination of the concentration of amino acid sequences and different post-translational changings can be determined through proteomics (Barbier-Brygoo and Joyard 2004). In order to maintain the structure and the necessary regulatory mechanisms of proteins, its code



Fig. 8.3 Flowchart indicating the mechanism of genome sequence

of the genome is needed (Whitelegge 2002). Proteomics explains us the complex life processes and functional responses of a cell against environmental issues. The balancing of homeostasis inside the cells and networks of cell signaling for structural adjustment of cell are the main functions of proteins and these are all can be appropriately controlled by proteomics(Renaut et al. 2006).

The protein needed for MS traits has been identified for the hybrid selection and detection of male sterility traits in the hybrid by the help of proteomics (Yu et al. 2002). For the development of transgenic crops, proteomics can be applied (Gong and Wang 2013). To increase the photosynthetic mechanisms and abiotic stress tolerance of plants, certain efforts have been made in this regard. C4 plants are more workable relative to energy conversion because they contain two kinds of chloroplasts in their cell. In order to recognize the proteins responsible for the process of light fixation, proteomic study was conducted for both C3 and C4 plants respectively(Zhao et al. 2013).

The diversified functions of bio-molecules inside the body, their roles and interrelationship in metabolism of cell can be determined through advanced technology of proteomics and bioinformatics. The information of omics has been updated and advanced through the involvement of proteomics applications, and it provides indepth of various biological mechanisms that take place inside the living organisms. The interaction between proteins and post-translational modifications can be known by the applications of proteomics. Probably, the development of protein-based biosynthetic fungicide can be synthesized through the techniques of proteomics. Simultaneously, such protein based biosynthetic herbicides and pesticides as well fertilizers would be developed by utilizing the proteomics technology(Shalini et al. 2018). The flowchart proteomics protocol is as shown in Fig. 8.4.

8.2.2 Transcriptomics

The gene sequences which are expressed in a specific cell at a specific period are provided by the applications of transcriptomics. The nature of transcriptome is dynamic because the cell's transcriptome continuously changes due to different internal conditions. The function of genes, level of transcriptome (Borevitz and Processes of molecules can be understood by the study of transcriptome (Borevitz and Chory 2004). Enzymes are the major players of metabolic activities. Analysis of expression of genes help in identification of particular gene controlling specific character, thus helpful in identification of main enzymes of that metabolic network (Poole et al. 2007).

In order to study variation in transcriptome information during growth, stresses, development, seed germination, the technology of microarray has been utilized successfully (Poole et al. 2007). For the successful improvement of plant cultivars



Fig. 8.4 Flowchart indicating proteomics protocol

incorporation of QTLs specific to resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses and grain development have been mapped on plant genomes (Saha et al. 2010). For the purpose of refinement of economical plants, functional tools like mutagenesis, epigenetics and RNA interference can be applied to gene silencing. For the recognition of chromosomal region related with expression of agricultural crop traits, bulk segregate analysis technique of genome mapping is used efficiently. For the development of disease resistant pigeon pea, this BSA technique was used successfully (Wei et al. 2009).

Significant data about genes involved in specific metabolic process is given by the gene expression analysis of mutant varieties. Generation of expression profile information depends on developmental stage of an individual, physiological circumstance and cell types can be developed through the application of transcriptomics. For comparing the relative DNA expression sequences of different species can be done by the evaluation of various information sets simultaneously. The relationship between plants and their wild relatives can be revealed through the analysis and assessment of molecular and expression diversity of an organism (Shalini et al. 2018).

8.2.3 Metabolomics

Living body is full of chemical reactions. The food we eat, the water we drink, they all have their own mechanisms in body to run bodily activities. The scientific study of these chemicals and their by-products, smaller molecules and metabolites is known as metabolomics. Basically, it is the study of unique finger print characteristics associated with it or the patterns of finger print metabolites that we leave behind (Daviss 2005).

The linkage between genotypes and phenotypes is known through the study of metabolomics. The major difference between proteomics and metabolomics is that metabolomics find out metabolically active expression of proteins, recognize biochemical processes and different metabolites roles that comes after result. The internal and environmental circumstances are subjected to dynamic metabolome. It involves continuous observation of associated changes caused in metabolic pathways; such changes are due to abiotic and biotic stress respectively. This dynamic monitoring helps in the development of improved cultivars and provides foundation mechanism to know about the biology of systems (Aliferis and Jabaji 2011). The manipulations occur in the metabolome proves helpful in the discovery of novel pesticides by the information comes from the studies of distinction of the pesticides action mode consequently. By the observation of manipulations of metabolite sequences, it will be helpful and easy to cause changes in plant health and qualitative changes in its nutrition simultaneously (Dixon et al. 2006). The profiling of metabolic pathways is helpful by providing data about what activities are going on inside the cell. For instance, during seedling stage, identification of activities inside the seed (Dunn and Ellis 2005).

The sign of similarity in composition between traditional and manipulated plants can be provided by metabolomics and it can find out the unwanted changes caused in the whole composition of metabolite. Mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance are the two analytical tools used in metabolic profiling. These techniques can be utilized in herbicides to find out their metabolic responses, examine and observe metabolic regulations and manipulations occur in metabolites in relation to environmental and genetic conditions respectively (Aliferis and Jabaji 2011).

An insight study of metabolites' and their appropriate analysis is helpful in decline the utilization of pesticide and synthesis of new pesticides, enhancing nutritional content, and provides better nourishment to the main traits of interest. Metabolomics possess a great potential to study the small molecular patterns specifically associated with different molecules to alter the genetic adjustment of plants (Idle and Gonzalez 2007).

8.3 Application of Foodomics in the Safety, Security, and Sustainability of Food

Foodomics is an emerging discipline which combines omics technologies of advanced level to make better health and consumer's well-being. It integrates tools like food chemistry and biology of food to utilize technology in a proper way (Cifuentes 2009). Foodomics and its processing mechanisms are as listed in Table 8.2.

It aims to focus on provision of better qualitative food along with a sufficient quantity to fulfill the requirements of rapidly growing global population. As it is already mentioned that world population is about to reach 9 billion in 2050 and now breeders, scientists, researchers, and food scientists are on the way to overcome the scarcity of food all over the world. In this whole scenario, advanced technologies like omics have been proved helpful to revolutionize the world with the efficient quantity of food for safety, security and sustainability of food. Foodomics was officially emerged as a discipline in the first international conference held in 2009 at Cesena, Italy (García-Cañas et al. 2012). Due to high throughput analysis

Foodomics				
Bioactivity	Safety	Quality	Traceability	
Microbial growth	Assessment and evaluation of food	Assesses and evaluates the quality and life of food	Identification of sources	
Identify pathogens	Transgenic food	Food	Food	
Adaptation of pathogens	Contaminants	New food	Ingredients	
Impacts of molecules on health	New ingredients	Processing	Plant breeding and crop improvement	

Table 8.2 Foodomics and its processing mechanisms

requirement of foodomics, it is still bounded in sense of research and developmental progress. Foodomics based upon four major disciplines of omics namely (Balkir et al. 2020):

- (a) **Genomics:** It concerns the detailed examination of genomic structures (Brennan et al. 2020).
- (b) Transcriptomics: It uses different tools of analysis, including microanalysis, to explain genomic sets and recognizes differences among various conditions and individuals (Dong and Chen 2013).
- (c) Proteomics: It concerned with the structure and physiological functions of protein. it is the large-scale study of the proteome (set of proteins) present in organisms. (Graves and Haystead 2002).
- (d) **Metabolomics:** It is particularly concerns with the comprehensive study of metabolites in a biological system and their effects cellular behavior(Clish 2015).

All these abovementioned disciplines have been previously discussed in depth. The Foodomics utilizes the applications of these four major areas in order to design and synthesis food of its own choice that meets the demands of global community. Foodomics has various advantages for the welfare of human beings. It provides easy data access to scientists to arrange food analysis and its effects on health living organisms. It is a forward step towards progress and growth of food and technology to better understand them. It also leads to nutrional genomics which is the further extention of foodomics and helpful to analyze the interaction among genetics, food and human health studies. Foodomics is really an emerging field whose applications are using to check food effects on human, plants and animals, in order to cure the diseases genetically and on time. It ensures safer provision of food and paves the way for sustainable food development (Capozzi and Bordoni 2013). The overlapping of the different omics disciplines in foodomics is shown in Fig. 8.5.



Fig. 8.5 Shows the overlapping of different omics disciplines in foodomics

8.3.1 Cryobionomics

As an emerging, evolutionary and developing discipline, cryobionomics provides an ultimate solution to preserve germplasm stock better-off. The process of cryopreservation of in vitro germplasm material for the purpose of long-term conservation results in the exposition of tissues to physical, physiological and chemical stresses resulting cryo-injury. However, the impacts of cryo-injury on the genome are rare; any DNA polymorphisms' accumulation would not be induced by cryopreservation itself, but the consequence of complete cryo-protection culture regeneration mechanism. It is desirable to evaluate the complete genetics of plants surviving cryogenic storage to find out either they are 'true to type' after cryopreservation. It can be approached at the phenotypic, biochemical, cytological, histological, and molecular level (Kaviani 2021) (Kaviani 2021) (Kaviani 2021).

To obtain a sophisticated picture of the basic biological mechanisms that consist of cryopreservation of whole systems, scientists are now capable to work on the same sample through the complete access of omics technologies (Morrison et al. 2006). Generally, high-throughput tools of omics such as genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and all other omics technologies can be applied to the same sample, following a detailed examination into biomolecular manipulations which combine the plant materials cryopreservation. Contemporary research in plant cryopreservation is now advocated by omics technologies that prepare a new knowledge foundation that will help in growth to resolve some of the more complex cryobiological issues (Basu 2008; Carpentier et al. 2005, 2007, 2008a, b; Volk 2010).

This whole process requires standard operating procedures to achieve a profound recovery that takes decades of collaborative examination using docile model systems to understand the complexity of the species and specific genotype responses to cryopreservation (Johnston et al. 2007, 2009, 2010). Necessary advancements have been marked in the last decade (Normah et al. 2013; Reed 2008), but there remained some instances where cryopreservation is restricted by scarcity of process where its utilize is highly desirable for the valued material preservation (Häggman et al. 2008). As progress in cryopreservation growth towards recalcitrant non model individuals, an increasing number of hurdles have been stumbled on with low levels of post-storage survival (Reed et al. 2013).

It is an evolving phenomenon that deals with the two aspects of cryopreservation viz. the linkage present between genetic stability and cryo-injury and secondly, the functionality and behavior of plant species in relation to their re-introduction in natural habitats environments and atmospheres (Harding 2004). The applications of omics disciplines in cryobionomics are as shown in Fig. 8.6.



Fig. 8.6 Indicates the application of omics disciplines in cryobionomics

8.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The science of omics contains great potential to alter the genetic make-up of plants, to achieve desirable objectives in plants, vegetables and crops respectively. It aims to bring such productive changes inside the genes, DNA, RNA, macro and micromolecules at the highest level. The genuine issue which the world is facing today is the shortage of qualitative and healthy food, continuous change in climatic patterns and environmental stress. The Food and Agriculture Organization is working on strategies to overcome this barrier; fulfill the needs of the population all over the world, with the objective of producing novel cultivars with higher yield, less pesticide consumption, and higher thermo tolerance; and develop sustainable food production practices. Other national and international organizations are also working on formulating sustainable food production policies to ensure food and health safety among the masses. The recent inventions of modern molecular and nanotechnologies have overcome various issues related to the safety and sustainability of food. Their revolutionary contribution to plant production can never be ignored. Disciplines like omics can give us a genetic map to yield possibly the deepest-red apple easily. Its scientific results are beyond imagination, if one reveals its mysterious phenomena.

The wide-ranging dump of omics tools are increasing the taste, quality, and nutritional composition of major food crops, enhancing agricultural yield for food, feed, and fiber, playing a vital role in plant protection, and consequently impacting agricultural economics. Through the appropriate utilization of genomics, proteomics, transcriptomics, and metabolomics, the predictability, uniformity and consistency in plant breeding have been improved, reduction in time occurs and expenses of producing best qualitative major edible crops which possess resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses, but still possess high nutrition. Omics has given depth to the molecular processes of insect resistance to pesticides, and the tolerability in plants towards herbicides for better management of a pest. Linking genes to characters provides extra scientific assurance leading to improved varieties and lines and understanding the processes of insect and weed resistance. Omics provides a systems' biological approach in order to understand the complex interrelationships between proteins, genes and metabolites within the resulted phenotype. This integrated approach depends heavily upon chemical analytical methodologies, computational analysis, bioinformatics and various biological disciplines, leading to plant protection and trait improvement. The application omics technologies in plant science is shown in Fig. 8.7.

Omics can be applied in agriculture research expansion in different sectors like health and food sector, energy division, animal feed, and special preparation of chemicals while it can be helpful in enhancement, preservation and remediation of the environment. Technologies of the omics are focusing on important target characters along with accuracy. It can enhance traits of nutrition of food for the advantage of a consumer, such as tomato which contains high lycopene concentration, fruits which contain delayed trait of ripening, as well as yield along with potential antioxidant capacities. Omics potential targets, focus and outcomes are as shown in Table 8.3.



Fig. 8.7 Some applications of omics technology in plant sciences

			Potental influence and
Approach	Target molecule	Focus	outcomes
Metagenomics	DNA	Whole community taxonomic and functional analysis	Novel organisms, processes, and bioactive compunds
Metabolomics	Small molecules (metabolomics/ metabolites)	Elucidating composition, diversity, and richness of metabolomes	Characterization of novel metabolomes (metabolites)
Proteomics	Amino acids, peptides, and protein molecules	Expressed protein composition and quantification	Highlights the differences between protein translation and degradation in food waste
Transcriptomics	RNA (total RNA, rRNA, or mRNA)	Elucidating the composition, diversity, and richness of transcriptomes (expressed genes)	Gene expression profiling, identification, and characterization uncovers novel RNA species

 Table 8.3
 Omics potential targets, focus, and outcomes

Abiotic stresses affect plant growth as plants are the earth's basic producers and potential of yield in an individual. Stress conditions at certain times, plant species adjust per se to temporarily adaption to the present status by manipulating the expression design of metabolites, proteins, genes. In order to recognize such manipulations, many techniques such as transcriptomics, genomics, metabolomics, genomics and glycomics have been designed to appropriately tackle the genetic constitution of plants and their succession in adaptability under stressed conditions. Hence, there are uncountable applications of omics are available which can be utilized to take various benefits in plants, to create food sustainability and safety for the welfare of human beings.

References

- Aliferis KA, Jabaji S (2011) Metabolomics–a robust bioanalytical approach for the discovery of the modes-of-action of pesticides: a review. Pestic Biochem Physiol 100:105–117
- Anderson NL (1998) Proteome, and proteomics: new technologies, new concepts, and new words. Electrophoresis 19:1853–1861
- Ashikari M, Sakakibara H, Lin S, Yamamoto T, Takashi T, Nishimura A, Angeles ER, Qian Q, Kitano H, Matsuoka M (2005) Cytokinin oxidase regulates rice grain production. Science 309:741–745
- Balkir P, Kemahlioglu K, Yucel U (2020) Foodomics: A new approach in food quality and safety. Trends Food Sci Technol
- Barbier-Brygoo H, Joyard J (2004) Focus on plant proteomics. Plant Physiol Biochem 42:913-917
- Basu C (2008) Gene amplification from cryopreserved Arabidopsis thaliana shoot tips. Curr Issues Mol Biol 10:55–60
- Blackstock WP, Weir MP (1999) Proteomics: quantitative and physical mapping of cellular proteins. Trends Biotechnol 17:121–127
- Borevitz JO, Chory J (2004) Genomics tools for QTL analysis and gene discovery. Curr Opin Plant Biol 7:132–136
- Brennan GP, Bauer S, Engel T, Jimenez-Mateos EM, Del Gallo F, Hill TDM, Connolly NMC, Costard LS, Neubert V, Salvetti B (2020) Genome-wide microRNA profiling of plasma from three different animal models identifies biomarkers of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 144:105048
- Bustamante CD, Francisco M, Burchard EG (2011) Genomics for the world. Nature 475:163-165
- Capozzi F, Bordoni A (2013) Foodomics: a new comprehensive approach to food and nutrition. Genes Nutr 8:1-4
- Carpentier SC, Witters E, Laukens K, Deckers P, Swennen R, Panis B (2005) Preparation of protein extracts from recalcitrant plant tissues: an evaluation of different methods for two-dimensional gel electrophoresis analysis. Proteomics 5:2497–2507
- Carpentier SC, Witters E, Laukens K, Van Onckelen H, Swennen R, Panis B (2007) Banana (Musa spp.) as a model to study the meristem proteome: acclimation to osmotic stress. Proteomics 7:92–105
- Carpentier SC, Coemans B, Podevin N, Laukens K, Witters E, Matsumura H, Terauchi R, Swennen R, Panis B (2008a) Functional genomics in a non-model crop: transcriptomics or proteomics? Physiol Plant 133:117–130
- Carpentier SC, Panis B, Vertommen A, Swennen R, Sergeant K, Renaut J, Laukens K, Witters E, Samyn B, Devreese B (2008b) Proteome analysis of non-model plants: a challenging but powerful approach. Mass Spectrom Rev 27:354–377
- Cifuentes, A. (2009). Food analysis and foodomics

- Clish CB (2015) Metabolomics: an emerging but powerful tool for precision medicine. Mol Case Stud 1:a000588
- Collard BCY, Mackill DJ (2008) Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Philosoph Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 363:557–572
- Daviss B (2005) Growing pains for metabolomics: the newest'omic science is producing results-and more data than researchers know what to do with. The Scientist 19:25–29
- Dixon RA, Gang DR, Charlton AJ, Fiehn O, Kuiper HA, Reynolds TL, Tjeerdema RS, Jeffery EH, German JB, Ridley WP (2006) Applications of metabolomics in agriculture. J Agric Food Chem 54:8984–8994
- Dong Z, Chen Y (2013) Transcriptomics: advances and approaches. Sci China Life Sci 56:960–967
- Dunn WB, Ellis DI (2005) Metabolomics: current analytical platforms and methodologies. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 24:285–294
- Fleming EE (1983) Luther Burbank of New Mexico: Dr. Louis B. Boellner, 1872–1951. New Mexico Historical Rev 58:5
- García-Cañas V, Simó C, Herrero M, Ibáñez E, Cifuentes A (2012) Present and future challenges in food analysis: foodomics. ACS Publications
- Geschwind DH, Flint J (2015) Genetics and genomics of psychiatric disease. Science 349:1489–1494
- Godfray HCJ, Beddington JR, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D, Muir JF, Pretty J, Robinson S, Thomas SM, Toulmin C (2010a) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327:812–818
- Godfray HCJ, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D, Muir JF, Nisbett N, Pretty J, Robinson S, Toulmin C, Whiteley R (2010b) The future of the global food system. The Royal Society
- Gong CY, Wang T (2013) Proteomic evaluation of genetically modified crops: current status and challenges. Front Plant Sci 4:41
- Graves PR, Haystead TAJ (2002) Molecular biologist's guide to proteomics. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66:39–63
- Häggman H, Rusanen M, Jokipii S (2008) Cryopreservation of in vitro tissues of deciduous forest trees. In: Plant cryopreservation: a practical guide. Springer, pp 365–386
- Harding K (2004) Genetic integrity of cryopreserved plant cells: a review. CryoLetters 25:3–22 Idle JR, Gonzalez FJ (2007) Metabolomics. Cell Metab 6:348–351
- Johnston JW, Horne S, Harding K, Benson EE (2007) Evaluation of the 1-methyl-2-phenylindole colorimetric assay for aldehydic lipid peroxidation products in plants: malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal. Plant Physiol Biochem 45:108–112
- Johnston J, Benson EE, Harding K (2009) Cryopreservation of in vitro Ribes shoots induces temporal changes in DNA methylation. Plant Physiol Biochem 47:123–131
- Johnston JW, Pimbley I, Harding K, Benson EE (2010) Detection of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine as a marker of oxidative damage in DNA and germplasm exposed to cryogenic treatments. CryoLetters 31:1–13
- Kaczmarczyk A, Funnekotter B, Menon A, Phang PY, Al-Hanbali A, Bunn E, Mancera R (2012) Current issues in plant cryopreservation. In: Current frontiers in cryobiology. InTech, pp 417–438
- Kaviani B (2021) Cryobiomics in tropical and subtropical horticultural crops. In: Omics in horticultural crops. Elsevier Publication
- Lander ES (1996) The new genomics: global views of biology. Science 274:536-539
- Mehrotra S, Goyal V (2013) Evaluation of designer crops for biosafety—A scientist's perspective. Gene 515:241–248
- Morrison N, Cochrane G, Faruque N, Tatusova T, Tateno Y, Hancock D, Field D (2006) Concept of sample in OMICS technology. Omics J Integr Biol 10:127–137
- Normah MN, Chin HF, Reed BM (2013) Conservation of tropical plant species. Springer
- Perez-de-Castro A, Vilanova S, Cañizares J, Pascual L, Blanca J, Diez M, Prohens J, Picó B (2012) Application of genomic tools in plant breeding. Curr Genomics 13:179–195
- Poole R, Barker G, Wilson ID, Coghill JA, Edwards KJ (2007) Measuring global gene expression in polyploidy; a cautionary note from allohexaploid wheat. Funct Integr Genomics 7:207–219
- Reed BM (2008) Plant cryopreservation: a practical guide. Springer, New York

- Reed BM, Gupta S, Uchendu EE (2013) In vitro genebanks for preserving tropical biodiversity. In: *I*Conservation of tropical plant species. Springer, pp 77–106
- Renaut J, Hausman JF, Wisniewski ME (2006) Proteomics and low-temperature studies: bridging the gap between gene expression and metabolism. Physiol Plant 126:97–109
- Saha GC, Sarker A, Chen W, Vandemark GJ, Muehlbauer FJ (2010) Inheritance and linkage map positions of genes conferring resistance to stemphylium blight in lentil. Crop Sci 50:1831–1839
- Salgotra RK, Gupta BB, Stewart CN (2014) From genomics to functional markers in the era of next-generation sequencing. Biotechnol Lett 36:417–426
- Scossa F, Alseekh S, Fernie AR (2021) Integrating multi-omics data for crop improvement. J Plant Physiol 257:153352
- Shalini S, Singla A, Goyal M, Kaur V, Kumar P (2018) Omics in agriculture: applications, Challenges and Future Perspectives. Crop Improvement for Sustainability
- Soni P, Nutan KK, Soda N, Nongpiur RC, Roy S, Singla-Pareek SL, Pareek A (2015) Towards understanding abiotic stress signaling in plants: convergence of genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic approaches. In: Elucidation of abiotic stress signaling in plants. Springer, pp 3–40
- Varshney RK, Nayak SN, May GD, Jackson SA (2009) Next-generation sequencing technologies and their implications for crop genetics and breeding. Trends Biotechnol 27:522–530
- Vertommen A, Carpentier S, Remmerie N, Witters E, Swennen R, Panis B (2007) Towards the identification of protein complexes in banana (Musa spp) meristems
- Volk GM (2010) Application of functional genomics and proteomics to plant cryopreservation. Curr Genomics 11:24–29
- Voss-Fels KP, Stahl A, Hickey LT (2019) Q&A: modern crop breeding for future food security. BMC Biol 17:1–7
- Wei G, Tao Y, Liu G, Chen C, Luo R, Xia H, Gan Q, Zeng H, Lu Z, Han Y (2009) A transcriptomic analysis of superhybrid rice LYP9 and its parents. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:7695–7701
- Whitelegge JP (2002) Plant proteomics: BLASTing out of a MudPIT. Proc Natl Acad Sci 99:11564–11566
- Wilkins MR, Sanchez J-C, Gooley AA, Appel RD, Humphery-Smith I, Hochstrasser DF, Williams KL (1996) Progress with proteome projects: why all proteins expressed by a genome should be identified and how to do it. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev 13:19–50
- Yu J, Hu S, Wang J, Wong GK-S, Li S, Liu B, Deng Y, Dai L, Zhou Y, Zhang X (2002) A draft sequence of the rice genome (Oryza sativa L ssp indica). Science 296:79–92
- Zhao Q, Chen S, Dai S (2013) C4 photosynthetic machinery: insights from maize chloroplast proteomics. Front Plant Sci 4:85

Chapter 9 Nanobiotechnology and Its Applications in Plant System Biology



Abdul Rehman, Zahid Manzoor, Abdul Qayyum, Zhen Peng, Hongge Li, Guangyong Qin, Yinhua Jia, Zhaoe Pan, Shoupu He, and Xiongming Du

Contents

9.1	Background	214
9.2	Plant Stress Tolerance by Nanoparticles.	
	9.2.1 Nano vs Bulk.	215
	9.2.2 Dispersion of Nanomaterials	220
9.3	Stress Detection and Early Exposure by Nanoparticles	220
	9.3.1 Nanoparticle Sensors.	220
	9.3.2 Plants Sensors for Initial Stress Recognition.	221
9.4	Agrochemicals Based on Nanoparticles.	222
	9.4.1 Nanofertilizers and Nanopesticides	222
	9.4.2 Targeting the Chloroplast to Synchronize Plant Performance	223
9.5	Transgenic Events Assisted by Nanoparticles.	225
	9.5.1 Nanomaterials as Delivery Platform.	225
9.6	Nano-Enabled-CRISPR-Cas Complex.	226
9.7	Seed Nanopriming.	227
9.8	Light Harvesting by Nanoparticles	228

A. Rehman $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. He $\cdot X$. Du (\boxtimes)

Zhengzhou Research Base, State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China

State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Institute of Cotton Research Chinese Academy of Agricultural Science, Anyang, Henan, China

Z. Manzoor

Key Horticultural Plant Biology Lab, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

A. Qayyum

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

Z. Peng · H. Li · Y. Jia · Z. Pan

State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Institute of Cotton Research Chinese Academy of Agricultural Science, Anyang, Henan, China

G. Qin

Zhengzhou Research Base, State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_9
9.9	Capturing More Electrons.	229
9.10	Future Perspectives	229
Refe	rences	230

9.1 Background

Materials with a dimension less than 100 nm and a high surface-to-volume ratio are called nanomaterials due to their small size. They have unique physicochemical properties like increased reactivity and a small surface area with a typical surface structure. They are highly reactive because of their small size, accumulation of nanoparticles, stability, surface structure, shape, and chemical composition (Wang et al. 2016). Nanomaterials, in addition to their unique physicochemical features, are highly receptive to surface conjugation, allowing them to be produced as adaptable platforms with a wide range of applications in plant science (Machado et al. 2020; Hu et al. 2020). Nanotechnology has showed great promise in agriculture: it can increase plant stress tolerance by scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS) with nanozymes (nanomaterials that imitate antioxidant enzyme functions) (Gao et al. 2007; Pirmohamed et al. 2010). Cerium oxide enhances tolerance against abiotic stresses (heat, cold, salinity, and drought) in plants (Liu et al. 2021b; Wu et al. 2018; Djanaguiraman et al. 2018; Wu et al. 2017b). Nanobiotechnology also enables the targeted and controlled release of agrochemicals (Zhang et al. 2020b; Santana et al. 2020); stress detection at early stages (Giraldo et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2017) by using carbon nanotubes for sensing Ca^{2+} , H_2O_2 , and NO (Wu et al. 2020); successful delivery of ribonucleic acid (RNA) or deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) in nonmodel plant species (Demirer et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2019); as well as stress tolerance by seed priming (nanopriming) with nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019; Mahakham et al. 2017).

By 2050, the world's population is expected to reach 9 billion, and feeding such a large number is a great challenge. Scientists have estimated that Agriculture production must grow by 60% from 2005–2007 levels to feed a population of nearly 9 billion people by 2050 (Van Ittersum et al. 2016). Many efforts have been made through plant breeding, cultivation practices, and farm management to reduce the gap between demand and supply of food, but it is still an emerging problem that can only be solved by modern techniques, like nano-enabled agriculture, to mitigate food shortage. An emerging field called nano-enabled agriculture has the potential to increase plant tolerance to biotic and abiotic challenges, as well as plant breeding and agriculture. By 2050, it is expected that plant nanobiotechnology will address food shortage and have great importance in sustainable agriculture.

Previously, plant biotechnology was not much focused on by researchers; rather, they emphasized nanosensors, nanotoxicity, and nanoparticles in agricultural production (Zhao et al. 2020; Xin et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2020a; Acharya et al. 2019). Nanomaterials' biosafety concern might be substantially handled with adequate management and design (Gilbertson et al. 2020; Adisa et al. 2019). The use of nanomaterials in sustainable agriculture is being focused on in the current chapter. The



Fig. 9.1 Role of nanobiotechnology in various aspects of agriculture

major objective of this chapter is to encourage researchers specializing in plant biotechnology to further work on nano-enabled agriculture. Figure 9.1 illustrates the dynamic role of nanobiotechnology in various aspects of agriculture to improve the current agricultural production system.

9.2 Plant Stress Tolerance by Nanoparticles

9.2.1 Nano vs Bulk

Many researchers have recently worked on nano- and bulk materials in plants for agricultural production. By comparing the technique of using nanofertilizers and nanopesticides with conventional approaches, it was proved that nanomaterials are 20-30% more efficient (Dietz and Herth 2011). Therefore, we emphasize the higher efficacy of using nanomaterials as compared to conventional methods. Nanomaterials offer features like catalytic ROS (reactive oxygen species) scavenging ability and self-fluorescence that bulk or commercial equivalents lack due to changes in physical and chemical properties at the nanoscale level. It was reported that CeO₂ nanoparticles are ROS scavengers, and they have a wide application in plant sciences, industries, and medical research (Kah et al. 2018). CeO₂ nanoparticles

feature a significant number of surface oxygen vacancies that alternate between two oxidation states Ce³⁺ and Ce⁴⁺ to offer substantial ROS scavenging capacity, in contrast to bulk cerium oxide (Walkey et al. 2015). ROS is catalyzed; the dangling bonds in Ca³⁺ efficiently scavenge ROS, while lattice strain increases surface oxygen vacancies by redox reactions (Boghossian et al. 2013). Another newly developed nanoparticle is Mn_3O_4 , which has a greater in vivo ROS scavenging ability because it exists in two oxidation states, Mn^{2+} and Mn^{3+} , at a ratio of 1:2 (Yao et al. 2018). Salinity stress tolerance in crop plants (*Brassica napus*) was observed after the application of cerium oxide. The plants treated with cerium oxide had 48% more fresh biomass than the control plants (Rossi et al. 2016).

In two other studies, polyacrylic acid coated cerium oxide nanoparticles improved salt tolerance in Arabidopsis (50 mg L¹, 10.0 nm, -17.0 mV, foliar spray) and cotton (100 mg L¹, 8.0 nm, -15.3 mV, foliar spray), with plants under salinity stress showing 18% and 40% increases in biomass, respectively, compared to no-nanoparticle controls (Wu et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2021b). The mechanism was described as nanoceria scavenging of ROS. Thus, it enabled the modulation of channels and transporters for K⁺ retention in the mesophyll (KOR gene expression with downregulation) and the exclusion ability of N⁺ from the shoot (HKT1 gene expression with upregulation) (Liu et al. 2021b; Wu et al. 2018). Salt tolerance in cucumber was induced by foliar application (1 mg plant⁻¹, 226.4 nm, -7.7 mV) of Mn₃O₄. A 19% increase in the fresh biomass of cucumber was observed as compared to the control (Lu et al. 2020). Sorghum plants were treated with cerium oxide nanoparticles and were recorded to have drought stress tolerance. CeO₂ nanoparticle application also enhanced the temperature and UV and high light tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*.

Carbon-based nanoparticles are another example of nanomaterials being used in the improvement of crop production. Carbon quantum dots (CD) have a wide application in agriculture due to their various physical and chemical properties, *i.e.*, superficial synthesis, lower toxicity, higher stability, adjustable surface functions, higher water stability, strong photoluminescence, and biocompatibility. Drought resistance has been induced in peanut plants by applying carbon nanodots through leaf infiltration (Su et al. 2018); however, its mechanism is still unclear. The application of multiwalled carbon nanotubes increased salinity stress tolerance in Brassica napus. The nanotubes were added into Skoog medium and Murashige (Zhao et al. 2019). Hydroponically applying carbon nanotubes also induced salinity stress tolerance in broccoli (Martínez-Ballesta et al. 2016). Carbon nanotubes promoted nitric oxide (a gas-signaling molecule) and the transduction of aquaporins. Silicon nanoparticle is another nanomaterial used to increase stress tolerance in crop plants. The soil application of silicon nanoparticles increased fresh biomass (up to 27%) and chlorophyll content (up to 17%) in barely grown plants under drought stress, so recovery from drought stress was observed in these plants (Martínez-Ballesta et al. 2016). ZnO, Fe nanoparticles, and TiO₂ nanoparticles have also played a crucial role in improving plant tolerance against abiotic stresses (Sun et al. 2020; Abdel Latef et al. 2018). Drought tolerance was also observed in maize through the application of ZnO nanoparticles in soil. Plants treated with ZnO (100 mg L⁻¹, 37.7 nm, 14 mV) had a 75% increase in proline and an 18% decrease in H₂O₂ (Sun et al. 2020). A list of nanoparticles, their concentration, and their effective performance against certain abiotic stress are provided in Table 9.1.

Sr	NT (* 1		G .	T	C.	D.C
#.	Nanoparticle	Concentration	Species	Treatment	Stress	Reference
1	Ag	25, 50, 75, and 100 mg/L	Triticum aestivum	Potting soil	Heat stress	Iqbal et al. (2019)
2	Ag	0, 2, 5, and 10 mM	Triticum aestivum	Seed priming	Salinity stress	Mohamed et al. (2017)
3	Ag	0, 10, 20, 30, and 40 μg mL-1	Trigonella foenum-graecum	Petri dish exposure	Salinity stress	Hojjat and Kamyab (2017)
4	Ag	1 mg/L	Triticum aestivum	Seed priming	Salinity stress	Abou-Zeid and Ismail (2018)
5	A12O3	50 ppm	Glycine max L. cv.	Petri dish exposure	Flooding stress	Mustafa and Komatsu (2016)
6	CeO	500 mg/L	Gossypium hirsutum L.	Seed priming	Salinity stress	An et al. (2020)
7	Chitosan NPs	0, 30, 60, and 90 ppm	Hordeum vulgare L.	Foliar application	Drought stress	Behboudi et al. (2018)
8	Chitosan- PVA and CuNPs	50, 100, and 150 mg/L	Solanum lycopersicum L.	Nutrient solution	Saline stress	Hernández- Hernández et al. (2018)
9	CNTs and graphene	50 and 200µg/ ml	Catharanthus roseus	Murashige and Skoog medium	Salinity stress	McGehee et al. (2019)
10	CNTs and graphene	50 and 200µg/ ml	Gossypium hirsutum	Seed priming	Drought stress	Pandey et al. (2019)
11	Cu	3.333, 4.444, and 5.556 mg/L	Zea mays	Plants priming	Drought stress	Van Nguyen et al. (2021)
12	Fe	0, 25, 50, and 100 mg/kg	Triticum aestivum	Potting soil	Cadmium and drought stress	Adrees et al. (2020)
13	Fe2O3	0, 10, 20, and $30 _{\mu}M$	Mentha piperita L.	Hoagland solution	Salinity	Askary et al. (2017)
14	Fe3O3	0, 30, 60, and 90 ppm	Dracocephalum moldavica L.	Foliar application	Salinity stress	Moradbeygi et al. (2020)
15	Fe3O4	0.8 ppm	Fragaria × ananassa	Murashige and Skoog	Drought stress	Steinfeld et al. (2015)
16	FeSO ₄	2 g/L	Helianthus annuus	Foliar spray	Salinity stress	Torabian et al. (2017)
17	Mn	0.1, 0.5, and 1 mg/L	Capsicum annuum L.	Nanopriming	Salinity stress	Ye et al. (2020)
18	MWCNT	10, 30, 50, 100, and 200 mg/L	Dodonaeaviscosa L.	Nanopriming	Drought stress	Yusefi-Tanha et al. (2020)

 Table 9.1
 Nanoparticles, their concentrations, plant species, application, and the type of abiotic stress

(continued)

Sr #.	Nanoparticle	Concentration	Species	Treatment	Stress	Reference
19	Poly(acrylic)- CeO	~50 mg/L	Arabidopsis thaliana	Leaf infiltration	Multiple stress	Wu et al. (2017a)
20	Se	10 mg/L	Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench	Foliar and water spray	Heat stress	Djanaguiraman et al. (2018)
21	Se	0, 1, 4, 8, and 12 $_{\mu}M$	Lycopersicum esculentum	Hydroponic solution	High and low temperature stress	Haghighi and Pessarakli (2013)
22	Si	10 _µ M	Triticum aestivum	Nutrient solution	UV-B stress	Sedghi et al. (2013)
23	SiO ₂	0.5, 1, 2, and 3 mM	Solanum lycopersicum L.	Exposure in vitro	Salinity stress	Almutairi (2016)
24	SiO ₂	50 and 100 mg/L	Strawberry	Exposure in nutrient sol	Salinity stress	Avestan et al. (2019)
25	SiO ₂	0, 200, 400, and 600 mg/L	Musa acuminata "Grand Nain"	In vitro	Salinity and water deficit	Mahmoud et al. (2020)
26	TiO ₂	0, 10, 100, and 500 mg/L	Linum usitatissimum	Leaf treatment	Drought	Aghdam et al. (2016)
27	TiO ₂	0.01, 0.02, and 0.03%	Triticum aestivum L. cv. "Pishtaz"	Spraying by backpack sprayer	Drought	Jaberzadeh et al. (2013)
28	TiO ₂	0, 2, 5, and 10 ppm	Cicer arietinum L.	Amended soil	Cold stress	Mohammadi et al. (2013)
29	TiO ₂	500, 1,000, and 2,000 mg/ kg	Triticum aestivum	Amended soil	Drought stress	Faraji and Sepehri (2020)
30	Yttrium doped	100, 160, 200, and 400 mg per plant	Brassica napus	Nutrient solution	Drought	Palmqvist et al. (2017)
31	ZnO	0, 0.5, and 1 g/L	Glycine max	Petri dish exposure	Drought	Sedghi et al. (2013)
32	ZnO	10 mg/L	Abelmoschus esculentus L.	Foliar application	Salinity stress	Alabdallah and Alzahrani (2020)
33	ZnO and Si	50, 100, 150 mg/L; ZnO NPs and 150, 300 mg/L; SiNPs	Mangifera indica L.	Foliar spray	Salinity stress	Elsheery et al. (2020)

Table 9.1 (continued)

Additionally, diseases and insects can impact the quality and harvest of crops. There are concerns about the health and environmental impacts of pesticides and an increase in fungal and insect resistance (Damalas and Eleftherohorinos 2011). Despite this, novel tactics for biotic stress defense that are both environmentally benign and effective are still required. The use of nanobiotechnology in the

production of insecticides (Jameel et al. 2020), fungicides (Ma et al. 2020), and herbicides (Cao et al. 2017) has the potential to improve their effectiveness. For example, Spodoptera litura larvae fed with a mixture of thiamethoxam (10–90 mg L^{-1}) and ZnO nanoparticles (TEM size 30 nm) died at a 27% greater rate than the larvae fed in the control. Plants have been exposed to a wide range of nanoparticles to determine whether they can improve their biotic stress tolerance, including Ag- and Cu-based nanomaterials. Ag-based nanoparticles are effective in inhibiting diseases as well as nematodes (Mishra et al. 2014; Ali et al. 2015). Disease control and pest activity inhibition are two applications for copper-based nanoparticles that are commonly applied (Cumplido-Nájera et al. 2019; Borgatta et al. 2018; Ayoub et al. 2018). A 58% reduction in the progression of Fusarium oxysporum infection in watermelon was demonstrated by $Cu_3(PO_4)23H_2O$ nanoparticles (10 mg L^{-1} , 151 nm) because of their smaller size, distinct structure, and faster initial release of copper ions (Borgatta et al. 2018). Carbon nanotubes (Wang et al. 2014), carbon dots (Li et al. 2020), Si-based nanoparticles (Buchman et al. 2019), MgO nanoparticles (Huang et al. 2018; Cai et al. 2018), TiO₂ nanoparticles (Paret et al. 2013), and CeO₂ nanoparticles (Adisa et al. 2018) are examples of nanomaterials that have shown the capacity to prevent plant diseases. Many researchers have applied nanoparticles to reduce biotic stress on plants (Servin et al. 2015).

Crop losses resulting from diseases, insects, and weeds amount to more than \$2000 billion every year globally (Popp et al. 2013). Applied fungicides for disease management cost more than \$600 million per year in the United States (González-Fernández et al. 2010). *Pyricularia oryzae* is a pathogen that causes rice blast, reducing rice production by as much as 80% in Thailand (Kongcharoen et al. 2020; Srivastava et al. 2017). The fungi can quickly evolve and become resistant to present fungicides if they are applied to resistant rice varieties. Therefore, the use of nanoparticles to combat rice blasts is worth studying in the future.

Drought stress is a substantial hindrance to the production of agricultural crops in semi-arid regions. Crop yields are increased by using environmentally safe nanoparticles. Farmers in water-stressed areas may benefit from drought resilience, which can help them maintain or enhance their revenue. The use of nanotechnology to strengthen drought tolerance has been demonstrated in several plant species (Sun et al. 2021; Taran et al. 2017). Drought tolerance in sorghum increased with the use of cerium oxide nanoparticles (nanoceria). Salt tolerance in cotton was improved by seed priming using polyacrylic-acid-coated nanoceria (An et al. 2020). Making polyacrylic acid-coated cerium oxide nanoparticles for nano-priming cotton seed for sowing a one-hectare area costs less than \$30, while foliar spraying a one-hectare area costs more than \$100. If output were to grow, chemical expenses would be reduced as a result. Personnel, equipment, and utilities (such as water, gas, and electricity) are all factors that contribute to the cost of manufacturing a commercial product.

9.2.2 Dispersion of Nanomaterials

Heavy metal nanoparticles, such as Cd²⁺ quantum dots (Li et al. 2018), cerium oxide nanoparticles, and Ag nanoparticles, may constitute a threat to human health and the environment. The use of cerium oxide nanoparticles to improve plant stress tolerance has raised concerns about their biosafety, despite cerium being the most abundant rare-earth element in the soil (Tan and Chi-Lung 1970). Nanoparticles applied to plants can also reduce their ability to respond to stress (Tan et al. 2017). Therefore, aggregated nanoparticles have a smaller surface area and less cellular absorption than scattered ones (Spicer et al. 2018). As a result, the use of appropriate nanomaterials will be required for the development of nano-enabled agriculture. One technique for increasing the longevity of nanomaterials is surface conjugation, which is shown to limit heavy metal leakage (Sharifi et al. 2012). Gold nanoparticles with diameters ranging from 4 to 22 nm displayed the least intracellular degradation (Balfourier et al. 2020), with the smallest particles degrading the most rapidly. It would be good to increase the dispersion quality of nanoparticles to prevent agglomeration after application to support consistent biological activity and the application of nanomaterials in agriculture (Kobayashi et al. 2014). The dispersion of Cu-the combination of copper and chitosan-improves chitosan nanomaterial compared to their bulk equivalents (Saharan et al. 2015). Cu-chitosan nanomaterials boost tomato fresh weight (16%) and seedling length (18%) while simultaneously decreasing harmful fungus mycelial development and spore germination (Saharan et al. 2015).

Nanomaterials that are free of heavy metals and are highly dispersible in water should be considered. These molecules should be used in sustainable agriculture, which can be accomplished by using nanotechnology. It seems that employing nanoparticles derived from plant nutrients would be beneficial in preliminary studies. For example, manganese is vital for plant health and is typically found in agricultural fertilizers due to its high concentration. Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles, a novel type of nanoenzyme, can scavenge ROS. Utilizing Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles in cucumber cultivation enhanced salt resistance in cucumber (Lu et al. 2020).

9.3 Stress Detection and Early Exposure by Nanoparticles

9.3.1 Nanoparticle Sensors

Sessile crop plants have evolved erudite stress-tolerance systems. Stress sensing and signaling are two very important systems. The oxidant H_2O_2 has been shown to operate as a signaling molecule in plants (Mittler 2017; Gilroy et al. 2016). Other signaling molecules involved in plant stress responses include sugars and gaseous molecules like acetic acid esters, acetic acid, ethylene, methyl salicylate, jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, hydrogen sulfide, carbon monoxide, and nitric oxide. The

signals were transported from the root to the shoot in plants subjected to salt stress mediated by Ca²⁺ signaling events (Choi et al. 2014). In response to various environmental stresses, the patterns of these signaling molecules can change. Plants produce different Ca²⁺ signals when exposed to salinity and drought stress (Shabala et al. 2015). It is still possible to detect several signaling chemicals, including Ca^{2+} (Toyota et al. 2018), H_2O_2 (Nietzel et al. 2019), glucose (Zhu et al. 2017), and sucrose (Chaudhuri et al. 2011) in nonmodel plant species without becoming invasive plants. Several technologies, including ratiometric quantum dot sensors, DNA aptamers coated on single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), AT15-coated carbon nanotubes for nitrogen oxide detection (Giraldo et al. 2014), and nanoneedle transistor-based Ca²⁺ sensors are effective for monitoring signaling molecules in nonmodel plant species. Glucose concentration in the leaf of Arabidopsis plants was evaluated using the TGA-OD method after 60 minutes of incubation. OD and boronic acid are used to determine whether the glucose level in the leaf has changed. In addition, they created OD nanosensors (11.3-nm leaf infiltration) to use in environmental monitoring. These nanosensors have demonstrated excellent performance in conjunction with other sensors that monitor temperature, humidity, and even stomatal activity (Di Giacomo et al. 2015; Oren et al. 2017; Koman et al. 2017). Researchers developed an electrical conductometric sensor that measures the delay between single stomata opening and closing in real time.

Nanosensors can be useful tools in the plant research field since they can fix some fundamental complications. Still, there is not much information about how plants detect the presence of Na⁺ in their surroundings (Jiang et al. 2019; Wu 2018). Through Na⁺-specific nanosensors, the researchers were able to track Na⁺ transit in plants at both granular and temporal scales. A similar problem exists with hydroxyl radicals (Mittler 2017), the most destructive ROS. This is owing to a lack of a reliable tool for researching their biological activities in stressed plants. Because fluorescent dyes such as hydroxyphenyl fluorescein do not detect hydroxyl radicals only (Setsukinai et al. 2003), also present visualization approaches rely on them to detect changes in plant development and defense. Their inclusion hampers this research in these luminous dyes. Developing hydroxyl radical-specific nanosensors will allow scientists to better understand how hydroxyl radicals function within plants.

9.3.2 Plants Sensors for Initial Stress Recognition

Early detection of stress may aid in the reduction of agricultural losses. Modern approaches for detecting chlorophyll fluorescence in leaves, evaluating morphological changes in plants, and monitoring water status employ remote sensing or hyper-spectral imaging. However, these features only represent plant performance after the stress has been established (Giraldo et al. 2019). Therefore, the early detection of stress signals should be carefully observed and investigated. It is possible to improve remote sensing by using high-resolution nanosensors that monitor stress-signaling molecules to identify crop stress. It was also proposed in the case of

transforming plants into smart plants using nanosensors (Giraldo et al. 2019). Nanosensors can detect and indicate the presence of analytes by quenching or changing the fluorescence of the light emitted by the sensor (Rong et al. 2019; Lew et al. 2020; Kwak et al. 2017). The detection of chemical signals by agricultural equipment is made possible by nanosensors, which can detect and respond to stress-signaling molecules such as H_2O_2 , glucose, and NO, and convert them to optical or radio waves. Agricultural management and the early identification of plant stress could be made more efficient and effective in the future using this type of technology. Recent advancements in the noninvasive real-time in vivo detection of glucose H_2O_2 in stressed plants by a QD system (Lew et al. 2020) illustrate the agricultural potential of nano-enabled smart plants. Using nanosensors is possible to detect stress in plants at an earlier stage and develop smart plant sensors.

Making the smart plant sensor a reality will necessitate further effort, particularly in the field of agriculture. A common occurrence in the field is a combination of high temperatures and drought (Suzuki et al. 2014). It is possible for chemical signaling to become more complex when many stresses are present at the same time. In this case, the employment of nanosensors in response to specific signaling molecules can decode signals with a higher resolution. It is possible to improve nanosensor sensitivity, selectivity, and accuracy to get a higher-decoded signal resolution in field conditions. Therefore, an important study objective should be to create a database of chemical signaling molecule alterations that respond to stress, such as Ca^{2+} and ROS scavengers. An organic field-effect transistor for detecting carbon monoxide, a signaling molecule in plants, was constructed using zinc oxide nanoparticles as the active medium (Narayana et al. 2020).

9.4 Agrochemicals Based on Nanoparticles

9.4.1 Nanofertilizers and Nanopesticides

Commercial fertilizers are expected to account for 30% and 50% of total crop yields. However, 40–90% of agrochemicals are lost to the environment each year. Even though plants have high nutrient utilization efficiency for essential nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) components, there is still room for improvement in terms of agrochemical efficacy in plants (Adisa et al. 2019). This is because plant nutrient utilization efficiency for essential N, P, and K components is between 30–35%, 18–20%, and 35–40%, respectively (Adisa et al. 2019). Plant performance can be improved by using engineered nanomaterials. There are two types of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) that deliver one or more nutrients directly to plants and boost plant performance. "Engineered nanoparticles as active components and demonstrates biocidal action." Nanoagrochemicals are expected to perform better in agricultural production compared to conventional agrochemicals. Nanoagrochemicals are projected to boost efficacy by 20–30% as compared to conventional ones (Kah et al. 2018). Foliar Mn nanoparticle treatment increased rootlet

number, root and shoot length, and biomass by 40–70% (Pradhan et al. 2013). Nanoparticles encapsulating common agrochemicals like dsRNA, siRNA, ascorbic acid, and abscisic acid might be used to release the nanoparticles in a controlled and targeted manner. Several recent studies have added to the body of knowledge about nanopesticides and nanofertilizers (Mikula et al. 2020; Dimkpa and Bindraban 2017).

It is possible to control the release and dispersion of nanoagrochemicals by altering their surface properties. In experiments involving the controlled release of nanoformulations (37% of the studies), the most frequently used trigger is pH (Camara et al. 2019). Using the GA3-HMSN/Fe₃O₄ combination, the release of the growth promoter GA3 (gibberellic acid 3) at pH greater than 5 or less than 4 resulted in a 44% increase in cabbage growth. Temperature- and pH-responsive nanopolymers were developed to administer and release agrochemicals into tomato plants (Zhang et al. 2020b). Three days after foliar spraying tomato with the star polymer PAA50b-PNIPAm450, up to 43% of the star polymer was translocated to other plant compartments, including the roots (Zhang et al. 2020b). Stimuli including light, temperature, enzymes, and the redox state are all used to produce a response. To improve the surface functionalization of nanoagrochemicals, aptamers, which are oligonucleotide or peptide molecules that bind precisely to specific targets, have been proposed for use. It was discovered that beta-cyclodextrin-conjugated quantum dots coupled to a shorter chloroplast transit peptide were significantly more effective than random peptides or controls that did not contain any peptides. A better understanding of the uptake and fate of customized nanofertilizers or nanopesticides and their impacts on plants and the surrounding environment may pave the way for their application in sustainable agriculture.

Until now, nanofertilizers and nanopesticides are still not commonly used in agriculture due to concerns about biosafety, ambiguities about their long-term environmental impact, and the likelihood of interspecies transfer. However, these concerns have been addressed. A lack of information about the long-term effects of nanoproduct accumulation in the environment on ecological systems and a lag in the development of legislation and regulations governing their usage are also contributing to the current situation. Still, more research work is needed to understand the long-term environmental destiny and accumulation of nanoparticles in agricultural production. Farmers and the general public may be more accepting of nanotechnology-enabled farming if they are taught about the benefits of the technology and the most effective ways to use it.

9.4.2 Targeting the Chloroplast to Synchronize Plant Performance

Nanomaterials can be used to aid the regulated release and transport of agrochemicals to specific organelles, organs, or tissues in plants and the transport of agrochemicals to specific organelles, organs, or tissues in animals, and this can help reduce agrochemical waste by increasing the efficiency of the process. Nanoparticles are transported in a regulated manner in animal cells (Anselmo and Mitragotri 2016), suggesting that the distribution of nanoproducts to plants might be tailored. Methyl viologen and ascorbic acid have been successfully delivered into chloroplasts to manage their redox state by employing quantum dots coated with beta-cyclodextrin and truncated guidance peptides (Santana et al. 2020) to regulate the redox status of the chloroplasts. This work indicated fine-tuning in the activities of cell organelles while using fewer agrochemicals in their experiments. To obtain superior chloroplast colocalization, the results imply that QDs alone are insufficient and that an optimal nanoplatform design is required.

However, it has taken an extremely long period and high cost to get to the high efficiency of targeted distribution in plants. It has been achieved principally through a combination of nanomaterials and peptide-guiding molecules (Zhu et al. 2012; Santana et al. 2020). The discovery of novel technologies for the targeted administration of nanoparticles will enable a wider range of agricultural applications for this methodology. Changing the size and charge of nanoparticles allow for the infiltration of cell compartments such as the apoplast in plants and the epidermis and guard cells in leaves (Hu et al. 2020). This method has certain advantages and also limitations. Future nanoparticle delivery systems may be capable of efficiently delivering nanoparticles to plant tissues or organs and specific cell types and compartments through the engineering of nanomaterials with controllable features, such as size, charge, shape, and hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity, among other characteristics.

It is necessary to develop methods for dispersing nanomaterials into certain cell organelles, along with developing ways for dispersing nanomaterials to specific plant tissues such as the apical meristem of a shoot or organs such as flowers. Neutral and negatively charged nanoparticles are more effective at migrating from the roots to the shoot compared to positively charged CeO₂ nanoparticles, which are demonstrated to attach to and primarily reside on roots (Spielman-Sun et al. 2019). Therefore, an in-depth examination of the nanomaterials transported into plant tissues and organs, cells, and organelles is required. Furthermore, the development and management of nanoparticle mobility in plants should be carried out within the intended application of the studied materials.

Abiotic stress causes a decline in photosynthetic activity in all plants, regardless of the type of stress experienced (Foyer and Shigeoka 2011). This mechanism is related to an increase in ROS in plants when subjected to abiotic stress. An excess of ROS can induce oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and cell structures and programmed cell death (Liu et al. 2021a; Das and Roychoudhury 2014). Plant biologists and breeders are working on producing more efficient plants against scavenging reactive oxygen species to increase their abiotic stress tolerance. Genetic transformation is restricted to model plants or species that are easily altered. Thus, plants must be protected from abiotic stress, and their photosynthetic efficiency must be increased. A scalable and universal approach is needed to achieve these goals. This technique may use ROS-scavenging nanoparticles, such as cerium oxide nanoparticles and manganese oxide nanoparticles, to reduce the formation of reactive oxygen species. When plants are treated with nanoceria, the improved ROS

scavenging capacity of leaf mesophyll cells increased the carbon assimilation rate. Plants treated with SWCNT had higher ROS scavenging capacities and higher electron transport rates than control plants (Giraldo et al. 2014). Other ROS-scavenging nanomaterials may aid in protecting chloroplasts from oxidative stress and increasing photosynthesis in plants. By utilizing a newly developed targeted delivery method, it may be possible to preserve chloroplasts from stress and convert them into a "chloroplast factory," allowing for a wider range of applications. This newly developed technique may have applications in the pharmaceutical and bioenergy industries and the field of plant photosynthesis research.

9.5 Transgenic Events Assisted by Nanoparticles

9.5.1 Nanomaterials as Delivery Platform

Agrobacterium tumefaciens or gene gun bombardment are the two most prevalent methods of transformation to produce transgenic plants. These two approaches target a small number of genetically sensitive plant species or cause harm to the plants (Landry and Mitter 2019; Yu et al. 2017). Other than model species, callus cultivation (Altpeter et al. 2016) is inefficient and labor-intensive. Nanobiotechnology has recently demonstrated a considerable promise in creating transgenic wild-type plants, and it has the potential to be used in a much wider range of plant species than model plants. Single-walled carbon nanotubes have the potential to transport functional genetic elements into chloroplasts and nuclei (Demirer et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2019). Wide properties have been shown to allow carbon nanotubes to enter plant cells (Wong et al. 2016; Chaudhuri et al. 2011). Variations in pH across cell organelles should trigger the release of plasmid loads. These studies advocate employing nanoparticles rather than *Agrobacterium* or gene cannon bombardment to provide functional genetic resources to plants (Kwak et al. 2019).

The use of positively charged carbon dots (2.0-10.0 nm in diameter) to transport siRNA to plants resulted in a reduction in GFP (green fluorescent protein) expression in plants. For the first time, carbon dots were used to deliver siRNA to plants to silence genes. GFP was precisely delivered to tobacco chloroplasts by using peptide/pDNA complexes (Thagun et al. 2019). They employed nanomaterials to make transgenic plants, which included nonmodel and model species. Nanomaterials can also be used as scaffolding to transfer unstable molecules such as RNA and RNA polymerase (e.g., siRNA or dsRNA). After loading dsRNA onto a clay nanosheet, which had a mean diameter of 45 nm and side dimensions ranging from 20–80 nm (*d*-value = 0.82), the stability of the loaded dsRNA significantly improved for 20 days (Mitter et al. 2017). A siRNA delivery system based on DNA nanostructures was used to enhance the growth of tobacco (Zhang et al. 2019).

Researchers and farmers may favor carbon nanotubes over other nanomaterials because they are less expensive or more biocompatible (Mohanta et al. 2019). It is

possible that increasing the number of nanoparticles for supplying functional genetic resources may improve adoption. A study of *Arabidopsis* plants found that polyethylenimine (PEI)-coated gold nanoparticles effectively delivered siRNA to the NPR1 gene (Lei et al. 2020). Carbon dots built on PEI can be used to carry DNA or RNA molecules. It is feasible under theoretical conditions to use positively charged nanomaterials such as carbon dots or silica nanoparticles to transport negatively charged functional genetic components into plant cells. The fact that nanoparticles are associated with biosafety issues suggests that this could be a cost-effective method to conserve costs. The availability of nanomaterials will impact the frequency by which this nano-enabled transgenic approach will be employed.

9.6 Nano-Enabled-CRISPR-Cas Complex

As an added benefit to the construction of transgenic plants, nanomaterials may be employed to provide a platform for organelle-specific CRISPR-Cas genome editing, which would otherwise be impossible. Although tissue culture is now widely employed in plant breeding, it is still crucial in the process. It is still restricted to a few numbers of plant species, genotypes, and organs. It was demonstrated that nanoparticles might be used to deliver the CRISPR-Cas9 system (Wei et al. 2020). However, there have been no reports of plant-based nano-enabled CRISPR-Cas genome editing that have been published. One of the most likely causes is barriers within the plants' cell wall (Albersheim et al. 2011). Recently, it was discovered that a virus was carrying the ultra-compact genome editor CRISPR Cas, which was previously thought to be inactive. A minimally functional CRISPR-Cas system comprises the Cas protein (70 kDa, about 3 nm Rmin (Erickson 2009) and a CRISPR array (Pausch et al. 2020)). Due to the ability to manipulate the size of the complex, it may be possible to deliver nanoparticle CRISPR-Cas complexes to plants more efficiently and precisely using this technology. The complex's size can be adjusted to pass more easily through the plant's cell membrane. As a result, nanoparticles may prove to be a useful vector for the CRISPR-Cas system, targeting certain organelles or plant regions. The CRISPR-Cas system may be supplied to the chloroplast using nanoparticles directed by a chloroplast transit peptide, transforming it into a plant factory (Santana et al. 2020). Nanotechnology can be utilized to enable CRISPR-Cas gene editing in plants (Demirer et al. 2021). Details on the application of nanomaterials for CRISPR genome editing in transportation, species independence, germline transformation, and gene editing efficiency have been discussed.

9.7 Seed Nanopriming

Drought, salt, and heat are all factors that impact seedling growth, with the most noticeable influence occurring during the germination stage of most crops. The germination, establishment, and adaptation of plants to a range of conditions are all assisted by seed vigor. The rate of seed germination and the uniformity of seed germination can be improved by utilizing a range of approaches and strategies. A range of techniques is available for priming seeds, including the use of a salt solution, an osmotic solution with a low-water potential, bioactive chemical combinations, solid matrix priming, and chemo-priming. As the stressed green gram (*Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek) variety Pusa Ratna was halo primed with 35 mmol L⁻¹ NaCl, the fresh weight increased by 47% (under salt stress) and 28% (under drought stress) compared to unprimed controls under stress (Jisha and Puthur 2014).

It is a novel method of seed priming that, compared to conventional priming strategies, can significantly improve crop development and performance, particularly in adverse conditions such as drought, salty environment, and heat. Priming seeds with nanoparticles has the potential to improve crop development and performance significantly. When cotton seeds were primed with cerium oxide nanoparticles (2nm, 51.7 mV, 500 mg L⁻¹, nanopriming) and grown under salt stress (200 mmol L⁻¹ NaCl), fresh seedling weight increased by 41% (An et al. 2020), compared to a water-primed control. Many crop species have been shown to benefit from nanopriming, including wheat, Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles (Sundaria et al. 2019), ZnO nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019), rice, silver nanoparticles (Mahakham et al. 2017), sorghum (Maswada et al. 2018), broad bean (Younis et al. 2019), cotton, cerium oxide nanoparticles, onion (An et al. 2020), and gold nanoparticles (Acharya et al. 2019). In comparison to an untreated control, onion seed nanopriming with gold nanoparticles (93.6 nm, -8.5 mV, 5.4 mg L¹, nanopriming) resulted in a 69 percent increase in emergence percentage and a 24 percent increase in mean yield. Gilbertson et al. stated that nanoZn/ZnO is one of the most promising seed-coating options based on the increase in seed germination and the environmental effect of the embodied energy (Gilbertson et al. 2020).

Despite the promising findings obtained by seed nanopriming, additional research is required to comprehend the fundamental principles fully. Nanoceria priming can improve crop salinity stress resistance, which modulates the plant's reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ion homeostasis signaling pathways (An et al. 2020). Many additional seed nanopriming methods have been identified or proposed. There are four techniques for reducing electrolyte leakage: using ZnO nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019), Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles (Maswada et al. 2018), or silver nanoparticles (Younis et al. 2019) or a combination of the three methods. The first goal is to reduce lipid peroxidation, and the second is to improve the amount of water in plants and the effectiveness of photosynthesis and respiration.

What methods of seed nanopriming persist when a single nanomaterial is applied to a range of plant species, and how does this affect the experiment's outcome? What processes, such as changed redox state or seed dormancy, can be used to explain the phenomenon of seed nanopriming? The uptake, distribution, and fate of nanoparticles and their interactions with seeds should all be investigated further by looking at the mechanisms that cause these events to occur in the first place. When it comes to nanomaterial uptake, the size of the hole pores in the seed coat matters. A concern has been expressed regarding differences across plant species in the spread of nanomaterials. Is there a relationship between the distribution pattern of nanomaterials in seeds and their biological effects? What is the relationship between this and the scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediated by nanomaterials or epigenetic changes? Is there a critical stage or position in the seed nanopriming process critical for nanomaterials' biological impacts? Combining seed nanopriming with seed coating technologies may be worth investigating to ensure that efficacy and performance are not degraded over time. The nano-enabled seed coating technique used in the agrochemical business is only vaguely known by the general public (Acharya et al. 2019).

9.8 Light Harvesting by Nanoparticles

Photosynthesis is largely dependent on the availability of visible light. Plants do not make good use of most natural light sources. nIR light is absorbed mostly by chlorophylls in plants, whereas UV light causes chlorophylls to deteriorate (Antonaru et al. 2020). Even though the ozone layer prevents UV-C (100–280 nm), UV-A (315–400 nm) and UV-B (280–315 nm) are still able to reach the Earth (Stapleton 1992). It is difficult to see through the bottom leaves of plants in high-density cropping systems because of limited visible light. Visible light is diminished during overcast or rainy days. Sustainable agriculture may benefit from developing new photosynthesis technologies that allow plants to utilize a greater proportion of lost light resources.

Although cyanobacteria contain chlorophyll d and f, which absorb near-infrared light (Airs et al. 2014), cyanobacteria could only utilize light with wavelengths up to approximately 750 nm. Chlorophyll d and f are pigments that can be introduced into higher plants to escape the photochemical red limit of the light spectrum. nIR light has a wavelength limit of 800 nm and cannot be used. The use of nanomaterials to transform ultraviolet and near-infrared radiation into visible light for plant photosynthesis may pique the interest of scientists, farmers, and even the industrial sector. By fine-tuning and complementing plant photosynthesis, this revolutionary technology can potentially enhance food production by as much as 50% considerably.

The upconversion and downconversion of nanoparticles are two types of nanoparticles commonly employed in biophotonics and nanomedicine to convert nearinfrared and ultraviolet light to visible light (Loo et al. 2019). It has been demonstrated that upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs) doped with Yb, Nd, and Er can convert light stimulated between 808 and 980 nm to visible light between 510 and 570 nm (Wiesholler et al. 2019). When downconversion nanoparticles (DNCP), such as bNaYF₄:Gd³⁺ and Tb³⁺, were encapsulated in PEI, they converted ultraviolet light with a wavelength of 273 nm into visible light (between 480 and 630 nm in wavelength) (Malik et al. 2019). Shoot length and dry weight were increased in rice by 19% and 64%, respectively, when CD 1:0.2 was used as a converter for converting UV radiation to PAR (photosynthetically active radiation). These UCNP and DCNP nanoparticles can be sprayed on the surface of leaves or injected directly into cells to assist plants in maintaining photosynthesis during periods of low light, such as shadow or continuous cloudy days. Because of advances in nanotechnology, this approach to photosynthetic light amplification may be helpful for agriculture and allied industries, such as biofuel manufacturing. Nanomaterials can be used to transform near-infrared and ultraviolet energy into visible light in plants.

9.9 Capturing More Electrons

Photosynthesis eliminates more than 120 billion tons of CO_2 from the atmosphere each year in terrestrial ecosystems. Photosynthesis in green plants is based on the harvesting of light and the passage of captured electrons into the electron transport chain, both critical processes. Reactive oxygen species can form when an excessive number of electrons are removed (Foyer 2018). On overcast and rainy days, especially when plants are shaded, they might not capture enough electrons to complete the light response. New tactics that allow plants to gather more electrons in lowlight conditions may considerably boost plant photosynthesis and output. Plants may be able to collect more electrons with the assistance of nanomaterials. A structure is formed by a combination of organic and metallic components.

Nanomaterials are capable of both absorbing and transmitting electromagnetic radiation. The excited state can be transmitted to gold nanoparticles that have been triggered by light (Robatjazi et al. 2015). Thus, photosynthesis could be enhanced in low-light conditions by incorporating light-capturing nanomaterials into the chloroplasts. Research on innovative light-harvesting nanomaterials and their tailored distribution to chloroplasts should be carried out in the future. Scientists have proposed the use of nanomaterials to fine-tune plant photosynthesis under low-light conditions. These materials have the potential to trap more electrons.

9.10 Future Perspectives

We discussed the potential applications of plant nanobiotechnology in modern and sustainable farming practices. Plant nanobiotechnology could improve stress tolerance, sensing and early detection, pesticide targeted delivery and controlled release, nonmodel crop species transgenic events, and seed nanopriming. Heavy metals should be avoided in agricultural nanomaterials, and their dispersibility should be as high as possible. As previously asserted, more research into the biological effects of nanoenzymes, such as Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles, on stressed plants is required. It is critical to keep looking into the mechanisms that influence nanoparticle absorption, dispersion, and fate, as well as their interactions with seeds. With the help of nanomaterials, plants can be converted into chloroplast factories, enhancing their functionality. In addition, nanomaterials can transform ultraviolet and near-infrared light into visible light, enabling more electrons to be retrieved for photosynthesis when employed in low-light settings. According to the researchers, understanding how nanoparticles help plants cope with stress should make it easier to develop nanomaterials specifically useful in agricultural applications. Legislation and regulatory restrictions may help reduce the biosafety risks associated with the use of nanoparticles in agriculture and assuage public worries about nanomaterials. Nanotechnology has the potential to have a substantial impact on agriculture.

References

- Abdel Latef AAH, Srivastava AK, El-sadek MSA, Kordrostami M, Tran LSP (2018) Titanium dioxide nanoparticles improve growth and enhance tolerance of broad bean plants under saline soil conditions. Land Degrad Dev 29(4):1065–1073
- Abou-Zeid H, Ismail G (2018) The Role of Priming with Biosynthesized Silver Nanoparticles in the Response of Triticum aestivum L to Salt Stress. Egypt J Bot 58(1):73–85
- Acharya P, Jayaprakasha G, Crosby KM, Jifon JL, Patil BS (2019) Green-synthesized nanoparticles enhanced seedling growth, yield, and quality of onion (Allium cepa L.). ACS Sustain Chem Eng 7(17):14580–14590
- Adisa IO, Reddy Pullagurala VL, Rawat S, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Dimkpa CO, Elmer WH, White JC, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2018) Role of cerium compounds in Fusarium wilt suppression and growth enhancement in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). J Agric Food Chem 66(24):5959–5970
- Adisa IO, Pullagurala VLR, Peralta-Videa JR, Dimkpa CO, Elmer WH, Gardea-Torresdey JL, White JC (2019) Recent advances in nano-enabled fertilizers and pesticides: a critical review of mechanisms of action. Environ Sci Nano 6(7):2002–2030
- Adrees M, Khan ZS, Ali S, Hafeez M, Khalid S, Ur Rehman MZ, Hussain A, Hussain K, Chatha SAS, Rizwan M (2020) Simultaneous mitigation of cadmium and drought stress in wheat by soil application of iron nanoparticles. Chemosphere 238:124681
- Aghdam MTB, Mohammadi H, Ghorbanpour M (2016) Effects of nanoparticulate anatase titanium dioxide on physiological and biochemical performance of Linum usitatissimum (Linaceae) under well-watered and drought stress conditions. Brazil J Bot 39(1):139–146
- Airs R, Temperton B, Sambles C, Farnham G, Skill S, Llewellyn C (2014) Chlorophyll f and chlorophyll d are produced in the cyanobacterium Chlorogloeopsis fritschii when cultured under natural light and near-infrared radiation. FEBS Lett 588(20):3770–3777
- Alabdallah NM, Alzahrani HS (2020) The potential mitigation effect of ZnO nanoparticles on [Abelmoschus esculentus L. Moench] metabolism under salt stress conditions. Saudi J Biol Sci 27(11):3132–3137
- Albersheim P, Darvill A, Roberts K, Sederoff R, Staehelin A (2011) Cell walls and plant anatomy. Plant Cell Walls:241–242

- Ali M, Kim B, Belfield KD, Norman D, Brennan M, Ali GS (2015) Inhibition of Phytophthora parasitica and P. capsici by silver nanoparticles synthesized using aqueous extract of Artemisia absinthium. Phytopathology 105(9):1183–1190
- Almutairi ZM (2016) Effect of nano-silicon application on the expression of salt tolerance genes in germinating tomato ('Solanum lycopersicum'L.) seedlings under salt stress. Plant Omics 9(1):106–114
- Altpeter F, Springer NM, Bartley LE, Blechl AE, Brutnell TP, Citovsky V, Conrad LJ, Gelvin SB, Jackson DP, Kausch AP (2016) Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. Plant Cell 28(7):1510–1520
- An J, Hu P, Li F, Wu H, Shen Y, White JC, Tian X, Li Z, Giraldo JP (2020) Emerging investigator series: molecular mechanisms of plant salinity stress tolerance improvement by seed priming with cerium oxide nanoparticles. Environ Sci Nano 7(8):2214–2228
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S (2016) Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioeng Transl Med 1(1):10-29
- Antonaru LA, Cardona T, Larkum AW, Nürnberg DJ (2020) Global distribution of a chlorophyll f cyanobacterial marker. ISME J 14(9):2275–2287
- Askary M, Talebi SM, Amini F, Bangan ADB (2017) Effects of iron nanoparticles on Mentha piperita L. under salinity stress. Biologija 63(1)
- Avestan S, Ghasemnezhad M, Esfahani M, Byrt CS (2019) Application of nano-silicon dioxide improves salt stress tolerance in strawberry plants. Agronomy 9(5):246
- Ayoub HA, Khairy M, Elsaid S, Rashwan FA, Abdel-Hafez HF (2018) Pesticidal activity of nanostructured metal oxides for generation of alternative pesticide formulations. J Agric Food Chem 66(22):5491–5498
- Balfourier A, Luciani N, Wang G, Lelong G, Ersen O, Khelfa A, Alloyeau D, Gazeau F, Carn F (2020) Unexpected intracellular biodegradation and recrystallization of gold nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci 117(1):103–113
- Behboudi F, Tahmasebi Sarvestani Z, Kassaee MZ, Modares Sanavi SAM, Sorooshzadeh A, Ahmadi SB (2018) Evaluation of chitosan nanoparticles effects on yield and yield components of barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) under late season drought stress. Journal of Water and Environmental. Nanotechnology 3(1):22–39
- Boghossian AA, Sen F, Gibbons BM, Sen S, Faltermeier SM, Giraldo JP, Zhang CT, Zhang J, Heller DA, Strano MS (2013) Application of nanoparticle antioxidants to enable hyperstable chloroplasts for solar energy harvesting. Adv Energy Mater 3(7):881–893
- Borgatta J, Ma C, Hudson-Smith N, Elmer W, Plaza Perez CD, De La Torre-Roche R, Zuverza-Mena N, Haynes CL, White JC, Hamers RJ (2018) Copper based nanomaterials suppress root fungal disease in watermelon (Citrullus lanatus): role of particle morphology, composition and dissolution behavior. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 6(11):14847–14856
- Buchman JT, Elmer WH, Ma C, Landy KM, White JC, Haynes CL (2019) Chitosan-Coated mesoporous silica nanoparticle treatment of Citrullus lanatus (watermelon): Enhanced fungal disease suppression and modulated expression of stress-related genes. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 7(24):19649–19659
- Cai L, Chen J, Liu Z, Wang H, Yang H, Ding W (2018) Magnesium oxide nanoparticles: effective agricultural antibacterial agent against Ralstonia solanacearum. Front Microbiol 9:790
- Camara MC, Campos EVR, Monteiro RA, do Espirito Santo Pereira A, de Freitas Proença PL, Fraceto LF (2019) Development of stimuli-responsive nano-based pesticides: emerging opportunities for agriculture. J Nanobiotechnol 17(1):1–19
- Cao L, Zhou Z, Niu S, Cao C, Li X, Shan Y, Huang Q (2017) Positive-charge functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles as nanocarriers for controlled 2, 4-dichlorophenoxy acetic acid sodium salt release. J Agric Food Chem 66(26):6594–6603
- Chaudhuri B, Hörmann F, Frommer WB (2011) Dynamic imaging of glucose flux impedance using FRET sensors in wild-type Arabidopsis plants. J Exp Bot 62(7):2411–2417
- Choi W-G, Toyota M, Kim S-H, Hilleary R, Gilroy S (2014) Salt stress-induced Ca2+ waves are associated with rapid, long-distance root-to-shoot signaling in plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111(17):6497–6502

- Cumplido-Nájera CF, González-Morales S, Ortega-Ortíz H, Cadenas-Pliego G, Benavides-Mendoza A, Juárez-Maldonado A (2019) The application of copper nanoparticles and potassium silicate stimulate the tolerance to Clavibacter michiganensis in tomato plants. Sci Hortic 245:82–89
- Damalas CA, Eleftherohorinos IG (2011) Pesticide exposure, safety issues, and risk assessment indicators. Int J Environ Res Public Health 8(5):1402–1419
- Das K, Roychoudhury A (2014) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. Front Environ Sci 2:53
- Demirer GS, Zhang H, Matos JL, Goh NS, Cunningham FJ, Sung Y, Chang R, Aditham AJ, Chio L, Cho M-J (2019) High aspect ratio nanomaterials enable delivery of functional genetic material without DNA integration in mature plants. Nat Nanotechnol 14(5):456–464
- Demirer GS, Silva TN, Jackson CT, Thomas JB, Ehrhardt DW, Rhee SY, Mortimer JC, Landry MP (2021) Nanotechnology to advance CRISPR–Cas genetic engineering of plants. Nat Nanotechnol 16(3):243–250
- Di Giacomo R, Daraio C, Maresca B (2015) Plant nanobionic materials with a giant temperature response mediated by pectin-Ca2+. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112(15):4541–4545
- Dietz K-J, Herth S (2011) Plant nanotoxicology. Trends Plant Sci 16(11):582-589
- Dimkpa CO, Bindraban PS (2017) Nanofertilizers: new products for the industry? J Agric Food Chem 66(26):6462–6473
- Djanaguiraman M, Nair R, Giraldo JP, Prasad PVV (2018) Cerium oxide nanoparticles decrease drought-induced oxidative damage in sorghum leading to higher photosynthesis and grain yield. ACS Omega 3(10):14406–14416
- Elsheery NI, Helaly MN, El-Hoseiny HM, Alam-Eldein SM (2020) Zinc oxide and silicone nanoparticles to improve the resistance mechanism and annual productivity of salt-stressed mango trees. Agronomy 10(4):558
- Erickson HP (2009) Size and shape of protein molecules at the nanometer level determined by sedimentation, gel filtration, and electron microscopy. Biol Proc Online 11(1):32–51
- Faraji J, Sepehri A (2020) Exogenous nitric oxide improves the protective effects of TiO 2 nanoparticles on growth, antioxidant system, and photosynthetic performance of wheat seedlings under drought stress. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 20(2):703–714
- Foyer CH (2018) Reactive oxygen species, oxidative signaling and the regulation of photosynthesis. Environ Exp Bot 154:134–142
- Foyer CH, Shigeoka S (2011) Understanding oxidative stress and antioxidant functions to enhance photosynthesis. Plant Physiol 155(1):93–100
- Gao L, Zhuang J, Nie L, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Gu N, Wang T, Feng J, Yang D, Perrett S (2007) Intrinsic peroxidase-like activity of ferromagnetic nanoparticles. Nat Nanotechnol 2(9):577–583
- Gilbertson LM, Pourzahedi L, Laughton S, Gao X, Zimmerman JB, Theis TL, Westerhoff P, Lowry GV (2020) Guiding the design space for nanotechnology to advance sustainable crop production. Nat Nanotechnol 15(9):801–810
- Gilroy S, Białasek M, Suzuki N, Górecka M, Devireddy AR, Karpiński S, Mittler R (2016) ROS, calcium, and electric signals: key mediators of rapid systemic signaling in plants. Plant Physiol 171(3):1606–1615
- Giraldo JP, Landry MP, Faltermeier SM, McNicholas TP, Iverson NM, Boghossian AA, Reuel NF, Hilmer AJ, Sen F, Brew JA (2014) Plant nanobionics approach to augment photosynthesis and biochemical sensing. Nat Mater 13(4):400–408
- Giraldo JP, Wu H, Newkirk GM, Kruss S (2019) Nanobiotechnology approaches for engineering smart plant sensors. Nat Nanotechnol 14(6):541–553
- González-Fernández R, Prats E, Jorrín-Novo JV (2010) Proteomics of plant pathogenic fungi. J Biomed Biotechnol
- Haghighi M, Pessarakli M (2013) Influence of silicon and nano-silicon on salinity tolerance of cherry tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum L.) at early growth stage. Sci Hortic 161:111–117
- Hernández-Hernández H, González-Morales S, Benavides-Mendoza A, Ortega-Ortiz H, Cadenas-Pliego G, Juárez-Maldonado A (2018) Effects of chitosan–PVA and Cu nanoparticles on the growth and antioxidant capacity of tomato under saline stress. Molecules 23(1):178

- Hojjat SS, Kamyab M (2017) The effect of silver nanoparticle on Fenugreek seed germination under salinity levels. Russ Agric Sci 43(1):61–65
- Hu P, An J, Faulkner MM, Wu H, Li Z, Tian X, Giraldo JP (2020) Nanoparticle charge and size control foliar delivery efficiency to plant cells and organelles. ACS Nano 14(7):7970–7986
- Huang Z, Rajasekaran P, Ozcan A, Santra S (2018) Antimicrobial magnesium hydroxide nanoparticles as an alternative to Cu biocide for crop protection. J Agric Food Chem 66(33):8679–8686
- Iqbal M, Raja NI, Mashwani Z-U-R, Hussain M, Ejaz M, Yasmeen F (2019) Effect of silver nanoparticles on growth of wheat under heat stress. Iran J Sci Technol Trans A Sci 43(2):387–395
- Jaberzadeh A, Moaveni P, Moghadam HRT, Zahedi H (2013) Influence of bulk and nanoparticles titanium foliar application on some agronomic traits, seed gluten and starch contents of wheat subjected to water deficit stress. Notulae Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca 41(1):201–207
- Jameel M, Shoeb M, Khan MT, Ullah R, Mobin M, Farooqi MK, Adnan SM (2020) Enhanced insecticidal activity of thiamethoxam by zinc oxide nanoparticles: A novel nanotechnology approach for pest control. ACS omega 5(3):1607–1615
- Jiang Z, Zhou X, Tao M, Yuan F, Liu L, Wu F, Wu X, Xiang Y, Niu Y, Liu F (2019) Plant cellsurface GIPC sphingolipids sense salt to trigger Ca 2+ influx. Nature 572(7769):341–346
- Jisha K, Puthur JT (2014) Halopriming of seeds imparts tolerance to NaCl and PEG induced stress in Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek varieties. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 20(3):303–312
- Kah M, Kookana RS, Gogos A, Bucheli TD (2018) A critical evaluation of nanopesticides and nanofertilizers against their conventional analogues. Nat Nanotechnol 13(8):677–684
- Kobayashi K, Wei J, Iida R, Ijiro K, Niikura K (2014) Surface engineering of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. Polym J 46(8):460–468
- Koman VB, Lew TT, Wong MH, Kwak S-Y, Giraldo JP, Strano MS (2017) Persistent drought monitoring using a microfluidic-printed electro-mechanical sensor of stomata in planta. Lab Chip 17(23):4015–4024
- Kongcharoen N, Kaewsalong N, Dethoup T (2020) Efficacy of fungicides in controlling rice blast and dirty panicle diseases in Thailand. Sci Rep 10(1):1–7
- Kwak S-Y, Wong MH, Lew TTS, Bisker G, Lee MA, Kaplan A, Dong J, Liu AT, Koman VB, Sinclair R (2017) Nanosensor technology applied to living plant systems. Annu Rev Anal Chem 10:113–140
- Kwak S-Y, Lew TTS, Sweeney CJ, Koman VB, Wong MH, Bohmert-Tatarev K, Snell KD, Seo JS, Chua N-H, Strano MS (2019) Chloroplast-selective gene delivery and expression in planta using chitosan-complexed single-walled carbon nanotube carriers. Nat Nanotechnol 14(5):447–455
- Landry MP, Mitter N (2019) How nanocarriers delivering cargos in plants can change the GMO landscape. Nat Nanotechnol 14(6):512–514
- Lei W-X, An Z-S, Zhang B-H, Wu Q, Gong W-J, Li J-M, Chen W-L (2020) Construction of goldsiRNA NPR1 nanoparticles for effective and quick silencing of NPR1 in Arabidopsis thaliana. RSC Adv 10(33):19300–19308
- Lew TTS, Koman VB, Silmore KS, Seo JS, Gordiichuk P, Kwak S-Y, Park M, Ang MC-Y, Khong DT, Lee MA (2020) Real-time detection of wound-induced H 2 O 2 signalling waves in plants with optical nanosensors. Nat Plants 6(4):404–415
- Li J, Wu H, Santana I, Fahlgren M, Giraldo JP (2018) Standoff optical glucose sensing in photosynthetic organisms by a quantum dot fluorescent probe. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(34):28279–28289
- Li Y, Xu X, Wu Y, Zhuang J, Zhang X, Zhang H, Lei B, Hu C, Liu Y (2020) A review on the effects of carbon dots in plant systems. Mater Chem Front 4(2):437–448
- Liu J, Fu C, Li G, Khan MN, Wu H (2021a) ROS Homeostasis and Plant Salt Tolerance: Plant Nanobiotechnology Updates. Sustainability 13(6):3552
- Liu J, Li G, Chen L, Gu J, Wu H, Li Z (2021b) Cerium oxide nanoparticles improve cotton salt tolerance by enabling better ability to maintain cytosolic K+/Na+ ratio. J Nanobiotechnol 19(1):1–16
- Loo JF-C, Chien Y-H, Yin F, Kong S-K, Ho H-P, Yong K-T (2019) Upconversion and downconversion nanoparticles for biophotonics and nanomedicine. Coord Chem Rev 400:213042

- Lu L, Huang M, Huang Y, Corvini PF-X, Ji R, Zhao L (2020) Mn 3 O 4 nanozymes boost endogenous antioxidant metabolites in cucumber (Cucumis sativus) plant and enhance resistance to salinity stress. Environ Sci Nano 7(6):1692–1703
- Ma C, Borgatta J, Hudson BG, Tamijani AA, De La Torre-Roche R, Zuverza-Mena N, Shen Y, Elmer W, Xing B, Mason SE (2020) Advanced material modulation of nutritional and phytohormone status alleviates damage from soybean sudden death syndrome. Nat Nanotechnol 15(12):1033–1042
- Machado TO, Beckers SJ, Fischer J, Müller B, Sayer C, de Araújo PH, Landfester K, Wurm FR (2020) Bio-Based Lignin Nanocarriers Loaded with Fungicides as a Versatile Platform for Drug Delivery in Plants. Biomacromolecules 21(7):2755–2763
- Mahakham W, Sarmah AK, Maensiri S, Theerakulpisut P (2017) Nanopriming technology for enhancing germination and starch metabolism of aged rice seeds using phytosynthesized silver nanoparticles. Sci Rep 7(1):1–21
- Mahmoud LM, Dutt M, Shalan AM, El-Kady ME, El-Boray MS, Shabana YM, Grosser JW (2020) Silicon nanoparticles mitigate oxidative stress of in vitro-derived banana (Musa acuminata 'Grand Nain') under simulated water deficit or salinity stress. S Afr J Bot 132:155–163
- Malik M, Padhye P, Poddar P (2019) Downconversion luminescence-based nanosensor for labelfree detection of explosives. ACS Omega 4(2):4259–4268
- Martínez-Ballesta MC, Zapata L, Chalbi N, Carvajal M (2016) Multiwalled carbon nanotubes enter broccoli cells enhancing growth and water uptake of plants exposed to salinity. J Nanobiotechnol 14(1):1–14
- Maswada H, Djanaguiraman M, Prasad P (2018) Seed treatment with nano-iron (III) oxide enhances germination, seeding growth and salinity tolerance of sorghum. J Agron Crop Sci 204(6):577–587
- McGehee DL, Alimohammadi M, Khodakovskaya MV (2019) Carbon-based nanomaterials as stimulators of production of pharmaceutically active alkaloids in cell culture of Catharanthus roseus. Nanotechnology 30(27):275102
- Mikula K, Izydorczyk G, Skrzypczak D, Mironiuk M, Moustakas K, Witek-Krowiak A, Chojnacka K (2020) Controlled release micronutrient fertilizers for precision agriculture–A review. Sci Total Environ 712:136365
- Mishra S, Singh BR, Singh A, Keswani C, Naqvi AH, Singh H (2014) Biofabricated silver nanoparticles act as a strong fungicide against Bipolaris sorokiniana causing spot blotch disease in wheat. PLoS One 9(5):e97881
- Mitter N, Worrall EA, Robinson KE, Li P, Jain RG, Taochy C, Fletcher SJ, Carroll BJ, Lu GM, Xu ZP (2017) Clay nanosheets for topical delivery of RNAi for sustained protection against plant viruses. Nat Plants 3(2):1–10
- Mittler R (2017) ROS are good. Trends Plant Sci 22(1):11-19
- Mohamed AKS, Qayyum MF, Abdel-Hadi AM, Rehman RA, Ali S, Rizwan M (2017) Interactive effect of salinity and silver nanoparticles on photosynthetic and biochemical parameters of wheat. Arch Agron Soil Sci 63(12):1736–1747
- Mohammadi R, Maali-Amiri R, Abbasi A (2013) Effect of TiO 2 nanoparticles on chickpea response to cold stress. Biol Trace Elem Res 152(3):403–410
- Mohanta D, Patnaik S, Sood S, Das N (2019) Carbon nanotubes: Evaluation of toxicity at biointerfaces. J Pharm Anal 9(5):293–300
- Moradbeygi H, Jamei R, Heidari R, Darvishzadeh R (2020) Investigating the enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant defense by applying iron oxide nanoparticles in Dracocephalum moldavica L. plant under salinity stress. Sci Hortic 272:109537
- Mustafa G, Komatsu S (2016) Insights into the response of soybean mitochondrial proteins to various sizes of aluminum oxide nanoparticles under flooding stress. J Proteome Res 15(12):4464–4475
- Narayana A, Bhat SA, Fathima A, Lokesh S, Surya SG, Yelamaggad C (2020) Green and low-cost synthesis of zinc oxide nanoparticles and their application in transistor-based carbon monoxide sensing. RSC Adv 10(23):13532–13542

- Nietzel T, Elsässer M, Ruberti C, Steinbeck J, Ugalde JM, Fuchs P, Wagner S, Ostermann L, Moseler A, Lemke P (2019) The fluorescent protein sensor ro GFP 2-Orp1 monitors in vivo H2O2 and thiol redox integration and elucidates intracellular H2O2 dynamics during elicitorinduced oxidative burst in Arabidopsis. New Phytol 221(3):1649–1664
- Oren S, Ceylan H, Schnable PS, Dong L (2017) High-resolution patterning and transferring of graphene-based nanomaterials onto tape toward roll-to-roll production of tape-based wearable sensors. Adv Mater Technol 2(12):1700223
- Palmqvist NM, Seisenbaeva GA, Svedlindh P, Kessler VG (2017) Maghemite nanoparticles acts as nanozymes, improving growth and abiotic stress tolerance in Brassica napus. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):1–9
- Pandey K, Anas M, Hicks VK, Green MJ, Khodakovskaya MV (2019) Improvement of Commercially Valuable Traits of Industrial Crops by Application of Carbon-based Nanomaterials. Sci Rep 9(1):19358. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55903-3
- Paret ML, Vallad GE, Averett DR, Jones JB, Olson SM (2013) Photocatalysis: effect of lightactivated nanoscale formulations of TiO2 on Xanthomonas perforans and control of bacterial spot of tomato. Phytopathology 103(3):228–236
- Pausch P, Al-Shayeb B, Bisom-Rapp E, Tsuchida CA, Li Z, Cress BF, Knott GJ, Jacobsen SE, Banfield JF, Doudna JA (2020) CRISPR-CasΦ from huge phages is a hypercompact genome editor. Science 369(6501):333–337
- Pirmohamed T, Dowding JM, Singh S, Wasserman B, Heckert E, Karakoti AS, King JE, Seal S, Self WT (2010) Nanoceria exhibit redox state-dependent catalase mimetic activity. Chem Commun 46(16):2736–2738
- Popp J, Pető K, Nagy J (2013) Pesticide productivity and food security. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 33(1):243–255
- Pradhan S, Patra P, Das S, Chandra S, Mitra S, Dey KK, Akbar S, Palit P, Goswami A (2013) Photochemical modulation of biosafe manganese nanoparticles on Vigna radiata: a detailed molecular, biochemical, and biophysical study. Environ Sci Technol 47(22):13122–13131
- Rizwan M, Ali S, Ali B, Adrees M, Arshad M, Hussain A, ur Rehman MZ, Waris AA (2019) Zinc and iron oxide nanoparticles improved the plant growth and reduced the oxidative stress and cadmium concentration in wheat. Chemosphere 214:269–277
- Robatjazi H, Bahauddin SM, Doiron C, Thomann I (2015) Direct plasmon-driven photoelectrocatalysis. Nano Lett 15(9):6155–6161
- Rong G, Tuttle EE, Neal Reilly A, Clark HA (2019) Recent developments in nanosensors for imaging applications in biological systems. Annu Rev Anal Chem 12:109–128
- Rossi L, Zhang W, Lombardini L, Ma X (2016) The impact of cerium oxide nanoparticles on the salt stress responses of Brassica napus L. Environ Pollut 219:28–36
- Saharan V, Sharma G, Yadav M, Choudhary MK, Sharma S, Pal A, Raliya R, Biswas P (2015) Synthesis and in vitro antifungal efficacy of Cu–chitosan nanoparticles against pathogenic fungi of tomato. Int J Biol Macromol 75:346–353
- Santana I, Wu H, Hu P, Giraldo JP (2020) Targeted delivery of nanomaterials with chemical cargoes in plants enabled by a biorecognition motif. Nat Commun 11(1):1–12
- Sedghi M, Hadi M, Toluie SG (2013) Effect of nano zinc oxide on the germination parameters of soybean seeds under drought stress. Ann West Univ Timisoara Ser Biol 16(2):73
- Servin A, Elmer W, Mukherjee A, De la Torre-Roche R, Hamdi H, White JC, Bindraban P, Dimkpa C (2015) A review of the use of engineered nanomaterials to suppress plant disease and enhance crop yield. J Nanopart Res 17(2):1–21
- Setsukinai K-i, Urano Y, Kakinuma K, Majima HJ, Nagano T (2003) Development of Novel Fluorescence Probes That Can Reliably Detect Reactive Oxygen Species and Distinguish Specific Species* 210. J Biol Chem 278(5):3170–3175
- Shabala S, Wu H, Bose J (2015) Salt stress sensing and early signalling events in plant roots: Current knowledge and hypothesis. Plant Sci 241:109–119
- Sharifi S, Behzadi S, Laurent S, Forrest ML, Stroeve P, Mahmoudi M (2012) Toxicity of nanomaterials. Chem Soc Rev 41(6):2323–2343

- Spicer CD, Jumeaux C, Gupta B, Stevens MM (2018) Peptide and protein nanoparticle conjugates: versatile platforms for biomedical applications. Chem Soc Rev 47(10):3574–3620
- Spielman-Sun E, Avellan A, Bland GD, Tappero RV, Acerbo AS, Unrine JM, Giraldo JP, Lowry GV (2019) Nanoparticle surface charge influences translocation and leaf distribution in vascular plants with contrasting anatomy. Environ Sci Nano 6(8):2508–2519
- Srivastava D, Shamim M, Kumar M, Mishra A, Pandey P, Kumar D, Yadav P, Siddiqui MH, Singh KN (2017) Current status of conventional and molecular interventions for blast resistance in rice. Rice Sci 24(6):299–321
- Stapleton AE (1992) Ultraviolet radiation and plants: burning questions. Plant Cell 4(11):1353
- Steinfeld B, Scott J, Vilander G, Marx L, Quirk M, Lindberg J, Koerner K (2015) The role of lean process improvement in implementation of evidence-based practices in behavioral health care. J Behav Health Services Res 42(4):504–518
- Su L-X, Ma X-L, Zhao K-K, Shen C-L, Lou Q, Yin D-M, Shan C-X (2018) Carbon nanodots for enhancing the stress resistance of peanut plants. Acs Omega 3(12):17770–17777
- Sun L, Song F, Guo J, Zhu X, Liu S, Liu F, Li X (2020) Nano-ZnO-induced drought tolerance is associated with melatonin synthesis and metabolism in maize. Int J Mol Sci 21(3):782
- Sun L, Song F, Zhu X, Liu S, Liu F, Wang Y, Li X (2021) Nano-ZnO alleviates drought stress via modulating the plant water use and carbohydrate metabolism in maize. Arch Agron Soil Sci 67(2):245–259
- Sundaria N, Singh M, Upreti P, Chauhan RP, Jaiswal J, Kumar A (2019) Seed priming with Iron oxide nanoparticles triggers Iron acquisition and biofortification in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) grains. J Plant Growth Regul 38(1):122–131
- Suzuki N, Rivero RM, Shulaev V, Blumwald E, Mittler R (2014) Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. New Phytol 203(1):32–43
- Tan L, Chi-Lung Y (1970) Abundance of chemical elements in the earth's crust and its major tectonic units. Int Geol Rev 12(7):778–786
- Tan W, Du W, Barrios AC, Armendariz R Jr, Zuverza-Mena N, Ji Z, Chang CH, Zink JI, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Peralta-Videa JR (2017) Surface coating changes the physiological and biochemical impacts of nano-TiO2 in basil (Ocimum basilicum) plants. Environ Pollut 222:64–72
- Taran N, Storozhenko V, Svietlova N, Batsmanova L, Shvartau V, Kovalenko M (2017) Effect of zinc and copper nanoparticles on drought resistance of wheat seedlings. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):1–6
- Thagun C, Chuah JA, Numata K (2019) Targeted gene delivery into various plastids mediated by clustered cell-penetrating and chloroplast-targeting peptides. Adv Sci 6(23):1902064
- Torabian S, Zahedi M, Khoshgoftar AH (2017) Effects of foliar spray of nano-particles of FeSO4 on the growth and ion content of sunflower under saline condition. J Plant Nutr 40(5):615–623
- Toyota M, Spencer D, Sawai-Toyota S, Jiaqi W, Zhang T, Koo AJ, Howe GA, Gilroy S (2018) Glutamate triggers long-distance, calcium-based plant defense signaling. Science 361(6407):1112–1115
- Van Ittersum MK, Van Bussel LG, Wolf J, Grassini P, Van Wart J, Guilpart N, Claessens L, de Groot H, Wiebe K, Mason-D'Croz D (2016) Can sub-Saharan Africa feed itself? Proc Natl Acad Sci 113(52):14964–14969
- Van Nguyen D, Nguyen HM, Le NT, Nguyen KH, Nguyen HT, Le HM, Nguyen AT, Dinh NTT, Hoang SA, Van Ha C (2021) Copper nanoparticle application enhances plant growth and grain yield in maize under drought stress conditions. J Plant Growth Regul:1–12
- Walkey C, Das S, Seal S, Erlichman J, Heckman K, Ghibelli L, Traversa E, McGinnis JF, Self WT (2015) Catalytic properties and biomedical applications of cerium oxide nanoparticles. Environ Sci Nano 2(1):33–53
- Wang X, Liu X, Chen J, Han H, Yuan Z (2014) Evaluation and mechanism of antifungal effects of carbon nanomaterials in controlling plant fungal pathogen. Carbon 68:798–806
- Wang P, Lombi E, Zhao F-J, Kopittke PM (2016) Nanotechnology: a new opportunity in plant sciences. Trends Plant Sci 21(8):699–712
- Wei T, Cheng Q, Min Y-L, Olson EN, Siegwart DJ (2020) Systemic nanoparticle delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins for effective tissue specific genome editing. Nat Commun 11(1):1–12

- Wiesholler LM, Frenzel F, Grauel B, Würth C, Resch-Genger U, Hirsch T (2019) Yb, Nd, Er-doped upconversion nanoparticles: 980 nm versus 808 nm excitation. Nanoscale 11(28):13440–13449
- Wong MH, Misra RP, Giraldo JP, Kwak S-Y, Son Y, Landry MP, Swan JW, Blankschtein D, Strano MS (2016) Lipid exchange envelope penetration (LEEP) of nanoparticles for plant engineering: A universal localization mechanism. Nano Lett 16(2):1161–1172
- Wu H (2018) Plant salt tolerance and Na+ sensing and transport. Crop J 6(3):215-225
- Wu H, Santana I, Dansie J, Giraldo JP (2017a) In vivo delivery of nanoparticles into plant leaves. Curr Protocol Chem Biol 9(4):269–284
- Wu H, Tito N, Giraldo JP (2017b) Anionic cerium oxide nanoparticles protect plant photosynthesis from abiotic stress by scavenging reactive oxygen species. ACS Nano 11(11):11283–11297
- Wu H, Shabala L, Shabala S, Giraldo JP (2018) Hydroxyl radical scavenging by cerium oxide nanoparticles improves Arabidopsis salinity tolerance by enhancing leaf mesophyll potassium retention. Environ Sci Nano 5(7):1567–1583
- Wu H, Nißler R, Morris V, Herrmann N, Hu P, Jeon S-J, Kruss S, Giraldo JP (2020) Monitoring plant health with near-infrared fluorescent H2O2 Nanosensors. Nano Lett 20(4):2432–2442
- Xin X, Judy JD, Sumerlin BB, He Z (2020) Nano-enabled agriculture: from nanoparticles to smart nanodelivery systems. Environ Chem 17(6):413–425
- Yao J, Cheng Y, Zhou M, Zhao S, Lin S, Wang X, Wu J, Li S, Wei H (2018) ROS scavenging Mn 3 O 4 nanozymes for in vivo anti-inflammation. Chem Sci 9(11):2927–2933
- Ye Y, Cota-Ruiz K, Hernández-Viezcas JA, Valdés C, Medina-Velo IA, Turley RS, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2020) Manganese nanoparticles control salinity-modulated molecular responses in Capsicum annuum L. through priming: A sustainable approach for agriculture. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 8(3):1427–1436
- Younis M, Abdel-Aziz H, Heikal Y (2019) Nanopriming technology enhances vigor and mitotic index of aged Vicia faba seeds using chemically synthesized silver nanoparticles. S Afr J Bot 125:393–401
- Yu Q, Lutz KA, Maliga P (2017) Efficient plastid transformation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 175(1):186–193
- Yusefi-Tanha E, Fallah S, Rostamnejadi A, Pokhrel LR (2020) Particle size and concentration dependent toxicity of copper oxide nanoparticles (CuONPs) on seed yield and antioxidant defense system in soil grown soybean (Glycine max cv. Kowsar). Sci Total Environ 715:136994
- Zhang H, Demirer GS, Zhang H, Ye T, Goh NS, Aditham AJ, Cunningham FJ, Fan C, Landry MP (2019) DNA nanostructures coordinate gene silencing in mature plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(15):7543–7548
- Zhang P, Guo Z, Zhang Z, Fu H, White JC, Lynch I (2020a) Nanomaterial transformation in the soil–plant system: implications for food safety and application in agriculture. Small 16(21):2000705
- Zhang Y, Yan J, Avellan A, Gao X, Matyjaszewski K, Tilton RD, Lowry GV (2020b) Temperatureand pH-responsive star polymers as nanocarriers with potential for in vivo agrochemical delivery. ACS Nano 14(9):10954–10965
- Zhao G, Zhao Y, Lou W, Su J, Wei S, Yang X, Wang R, Guan R, Pu H, Shen W (2019) Nitrate reductase-dependent nitric oxide is crucial for multi-walled carbon nanotube-induced plant tolerance against salinity. Nanoscale 11(21):10511–10523
- Zhao L, Lu L, Wang A, Zhang H, Huang M, Wu H, Xing B, Wang Z, Ji R (2020) Nano-biotechnology in agriculture: use of nanomaterials to promote plant growth and stress tolerance. J Agric Food Chem 68(7):1935–1947
- Zhu Z-J, Wang H, Yan B, Zheng H, Jiang Y, Miranda OR, Rotello VM, Xing B, Vachet RW (2012) Effect of surface charge on the uptake and distribution of gold nanoparticles in four plant species. Environ Sci Technol 46(22):12391–12398
- Zhu Q, Wang L, Dong Q, Chang S, Wen K, Jia S, Chu Z, Wang H, Gao P, Zhao H (2017) FRETbased glucose imaging identifies glucose signalling in response to biotic and abiotic stresses in rice roots. J Plant Physiol 215:65–72

Chapter 10 Advances in Integrated High-Throughput and Phenomics Application in Plants and Agriculture



Muhammad Waseem, Iffat Shaheen, and Mehtab Muhammad Aslam

Contents

10.1	Introduction	239			
10.2	Phenomics	241			
	10.2.1 Phenomics for Crop Microphenotypic Traits	242			
	10.2.2 High-Throughput Plant Phenotyping Platforms in a Controllable				
	Environment				
10.3	Application of Machine Learning in Phenomics.				
10.4	High-Throughput Phenomics Enhances Phytogenetics				
10.5	Conclusion and Future Perspective.				
Refere	ences.	250			

10.1 Introduction

Since the new millennium, emerging next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology has assisted researchers in measuring intractable and complex traits in biological data acquisition (Furbank et al. 2019). Among these technologies, crop functional genomics and whole-genome sequencing (Li et al. 2018) allowing in the acquisition of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping

M. Waseem (⊠)

I. Shaheen

M. M. Aslam College of Agriculture, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou, Jiangsu, China e-mail: mehtabmuhammadaslam@yhaoo.com

College of Horticulture, Hainan University, Haikou, China

College of Horticulture, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China e-mail: wasim@scau.edu.cn

Faculty of Agriculture Science and Technology, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

(Xiao et al. 2017) on the large-scale phenotypic and genetic architecture of complex traits (Shi et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019) have stepped into the high-throughput and big-data era. For instance, plant genome annotation revealed 26500 loci for *Arabidopsis* to 41000 genes in rice. Recently, the poplar genome was revealed to encode 45000 genes, and more than 40000 genes regulate multidimensional physiological and biological processes in Medicago and Lotus (Sterck et al. 2007). However, a genome size of 950 MB encoding about 35,000 genes in the tomato revolution our understanding of tomato biology (Barone et al. 2008). In the last two decades, thousands of genes in tomato (Barone et al. 2008), rice (Yao et al. 2018), and *Arabidopsis* (Bouché and Bouchez 2001) were functionally characterized through various traditional phenotypic techniques. The challenge is to attach the functions of these enormous numbers of genes restricting functional genomics studies and crop breeding (Deery et al. 2016).

The term "phenome" was first characterized by Davis (1949): approach to systematically explore the comprehensive set of extragenic, non-autoreproductive portions of the cell and represented the set of phenotypes, either cytoplasmic or nuclear. Later on, phenomics was described as a complex interaction of an organism's genotype and phenotype (Houle et al. 2010). Conventional crop phenotyping is laborious, tedious, intensive, and potentially injurious to plants (Chen et al. 2014). Recently, plant phenomics has been growing and advancing rapidly in the last decades includes the set of approaches used to precisely assess individual cells, tissue, leaf, or plant to the large scale, i.e., ecosystem (Fiorani and Schurr 2013). In addition, crop phenomics is the inter/intradisciplinary study of high-throughput phenotyping platforms for accurate acquisition and an organism-wide scale analysis of phenotypes in crop development (Fig. 10.1) (Zhao et al. 2019). In recent years, next-generation genotyping and phenotyping have been advantageous over traditional breeding approaches due to the accuracy of these methods and their robust capability to accelerate crop breeding (Pasala and Pandey 2020).

Advanced sophisticated sensors, vision-guided robotics, automation technology, and machine learning, with applications in harvesting, quality assessment, sorting, screening, and packaging, have been extensively implemented in the agri-production industry to promote efficiency (Ruiz-Garcia et al. 2009) and for breeders to have a breakthrough in making rapid genetic progress (Furbank et al. 2019). The integration of genomics and phenomics can accelerate genetics gain in breeding programs and identify new traits in diverse plant germplasms that help breed populations through the crossing and artificial genomics (Bortesi and Fischer 2015). However, these approaches should apply at the early stages of plant development. To search for how and why to measure the whole genome and whole-plant phenotypes has been extensively explored. Over the last few decades, the answer to the former has been examined in detail. Recent achievements in high-throughput technologies allow us to conclude how and why to measure organism-level phenotype in the coming decades (Houle et al. 2010). For instance, RICE 2020 has been initiated to systematically and functionally characterize all protein transcripts and gene transcripts in rice by 2020 (Zhang et al. 2008). This chapter tries to cover the significant advances in applying integrated high-throughput and phenomics approaches in genetics studies. Finally, we discuss the challenges in agri-phenomics and specify our standpoint on phenomics-related studies.



Fig. 10.1 Timeline of significant achievements in the deployment of phenomics approaches, including genomics, phenotyping, machine learning, and artificial intelligence

10.2 Phenomics

The plant being sessile organisms interact with multiple environmental stress across the life cycle and developed multiple avoidance strategies (Lymperopoulos et al. 2018). Conventional phenomics approaches focus on crop productivity and yield, while advanced sensing approaches enable plant scientists to record the environmental history of plants, together with their dynamic responses (Pratap et al. 2019). Robust phenomics is vital to plant breeding due to its fundamental basis for developing new varieties. However, advancement in phenomics including robotics, image processing, and deep learning enables non-destructive monitoring of plants development and function to extract valuable information (Hickey et al. 2019). The ongoing challenges with new generation phenomics are data handling and continuous contribution by computational technologies critical to maintaining rapid advancements in accelerated breeding programs (Tester and Langridge 2010).

10.2.1 Phenomics for Crop Microphenotypic Traits

Phenotyping at organ, tissue, and cellular levels requires complex procedures, and several automated high-throughput and large-scale phenotyping platforms have been developed for screening and assessing Arabidopsis, rice, and maize under controlled environmental conditions or in the field (Table 10.1) (Kaul, Koo et al. 2000). Phonoscope, a large-scale high-throughput phenotyping platform, monitors the plant growth rates of more than 700+ plants (Tisné et al. 2013). Renovator, accurate quantification for genotypic variation in natural genetic population using growth and photosynthesis as a phenotypic indicator of plant performance (Flood et al. 2016), utilizes a monochrome camera on the moving rail system platform with 1440 plants carrying capacity. The renovator can collect leaf area and light-use efficiency. Instead, PlantScreen with automatic weighing and watering moving conveyor belts transported plants from growing chamber to RGB imaging cabinets, chlorophyll fluorescence, and dark acclimation chamber (Awlia, Nigro et al. 2016). Plant root traits play a critical role in nutrient acquisition and the transport of water from the soil to the aerial parts of plants. Microimaging and sensing have improved our understanding of root anatomy and functions. Wu et al. (2011) developed a low-cost computer-aided 3-D visualization and quantitative analysis technique based on classical paraffin embedding serial sections and microtome techniques. In 2012, a highthroughput, high-resolution phenotyping platform, RootSlice, aided with laser and 3-D visualization was introduced to analyze (Burton, Williams et al. 2012) and quantify root anatomy with semi-auto RootScan (Chimungu, Loades et al. 2015). RootAnalyzer, automatic versatile root tissues, and root cells image phenotypic analysis tools. RootAnalyzer has more than 90% accuracy and improves image segmentation efficiency in quantifying the properties of tissues (Chopin, Laga et al. 2015). Walter et al. (2007) introduced an automated imaging pipeline GROWSCREEN to acquire the dynamics of seedling growth acclimation such as relative growth rate, total leaf area, and root area. Moreover, GROWSCREEN FLUORO allowed the simultaneous phenotyping of chlorophyll fluorescence in rosette plants (Jansen, Gilmer et al. 2009). The mapping power of GROWSCREEN for GWAS or QTL analyses reduced due to relatively limited carrying capacity in of platform in combination with micro-environmental heterogeneity.

TraitMill by CropDesign (Belgium) yield-related morphometric traits measure exclusive bioinformatics tools and a high-throughput phenotyping platform (Reuzeau et al. 2010). Computer-controlled Scanalyzer3D platform accelerating plant phenomics aided with automated watering and weighing, a conveyor with a capacity of 2400 plants, and RGB imaging stations to estimate plant biomass using RGB images (Virlet et al. 2016). In addition, the salinity tolerance of chickpea can be assessed by Scanalyzer3D (Hairmansis, Berger et al. 2014). In addition, rice (Hairmansis, Berger et al. 2014), and nutrient starvation in crops, in field diseases monitoring, and more physiological features including growth date. In recent years, an array of algorithms and tools has been developed (Table 10.1). However, there is

Plant	Platform	Parameters	References
Canopy	LabVIEW	Growth parameters	Bai et al. (2016) and Zhang et al (2017)
Leaf	PHENOPSIS		Granier et al. (2006)
	WIWAM	_	Clauw et al. (2015)
	GROWSCREEN	Leaf discs	Nagel et al. (2012)
	LemnaTec	Growth and yield	Neumann et al. (2015)
	Phenodyn/Phenoarch	Leaf elongation	Sadok et al. (2007)
	Integrated Analysis Platform	Leaf orientation	Klukas et al. (2014)
	LAMINA	Leaf parameters	Bylesjö et al. (2008)
	Leaf Analyser	Leaf architecture	Weight et al. (2008)
	Phenovator	Photosynthesis	Flood et al. (2016)
	LeasyScan	Canopy traits	Vadez et al. (2015)
Root	Shovelomics	Root growth parameters	Burridge et al. (2016)
	Self-construction		Bucksch et al. (2014)
	LemnaGrid		Guo et al. (2017)
Shoot	PlantScreen TM	Imaging/nonimaging chlorophyll fluorescence and plant growth parameters	Humplík et al. (2015)
	Rosette Tracker	Leaf area, perimeter diameter	De Vylder et al. (2012)
	PHENOSCOPE	Vegetative growth and homogeneity	Tisné et al. (2013)
Whole plant	TraitMill	Growth and yield parameters	Reuzeau et al. (2010)
	PlantScan	_	Sirault et al. (2013)
	HRPF		Yang et al. (2012)
	GlyPh	Growth and soil water content estimation	Pereyra-Irujo et al. (2012)
	BreedVision	Growth and genetic parameters	Busemeyer et al. (2013)
	OloPhen	Leaf area, growth, and survival rate	De Diego et al. (2017)

 Table 10.1
 Phenomics tools deployed for microphenotyping

still a need to simplify complex phenotypic procedures at cellular and tissue levels. The introduction of advanced imaging techniques will accelerate microscopic phenotyping and assist in advanced phenotyping studies, particularly on specific cell phenotypes and crop organ characteristics.

10.2.2 High-Throughput Plant Phenotyping Platforms in a Controllable Environment

In crops, the breeding and selection of desirable traits is vital for sustainable agriculture, global food security, and the growing global demand for fiber, feed, and fuel (Dungey et al. 2018). High-throughput plant phenotyping with non-destructively image approaches facilitate efficient screening of plants based on their morphological and physiological traits, may assist in increasing productivity, shorten the crop cycle, improve plant efficiency in the environment, and help in linking phenomics to genomics (Li et al. 2014). However, the application of high-throughput plant phenotyping in agriculture is still in its infancy. It needs to have the accuracy and efficiency to assess the growth and morphological traits of plants, such as growth patterns, development rate, plant aerial architecture, root architecture system, and plant biomass. These features are fundamental to understand function-structure of plant in assesing biotic and bitoic responses for sustainable management of crops.

Global warming has posed a risk to global food demand as it has impacted agricultural productivity in the past few decades. Despite the negative influences of climate change, however, the selection and breeding of environmental resistance crops are needed today, but they should be done without compromising the quality and quantity of crops (Langstroff et al. 2021). Controlled environment phenotyping (CEP) is a nondestructive approach for exploring plant behaviors, which enable breeders to search for genotypes capable of coping with future environments (Xue et al. 2019). The primary problems in upcoming plant breeding programs are the lack of infrastructure and the diversity of users (Carpentier et al. 2019). Currently, a practical approach that is being used for searching scientific opportunities is bibliometric science mapping, which is done by analyzing scientific publications (Van Raan 2004). This method has been applied for analyzing phenomics. Under such a scenario, there is a need to develop dedicated tools, infrastructures, and resources for phenotyping genomics resources. The production of such high-throughput plant phenotyping resources could only be possible through a public-private partnership.

Luckily few initiatives arose to integrate fully controlled environment facilities climate-specific locations between laboratory-based work and "real-world" scenarios (Carpentier et al. 2019; Costa et al. 2019). For instance, the projects EPPN (http://www.plant-phenotyping-network.eu/), the COST Action FA1306 (http:// www.cost.eu/COST_Actions/fa/FA1306), and EPPN2020 (https://eppn2020.plantphenotyping.eu/). Similarly, European Infrastructure for Pan-Phenomics and simulation for global food security, the ESFRI-project EMPHASIS, jointly launched synergistic pan-European excellence in phylogenomics for developing relevant approaches and shared infrastructures. German Plant Phenotyping Network (DPPN) provides a robust phenotypic portfolio and shares productive and efficient infrastructure. On a global scale, China, USA, and Canada national phenotyping efforts include Asia-Pacific Plant Phenotyping Network (NAPPN, https://www.plantphenotyping.org/), and the International Plant Phenotyping Network (IPPN; https://www. plant-phenotyping.org/) develops integrated approaches beyond the national and regional perspectives.

High-throughput plant phenotyping can be integrated into greenhouses which allow crop phenotyping at the whole-population level and observe natural-variation in GWAS citrus (Minamikawa et al. 2017), rice (Crowell et al. 2016; Rebolledo et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2014), maize (Gage et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019), wheat (Beyer et al. 2019; Rasheed et al. 2014), barley (Bergsträsser et al. 2015; Neumann et al. 2017), soybean (Bergsträsser et al. 2015). Besides acting as a shield from light, rain, and extreme temperatures, greenhouses provide a straightforward environment conducive for plant nutrient, salinity, and drought studies (Neumann et al. 2015). During drought, identification, and selection of precisely multitude drought heritable traits beneficial to characterize a phenotype (Chen et al. 2014). Global warming impacts agriculture productivity at global scale proxies drought indices to account and predict drought severity (Mukherjee et al. 2018) owing to few crop species spatiotemporal adaptations with varying productivity. Temperatures have drastic effects on crop yield and productivity (Zhao et al. 2017); for example, an elevated temperature decreases crop yields in maize up to 90% (Hatfield and Prueger 2015). Control environment integrated with high-throughput phenotyping enables identification of QTL and GWAS necessary for repeated phenotyping to ultimate phenotype (Muraya et al. 2017). The ecosphere is highly sensitive to temperature changes and differentially affects plant growth at different altitudes (Rosenzweig et al. 2014), influencing plant adaptation and productivity. Flowering in plant is controlled by daily temperature fluctuation, day length, light intensity, and seasonal cues to help understand the dynamic genetic components to plant adaptation (Li et al. 2010). In general, intercepted light can increase total plant biomass (60%) (Poorter et al. 2016). Dynamic environmental components are integrated with high throughput approaches to explore genetic variations in field or controlled environments.

10.3 Application of Machine Learning in Phenomics

Integration of artificial intelligence in interdisciplinary fields has been grown exponentially in the last decade. Artificial intelligence applications such as deep learning, sensors, and machine learning successfully enable high-throughput phenotyping of plant traits into non-invasive imaging approaches (Nabwire et al. 2021). The accuracy and efficiency of data collection and analysis Improve through deep learning and machine learning for vigorous image analysis and influential study of phenotypes. Conventional breeding approaches of phenotyping are destructive with sufficient resolution and require crop harvesting at specific plant growth stages (Furbank and Tester 2011). The plant breeding programs are significantly lagging behind genomics, slow, time consuming, and require repeated experiments to validate certain traits pivotal for crop improvement (Fahlgren et al. 2015). The noninvasive high-throughput imaging approaches enable phenotype visualization at a cellular scale. The imaging techniques such as chlorophyll fluorescence (Zarco-Tejada et al. 2009), thermography (Oerke et al. 2006), spectroscopic imaging (Montes et al. 2006), and digital imaging (Jensen et al. 2007) carry a large amount of extractable data to support biological interpretations of plant growth (Walter et al. 2010). Hight-throughput artificial intelligence architecture applied in phenotyping are listed in Table 10.2.

Currently, high-throughput approaches like growth chambers (Bai et al. 2016), imaging sensors (Chaerle and Van Der Straeten 2000), data acquisition, and statistical software are employed for data collection, management, and interpretation at laboratory and field levels. Integration of these techniques into artificial intelligence in the form of machine learning (Kruse et al. 2014) and computer vision (Casanova et al. 2014) attribute to the non-invasion aspect of phenomics (Montes et al. 2007). Artificial intelligence applications are expanding with a public-private partnership in developing and disseminating these phenomic approaches that address the challenges of costly infrastructure and proprietary data formats. Thus far, computer vision, deep learning, and machine learning have been applied in phenomics. Since 1970, various machine learning models, such as Bayesian networks, support vector machines, and perceptron, have been developed, but none have proved to be the best

Model	Sensor	Crop	Trait	Reference
Machine learning	RGB/NIR	Macrotyloma uniflorum	Plant height, shoot length, flower percentage and pods, pod length, seeds per pod	Amal et al. (2020)
		Brassica napus, Camelina sativa, Fabaceae, Cicer arietinum	Flowering detection UAV	Obidiegwu et al. (2015)
		Zea mays	Identifying growth rate	Dutta et al. (2016)
	Scanner	Vicia faba	Root system architecture	Mula et al. (2016)
	RGB, IR, HS	Beta vulgaris	Water, nutrient stress	Mula et al. (2016)
		Glycine max	Canopy wilting	Howarth et al. (2011)
	3D laser scanning	Cicer arietinum	Evapotranspiration	Leport et al. (2011)
Deep learning	RGB/ multispectral	Glycine max	Plant yield estimation	Waring and Cleary (1967)
		Zea mays	Water stress	De Bei et al. (2011)
		Triticum	Root system architecture	Zakaluk and Ranjan (2008)
	HS	Zea mays	Relative water content	Patanè et al. (2016)

Table 10.2 Integration of artificial intelligence tools in plant phenomics

as they all have certain limitations (Roscher et al. 2020). Later on, neural networks integrated with data collection and information processing infrastructure enable machine learning to determine best-fitting models (Roscher et al. 2020). One of the advantages of phytogenomic machine learning is their ability to simultaneously processing massive amounts of data in combination with other related features (Roscher et al. 2020) assist in the identification and classification of plant traits, including disease or pest detection (Wetterich et al.), floral transition (Wetterich et al.), and seeds classification (Sabanci et al. 2017).

Deep learning is a subset of machine learning instead of several complex high throughput sensors with a wide range of phenotype applications (LeCun et al. 2015). However, the data collected through this versatile tool contained high variability making its application more complicated but providing more reliable prediction (Singh et al. 2018). Deep learning in computer vision-based phenomics ensures the more reliable processing of phenotypic images involving multilayered approaches network, each performing its operation in succession, improving prediction and discrimination ability (Pound et al. 2017) by a process called transfer learning. Table 10.2 lists some deep learning phenomics approaches that have been used for plant morphology and stress identification. However, applying machine learning and deep learning subsets of artificial intelligence enables plant scientists robust identification, classification, and detection of environmental variability influences on plant growth, development, and other related physiological parameters.

10.4 High-Throughput Phenomics Enhances Phytogenetics

High-throughput phenomics has been widely used in remote sensing, root phenomics, deep learning for plant stress, and vision sensing technologies in disease and pest detection (Atkinson et al. 2019; Mahlein et al. 2018). However, applying phenotyping technologies and genome sequencing is still limited in genetics and crop breeding studies both in the field and within the lab. A plethora of studies have identified QTL in many plant species, but still sveral issues need to be resolved. Among them is how to charctarizes dymanic QTLs for complex traits at mutiple grwoth stage or at different species level or districtive tarit measurements including root architechture, biomass allocation, and nutrient assessment. Identification and efficient functional characterization of potential QTLs. Integrating various genomics approaches with systemic and synthetic molecular biology approaches will significantly facilitate future breeding programs.

The regulation of the size of maize shoot apical meristems (SAMs) is correlated with flowering. High throughput analysis enables integration of SAM morphological traits with GWAS and QTL, demonstrated their contribution to SAM development (Leiboff et al. 2015). High-throughput non-destructively micro-CT-RGB phenotyping and genomics enable large-scale assessment of rice tiller traits, tiller growth, and plant traits nine growth stages. Among these traits, 402 significantly influence grain yield, vigor-related traits and yield (Wu et al. 2019). However, such

integration of genomics and phenomics is beneficial in crop breeding programs required for high yields and compact planting. Genome selection is another robust genotype-phenotype approach that involves statistical modeling and genome-wide markers. It allows efficient and accurate markers to be identified, but associated phenotype prediction is still a bottleneck in crop breeding (Taylor 2014). The process of photosynthesis and transpiration in leaves (Wang et al. 2015) depends on the number of leaves inm plants as well as the leaf size, shape, and greenness (Wang et al. 2011). The genetics study of rice and maize leaves by high-throughput leaf scoring revealed nine loci associated with leaf traits in 533 rice accessions at thee growth stages. In maize, QTL mapping of 22 leaf traits of a RIL population at 16 growth stages predited leaf tarits (leaf angle and length) being an indicator of yield (Yang et al. 2015).

Integration of high throughput phenomics with large-scale GWAS or QTLs expanded our understanding of crop developmental dynamics and emerged as a tool for plant genomics, gene expression, and characterization. The root system architecture is a promising trait for nutrients and water acquisition from the soil. Dissecting the root genetic will be helpful in increased nutrient and water acquisition from the soil. Two genetic studies on root traits were performed on rice and *Brassica* (Courtois et al. 2013; Shi et al. 2013). They conducted a GWAS of 15 root traits using vision sensors and detected associations between deep root number and mass. In *Brassica napus*, 38 QTLs were predictive indicators under phosphorus variability. Shi et al. (2013) used an agar-based high-throughput root phenotyping system to identify QTLs associated with phosphate variability correlated with *Brassica napus* root architectural traits.

Environmental factors, including both abiotic and biotic factors, can produce a variety of phenotypic effects. The rapid development of non-destructive high-throughput plant phenotyping approaches has been popularized in a plethora of crop populations to reveal the genetics of complex quantitative traits to various environmental factors (Yang et al. 2020), such as phosphate deficiency tolerance of Brassica napus (Shi et al. 2013), drought response of wheat (Parent et al. 2015), salinity tolerance of rice (Al-Tamimi et al. 2016), and drought resistance of rice (Guo et al. 2018). Most of these studies have focused on external responses, such as the morphology, biomass, and greenness-related traits. The internal response of plants to drought is mainly unknown. Wu et al. (2021) develop a non-destructively image-based traits (i-traits) approach to plant responses to drought. The i-traits are highthroughput image analysis pipelines aided by RGB optical sensors, X-ray computed tomography and hyperspectral imaging. In maize, i-traits identified 4322 drought-responsive loci encoding 1529 QTLs, including 15 QTLs containing potential markers for drought tolerance breeding in maize. Combining crop genetics information with genotype-phenotype approaches revolutionizes researchers' understanding of complex traits and reinforces the new era of crop breeding.

10.5 Conclusion and Future Perspective

Crop breeding evolved from conventional approaches to phenotypes-genotype aided breeding through advancement in next-generation sequencing of crops. Plant breeding enters the next era of phenomics which enables breeders accurate sampling to phenotype various traits. In the last few decades, phenomics has entered a new period of advancements as it integrated machine learning, deep learning, and artificial intelligence to predict the phenotypic characteristics of different crop populations. These approaches inherent data from various sources tend to accelerate crop breeding programs.

Considerable efforts have been placed in agriculture and global food security to maintain sustainable crop growth and productivity. Sustainable agriculture and crop production by integrating genetic tools lead to the advancement in phenomics, but demand for financial investments diminishes the development of agriculture. Phenotypic studies focus on aerial plant parts and underground plant parts; however, the integrated role of aerial-phenomics to underground phenomics influenced, but various biotic and abiotic stresses need to consider. For instance, the primary root of plant roots determines the plant's capacity to store water or other essential plant nutrients in the stem. Integrated phenotype, the ratio of root length to stem height, could be related to crop yield. For such integrated phenotypes, algorithms to compute plant imagery are required to be developed.

Furthermore, for early detection of environmental stresses, including water, drought, salinity, temperature, etc, effort should be placed to investigate the phenotypes for characterizing the propagating stress and classified them into different stages such as moderate, extreme, or exceptional. Similarly, controlling the root growth angel may contribute to the speed of recovery.

The advancement of phenomics in "big data" enables the plant science community to establish new theories in plant phenotypic approaches to integrate artificial and collaborative research at global levels. Crop phenotypic information should focus on developing tools that comprehensively integrate multi-tudinal scale emphasize on pheno-envir-genotype and physiological parameters to systematically and complete phenomic information. The critical problem of functional phenomics is its development and application in phenotyping. The introduction of new methodologies integrated with artificial intelligence and machine learning help minimize environmental challenges. These throughput approaches collect digital features efficiently. These features' precise and robust interpretation dig out critical quantitative and qualitative phenotypic traits for functional genomics. High throughput approaches also facilitate the integration of multi-tudinal phenotypic information for big-data development, management, shareability, and globality in crop genopheno-envirotype analysis and utilization. In short, for the future of phenomics, we urgently need synergism at the global level. Search for novel tools and methodologies offer powerful tools to dissect the processes in plant growth, development, and producing high-yielding and climate-resilient crops.

References

- Al-Tamimi N, Brien C, Oakey H, Berger B, Saade S, Ho YS, Schmöckel SM, Tester M, Negrão S (2016) Salinity tolerance loci revealed in rice using high-throughput non-invasive phenotyping. Nat Commun 7:1–11
- Amal TC, Thottathil AT, Veerakumari KP, Rakkiyappan R, Vasanth K (2020) Morphological traits of drought tolerant horse gram germplasm: classification through machine learning. J Sci Food Agric 100:4959–4967
- Atkinson JA, Pound MP, Bennett MJ, Wells DM (2019) Uncovering the hidden half of plants using new advances in root phenotyping. Curr Opin Biotechnol 55:1–8
- Awlia M, Nigro A, Fajkus J, Schmoeckel SM, Negrão S, Santelia D, Trtílek M, Tester M, Julkowska MM, Panzarová K (2016) High-throughput non-destructive phenotyping of traits that contribute to salinity tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Front in Plant Sci. 7:1414
- Bai G, Ge Y, Hussain W, Baenziger PS, Graef G (2016) A multi-sensor system for high throughput field phenotyping in soybean and wheat breeding. Comput Electron Agric 128:181–192
- Barone A, Chiusano ML, Ercolano MR, Giuliano G, Grandillo S, Frusciante L (2008) Structural and functional genomics of tomato. Int J Plant Genomics 2008:820274–820274
- Bergsträsser S, Fanourakis D, Schmittgen S, Cendrero-Mateo MP, Jansen M, Scharr H, Rascher U (2015) HyperART: non-invasive quantification of leaf traits using hyperspectral absorption-reflectance-transmittance imaging. Plant Methods 11:1–17
- Beyer S, Daba S, Tyagi P, Bockelman H, Brown-Guedira G, Mohammadi M (2019) Loci and candidate genes controlling root traits in wheat seedlings—a wheat root GWAS. Funct Integr Genomics 19:91–107
- Bortesi L, Fischer R (2015) The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. Biotechnol Adv 33:41–52
- Bouché N, Bouchez D (2001) Arabidopsis gene knockout: phenotypes wanted. Curr Opin Plant Biol 4:111–117
- Bucksch A, Burridge J, York LM, Das A, Nord E, Weitz JS, Lynch JP (2014) Image-based highthroughput field phenotyping of crop roots. Plant Physiol 166:470–486
- Burridge J, Jochua CN, Bucksch A, Lynch JP (2016) Legume shovelomics: high—throughput phenotyping of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) and cowpea (Vigna unguiculata subsp, unguiculata) root architecture in the field. Field Crop Res 192:21–32
- Busemeyer L, Mentrup D, Möller K, Wunder E, Alheit K, Hahn V, Maurer HP, Reif JC, Würschum T, Müller J (2013) BreedVision—A multi-sensor platform for non-destructive field-based phenotyping in plant breeding. Sensors 13:2830–2847
- Bylesjö M, Segura V, Soolanayakanahally RY, Rae AM, Trygg J, Gustafsson P, Jansson S, Street NR (2008) LAMINA: a tool for rapid quantification of leaf size and shape parameters. BMC Plant Biol 8:1–9
- Burton AL, Williams M, Lynch JP, Brown KM (2012) RootScan: software for high-throughput analysis of root anatomical traits. Plant and Soil 357(1):189–203
- Chimungu JG, Loades KW, Lynch JP (2015) Root anatomical phenes predict root penetration ability and biomechanical properties in maize (*Zea mays*). J Experi Bot 66(11):3151–3162
- Chopin J, Laga H, Huang CY, Heuer S, Miklavcic SJ (2015) Rootanalyzer: a cross-section image analysis tool for automated characterization of root cells and tissues. PloS one 10(9):e0137655
- Carpentier S, Costa C, Schurr U, Loreto F, Menesatti P (2019) Plant phenotyping research trends, a science mapping approach. Front Plant Sci 9
- Casanova JJ, O'Shaughnessy SA, Evett SR, Rush CM (2014) Development of a wireless computer vision instrument to detect biotic stress in wheat. Sensors 14:17753–17769
- Chaerle L, Van Der Straeten D (2000) Imaging techniques and the early detection of plant stress. Trends Plant Sci 5:495–501
- Chen D, Neumann K, Friedel S, Kilian B, Chen M, Altmann T, Klukas C (2014) Dissecting the phenotypic components of crop plant growth and drought responses based on high-throughput image analysis. Plant Cell 26:4636–4655
- Clauw P, Coppens F, De Beuf K, Dhondt S, Van Daele T, Maleux K, Storme V, Clement L, Gonzalez N, Inzé D (2015) Leaf responses to mild drought stress in natural variants of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 167:800–816
- Costa JM, Marques da Silva J, Pinheiro C, Barón M, Mylona P, Centritto M, Haworth M, Loreto F, Uzilday B, Turkan I (2019) Opportunities and limitations of crop phenotyping in southern European countries. Front Plant Sci 10:1125
- Courtois B, Audebert A, Dardou A, Roques S, Ghneim-Herrera T, Droc G, Frouin J, Rouan L, Gozé E, Kilian A (2013) Genome-wide association mapping of root traits in a japonica rice panel. PLoS One 8:e78037
- Crowell S, Korniliev P, Falcao A, Ismail A, Gregorio G, Mezey J, McCouch S (2016) Genomewide association and high-resolution phenotyping link Oryza sativa panicle traits to numerous trait-specific QTL clusters. Nat Commun 7:1–14
- Davis BD (1949) The isolation of biochemically deficient mutants of bacteria by means of penicillin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 35:1
- De Bei R, Cozzolino D, Sullivan W, Cynkar W, Fuentes S, Dambergs R, Pech J, Tyerman S (2011) Non-destructive measurement of grapevine water potential using near infrared spectroscopy. Aust J Grape Wine Res 17:62–71
- De Diego N, Fürst T, Humplík JF, Ugena L, Podlešáková K, Spíchal L (2017) An automated method for high-throughput screening of Arabidopsis rosette growth in multi-well plates and its validation in stress conditions. Front Plant Sci 8:1702
- De Vylder J, Vandenbussche F, Hu Y, Philips W, Van Der Straeten D (2012) Rosette tracker: an open source image analysis tool for automatic quantification of genotype effects. Plant Physiol 160:1149–1159
- Deery DM, Rebetzke GJ, Jimenez-Berni JA, James RA, Condon AG, Bovill WD, Hutchinson P, Scarrow J, Davy R, Furbank RT (2016) Methodology for high-throughput field phenotyping of canopy temperature using airborne thermography. Front Plant Sci 7:1808–1808
- Dungey HS, Dash JP, Pont D, Clinton PW, Watt MS, Telfer EJ (2018) Phenotyping whole forests will help to track genetic performance. Trends Plant Sci 23:854–864
- Dutta P, Bandopadhyay P, Bera AK (2016) Identification of leaf based physiological markers for drought susceptibility during early seedling development of mungbean. Am J Plant Sci 7:1921
- Fahlgren N, Gehan MA, Baxter I (2015) Lights, camera, action: high-throughput plant phenotyping is ready for a close-up. Curr Opin Plant Biol 24:93–99

Fiorani F, Schurr U (2013) Future scenarios for plant phenotyping. Annu Rev Plant Biol 64:267–291

- Flood PJ, Kruijer W, Schnabel SK, van der Schoor R, Jalink H, Snel JFH, Harbinson J, Aarts MGM (2016) Phenomics for photosynthesis, growth and reflectance in Arabidopsis thaliana reveals circadian and long-term fluctuations in heritability. Plant Methods 12:1–14
- Furbank RT, Tester M (2011) Phenomics-technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. Trends Plant Sci 16:635-644
- Furbank RT, Jimenez-Berni JA, George-Jaeggli B, Potgieter AB, Deery DM (2019) Field crop phenomics: enabling breeding for radiation use efficiency and biomass in cereal crops. New Phytol 223:1714–1727
- Gage JL, White MR, Edwards JW, Kaeppler S, de Leon N (2018) Selection signatures underlying dramatic male inflorescence transformation during modern hybrid maize breeding. Genetics 210:1125–1138
- Granier C, Aguirrezabal L, Chenu K, Cookson SJ, Dauzat M, Hamard P, Thioux JJ, Rolland G, Bouchier-Combaud S, Lebaudy A (2006) PHENOPSIS, an automated platform for reproducible phenotyping of plant responses to soil water deficit in Arabidopsis thaliana permitted the identification of an accession with low sensitivity to soil water deficit. New Phytol 169:623–635
- Guo D, Juan J, Chang L, Zhang J, Huang D (2017) Discrimination of plant root zone water status in greenhouse production based on phenotyping and machine learning techniques. Sci Rep 7:1–12

- Guo Z, Yang W, Chang Y, Ma X, Tu H, Xiong F, Jiang N, Feng H, Huang C, Yang P (2018) Genome-wide association studies of image traits reveal genetic architecture of drought resistance in rice. Mol Plant 11:789–805
- Hatfield JL, Prueger JH (2015) Temperature extremes: effect on plant growth and development. Weather Clim Extremes 10:4–10
- Hickey LT, Hafeez AN, Robinson H, Jackson SA, Leal-Bertioli SCM, Tester M, Gao C, Godwin ID, Hayes BJ, Wulff BBH (2019) Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol 37:744–754
- Houle D, Govindaraju DR, Omholt S (2010) Phenomics: the next challenge. Nat Rev Genet 11:855–866
- Howarth CJ, Gay AP, Draper J, Powell W (2011) Development of high throughput plant phenotyping facilities at Aberystwyth. In: Proceedings of the phenomics workshop, San Diego
- Humplík JF, Lazár D, Fürst T, Husičková A, Hýbl M, Spíchal L (2015) Automated integrative high-throughput phenotyping of plant shoots: a case study of the cold-tolerance of pea (Pisum sativum L.). Plant Methods 11:1–11
- Hairmansis, A, Berger B, Tester M, Roy SJ (2014) Image-based phenotyping for non-destructive screening of different salinity tolerance traits in rice. Rice 7(1):1-10
- Jansen M, Gilmer F, Biskup B, Nagel KA, Rascher U, Fischbach A, Briem S, Dreissen G, Tittmann S, Braun S (2009) Simultaneous phenotyping of leaf growth and chlorophyll fluorescence via GROWSCREEN FLUORO allows detection of stress tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana and other rosette plants. Functional Plant Biology 36(11):902–914
- Jensen T, Apan A, Young F, Zeller L (2007) Detecting the attributes of a wheat crop using digital imagery acquired from a low-altitude platform. Comput Electron Agric 59:66–77
- Kaul S, Koo HL, Jenkins J, Rizzo M, Rooney T, Tallon LJ, Feldblyum T, Nierman W, Benito M-I, Lin X (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. Natu 408(6814):796–815
- Klukas C, Chen D, Pape J-M (2014) Integrated analysis platform: an open-source information system for high-throughput plant phenotyping. Plant Physiol 165:506–518
- Kruse OMO, Prats-Montalbán JM, Indahl UG, Kvaal K, Ferrer A, Futsaether CM (2014) Pixel classification methods for identifying and quantifying leaf surface injury from digital images. Comput Electron Agric 108:155–165
- Langstroff A, Heuermann MC, Stahl A, Junker A (2021) Opportunities and limits of controlledenvironment plant phenotyping for climate response traits. Theor Appl Genet 135(1):1–16
- LeCun Y, Bengio Y, Hinton G (2015) Deep learning. Nature 521:436-444
- Leiboff S, Li X, Hu HC, Todt N, Yang J, Li X, Yu X, Muehlbauer GJ, Timmermans MC, Yu J, Schnable PS, Scanlon MJ (2015) Genetic control of morphometric diversity in the maize shoot apical meristem. Nat Commun 6:8974
- Leport L, Musse M, Cambert M, De Franscesci L, Le Caherec F, Burel A, Mariette F, Bouchereau A (2011) Canola leaf senescence phenotyping and identification of subcellular changes using NMR tool. In: 2nd international plant phenotyping symposium toward plant phenotyping science: challenges and perspectives, Forschungszentrum Jülich, Germany, pp 13
- Li L, Zhang Q, Huang D (2014) A review of imaging techniques for plant phenotyping. Sensors 14:20078–20111
- Li Y, Huang Y, Bergelson J, Nordborg M, Borevitz JO (2010) Association mapping of local climate-sensitive quantitative trait loci in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:21199–21204
- Li Y, Xiao J, Chen L, Huang X, Cheng Z, Han B, Zhang Q, Wu C (2018) Rice functional genomics research: past decade and future. Mol Plant 11:359–380
- Lymperopoulos P, Msanne J, Rabara R (2018) Phytochrome and phytohormones: working in Tandem for plant growth and development. Front Plant Sci 9:1037–1037
- Mahlein AK, Kuska MT, Behmann J, Polder G, Walter A (2018) Hyperspectral sensors and imaging technologies in phytopathology: state of the art. Annu Rev Phytopathol 56:535–558
- Minamikawa MF, Nonaka K, Kaminuma E, Kajiya-Kanegae H, Onogi A, Goto S, Yoshioka T, Imai A, Hamada H, Hayashi T (2017) Genome-wide association study and genomic prediction in citrus: potential of genomics-assisted breeding for fruit quality traits. Sci Rep 7:1–13

- Montes JM, Utz HF, Schipprack W, Kusterer B, Muminovic J, Paul C, Melchinger AE (2006) Near-infrared spectroscopy on combine harvesters to measure maize grain dry matter content and quality parameters. Plant Breed 125:591–595
- Montes JM, Melchinger AE, Reif JC (2007) Novel throughput phenotyping platforms in plant genetic studies. Trends Plant Sci 12:433–436
- Mukherjee S, Mishra A, Trenberth KE (2018) Climate change and drought: a perspective on drought indices. Curr Clim Change Rep 4:145–163
- Mula MG, Patil SB, Aden J, Rathore A, Anil Kumar V, Kumar RV (2016) Screening of pigeonpea genotypes for drought stress at early vegetative phase in Alfisol and Vertisol. Green Farming 7:507–511
- Muraya MM, Chu J, Zhao Y, Junker A, Klukas C, Reif JC, Altmann T (2017) Genetic variation of growth dynamics in maize (Zea mays L.) revealed through automated non-invasive phenotyping. Plant J 89:366–380
- Nabwire S, Suh H-K, Kim MS, Baek I, Cho B-K (2021) Application of artificial intelligence in phenomics. Sensors 21:4363
- Nagel KA, Putz A, Gilmer F, Heinz K, Fischbach A, Pfeifer J, Faget M, Blossfeld S, Ernst M, Dimaki C (2012) GROWSCREEN-Rhizo is a novel phenotyping robot enabling simultaneous measurements of root and shoot growth for plants grown in soil-filled rhizotrons. Funct Plant Biol 39:891–904
- Neumann K, Klukas C, Friedel S, Rischbeck P, Chen D, Entzian A, Stein N, Graner A, Kilian B (2015) Dissecting spatiotemporal biomass accumulation in barley under different water regimes using high-throughput image analysis. Plant Cell Environ 38:1980–1996
- Neumann K, Zhao Y, Chu J, Keilwagen J, Reif JC, Kilian B, Graner A (2017) Genetic architecture and temporal patterns of biomass accumulation in spring barley revealed by image analysis. BMC Plant Biol 17:1–12
- Obidiegwu JE, Bryan GJ, Jones HG, Prashar A (2015) Coping with drought: stress and adaptive responses in potato and perspectives for improvement. Front Plant Sci 6:542
- Oerke E-C, Steiner U, Dehne H-W, Lindenthal M (2006) Thermal imaging of cucumber leaves affected by downy mildew and environmental conditions. J Exp Bot 57:2121–2132
- Parent B, Shahinnia F, Maphosa L, Berger B, Rabie H, Chalmers K, Kovalchuk A, Langridge P, Fleury D (2015) Combining field performance with controlled environment plant imaging to identify the genetic control of growth and transpiration underlying yield response to waterdeficit stress in wheat. J Exp Bot 66:5481–5492
- Pasala R, Pandey BB (2020) Plant phenomics: high-throughput technology for accelerating genomics. J Biosci 45:1–6
- Patanè C, Scordia D, Testa G, Cosentino SL (2016) Physiological screening for drought tolerance in Mediterranean long-storage tomato. Plant Sci 249:25–34
- Pereyra-Irujo GA, Gasco ED, Peirone LS, Aguirrezábal LAN (2012) GlyPh: a low-cost platform for phenotyping plant growth and water use. Funct Plant Biol 39:905–913
- Poorter H, Fiorani F, Pieruschka R, Wojciechowski T, van der Putten WH, Kleyer M, Schurr U, Postma J (2016) Pampered inside, pestered outside? Differences and similarities between plants growing in controlled conditions and in the field. New Phytol 212:838–855
- Pound MP, Atkinson JA, Townsend AJ, Wilson MH, Griffiths M, Jackson AS, Bulat A, Tzimiropoulos G, Wells DM, Murchie EH (2017) Deep machine learning provides state-ofthe-art performance in image-based plant phenotyping. Gigascience 6:gix083
- Pratap A, Gupta S, Nair RM, Gupta SK, Schafleitner R, Basu PS, Singh CM, Prajapati U, Gupta AK, Nayyar H, Mishra AK, Baek K-H (2019) Using plant phenomics to exploit the gains of genomics. Agronomy 9
- Rasheed A, Xia X, Ogbonnaya F, Mahmood T, Zhang Z, Mujeeb-Kazi A, He Z (2014) Genomewide association for grain morphology in synthetic hexaploid wheats using digital imaging analysis. BMC Plant Biol 14:1–21
- Rebolledo MC, Peña AL, Duitama J, Cruz DF, Dingkuhn M, Grenier C, Tohme J (2016) Combining image analysis, genome wide association studies and different field trials to reveal stable genetic regions related to panicle architecture and the number of spikelets per panicle in rice. Front Plant Sci 7:1384

- Reuzeau C, Pen J, Frankard V, de Wolf J, Peerbolte R, Broekaert WF, van Wim C (2010) TraitMill: a discovery engine for identifying yield-enhancement genes in cereals. Plant Gene Trait
- Roscher R, Bohn B, Duarte MF, Garcke J (2020) Explainable machine learning for scientific insights and discoveries. Ieee Access 8:42200–42216
- Rosenzweig C, Elliott J, Deryng D, Ruane AC, Müller C, Arneth A, Boote KJ, Folberth C, Glotter M, Khabarov N (2014) Assessing agricultural risks of climate change in the 21st century in a global gridded crop model intercomparison. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111:3268–3273
- Ruiz-Garcia L, Lunadei L, Barreiro P, Robla I (2009) A review of wireless sensor technologies and applications in agriculture and food industry: state of the art and current trends. Sensors 9:4728–4750
- Sabanci K, Kayabasi A, Toktas A (2017) Computer vision-based method for classification of wheat grains using artificial neural network. J Sci Food Agric 97:2588–2593
- Sadok W, Naudin P, Boussuge B, Muller B, Welcker C, Tardieu F (2007) Leaf growth rate per unit thermal time follows QTL-dependent daily patterns in hundreds of maize lines under naturally fluctuating conditions. Plant Cell Environ 30:135–146
- Shi C, Zhao L, Zhang X, Lv G, Pan Y, Chen F (2019) Gene regulatory network and abundant genetic variation play critical roles in heading stage of polyploidy wheat. BMC Plant Biol 19:1–16
- Shi L, Shi T, Broadley MR, White PJ, Long Y, Meng J, Xu F, Hammond JP (2013) High-throughput root phenotyping screens identify genetic loci associated with root architectural traits in Brassica napus under contrasting phosphate availabilities. Ann Bot 112:381–389
- Singh AK, Ganapathysubramanian B, Sarkar S, Singh A (2018) Deep learning for plant stress phenotyping: trends and future perspectives. Trends Plant Sci 23:883–898
- Sirault X, Fripp J, Paproki A, Kuffner P, Nguyen C, Li R, Daily H, Guo J, Furbank R (2013) PlantScan: a three-dimensional phenotyping platform for capturing the structural dynamic of plant development and growth. In: Proceedings of the 7th international conference on functionalstructural plant models, Saariselk, Finland, pp 45–48
- Sterck L, Rombauts S, Vandepoele K, Rouzé P, Van de Peer Y (2007) How many genes are there in plants (... and why are they there)? Curr Opin Plant Biol 10:199–203
- Taylor JF (2014) Implementation and accuracy of genomic selection. Aquaculture 420:S8-S14
- Tester M, Langridge P (2010) Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science 327:818–822
- Tisné S, Serrand Y, Bach L, Gilbault E, Ben Ameur R, Balasse H, Voisin R, Bouchez D, Durand-Tardif M, Guerche P, Chareyron G, Da Rugna J, Camilleri C, Loudet O (2013) Phenoscope: an automated large-scale phenotyping platform offering high spatial homogeneity. Plant J 74:534–544
- Vadez V, Kholová J, Hummel G, Zhokhavets U, Gupta SK, Hash CT (2015) LeasyScan: a novel concept combining 3D imaging and lysimetry for high-throughput phenotyping of traits controlling plant water budget. J Exp Bot 66:5581–5593
- Van Raan AFJ (2004) Measuring science, Handbook of quantitative science and technology research. Springer, pp 19–50
- Virlet N, Sabermanesh K, Sadeghi-Tehran P, Hawkesford MJ (2016) Field Scanalyzer: an automated robotic field phenotyping platform for detailed crop monitoring. Functional Plant Bio 44(1):143–153.
- Walter T, Shattuck DW, Baldock R, Bastin ME, Carpenter AE, Duce S, Ellenberg J, Fraser A, Hamilton N, Pieper S (2010) Visualization of image data from cells to organisms. Nat Methods 7:S26–S41
- Walter A, Scharr H, Gilmer F, Zierer R, Nagel KA, Ernst M, Wiese A, Virnich O, Christ MM, Uhlig B (2007) Dynamics of seedling growth acclimation towards altered light conditions can be quantified via GROWSCREEN: a setup and procedure designed for rapid optical phenotyping of different plant species. New Phytologist 174(2):447–455
- Wang P, Zhou G, Yu H, Yu S (2011) Fine mapping a major QTL for flag leaf size and yield-related traits in rice. Theor Appl Genet 123:1319–1330
- Wang Q, Xie W, Xing H, Yan J, Meng X, Li X, Fu X, Xu J, Lian X, Yu S (2015) Genetic architecture of natural variation in rice chlorophyll content revealed by a genome-wide association study. Mol Plant 8:946–957

- Wang X, Zhang R, Song W, Han L, Liu X, Sun X, Luo M, Chen K, Zhang Y, Yang H (2019) Dynamic plant height QTL revealed in maize through remote sensing phenotyping using a high-throughput unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV). Sci Rep 9:1–10
- Waring RH, Cleary BD (1967) Plant moisture stress: evaluation by pressure bomb. Science 155:1248–1254
- Weight C, Parnham D, Waites R (2008) TECHNICAL ADVANCE: LeafAnalyser: a computational method for rapid and large-scale analyses of leaf shape variation. Plant J 53:578–586
- Wetterich CB, Kumar R, Sankaran S, Junior JB, Ehsani R, Marcassa LG A comparative study on application of computer vision and fluorescence imaging spectroscopy for detection of citrus huanglongbing disease in USA and Brazil. Opt Soc Am: JW3A–JW26A
- Wu D, Guo Z, Ye J, Feng H, Liu J, Chen G, Zheng J, Yan D, Yang X, Xiong X, Liu Q, Niu Z, Gay AP, Doonan JH, Xiong L, Yang W (2019) Combining high-throughput micro-CT-RGB phenotyping and genome-wide association study to dissect the genetic architecture of tiller growth in rice. J Exp Bot 70:545–561
- Wu X et al (2021) Using high-throughput multiple optical phenotyping to decipher the genetic architecture of maize drought tolerance. Genome Biol 22:185
- Wu H, Jaeger M, Wang M, Li B, Zhang BG (2011) Three-dimensional distribution of vessels, passage cells and lateral roots along the root axis of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Ann of Bot 107(5):843–853
- Xiao Y, Liu H, Wu L, Warburton M, Yan J (2017) Genome-wide association studies in maize: praise and stargaze. Mol Plant 10:359–374
- Xue B, Sartori P, Leibler S (2019) Environment-to-phenotype mapping and adaptation strategies in varying environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116:13847–13855
- Yang W, Guo Z, Huang C, Duan L, Chen G, Jiang N, Fang W, Feng H, Xie W, Lian X (2014) Combining high-throughput phenotyping and genome-wide association studies to reveal natural genetic variation in rice. Nat Commun 5:1–9
- Yang W, Guo Z, Huang C, Wang K, Jiang N, Feng H, Chen G, Liu Q, Xiong L (2015) Genomewide association study of rice (Oryza sativa L.) leaf traits with a high-throughput leaf scorer. J Exp Bot 66:5605–5615
- Yang W, Feng H, Zhang X, Zhang J, Doonan JH, Batchelor WD, Xiong L, Yan J (2020) Crop phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: past decades, current challenges, and future perspectives. Mol Plant 13:187–214
- Yang Y, Chai R, He Y (2012) Early detection of rice blast (Pyricularia) at seedling stage in Nipponbare rice variety using near-infrared hyper-spectral image. Afr J Biotechnol 11:6809–6817
- Yao W, Li G, Yu Y, Ouyang Y (2018) funRiceGenes dataset for comprehensive understanding and application of rice functional genes. Gigascience 7:1–9
- Zakaluk R, Ranjan R (2008) Predicting the leaf water potential of potato plants using RGB reflectance. Can Biosyst Eng 50
- Zarco-Tejada PJ, Berni JAJ, Suárez L, Sepulcre-Cantó G, Morales F, Miller JR (2009) Imaging chlorophyll fluorescence with an airborne narrow-band multispectral camera for vegetation stress detection. Remote Sens Environ 113:1262–1275
- Zhang C, Pumphrey M, Zhou J, Gao H, Zhang Q, Sankaran S (2017) Development of automated highthroughput phenotyping system for controlled environment studies, Paper No. 1700581, 2017 American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers (ASABE) Annual International Meeting (AIM), Spokane, WA
- Zhang Q, Li J, Xue Y, Han B, Deng XW (2008) Rice 2020: a call for an international coordinated effort in rice functional genomics. Mol Plant 1:715–719
- Zhao C, Liu B, Piao S, Wang X, Lobell DB, Huang Y, Huang M, Yao Y, Bassu S, Ciais P (2017) Temperature increase reduces global yields of major crops in four independent estimates. Proc Natl Acad Sci 114:9326–9331
- Zhao C, Zhang Y, Du J, Guo X, Wen W, Gu S, Wang J, Fan J (2019) Crop phenomics: current status and perspectives. Front Plant Sci:10

Chapter 11 Understanding Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants by Proteomic Approach



Muhammad Zakariya, Fazal Akbar, Arshad Iqbal, Syed Shujait Ali, Zafar Ali, Muhammad Suleman, Wajid Khan, Shahid Ali, Muzafar Shah, Muhammad Israr, and Akhtar Rasool

Contents

11.1	Introduction.		
11.2	Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants		
	11.2.1	Drought Tolerance in Plants	259
	11.2.2	High-Temperature Tolerance in Plants.	262
	11.2.3	Low-Temperature Tolerance in Plants	265
	11.2.4	Heavy Metal Tolerance in Plants	268
	11.2.5	Salinity Stress Tolerance in Plants.	270
11.3	Conclusions.		271
Refer	ences		271

11.1 Introduction

Plants inhabit constantly fluctuating environments that can be stress-inducing and challenging for the growth and development of plants. These ecological nuisances include biotic stresses such as pathogenic invasion and herbivore attacks, and abiotic stresses such as extreme temperature (high and low), drought, salinity, depletion of nutrients, and accumulation of extra salts and toxic metals (Fahad et al. 2013; Hesham and Fahad 2020). Water deficiency, excess salt, and high temperature are the main abiotic stresses and pose a universal threat to plant population. These

M. Shah \cdot A. Rasool Centre for Animal Sciences and Fisheries, University of Swat, Swat, KP, Pakistan

M. Zakariya · F. Akbar · A. Iqbal · S. S. Ali · Z. Ali · M. Suleman · W. Khan · S. Ali Center for Biotechnology and Microbiology, University of Swat, Swat, KP, Pakistan

M. Israr Department of Forensic Sciences, University of Swat, Swat, KP, Pakistan

C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_11

environmental stresses have a catastrophic effect on the geographic location of plants and restrict plant yield (food crops) and nutritional security of crop plants (Fedoroff et al. 2010; Mantri et al. 2012). The way a plant disposes itself to these stresses and develops adaptation to the severity of these stress signals is of prime significance. The approach to establish stress tolerance in plants is the current main focus of agricultural researches (Zhu 2016; Fahad et al. 2021a, b, c, d, e). A number of methods have been exploited previously to induce abiotic stress tolerance in crops. Among them, traditional plant-breeding methods have negligible success rate due to the involvement of multiple genes in stress tolerance. As discussed, stress tolerance is a multigene phenomenon, and it is quite exhausting to understand the mechanisms for advanced breeding programs. Recently, many molecular approaches have been considered to uncover the mechanism with which plants sense stress signals and respond to them. The biological advancement has made it possible to fully understand abiotic stress tolerance in plants using throughput sequencing and functional genomics (Mantri et al. 2012). The exploitation of potential genes that can safeguard and maintain the functions of cells to develop plants with abiotic stress tolerance is the ultimate point of future research in agronomy and agricultural science (Vallivodan and Nguyen 2006). In the following sections, we will evaluate the abiotic stresses, plant responses, and approaches in detail to understand the overall mechanism with specific interest in proteomic approaches to understand the role of protein in abiotic stress tolerance in the plant kingdom.

11.2 Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants

Environmental stresses pose a threatening pressure to the survival of plants and have been associated with the influence on the physiology, morphology, biochemistry, and molecular biology of plants (Fahad et al. 2014a, b, 2020). The main abiotic stresses posing a serious threat to plant population include extreme temperatures, drought, salinity, depletion of nutrients, and accumulation of extra salts and toxic metals (Zhu 2016). Abiotic stress is completely different from biotic stresses as it is facilitated by nonliving factors, whereas abiotic stresses are established by the living components of the ecosystem, such as virus, bacteria, fungi, insects, and weeds (Atif et al. 2021; Saleem et al. 2020a, b, c). Abiotic stresses in the form of water deficit, waterlogging, harsh temperatures (extreme hot and cold, frost), saline condition, and mineral toxicity adversely influence the rates of growth and development, productivity, crop quality, and other kinetics (Mahmood Ul et al. 2021; Mohammad I. Al-Wabel et al. 2020a, b)). In the future, it is anticipated that limited water availability will further increase abiotic stresses. Among these stresses, cold is one of the proven stresses that could affect crop productivity via interrupting crop quality and postharvest maintenance. To survive the severity of coldness, plants have developed tolerance against freezing/chilling using an effective phenomenon known as cold acclimation. Salt is on the same page when it comes to threatening global agriculture fraternity by depreciating crop production in salt-abundant regions. Two fundamental effects of salt on crops are mediated by osmotic stress and ion toxicity. Under salt stress, the osmotic pressure beneath soil surpasses the osmotic pressure in plant cells due to salt abundance, thereby limiting plant's ability to acquire water and important minerals. Due to continuous fluctuation in climate, there is a significant increase in global temperature and atmospheric CO_2 . The occurrence of rainfall is not consistent globally due to variable climate, which is leading toward drought conditions. Plants restrict their shoot growth and metabolic activities as a result of experiencing water deficit. The global deterioration is also heating up the environment that affects agricultural yields along the growth of crops. The rate of seed germination, photosynthesis, and productivity is worsening when crop plants are confronted with heat stress. Other stresses that are being added to the environment are toxins (toxic metals) resulting from the activities of chemical fertilizers, industries, and use of waste water for irrigation purposes (Gull et al. 2019).

11.2.1 Drought Tolerance in Plants

Drought-induced stress is one of the most common and lethal stresses all over the world. Drought has resulted in loss of large amounts of crop productivity (Ashraf 2010). The application of genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics has identified the stimulation and regulation of many transcripts and proteins associated with stress tolerance, which are included in two separate groups. One group is lined with cascade signaling and transcriptional regulation, while the other group consists of members involved in the protection of membranes. These members provide their services as osmoprotectants, antioxidants, and scavengers of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The subjection of plant to water-deficient conditions during development can trigger certain physiological and development-related processes. The changes in the physiology and biochemistry upon exposure to drought stress include loss of turgidity and variation in fluidity of membranes, along with composition, fluctuation in solute concentration, ad interactions between proteins-proteins and protein-lipids. Decline in photosynthesis, production of organic acids, and changes in sugar metabolism are some of the physiological and biochemical ways of plants to respond. The assessment of gene expression using cDNA technology has nourished our knowledge about the gene hub that is functional in response to abiotic stresses (Valliyodan and Nguyen 2006). Multiple sequences have been identified in Arabidopsis, mainly grouped into two classes: responsive to dehydration (rd) and early response to dehydration (erd) genes (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 1996). At least four autonomous regulatory systems are involved in gene expression in response to water-limiting stress. Two of them are abscisic acid dependent (ABA), while the remaining two are abscisic acid independent (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2000). A dehydration-responsive element/C repeat (DRE/CRT), a cisacting element, is invested in abscisic-independent regulatory system. This responsive element also coordinates in cold- and high-salt-induced expression system. Often overexpressing DRE/CRT-binding protein DREB1/CBF in the

genetically modified plant *Arabidopsis*, more than 40 stress-sensitive genes were identified. The level of expression of these genes led to the induction of tolerance in *Arabidopsis* against cold, salt, and water scarcity (Seki et al. 2001; Fowler and Thomashow 2002; Maruyama et al. 2004).

There are small-sized molecules that show no toxicity to cells at molar concentration and provide stability to proteins and cell membrane under stress conditions. These neutral molecules are called osmoprotectants and coordinate the cellular functions to withstand under severe effects of the stress (Yancey 1994). Several main crops do not possess the ability to produce these molecules in response to abiotic stress. Hence, it has been postulated that introducing the pathways essential for the formation of osmoprotectants can be a good effort to enhance stress-bearing ability in plants (Rathinasabapathi 2000). Another product known as mannitol, which is produced during photosynthesis in algae and higher groups of plants, accelerates tolerance in water-limiting conditions with the help of osmotic regulation. By manipulation of mannitol dehydrogenase (mtlD) gene into wheat, a significant amount of tolerance has been generated under water stress condition (Valliyodan and Nguyen 2006). The shielding of enzymes and membranes from ROS is mediated by D-ononitol and myo-inositol in cytoplasm of cell. In genetically modified tobacco plants, the overexpression of *inositol methyl transferase* gene (IMT1) isolated from rice plant has resulted in the enhanced tolerance for drought and salt by the production of methylated form of inositol known as D-ononitol (Sheveleva et al. 1997).

Abiotic stresses interrupt the physiological and biochemical pathways, leading to a sharp decline in plant productivity (Fahad et al. 2016a, b, c, d, 2019a, b). The response system of plants varies depending on various genotypes (Wang et al. 2018). The genomic sequences of plants are triggered by transcription factors in conjugation with other transcription-binding sites (Shinwari et al. 2020). These transcription factors bind to the cis-acting elements in upstream of all gene promoters (Ciarmiello et al. 2011). Furthermore, the transcription factors enhance or restrict the functionality of DNA polymerase for gene expression (Riechmann et al. 2000). The transcription factors stimulate genes associated with stress and elevate drought tolerance response. A group of basic amino acids participate to provide resistance in plants to abiotic stresses (Annunziato 2008). In model plant, for example, Arabidopsis, there has been the identification of 1533 transcription factors grouped into about 34 families (Riechmann et al. 2000). In recent years, the tolerance response of Betula platyphylla (birch) has been evaluated. In this study, 2917 genes linked to stress tolerance were identified using RNA-sequencing approach. Among them, some drought-responsive transcription factor families, ethylene responsive factor, and myeloblastosis oncogene were reported in maximum amount. Moreover, BpERF2 and BpMYB102 transcriptional factors were associated to tolerance in response to water-deficit stress. These two transcriptional factors further triggered a cascade of other stress-related genes and also boosted drought tolerance in the plant (Wen et al. 2019). Sakuma et al. (2002) explained some types of DREB transcription factors in model plant. They predicted that DREB1A and DREB2A attach to a certain six-nucleotide sequence of DRE and enhance drought-associated



Fig. 11.1 The functions of drought stress-inducible genes in stress tolerance and response. Two types of proteins are produced in response to drought stress. The first group includes function proteins that probably function in stress tolerance, and the second group includes regulatory proteins that function in signal transduction and gene expression of other abiotic stress-related genes. (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2007)

tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. The two main groups of proteins, along with other factors that responded to drought, can be seen in Fig. 11.1.

Studies have proposed in the past that the amount of calcium in cytoplasm elevated in response to certain triggers such as cold, drought, and salt. This calcium influx results in the signal transduction, which is probably linked to a cascade of protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation. It has been reported that most of the calcium-triggered protein phosphorylation is primarily carried out by members of calcium-dependent kinases (CDPKs) in plants. The gene expression of many CDPK members is also involved in mediating stress signals across some plant species. It is also worth mentioning that a number of transport proteins such as aquaporins and ion channels, which are active during stress regulation, are controlled by CDOKs. The overexpression of *OsCDPK7*, a gene encoding CDPK in rice, increased the stimulation of some stress-responsive genes in reaction to drought/salinity (Saijo et al. 2000).

Aquaporins are trans-membrane proteins mainly responsible for the homeostatic regulation of water in cells. Many researchers have focused on the aquaporins as potential candidates for the integration of drought-tolerance ability into breeding programs (Zargar et al. 2017). The advancement in sequencing technology has made the transcriptome profiling less expensive but effective. The information from the transcriptomes and genomes of hundreds of plants will be supportive to apprehend the phylogenetic distribution and expression of aquaporins in a wide range of species. Some studies proposed that an exposure to dehydration can increase the transcript level of aquaporins, leading to higher water permeability in membrane, mediating water transport, while others assumed that in response to water deficit plants reduce their membrane water permeability to escape the loss of water by down-expression of some aquaporins. The aquaporins located in root tissues also help to avoid stress condition related to water deficiency. The aquaporins in plants' roots are highly regulated and are associated with water-limiting conditions and morphological characterization of the plant. The overexpression of aquaporins is not always a good mechanism in plants. When tobacco plant overexpresses AtPIP1;2, the plant gets wilted in drought stress compared to control plants. Moreover, the prominent aquaporin e HvPIP2;1 when overexpressed in rice resulted in a faster rate of leaf transpiration and decrease in efficiency of water usage (Zargar et al. 2017).

11.2.2 High-Temperature Tolerance in Plants

Global warming has devastating effects on plants due to the lethal effects of higher temperature on the growth and development of plants. The extremity in climatic conditions has resulted in the less productivity and higher chances of famine. According to some reports, India is the main producer of wheat by contributing to 15% of total wheat production, but it is predicted that climatic variation will transpose this production rate into temperature-stressed and negligible seasonal duration. A rise in temperature by 3–4°C could lead to reduction of productivity by 15–35% in Asia and Africa and by 25–35% in the Middle East(Ortiz et al. 2008). In tropical and subtropical regions, the temperature during the growing season may surpass the maximum value of the highest temperature recorded till date (Battisti and Naylor 2009; Varshney et al. 2011). Latin America is supposed to experience blows in temperatures and declines in precipitation all over the continent, particularly in Central America and the Caribbean. In European countries, Southern and Central regions will face increase in temperature, with Spain, Portugal, and Italy suffering the most. Interestingly, the fluctuating climate will significantly enlarge the agricultural

production in northern countries, where agriculture is limited due to low temperature (Lotze-Campen and Schellnhuber 2009).

Among all abiotic stresses, the heat stress has an autonomous mechanism of action on the physiology and metabolic pathways of plant cells. The heat-related stress is accompanied by drought and salt stress, but it is obligatory to uncover the independent route of action and biological effects of extreme temperature so that the combined effect of multiple stresses could be apprehended. The vulnerability of plant toward high temperature is dependent on the stage of development and hot conditions that influence the plant in both vegetative and reproductive stages. The affects are also linked to species and genotypes along with interspecific and intraspecific alterations (Barnabás et al. 2008; Sakata and Higashitani 2008). Multiple physiological scratches have been reported in plants upon experiencing rise in temperatures, such as slashing of leaves/stems, abscission and senescence in leaves, and retarded growth in root and shoot and distorted fruits, which ultimately resulted in restricted plant yield (Vollenweider and Günthardt-Goerg 2005). Furthermore, heat stress decreases plant development through changing net shoot assimilation rates and total dry weight of the plant (Wahid et al. 2007).

Plants experiencing higher degree of heat, at least 5°C above their normal growth temperature, demonstrate a unique set of properties of cellular and metabolic responses in order to neutralize the lethal conditions of higher temperatures (Guy 1999). These alterations include modifications in cellular organizations (organelles and cytoskeleton) and membrane activities (Weis and Berry 1988), reinforced by decline in the production of normal protein and incline in the expression of heat shock proteins (Bray 2000). Additionally, the production of phytohormones such as abscisic acid, antioxidant compounds, and certain molecules with protective nature was also reported (Maestri et al. 2002).

One of the proteins that were produced in response to high temperature is heat shock protein (HSP). Recently, the rise in temperature as a result of global warming is the subject of great concern as it has deteriorated the agricultural production in all regions of the world, putting billions of dollars at potential risks (Mittler et al. 2012). Heat stress causes substantial damage to the plants (crops) by affecting protein production, inhibiting main enzymes, and destroying membrane structures. Heat shock instigates oxidative stress, which suppresses plant development and limits yield and nutritional quality. Therefore, plants have acquired molecular chaperons to fold and unfold proteins, and stabilize the assembly of multiprotein complexes and regulation of cell cycle and cellular signaling; the transportation of essential proteins to cellular compartments is also the route of response by plants to ensure protection against the imposing stress or programmed cell death (apoptosis) (Lindquist and Craig 1988).

HSPs, heat shock transcription factor, and molecular chaperons are mandatory for the survival of plants and maintenance of the protein stability under heat shock. High intensity of heat develops heat shock response, which safeguards the plant from cellular injuries and ensures the rehabilitation of cellular and physiological functionalities. These effects also establish a significant level of thermostability in plants. Higher heat exposure also incites the plants to produce ROS and oxidative pressure (Khan and Shahwar 2020). The plants adjust themselves to afford

high-temperature stress by adopting certain modifications in plants such as the production of various metabolites like antioxidants, osmoprotectants, and heat shock proteins by changing their metabolic pathways. Further, heat shock also modifies the regulation of genes encoding factors that include osmoprotectants (glycine betaine, proline, trehalose, etc.), phytohormones (gibberellic acids, abscisic acid, brassinosteroids, jasmonic acids, salicylic acid, etc.), detoxifying enzymes, signaling molecules (e.g., nitric oxide), transporters, regulatory proteins, free radical scavengers, polyamines (spermidine, putrescine, and spermine), and protectants in trace elements (silicon, selenium, etc.). These factors mediate signal transduction and transcriptional regulations that have been reported to counteract stress associated with high temperature.

HSPs are stress-associated protein family in cells of almost all organisms synthesized in response to stressful conditions. HSPs are common to both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Due to the presence of higher conservative sequences, it serves prominent roles in cells. It has been demonstrated that HSPs work in folding, assembling, translocating, and degrading of proteins. There are about five main families of HSPs in plants and animals on the basis of molecular sizes and weights. Some HSPs are localized into cytoplasm and can be found in organelles such as mitochondria, chloroplast, endoplasmic reticulum, and nucleus (Khan and Shahwar 2020). The classification of HSPs on the basis of their cellular location and functions is given in Table 11.1 (Kregel 2002).

HSP family/ classification	Cellular location/site	Function/role
HSP 20 (sHSPs)	Cytosol. Endoplasmic reticulum, Mitochondria, Chloroplast	Preventing aggregation, co-chaperons
HSP 27 (sHSPs)	Cytosol, nucleus	Microfilament, antipoptotic, stabilization
HSP 60	Mitochondria	Prevents aggregation of denatured protein, refold proteins, proapoptotic
HSP 70 family	Nucleus, cytosol	Antipoptotic
HSP 72 (HSP 70)	Nucleus, cytosol	Molecular chaperons
HSP 72 (Hsc 70)	Mitochondria	Molecular chaperons
HSP 75 (Mhsp 70)	Endoplasmic reticulum (ER)	Molecular chaperons, cytoprotection
HSP 78 (GRP 78)	Cytosol, nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum (ER)	Translocation of protein, regulation of steroid hormone receptors
HSP 100/104	Cytosol	Folding of protein

Table 11.1 Classification of heat shock proteins on the basis of their cellular location and function

11.2.3 Low-Temperature Tolerance in Plants

Low temperature, known as temperature from subzero to extremely chilling conditions, is part of natural cycle and inflicts an environmental lockdown on plant's abilities, particularly in cold climates (Janmohammadi et al. 2015). Low temperatures could induce stress in plants via desiccation of cells and tissues when water inside the cells gets frozen (Beck et al. 2004). Low-temperature stress tolerance in plants is a multigenic phenomenon consisting of a network of inducible genes. These genes are related to the synthesis of three types of proteins: structural proteins, regulatory proteins, and osmoprotectants (Breton et al. 2003). While studying low-temperature shock, much of the attention has been given to identify low-temperature-induced proteins and the transcriptional regulation of genes that are responsible for the synthesis of these proteins. Plant response to low-temperature stress is a multifactorial process that is connected to many factors like the stage of development, duration of exposure, intensity of the corresponding stress, thermal rates, and the sites of ice formation where it is produced intracellularly or extracellularly. Low-temperature-tolerant species have adopted different mechanisms to cope with the low-temperature stress. Plants growing over winter can elevate their capacity to afford low temperature, but not chilling temperature, a phenomenon known as cold acclimation (Thomashow 1999). However, it is inappropriate to suggest that even hardy plants possess low temperature/freeing tolerance in all developmental stages. Certain hardy species postpone the transformation of plant from vegetative to reproductive phase until they experience low but nonchilling temperatures, a mechanism known as vernalization that induces the plants to over winter as seedlings (Amasino 2004).

Acclimatization to low-temperature stress is triggered through severe changes in expression of genes that further alter the composition of transcripts, proteins, and metabolites (Thomashow 1999; Chinnusamy et al. 2007). Moreover, some low-temperature-induced protein sequences pass through various types of posttranslational modifications such phosphorylation, as ubiquitination, N-glycosylation, SUMOylation, and lipid alterations. These modifications determine the specific aspects of proteins' functionality, such as subcellular localization, stability, and the affinity to associate with other proteins. Hence, it is mandatory to investigate the proteome since, unlike transcript, the proteins are the direct indicators in plant stress response. In the recent decade, efforts have been made to understand the low-stress signaling and regulatory processes underlying cold acclimatization by using proteomics strategies (Weckwerth et al. 2008). In the following sections, the proteome of different crops plants is discussed.

11.2.3.1 Analysis of Wheat Proteome Under Low Temperature

In cold regions, the winter wheat is the most crucial part of agriculture and frostinduced injury during winter and early spring can be disastrous for crops. Plant breeders have sensed the need to introduce wheat cultivars with significant resistance toward winter, but they have negligible success in the development of cultivars that propose enhanced tolerance to freezing conditions. In winter crops, the complete expression of low-temperature-tolerant DNA sequences happens during the vegetative phase. It looks like that developmental genes tend to control genes influencing the transcription and translation of low-temperature-induced genes, a phenomenon recognized as developmental regulation of low-temperature-responsive genes. During cold climate, the wheat vernalization serves a primary role in the acquisition of low-temperature tolerance via inhibition of early transition into reproductive phase prior to the ending of chilling stress (von Zitzewitz et al. 2005).

Low-temperature stress predominantly influences protein synthesis. The participation of RNA-binding proteins in cold acclimation has been apprehended in plants with the help of proteomics (Kosová et al. 2011). A class of RNA-binding proteins known as glycine-rich RNA-binding proteins (abundant in glycine at C-terminal) has been explored in the mediation of low-temperature stress response and can be used as an effective marker for cold tolerance. The synthesis of free and proteinogenic amino acids can be influenced as a result of cold exposure. An enhanced level of several proteins responsible for the biosynthesis of methionine has been reported following cold shocks. Furthermore, the cysteine synthase has been announced as cold stress-responsive protein. In addition to the role of CS in the biosynthesis of cysteine, the protein is also a pacemaker biocatalyst that catalyzes the formation of glutathione. The overgeneration of CS may result in the elevated synthesis of glutathione, which is considered to be associated with tolerance to low temperature (Janmohammadi et al. 2015). Proteome investigation of winter wheat crow after prolonged exposure to cold climate displays a decline in some enzymes catalyzing the biosynthesis of UDP-glucose. Hence, it was presupposed that this may result in the decreased synthesis of cellulose in plants and ultimately could lead to retardation in growth. However, reports on the biochemistry/physiology have shown that low-temperature shocks at the first hour elevated the catalytic activities of b-fucosidase and b-glucosidase, which could in turn intensify hemicellulose turnover with the synthesis of biologically active oligosaccharides that could induce cold tolerance (Zabotin et al. 2009).

11.2.3.2 Analysis of Barley Proteome Under Low Temperature

Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) is one of the widely grown cereal crops in the world, supplementing as a staple food in 1/3 of global population (FAO and Foods 2008). Barley is the most tolerant *Triticeae* species to water stress and salinity. In winter, barley resistance to cold stress is essential for successful overwintering. However, unlike wheat, the proteome reaction to low-temperature stress in barley is less

understood. The cold acclimatization process in barley has been investigated based on genomic and transcriptomic. Janská et al. (2011) investigated the translational reaction of barley to periodic low temperature. Their results explored that synthesis of nucleation substances in leaves and crow was downregulated during cold acclimation, while the genes encoding major antifreeze components such as chitinases, glucanases, thaumatin-like proteins, and ice recrystallization inhibition proteins were upregulated. These proteins belong to the class of proteins in plants that enable plants to withstand subzero conditions.

Interestingly, the proteome analysis of barley plants resistant to frost-uncovered (which suffered prolonged cold acclimatization) level of protein variability was higher in leaves as compared to crown and various chloroplast-associated proteins affected, pointing to the tendency to prioritize the protection of photosynthetic machinery (Hlaváčková et al. 2013). This result concluded the presence of unique approaches toward responding to shivering stress in crowns and leaves. Out of all the proteins that exhibited variability at high level, the authors picked out the 33-kDa oxygen-evolving protein of photosystem II and the AAA ATPase in leaves, or the HSP70 and "enhanced disease susceptibility 1" protein in crowns. These findings further stated that these specific proteins might be involved in frost-resistant winter barley, serving as the most distinguished low-temperature-responsive proteins. According to these outcomes, the process of water oxidation during food and energy production in leaves and defense responses in roots is the most forthcoming response to chilling shock. It is the indication of the presence of a complicated connection between chloroplast and cold acclimatization. Those genes that are responsible for chloroplast-localized proteins were also overexpressed, giving green signals about the involvement of plastid-attached proteins in cold tolerance (Svensson et al. 2006). These exemplifications clearly supported the possible assumptions about the response of plants toward decline in temperature of the surrounding and how the plants adapt to extreme climates by regulating its important activities and recruitment of potentially stress-tolerant proteins.

11.2.3.3 Analysis of Rice Proteome Under Low Temperature

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is one of the most consumed cereals and source of sustainable food production in the world. The molecular mechanism underlying cold resistance has been at the center of attention for many decades due to the vulnerability of rice to cold conditions. The cold-induced proteome investigation of the plasma membrane in roots of rice shows that most of the cold-associated proteins were involved in energy generation, cellular signaling, protein formation, cell growth/ division, and defense networks (Hashimoto et al. 2009). Furthermore, it has been claimed that variation in membrane permeability in response to chilling temperature resulted in elevated level of cytosolic cations with calcium-dependent membrane-binding proteins such as annexins, which mediate the function of signal processing to low-temperature stress.

Reports of rice seedlings when exposed to short-period low-temperature stress explored that there is a network of low-temperature-responsive proteins (regulatory and functional proteins) serving a potential role in chilling stress tolerance (Yan et al. 2006). Moreover, it has been revealed that a number of proteins become denature in the midst of cold stress. For instance, the injury to enzymes such as glycine dehydrogenase and RuBisCO activase can result in interrupted photorespiration. This mechanism is involved in photosynthetic metabolism and is associated with the recovery of RuBP (ribulose 1,5 bisphosphate) in the Benson-Calvin cycle (Janmohammadi et al. 2015). Cold-responsive proteins are not only restricted to protein metabolism, but are also functional in the biosynthesis of components in the cell wall, free radical-scavenging process, energy generation, and provision of metabolite needed for cold resistance in plants (Cui et al. 2005). In the same study, exposure to cold stress for a short time led to a substantial rise in the level of UDPglucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) and sucrose synthase 1; enzymes contribute to Krebs cycle, giving rise to the idea that freeing stress influences the metabolic pathways of carbohydrates. In the meantime, the production of ROS hunting enzymes has been reported as one of the responsive elements during chilling stress. However, the transcriptome of the low-temperature-resistant rice unveiled that, among other genes with antioxidant potential, glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and glutathione S-transferase (GST) were overexpressed in response to low-temperature shock (Zhao et al. 2015). This result may indicate that an integrated regulation of ROS-related enzymes at transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels is most probably active in advancing cold stress tolerance in plants.

An approach to evaluate less-abundant proteins has been used by fractionating these polypeptides with polyethylene glycol (PEG). Using this method, an elevated level of new proteins that included cysteine proteinase, thioredoxin peroxidase, a RING zinc finger protein-like, drought-inducible late embryogenesis abundant protein, and fibrillin-like, was identified in leaves of rice against low-temperature stress (Lee et al. 2007). Neilson et al. (2011) also identified extra-low-abundant proteins such as histones (H2A.3, H2B.9, H3.2, and H4) and vitamin B synthetic proteins mediating response to chilling stress.

Studies in the recent decade have strongly concentrated on the regulatory role of post-transcriptional and post-translational modification of proteins in the low-temperature responses, and hence, there is great fondness in investigating such aspects with proteomic approaches (Miura and Furumoto 2013). In order to investigate the individual mechanism mediating chilling stress, it is believed to be imperative that foundations of proteomic investigation should include comparative analysis of different cultivars of rice.

11.2.4 Heavy Metal Tolerance in Plants

Anthropogenic actions have caused great distress to life on earth. A number of human activities have disrupted the biodiversity around the world with their unplanned and reckless activities. In the same sense, these advanced creatures have contaminated the region with heavy metals, disturbing both the living environment and conditions for plants, animals, and humans. The emergence of such problems is of great concern to the public and governing bodies, and a demand to restore the natural balance is required. The toxicity of contaminants might cause the killing of plants installed for phytoremediation by disrupting different metabolic processes. However, plants survive the severity of metal-induced stress by developing a strategy of tolerance to sustain and survive in contaminated soil. Various studies have focused on the molecular mechanisms involved in the induction of heavy metal tolerance in plants with the help of genomics and proteomics (Macnair et al. 2020).

Plants counteract the environmental contaminants by activating certain genes that are responsible for the synthesis of protein involved in heavy metal stress tolerance. The ions of heavy metals affect the homeostatic regulation of cellular proteins by intervening the folding and trigger aggregation of non-native proteins, affecting the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and resulting in disturbed cellular activities. However, plants have adopted various survival extinct and enhanced tolerance systems that are used to neutralize heavy metals (Hasan et al. 2017). In cells, the heavy metal ions induce oxidative stress by producing ROS species, which advances DNA deterioration and interrupts the DNA repair strategy of the cell. Moreover, they also handicap membrane integrity, nutrient maintenance, and protein activity (Tamás et al. 2014). When plants are exposed to high concentrations of heavy metals, the cells adopt a complex mechanism of storage and detoxification. This includes the chelation of ions (from heavy metals) with phytochelatins and metallothioneins in the cytoplasm trafficking and sequestration into the vacuole by vacuolar transporters (Zhao and Chengcai 2011).

To escape the destructive effects of heavy metals, plants produce minor cysteinerich oligomers known as phytochelatins at the start of metal-induced stress. It has been noted that the most peculiar factor in metal-inflicted stress in plants in the synthesis of phytochelatins. Moreover, it is also an established fact that the biosynthesis of the phytochelatins is modulated at post-translational event by metal ions in a variety of plant species. However, the upregulation of phytochelatin synthase gene does not ensure increase in metal stress tolerance in plants (Hasan et al. 2017).

Another important group of proteins associated with metal stress forbearance in plants is intracellular cysteine-rich major metal-binding proteins known as metallothioneins that are recruited by the cells for immobilization, sequestration, and detoxification of metal ions (Capdevila and Atrian 2011). The presence of metallothioneins has been reported in plants since the last few decades; however, the exact physiological roles of these proteins have not yet been fully apprehended (Liu et al. 2015). The anticipated functions of these metallothionein proteins include (a) the homeostatic regulation of essential transition metals, (b) sequestering of lethal heavy metal, and (c) the shielding of cells against oxidative pressure by metal stress (Hossain et al. 2012).

The growth of plants in soil contaminated with heavy metals drives the plants to adjust their physiology by developing metal stress tolerance. Plants overcome these heavy metal stresses through various ways such as synthesis of metal-attaching compounds, metal accumulation in vacuoles, glands-modulated excretions, changes in membrane conformity, and, most importantly, the formation of stress-responsive proteins, including the abovementioned proteins and HSPs (Neumann et al. 1994; Hasan et al. 2017).

11.2.5 Salinity Stress Tolerance in Plants

Each plant has a unique ability of salt tolerance ranging from glycophytes (saltsensitive species) such as Arabidopsis to halophytes (salt-tolerant species) such as Atriplex species (saltbush). Although cereal crops have been claimed as glycophytes, different crops have a separate level of salt tolerance and coping mechanism. For instance, rice shows more glycophtytic characters compared to wheat and barley (Munns and Tester 2008). There can also be considerable genetic variation for salt tolerance within closer species, and this fact can be used to develop salttolerant crop breeds (Roy et al. 2011). The collective approaches of functional genomics such as genomics, proteomics, transcriptomics, metabolomics, and ionomics have been exploited to study and analyze abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Investigations of proteins response in plants to saline stress have been carried out in many important species, including cereals like maize (Zea mays), rice (Oryza sativa), barley (Hordeum vulgare), and wheat (Triticum durum and Triticum aestivum) (Zhang et al. 2012). Proteomic studies of single-cell proteins have been successfully used in mammalian systems where cells can be cultured to enhance the starting materials (Schirle et al. 2003; Diks and Peppelenbosch 2004). However, there are limited examples of single-cell proteins in plants, particularly in cereals, due to the inconvenience in obtaining sufficient materials. Such proteomic evaluation has been demonstrated in guard cell of Arabidopsis, trichomes, soybean (Glycine max), and tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum) trichomes. Proteomic studies of plant tissues in response to salt stress have highlighted rice anthers, rice plasma membranes, and wheat root seedlings (Shelden and Roessner 2013). Physcomitrella patens plant shows prominence due to its significant role in the study of plant systematics and evolutionary biology. The high-salt-resilient property makes this plant a unique model to evaluate molecular processes involved in salinity stress response. Proteomic analysis of P. patens upon exposure to high-salinity conditions showed that 16 protein spots were downregulated while 49 spots out 65 proteins spots were upregulated. These proteins were related to a diverse set of functions such as energy and metabolic activities, protein biosynthesis, protein degradation, defense cellular behaviors, mitotic division, and signal transduction and transportation. Mainly the overexpressed proteins were involved in defense potentials, protein folding, and homeostatic balancing of ions. Among them, HSP70 is expected to protect from denaturation and degradation due to injury caused by salinity, signally proteins, and phototropin involved in the regulation of H+/ATPase homeostasis and ROS-scavenging proteins, making a potent antioxidative system to safeguard cells from damaged caused by oxidative stress postsalinity exposure in P. patens (Wang et al. 2008).

Enhancement in proteomic technology in the term of protein separation and detection and mass spectrometry-based protein analysis has a substantial role in

studying plants reflexing under extreme saline conditions (Joseph and Jini 2010). While multiple research groups are active in identifying salt-responsive proteins in plants, a study by Salekdeh et al. (2002) recovered many salt-responsive proteins such as ABA and stress-responsive proteins, ascorbate peroxidase, and several more in the root proteome of both salt-sensitive and salt-tolerant rice genotypes. Most of the proteins were regulated by the salt level in a direct manner (Nohzadeh et al. 2007). The activities of these proteins were seen in photosynthetic activity, metabolic homeostasis, photorespiration, signal transduction, antioxidation, regulation of ions channels, and protein folding. In plants, salt shock proteins (SSPs) are accumulated in response to salt stress that can result in the synthesis of other soluble proteins and bolster the activities of many enzymes (Joseph and Jini 2010). The variation in genomics content (DNA/RNA) of plants upon experiencing saline stress could be accountable for the expression of specified salt shock proteins (SSPs) with molecular weights of 15.28 and 72 kDa in salt-tolerant genotypes, whereas they were entirely absent in vulnerable genotypes (Gomathi and Vasantha, 2006). One way to encounter salinity stress is with induction of molecular chaperons. It is interesting in nature that drought, salt, and heat stresses are often unanimous in their effects. Heat shock proteins are a group of proteins consisting of conserved protein families such as HSP100, HSP90, HSP70, HSP60, and other small heat shock proteins (Joseph and Jini 2010)

11.3 Conclusions

The main abiotic stresses in plants and protein-producing mechanisms in plants to tolerate these unfavorable signals were discussed. There are other abiotic stresses evolving with fluctuation in climate that have devastating effects on the plants, particularly crops, and need utmost scientific attention. We should investigate the crops in different geographic regions around the world to understand the significance of abiotic stresses in variable regimes. Moreover, it is also mandatory to use proteomic strategies along with genomics to identify versatile proteins that can provide a grasping view of stress and tolerance interaction in plants so that the main cash crops can be exploited with these potential tolerant proteins to make a balance between agriculture and economy.

References

Al-Wabel MI, Ahmad M, Adel RA, Usman MA, Rafique MI (2020a) Advances in pyrolytic technologies with improved carbon capture and storage to combat climate change. In: Fahad S, Hasanuzzaman M, Alam M, Ullah H, Saeed M, Khan AK, Adnan M (eds) Environment, climate, plant and vegetation growth. Springer, Cham, pp 535–576. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-49732-3

- Al-Wabel MI, Abdelazeem S, Munir A, Khalid E, Adel RAU (2020b) Extent of climate change in Saudi Arabia and its impacts on agriculture: a case study from qassim region. In: Fahad S, Hasanuzzaman M, Alam M, Ullah H, Saeed M, Khan AK, Adnan M (eds) Environment, climate, plant and vegetation growth. Springer, Cham, pp 635–658. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-49732-3
- Amasino R (2004) Vernalization, competence, and the epigenetic memory of winter. Plant Cell *16*(10):2553–2559
- Annunziato A (2008) DNA packaging: nucleosomes and chromatin. Nat Educ 1(1):26
- Ashraf M (2010) Inducing drought tolerance in plants: recent advances. *Biotechnol Adv* 28(1):169–183
- Atif B, Hesham A, Fahad S (2021) Biochar coupling with phosphorus fertilization modifies antioxidant activity, osmolyte accumulation and reactive oxygen species synthesis in the leaves and xylem sap of rice cultivars under high-temperature stress. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 27(9):2083–2100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12298-021-01062-7
- Barnabás B, Jäger K, Fehér A (2008) The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. *Plant Cell Environ* 31(1):11–38
- Battisti DS, Naylor RL (2009) Historical warnings of future food insecurity with unprecedented seasonal heat. *Science* 323(5911):240–244
- Beck EH, Heim R, Hansen J (2004) Plant resistance to cold stress: mechanisms and environmental signals triggering frost hardening and dehardening. *J Biosci 29*(4):449–459
- Bray EA (2000) Response to abiotic stress. In: Buchanan BB, Gruissem W, Jones RL (eds) Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville, pp 1158–1203
- Breton G, Danyluk J, Charron JBF, Sarhan F (2003) Expression profiling and bioinformatic analyses of a novel stress-regulated multispanning transmembrane protein family from cereals and Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol* 132(1):64–74
- Capdevila M, Atrian S (2011) Metallothionein protein evolution: a miniassay. *JBIC J Biol Inorg Chem* 16(7):977–989
- Chinnusamy V, Zhu J, Zhu JK (2007) Cold stress regulation of gene expression in plants. *Trends Plant Sci* 12(10):444–451
- Ciarmiello LF, Woodrow P, Fuggi A (2011) Plant genes for abiotic stress, abiotic stress in plants– mechanisms and adaptations, Prof. Arun Shanker (ed), ISBN: 978-953-307-394-1, InTech
- Cui S, Huang F, Wang J, Ma X, Cheng Y, Liu J (2005) A proteomic analysis of cold stress responses in rice seedlings. *Proteomics* 5(12):3162–3172
- Diks SH, Peppelenbosch MP (2004) Single cell proteomics for personalised medicine. Trends Mol Med 10(12):574–577
- Fahad S, Chen Y, Saud S, Wang K, Xiong D, Chen C, Wu C, Shah F, Nie L, Huang J (2013) Ultraviolet radiation effect on photosynthetic pigments, biochemical attributes, antioxidant enzyme activity and hormonal contents of wheat. J Food Agri Environ 11(3&4):1635–1641
- Fahad S, Hussain S, Bano A, Saud S, Hassan S, Shan D, Khan FA, Khan F, Chen Y, Wu C, Tabassum MA, Chun MX, Afzal M, Jan A, Jan MT, Huang J (2014a) Potential role of phytohormones and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria in abiotic stresses: consequences for changing environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(7):4907–4921. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3754-2
- Fahad S, Hussain S, Matloob A, Khan FA, Khaliq A, Saud S, Hassan S, Shan D, Khan F, Ullah N, Faiq M, Khan MR, Tareen AK, Khan A, Ullah A, Ullah N, Huang J (2014b) Phytohormones and plant responses to salinity stress: a review. Plant Growth Regul 75(2):391–404. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10725-014-0013-y
- Fahad S, Hussain S, Saud S, Hassan S, Chauhan BS, Khan F et al (2016a) Responses of rapid viscoanalyzer profile and other rice grain qualities to exogenously applied plant growth regulators under high day and high night temperatures. PLoS One 11(7):e0159590. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159590

- Fahad S, Hussain S, Saud S, Khan F, Hassan S, Amanullah J, Nasim W, Arif M, Wang F, Huang J (2016b) Exogenously applied plant growth regulators affect heat-stressed rice pollens. J Agron Crop Sci 202:139–150
- Fahad S, Hussain S, Saud S, Hassan S, Ihsan Z, Shah AN, Wu C, Yousaf M, Nasim W, Alharby H, Alghabari F, Huang J (2016c) Exogenously applied plant growth regulators enhance the morphophysiological growth and yield of rice under high temperature. Front Plant Sci 7:1250. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01250
- Fahad S, Hussain S, Saud S, Hassan S, Tanveer M, Ihsan MZ, Shah AN, Ullah A, Nasrullah KF, Ullah S, Alharby HNW, Wu C, Huang J (2016d) A combined application of biochar and phosphorus alleviates heat-induced adversities on physiological, agronomical and quality attributes of rice. Plant Physiol Biochem 103:191–198
- Fahad S, Rehman A, Shahzad B, Tanveer M, Saud S, Kamran M, Ihtisham M, Khan SU, Turan V, Rahman MHU (2019a) Rice responses and tolerance to metal/metalloid toxicity. In: Hasanuzzaman M, Fujita M, Nahar K, Biswas JK (eds) Advances in rice research for abiotic stress tolerance. Woodhead Publ Ltd, Cambridge, pp 299–312
- Fahad S, Adnan M, Hassan S, Saud S, Hussain S, Wu C, Wang D, Hakeem KR, Alharby HF, Turan V, Khan MA, Huang J (2019b) Rice responses and tolerance to high temperature. In: Hasanuzzaman M, Fujita M, Nahar K, Biswas JK (eds) Advances in rice research for abiotic stress tolerance. Woodhead Publishing Ltd, Cambridge, pp 201–224
- Fahad S, Hasanuzzaman M, Alam M, Ullah H, Saeed M, Ali Khan I, Adnan M (eds) (2020) Environment, climate, plant and vegetation growth. Springer Nature, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-49732-3
- Fahad S, Sönmez O, Saud S, Wang D, Wu C, Adnan M, Turan V (eds) (2021a) Plant growth regulators for climate-smart agriculture, Footprints of climate variability on plant diversity, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fahad S, Sonmez O, Saud S, Wang D, Wu C, Adnan M, Turan V (eds) (2021b) Climate change and plants: biodiversity, growth and interactions, Footprints of climate variability on plant diversity, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fahad S, Sonmez O, Saud S, Wang D, Wu C, Adnan M, Turan V (eds) (2021c) Developing climate resilient crops: improving global food security and safety, Footprints of climate variability on plant diversity, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fahad S, Sönmez O, Turan V, Adnan M, Saud S, Wu C, Wang D (eds) (2021d) Sustainable soil and land management and climate change, Footprints of climate variability on plant diversity, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Fahad S, Sönmez O, Saud S, Wang D, Wu C, Adnan M, Arif M, Amanullah. (eds) (2021e) Engineering tolerance in crop plants against abiotic stress, Footprints of climate variability on plant diversity, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- FAO F, Foods M (2008) Food and agriculture organization of the united nations. FAO, Rome
- Farhat A, Hafiz MH, Wajid I, Aitazaz AF, Hafiz FB, Zahida Z, Fahad S, Wajid F, Artemi C (2020) A review of soil carbon dynamics resulting from agricultural practices. J Environ Manag 268(2020):110319
- Fedoroff NV, Battisti DS, Beachy RN, Cooper PJ, Fischhoff DA, Hodges CN et al (2010) Radically rethinking agriculture for the 21st century. *Science* 327(5967):833–834
- Fowler S, Thomashow MF (2002) Arabidopsis transcriptome profiling indicates that multiple regulatory pathways are activated during cold acclimation in addition to the CBF cold response pathway. *Plant Cell 14*(8):1675–1690
- Gomathi R, Vasantha S (2006) Change in nucleic acid content and expression of salt shock proteins in relation to salt tolerance in sugarcane. *Sugar Tech* 8(2):124–127
- Gull A, Lone AA, Wani NUI (2019) Biotic and abiotic stresses in plants. In: De Oliveira A (ed) *Abiotic and biotic stress in plants*. Intech Open, London, pp 1–19
- Guy C (1999) Molecular responses of plants to cold shock and cold acclimation. *J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 1*(2):231–242

- Hasan M, Cheng Y, Kanwar MK, Chu XY, Ahammed GJ, Qi ZY (2017) Responses of plant proteins to heavy metal stress—a review. *Front Plant Sci* 8:1492
- Hashimoto M, Toorchi M, Matsushita K, Iwasaki Y, Komatsu S (2009) Proteome analysis of rice root plasma membrane and detection of cold stress responsive proteins. *Protein Pept Lett* 16(6):685–697
- Hesham FA, Fahad S (2020) Melatonin application enhances biochar efficiency for drought tolerance in maize varieties: modifications in physio-biochemical machinery. Agron J 112(4):1–22
- Hlaváčková I, Vítámvás P, Šantrůček J, Kosová K, Zelenková S, Prášil IT et al (2013) Proteins involved in distinct phases of cold hardening process in frost resistant winter barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) cv Luxor. Int J Mol Sci 14(4):8000–8024
- Hossain Z, Makino T, Komatsu S (2012) Proteomic study of β-aminobutyric acid-mediated cadmium stress alleviation in soybean. *J Proteome* 75(13):4151–4164
- Janmohammadi M, Zolla L, Rinalducci S (2015) Low temperature tolerance in plants: changes at the protein level. *Phytochemistry* 117:76–89
- Janská A, Aprile A, Zámečník J, Cattivelli L, Ovesná J (2011) Transcriptional responses of winter barley to cold indicate nucleosome remodelling as a specific feature of crown tissues. Funct Integr Genomics 11(2):307–325
- Joseph B, Jini D (2010) Proteomic analysis of salinity stress-responsive proteins in plants. Asian J Plant Sci 9(6):307
- Kamarn M, Wenwen C, Irshad A, Xiangping M, Xudong Z, Wennan S, Junzhi C, Shakeel A, Fahad S, Qingfang H, Tiening L (2017) Effect of paclobutrazol, a potential growth regulator on stalk mechanical strength, lignin accumulation and its relation with lodging resistance of maize. Plant Growth Regul 84:317–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-017-0342-8
- Khan Z, Shahwar D (2020) Role of Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs) and heat stress tolerance in crop plants. In: *Sustainable agriculture in the era of climate change*. Springer, Cham, pp 211–234
- Kosová K, Vítámvás P, Prášil IT, Renaut J (2011) Plant proteome changes under abiotic stress contribution of proteomics studies to understanding plant stress response. *J Proteome* 74(8):1301–1322
- Kregel KC (2002) Invited review: heat shock proteins: modifying factors in physiological stress responses and acquired thermotolerance. *J Appl Physiol* 92(5):2177–2186
- Lee DG, Ahsan N, Lee SH, Kang KY, Lee JJ, Lee BH (2007) An approach to identify cold-induced low-abundant proteins in rice leaf. *Comptes rendus biologies* 330(3):215–225
- Lindquist S, Craig EA (1988) The heat-shock proteins. Annu Rev Genet 22(1):631-677
- Liu J, Shi X, Qian M, Zheng L, Lian C, Xia Y, Shen Z (2015) Copper-induced hydrogen peroxide upregulation of a metallothionein gene, OsMT2c, from Oryza sativa L. confers copper tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. J Hazard Mater 294:99–108
- Lotze-Campen H, Schellnhuber HJ (2009) Climate impacts and adaptation options in agriculture: what we know and what we don't know. *J Verbr Lebensm* 4(2):145–150
- Macnair MR, Tilstone GH, Smith SE (2020) The genetics of metal tolerance and accumulation in higher plants. In: Terry N, Bañuelos G (eds) *Phytoremediation of contaminated soil and water*, vol 13, p 235
- Maestri E, Klueva N, Perrotta C, Gulli M, Nguyen HT, Marmiroli N (2002) Molecular genetics of heat tolerance and heat shock proteins in cereals. *Plant Mol Biol* 48(5):667–681
- Mahmood Ul H, Tassaduq R, Chandni I, Adnan A, Muhammad A, Muhammad MA, Muhammad H-u-R, Mehmood AN, Alam S, Fahad S (2021) Linking plants functioning to adaptive responses under heat stress conditions: a mechanistic review. J Plant Growth Regul. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-021-10493-1
- Mantri N, Patade V, Penna S, Ford R, Pang E (2012) Abiotic stress responses in plants: present and future. In: *Abiotic stress responses in plants*. Springer, New York, NY, pp 1–19
- Maruyama K, Sakuma Y, Kasuga M, Ito Y, Seki M, Goda H et al (2004) Identification of coldinducible downstream genes of the Arabidopsis DREB1A/CBF3 transcriptional factor using two microarray systems. *Plant J 38*(6):982–993
- Mittler R, Finka A, Goloubinoff P (2012) How do plants feel the heat? Trends in biochemical sciences, 37(3):118–125

- Miura K, Furumoto T (2013) Cold signaling and cold response in plants. Int J Mol Sci 14(3):5312–5337
- Muhammad Z, Abdul MK, Abdul MS, Kenneth BM, Muhammad S, Shahen S, Ibadullah J, Fahad S (2019) Performance of Aeluropus lagopoides (mangrove grass) ecotypes, a potential turfgrass, under high saline conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(13):13410–13421. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-019-04838-3
- Munns R, Tester M (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59:651-681
- Neilson KA, Mariani M, Haynes PA (2011) Quantitative proteomic analysis of cold-responsive proteins in rice. *Proteomics* 11(9):1696–1706
- Neumann D, Lichtenberger O, Günther D, Tschiersch K, Nover L (1994) Heat-shock proteins induce heavy-metal tolerance in higher plants. *Planta 194*(3):360–367
- Nohzadeh Malakshah S, Habibi Rezaei M, Heidari M, Hosseini Salekdeh G (2007) Proteomics reveals new salt responsive proteins associated with rice plasma membrane. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 71(9):2144–2154
- Ortiz R, Braun HJ, Crossa J, Crouch JH, Davenport G, Dixon J et al (2008) Wheat genetic resources enhancement by the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT). *Genet Resour Crop Evol* 55(7):1095–1140
- Rathinasabapathi B (2000) Metabolic engineering for stress tolerance: installing osmoprotectant synthesis pathways. *Ann Bot 86*(4):709–716
- Riechmann JL, Heard J, Martin G, Reuber L, Jiang CZ, Keddie J et al (2000) Arabidopsis transcription factors: genome-wide comparative analysis among eukaryotes. *Science* 290(5499):2105–2110
- Roy SJ, Tucker EJ, Tester M (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 14(3):232–239
- Saijo Y, Hata S, Kyozuka J, Shimamoto K, Izui K (2000) Over-expression of a single Ca2+dependent protein kinase confers both cold and salt/drought tolerance on rice plants. *Plant J* 23(3):319–327
- Sakata T, Higashitani A (2008) Male sterility accompanied with abnormal anther development in plants–genes and environmental stresses with special reference to high temperature injury. *Int J Plant Dev Biol* 2(4)
- Sakuma Y, Liu Q, Dubouzet JG, Abe H, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2002) DNAbinding specificity of the ERF/AP2 domain of Arabidopsis DREBs, transcription factors involved in dehydration-and cold-inducible gene expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 290(3):998–1009
- Saleem MH, Fahad S, Adnan M, Mohsin A, Muhammad SR, Muhammad K, Qurban A, Inas AH, Parashuram B, Mubassir A, Reem MH (2020a) Foliar application of gibberellic acid endorsed phytoextraction of copper and alleviates oxidative stress in jute (Corchorus capsularis L.) plant grown in highly copper-contaminated soil of China. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27(29):37121–37133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-09764-3
- Saleem MH, Rehman M, Fahad S, Tung SA, Iqbal N, Hassan A, Ayub A, Wahid MA, Shaukat S, Liu L, Deng G (2020b) Leaf gas exchange, oxidative stress, and physiological attributes of rapeseed (Brassica napus L.) grown under different light-emitting diodes. Photosynthetica 58(3):836–845
- Saleem MH, Fahad S, Shahid UK, Mairaj D, Abid U, Ayman ELS, Akbar H, Analía L, Lijun L (2020c) Copper-induced oxidative stress, initiation of antioxidants and phytoremediation potential of flax (Linum usitatissimum L.) seedlings grown under the mixing of two different soils of China. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27(5):5211–5221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-07264-7
- Saleh J, Maftoun M (2008) Interactive effect of NaCl levels and Zinc sources and levels on the growth and mineral composition of rice. J Agric Sci Technol 10:325–336
- Salekdeh GH, Siopongco J, Wade LJ, Ghareyazie B, Bennett J (2002) Proteomic analysis of rice leaves during drought stress and recovery. *PROTEOMICS: Int Ed* 2(9):1131–1145

- Schirle M, Heurtier MA, Kuster B (2003) Profiling core proteomes of human cell lines by one-dimensional PAGE and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2(12):1297–1305
- Seki M, Narusaka M, Abe H, Kasuga M, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Carninci P, Shinozaki K (2001) Monitoring the expression pattern of 1300 Arabidopsis genes under drought and cold stresses by using a full-length cDNA microarray. *Plant Cell* 13(1):61–72
- Shah F, Lixiao N, Kehui C, Tariq S, Wei W, Chang C, Liyang Z, Farhan A, Fahad S, Huang J (2013) Rice grain yield and component responses to near 2°C of warming. Field Crop Res 157:98–110
- Shelden MC, Roessner U (2013) Advances in functional genomics for investigating salinity stress tolerance mechanisms in cereals. *Front Plant Sci 4*:123
- Sheveleva E, Chmara W, Bohnert HJ, Jensen RG (1997) Increased salt and drought tolerance by D-ononitol production in transgenic Nicotiana tabacum L. *Plant Physiol* 115(3):1211–1219
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (1996) Molecular responses to drought and cold stress. Curr Opin Biotechnol 7(2):161–167
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2000) Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 3(3):217–223
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2007) Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. J Exp Bot 58(2):221–227
- Shinwari ZK, Jan SA, Nakashima K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2020) Genetic engineering approaches to understanding drought tolerance in plants. *Plant Biotechnol Rep 14*(2):151–162
- Svensson JT, Crosatti C, Campoli C, Bassi R, Stanca AM, Close TJ, Cattivelli L (2006) Transcriptome analysis of cold acclimation in barley Albina and Xantha mutants. *Plant Physiol* 141(1):257–270
- Tamás MJ, Sharma SK, Ibstedt S, Jacobson T, Christen P (2014) Heavy metals and metalloids as a cause for protein misfolding and aggregation. *Biomol Ther* 4(1):252–267
- Thomashow MF (1999) Plant cold acclimation: freezing tolerance genes and regulatory mechanisms. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 50(1):571–599
- Valliyodan B, Nguyen HT (2006) Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought tolerance in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 9(2):189–195
- Varshney RK, Bansal KC, Aggarwal PK, Datta SK, Craufurd PQ (2011) Agricultural biotechnology for crop improvement in a variable climate: hope or hype? *Trends Plant Sci 16*(7):363–371
- Vollenweider P, Günthardt-Goerg MS (2005) Diagnosis of abiotic and biotic stress factors using the visible symptoms in foliage. *Environ Pollut* 137(3):455–465
- von Zitzewitz J, Szűcs P, Dubcovsky J, Yan L, Francia E, Pecchioni N et al (2005) Molecular and structural characterization of barley vernalization genes. *Plant Mol Biol* 59(3):449–467
- Wahid A, Gelani S, Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Heat tolerance in plants: an overview. *Environ Exp Bot* 61(3):199–223
- Wang X, Yang P, Gao Q, Liu X, Kuang T, Shen S, He Y (2008) Proteomic analysis of the response to high-salinity stress in Physcomitrella patens. *Planta* 228(1):167–177
- Wang CT, Ru JN, Liu YW, Yang JF, Li M, Xu ZS, Fu JD (2018) The maize WRKY transcription factor ZmWRKY40 confers drought resistance in transgenic Arabidopsis. *Int J Mol Sci* 19(9):2580
- Weckwerth W, Baginsky S, van Wijk K, Heazlewood JL, Millar H (2008) The multinational Arabidopsis steering subcommittee for proteomics assembles the largest proteome database resource for plant systems biology. J Proteome Res 7(10):4209–4210
- Weis E, Berry JA (1988, January) Plants and high temperature stress. In: *Symposia of the society for experimental biology*, vol 42, pp 329–346
- Wen X, Wang J, Zhang D, Wang Y (2019) A gene regulatory network controlled by BpERF2 and BpMYB102 in Birch under drought conditions. *Int J Mol Sci 20*(12):3071
- Yan SP, Zhang QY, Tang ZC, Su WA, Sun WN (2006) Comparative proteomic analysis provides new insights into chilling stress responses in rice. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 5(3):484–496

- Yancey PH (1994) Cellular and molecular physiology of cell volume regulation. *Competable and counteracting solutes*. CRC Press (Taylor & Francis Group), Boca Raton, pp 81–110
- Zabotin AI, Barisheva TS, Trofimova OI, Toroschina TE, Larskaya IA, Zabotina OA (2009) Oligosaccharin and ABA synergistically affect the acquisition of freezing tolerance in winter wheat. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 47(9):854–858
- Zargar SM, Nagar P, Deshmukh R, Nazir M, Wani AA, Masoodi KZ et al (2017) Aquaporins as potential drought tolerance inducing proteins: towards instigating stress tolerance. *J Proteome* 169:233–238
- Zhang H, Han B, Wang T, Chen S, Li H, Zhang Y, Dai S (2012) Mechanisms of plant salt response: insights from proteomics. J Proteome Res 11(1):49–67
- Zhao Y, Chengcai C (2011) Towards understanding plant response to heavy metal stress. In: Shanker A (ed) Abiotic stress in plants – mechanisms and adaptations. Tech Europe, Rijeka, pp 59–78
- Zhao J, Zhang S, Yang T, Zeng Z, Huang Z, Liu Q et al (2015) Global transcriptional profiling of a cold-tolerant rice variety under moderate cold stress reveals different cold stress response mechanisms. *Physiol Plant 154*(3):381–394
- Zhu JK (2016) Abiotic stress signaling and responses in plants. Cell 167(2):313-324

Chapter 12 Novel Nanotechnology-Based Vector Delivery in CRISPR System for Transgene-Free Editing



Sumbul Saeed, Adeel Ahmed, Sabzoi Nizamuddin, Sundus Saeed Qureshi, Raheel Shahzad, Nasr Ullah Khan, Muhammad Shaban, Muhammad Hafeez Ullah Khan, and Shahid Ullah Khan

Contents

12.1 12.2 12.3 12.4 12.5 12.6 Reference	Introduction Limitations and Challenges of CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing Modes of CRISPR/Cas9 Delivery Approaches Recent Nano-Based Vector Delivery Modes for the CRISPR System 12.4.1 Viral and Nonviral Delivery Modes for the CRISPR System 12.4.2 Nonviral Delivery Modes of CRISPR/Cas9 System Critical Challenges for Nonviral Delivery of CRISPR System Conclusion	280 281 282 284 284 285 288 289 290
S. Sae Colleg e-mai shahio	eed (⊠) · M. H. U. Khan · S. U. Khan (⊠) ge of Plant Sciences and Technology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China l: sumbulsaeed@webmail.hzau.edu.cn; hafeezbiotech@webmail.hzau.edu.cn; dbiochem@webmail.hzau.edu.cn	
A. Ah Schoo	imed ol of Life Sciences, South China Normal University, Guangzhou, China	
S. Niz Schoo	zamuddin ol of Engineering, RMIT University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia	
S. S. (Institu and Te	Qureshi ate of Environmental Engineering and Management, Mehran University of Engineering echnology, Jamshoro, Sindh, Pakistan	
R. Sha Facult Muha	ahzad ty of Science and Technology, Department of Biotechnology, Universitas mmadiyah Bandung, Bandung, West Java, Indonesia	
N. U. Facult Dera I	Khan ty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Breeding & Genetics, Gomal University, Ismail Khan, Pakistan	
M. Sh	aban	

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_12 279

12.1 Introduction

CRISPR (clustered regularly short palindromic repeats)/Cas (CRISPR-associated proteins) is an acquired and advanced phage immune system discovered in many arches and bacteria to protect them against invasive genetic materials such as nucleic acid (Ahmar et al. 2020; Barrangou et al. 2007; Fineran and Charpentier 2012; Horvath and Barrangou 2010; Wiedenheft et al. 2012). Since its first application in 2013, it was first introduced in mammalian cells. CRISPR mechanism is based on RNA-guided programmed nuclease, which has altered much more functions than just editing of genome (Cong et al. 2013; Mali et al. 2013). The CRISPR/Cas technology is based on functionalized target sequences, core components, and multiple subunits that have been characterized into three classes and their subtypes (Gasiunas and Siksnys 2013; Makarova et al. 2011a, b). The Type I CRISPR systems consisted of CRISPR-associated complex for antiviral defense (CASCADE) structure that comprised various subunits of Cas proteins that bind and form complexes with CRISPR RNA (crRNA) to initiate and signal the desired target loci. However, in Type III, crRNAs are integrated into various subunits complex called Csm or Cmr to signal, bind, and cleave the invaded RNA. On the contrary, in Type II systems, the Cas9 protein is the only prerequisite for the integration of DNA (Brouns et al. 2008; Garneau et al. 2010; Hale et al. 2009; Hsu et al. 2014). The Type II Cas system from specie Streptococcus pyogenes has a broad-term application in biomedical research due to the processive features such as high efficiency, specificity, rapid, inexpensive, simplicity as well as great versatility (Bikard et al. 2014; Cho et al. 2013; Hwang et al. 2013; Nekrasov et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2015). This system consists of two functional components: guide RNA (gRNA) and a DNA endonuclease (Cas9), which were engineered by the fusion of tracrRNA and a crRNA into a single RNA molecule. Usually, gRNA is easily switched by a synthetic single-guide RNA (sgRNA). Target site recognition begins in the presence of protospacer-adjacent motif (PAM) that is immediately located at (50-NGG) site, where the Cas9 signals the sgRNA to be positioned to the targeted site to initiate and unwind the site-specific doublestranded DNA breaks (DSBs); in these cases, the two cellular repair pathways, homology-directed repair (HDR) and nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ), can ensure to initiate with the potential alterations or error-prone insertions/deletions (indel) products (Garneau et al. 2010; Gasiunas et al. 2012; Jinek et al. 2012; Sapranauskas et al. 2011). Furthermore, in recent years, CRISPR interference (CRISPRi) technology has been developed that utilized deactivated dead Cas9 (dCas9) protein showing absence or no endonuclease activity, thus actively regulating the genes in a well-defined manner (Gilbert et al. 2013; Larson et al. 2013; Qi et al. 2013). In addition, the Cas9 nickases (HNHH840A or RuvCD10A), which cleave only a single strand other than both strands of the target site, have become effective for genome editing mechanism (Guilinger et al. 2014; Ran et al. 2013a). Due to its high versatility, this mechanism is much appropriate for the editing of the genome with less off-target effects in any model organism (Kleinstiver et al. 2016; Shen et al. 2014). More recently, an alternate technology based on CRISPR-nuclease Cpf1 has been efficiently developed that showed various advantages as well as disadvantages of each Cas9 system (Zetsche et al. 2015, 2017).

Presently, the delivery approaches of the CRISPR/Cas system are primarily focused on physical strategies (transformation, electroporation, microinjection, and so on) via viral and/or nonviral vectors (Adeno-associated virus (AAV), lentivirus, adenovirus), etc. (Niu et al. 2014; Xue et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2017). In the abovementioned platforms, the physical and viral vectors have been subjected to be achieved through powerful delivering components of CRISPR/Cas9 systems. Despite high editing efficiencies, most of the physical delivery methods are only applicable for in vitro but not fit for in vivo applications (Chen et al. 2017). For viral vectors, the potential apprehensions are the limited DNA packaging capacity, limited scale-up production rate as well as clinical therapeutics such as carcinogenesis and immunogenicity (Chen and Gonçalves 2016). Nonetheless, the current delivery strategy for nonviral-based nanoparticles showed its significant considerations to overcome the limitations of safety concerns (Mintzer and Simanek 2009; Pack et al. 2005).

The emergence of material sciences and nanotechnology has offered tunable and significant aspects that hold potent applications in the field of genome editing (Yin et al. 2017). However, lipid and polymeric-based nanoparticles (NPs) offered encapsulation of large size genetic payloads and favor high efficiency and immunogenicity response (Liu et al. 2018a, b). However, gold-based nanoparticles (AuNPs) have triggered the delivering approach of ribonucleoprotein (RNP) in vitro and in vivo applications in mice (Lee et al. 2017). Up to date, previous pieces of literature focused on nonviral NPs-based delivery in the CRISPR system, which aims to enhance the delivery efficiencies, mitigate the off-target effects, and recognize Cas9 protein on the target sites (Dever et al. 2016; Yin et al. 2016). This chapter exclusively elaborates the recent barriers for the delivery of the CRISPR/Cas9 system with great emphasis on the potential development of vector delivery in CRISPR/Cas9 based on nanomaterials for transgene-free genome editing applications.

12.2 Limitations and Challenges of CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing

So many technical pitfalls need to be addressed before CRISPR/Cas genome editing system can be efficiently utilized for clinical use. Based on a genetic basis, three consecutive limitations are subjected to be addressed. First, signaling and targeting the desired site actively, accurately, and efficiently of both cleavage and repair machinery to mitigate the chances of off-target possibility. Second, consider switching repair pathways such as HDR- or-NHEJ that handicamp on various experimental designs. Third, the system requires to be more specific to trigger therapeutics applications in diagnosing multiple diseases. However, due to the high probability of infrequent recombination efficiency, there are various shortcomings to achieve

potential applications, as presented in Fig. 12.1 (Wang et al. 2013; Weber et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2013; Yu et al. 2015). Therefore, the gene-based delivery vehicle of CRISPR components governs the integration of foreign genes into the desired genomic site, and the resultant leads to poor immune feedback. However, various viral vectors are functionally utilized for in vitro delivery vehicles of CRISPR-based reagents, and the frequency of activation mutagenesis leads to the generation of proto-oncogenes due to the insertion of viral genes into the desired target genome, which results in the development of tumorigenesis (Yin et al. 2016). Recently, in vivo delivery of nano-based vectors in the CRISPR system could resolve these concerns to overcome these pitfalls for transgene-free editing.

12.3 Modes of CRISPR/Cas9 Delivery Approaches

Usually, sgRNA can be integrated into the vector plasmids (pX459, pX330, etc.) that consist of sgRNA complex or can be achieved through in vitro transcription. In contrast, the desired template single-stranded oligodeoxynucleotide (ssODN) required for the gene correction through HDR-mediated pathway can be constructed in plasmids or achieved through in vitro mechanism.



Fig. 12.1 Limitations and challenges of CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system

Multiple CRISPR/Cas9 cargoes having different characteristic features can be integrated into various genetic payloads, such as DNA, mRNA, sgRNA, protein, and plasmids, respectively. Each of these genetic repertories encapsulated with NPs for vector delivering system showed pros and cons to fulfill the possessive challenges as summarized in Table 12.1.

The most forthcoming strategy is to integrate the Cas9 cassette into the sgRNA scaffold efficiently. Principally, this procedure triggers immediate gene editing as there are no chances of transcriptional and translational control. It also progressively offers transient gene expression with less toxicity and mitigates off-target effects. Moreover, the positively charged Cas9 protein, the negatively charged sgRNA, as well as large-sized Cas9 protein (~160 kD) can inhibit the direct and

CRISPR/	Nano-based		
Cas9	delivering		
repertories	platforms	Advantages	Disadvantages
Cas9 protein, and sgRNA	Lipid NPs	Low toxicity, minimum off-target effects, poor stability, less inflammatory response (Chen et al. 2020) Commercially utilized cationic transfection lipids that form stables complexes with genetic payloads such as DNA, RNA, mRNA, and proteins, respectively (Chen et al. 2020) Significant scale-up and manufacturing efficiency (Evers et al. 2018)	High cost, low transfection efficiency, high encapsulation risk, rapidly degraded from the nucleases. Poor stability, endotoxin effect that leads to cellular toxicity (Li et al. 2018)
Cas9 mRNA and sgRNA	Polymeric NPs	A novel form of PACE-based cationic polymers showed higher transfection capacity (Wahane et al. 2020) Provide a broad-term application based on biocompatibility, biodegradability, temperature, light-sensitive, pH, and low immunological response, respectively (Wahane et al. 2020)	Difficulty in manufacturing large-scale efficiency, cellular toxicity, rapidly escape from the endosomal membrane during DNA repair mechanism (Wahane et al. 2020)
CRISPR/ Cas9 plasmid	Gold NPs	High delivering, editing efficiency, and reduced off-target effects (Lee et al. 2017) The modified form of the CRISPR-gold RNP vector proposed a low toxic effect (Mout and Rotello 2017) Handy to maintain by the context of charge and size distribution (Chen et al. 2019)	Existence of cationic charge governs the speedy escape from the endosomal barrier (Deng et al. 2019)

Table 12.1 Various forms of CRISPR/Cas9 repertories and NPs for vector delivery system

efficient delivery of Cas9/sgRNA ribonucleoprotein (RNPs) cassettes (Subburaj et al. 2016; Zuris et al. 2015). On the contrary, the suitable and handy option is the interaction of Cas9/mRNA with sgRNA (Shen et al. 2014). Furthermore, the third choice is the encapsulation of plasmid-based CRISPR/Cas9 complexes (Ran et al. 2013b). Interestingly, this is an attractive delivering strategy due to its cost-effectiveness, efficiency, and simplicity. The Cas9 and sgRNA complexes, as well as the desired HDR template, can be easily integrated into the same plasmid, which reveals higher stability than mRNA and protein. However, the larger plasmid size (>7 kb), as well as Cas9 protein (~4.5 kb) potentially, enhances the limitations of delivery cargoes and the mechanism of CRISPR/Cas9 genetic payloads (Ran et al. 2015).

12.4 Recent Nano-Based Vector Delivery Modes for the CRISPR System

12.4.1 Viral and Nonviral Delivery Modes for the CRISPR System

The systematic CRISPR/Cas genome editing technique has rapidly expanded significant concerns in the area of biomedical research, especially for the treatment of genetic disorders and cancer therapeutics, respectively. The efficient delivery approaches showed a pivotal role in the applications of the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system. In recent years, both viral and nonviral vector approaches have been studied well for sgRNA delivery systems. Conventionally, the viral vectors consisting of lentivirus (Chakraborty et al. 2014) and adeno-associated virus (Long et al. 2016) have tremendously limited the capacity for the delivery of CRISPR/Cas components because of the generation of undesired mutations ratios, high off-target effects, integrational mutagenesis (Schumann et al. 2015), immunogenicity, limited packaging capacity, as well as carcinogenesis probability (Kay 2011). In contrast to viral vectors, the deliveries of nonviral vectors of the CRISPR/Cas system through nanoparticles (NPs) may significantly address various challenges recently. These recent challenges include safety issues (Schmidt and Grimm 2015), huge packaging of genetic payloads (Chamberlain et al. 2016), constructed protocols (Li et al. 2015), low cost, and robust scale-up production (Ramamoorth and Narvekar 2015), which may tremendously address the above-mentioned challenges. Furthermore, the nonviral vectors can be constructed to deliver the genetic cargoes to the desired cell lines. The delivery system can be widely categorized into lipids, polymers, and gold NPs, respectively, as demonstrated in Fig. 12.2. The delivery of nonviral vectors based on CRISPR systems in the form of DNA, mRNA, protein, and Cas9 plasmid together with sgRNA has governed efficient delivering strategies in CRISPR/Cas systems for the applications of genome editing.



Fig. 12.2 Illustration of various NPs for the delivery of sgRNA and CRISPR/Cas system (a) Different strategies of CRISPR/Cas system. (b) Different types of NPs-based delivery systems for sgRNA and CRISPR/Cas system. (c) Genome editing of nanoparticles-based delivered Cas9/ sgRNA plasmid DNA complex

12.4.2 Nonviral Delivery Modes of CRISPR/Cas9 System

12.4.2.1 Lipid NPs

Lipids hold the most remarkable and promising material for the potential delivery of nonviral-based genome editing systems (Mohammadinejad et al. 2020). The chemistry of various lipids is amphiphilic that possesses hydrophilic head and hydrophobic tails for the gene delivery system. More precisely, cationic lipid complexes progressively showed a helpful characteristic and have been considered adequate due to possessing charge-charge interaction with negatively charged DNA/RNP complexes. Previous studies literature proposed that these lipid-based complexes turn to decrease the chances of genetic cargoes by the degradation of nucleases (Möller et al. 2016). The ability of the most arsenal lipid-based nanoparticles (LNPs) is being the most versatile system for the delivery of genetic payloads and any other LNPs that have been an effective gene therapy for clinical researches (Felgner et al. 1987).

Appropriately, anionic charges present on DNA, mRNA, and gRNA are electrostatically attached with cationic charged lipids complexes to formulate LNPs (Cong et al. 2013). The lipid bilayer is not only helpful for the barrier of genetic payloads across the cell membrane barrier, but also hinders the genetic payloads from the degradation of enzymatic, RNases, and immunological feedback (Liu et al. 2018b). Next, the context of commercially accessible lipids is a deep-rooted engineered delivery approach that was generated for CRISPR gRNA, mRNA, plasmids, and Cas9/sgRNA/RNPs complexes like RNAiMAX and lipofectamine that are utilized in combination with various cell lines for the treatment of gene therapeutics or gene knock-in/out in model organisms (Mout et al. 2017).

The positively charged Cas9 protein hampers the valuable characteristics of the commercially engineered cationic lipids owing to poor stability, high toxic effect, less inflammatory response, less transfection efficiency, and poor target delivery to the target sites. Though the engineered cationic lipids are used as a carrier in the CRISPR system, there are still some boundaries that hinder their further applications (Whitehead et al. 2009). Therefore, extensive alterations have been navigated for the modification of the above-mentioned pitfalls.

Engineered Cas9-sgRNA RNPs with Cas9 proteins forming complexes have been proposed to achieve 80% gene modification with the potential delivery achieved by LNPs in human cell lines (Zuris et al. 2015). Modified liposomes, such as 1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC), cholesterol (Ch), and 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DPPC), showed a great enhancement in cellular uptake efficiency and also modified pharmacokinetic distribution in vivo (Onuki et al. 2016). Engineered solid-LNPs can enhance the sustainability and storage stability for a wide range of applications for the lyophilization process (Leung et al. 2014). Previously reported literature ameliorated that the chemically modified lipids can progressively expand transfection efficiency and mitigate the toxic nature of cationic lipids (Kish et al. 2007) by structural modification of the ammonium groups via DOTAP (Wang et al. 2018), DC-Chol (Cardarelli et al. 2012), DOPE (Wang et al. 2018), as well as DOTMA (Lotti 2017), respectively. The first-generation liposomal-based vectors constructed through DOTMA were employed for the in vitro delivery of plasmid DNA. Moreover, DOTMA-based constructions mainly triggered cellular toxicity with the activation of immunological response owing to the presence of cationic charge. Therefore, DOTMA-based constructions cannot be applicable for in vivo studies. Additionally, LNPs are somehow distinct from liposomes due to the rapid integration with ionizable lipids and rapidly interact with genetic payloads such as nucleic acids and do not possess aqueous core components. Wheeler and his correspondence for the first time generated LNPs by utilizing stabilized plasmid particles (SPLPs) by following a detergent dialysis technique. Various synthetic lipids such as dioleoyl-ammonium chloride (DODAC) act as cationic lipids with a helper lipid 1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphoethanolamine (DOPE), and polyethylene glycol (PEG) was utilized for the encapsulation of plasmid cytomegalovirus chloramphenicol transference (pCMVCAT). The results showed that produced small particles own 70 nm is size to achieved encapsulation efficacy up to 70% (Wahane et al. 2020). Recently, LNPs are fabricated with different techniques such as microfluidic hydrodynamic focusing (MHF), T-junction mixing, and staggered herringbone mixing (SHM) consisting of ethanol that acts as a controller phase for the rapid solubilization of lipids (Evers et al. 2018). Furthermore, many lipids complexes have been synthesized to drive the efficient delivery of mRNA, gRNA, plasmids, and Cas9-sgRNA RNPs complexes for various in vitro and in vivo applications (Chen et al. 2020).

12.4.2.2 Polymeric NPs

Polymeric vector is an extensively utilized nonviral strategy for the delivery of CRISPR cargoes which aims to drive the significance for the functionalization and chemical diversity for the CRISPR delivery applications with strong biodegradability, biocompatibility, and low immunological response. Recently reported studies concerning polymeric-based NPs, viz., polyethyleneimine (Givens et al. 2018), poly (L-lysine) (Spoelstra et al. 2021), chitosan (Qiao et al. 2019), and polyamidoamine (PAMAM) (Givens et al. 2018), have captivated a tremendous consideration for efficient delivery of genome editing. Usually, polymeric vectors can be constructed from chemical subunits, viz., chitosan and PLGA, with a wide range of applications. Like lipid carriers, polymeric carriers can diffuse across the cell membrane and defend the genetics cargoes from degradation pathways and immunological responses (Zou et al. 2016). Furthermore, owing to the flexible configuration of polymeric carriers, many polymeric carriers possess specific applications for a variety of in vitro and in vivo approaches such as: discharging of intracellular microenvironments, specificity for in vivo targeting of receptors across the cell membrane, and encapsulation of various genetic payloads (Chen et al. 2015). To overcome the toxicity issue, many scientists revealed that either formulation of cationic polymeric vectors by itself or with other lipids and polymers could mitigate the chances of toxicity (Zhang et al. 2019). Therefore, to overcome the pitfalls as mentioned above, next-generation cationic-based polymeric platforms such as poly[(2-dimethylamino) ethyl methacrylate] (pDMAEMA), biodegradable poly (B-amino ester) (PBAE) polymers, and PAMAM dendrimers were synthesized. Owing to consisting of tertiary amine groups, the synthesized pDMAEMA and PBAE polymers also assist in escaping from the endosomal layer and have proven to be of higher transfection efficacy (Wahane et al. 2020).

Scientists also confirmed that polymer-based NPs are prone to deliver CRISPRmediated cargoes with superior editing efficiency for a desired target antimicrobial in contrast to lipids (Kang et al. 2017). Polymeric carriers were encapsulated with Cas9/sgRNA networks that facilitated delivery effectively into the human genome with low toxicity and higher editing efficiency (Sun et al. 2015). Previously reported studies suggested that PEI 25 kDa (BPEI-25K) is an efficient nonviral vehicle for in vitro CRISPR genome editing systems (Ryu et al. 2018). Subsequently, the amine-terminated polyamidation (PAMAM) dendrimer cationic polymer significantly triggered the potential delivery of intracellular cytosolic Cas9 proteins and achieved high genome editing in multiple cell lines (Liu et al. 2019). Therefore, researchers enhance the rate of transfection efficiency and reduce the chances of nontarget binding sites by synthesizing new and promising synthetic poly (aminoco-ester) (PACE)-based cationic polymers for the potential delivery of genetic payloads. The newly developed mechanism demonstrates a reduced cytotoxicity effect in contrast to other forms of cationic-based polymers. The high molecular weight PACE system navigates higher transfection capacity owing to the formation of DNA systems as well as narrowing the range of genetic materials (Wahane et al. 2020).

12.4.2.3 Gold NPs

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are extensively utilized for the CRISPR-mediated RNP delivery. The gRNA, Cas9 proteins, and AuNPs are co-encapsulated into synthesized NPs (Wang et al. 2018). Distinct from lipids, viruses, and polymer vectors, AuNPs are facile concerning charge distribution and size (Chen et al. 2019). In genome editing, the synthesized AuNPs demonstrated ~90% delivery efficacy and ~30% gene-editing potentiality for CRISPR/RNP-mediated strategy in multiple cell lines (Mout et al. 2017). Previously reported literature on mice assumed that AuNPs are attributed for both HDR in vivo and CRISPR gene editing through in vivo delivery of donor DNA and CRISPR RNP-mediated approach with reduced off-target effects and high editing efficiency in many cell lines (Lee et al. 2017). Scientists confirmed that the CRISPR-Au-RNP complex vector delivery system could edit various genes in the brains of multiple mice and showed no toxic effect (Mout and Rotello 2017). The CRISPR-Au complex was synthesized by AuNPs and copoly(*N*-(*N*-(2-aminoethyl)-2-aminoethyl) assembled with aspartamide) (PAsp(DET), glutathione, donor DNA, and Cas9 RNP complexes (PAsp(DET)) that increase in vitro and in vivo endosomal escape in DNA repair mechanism. This research revealed a benchmark study for the efficient nonviral delivery for HDR in treating genetic disorders (Deng et al. 2019).

12.5 Critical Challenges for Nonviral Delivery of CRISPR System

Compared with other efficient delivering approaches, the native CRISPR/Cas systems circumvent stringent obstacles for in vivo applications. The first challenge is the active integration of genetic payloads in vector delivery due to possessing large size and presence of various charge characteristics of donor DNA, mRNA, and Cas9 protein, respectively (Subburaj et al. 2016). Hence, cationic polymers and lipids are more likely prone to encapsulate negatively charged proteins that cannot be feasible to deliver Cas9 proteins. Like other types of protein, large size (~4.5 kb) of DNA and Cas9/mRNA also triggers hindrance for the potential encapsulation application. Although the novel and newly generated Cas9 system isolated from the specie *Staphylococcus aureus* strain (SaCas9) possesses 1 kb in size that is shorter than previously developed SpCas9, the average size of genetic payloads is still too large for genome editing applications (Kleinstiver et al. 2015). Furthermore, CRISPR tools integrated into nonviral vectors must be stable during the extracellular and
intracellular transport until they reach the desired target sites. A nonviral delivery platform consisting of CRISPR/Cas9 tools at first meets extracellular degradation components such as RNases, proteases, DNases in the blood, activation of cytokines, signaling of immune cells, and phagocytosis by macrophages (Li et al. 1999). Second, the effective signaling of the CRISPR/Cas9 tools to recognize the targetspecific site and remove the extravasation out from the bloodstream to mitigate the off-target effects and enhance the efficiency of gene editing in the untargeted locus. Furthermore, cell-penetrating peptides or target-specific ligands can be chemically assembled on the surface of NPs and easily trafficked and reached to the membrane of the target sites to attain desired gene editing (Cabral et al. 2011). After the NPs are attached to the desired cell lines, the third obstacle rapidly escapes the NPs from the endosomal barrier (pH \sim 5.0) to circumvent the degradation from the endosomal effect (Harush-Frenkel et al. 2007). Subsequently, the system based on CRISPR/ Cas9-plasmid-DNA complexes must ameliorate many challenges as compared to CRISPR/Cas9 RNP or mRNA complexes because the ability of plasmid DNA needs to cross nucleus membranes to transcribe the nucleus likewise, in the same manner actively, get entry to the cytoplasm to translate the Cas9 proteins and efficiently edit the desired target genome site (Chen et al. 2020).

12.6 Conclusion

CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system is one of the most robust editing tools, which potentially simplifies previous gene manipulation strategies. Recently, this system has been extensively applied for vector delivery to achieve transgene-free geneediting applications. Besides this, the modification of the vector delivery system is also one of the serious concerns. The delivery through viral vectors showed various issues of their own such as high cost and restriction in packaging efficiency. Therefore, the construction of nonviral vectors is an efficient and safe delivery approach with significant applications. The nonviral vectors showed hindrance to trigger the valuable advantages for the CRISPR/Cas9 genetic cargoes that include large-sized packaging stability, high retention time, and preventing safekeeping from the degradation through enzymes during transportation (Wan et al. 2019). Though the synthesized lipids, polymerics, and gold nanoparticles have demonstrated rapid progression for all delivery approaches of CRISPR-mediated payloads, for the targeted delivery of various gene-editing components, the applications of novel NPs substantially investigated more to achieve tunable desired translation for genome editing. Overall, despite these obstacles, the novel and rapid achievements in the field of gene editing and tailored nano-based vector delivery will significantly facilitate the shortcomings to accelerate the clinical translation of CRISPR-based transgene-free editing shortly in the near future.

Conflict of Interest The authors declared that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Ahmar S, Saeed S, Khan MHU, Ullah Khan S, Mora-Poblete F, Kamran M, Faheem A, Maqsood A, Rauf M, Saleem S, Hong WJ (2020) A revolution toward gene-editing technology and its application to crop improvement. Int J Mol Sci 21(16):5665
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, Richards M, Boyaval P, Moineau S, Romero DA, Horvath P (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science 315(5819):1709–1712
- Bikard D, Euler CW, Jiang W, Nussenzweig PM, Goldberg GW, Duportet X, Fischetti VA, Marraffini LA (2014) Exploiting CRISPR-Cas nucleases to produce sequence-specific antimicrobials. Nat Biotechnol 32(11):1146–1150
- Brouns SJ, Jore MM, Lundgren M, Westra ER, Slijkhuis RJ, Snijders AP, Dickman MJ, Makarova KS, Koonin EV, Van Der Oost J (2008) Small CRISPR RNAs guide antiviral defense in prokaryotes. Science 321(5891):960–964
- Cabral H, Matsumoto Y, Mizuno K, Chen Q, Murakami M, Kimura M, Terada Y, Kano M, Miyazono K, Uesaka MJNN, Nishiyama N (2011) Accumulation of sub-100 nm polymeric micelles in poorly permeable tumours depends on size. Nat Nanotechnol 6(12):815–823
- Cardarelli F, Pozzi D, Bifone A, Marchini C, Caracciolo G (2012) Cholesterol-dependent macropinocytosis and endosomal escape control the transfection efficiency of lipoplexes in CHO living cells. Mol Pharm 9(2):334–340
- Chakraborty S, Ji H, Kabadi AM, Gersbach CA, Christoforou N, Leong KW (2014) A CRISPR/ Cas9-based system for reprogramming cell lineage specification. Stem Cell Rep 3(6):940–947
- Chamberlain K, Riyad JM, Weber T (2016) Expressing transgenes that exceed the packaging capacity of adeno-associated virus capsids. Human Gene Ther Methods 27(1):1–12
- Chen X, Gonçalves MA (2016) Engineered viruses as genome editing devices. Mol Ther 24(3):447–457
- Chen F, Zhang J, Wang L, Wang Y, Chen M (2015) Tumor pH e-triggered charge-reversal and redox-responsive nanoparticles for docetaxel delivery in hepatocellular carcinoma treatment. Nanoscale 7(38):15763–15779
- Chen Z, Liu F, Chen Y, Liu J, Wang X, Chen AT, Deng G, Zhang H, Liu J, Hong Z, Zhou J (2017) Targeted delivery of CRISPR/Cas9-mediated cancer gene therapy via liposome-templated hydrogel nanoparticles. Adv Funct Mater 27(46):1703036
- Chen F, Alphonse MP, Liu Y, Liu Q (2019) Targeting mutant KRAS for anticancer therapy. Curr Top Med Chem 19(23):2098–2113
- Chen F, Alphonse M, Liu Q (2020) Strategies for nonviral nanoparticle-based delivery of CRISPR/ Cas9 therapeutics. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 12(3):e1609
- Cho SW, Kim S, Kim JM, Kim JS (2013) Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. Nat Biotechnol 31(3):230–232
- Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, Lin S, Barretto R, Habib N, Hsu PD, Wu X, Jiang W, Marraffini LA, Zhang F (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339(6121):819–823
- Deng H, Huang W, Zhang Z (2019) Nanotechnology based CRISPR/Cas9 system delivery for genome editing: progress and prospect. Nano Res 12(10):2437–2450
- Dever DP, Bak RO, Reinisch A, Camarena J, Washington G, Nicolas CE, Pavel-Dinu M, Saxena N, Wilkens AB, Mantri S, Uchida N (2016) CRISPR/Cas9 β-globin gene targeting in human haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 539(7629):384–389
- Evers MJ, Kulkarni JA, van der Meel R, Cullis PR, Vader P, Schiffelers RM (2018) State-of-the-art design and rapid-mixing production techniques of lipid nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery. Small Method 2(9):1700375
- Felgner PL, Gadek TR, Holm M, Roman R, Chan HW, Wenz M, Northrop JP, Ringold GM, Danielsen M (1987) Lipofection: a highly efficient, lipidmediated DNA-transfection procedure. PNAS 84(21):7413–7417

- Fineran PC, Charpentier E (2012) Memory of viral infections by CRISPR-Cas adaptive immune systems: acquisition of new information. Virology 434(2):202–209
- Garneau JE, Dupuis M-È, Villion M, Romero DA, Barrangou R, Boyaval P, Fremaux C, Horvath P, Magadán AH, Moineau S (2010) The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature 468(7320):67–71
- Gasiunas G, Siksnys V (2013) RNA-dependent DNA endonuclease Cas9 of the CRISPR system: Holy Grail of genome editing? Trends Microbiol 21(11):562–567
- Gasiunas G, Barrangou R, Horvath P, Siksnys V (2012) Cas9–crRNA ribonucleoprotein complex mediates specific DNA cleavage for adaptive immunity in bacteria. PNAS 109(39):E2579–E2586
- Gilbert LA, Larson MH, Morsut L, Liu Z, Brar GA, Torres SE, Stern-Ginossar N, Brandman O, Whitehead EH, Doudna JA, Lim WA (2013) CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. Cell 154(2):442–451
- Givens BE, Naguib YW, Geary SM, Devor EJ, Salem AK (2018) Nanoparticle-based delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 genome-editing therapeutics. AAPS J 20(6):1–22
- Guilinger JP, Thompson DB, Liu DR (2014) Fusion of catalytically inactive Cas9 to FokI nuclease improves the specificity of genome modification. Nat Biotechnol 32(6):577–582
- Hale CR, Zhao P, Olson S, Duff MO, Graveley BR, Wells L, Terns RM, Terns MP (2009) RNAguided RNA cleavage by a CRISPR RNA-Cas protein complex. Cell 139(5):945–956
- Harush-Frenkel O, Debotton N, Benita S, Altschuler Y (2007) Targeting of nanoparticles to the clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 353(1):26–32
- Horvath P, Barrangou R (2010) CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea. Science 327(5962):167–170
- Hsu PD, Lander ES, Zhang F (2014) Development and applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome engineering. Cell 157(6):1262–1278
- Hwang WY, Fu Y, Reyon D, Maeder ML, Tsai SQ, Sander JD, Peterson RT, Yeh JJ, Joung JK (2013) Efficient genome editing in zebrafish using a CRISPR-Cas system. Nat Biotechnol 31(3):227–229
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337(6096):816–821
- Kang YK, Kwon K, Ryu JS, Lee HN, Park C, Chung HJ (2017) Nonviral genome editing based on a polymer-derivatized CRISPR nanocomplex for targeting bacterial pathogens and antibiotic resistance. Bioconjug Chem 28(4):957–967
- Kay MA (2011) State-of-the-art gene-based therapies: the road ahead. Nat Rev Genet 12(5):316-328
- Kish PE, Tsume Y, Kijek P, Lanigan TM, Hilfinger JM, Roessler BJ (2007) Bile acid-oligopeptide conjugates interact with DNA and facilitate transfection. Mol Pharm 4(1):95–103
- Kleinstiver BP, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Topkar VV, Zheng Z, Joung JK (2015) Broadening the targeting range of Staphylococcus aureus CRISPR-Cas9 by modifying PAM recognition. Nat Biotechnol 33(12):1293–1298
- Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, Joung JKJN (2016) Highfidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature 529(7587):490–495
- Larson MH, Gilbert LA, Wang X, Lim WA, Weissman JS, Qi LS (2013) CRISPR interference (CRISPRi) for sequence-specific control of gene expression. Nat Protoc 8(11):2180–2196
- Lee K, Conboy M, Park HM, Jiang F, Kim HJ, Dewitt MA, Mackley VA, Chang K, Rao A, Skinner C, Shobha T (2017) Nanoparticle delivery of Cas9 ribonucleoprotein and donor DNA in vivo induces homology-directed DNA repair. Nat Biomed Eng 1(11):889–901
- Leung AK, Tam YYC, Cullis PR (2014) Lipid nanoparticles for short interfering RNA delivery. Adv Genet 88:71–110
- Li S, Tseng WC, Stolz DB, Wu SP, Watkins SC, Huang L (1999) Dynamic changes in the characteristics of cationic lipidic vectors after exposure to mouse serum: implications for intravenous lipofection. Gene Ther 6(4):585–594

- Li L, Wei Y, Gong C (2015) Polymeric nanocarriers for non-viral gene delivery. J Biomed Nanotechnol 11(5):739–770
- Li L, Hu S, Chen X (2018) Non-viral delivery systems for CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing: challenges and opportunities. Biomaterials 171:207–218
- Liu Q, Zhu H, Liu Y, Musetti S, Huang L (2018a) BRAF peptide vaccine facilitates therapy of murine BRAF-mutant melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 67(2):299–310
- Liu Q, Zhu H, Tiruthani K, Shen L, Chen F, Gao K, Zhang X, Hou L, Wang D, Liu R, Huang L (2018b) Nanoparticle-mediated trapping of Wnt family member 5A in tumor microenvironments enhances immunotherapy for B-Raf proto-oncogene mutant melanoma. ACS Nano 12(2):1250–1261
- Liu C, Wan T, Wang H, Zhang S, Ping Y, Cheng Y (2019) A boronic acid-rich dendrimer with robust and unprecedented efficiency for cytosolic protein delivery and CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing. Sci Adv 5(6):eaaw8922
- Long C, Amoasii L, Mireault AA, McAnally JR, Li H, Sanchez-Ortiz E, Bhattacharyya S, Shelton JM, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2016) Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. Science 351(6271):400–403
- Lotti SN (2017) Using CRISPR/Cas9 to modify the genome of cattle. University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana
- Makarova KS, Aravind L, Wolf YI, Koonin EV (2011a) Unification of Cas protein families and a simple scenario for the origin and evolution of CRISPR-Cas systems. Biol Direct 6(1):1–27
- Makarova KS, Haft DH, Barrangou R, Brouns SJ, Charpentier E, Horvath P, Moineau S, Mojica FJ, Wolf YI, Yakunin AF, Van Der Oost J (2011b) Evolution and classification of the CRISPR-Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 9(6):467–477
- Mali P, Yang L, Esvelt KM, Aach J, Guell M, DiCarlo JE, Norville JE, Church GM (2013) RNAguided human genome engineering via Cas9. Science 339(1621):823–826
- Mintzer MA, Simanek EE (2009) Nonviral vectors for gene delivery. Chem Rev 109(2):259-302
- Mohammadinejad R, Dehshahri A, Madamsetty VS, Zahmatkeshan M, Tavakol S, Makvandi P, Khorsandi D, Pardakhty A, Ashrafizadeh M, Afshar EG, Zarrabi A (2020) In vivo gene delivery mediated by non-viral vectors for cancer therapy. J Control Release 325:249–275
- Möller K, Müller K, Engelke H, Bräuchle C, Wagner E, Bein T (2016) Highly efficient siRNA delivery from core-shell mesoporous silica nanoparticles with multifunctional polymer caps. Nanoscale 8(7):4007–4019
- Mout R, Rotello VM (2017) Cytosolic and nuclear delivery of CRISPR/Cas9-ribonucleoprotein for gene editing using arginine functionalized gold nanoparticles. Bio Protoc 7(20):e2586
- Mout R, Ray M, Yesilbag Tonga G, Lee YW, Tay T, Sasaki K, Rotello VM (2017) Direct cytosolic delivery of CRISPR/Cas9-ribonucleoprotein for efficient gene editing. ACS Nano 11(3):2452–2458
- Nekrasov V, Staskawicz B, Weigel D, Jones JD, Kamoun S (2013) Targeted mutagenesis in the model plant Nicotiana benthamiana using Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. Nat Biotechnol 31(8):691–693
- Niu Y, Shen B, Cui Y, Chen Y, Wang J, Wang L, Kang Y, Zhao X, Si W, Li W, Xiang AP (2014) Generation of gene-modified cynomolgus monkey via Cas9/RNA-mediated gene targeting in one-cell embryos. Cell 156(4):836–843
- Onuki Y, Obata Y, Kawano K, Sano H, Matsumoto R, Hayashi Y, Takayama K (2016) Membrane microdomain structures of liposomes and their contribution to the cellular uptake efficiency into HeLa cells. Mol Pharm 13(2):369–378
- Pack DW, Hoffman AS, Pun S, Stayton PS (2005) Design and development of polymers for gene delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4(7):581–593
- Qi LS, Larson MH, Gilbert LA, Doudna JA, Weissman JS, Arkin AP, Lim WA (2013) Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequence-specific control of gene expression. Cell 152(5):1173–1183

- Qiao J, Sun W, Lin S, Jin R, Ma L, Liu Y (2019) Cytosolic delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 ribonucleoproteins for genome editing using chitosan-coated red fluorescent protein. Chem Commun 55(32):4707–4710
- Ramamoorth M, Narvekar A (2015) Non viral vectors in gene therapy-an overview. J Clin Diagn Res 9(1):GE01
- Ran FA, Hsu PD, Lin CY, Gootenberg JS, Konermann S, Trevino AE, Scott DA, Inoue A, Matoba S, Zhang Y, Zhang F (2013a) Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR Cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. Cell 154(6):1380–1389
- Ran FA, Hsu PD, Wright J, Agarwala V, Scott DA, Zhang F (2013b) Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Nat Protoc 8(11):2281–2308
- Ran FA, Cong L, Yan WX, Scott DA, Gootenberg JS, Kriz AJ, Zetsche B, Shalem O, Wu X, Makarova KS, Koonin EV (2015) In vivo genome editing using Staphylococcus aureus Cas9. Nature 520(7546):186–191
- Ryu N, Kim MA, Park D, Lee B, Kim YR, Kim KH, Baek JI, Kim WJ, Lee KY, Kim UK (2018) Effective PEI-mediated delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 complex for targeted gene therapy. Nanomedicine 14(7):2095–2102
- Sapranauskas R, Gasiunas G, Fremaux C, Barrangou R, Horvath P, Siksnys V (2011) The Streptococcus thermophilus CRISPR/Cas system provides immunity in Escherichia coli. Nucleic Acids Res 39(21):9275–9282
- Schmidt F, Grimm D (2015) CRISPR genome engineering and viral gene delivery: a case of mutual attraction. Biotechnol J 10(2):258–272
- Schumann K, Lin S, Boyer E, Simeonov DR, Subramaniam M, Gate RE, Haliburton GE, Chun JY, Bluestone JA, Doudna JA, Marson A (2015) Generation of knock-in primary human T cells using Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. PNAS 112(33):10437–10442
- Shen B, Zhang W, Zhang J, Zhou J, Wang J, Chen L, Wang L, Hodgkins A, Iyer V, Huang X, Skarnes WC (2014) Efficient genome modification by CRISPR-Cas9 nickase with minimal off-target effects. Nat Methods 11(4):399–402
- Spoelstra WK, Jacques JM, Gonzalez-Linares R, Nobrega FL, Haagsma AC, Dogterom M, Meijer DH, Idema T, Brouns SJ, Reese L (2021) CRISPR-based DNA and RNA detection with liquidliquid phase separation. Biophys J 120(7):1198–1209
- Subburaj S, Chung SJ, Lee C, Ryu SM, Kim DH, Kim JS, Bae S, Lee GJ (2016) Site-directed mutagenesis in petunia × hybrida protoplast system using direct delivery of purified recombinant Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Plant Cell Rep 35(7):1535–1544
- Sun W, Ji W, Hall JM, Hu Q, Wang C, Beisel CL, Gu Z (2015) Self-assembled DNA nanoclews for the efficient delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome editing. Angew Chem 127(41):12197–12201
- Wahane A, Waghmode A, Kapphahn A, Dhuri K, Gupta A, Bahal R (2020) Role of lipid-based and polymer-based non-viral vectors in nucleic acid delivery for next-generation gene therapy. Molecules 25(12):2866
- Wan T, Niu D, Wu C, Xu FJ, Church G, Ping Y (2019) Material solutions for delivery of CRISPR/ Cas-based genome editing tools: current status and future outlook. Mater Today 26:40–66
- Wang H, Yang H, Shivalila CS, Dawlaty MM, Cheng AW, Zhang F, Jaenisch R (2013) One-step generation of mice carrying mutations in multiple genes by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. Cell 153(4):910–918
- Wang P, Zhang L, Zheng W, Cong L, Guo Z, Xie Y, Wang L, Tang R, Feng Q, Hamada Y, Gonda K (2018) Thermo-triggered release of CRISPR-Cas9 system by lipid-encapsulated gold nanoparticles for tumor therapy. Angew Chem Int Ed 57(6):1491–1496
- Weber T, Wefers B, Wurst W, Sander S, Rajewsky K, Kühn R (2015) Increasing the efficiency of homology-directed repair for CRISPR-Cas9-induced precise gene editing in mammalian cells. Nat Biotechnol 33(5):543–548
- Whitehead KA, Langer R, Anderson DG (2009) Knocking down barriers: advances in siRNA delivery. Drug Discov 8(2):129–138
- Wiedenheft B, Sternberg SH, Doudna JA (2012) RNA-guided genetic silencing systems in bacteria and archaea. Nature 482(7385):331–338

- Wu Y, Zhou H, Fan X, Zhang Y, Zhang M, Wang Y, Xie Z, Bai M, Yin Q, Liang D, Tang W (2015) Correction of a genetic disease by CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene editing in mouse spermatogonial stem cells. Cell Res 25(1):67–79
- Xue W, Chen S, Yin H, Tammela T, Papagiannakopoulos T, Joshi NS, Cai W, Yang G, Bronson R, Crowley DG, Zhang F (2014) CRISPR-mediated direct mutation of cancer genes in the mouse liver. Nature 514(7522):380–384
- Yang H, Wang H, Shivalila CS, Cheng AW, Shi L, Jaenisch R (2013) One-step generation of mice carrying reporter and conditional alleles by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. Cell 154(6):1370–1379
- Yin H, Song C-Q, Dorkin JR, Zhu LJ, Li Y, Wu Q, Park A, Yang J, Suresh S, Bizhanova A, Gupta A (2016) Therapeutic genome editing by combined viral and non-viral delivery of CRISPR system components in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 34(3):328–333
- Yin H, Song C-Q, Suresh S, Wu Q, Walsh S, Rhym LH, Mintzer E, Bolukbasi MF, Zhu LJ, Kauffman K, Mou H (2017) Structure-guided chemical modification of guide RNA enables potent non-viral in vivo genome editing. Nat Biotechnol 35(12):1179–1187
- Yu C, Liu Y, Ma T, Liu K, Xu S, Zhang Y, Liu H, La Russa M, Xie M, Ding S, Qi LS (2015) Small molecules enhance CRISPR genome editing in pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 16(2):142–147
- Yu W, Mookherjee S, Chaitankar V, Hiriyanna S, Kim JW, Brooks M, Ataeijannati Y, Sun X, Dong L, Li T, Swaroop A (2017) Nrl knockdown by AAV-delivered CRISPR/Cas9 prevents retinal degeneration in mice. Nat Commun 8(1):1–15
- Zetsche B, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Slaymaker IM, Makarova KS, Essletzbichler P, Volz SE, Joung J, Van Der Oost J, Regev A, Koonin EV (2015) Cpf1 is a single RNA-guided endonuclease of a class 2 CRISPR-Cas system. Cell 163(3):759–771
- Zetsche B, Heidenreich M, Mohanraju P, Fedorova I, Kneppers J, DeGennaro EM, Winblad N, Choudhury SR, Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Wu WY (2017) Multiplex gene editing by CRISPR-Cpf1 using a single crRNA array. Nat Biotechnol 35(1):31–34
- Zhang Z, Wan T, Chen Y, Chen Y, Sun H, Cao T, Songyang Z, Tang G, Wu C, Ping Y, Xu FJ (2019) Cationic polymer-mediated CRISPR/Cas9 plasmid delivery for genome editing. Macromol Rapid Commun 40(5):p1800068
- Zou L, Chen F, Bao J, Wang S, Wang L, Chen M, He C, Wang Y (2016) Preparation, characterization, and anticancer efficacy of evodiamine-loaded PLGA nanoparticles. Drug Deliv 23(3):898–906
- Zuris JA, Thompson DB, Shu Y, Guilinger JP, Bessen JL, Hu JH, Maeder ML, Joung JK, Chen ZY, Liu DR (2015) Cationic lipid-mediated delivery of proteins enables efficient protein-based genome editing in vitro and in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 33(1):73–80

Chapter 13 The Mechanisms of Genome Editing Technologies in Crop Plants



Yumna Ahmad, Saqlain Haider, Javed Iqbal, Banzeer Ahsan Abbasi, Tabassum Yaseen, and Tariq Mahmood

Contents

13.1	Introdu	ction	296		
13.2	Genome Editing				
	13.2.1	Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)	297		
	13.2.2	Transcription Activator-Like Effector Nucleases (TALENs)	298		
13.3	The CR	ISPR-Cas System: From Bacterial Origin to Genome Editing Tool	299		
	13.3.1	The Mechanistic Features of <i>Sp</i> Cas9	301		
	13.3.2	Variants and Orthologs SpCas9 Systems	301		
	13.3.3	The CRISPR-Cpf1 System: An Advanced System for Genome Editing	302		
	13.3.4	Variants and Orthologs of Cpf1 Systems	302		
	13.3.5	Base Editing	303		
13.4	Applica	tions of Genome Editing Techniques	303		
	13.4.1	Improvement of Yield Traits	306		
	13.4.2	Enhanced Produce Quality	306		
	13.4.3	Gene Editing for Plant Abiotic Stress Resilience	306		
	13.4.4	Engineering Plant Biotic Stress Resistance	307		
13.5	Future l	Perspectives	307		
13.6	Conclus	sion	308		
Refere	ences		309		

Y. Ahmad · S. Haider · B. A. Abbasi · T. Mahmood

Plant Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Lab, Department of Plant Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

J. Iqbal (⊠) · T. Yaseen Department of Botany, Bacha Khan University, Charsadda, KP, Pakistan

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_13

13.1 Introduction

Global crop productivity is facing unprecedented threats due to climate change. By 2050, the world population would exceed 9.5 billion which demands an increase of 60% in the productivity of staple crops (Tilman et al. 2011). This task is difficult considering the productivity of cereal crops must be accomplished under adverse conditions. Due to the millennia of evolution by breeding, the genomes of the most important cereal crops are fixed, which limits the potential for improving many traits in agriculture (Chen et al. 2019). Traditional breeding strategies such as crossbreeding, mutational breeding, and transgenic breeding are key approaches for improving crop characteristics. However, these strategies cannot cope up with the increasing demand for food productivity (Chen et al. 2019). For example, several generations of plants and subsequently many years are required to introduce desirable alleles and increase variability via crossbreeding (Scheben et al. 2017). This is followed by a selection of progenies with the most desired agronomic traits. Mutational breeding via chemical mutants or physical irradiance introduces random mutations throughout the genome and increases the genetic variability (Pacher and Puchta 2017). Over 3000 commercial crop varieties have been produced through mutagenesis-based breeding (Oladosu et al. 2016). However, screening for a large number of mutants is a time- and labor-consuming process, particularly for polyploid crops (Hua et al. 2019). Transgenic breeding offers great potential as it permits the insertion of exogenous genes into high-yielding cultivars. However, the commercialization of transgenics raises concern among the general public and is further restricted by lengthy and expensive regulatory assessment processes (Prado et al. 2014). Hence, innovations in crop breeding technology are necessary to meet the rising food demand of the ever-growing world population (Chen et al. 2019). In the past two decades, the genomes of various plant species have been sequenced together with several vital food crops. The successive step is to utilize these genomic data to breed stress-tolerant crops/plants and develop high-yielding cultivars. The development of a customizable, precise, and highly efficient system could greatly facilitate the quest for crop trait improvement.

13.2 Genome Editing

Genome editing (GE) refers to a technique that modifies the target DNA sequence by insertion/deletion (INDELS) or base substitution (Manghwar et al. 2019). GE efforts are based on the generation of target-specific double-stranded breaks, induced by sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs) (Doudna and Charpentier 2014). The ensuing DSBs are then repaired by DNA repair mechanisms. Eukaryotes have two major mechanisms to repair these breaks which could otherwise be lethal. These include error-prone nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) and the donordependent homology-directed repair pathway (HDR) (Wyman and Kanaar 2006). The NHEJ frequently results in INDELS, and if occurs in the coding region, can effectively knock out genes. Alternatively, when DSBs create overhangs, NHEJ can facilitate the targeted incorporation of desired dsDNA template (Cristea et al. 2013). When a template is available with homology to right and left arm of the targeted sequence, the damaged DNA can be repaired by HDR. The HDR has been exploited to achieve precise gene modification or gene insertion (Bortesi and Fischer 2015). However, the NHEJ is by far the most dominant mechanism of DNA repair in many organisms including plants, and the frequency of DNA modification or integration through HDR remains much lower than random integration.

13.2.1 Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)

Zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) are a collection of sequence-specific restriction enzymes capable of cleaving any significant length of a DNA molecule (Zhang et al. 2010; Osakabe et al. 2010). ZFNs are synthetic nuclease designed by fusing zinc finger-specific DNA-binding domain of Cys₂-His₂ with the nonspecific cleavage domain of *FokI* (*Flavobacterium okeanokoites* I) (Curtin et al. 2011). The binding of two ZFN monomers to their target DNA sequence causes its digestion. In the target region of DNA, these two monomers flank a 5–6 bp long nucleotide sequence. When *FokI* dimerizes, it inserts custom DSBs in the spacer region, which is surrounded by two binding sites made up of zinc fingers (Fig. 13.1) (Puchta and Fauser 2013; Curtin et al. 2012). The cell's endogenous DNA repair mechanisms correct these breaks by triggering either the NHEJ which is error-prone or the HR. The absence of HR resorts the cell to adapt NHEJ for repair mechanism. It processes the broken ends to rejoin them directly, which results in frameshift mutation either by loss or the addition of a nucleotide in the gene (Qi et al. 2013).

Despite their intricate structure, ZFNs have already been employed in various plant species to engineer gene editing, such as *Arabidopsis*, *Nicotiana tabacum* (tobacco), etc. (Zhang et al. 2010; Townsend et al. 2009). Crops have also been subjected to ZFN-based gene modifications, like *Glycine max* (soybean), *Zea mays* (maize), and *Brassica napus* (canola) (Mushtaq et al. 2019). As ZFNs are complex to create and difficult to multiplex, they have had limited impact in enhancing crop disease resistance by altering host plant genes involved in disease development (Jaganathan et al. 2018). Chen et al. 2014, published a report according to which artificial zinc finger proteins (AZPs) were engineered to target a conserved sequence motif of begomoviruses to enhance disease resistance in crop plants using ZFN technology. Multiple resistance to begomoviruses, such as *Tomato yellow leaf curl China virus* (TYLCCNV) and *Tobacco curly shoot virus* (TbCSV), was attained by targeting a conserved region in pathogenic DNA (Chen et al. 2014).



Fig. 13.1 The mechanism of GE and DNA repair system. Both ZFNs (**a**) and TALENS (**b**) use Fokl endonuclease to induce DSBs at the target site. Since Fokl functions as a dimer, when either ZFNs or TALENS bind to the target site and bring sequence-independent Fokl endonucleases close to the target sequence, the cleavage occurs. (**d**) CRISPR-Cas9 system utilizes two components, the sgRNA that guides the CRISPR-Cas complex to the target site and Cas9 endonuclease that induces the DSBs. The prerequisite for CRISPR-Cas-mediated genome editing is the presence of a PAM sequence. After DSBs are induced by any genome editing tool, the cellular DNA repair system is activated (**c**). This could be NHEJ or HDR. NHEJ frequently induces blunt DSBs that result in INDELS (i) and might lead to loss of gene activity. However, in circumstances where NHEJ creates overhangs, targeted gene insertion might be achieved if a template is provided (ii). HDR, though a less dominant repair system, can be used to precisely modify/insert the targeted gene if a sequence homologous to the left and right flanking side is provided (iii, iv)

13.2.2 Transcription Activator-Like Effector Nucleases (TALENs)

TALENs are a group of transcription factors that are naturally produced by the *Xanthomonas oryzae* (Xanthomonas), a phytopathogen (Doyle et al. 2013). They stimulate the gene expression by binding to its promoter region. TALENs' peculiar structural properties entail a DNA-binding repeat that oversees specificity of DNA-binding by governing repeat to base-pair-binding correspondence (Deng et al.

2012). Manipulation of the quality and quantity of these repeats may allow TALENs to attach to any DNA sequence (Li et al. 2012).

Structural foundations of the TALE-DNA-binding domain consist of two factors. Repeat variable di-residue (RVD), which is a TALEN repeat sequence and promotes the stabilized contact, and the amino acid (Chandrasekaran et al. 2016) which allows specific binding capacity (Deng et al. 2012). TALEs can be used as DNA-binding modules in the construction of synthetic transcriptional and epigenetic regulators because of their DNA-binding specificities. For TALEs, many engineering platforms have been created. Furthermore, other than *Xanthomonas*, researchers have found another group of TALE-like proteins (RTLs) from the bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum*. It shows similarity in structure but the difference in repeats, along with the high number of RVDs which recognize the specificity of repeating sequences (Mushtaq et al. 2019).

Deciphered code of RTL attachment to DNA explained that RVDs act as a major source for TALEN-based gene editing. Various RVD like binding formations have been observed, according to the standard TAL-binding RVD code (specified using single-letter amino acid code) like HD to cytosine, NS to any nucleotide, NG to thymine etc. . These additional specific bindings have given TAL-based engineering a wide range of alternatives and opportunities (Li L. et al. 2012). However, TALEN-based genome engineering is time-taking and costly due to the necessity of having a distinctive protein and two TAL monomers to concurrently bind the DNA strands, for each target (Joung and Sander 2013). Despite these difficulties, several businesses have selected TALEN-mediated genome editing because of its accuracy.

Although both ZFNs and TALENS were successfully demonstrated in plants, difficulties in vector construction, complexities of protein engineering, and frequent off-target cleavage limited their widespread adoption. A major revelation came from the study of Jinek et al. (2012), who reported a facile genome engineering technology; the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated nuclease 9 (Cas9) system could be used to edit the genome in a programmable way. Unlike ZFNs and TALENS which require substantial protein engineering steps to target each novel site, the CRISPR-Cas9 system is dependent on single guide RNA (sgRNA) for base-pairing activities. Thus, to target each novel site within the genome, only the 20 bp sequence at the 5' end of sgRNA has to be changed (Jinek et al. 2012). CRISPR as an efficient and versatile system has since then revolutionized life sciences owing to its capability to generate targeted, predictable, and stable genetic changes in living organisms.

13.3 The CRISPR-Cas System: From Bacterial Origin to Genome Editing Tool

Ishino *et al.* (1987) first reported the presence of a unique sequence of DNA fragments in the genome of *E. coli*. These fragments contained repeats of DNA interspaced with short variable sequences. Later it was reported that the CRISPR arrays are present in the genome of the number of bacteria and archaea (Mojica et al. 2000). The study by Mojica et al. (2005) revealed that the variable sequences (spacers) between DNA fragments were acquired from the pathogenic viruses and plasmids, which invaded the bacterium. This laid a clue for scientists that the CRISPR system could be responsible for adaptive immunity in prokaryotes (Pourcel et al. 2005). It was later reported that the addition or deletion of particular spacers could alter the phage-resistant phenotype of bacterium, further strengthening the notion that CRISPR might be involved in defense mechanism (Bolotin et al. 2005; Barrangou et al. 2007). Brouns et al. (2008) exhibited in a study that a complex of Cas proteins cut the CRISPR RNA precursor (pre-crRNA) within the repeats into mature crRNA molecules. Later, it was reported that base-pairing with pre-crRNA's repeat regions in the presence of RNAase III, Cas9, and Streptococcus pyogenes' trans-noncoding small RNA can drive the maturation process of crRNAs (Deltcheva et al. 2011). These mature crRNAs then guide a complex of Cas protein to cleave the target viral DNA through sequence-specific base-pairing. Garneau et al. (2010) reported the DNA cleavage ability of the CRISPR/Cas system in Streptococcus thermophilus.

Makarova et al. (2011) divided adaptive immunity process governed by CRISPR into three stages, namely, adaptation, expression, and interference. Adaptation involves the identification and introduction of a spacer sequence extracted from target DNA into the CRISPR array as a new spacer. During the expression stage, pre-crRNA is transcribed from the CRISPR locus and then pre-crRNA is matured into crRNA with the help of tracrRNA, RNAase III, and Cas9. Finally, in the interference stage, Cas proteins are guided by matured crRNAs to degrade the target sequences complementary to crRNA (Jackson et al. 2017). The proto-spacer adjacent-motif (PAM), a short stretch of di- or tri- nucleotides, is a prerequisite to complete the cleavage of target DNA. PAMs are present immediately after protospacers and their position involves them in the important task of recognition of specific proto-spacers (Mojica et al. 2009). Within this overall theme, two classes of the CRISPR-Cas system have been proposed, class 1 and class 2 (Makarova et al. 2011). These class systems are classified on the basis of the number of multifunctional proteins involved in the pre-crRNA processing and interference. Both single and multiple multifunctional proteins are used in the CRISPR system and are classified as class I and II, respectively (Koonin et al. 2017). These classes are further divided into different systems; Class I groups down to type I, III, and IV, while class II groups as type II, V, and VI of systems (Ishino et al. 2018). Based on operon organization and Cas proteins, the CRISPR system can be further divided into different subtypes (Zhang et al. 2019). The class 2 type II CRISPR system from S.pyogenes has become an attractive choice due to its relatively simpler design (Zhang et al. 2019).

13.3.1 The Mechanistic Features of SpCas9

Jinek et al. (2012) reported that the class 2 type II CRISPR system from S.pyogenes could be utilized in a programmable manner to edit the genomes of living organisms. After repurposing the CRISPR-Cas9 as a GE tool, the system was effectively reduced from three to two components; a single guide RNA (sgRNA) (which was formed by fusing the crRNA-tracrRNA) and SpCas9. The 20-base pair (bp) sequence present at the 5' end of sgRNA binds to the target DNA sequence via Watson-Crick base-pairing and guides the CRISPR ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complex to target the DNA site adjacent to PAM. Recognition of PAM triggers DNA melting, enabling the crRNA strand invasion which forms the so-called R-loop (Doudna and Charpentier 2014). The PAM sequence for SpCas9 is 'NGG'. However, it has been reported that SpCas9 also recognizes and cleaves the target sites with noncanonical PAMs in mammalian cells (Leenay et al. 2016) and rice (Meng et al. 2018). The Cas9 cleaves the DNA strand that is complementary to the 20-nucleotide sgRNA through the HNH domain, while the RuvC-like domain cleaves the DNA strand opposite to the complementary strand (Jinek et al. 2012; Gasiunas et al. 2012). This triggers the cellular DNA repair system which repairs the damaged strand through NHEJ or HDR (Fig. 13.1) (Doudna and Charpentier 2014). Mutating either catalytic domain (D10A of RuvC-like domain and H840A of HNH, correspondingly) produces a DNA nickase (nCas9), while mutating both catalytic domains produces a catalytic dead Cas9 (dCas9) null mutant. The dCas9 can still bind to and deliver functional cargo to the programmed site (Brezgin et al. 2019).

13.3.2 Variants and Orthologs SpCas9 Systems

PAM selection limits the targeting scope of SpCas9. Therefore, Cas9 has been engineered with a thoughtful design and evolved to obtain variants having broader PAM requirements. For example, Cas9 has been engineered to recognize a broader range of PAM sequences such as SpCas9 VQR (NGA), SpCas9 EQR (NGAG), SpCas9 VRER (NGCG) (Kleinstiver et al. 2015), SpCas9 D1135E (NGCG) (Cong et al. 2013), SpCas9 QQR1 (NAAG) (Anders et al. 2016), SpCas9-NG (NG) (Nishimasu et al. 2018), iSpy-macCas9 (NAA) (Jakimo et al. 2018), SpCas9-HF1 (NGG) (Kleinstiver et al. 2015), SpCas9 (K855A) (NGG), eSpCas9 (1.0) (NGG), and eSp-Cas9 (1.1) (NGG) (Slaymaker et al. 2016) to expand targetable sites and enhance Cas9 specificity. Additionally, several Cas9 orthologs from other bacterial species have been surveyed to broaden the PAM target range. For example, *Staphylococcus* aureus Cas9 (NNGRRT) (Nishimasu et al. 2015), Francisella novicida Cas9 (NGG) (Hirano et al. 2016), Neisseria meningitides Cas9 (NNNNGATT) (Lee et al. 2016), Streptococcus thermophilus 1 Cas9 (NNAGAAW) (Kleinstiver et al. 2015), Streptococcus thermophilus 3 Cas9 (NGGNG) (Müller et al. 2016), and Campylobacter jejuni Cas9 (NNNNACAC and NNNRYAC) (Kim et al. 2017) have also been developed as a GE tool.

13.3.3 The CRISPR-Cpf1 System: An Advanced System for Genome Editing

Various CRISPR nucleases have been engineered as GE tools in recent years, to overcome the limitations of CRISPR-Cas9 systems. A new group of CRISPR nucleases from Prevotella and Francisella, named Cpf1(Cas12a), has been discovered by Zhang and his research group at MIT and Board Institute (Zetsche et al. 2015). Cpf1 is an RNA-guided endonuclease with a length of 1200-1500 amino acids and is classified as a class 2 type V CRISPR nuclease (Manghwar et al. 2019). The Cpf1 nucleases from Francisella novicida (FnCpf1), Acidaminococcus spp (AsCpf1), and Lachnospiraceae bacterium (LbCpf1) have been used as a GE tool in the range of plant species (Zhang et al. 2019) (and references therein). Recently, Cpf1 has emerged as an alternative for Cas9 due to its unique features. First, the Cpf1 requires only crRNA of ~42 nucleotides (as compared to Cas9 which requires ~100 nucleotide sgRNA) making Cpf1 crRNA easy to synthesize, multiplex, and engineer than SpCas9 (Yamano et al. 2016; Manghwar et al. 2019). Second, Cpf1 targets T-rich PAM sequences unlike G-rich PAM sequences recognized by SpCas9 which broadens its target range (Safari et al. 2019). For example, Prevotella and Francisella 1 (Cpf1) rely on T-rich PAM sequence (5'-TTTN-3' or 5'-TTTV-3') at the 5 ' end of proto-spacer sequence. Third, Cpf1 produces staggered dsDNA breaks (creating 5 or 8 nucleotides 5' overhang initiating at 18 nucleotides 3' of the PAM) facilitating HDR-mediated gene insertion/modification and NHEJ-mediated gene insertion (Moon et al. 2018; Safari et al. 2019). Finally, Cpf1 possesses RNAase activity in addition to DNA nuclease activity, enabling Cpf1 to process a CRISPR system for multilevel GE (Yamano et al. 2016). Cpf1 relies on a RuvC-like endonuclease domain along with a Nuc domain for DNA cleavage (Yamano et al. 2016). Cpf1 lacks the HNH domain and may include a single active site in the RuvC domain (Jeon et al. 2018). However, mutating the catalytic domain of Cpf1 abolishes the DNA cleavage ability of both strands (Yamano et al. 2016). This means that there is no Cpf1 nickase currently available (Zhang et al. 2019).

13.3.4 Variants and Orthologs of Cpf1 Systems

To expand the utility of the Cpf1 nuclease as a GE tool, several orthologs from diverse bacterial species have been surveyed (Yamano et al. 2016). These orthologues include *Moraxella bovoculi* Cas12a (MbCas12a), Mb2Cas12a, Mb3Cas12a, *Pseudobutyrivibrio ruminis* Cas12a (PrCas12a), *Pseudobutyrivibrio xylanivorans* Cas12a (PxCas12a), *Lachnospira pectinoschiza* Cas12a (LpCas12a), *Btyrivibrio* sp. Cas12a (BsCas12a), *Lachnospiraceae bacterium* Cas12a (LbCas12a), and *Thiomicrospira* sp. Cas12a (TsCas12a). These orthologues show editing activity at loosened or shorter PAM sites and could be utilized for plant GE (Yamano et al. 2016; Tóth et al. 2018; Zetsche et al. 2017; Teng et al. 2019).

13.3.5 Base Editing

Single base changes are responsible for the variation of many important traits among the elite crop plants (Henikoff and Comai 2003). However, either HDR or NHEJ is not efficient in triggering the single nucleotide substitutions in plants (Zhang et al. 2018). Therefore, innovations to introduce precise point mutations in crop plants are needed. Base editing (BE) introduces nucleotide changes in the genome with great precision and reproducible manner (Manghwar et al. 2019). Importantly, BE is independent of DSBs, donor template, and either NHEJ or HDR (Zhang et al. 2019). BE as an alternative to NHEJ and HDR has emerged as a powerful tool that has been utilized to improve many traits among plants (reviewed by Bharat et al. 2020). Two types of BEs are routinely used in molecular biology experiments. These include cytosine base editors (CBEs) and adenine base editors (ABEs) (Bharat et al. 2020). For CBE, the dCas9 is fused with an enzyme, cytidine deaminase, that is involved in the conversion of cytosine to uracil (C-U) by deaminating cytosine under the window of nontargeted protein (Lu and Zhu 2017; Li et al. 2018b). The uracil is recognized as thymine in the next round of DNA replication, thereby resulting in C-G to T-A single base substitution (Komor et al. 2016). A uracil glycosylase inhibitor (UGI) is usually added to the expression construct to block the base excision repair pathway that might convert uracil back to cytosine (Zhong et al., 2019). Similarly, in ABE, either nCas9 or dCas9 are fused to adenosine deaminase which catalyzes the deamination of adenosine causing adenosine to inosine substitution (A-I). During DNA replication, inosine is recognized as guanine (G). As a result, ABE allows A-T to G-C base swaps (Nishida et al. 2016).

13.4 Applications of Genome Editing Techniques

Various abiotic stresses are the major constraints to agricultural production such as drought, salinity, heavy metals toxicity, heat, flooding, etc. Biotic factors like bacterial, fungal, and insects attacks also affect the global crop yield. Molecular approaches such as TALENs, ZFNs, CRISPR-Cas, etc. have been used for genome editing in plants to make them stress-resilient (Voytas 2013; Mahfouz et al. 2014). However, the CRISPR-Cas technology provides an unprecedented opportunity to target the genomic DNA sequence with great efficiency and precision at a low cost. Since CRISPR-Cas was repurposed as a genome editing tool, it has been extensively utilized by researchers to target desired genes and increase plant stress resilience and agricultural productivity among others (Manghwar et al. 2019). In the following section, we will emphasize and discuss the various applications of CRISPR-Cas systems to enhance plant abiotic stress resistance. (Table 13.1.)

	References	Cai et al. (2018)	Zhou et al. (2016)	Andersson et al. (2017)	Nonaka et al. (2017)
	Resulting phenotype/trait	Lagged flowering time during both short and long-day conditions	TGMS achieved along with greater yield with stronger off-springs	Fall in amylose content and rise in the amylopectin	Increase of <i>γ</i> -Aminobutyric acid (GABA)
	Mutant screening method	Sequencing Analysis	Sanger Sequencing	High- Resolution Fragment Analysis (HRFA)	Sanger Sequencing and GABase assay method
	Promoter for sgRNA	AtU6	OsU6a, OsU3	AtU6, StU6	AtU6-26
	Promoter for Cas9	2 × 35S	ZmUbi	CaMV 35S	ZmUbi
······································	Mutation type	Site-directed INDELS mutations	Single nucleotide insertions, deletions, and substitutions	Allelic mutations, INDELS mutations	INDELS
	Genome editing/ repair mechanism	NHEJ	NHEJ	NHEJ	NHEJ
0	Insertion Method of Cas9 System	Agrobacterium- mediated transformation	×	PEG-mediated transfection	Agrobacterium- mediated transformation
	Function of gene	Integrator in photoperiod flowering pathway, encoding florigen	Encodes the endonuclease RNase Z in AnS-1 and determines the TGMS traits	Encodes granule- bound starch synthase, responsible for the synthesis of amylose	Encode glutamate decarboxylase
	Target Gene	GmFT2a	TMS5	GBSS (Granule- Bound Starch Synthase)	SIGAD2, SIGAD3
11	Plant	Soya bean (<i>Glycine max</i> (L.) Merr.)	Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	Potato (Solanum tuberosum)	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.)
	Application	Yield	Yield	Quality	Quality

 Table 13.1
 Application of CRISPR-Cas system for targeted mutagenesis of various traits of crop plants

				Insertion Method	Genome editing/		Promoter	Promoter	Mutant		
		Target	Function of	of Cas9	repair		for	for	screening	Resulting	
Application	Plant	Gene	gene	System	mechanism	Mutation type	Cas9	sgRNA	method	phenotype/trait	References
Abiotic Stress	Arabidopsis (Arabidopsis thaliana)	CBF1 and CBF1/ CBF2	Responsible for cold stress response	*	NHEJ	INDELS (Insertions)	2 × 35S	AtU6-26	mRNA sequencing analysis (Illumina HiSeq) and qRT-PCR	Increased tolerance against cold stress	Jia et al. (2016)
Abiotic Stress	Maize (Zea mays L.)	ARGOS8	Negative regulator of ethylene responses	Particle bombardment	HR	Insertion mutations	ZmUbi	ZmU6	qPCR assay, mRNA sequencing analysis (Illumina HiSeq), Immunoblot analysis	Increased grain yield under drought stress	Shi et al. (2017)
Biotic Stress	Citrus (<i>Citrus</i> <i>paradise</i> Macf.)	CsLOB1	Promotes citrus canker susceptibility and formation of an erumpent pustule	A grobacterium- mediated epicotyl transformation method	NHEJ	Insertion, deletions, and substitutions	35S	35S 35S	Next- Generation sequencing analysis (Illumina HiSeq)	Mutants resulted in canker- resisted citrus	Jia et al. (2017) and Peng et al. (2017)
Biotic Stress	Cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.)	elF4E	Translation initiation factor; plays a major role in the Potyviridae life cycle	Agrobacterium- mediated transformation	NHEJ	Small deletions and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)	35S	AtU6	PCR and RNA sequencing analysis	Broad virus resistance against infection of <i>Papaya</i> <i>ringspot mosaic</i> <i>virus-W</i> (PRSV-W)	Chandrasekaran et al. (2016)

 Table 13.1 (continued)

13.4.1 Improvement of Yield Traits

Precise genome editing with the help of engineered Cas9 protein has been successfully implemented in some model plants. Soya bean being an important legume crop requires more yield to fulfill the needs of living beings. Its photoperiodic sensitivity limits its geographical range of cultivation, as it is a short-day plant (Wang et al. 2016; Xu et al. 2013). To increase its yield by introducing it in regional and domestic areas, molecular biologists studied the function of its genes that control the flowering time and expression in soybean. GmFT2a is a target gene that encodes florigen. With the help of the CRISPR-Cas9 system, GmFT2a's targeted mutagenesis has been induced in the soybean, which knocked out the endogenous gene. The resulting generation showed delayed flowering time and passed on the mutation to the next-generation stably (Cai et al. 2018). Rice is a staple food of the majority of the world population. Thermo-sensitive genetic male sterility (TGMS) line has been used majorly by researchers for hybrid breeding, to improve its yield (Zhou et al. 2012). The engineered mutations via the CRISPR/Cas9 system were induced in the TGMS5 to gain 11 new hybrid lines in 1 year. It demonstrates the potential of CRISPR/Cas9 in producing high-yield crops (Zhou et al. 2016).

13.4.2 Enhanced Produce Quality

Improvement of qualitative traits with the help of CRISPR/Cas9 is another breakthrough application of the CRISPR-mediated GE system. Andersson et al. 2017, disrupted the GBSS gene in potato (Solanum tuberosum), which encodes a granulebound starch synthase. Observations were made that the GBSS enzyme only lost its activity in the lines experiencing mutations in all four of its alleles. These varieties showed a rise in the amylopectin ratio and a fall in amylose content. Recently, genes in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*), i.e., SIGAD2, SIGAD3, which encode glutamate decarboxylase, have been modified with the CRISPR/Cas9 technology. These modifications allowed more accumulation of γ -Aminobutyric acid (GABA), which is a health-beneficial compound. (Nonaka et al. 2017; Li et al. 2018a, b)

13.4.3 Gene Editing for Plant Abiotic Stress Resilience

Abiotic stresses are responsible for the reduction of crop yield worldwide (Haider et al. 2021). To study the stress response of plants against abiotic stresses, CRISPR/Cas9 has been also employed for the development of mutants. In Arabidopsis thaliana, the role of C-repeat binding factors (CBFs) against cold stress has been determined by CRISPR/Cas9 system. Damage of CBF1 and CBF2 in cbf3, a mutant produced by T-DNA insertion, results in the production of mutants of CBF1,2,3.

The resulted mutants showed great tolerance towards cold stress (Jia et al. 2016). Designing stress-tolerant crops with the help of specific gene editing through CRISPR/Cas9 is another important milestone. Shi et al. (2017) produced a drought-tolerant maize crop, by using a similar approach. The expression of *the ARGOS8* gene, which encodes for negative regulation of ethylene responses, was enhanced by switching native promoter with *GOS2* promoter with the help of Homologous Recombination (HR). Improved grain quality had been exhibited by these variants under drought stress conditions. These examples prove the potential of CRISPR/Cas9 as a sophisticated tool to engineer plants to gain resilience against various biotic and abiotic stresses.

13.4.4 Engineering Plant Biotic Stress Resistance

Enhanced disease resistance against pathogens in plants by CRISPR/Cas9 technique has been observed. *Citrus paradisi*, when infected with bacterial pathogen *Xanthomonas citri* (citrus canker causing agent), experiences the expression of the *CsLOB1* gene, which increases the plant's susceptibility towards canker disease. CRISPR/Cas9 disrupted the expression of *CsLOB1* and produced canker-resistant varieties (Hu et al. 2014; Jia et al. 2017). The eukaryotic translation initiation factors (eIF) in cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) hold recessive-resistant properties against viral attacks. CRISPR/Cas9 system mutated the eIF4E and eIF(iso)4E to produce virus-resistant cucumber varieties (Chandrasekaran et al. 2016). Novel findings explain that CRISPR/Cas9 can also disrupt the viral genome and can produce *Tobacco mosaic virus* (TMV) and *Cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV)-resistant species as well (Abdullah et al. 2017).

13.5 Future Perspectives

Various GE techniques offer a ground for developing strategies to combat the destructive effects of environmental stresses on plants. CRISPR/Cas9 system-based genome editing has revolutionized the field of genetic engineering in past few years. Its diagnostic applications and precise genome alteration make it a potential technique for gene editing. Technological advancements are being used to create knockouts along with knock-ins, as well as to activate and inhibit gene expression. Many improvements have already been made in a short amount of time because of their usefulness in a practical system. DNA-free genome editing, Cas9's various variants, precision in base editing and multigene targeting methods, and enhancing frequency of HDR are some of the practical uses of CRISPR/Cas's system. Bioinformatic tools relative to this technique have also improved and have resulted in the rising use of the CRISPR/Cas system. However, educating the public masses about transgene crops is crucial. It is necessary for sustainable crop growth to bring laboratory

research into the field. In this scenario, establishing rules to ensure the distinction between genetically engineered plants with or without foreign DNA is crucial to exempt the latter from any limitations. Genetically engineered plants with mutations close to natural variations have benefits over plants with novel mutations, allowing them to have public access in countries with strict rules against transgenic crops. In this way, precise genome editing techniques appear to be promising. Because of the lack of well-defined regulatory regulations, the distance between the lab and the field is always growing. Because gene editing can result in natural genome alterations, and the outcome of genome editing done by 'traditional' means and naturally happening genome editing cannot be differentiated in some circumstances, specific control of the technology proves unjustified. Another viewpoint is that, in any event, the legislator should focus on the precise qualities of the end product rather than the manufacturing technique to detect the potential danger. Aside from these difficulties, considerable efforts are needed to enhance transformation procedures, which are not yet optimal for numerous crop species and have been identified as a constraint for efficiently exploring recent advancements. CRISPR/Cas-based GE is still restricted only to advanced molecular biology labs that are primarily interested in fundamental biological questions. Crop breeders, on the other hand, still have a long way to go in terms of using technological advancements in crop development initiatives. On a pay-per-use basis, both public and independent facilities offering facilities for construct generation, genetic transformation, and analysis of GE plants will be a turning point in moving advances from the experimental labs to the crop field by supplying breeders with highly efficient GE tools. The material presented here will aid in understanding current technical advancements, knowledge gaps, and technological adaption issues that are necessary for the effective use of genome editing technologies for crop development.

13.6 Conclusion

In the past 5 years, GE techniques have flourished and revolutionized the disciplines of plant crop improvement and functional genomics. Due to its simplicity, ease of usage, flexibility, and acceptable off-target consequences, CRISPR/Cas9 has become the most promising method. The genome editing technique has a lot of potential for creating crop varieties with increased disease resistance, higher yield and quality, and unique agronomic characteristics that will benefit farmers and consumers. The technique has been utilized for targeted mutagenesis in a variety of models and food crops with great success. CRISPR–Cpf1 has recently been utilized as a novel and alternative technique for engineering plant genome editing, overcoming some of the constraints of the CRISPR/Cas9 system, such as the necessity for a PAM site, thereby expanding the scope of genome editing in crops. Nonetheless, a rising number of case studies show that CRISPR/Cas9 is an effective and widely utilized technique that can accelerate both scientific and applied agricultural research.

Authors' Contribution Yumna Ahmad performed the literature review and wrote the primary manuscript together with the Saqlain Haider and Javed Iqbal. Banzeer Ahsan Abbasi and Tabassum Yaseen corrected and finalized the manuscript. Tariq Mahmood supervised the review work.

Acknowledgments NA

Competing Interests The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Abdullah E, Idris A, Saparon A (2017) Establishing RNA virus resistance in plants by harnessing CRISPR immune system. ARPN J Eng Appl Sci 12:3218–3221
- Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Konermann S, Joung J, Slaymaker IM, Cox DB et al (2016) C2c2 is a single-component programmable RNA-guided RNA-targeting CRISPR effector. Science 353(6299)
- Anders C, Bargsten K, Jinek M (2016) Structural plasticity of PAM recognition by engineered variants of the RNA-guided endonuclease Cas9. Mol Cell 61:895–902
- Andersson M, Turesson H, Nicolia A et al (2017) Efficient targeted multiallelic mutagenesis in tetraploid potato (Solanum tuberosum) by transient CRISPR-Cas9 expression in protoplasts. Plant Cell Rep 36:117–128
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H et al (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science 315:1709–1712
- Bharat SS, Li S, Li J, Yan L, Xia L (2020) Base editing in plants: current status and challenges. Crop J 8(3):384–395
- Bolotin A, Quinquis B, Sorokin A, Ehrlich SD (2005) Clustered regularly interspaced short palindrome repeats (CRISPRs) have spacers of extrachromosomal origin. Microbiology 151(8):2551–2561
- Bortesi L, Fischer R (2015) The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. Biotechnol Adv 33(1):41–52
- Brezgin S, Kostyusheva A, Kostyushev D, Chulanov V (2019) Dead cas systems: types, principles, and applications. Int J Mol Sci 20(23):6041
- Brouns SJ, Jore MM, Lundgren M, Westra ER, Slijkhuis RJ, Snijders AP et al (2008) Small CRISPR RNAs guide antiviral defense in prokaryotes. Science 321(5891):960–964
- Burstein D, Harrington LB, Strutt SC, Probst AJ, Anantharaman K, Thomas BC et al (2017) New CRISPR–Cas systems from uncultivated microbes. Nature 542(7640):237–241
- Cai Y, Chen L, Liu X et al (2018) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of GmFT2a delays flowering time in soya bean. Plant Biotechnol J 16:176–185
- Chandrasekaran J, Brumin M, Wolf D et al (2016) Development of broad virus resistance in nontransgenic cucumber using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. Mol Plant Pathol 17:1140–1153
- Chen W, Qian Y, Wu X, Sun Y, Wu X, Cheng X (2014) Inhibiting replication of begomoviruses using artificial zinc finger nucleases that target viral-conserved nucleotide motif. Virus Genes 48:494–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11262-014-1041-4
- Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C (2019) CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 70:667–697
- Cong L et al (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339:819-823
- Cox DB, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Franklin B, Kellner MJ, Joung J, Zhang F (2017) RNA editing with CRISPR-Cas13. Science 358(6366):1019–1027

- Cristea S, Freyvert Y, Santiago Y, Holmes MC, Urnov FD, Gregory PD, Cost GJ (2013) In vivo cleavage of transgene donors promotes nuclease-mediated targeted integration. Biotechnol Bioeng 110(3):871–880
- Curtin SJ, Zhang F, Sander JD, Haun WJ, Starker C, Baltes NJ et al (2011) Targeted mutagenesis of duplicated genes in soybean with zinc-finger nucleases. Plant Physiol 156:466–473. https:// doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.172981
- Curtin SJ, Voytas DF, Stupar RM (2012) Genome engineering of crops with designer nucleases. Plant Genome 5:42–50
- Deltcheva E, Chylinski K, Sharma CM et al (2011) CRISPR RNA maturation by trans-encoded small RNA and host factor RNase III. Nature 471:602–607
- Deng D, Yan C, Pan X, Mahfouz M, Wang J, Zhu J-K et al (2012) Structural basis for sequencespecific recognition of Dna by Tal effectors. Science 335:720–723. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1215670
- Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2014) The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. Science 346(6213)
- Doyle EL, Stoddard BL, Voytas DF, Bogdanove AJ (2013) TAL effectors: highly adaptable phytobacterial virulence factors and readily engineered DNA-targeting proteins. Trends Cell Biol 23:390–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2013.04.003
- Garneau JE, Dupuis MÈ, Villion M, Romero DA, Barrangou R, Boyaval P et al (2010) The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature 468(7320):67–71
- Gasiunas G, Barrangou R, Horvath P, Siksnys V (2012) Cas9-crRNA ribonucleoprotein complex mediates specific DNA cleavage for adaptive immunity in bacteria. PNAS 109:E2579–E2586
- Haider S, Iqbal J, Naseer S, Shaukat M, Abbasi BA, Yaseen T et al (2021) Unfolding molecular switches in plant heat stress resistance: A comprehensive review. Plant Cell Rep:1–24
- Henikoff S, Comai L (2003) Single-nucleotide mutations for plant functional genomics. Annu Rev Plant Biol 54(1):375–401
- Hirano H et al (2016) Structure and engineering of Francisella novicida Cas9. Cell 164:950-961
- Hu Y, Zhang J, Jia H et al (2014) Lateral organ boundaries 1 is a disease susceptibility gene for citrus bacterial canker disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:E521–E529
- Hua K, Zhang J, Botella JR, Ma C, Kong F, Liu B, Zhu JK (2019) Perspectives on the application of genome-editing technologies in crop breeding. Mol Plant 12(8):1047–1059
- Ishino Y, Krupovic M, Forterre P (2018) History of CRISPR-Cas from encounter with a mysterious repeated sequence to genome editing technology. J Bacteriol 200(7)
- Ishino Y, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Amemura M, Nakata A (1987) Nucleotide sequence of the iap gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in Escherichia coli, and identification of the gene product. J Bacteriol 169(12):5429–5433
- Jackson SA, McKenzie RE, Fagerlund RD, Kieper SN, Fineran PC, Brouns SJ (2017) CRISPR-Cas: adapting to change. Science 356(6333)
- Jaganathan D, Ramasamy K, Sellamuthu G, Jayabalan S, Venkataraman G (2018) CRISPR for crop improvement: an update review. Front Plant Sci 9:985. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.0098
- Jakimo N, Chatterjee P, Nip L Jacobson JM (2018) A Cas9 with complete PAM recognition for adenine dinucleotides. Preprint at https://www.biorxiv.org/node/129129.abstract
- Jeon Y, Choi YH, Jang Y, Yu J, Goo J, Lee G et al (2018) Direct observation of DNA target searching and cleavage by CRISPR-Cas12a. Nat Commun 9(1):1–11
- Jia Y, Ding Y, Shi Y et al (2016) The cbfs triple mutants reveal the essential functions of CBFs in cold acclimation and allow the definition of CBF regulons in Arabidopsis. New Phytol 212:345–353
- Jia H, Zhang Y, Orbovic V et al (2017) Genome editing of the disease susceptibility gene CsLOB1 in citrus confers resistance to citrus canker. Plant Biotechnol J 15:817–823
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA–guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337(6096):816–821
- Joung JK, Sander JD (2013) TALENS: a widely applicable technology for targeted genome editing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14:49–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3486

- Kim E et al (2017) In vivo genome editing with a small Cas9 orthologue derived from Campylobacter jejuni. Nat Commun 8:14500
- Kleinstiver BP et al (2015) Engineered CRISPRCas9 nucleases with altered PAM specificities. Nature 523:481–485
- Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR (2016) Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage. Nature 533(7603):420–424
- Koonin EV, Makarova KS, Zhang F (2017) Diversity, classification and evolution of CRISPR-Cas systems. Curr Opin Microbiol 37:67–78
- Lee CM et al (2016) The Neisseria meningitidis CRISPR-Cas9 system enables specific genome editing in mammalian cells. Mol Ther 24:645–654
- Leenay RT, Maksimchuk KR, Slotkowski RA, Agrawal RN, Gomaa AA et al (2016) Identifying and visualizing functional PAM diversity across CRISPR-Cas systems. Mol Cell 62:137–147
- Li L, Piatek MJ, Atef A, Piatek A, Wibowo A, Fang X et al (2012) Rapid and highly efficient construction of TALE-based transcriptional regulators and nucleases for genome modification. Plant Mol Biol 78:407–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-012-9875-4
- Li R, Li X et al (2018a) Multiplexed CRISPR/Cas9-mediated metabolic engineering of c-aminobutyric acid levels in Solanum lycopersicum. Plant Biotechnol J 16:415–427
- Li C, Zong Y, Wang Y, Jin S, Zhang D, Song Q et al (2018b) Expanded base editing in rice and wheat using a Cas9-adenosine deaminase fusion. Genome Biol 19(1):1–9
- Liu JJ, Orlova N, Oakes BL, Ma E, Spinner HB, Baney KL et al (2019) CasX enzymes comprise a distinct family of RNA-guided genome editors. Nature 566(7743):218–223
- Lu Y, Zhu JK (2017) Precise editing of a target base in the rice genome using a modified CRISPR/ Cas9 system. Mol Plant 10(3):523–525
- Mahfouz MM, Piatek A, Stewart CN Jr (2014) Genome engineering via TALENs and CRISPR/ Cas9 systems: challenges and perspectives. Plant Biotechnol J 12:1006–1014. https://doi. org/10.1111/pbi.12256
- Makarova KS, Haft DH, Barrangou R, Brouns SJ, Charpentier E, Horvath P et al (2011) Evolution and classification of the CRISPR–Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 9(6):467–477
- Manghwar H, Lindsey K, Zhang X, Jin S (2019) CRISPR/Cas system: recent advances and future prospects for genome editing. Trends Plant Sci 24(12):1102–1125
- Meng X, Hu X, Liu Q, Song X, Gao C et al (2018) Robust genome editing of CRISPR-Cas9 at NAG PAMs in rice. Sci China Life Sci 61:122–125
- Mojica FJ, Díez-Villaseñor C, Soria E, Juez G (2000) Biological significance of a family of regularly spaced repeats in the genomes of archaea, bacteria and mitochondria. Mol Microbiol 36(1):244–246
- Mojica FJ, García-Martínez J, Soria E (2005) Intervening sequences of regularly spaced prokaryotic repeats derive from foreign genetic elements. J Mol Evol 60(2):174–182
- Mojica FJ, Díez-Villaseñor C, García-Martínez J, Almendros C (2009) Short motif sequences determine the targets of the prokaryotic CRISPR defence system. Microbiology 155(3):733–740
- Moon SB, Lee JM, Kang JG, Lee NE, Ha DI, Kim SH et al (2018) Highly efficient genome editing by CRISPR-Cpf1 using CRISPR RNA with a uridinylate-rich 3'-overhang. Nat Commun 9(1):1–11
- Müller M et al (2016) Streptococcus thermophilus CRISPR-Cas9 systems enable specific editing of the human genome. Mol Ther 24(3):636–644
- Mushtaq M, Sakina A, Wani SH, Shikari AB, Tripathi P, Zaid A et al (2019) Harnessing genome editing techniques to engineer disease resistance in plants. Front Plant Sci 10:550
- Nishida K, Arazoe T, Yachie N, Banno S, Kakimoto M, Tabata M et al (2016) Targeted nucleotide editing using hybrid prokaryotic and vertebrate adaptive immune systems. Science 353(6305)
- Nishimasu H et al (2015) Crystal structure of Staphylococcus aureus Cas9. Cell 162:1113–1126
- Nishimasu H et al (2018) Engineered CRISPR-Cas9 nuclease with expanded targeting space. Science 361:1259–1262
- Nonaka S, Arai C, Takayama M et al (2017) Efficient increase of c-aminobutyric acid (GABA) content in tomato fruits by targeted mutagenesis. Sci Rep 7:7057

- Oladosu Y, Rafii MY, Abdullah N, Hussin G, Ramli A, Rahim HA et al (2016) Principle and application of plant mutagenesis in crop improvement: a review. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 30(1):1–16
- Osakabe K, Osakabe Y, Toki S (2010) Site-directed mutagenesis in Arabidopsis using customdesigned zinc finger nucleases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:12034–12039. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1000234107
- Pacher M, Puchta H (2017) From classical mutagenesis to nuclease-based breeding-directing natural DNA repair for a natural end-product. Plant J 90(4):819-833
- Peng A et al (2017) Engineering canker-resistant plants through CRISPR/Cas9-targeted editing of the susceptibility gene CsLOB1 promoter in citrus. Plant Biotechnol J 15:1509–1519
- Pourcel C, Salvignol G, Vergnaud G (2005) CRISPR elements in Yersinia pestis acquire new repeats by preferential uptake of bacteriophage DNA, and provide additional tools for evolutionary studies. Microbiology 151(3):653–663
- Prado JR, Segers G, Voelker T, Carson D, Dobert R, Phillips J et al (2014) Genetically engineered crops: from idea to product. Annu Rev Plant Biol 65:769–790
- Puchta H, Fauser F (2013) Gene targeting in plants: 25 years later. Int J Dev Biol 57:629–637. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.130194hp
- Qi Y, Zhang Y, Zhang F, Baller JA, Cleland SC, Ryu Y et al (2013) Increasing frequencies of sitespecific mutagenesis and gene targeting in arabidopsis by manipulating DNA repair pathways. Genome Res 23:547–554. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.145557.112
- Safari F, Zare K, Negahdaripour M, Barekati-Mowahed M, Ghasemi Y (2019) CRISPR Cpf1 proteins: structure, function and implications for genome editing. Cell & Biosci 9(1):1–21
- Scheben A, Wolter F, Batley J, Puchta H, Edwards D (2017) Towards CRISPR/Cas crops-bringing together genomics and genome editing. New Phytol 216(3):682–698
- Shi J, Gao H, Wang H et al (2017) ARGOS8 variants generated by CRISPR-Cas9 improve maize grain yield under field drought stress conditions. Plant Biotechnol J 15:207–216
- Shmakov S, Abudayyeh OO, Makarova KS, Wolf YI, Gootenberg JS, Semenova E et al (2015) Discovery and functional characterization of diverse class 2 CRISPR-Cas systems. Mol Cell 60(3):385–397
- Slaymaker IM et al (2016) Rationally engineered Cas9 nucleases with improved specificity. Science 351:84–88
- Teng F, Li J, Cui T, Xu K, Guo L, Gao Q et al (2019) Enhanced mammalian genome editing by new Cas12a orthologs with optimized crRNA scaffolds. Genome Biol 20(1):1–6
- Tilman D, Balzer C, Hill J, Befort BL (2011) Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108(50):20260–20264
- Tóth E, Czene BC, Kulcsár PI, Krausz SL, Tálas A, Nyeste A et al (2018) Mb-and FnCpf1 nucleases are active in mammalian cells: activities and PAM preferences of four wild-type Cpf1 nucleases and of their altered PAM specificity variants. Nucleic Acids Res 46(19):10272–10285
- Townsend JA, Wright DA, Winfrey RJ, Fu F, Maeder ML, Joung JK et al (2009) High-frequency modification of plant genes using engineered zinc-finger nucleases. Nature 459:442–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07845
- Voytas DF (2013) Plant genome engineering with sequence-specific nucleases. Annu Rev Plant Biol 64:327–350. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105552
- Wang Y, Gu Y, Gao H, Qiu L, Chang R, Chen S, He C (2016) Molecular and geographic evolutionary support for the essential role of GIGANTEAa in soybean domestication of flowering time. BMC Evol Biol 16:79
- Wolter F, Puchta H (2018) The CRISPR/Cas revolution reaches the RNA world: Cas13, a new Swiss Army knife for plant biologists. Plant J 94(5):767–775
- Wyman C, Kanaar R (2006) DNA double-strand break repair: all's well that ends well. Annu Rev Genet 40:363–383
- Xu M, Xu Z, Liu B, Kong F, Tsubokura Y, Watanabe S, Xia Z et al (2013) Genetic variation in four maturity genes affects photoperiod insensitivity and PHYA-regulated post-flowering responses of soybean. BMC Evol Biol 13:91

- Yamano T, Nishimasu H, Zetsche B, Hirano H, Slaymaker IM, Li Y et al (2016) Crystal structure of Cpf1 in complex with guide RNA and target DNA. Cell 165(4):949–962
- Zetsche B, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Slaymaker IM, Makarova KS, Essletzbichler P et al (2015) Cpf1 is a single RNA-guided endonuclease of a class 2 CRISPR-Cas system. Cell 163(3):759–771
- Zetsche B, Strecker J, Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Scott DA, Zhang F (2017) A survey of genome editing activity for 16 Cpf1 orthologs. bioRxiv:134015
- Zhang F, Maeder ML, Unger-Wallace E, Hoshaw JP, Reyon D, Christian M et al (2010) High frequency targeted mutagenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana using zinc finger nucleases. Proc Natl Acad SciUSA 107:12028–12033. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0914991107
- Zhang Y, Massel K, Godwin ID, Gao C (2018) Applications and potential of genome editing in crop improvement. Genome Biol 19(1):1–11
- Zhang Y, Malzahn AA, Sretenovic S, Qi Y (2019) The emerging and uncultivated potential of CRISPR technology in plant science. Nature Plants 5(8):778–794
- Zhong Z, Sretenovic S, Ren Q, Yang L, Bao Y, Qi C et al (2019) Improving plant genome editing with high-fidelity xCas9 and non-canonical PAM-targeting Cas9-NG. Mol Plant 12(7):1027–1036
- Zhou H, Liu Q, Li J et al (2012) Photoperiod- and thermosensitive genic male sterility in rice are caused by a point mutation in a novel noncoding RNA that produces a small RNA. Cell Res 22:649–660
- Zhou H, He M, Li J et al (2016) Development of commercial thermo-sensitive genic male sterile rice accelerates hybrid rice breeding using the CRISPR/Cas9- mediated TMS5 editing system. Sci Rep 6:37395

Chapter 14 Genomic Region Analysis and Genome Editing for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals



Sumit Jangra, Priti, Vrantika Chaudhary, Apurva Mishra, Ram C. Yadav, and Neelam R. Yadav

Contents

14.1	Introduction	316
14.2	Genomic Regions/QTLs for Cereal Grain Quality Improvement	317
14.3	QTLs for pro-Vitamin A	317
14.4	QTLs for Iron (Fe) and Zinc (Zn) Content	318
14.5	QTLs for Amino Acids and Grain Protein Content	322
14.6	Commercial Varieties with Improved Nutritional Value	322
14.7	Genome Editing (GE)	323
14.8	Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)	324
14.9	TALENs	325
14.10	CRISPR/ Cas9	328
14.11	CRISPR/Cas for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals	330
14.12	Maize (Zea Mays)	330
14.13	Rice (Oryza Sativa)	332
14.14	Wheat	334
14.15	Barley (Hordeum Vulgare)	334
14.16	Sorghum (Sorghum Bicolor)	335
14.17	Conclusion and Future Prospects	335
Refere	nces	336

S. Jangra (⊠) · Priti

Advanced Centre for Plant Virology, Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, India

Department of Molecular Biology, Biotechnology, and Bioinformatics, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India

V. Chaudhary · R. C. Yadav · N. R. Yadav Department of Molecular Biology, Biotechnology, and Bioinformatics, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India

A. Mishra

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Arsuaga-Vazquez Lab, UC Davis, Davis, USA

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_14

14.1 Introduction

Cereals are the principal stable crops for global population and thus are the primary source of micronutrients. However, cereals have a low level of micronutrients, and majority of them are lost during processing. Around two billion people mainly in Africa, South Asia, and Latin America suffer from malnutrition or nutrient deficiency which is responsible for the death of around 24,000 people daily all over the globe (Majumder et al. 2019). To achieve nutrient security, fortification of food, especially cereals, is necessary owing to the primary source of energy and nutrition in human diet. The availability of biofortified staple food crops would be a sustainable approach to provide a nutritious diet to people having limited access to variable dietary resources.

The principal aim of the breeders is to improve the yield potential of the cereals. Improving grain nutritional quality of cereals to attain nutritional security seems to be a newer area for breeders. Conventional and molecular approaches have enabled the breeder to develop cereals with higher micronutrients. QTLs for various micronutrients, identified in rice, maize, wheat, barley, and pearl millet, have been introgressed to develop improved versions of these cereals (Mahender et al. 2016; Govindaraj et al. 2019; Gaikwad et al. 2020; Saini et al. 2020; Prasanna et al. 2020; Swamy et al. 2021). HarvestPlus, a program under CGIAR (Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research), is working on development of biofortified crops in low- and middle-income countries. Under this program, cereals like maize, wheat, rice, and pearl millet along with other important crops have been biofortified (Bouis and Saltzman 2017). The biofortified crops developed under this program are being planted by over 8.5 million farmers across Africa, Asia, and Latin America (https://www.harvestplus.org). With the combined efforts of HarvestPlus and the institutions working with it, over 300 varieties of biofortified crops have been released for commercial cultivation in 40 developing nations using conventional and molecular breeding. A successful biofortified cereal in addition to enhanced nutritional value must be high yielding and acceptable to stakeholders.

In some cases, germplasm lacks the genetic variability in the desired trait for biofortification. Therefore, genetic modification (GM) of crops is a possible way to overcome the problem. GM technology involves introduction of the desired trait from the novel source (Yadav et al. 2018). With the low acceptability of GM crops, the ongoing agricultural practices are struggling to meet the nutrient security of the increasing global population (Rani et al. 2021; Jangra et al. 2021a, b). GE has emerged as a potential tool to overcome the challenges associated with the current crop improvement technologies. GE-assisted breeding has been successfully employed to modify the trait of interest in various crop plants without introduction of any foreign gene. In a very short time, GE had a great impact on crop improvement with its high precision and efficient genetic modification (Chen et al. 2019). The era of GE began with the introduction of double-stranded breaks (DSBs) at specific sites using endonucleases like zinc figure nucleases (Kim et al. 1996), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) (Christian et al. 2010), and

clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated 9 (Cas9) (Jinek et al. 2012). Since its development, GE has been employed to improve various crop plants (Park et al. 2019). Recently, there is an exponential increase in the utilization of GE for crop improvement. In this chapter, we will be focusing on the advancements made in the field of grain quality improvement in cereals using genomic regions/QTLs and GE.

14.2 Genomic Regions/QTLs for Cereal Grain Quality Improvement

The primary requirement for breeding biofortified crops is to look into the available germplasm to identify genomic regions with higher micronutrient content. The wild relatives of the crop plants are a rich source of various micronutrients and therefore can be utilized in the breeding program. The quality traits are polygenic and are controlled by several genes. Therefore, improvement of these traits through conventional breeding is quite difficult (Jangra et al. 2017; Jangra et al. 2018). The advancement in molecular marker technology has gained the interest of plant breeders to improve crop plants against complex traits. Molecular markers can be employed to identify the exact location of the genomic region/ QTL, determining the trait for nutritional quality. Once identified, these QTLs can be introgressed to elite cultivars/ varieties. OTL mapping based on biparental mapping populations is found to be less significant. However, genome wide-association mapping studies (GWAS) utilized the diverse germplasm which offers a large number of variations. The extent of linkage disequilibrium determines the marker-trait association. The identified markers linked to the target trait can be utilized in the breeding program to improve the crop plants. The overview of crop improvement based on genomic regions/ QTLs is denoted in Fig. 14.1.

14.3 QTLs for pro-Vitamin A

Deficiency of vitamin A is responsible for irreversible loss of vision and is one of the serious health issues in developing nations. It has been reported that over 30% of children and 19 million pregnant women are facing the problem of vitamin A deficiency in developing nations (Duo et al. 2021). Two alleles, viz. β -carotene hydroxylase 1 (crtRB1) and lycopene epsilon cyclase (lcyE), have been identified which favors pro-vitamin A biosynthesis in maize (Muthusamy et al. 2015). This has gained the interest of researchers to identify QTLs related to pro-vitamin A content in maize. Maize is an important cereal and consumed across the globe. Several QTLs for vitamin A content have been identified in maize (Table 14.1) (Babu et al. 2013; Azmach et al. 2013).



Fig. 14.1 Schematic representation of QTL-mediated improvement of crop plants

14.4 QTLs for Iron (Fe) and Zinc (Zn) Content

Cereals consumed as food are deficient in various micronutrients including Fe and Zn (White and Broadley 2005). As per WHO reports, 30% of the global population are suffering from anemia. To overcome this problem, there is a need to develop cereals with higher Fe and Zn content. In the past few years, several mapping populations have been developed to identify QTLs associated with Fe and Zn content (Table 14.1). In wheat, QTLs for Fe and Zn content have been reported by several authors (Hao et al. 2014; Srinivasa et al. 2014; Tiwari et al. 2016; Crespo-Herrera et al. 2016; Velu et al. 2017, 2018; Gorafi et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019). Similarly, in barley, QTLs for Fe and Zn were identified on chromosomes 6 and 2 (Mamo et al. 2014; Sadeghzadeh et al. 2015). In rice, several QTLs for Fe and Zn have been mapped on almost all chromosomes. Recently, two QTLs for Fe (qFe_{9.1} and qFe_{12.1}) and four QTLs for Zn (qZn_{1.1}, qZn_{5.1}, qZn_{9.1}, and qZn_{12.1}) content were identified in double haploid rice (Calayugan et al. 2020). Novel QTLs, qFe3.3 and qFe7.3 for Fe content and qZn2.2, qZn8.3, and qZn12.3 for Zn content, were identified using association mapping (Pradhan

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
Vitamin A	LcyE5'TE, LcyE3'Indel, rtRB1–3'T,	10	Maize	Babu et al. (2013)
	PSY1, lcyE, crtRB1	10		Azmach et al. (2013)
Fe and Zn content	QGzncpk.cimmyt_2BL	2BL	Wheat	
	QZn.bhu_2B, QZn.bhu_6A, and QFe.bhu_3B	2B, 6A, 3B		Srinivasa et al. (2014)
	QZn.bhu_2B, QFe.bhu_2B	2B		Tiwari et al. (2016)
	QZn.Across_4BS, QFe. Across7DS	4BS, 7DS		Crespo-Herrera et al. (2016)
	QGzn.ada_1B, QGzn.sar_1B, QGFe.ada_2B	1B, 2B		Velu et al. (2017)
	QGFe.iari-2A, QGFe.iari-5A, QGFe.iari-7A and QGFe.iari-7B, QGZn.iari-2A, QGZn.iari-4A, QGZn.iari-5A, QGZn.iari-7A and QGZn.iari-7B	2A, 4A, 5A, 7A, 7B		Krishnappa et al. (2017)
	QZn 2A, QZn7B	2A, 7B		Velu et al. (2018)
	qFes1, qfes2, qZns1, qZns2	4D, 2D, 5D, 1D		Gorafi et al. (2018)
	QGZn.co-5A, QGZn.co-7A, QGFe.co-3B.1, QGFe.co-5A.2	5A, 7A, 3B		Liu et al. (2019)
	QZn.caas-1DS, QZn.caas-2AS, QZn.caas-3BS, QZn.caas-4DS, QZn.caas-6AS, QZn.caas-6DL, QZn.caas-7BL, QFe.caas-3BL, QFe.caas-4DS, QFe.caas-6AS, QFe.caas-7BL	1DS, 2AS, 3BS, 4DS, 6AS, 6DL, 7BL, 3BL		Wang et al. (2021a, b)
	Zn-qtl-6H_SCRI_RS_10655	6HL	Barley	Mamo et al. (2014)
	QTL.Zn	2HS, 2HL		Sadeghzadeh et al. (2015)
	Fe-2H-84.74, Fe-2H-139.62, Fe-4H-67.9, Fe-1H-54.5, Fe-1H-57.85, Fe-1H-90.04, Fe-2H-84.74, Fe-4H-53.87, E-4H-54.95, Fe-6H-102.03, Fe-7H-17.62, Zn-2H-87.34, Zn-1H-21.97, Zn-2H-148.16, Zn-2H-40.12, Zn-2H-86.84	2H, 4H, 1H, 4H, 6H, 7H		Gyawali et al. (2017)
	qFe_2 , qZn_5	2, 5	Rice	Zhang et al. (2014)
	<i>qFe</i> _{1.2} (gene OsYSL1), <i>qFe</i> _{5.1} (gene OsZIP6), <i>qFe</i> _{7.2} (gene OsZIP8)	1, 5, 7		Agarwal et al. (2014)
	qFe_6, qZn_8	6, 8		Xu et al. (2015)

 Table 14.1
 List of genomic regions/ QTLs for grain quality in cereals

(continued)

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
	$qFe_{10.1}, qZn_{6.2}, qZn_{7.1}$	10, 6, 7		Descalsota et al. (2018)
	<i>qFe</i> _{1.2} , <i>qFe</i> _{11.1} , <i>qZn</i> _{2.1} , <i>qZn</i> _{3.2} , <i>qFe</i> _{3.2} , <i>qFe</i> _{4.1} , <i>qZn</i> _{5.1} , <i>qZn</i> _{12.1}	1, 11, 2, 3, 4, 5, 12		Swamy et al. (2018)
	$\begin{array}{c} qFe_{1.1} qFe_{1.2}, qZn_{1.1}, qFe_{6.1}, qZn_{6.1}, \\ qFe_{6.2}, qZn_{6.2} \end{array}$	1,6		Dixit et al. (2019)
	QTL.Fe.9, QTL.Zn.4	9,4		Islam et al. (2020)
	$qFe_{3.3}, qFe_{7.3}, qZn_{2.2}, qZn_{8.3}, qZn_{12.3}$	3, 8, 12		Pradhan et al. (2020)
	$qFe_{9.1}, qFe_{12.1}, qZn_{1.1}, qZn_{5.1}, qZn_{9.1}, qZn_{1.2}$	9, 12, 1, 5		Calayugan et al. (2020)
	qFe_7, qZn_7	7		Jeong et al. (2020)
	qZPR. _{1.1} , qZPR. _{11.1}	1, 11		Suman et al. (2021)
	Fe, Zn	LG 3, 5, 7	Pearl millet	Kumar et al. (2016)
	Fe, Zn	LG 3, 5, 7		Anuradha et al. (2017)
	qFe1/54 and qZn1/54	LG 1, 7		Kumar et al. (2018)
	<i>PglZIP, PglNRAMP, PglFER</i> (gene families)	LG 7		Mahendrakar et al. (2020)
	Fe, Zn	Pgl01, Pgl02, Pgl04, Pgl05, Pgl06 (2), Pgl07		Pujar et al. (2020)
	QFe2.1, QFe2.1, QFe3.1, QFe5.1, QFe7.1, QZn2.1, QZn3.1, QZn3.2, QZn6.1,	LG 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7		Singhal et al. (2021)
Amino acids and GPC	QPro.mgb-4B, QPro.mgb-5A, QPro.mgb-6A.1, QPro.mgb.6A.2, QPro.mgb.6B, QPro.mgb-7A, QPro.mgb-7B	4B, 5A, 6A, 6B, 7A, 7B	Wheat	Blanco et al. (2002)
	GPC	2AS, 6AS and 7BL		Blanco et al. (2006)
	QGpc.sdau-3B, QGpc.sdau-5A, QGpc.sdau-6A	3B, 5A, 6A		Sun et al. (2008)
	QGpc\tgw.WL-1D, QGpc.WL-2A, QGpc\yld.WL-2B, QGpc.WL-3B, QGpc.WL-4A, QGpc\yld.WL-4A, QGpc.WL-5B, QGpc.WL-5D, QGpc.WL-6B, QGpc.WL-7A	1D, 2A, 2B, 3B, 4A, 5B, 5D, 6B, 7A		Wang et al. (2012)
	QGPC.bhu_1A	1A		Tiwari et al. (2016)
	GPC, Protein yield	1A, 1B, 2A, 2D, 3A-1, 3A-2, 3B, 3D-2, 4A, 4B, 5A, 5B, 5D, 6A, 7A-1, 7B		Mahjourimajd et al. (2016)

Table 14.1 (continued)

(continued)

Trait	Genomic region/QTLs	Chromosome	Crop	References
	QGpc.sdau-1D, QGpc.sdau-2D, QGpc.sdau-4A, QGpc.sdau-1A, QGpc.sdau-2A.2, QGpc.sdau-4B, QGpc.sdau-5D, QGpc.sdau-7A, QGpc.sdau-2A.1,	1A, 1D, 2A, 2D, 4A, 4B, 5D, 7A		Sun et al. (2016)
	QGpc.2B-yume	2B		Terasawa et al. (2016)
	QGpc.uhw-4B, QGpc.uhw-5A.1, QGpc.uhw-6B, QGpc.uhw-7B.2	4B, 5A, 6B, 7B		Fatiukha et al. (2020)
	QGpc-1B-2, QGpc-4B-1.4	1B, 4B		Guo et al. (2020)
	QGPC.cib-4A	4A		Li et al. (2020)
	PC	6, 7	Rice	Tan et al. (2001)
	prol	1		Aluko et al. (2004)
	<i>qCP-12</i>	12		Zhang et al. (2008)
	<i>qPC11.2</i>	11		Qin et al. (2009)
	<i>qPC-3, qPC-4, qPC-5, qPC-6, qPC-10</i>	3, 4, 5, 6, 10		Yu et al. (2009)
	qAa1, qAa7, qAa9	1, 7, 9		Zhong et al. (2011)
	qPro-2, qPro-10	2, 10		Yun et al. (2014)
	qPro-2	2		Lee et al. (2014)
	qPC1	1		Peng et al. (2014)
	qPC-1	1		Yang et al. (2015)
	<i>qPC6.2</i>	6		Kinoshita et al. (2017)
	qGPC1.1, qSGPC2.1, qSGPC7.1	1, 2, 7		Chattopadhyay et al. (2019)
	<i>qPC3.1, qPC5.1, qPC9.1</i>	3, 5, 9		Pradhan et al. (2019)
	QTL.pro.1	1		Islam et al. (2020)
	qAAC6.1, qAAC7.1, qPC1.2	1, 6, 7		Jang et al. (2020)
	qGPC1-1	1		Wu et al. (2020)
	PC	6H	Barley	See et al. (2002)
	GPC	2, 6		Mickelson et al. (2003)
	GPC	2H, 4H, 5H 7H		Emebiri et al. (2003)
	Qgpc1H, Qgpc2H, Qgpc4H, Qgpc5Ha, Qgpc5Hb, Qgpc5Hc, Qgpc7H	1H, 2H, 4H, 5H, 7H		Emebiri et al. (2005)
	Qcp2a, Qcp3a, Qcp5a, Qcp6a, Qcp7a, Qcp7b	2H, 3H, 5H, 6H, 7H		Abdel-Haleem et al. (2010)
	QGpc.ZgSc-2H.1, QGpc. ZgSc-2H.2, QGpc.ZgSc-2H.3, QGpc.ZgSc-4H.1, QGpc. ZgSc-4H.2, QGpc.ZgSc-4H.3, QGpc.ZgSc-5H.3, QGpc. ZgSc-5H.1, QGpc.ZgSc-5H.2, QGpc.ZiSc-7H.1, QGpc. ZiSc-7H.2, QGpc.ZiSc-7H.3	2H, 4H, 5H, 7H		Fan et al. (2017)

Table 14.1 (continued)

et al. 2020). Pearl millet is a nutrient-rich cereal; QTLs/ candidate genes for Fe and Zn content were identified on linkage group (LG) 3 and 5 (Kumar et al. 2016), LG 3, 5, and 7 (Anuradha et al. 2017), LG 1 and 7 (Kumar et al. 2018), LG 7 (Mahendrakar et al. 2020), Pgl01, Pgl02, Pgl04, Pgl05, Pgl06 (2), and Pgl07 (Pujar et al. 2020), and LG 2 and 3 (Singhal et al. 2021).

14.5 QTLs for Amino Acids and Grain Protein Content

Grain protein content (GPC) of cereals is an important component of human diet and is the determining factor of nutritional quality of plant-based diet. In the past few years, several researchers have mapped QTLs for GPC in both durum and hexaploid wheat (Table 14.1) (Blanco et al. 2002, 2006; Mahjourimajd et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2016; Fatiukha et al. 2020). In rice, QTLs for GPC have been mapped on all the chromosomes. However, most of them are located on chromosomes no 1, 2, 6, 7, 10, and 11 (Tan et al. 2001; Aluko et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2008; Qin et al. 2009; Yu et al. 2009; Zhong et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2014; Yun et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015; Chattopadhyay et al. 2019; Pradhan et al. 2019; Jang et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020). Similarly, in the case of barley, QTLs for GPC have been reported on all seven chromosomes by several researchers. It has been found that seven consensus QTLs are present on chromosomes 2H, 4H, 5H, 6H, and 7H (See et al. 2002; Mickelson et al. 2003; Emebiri et al. 2003, 2005; Abdel-Haleem et al. 2010; Fan et al. 2017).

14.6 Commercial Varieties with Improved Nutritional Value

Once the OTLs get identified, marker-assisted breeding (MAB) can be employed to develop improved versions of commercial hybrids/ cultivars. This started with the development of improved version of commercial pearl millet hybrid against downy mildew (Hash et al. 2006). Thereafter, marker-assisted selection (MAS) has been widely adopted to improve cereals like rice (Improved Pusa Basmati 1, Improved Samba Mahsuri, Swarna sub1, IR64 sub1, PRR78/IRBB60, Pusa 6A, and Improved Pusa RH10), wheat, and maize. Various commercial hybrids/ cultivars of rice have been improved against bacterial blight, submergence tolerance, rice blast, drought tolerance, and several other traits (Kottapalli et al. 2010; Reddy et al. 2009; Singh et al. 2011; Das et al. 2017). Similarly, wheat varieties (Patwin, Expresso, Lassik, Farnum, Westmore, and AGS2026) have been improved against various biotic and abiotic stresses using MAS (Gupta et al. 2010). Several attempts have been made to improve the nutritional value of cereals using MAS. One of the success stories in cereals is development of quality protein maize (QPM) (Vivek et al. 2008). Marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC) was utilized to introgress the Opaque 2 allele on chromosome 2 and led to the release of 'Vivek-QPM-9' in 2008 (Gupta et al. 2013). The improved hybrid possessed 41% more tryptophan and 30% more lysine than the original hybrid (Vivek Hybrid 9). Later on in the year 2017, improved versions of three popular hybrids, viz. Pusa HM-4, Pusa HM-8, and Pusa HM-9, were released for commercial cultivation in India (Hossain et al. 2018). MABC has been utilized to develop biofortified rice with higher Zn content. With the efforts of BRRI (Bangladesh Rice Research Institute), five high Zn content varieties, viz., BRRI dhan62, BRRI dhan64, BRRI dhan72, BRRI dhan74, and BRRI dhan84, have been released for commercial cultivation. Similarly, high-Zn varieties, DRR Dhan45 and Chhattisgarh Zinc Rice-1 in India, NSIC Rc 460 in Indonesia, and Nutri Zn in Philippines, have been commercialized (Calayugan et al. 2021). In 2017, two Fe and Zn biofortified varieties, WB 02 and HPBW 01, have also been released for commercial cultivation by the Indian Institute of Wheat and Barley Research (Yadava et al. 2020). In the same year, two Fe and Zn biofortified hybrids of pearl millet, viz. AHB 1200 and HHB 299, were released with the combined efforts of CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar and ICRISAT, Hyderabad (Yadava et al. 2020).

Over the past decade, the MAB has been widely adopted to develop improved cereals. However, the global population is rising at an alarming rate and is projected to touch the mark of 9 billion by 2050 than its present level 7.53 billion (Priti et al. 2018). To keep pace with the rising population, researchers need to develop healthier and high-yielding cereals. The present, modern, and conventional agricultural practices are not capable of meeting such high demands. There is a need for newer technology that is fast with higher precision rate. GE is one such technology which can be utilized to its full potential to meet the global demands.

14.7 Genome Editing (GE)

The existing modern breeding technologies need to be supplemented with advanced techniques like GE to develop nutrient-rich cereals. The emergence of GE technology has revolutionized the cereal improvement program with its superior precision rate and speed (Matres et al. 2021). GE allows site-specific modification of DNA. This offers significant advantage over GM technology that mostly relied on random integration of introgressed DNA. Since the development of GE in 2010, it has been consolidated into three major platforms, viz., ZNFs, TALENs, and CRISPR-Cas. These use designed nucleases to introduce targeted DSBs. These breaks are repaired in an error-prone pathway and mutations are introduced within the target gene. These genetic changes have been utilized for crop improvement (Christou et al. 2021). The utilization of the three above-mentioned GE platforms for grain quality improvement in cereals is discussed below.

14.8 Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)

In recent years, new advances empowering targeted alteration of plant genomes have been made possible and new genome editing technologies have been developed including ZFNs (Bibikova et al. 2002). ZFNs are a class of designed restriction enzymes that proves to be a powerful means for GE. ZFNs are chimeric proteins that consist of an N-terminal DNA-binding domain and a nonspecific DNA cleavage domain. Each designed zinc finger (ZF) identifies a specific 3-bp DNA sequence by binding and a FokI nuclease. FokI space dimerization is profoundly a basic requirement for ZFN enzymatic action (Kim et al. 1996). FokI belongs to the type IIS class of restriction endonucleases. The capacity of these designed nucleases to make targeted double-stranded breaks at assigned locations throughout the genome has enabled the editing of genes with great precision. A couple of Zinc finger arrays (30 amino acid residues) exhibit ties to respective sequences and get aligned in contrary style with one another resulting in a particular configuration (Petolino 2015). The binding sites of two Zinc finger arrays are 18–24 bp in length separated by 5-8 bp. This space is important for creating DSB in the target sequence. The DSBs introduced by these endonucleases are followed by error-prone nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) repair results in deletions or insertions, base substitutions, or incorporation of exogenous donor sequences at the ZFN cleavage site. If this damaged repair is in the coding region of a gene, it can interrupt the reading frame resulting in an inactive gene creating new genetic variations either by addition or deletion. The mechanism of action of ZFNs is represented in Fig. 14.2. ZFNs were first reported in Arabidopsis (Wright et al. 2005; Llyod et al. 2005) and tobacco (Cai et al. 2008; Maeder et al. 2008; Townsend et al. 2009), and later on, effectively used in different plants such as soybean (Curtin et al. 2011) and rice (Cantos et al. 2014; Jung et al. 2018).

One of the most significant examples of GE for grain quality improvement by ZFNs targeted the *IPK1* gene which encodes inositol-1,3,4,5,6-pentakiphosphate 2–kinase, which is an important enzyme in phytate biosynthesis in maize seeds (Shukla et al. 2009), resulting in herbicide tolerance and altered inositol phosphate profiles in the developing seeds. Starch biosynthesis pathway was targeted in rice with engineered ZFNs which can effectively cleave and induce mutations at SSIVa locus. This modification resulted in dwarfism and reduced starch content (Jung et al. 2018).

The field of GE has been revolutionized by Zinc finger nucleases, showing the ability to utilize genomic sites of concern and opened the entryways for both essential and applied research. As for productivity, ZFNs give an advantage over different tools, extraordinary explicitness, and insignificant nontarget impacts and present challenges are focused on further improving plan and conveyance just as expanding their utilization in different crops. The advances in ZFN-based GE give huge freedom to focus on any DNA sequence in the genome. However, there are a few intrinsic detriments that have confined their wider scope of utilization, for example, costly and tedious cycles for enhanced assembly of the ZF domains and off-target effects (Eid and Mahfouz 2016; Mushtaq et al. 2019).



Fig. 14.2 An overview of nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) and homology-directed repair (HDR)-mediated genome editing

14.9 TALENs

Precise genetic editing or modification has remained the fundamental goal for researchers engaged in the fields of molecular breeding and agricultural biotechnology. Engineered nucleases are dynamic tools for precise in vivo genetic modifications in genomes (Bogdanove and Voytas 2011). TALENs promptly turn up as an alternative to ZFNs, by introducing targeted DSBs for GE, and provide a novel and excellent route for crop improvement. TALENs and ZFNs have similar features of containing FokI nuclease domain combined with customizable DNA-binding
domain (Fig. 14.2). This DNA-binding domain is comprised of highly conserved repeats which are derived from transcription activator-like effector proteins (TALEs), which are fused with nonspecific cleavage domain of FokI endonucleases. TALEs are Type III effector proteins that were discovered in plant pathogenic bacteria Xanthomonas spp. from rice and cotton (Boch and Bonas 2010). Similar to ZFNs, TALENs facilitate specific GE via induction of DSB in a specific target sequence of genome, followed by nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) (Moehle et al. 2007) or homology-directed repair (HDR) (Rémy et al. 2010). The emergence of engineered nucleases has revolutionized the field of genetic engineering and TALENs use these engineered nucleases to introduce specific additions and deletions in targeted genes. TALEN assembly comprises central DNA-binding domain, highly conserved acidic transcription activation domain at C terminal, secretion, and translocation at N terminal and nuclear localization signal (NLS). In central DNA-binding domain, 33-35 amino acids tandem repeats are present which recognizes one nucleotide in the target sequence (Li et al. 2011). The specificity of TALEN mainly depends on amino acids of polymorphic nature located at 12 and 13 positions, also called repeat variable di-residue (RVD). Many RVDs have been reported; some major ones are NI (Asn ile), HD (His Asp), NN (Asn Asn), and NG (Asn Gly), which recognize nucleotides adenine (A), cytosine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T), respectively. These tandem repeats are followed by a sequence of 20 amino acids, which are called half repeats.

TALENs have been used widely for crop improvement for engineering disease resistance and increasing shelf life (Haun et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014; Wendt et al. 2013; Lor et al. 2014). TALENs have also been used for grain quality improvement in cereal crops being utmost priority for sustainable agriculture (Table 14.2). In a study by Ma et al. (2015), the storage tolerance of rice was increased by knocking

Sr.						
No.	Crop	Gene	Trait	References		
ZFNs						
1.	Maize	IPK1	Phytic acid	Shukla et al. (2009)		
2.	Rice	SSIVa locus	Starch content	Jung et al. (2018)		
TALENS						
1.	Rice	LOX3	Storage	Ma et al. (2015)		
2.	Rice	OsBADH2	Fragrance	Shan et al. (2015)		
CRISPR-Cas						
1.	Maize	ZmIPK1	Phytic acid	Sun et al. (2007)		
2.	Maize	ZmIPK1	Phytic acid	Liang et al. (2014)		
3.	Maize	ZmMADS47	Protein content	Qi et al. (2016)		
4.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Waltz (2016)		

Table 14.2 Overview of various crop plants improved for grain quality using GE

(continued)

Sr.				
No.	Crop	Gene	Trait	References
5.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Qi et al. (2020)
6.	Maize	Wx1	Starch content	Gao et al. (2020)
7.	Maize	BADH2	Fragrance	Wang et al. (2021a, b)
8.	Rice	OsFAD2–1	RBO	Abe et al. (2018)
9.	Rice	OsFAD2	RBO	Bahariah et al. (2021)
10.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Shao et al. (2017)
11.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Fuhua et al. (2018)
12.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Usman et al. (2020)
13.	Rice	BADH2	Fragrance	Ashokkumar et al. (2020)
14.	Rice	Osor	Vitamin A	Endo et al. (2019)
15.	Rice	Osor	Vitamin A	Dong et al. (2020)
16.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Zhang et al. (2018a, b)
17.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Yunyan et al. (2019)
18.	Rice	Wx	Amylose content	Li et al. (2020a)
19.	Rice	SBEI and SBEII	Amylose content	Sun et al. (2017)
20.	Rice	SBEII	Amylose content	Baysal et al. (2020)
21.	Rice	Rc	Proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins	Zhu et al. (2019)
22.	Wheat	α-Gliadin	Gluten content	Sánchez-León et al. (2018)
23.	Wheat	α-And γ-gliadin	Gluten content	Jouanin et al. (2019)
24.	Wheat	α-Gliadin	Gluten content	Sánchez-León et al. (2018)
25.	Wheat	Pinb, waxy, and DA1	Grain hardness, starch quality, and kernel size	Zhang et al. (2018a, b)
26.	Wheat	α-Amylase/trypsin inhibitors	Protein quality	Camerlengo et al. (2020)
27.	Wheat	TaSBEIIa	Amylose content	Li et al. (2020b)
28.	Wheat	<i>Pinb, waxy, ppo</i> and <i>psy</i>	Grain hardness, starch quality, and dough color	Zhang et al. (2021)
29.	Barley	HvPAPhy_a	Phytic acid	Holme et al. (2017)
30.	Barley	HvITPK1	Phytic acid	Vlčko and Ohnoutková (2020)
31.	Barley	D-hordein	Glutenins	Yang et al. (2020)
32.	Sorghum	klC	Kafirins	Li et al. (2018)

Table 14.2 (continued)

out *LOX3* gene. Fragrant rice is favored over non-fragrant rice all over the world. In fragrant rice, more than a hundred volatile compounds are found, one of which is 2-acetyl-1-pyrroline (2AP). Its quantity is higher in fragrant rice than non-fragrant rice. Shan et al. (2015) employed TALENs to disrupt *OsBADH2* gene which inhibited the synthesis of 2AP. The study showed that the 2AP content of non-fragrant rice increased from 0 to 0.35–0.75 mg/kg, which was almost similar to the positive control variety with mutation in *BADH2* gene.

14.10 CRISPR/ Cas9

The combination of research and technology in developing improved genotypes of crop plants has led to the basis of modern agriculture. Though nowadays traditional breeding is much faster than 50 years back, it is not able to cope with the increasing food demand with the global climate change making the situation more challenging. As far as crop improvement is dependent on conventional breeding, i.e., exploitation of natural germplasm variation and introgressing the desired trait in target crops, time and resources will always limit the crop improvement (Jangra et al. 2017, 2019a, b). These limitations can be overcome by exploiting CRISPR technologies and crop improvement can be accelerated at a rate that was not possible earlier. CRISPR in agriculture can be considered as a novel breeding method that is much faster, predictable, and cheaper and the results are identical to conventional breeding (Gao et al. 2018). Since its first report in 2012, this technology has revolutionized research in life sciences.

Initially, CRISPR was identified as repeats (Ishino et al. 1987) and was later characterized in 1990s. The term CRISPR was coined by Jansen et al. (2002). It is a bacterial and archaeal defense mechanism that provides immunity against bacteriophages through RNA-programmed DNA cleavage. The Cas9 system is composed of a cascade of different proteins generally classified into two classes according to the structure, 6 type and 19 subtype (Shmakov et al. 2017). The composition of effector nucleases determines the level of variation among the classes. The class I effectors comprise of a complex of several proteins with different functions; however, the class II effector comprises a multi-domain single protein (Makarova et al. 2015). The most used CRISPR is type II-A CRISPR/Cas9 system, and due to its high efficiency in producing double-stranded breaks, the spCas9 is derived from Streptococcus pyogenesis. Some restrictions like proto-spacer adjacent motif (PAM) were showed by spCas9. PAM is NGG (N-Any nucleotide, G-Guanine), making its application difficult in sequences having higher AT and also prone to produce offtarget effects. These limitations have been overcome by high fidelity variants of Cas9 with mutations that prevent nonspecific interactions between DNA and nuclease domains leading to reduced off-target effects (Kleinstiver et al. 2016). Expression, interference, and adaptation are the three stages of which the CRISPR/ Cas9 system is comprised. In the expression of CRISPR array, sequences that are homologous to the target sequence (proto-spacers) get transcribed into pre-CRISPR

RNA (pre-crRNA). Homologous bonds with trans activating crRNA (tracrRNA) are formed by these pre-crRNAs. After the formation of pre-crRNA/tracrRNA complex, the Cas9 protein gets attached and RNase III cut the long pre-cdRNAs into separate crRNA/tracrRNA complexes (gRNA). Interference starts with guiding of Cas9 complex by crRNA/tracrRNA to target sequence and gRNA binds to target sequence after PAM. As the PAM sequence is not present in CRISPR array, PAM allows the discrimination between self/nonself. The target sequence, unwound as Cas9, is equipped with helicase and nuclease activity and the cuts are produced by the RuvC and HNN domain of Cas9, leading to DSB in the target sequence. NHEJ or HDR repairs the DSB and the repaired sequence is transcribed and adapted into the genome as described in Fig. 14.2 (Jackson et al. 2017). CSISPR/Cas9 offers several advantages over other GE technologies being simple and cost-effective. Also, the Cas9 system is readily available making it a highly valuable GE tool. The multi-target approach of this technique could be utilized to target multiple genes simultaneously. The off-target effects of the Cas9 could be reduced by mutating RuvC domain.

CRISPR allows researchers to perform gene knockout, DNA-free gene editing, gene insertions or knock-ins, and transient gene silencing. In the case of gene knockout/ gene silencing, CRISPR utilizes a single guide RNA (sgRNA) to initiate double-stranded breaks at the target site using Cas9 endonuclease. The repairing of these breaks through NHEJ mechanism (error-prone) results in genomic deletions or insertions, leading to permanent silencing of target gene. The DNA vector-free CRISPR-based GE requires only RNA or protein components. This DNA-free editing eliminates the possibility of unwanted genetic alterations that may be caused due to integrating plasmid DNA or random vector integration at the cut site. The double-stranded breaks induced through CRISPR can be utilized for creating gene 'knock-ins' through homology-mediated repair. The gene codon can be altered by the precise addition of donor template. In earlier studies, it has been found that precise insertions can be made by CRISPR-Cas9 system with the help of singlestranded DNA (Cong et al. 2013). Transient gene silencing or suppression of transcription can be done with modified Cas9 which is unable to cut DNA. The promoter region is targeted by the modified Cas9 and the transcriptional and gene expression activity is hampered. This can also be utilized for transient activation or upregulation of target genes (Ishino et al. 2018).

An efficient CRISPR-Cas delivery system is the only prerequisite for the application of this technology in crop improvement. The transformation of major crop plants is generally confined to a few genotypes per species, which are not probably the elite cultivars. Therefore, the development of user-friendly and robust CRISPR delivery system for commercial varieties is essential. A recent study showed that the transformation efficiency of cereals can be improved with the help of morphogenic regulators (Lowe et al. 2016). The transformation of recalcitrant elite cultivars of wheat and corn can be improved by haploid-inducer-mediated GE approach (Kelliher et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019). The time-taking process and labor-intensive process of plant regeneration through tissue culture after transformation could be avoided by

administrating the CRISPR components to shoot apical meristem, pollen, or flowering tissues (Hickey et al. 2019). This tissue culture-free technique has been recently employed to develop gene-edited plants by de novo meristem induction (Maher et al. 2020). Though in eukaryotes NHEJ is the major mechanism involved in DNA repair in crops, many desired traits can be attained by specific substitution or insertion of DNA segments. A novel method of base substitution is provided by base editing; however, it is currently restricted to A-G or C-T substitutions (Komor et al. 2016; Gaudelli et al. 2017). In a recent development, a ground-breaking genome editor called 'prime editing' has been developed that delivers genetic information directly into specific DNA sites providing a powerful tool to expand the scope and capabilities of GE (Anzalone et al. 2019). In prime editing, the Cas9 is engineered to function as nickase combined with reverse transcriptase, and the sgRNA is replaced with pegRNA (prime editing guide RNA), which comprises both a sgRNA for target site identification and RNA template for determining the DNA sequences that are to be integrated at the target site (Anzalone et al. 2019). Similar applications may follow in crop plants in the not-so-distant future.

Since the recognition of CRISPR as cutting-edge technology, it has gained the interest of researchers and industries to improve major crop plants. In a very short time since its first application in plants, it has been utilized to improve various traits like tolerance against biotic and abiotic stresses, quality, nutritional value (Table 14.2), and yield (Arora and Narula 2017; Jaganathan et al. 2018; Gao et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019; Ahmad et al. 2020; Zaidi et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2021). At present, CRISPR/Cas has become a major biotechnology tool to introgress the desired trait.

14.11 CRISPR/Cas for Grain Quality Improvement in Cereals

CRISPR/Cas has been widely employed to edit quality-related genes in the case of cereals to enhance their nutritional value. Maize, rice, wheat, barley, oats, rye, and sorghum are the principal cereal crops across the globe. In the following section, an overview of CRISPR-Cas9-based improvement of grain nutrient quality in cereals is summarized in Table 14.2.

14.12 Maize (Zea Mays)

Maize is the most cultivated cereal all across the globe. It is widely used for human consumption, animal feed, and biofuel production. Phytic acid (inositol 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6-hexakisphosphate) is an anti-nutritional compound present in maize and reduces

the assimilation of minerals after human and animal consumption (Feil 2001). To overcome this problem, the gene (Inositol phosphatase kinase 1, *ZmIPK1*) encoding for phytic acid production was knocked out using CRISPR-Cas9. The study showed that over 50% of the IPK1 open reading frames were interrupted in leaves and seeds (Sun et al. 2007). Similarly, ZmIPK1 was targeted, knocked out by mutagenesis induced by specifically designed gsRNA (Liang et al. 2014).

Zeins are the most abundant storage protein in maize and are deficient in two essential amino acids (lysine and tryptophan), contributing to poor nutrient quality. Opaque 2 (O2), a basic leucine zipper protein-based transcription factor, regulates the synthesis of zeins in maize (Schmidt et al. 1990). It has been reported that this problem can be overcome by altering the zeins production, which allows production of other proteins with higher lysine and tryptophan content. CRISPR technology has been employed to target *ZmMADS47* gene encoding a MADS-box protein, an interacting partner of O2. A reduction of 12.5% in zeins content was recorded in MADS/CAS9–21 lines (Qi et al. 2016).

Starch (amylose and amylopectin) content is another important target trait. Generally, the starch content in normal maize is around 70%, of which 75% is amylopectin and 25% is amylose. Waxy maize that has high amylopectin content was first discovered over 100 years ago in China. The high starch content makes waxy corn an ideal product for implementing CRISPR-Cas to overcome the challenges associated with conventional breeding. CRISPR-Cas technology has been utilized to alter the waxy gene (Wx1), which encodes granule-bound starch synthase responsible for amylose production in endosperm. The alteration can lead to accumulation of high amylopectin content in endosperm, making it suitable for various industries like processed foods, adhesives, and high-gloss paper. For commercialization, CRISPR-Cas-based editing of WX1 has been applied to elite commercial cultivars and crossbreed as CRISPR-waxy hybrids (Waltz 2016). Waxy maize was presented among first CRISPR-edited crops that can be cultivated and sold free from USDA regulations and will be available in the market by DuPont Pioneer in the coming years after field trials (Waltz 2018). In another study, the Wx1 gene has been targeted to develop waxy maize employing CRISPR-Cas9 (Qi et al. 2020). Field trials of CRISPR-edited waxy corn hybrids of 12 elite inbred lines indicated that these were agronomically superior to the introgressed line and produced on an average 5.5 bushels per acre higher yield (Gao et al. 2020).

Recently, aromatic maize has been developed using CRISPR-Cas9. Two maize betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (BADH2) homologs, ZmBADH2a and ZmBADH2b, were identified in maize. Zmbadh2a and zmbadh2b single mutants and the zmbadh2a-zmbadh2b double mutant were developed by CRISPR/Cas in four inbred lines. The double mutants accumulated 0.028 and 0.723 mg/kg 2-acetyl-1-pyrroline (2AP) in fresh and dried kernels, respectively (Wang et al. 2021a, b).

14.13 Rice (Oryza Sativa)

Rice is consumed by more than 3.5 billion people across the globe and accounts for around 20% of the global dietary supply (Fiaz et al. 2019; Ku and Ha 2020). It has been estimated that there should be a 40% increase in production by 2030 to meet the global rice demand (Khush 2005). In addition, with the improvement in people's living standards, the demand for rice with higher nutritional quality is expected to increase. Therefore, newer technologies like CRISPR can be utilized to improve the nutritional value of rice at a much faster rate than conventional breeding. Rice bran oil (RBO) is widely used in Asian countries and the major components of RBO are monounsaturated oleic acid (37-52%) followed by 13-22% of linoleic acid (polyunsaturated) and 27-40% palmitic acid (saturated) (Taira et al. 1988). The presence of oleic acid in RBO makes it good for health which has increased the demands of rice bran oil. Further, increasing the oleic acid in rice can add to the health benefits. In plants, the conversion of oleic acid to linoleic acid is catalyzed by an enzyme fatty acid desaturase 2 (FAD2). In rice, three functional FAD2 genes are present, of which OsFAD2-1 is highly expressed in seeds. Thus, by altering this gene, the oleic acid content in RBO can be elevated. The disruption of OsFAD2-1 gene by targeted mutagenesis utilizing CRISPR led to two-fold increase in oleic acid content, thereby increasing the quality of RBO (Abe et al. 2018). In another study, CRISPR-Cas9 was utilized to knock out FAD2 gene using two sgRNA. The knocked-out plants showed higher oleic acid content as compared to wild-type plants (Bahariah et al. 2021).

The demand for fragrant rice, particularly Indian Basmati, is gaining worldwide due to the presence of a characteristic fragrance in its grains. This fragrance is due to the presence of defective OsBAD2 which favors the production of 2AP, one of the most abundant components of various volatile compounds responsible for fragrance (Zafar et al. 2020). Fragrance gene BADH2 of Zhonghua 11 rice was edited using CRISPR/Cas9. An additional base (T) was introduced in the first exon of BADH2, leading to higher 2AP content in edited rice (Shao et al. 2017). CRISPR-Cas9 was applied to alter the BADH2 gene in Zhengdao 19, a rice variety suited for direct sowing. The 2AP content in field planted T₀ was found to be increased from 0.003 μ g/g (in the wild type) to 1.259 ± 0.072 μ g/g for T₀ mutants. In greenhouseplanted T₁, it increased from 0.002 μ g/g (in the wild type) to 0.537 \pm 0.111 μ g/g for T_1 mutants (Fuhua et al. 2018). A significant increase in grain yield and fragrance (2AP) was observed in CRISPR-edited rice. The mutants exhibited 2AP levels ranging from 0.72–0.78 mg/kg while 2AP was absent in wild type (Usman et al. 2020). CRISPR was used to introduce aroma in elite rice variety ASD16 by creating novel alleles of OsBADH2 gene. SgRNA-mediated mutations were introduced in the seventh exon of OsBADH2 gene. Novel aromatic comparatives, viz. pyrrolidine, pyridine, pyrazine, pyridazine, and pyrozole, were detected in the comparative volatile profiling of T_1 progenies grains (Ashokkumar et al. 2020).

Rice, one of the staple crops worldwide, is known to be deficient in vitamin A. Golden rice was developed to overcome this deficiency by enhancing the β -Carotene content in the endosperm (Paine et al. 2005). CRISPR-Cas has also been

utilized to improve the vitamin A content in rice. An ortholog of *Orange (Or)* gene in cauliflower, the *Osor* gene in rice was targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. Accumulation of orange color in the callus showed the enhanced β -carotene level in edited rice (Endo et al. 2019). A 5.2 kb carotenoid biosynthesis cassette at two genomic safe harbors was introduced in rice. An enhanced β -carotene level was detected in seeds with no change in yield. Whole-genome sequencing revealed that no off-target mutations were created in Cas9 engineered plants (Dong et al. 2020).

Soft rice with 7–10% amylose content is guite popular in south China. The amylose content is determined by Waxy (Wx) gene. CRISPR-Cas9 has been recently applied to alter this gene to produce softer versions of elite cultivars. A loss of function in Wx gene of two widely cultivated elite japonica varieties, Xiushui134 (XS134) and Wuyunjing 7 (9522), was introduced by CRISPR-Cas9. A two-fold increase in gel consistency (GC) and a marked reduction in gelatinization temperature (GT) for CRISPR-waxy seeds were observed as compared to wild (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). The Wx gene of two elite rice cultivars, Huaidao 5 (HD5) and Suken 118 (SK118), was targeted to develop soft rice. The amylose content in the edited lines was around 2.6%-3.2% (Yunyan et al. 2019). Three elite rice cultivars, viz. Suijing 18 (SJ18), Songjing 2 (SJ2), and Longqingdao 3 (LQD3), were targeted for CRISPR-based editing of Waxy gene. The edited lines showed a significant reduction in the amylose content (Li et al. 2020a). An elite indica variety TianFengB was targeted to improve the cooking quality by reducing the amylose content using CRISPR-Cas9. The edited lines showed a significant reduction in amylose content. The study showed that in some of the edited lines the amylose content was similar to glutinous rice (Zeng et al. 2020). Cereal grains with higher starch content are known to be a good source of resistant starch (Jiang et al. 2010). Resistant starch is a form of nondigestible starch and is not absorbed in the body and protects from various noninfectious diseases (Regina et al. 2006). Keeping in mind the health benefits of resistant starch, CRISPR has been utilized to increase the starch content in rice. The calli derived from japonica cv. Kitaake was targeted for introduction of CRISPR-mediated mutagenesis in starch branching enzymes (SBE, SBEI, and SBEIIb). The SBEI and SBEII mutants showed a significant increase in amylose content and resistant starch by 25.0 and 9.8%, respectively (Sun et al. 2017). In another study, CRISPR-Cas9-mediated mutagenesis in SBEII resulted in increased amylose and resistant starch content from 19.6 to 27.4% and from 0.2 to 17.2%, respectively (Baysal et al. 2020).

Proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins are the major health-promoting nutrients present in rice. The red color in rice is governed by two recessive complementary genes, *Rc* and *Rd*. The wild species *Oryza rufipogon* has RcRd genotype which is responsible for red pericarp. However, a 14-bp frame-shift deletion in the seventh exon of *Rc* gene results in white phenotype in most of the cultivated rice varieties. Recently, this frame-shift mutation in recessive Rc was revered with the help of CRISPR-mediated editing, resulting in the conversion of white cultivar to red cultivar. The mutants showed high accumulation of proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins than the wild type. No significant difference in other agronomic traits was observed in the mutants as compared to wild type (Zhu et al. 2019).

14.14 Wheat

Wheat is an economically important cereal that supplies 20% of the calorie intake to over 60% of the global population. Presently, it is cultivated on around 220 million hectares with an annual production of 700–750 million tons and used in a wide range of products. The continued economic development has led to increased demand for premium quality wheat with improved grain quality. Grain quality is a mutagenic trait and the hexaploid genome of around 16 Gb with around 85% repetitive elements makes it more complex (Zhang et al. 2021). The advent of CRISPR-Cas9 has allowed researchers to create novel allelic variations to improve wheat grain quality. Recently, a web-based tool has been developed to design sgRNA for GE in wheat (Cram et al. 2019).

Celiac disease (CD) is the most common disease associated with wheat. It is an autoimmune disease prevalent in around 1-2% of the global population (Jouanin et al. 2020). Among food intolerances, CD is relatively well-understood from the standpoint of human immunity (Tye-Din et al. 2010). Gluten-free diets (GF), which exclude all wheat products, are the only way to prevent CD and this is very difficult as wheat gluten is present in almost every product. In the case of wheat, the gene family responsible for this autoimmune disease is α -gliadin, of which 33-mer is most immunogenic. The coding region of 33-mer was targeted using CRISPR and 21 mutant lines were developed. A total of 35 different genes were mutated and the immunoreactivity was reduced by 85%. These GE lines could be utilized in making low-gluten foodstuffs (Sánchez-León et al. 2018). In another study, both α - and γ -gliadins were targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. The T₁ generation showed altered gliadins production (Jouanin et al. 2019). Two genes related to grain quality, *pinb* (grain hardness) and waxy (starch quality), and one for kernel size DA1 were mutated using CRISPR. Three mutant lines were generated and a mutation efficiency of 54.17% was recorded (Zhang et al. 2018a, b). Two subunits of α-amylase/trypsin inhibitors (ATI), viz. WTAI-CM3 and WTAI-CM16, were targeted to reduce allergen proteins in durum wheat using CRISPR (Camerlengo et al. 2020). The resistant starch content of modern wheat varieties is quite low. Targeted mutagenesis of TaSBEIIa using CRISPR was employed to increase amylose content in winter wheat cv. Zhegmai 7698 (ZM) and spring wheat cv. Bobwhite. Flour quality analysis showed that the triple-null lines possessed significantly increased amylose content (Li et al. 2020b). Four-grain quality genes, viz. pinb (grain hardness), waxy (starch quality), ppo, and psy (dough color), were targeted using CRISPR-Cas9. The mutants showed a significant reduction in expression of all four genes (Zhang et al. 2021).

14.15 Barley (Hordeum Vulgare)

Barley is one of the first crops to be domesticated, a major constituent of the brewing industry and primarily used as feed and food. Like other cereals, the presence of phytic acid is a major drawback associated with barley (Cosgrove 1980). CRISPR-Cas9-mediated mutations in the promoter of the barley phytase gene $HvPAPhy_a$ showed reduced mature grain phytase activity (Holme et al. 2017). In another study, HvITPK1 gene responsible for phytic acid production in barley was mutated. The mutants contained altered levels of phosphate in the mature grains, ranging from 65% to 174% of the wild-type content (Vlčko and Ohnoutková 2020). D-hordein component of barley storage protein was mutated using CRISPR. Barley grains without D-hordein protein in T₂ seeds showed a decrease in the prolamines and an increase in the glutenins. Further, there was increase in starch, amylose, and β -glucan content (Yang et al. 2020).

14.16 Sorghum (Sorghum Bicolor)

Sorghum, a drought-tolerant crop, is a major staple food and feed crop in semiarid regions where cultivation of other cereals is not possible. Sorghum is deficient in essential amino acids like lysine and its protein is difficult to digest (Aboubacar et al. 2001). The reason behind the nondigestibility is the presence of prolamins, known as kafirins, which account for 70% of the total seed protein (Hamaker et al. 1995). Kafirins mainly comprise α -kafirins encoded by gene family k1C. The gene family k1C was targeted using CRISPR. A reduced T1 and T2 α -kafirin and increased grain protein digestibility and lysine content were observed in T₂ generation seeds (Li et al. 2018).

14.17 Conclusion and Future Prospects

Over the past several decades, conventional and molecular breeding has made significant contributions to agriculture. They utilize the variations in the available germplasm to develop improved versions. However, the improvement through these technologies is limited due to nonavailability of diverse germplasm. Moreover, these methods are time- and labor-intensive. GE, an advanced biotechnological tool, can be utilized to overcome the limitations. GE opens new avenues for researchers in the field of plant sciences to modify the target trait to interest, leading to a prodigious success in plant biotechnology. The use of genome editing has allowed efficient, rapid, specific, and targeted editing for increasing yield and nutritional value in cereals and other horticultural and fruit crops. These technologies add an edge to the existing genetic engineering struggles in attaining food security and combating malnutrition with the increasing global population. As GE crops are not likely to undergo strict regulations as in the case of GM crops (Yadav et al. 2018), they have come up as the first choice of researchers to develop improved crop plants. Despite several advancements in the field of GE, several challenges are associated with GE in cereals. Some of the major challenges are development of efficient transformation protocol, off-target effects, multiplexing, requirement of specific promoters, and complex design (Ansari et al. 2020). There are also certain restrictions and regulations for application of GE to crops (Zhang et al. 2020). All these challenges must be resolved to utilize GE to its full potential. The development of crop plants with enhanced nutritional value using GE promises that everyone gets a health-ier diet.

References

- Abdel-Haleem H, Bowman J, Giroux M, Kanazin V, Talbert H, Surber L, Blake T (2010) Quantitative trait loci of acid detergent fiber and grain chemical composition in hulled × hullless barley population. Euphytica 172(3):405–418
- Abe K, Araki E, Suzuki Y, Toki S, Saika H (2018) Production of high oleic/low linoleic rice by genome editing. Plant Physiol Biochem 131:58–62
- Aboubacar A, Axtell JD, Huang CP, Hamaker BR (2001) A rapid protein digestibility assay for identifying highly digestible sorghum lines. Cereal Chem 78:160–165
- Agarwal S, VGN TV, Kotla A, Mangrauthia SK, Neelamraju S (2014) Expression patterns of QTL based and other candidate genes in Madhukar× Swarna RILs with contrasting levels of iron and zinc in unpolished rice grains. Gene 546:430–436
- Ahmad N, Rahman M, Mukhtar Z, Zafar Y, Zhang B (2020) A critical look on CRISPR-based genome editing in plants. J Cell Physiol 235:666–682
- Aluko G, Martinez C, Tohme J, Castano C, Bergman C, Oard JH (2004) QTL mapping of grain quality traits from the interspecific cross *Oryza sativa* × *O. glaberrima*. Theor Appl Genet 109:630–639
- Ansari WA, Chandanshive SU, Bhatt V et al (2020) Genome editing in cereals: approaches, applications and challenges. Int J Mol Sci 21(11):4040. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21114040
- Anuradha N, Satyavathi CT, Bharadwaj C et al (2017) Deciphering genomic regions for high grain iron and zinc content using association mapping in pearl millet. Front Plant Sci 8:412. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00412
- Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR et al (2019) Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature 576:149–157
- Arora L, Narula A (2017) Gene editing and crop improvement using CRISPR-cas9 system. Front Plant Sci 8:1932. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01932
- Ashokkumar S, Jaganathan D, Ramanathan V, Rahman H, Palaniswamy R, Kambale R, Muthurajan R (2020) Creation of novel alleles of fragrance gene *OsBADH2* in rice through CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing. PLoS One 15(8):e0237018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237018
- Azmach G, Gedil M, Menkir A et al (2013) Marker-trait association analysis of functional gene markers for provitamin a levels across diverse tropical yellow maize inbred lines. BMC Plant Biol 13:227. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-227
- Babu R, Rojas NP, Gao S, Yan J, Pixley K (2013) Validation of the effects of molecular marker polymorphisms in LcyE and CrtRB1 on provitamin a concentrations for 26 tropical maize populations. Theor Appl Genet 126(2):389–399
- Bahariah B, Masani MYA, Rasid OA, Parveez GKA (2021) Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing of the FAD2 gene in rice: a model genome editing system for oil palm. J Genet Eng Biotechnol 19:86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43141-021-00185-4
- Baysal C, He W, Drapal M et al (2020) Inactivation of rice starch branching enzyme IIb triggers broad and unexpected changes in metabolism by transcriptional reprogramming. Proc Natl Acad Sci 42:26503–26512
- Bibikova M, Golic M, Golic KG, Carroll D (2002) Targeted chromosomal cleavage and mutagenesis in drosophila using zinc-finger nucleases. Genetics 161(3):1169–1175

- Blanco A, Pasqualone A, Troccoli A et al (2002) Detection of grain protein content QTLs across environments in tetraploid wheats. Plant Mol Biol 48:615–623
- Blanco A, Simeone R, Gadaleta A (2006) Detection of QTLs for grain protein content in durum wheat. Theor Appl Genet 112(7):1195–1204
- Boch J, Bonas U (2010) Xanthomonas AvrBs3 family-type III effectors: discovery and function. Annu Rev Phytopathol 48:419–436
- Bogdanove AJ, Voytas DF (2011) TAL effectors: customizable proteins for DNA targeting. Science 333:1843–1846
- Bonawitz ND, Ainley WM, Itaya A et al (2019) Zinc finger nuclease-mediated targeting of multiple transgenes to an endogenous soybean genomic locus via non-homologous end joining. Plant Biotechnol J 17(4):750–761
- Bouis HE, Saltzman A (2017) Improving nutrition through biofortification: a review of evidence from HarvestPlus, 2003 through 2016. Glob Food Sec 12:49–58
- Cai CQ, Doyon Y, Ainley WM et al (2008) Targeted transgene integration in plant cells using designed zinc finger nucleases. Plant Mol Biol 69:699–709
- Calayugan MIC, Formantes AK, Amparado A et al (2020) Genetic analysis of agronomic traits and grain iron and zinc concentrations in a doubled haploid population of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Sci Rep 10:2283. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59184-z
- Calayugan MIC, Swamy MBP, Nha CT et al (2021) Zinc-biofortified rice: a sustainable food-based product for fighting zinc malnutrition. In: Ali J, Wani SH (eds) Rice Improvement. Springer, Cham, pp 449–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-66530-2_13
- Camerlengo F, Sparks C, Doherty A, Martignago D, Larré C, Lupi R, Sestili F, Masci S (2020) CRISPR-Cas9 multiplex editing of the α-amylase/trypsin inhibitor genes to reduce allergen proteins in durum wheat. Front Sustain Food Syst 4:104. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.00104
- Cantos C, Francisco P, Trijatmiko KR, Slamet-Loedin I, Chadha-Mohanty PK (2014) Identification of "safe harbor" loci in indica rice genome by harnessing the property of zinc-finger nucleases to induce DNA damage and repair. Front Plant Sci 5:302. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2014.00302
- Chattopadhyay K, Behera L, Bagchi TB et al (2019) Detection of stable QTLs for grain protein content in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) employing high throughput phenotyping and genotyping platforms. Sci Rep 9:3196. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39863-2
- Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C (2019) CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 70:667–697
- Christian M, Cermak T, Doyle EL et al (2010) Targeting DNA double-strand breaks with TAL effector nucleases. Genetics 186:757–761
- Christou P, Dhingra A, Slamet-Loedin IH et al (2021) Preface: genome editing in plants. Transgenic Res 30:317–320
- Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D et al (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339(6121):819–823
- Cosgrove D (1980) Inositol hexakisphosphates. In: Cosgrove D (ed) Inositol phosphates: their chemistry, biochemistry and physiology. Elsevier, New York, pp 26–43
- Cram D, Kulkarni M, Buchwaldt M et al (2019) Wheat CRISPR: a web-based guide RNA design tool for CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in wheat. BMC Plant Biol 19:474. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-2097-z
- Crespo-Herrera L, Velu G, Singh R (2016) Quantitative trait loci mapping reveals pleiotropic effect for grain iron and zinc concentrations in wheat. Ann Appl Biol 169:27–35
- Curtin SJ, Zhang F, Sander JD et al (2011) Targeted mutagenesis of duplicated genes in soybean with zinc-finger nucleases. Plant Physiol 156:466–473
- Das G, Patra JK, Baek KH (2017) Insight into MAS: a molecular tool for development of stress resistant and quality of rice through gene stacking. Front Plant Sci 8:985. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00985

- Descalsota GIL, Swamy B, Zaw H et al (2018) Genome-wide association mapping in a rice MAGIC plus population detects QTLs and genes useful for biofortification. Front Plant Sci 9:1347. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01347
- Dixit S, Singh UM, Abbai R et al (2019) Identification of genomic region (s) responsible for high iron and zinc content in rice. Sci Rep 9:8136. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43888-y
- Dong OX, Yu S, Jain R et al (2020) Marker-free carotenoid-enriched rice generated through targeted gene insertion using CRISPR-Cas9. Nat Commun 11:1178. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-020-14981-y
- Duo H, Hossain F, Muthusamy V et al (2021) Development of sub-tropically adapted diverse provitamin-a rich maize inbreds through marker assisted pedigree selection, their characterization and utilization in hybrid breeding. PLoS One 16(2):e0245497. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0245497
- Eid A, Mahfouz M (2016) Genome editing: the road of CRISPR/Cas9 from bench to clinic. Exp Mol Med 48(10):e265 doi: 10.1038/emm.2016.111
- Emebiri LC, Moody DB, Panozzo JF, Chalmers KJ, Kretschmer JM, Ablett GA (2003) Identification of QTLs associated with variations in grain protein concentration in two-row barley. Crop Pasture Sci 54:1211–1221
- Emebiri LC, Moody DB, Horsley R, Panozzo J, Read BJ (2005) The genetic control of grain protein content variation in a doubled haploid population derived from a cross between Australian and north American two-rowed barley lines. J Cereal Sci 41(1):107–114
- Endo A, Saika H, Takemura M, Misawa N, Toki S (2019) A novel approach to carotenoid accumulation in rice callus by mimicking the cauliflower Orange mutation via genome editing. Rice 12:1–5
- Fan C, Zhai H, Wang H et al (2017) Identification of QTLs controlling grain protein concentration using a high-density SNP and SSR linkage map in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). BMC Plant Biol 17:122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-017-1067-6
- Fatiukha A, Filler N, Lupo I et al (2020) Grain protein content and thousand kernel weight QTLs identified in a durum × wild emmer wheat mapping population tested in five environments. Theor Appl Genet 133:119–131
- Feil B (2001) Phytic acid. J New Seeds 3:1-35
- Fiaz S, Ahmad S, Noor MA, Wang X, Younas A, Riaz A, Riaz A, Ali F (2019) Applications of the CRISPR/Cas9 system for rice grain quality improvement: perspectives and opportunities. Int J Mol Sci 20(4):888. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20040888
- Fuhua W, Huazheng X, Ya W et al (2018) Breeding fragrant rice Zhengdao19 using CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing technology. Crops 34(6):36–42
- Gaikwad KB, Rani S, Kumar M, Gupta V, Babu PH, Bainsla NK, Yadav R (2020) Enhancing the nutritional quality of major food crops through conventional and genomics-assisted breeding. Front Nutr 7:533453. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2020.533453
- Gao R, Feyissa BA, Croft M, Hannoufa A (2018) Gene editing by CRISPR/Cas9 in the obligatory outcrossing *Medicago sativa*. Planta 247:1043–1050
- Gao H, Gadlage MJ, Lafitte HR et al (2020) Superior field performance of waxy corn engineered using CRISPR–Cas9. Nat Biotechnol 38:579–581
- Gaudelli NM, Komor A, Rees H et al (2017) Programmable base editing of A•T to G•C in genomic DNA without DNA cleavage. Nature 551:464–471
- Gorafi YS, Ishii T, Kim J-S, Elbashir AAE, Tsujimoto H (2018) Genetic variation and association mapping of grain iron and zinc contents in synthetic hexaploid wheat germplasm. Plant Genet Resour 16:9–17
- Govindaraj M, Rai KN, Cherian B, Pfeiffer WH, Kanatti A, Shivade H (2019) Breeding biofortified pearl millet varieties and hybrids to enhance millet markets for human nutrition. Agriculture 9:106. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9050106
- Guo Y, Zhang G, Guo B et al (2020) QTL mapping for quality traits using a high-density genetic map of wheat. PLoS One 15:e0230601. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230601

- Gupta PK, Langridge P, Mir RR (2010) Marker-assisted wheat breeding: present status and future possibilities. Mol Breeding 26:145–161
- Gupta HS, Raman B, Agrawal PK, Mahajan V, Hossain F, Nepolean T (2013) Accelerated development of quality protein maize hybrid through marker-assisted introgression of opaque-2 allele. Plant Breed 132:77–82
- Gyawali S, Otte M, Chao S et al (2017) Genome wide association studies (GWAS) of element contents in grain with a special focus on zinc and iron in a world collection of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). J Cereal Sci 77:266–227
- Hamaker BR, Mohamed AA, Habben JE, Huang CP, Larkins BA (1995) Efficient procedure for extracting maize and sorghum kernel proteins reveals higher prolamin contents than the conventional method. Cereal Chem 72:583–588
- Hao Y, Velu G, Peña RJ, Singh S, Singh RP (2014) Genetic loci associated with high grain zinc concentration and pleiotropic effect on kernel weight in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Mol Breed 34:1893–1902
- Hash CT, Sharma A, Kolesnikova-Allen MA et al (2006) Teamwork delivers biotechnology products to Indian small-holder crop-livestock producers: pearl millet hybrid "HHB 67 improved" enters seed delivery pipeline. J SAT Agr Res 2(1):1–3
- Haun W, Coffman A, Clasen BM et al (2014) Improved soybean oil quality by targeted mutagenesis of the fatty acid desaturase 2 gene family. Plant Biotechnol J 12(7):934–940
- Hickey LT, Hafeez N, Robinson H et al (2019) Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol 37:744–754
- Hk K, Ha S (2020) Improving nutritional and functional quality by genome editing of crops: status and perspectives. Front Plant Sci 11:577313. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.577313
- Holme IB, Wendt T, Gil-Humanes J et al (2017) Evaluation of the mature grain phytase candidate *HvPAPhy_a* gene in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) using CRISPR/Cas9 and TALENS. Plant Mol Biol 95(1–2):111–121
- Hossain F, Muthusamy V, Pandey N et al (2018) Marker-assisted introgression of opaque2 allele for rapid conversion of elite hybrids into quality protein maize. J Genet 97:287–298
- Ishino Y, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Amemura M, Nakata A (1987) Nucleotide sequence of the *iap* gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in *Escherichia coli*, and identification of the gene product. J Bacteriol 169:5429–5433
- Ishino Y, Krupovic M, Forterre P (2018) History of CRISPR-Cas from encounter with a mysterious repeated sequence to genome editing technology. J Bacteriol 200(7):e00580–e00517. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00580-17
- Islam M, Arifuzzaman M, Banik S et al (2020) Mapping QTLs underpin nutrition components in aromatic rice germplasm. PLoS One 15:e0234395. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0234395
- Jackson SA, McKenzie RE, Fagerlund RD, Kieper SN, Fineran PC, Brouns SJ (2017) CRISPR-Cas: adapting to change. Science 356:eaal5056. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal5056
- Jaganathan D, Ramasamy K, Sellamuthu G, Jayabalan S, Venkataraman G (2018) CRISPR for crop improvement: an update review. Front Plant Sci 9:985. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00985
- Jang S, Han JH, Lee YK, Shin NH, Kang YJ, Kim CK, Chin JH (2020) Mapping and validation of QTLs for the amino acid and total protein content in brown rice. Front Genet 11:240. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00240
- Jangra S, Mishra A, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2017) Engineering abiotic stress tolerance traits for mitigating climate change. In: Gahlawat S, Salar R, Siwach P, Duhan J, Kumar S, Kaur P (eds) Plant biotechnology: recent advancements and developments. Springer, Singapore, pp 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-4732-9_3
- Jangra S, Chaudhary V, Yadav NR (2018) Transcription factors and microRNA interplay: a new strategy for crop improvement. In: Ghedria K (ed) Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.75942

- Jangra S, Rani A, Yadav RC, Yadav NR, Yadav D (2019a) Introgression of terminal drought stress tolerance in advance lines of popular pearl millet hybrid through molecular breeding. Plant Physiol Rep 24:359–369
- Jangra S, Mishra A, Priti, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2019b) Plant responses and tolerance to drought. In: Mirza H, Kamrun N, Masayuki F, Hirosuke O, Islam TM (eds) Approaches for enhancing abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Taylor & Francis, CRC Press, pp 79–98. https:// doi.org/10.1201/9781351104722
- Jangra S, Chaudhary V, Yadav RC, Yadav NR (2021a) High-throughput phenotyping: a platform to accelerate crop improvement. Phenomics 1:31–53
- Jangra S, Rani A, Yadav D, Yadav RC, Yadav NR (2021b) Promising versions of commercial pearl millet hybrid for terminal drought tolerance identified through MAS. J Genet. 100:88. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12041-021-01337-8
- Jansen R, Embden JDV, Gaastra W, Schouls LM (2002) Identification of genes that are associated with DNA repeats in prokaryotes. Mol Microboiol 43:1565–1575
- Jeong OY, Lee JH, Jeong EG et al (2020) Analysis of QTL responsible for grain iron and zinc content in doubled haploid lines of rice (*Oryza sativa*) derived from an intra-japonica cross. Plant Breed 139:344–355
- Jiang H, Lio J, Blanco M, Campbell M, Jane JL (2010) Resistant-starch formation in high-amylose maize starch during kernel development. J Agric Food Chem 58:8043–8047
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337:816–821
- Jouanin A, Schaart JG, Boyd LA et al (2019) Outlook for coeliac disease patients: towards bread wheat with hypoimmunogenic gluten by gene editing of α- and γ-gliadin gene families. BMC Plant Biol 19(1):333. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-019-1889-5
- Jouanin A, Gilissen LJWJ, Schaart JG et al (2020) CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of gluten in wheat to reduce gluten content and exposure-reviewing methods to screen for coeliac safety. Front Nutr 7:51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2020.00051
- Jung YJ, Nogoy FM, Lee SK, Cho YG, Kang KK (2018) Application of ZFN for site directed mutagenesis of rice SSIVa gene. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 23:108–115
- Kelliher T, Starr D, Su X et al (2019) One-step genome editing of elite crop germplasm during haploid induction. Nat Biotechnol 37:287–292
- Khush GS (2005) What it will take to feed 5.0 billion rice consumers in 2030. Plant Mol Biol 59(1):1–6
- Kim YG, Cha J, Chandrasegaran S (1996) Hybrid restriction enzymes: zinc finger fusions to Fok I cleavage domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:1156–1160
- Kinoshita N, Kato M, Koyasaki K et al (2017) Identification of quantitative trait loci for rice grain quality and yield-related traits in two closely related *Oryza sativa* L. subsp. *japonica* cultivars grown near the northernmost limit for rice paddy cultivation. Breed Sci 67:191–206
- Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, Joung JK (2016) Highfidelity CRISPR–Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature 529(7587):490–495
- Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR (2016) Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage. Nature 533:420–424
- Kottapalli K, Lakshmi NM, Jena K (2010) Effective strategy for pyramiding three bacterial blight resistance genes into fine grain rice cultivar, samba mahsuri, using sequence tagged site markers. Biotechnol Lett 32:989–996
- Krishnappa G, Singh AM, Chaudhary S, Ahlawat et al (2017) Molecular mapping of the grain iron and zinc concentration, protein content and thousand kernel weight in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). PLoS One 12(4): e0174972 doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174972
- Kumar S, Hash CT, Thirunavukkarasu N et al (2016) Mapping quantitative trait loci controlling high iron and zinc content in self and open pollinated grains of pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.]. Front Plant Sci 7:1636. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01636

- Kumar S, Hash CT, Nepolean T et al (2018) Mapping grain iron and zinc content quantitative trait loci in an Iniadi-derived immortal population of pearl millet. Genes (Basel) 9(5):248. https:// doi.org/10.3390/genes9050248
- Lee GH, Yun BW, Kim KM (2014) Analysis of QTLs associated with the rice quality related gene by double haploid populations. Int. J Genomics 2014:781832. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/781832
- Li T, Huang S, Zhao X et al (2011) Modularly assembled designer TAL effector nucleases for targeted gene knockout and gene replacement in eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res 39:6315–6325
- Li A, Jia S, Yobi A, Ge Z, Sato SJ, Zhang C, Angelovici R, Clemente TE, Holding DR (2018) Editing of an alpha-kafirin gene family increases, digestibility and protein quality in sorghum. Plant Phy 177(4):1425–1438
- Li Q, Pan Z, Gao Y, Li T, Liang J, Zhang Z, Zhang H, Deng G, Long H, Yu M (2020) Quantitative trait locus (QTLs) mapping for quality traits of wheat based on high density genetic map combined with bulked segregant analysis RNA-seq (BSR-Seq) indicates that the *basic 7S* globulin gene is related to falling number. Front Plant Sci 11:600788. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2020.600788
- Li H, Li X, Xu Y et al (2020a) High-efficiency reduction of rice amylose content via CRISPR/ Cas9-mediated base editing. Rice Sci 27(6):445–448
- Li J, Jiao G, Sun Y, Chen J, Zhong Y, Yan L, Jiang D, Ma Y, Xia L (2020b) Modification of starch composition, structure and properties through editing of *TaSBEIIa* in both winter and spring wheat varieties by CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J 19(5):937–951
- Liang Z, Zhang K, Chen K, Gao C (2014) Targeted mutagenesis in *Zea mays* using TALENs and the CRISPR/Cas system. J Genet Genomic 41:63–68
- Liu J, Wu B, Singh RP, Velu G (2019) QTL mapping for micronutrients concentration and yield component traits in a hexaploid wheat mapping population. J Cereal Sci 88:57–64
- Lloyd A, Plaisier CL, Carroll D, Drews GN (2005) Targeted mutagenesis using zinc-finger nucleases in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2232–2237
- Lor VS, Starker CG, Voytas DF, Weiss D, Olszewski NE (2014) Targeted mutagenesis of the tomato PROCERA gene using transcription activator-like effector nucleases. Plant Physiol 166(3):1288–1291
- Lowe K, Wu E, Wang N et al (2016) Morphogenic regulators baby boom and Wuschel improve monocot transformation. Plant Cell 28:1998–2015
- Ma L, Zhu F, Li Z, Zhang J, Li X, Dong J, Wang T (2015) TALEN-based mutagenesis of lipoxygenase LOX3 enhances the storage tolerance of rice (*Oryza sativa*) seeds. PLoS One 10(12):e0143877. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143877
- Maeder ML, Thibodeau-Beganny S, Osiak A et al (2008) Rapid "open-source" engineering of customized zincfinger nucleases for highly efficient gene modification. Mol Cell 31:294–301
- Mahender A, Anandan A, Pradhan SK, Pandit E (2016) Rice grain nutritional traits and their enhancement using relevant genes and QTLs through advanced approaches. Springer Plus 5:2086. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3744-6
- Mahendrakar MD, Parveda M, Kishor PBK et al (2020) Discovery and validation of candidate genes for grain iron and zinc metabolism in pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.]. Sci Rep 10:16562. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73241-7
- Maher MF, Nasti RA, Vollbrecht M et al (2020) Plant gene editing through de novo induction of meristems. Nat Biotechnol 38:84–89
- Mahjourimajd S, Taylor J, Rengel Z, Khabaz-Saberi H, Kuchel H, Okamoto M, Langridge P (2016) The genetic control of grain protein content under variable nitrogen supply in an Australian wheat mapping population. PLoS One 11(7):e0159371. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159371
- Majumder S, Datta K, Datta SK (2019) Rice biofortification: high iron, zinc, and vitamin-a to fight against "hidden hunger". Agronomy 9(12):803. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9120803
- Makarova KS, Wolf YI, Alkhnbashi OS et al (2015) An updated evolutionary classification of CRISPR–Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 13(11):722–736

- Mamo BE, Barber BL, Steffenson BJ (2014) Genome-wide association mapping of zinc and iron concentration in barley landraces from Ethiopia and Eritrea. J Cereal Sci 60(3):497–506
- Matres JM, Hilscher J, Datta A et al (2021) Genome editing in cereal crops: an overview. Transgenic Res 30:461–498
- Mickelson S, See D, Meyer FD, Garner JP, Foster CR, Blake TK, Fischer AM (2003) Mapping of QTL associated with nitrogen storage and remobilization in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) leaves. J Exp Bot 54(383):801–812
- Moehle EA, Rock JM, Lee YL et al (2007) Targeted gene addition into a specified location in the human genome using designed zinc finger nucleases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(14):3055–3060
- Mushtaq M, Sakina A, Wani SH, Shikari AB, Tripathi P, Zaid A, Galla A, Abdelrahman M, Sharma M, Singh AK, Salgotra RK (2019) Harnessing genome editing techniques to engineer disease resistance in plants. Front Plant Sci 10:550. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00550
- Muthusamy V, Hossain F, Nepolean T, Saha S, Gupta HS (2015) Allelic variations for *lycopene-* ε *-cyclase* and β *-carotene hydroxylase* genes in maize inbreds and their utilization in β -carotene enrichment programme. Cogent Food Agric 1(1):1033141. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331193 2.2015.1033141
- Paine JA, Shipton CA, Chaggar S et al (2005) Improving the nutritional value of Golden Rice through increased pro-vitamin a content. Nat Biotechnol 23:482–487
- Park S, Joung Y, Kim K, Kim J, Koh H (2019) Gene-edited crops: present status and their future. Korean J Breed Sci 51:175–183
- Peng B, Wang L, Fan C et al (2014) Comparative mapping of chalkiness components in rice using five populations across two environments. BMC Genet 15:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2156-15-49
- Petolino JF (2015) Genome editing in plants via designed zinc finger nucleases. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 51:1–8
- Pradhan SK, Pandit E, Pawar S, Bharati B, Chatopadhyay K, Singh S, Dash P, Reddy JN (2019) Association mapping reveals multiple QTLs for grain protein content in rice useful for biofortification. Mol Gen Genomics 294(4):963–983
- Pradhan SK, Pandit E, Pawar S et al (2020) Linkage disequilibrium mapping for grain Fe and Zn enhancing QTLs useful for nutrient dense rice breeding. BMC Plant Biol 20(1):57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-2262-4
- Prasanna BM, Palacios-Rojas N, Hossain F et al (2020) Molecular breeding for nutritionally enriched maize: status and prospects. Front Genet 10:1392. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgene.2019.01392
- Priti, Jangra S, Kamboj D, Yadav NR, Yadav RC (2018) Crop genomic for food security. In: Yadav PK, Kumar S, Kumar S, Yadav RC (eds) Crop improvement for sustainability, pp 361–377
- Pujar M, Gangaprasad S, Govindaraj M et al (2020) Genome-wide association study uncovers genomic regions associated with grain iron, zinc and protein content in pearl millet. Sci Rep 10:19473. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76230-y
- Qi W, Zhu T, Tian Z, Li C, Zhang W, Song R (2016) High-efficiency CRISPR/Cas9 multiplex gene editing using the glycine tRNA-processing system-based strategy in maize. BMC Biotechnol 16:58. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-016-0289-2
- Qi X, Wu H, Jiang H, Zhu J, Huang C, Zhang X, Liu C, Cheng B (2020) Conversion of a normal maize hybrid into a waxy version using in vivo CRISPR/Cas9 targeted mutation activity. Crop J 8(3):440–448
- Qin Y, Kim SM, Sohn JK (2009) QTL analysis of protein content in double-haploid lines of rice. Korean J Crop Sci 54(2):165–171
- Rani A, Taunk J, Jangra S, Yadav RC, Yadav NR, Yadav D, Yadav HP (2021) Development of advance pearl millet lines tolerant to terminal drought stress using marker-assisted selection. Vegetos 35:63–73

- Reddy CS, Babu AP, Swamy BPM, Kaladhar K, Sarala N (2009) ISSR marker based on GA and AG repeats reveal genetic relationship among rice varieties tolerant to drought, flood, salinity. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 10:133–141
- Regina A, Bird A, Topping D et al (2006) High-amylose wheat generated by RNA interference improves indices of large-bowel health in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:3546–3551
- Remy S, Tesson L, Menoret S, Usal C, Scharenberg AM, Anegon I (2010) Zinc-finger nucleases: a powerful tool for genetic engineering of animals. Transgenic Res 19:363–371
- Sadeghzadeh B, Rengel Z, Li C (2015) Quantitative trait loci (QTL) of seed Zn accumulation in barley population clipper X Sahara. J Plant Nutr 38:1672–1684
- Saini DK, Devi P, Kaushik P (2020) Advances in genomic interventions for wheat biofortification: a review. Agronomy 10(1):62. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10010062
- Sánchez-León S, Gil-Humanes J, Ozuna CV, Giménez MJ, Sousa C, Voytas DF, Barro F (2018) Low-gluten, nontransgenic wheat engineered with CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J 16(4):902–910
- Schmidt RJ, Burr FA, Aukerman MJ, Burr B (1990) Maize regulatory gene *opaque-2* encodes a protein with a leucine zipper motif that binds to zein DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:46–50
- See D, Kanazin V, Kephart K, Blake T (2002) Mapping genes controlling variation in barley grain protein concentration. Crop Sci 42(3):680–685
- Shan Q, Zhang Y, Chen K, Zhang K, Gao C (2015) Creation of fragrant rice by targeted knockout of the *OsBADH2* gene using TALEN technology. Plant Biotechnol J 13(6):791–800
- Shao G, Xie L, Jiao G, Wei X, Sheng Z, Tang S, Peisong H (2017) CAS9-mediated editing of the fragrant gene *Badh2* in rice. Chin J Rice Sci 31:216–222
- Shmakov S, Smargon A, Scott D et al (2017) Diversity and evolution of class 2 CRISPR–Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 15:169–182
- Shukla VK, Doyon Y, Miller JC et al (2009) Precise genome modification in the crop species Zea mays using zinc-finger nucleases. Nature 459:437–441
- Singh AK, Gopalakrishnan S, Singh VP et al (2011) Marker assisted selection: a paradigm shift in basmati breeding. Indian J Genet 71:120–128
- Singhal T, Satyavathi CT, Singh SP et al (2021) Multi-environment quantitative trait loci mapping for grain iron and zinc content using bi-parental recombinant inbred line mapping population in pearl millet. Front Plant Sci 12:659789. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.659789
- Srinivasa J, Arun B, Mishra VK et al (2014) Zinc and iron concentration QTL mapped in a *Triticum* spelta × *T. aestivum* cross. Theor Appl Genet 127:1643–1651
- Suman K, Neeraja CN, Madhubabu P et al (2021) Identification of promising RILs for high grain zinc through genotype × environment analysis and stable grain zinc QTL using SSRs and SNPs in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Front Plant Sci 12:587482. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.587482
- Sun Y, Thompson M, Lin G, Butler H, Gao Z, Thornburgh S, Yau K, Smith DA, Shukla VK (2007) Inositol 1, 3, 4, 5, 6-pentakisphosphate 2-kinase from maize: molecular and biochemical characterization. Plant Physiol 144:1278–1291
- Sun H, Lu J, Fan Y, Zhao Y, Kong F, Li R, Wang H, Li S (2008) Quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for quality traits related to protein and starch in wheat. Prog Nat Sci 18:825–831
- Sun X, Wu K, Zhao Y, Qian Z, Kong F, Guo Y, Wang Y, Li S (2016) Molecular genetic analysis of grain protein content and flour whiteness degree using RILs in common wheat. J Genet 95(2):317–324
- Sun Y, Jiao G, Liu Z, Zhang X, Li J, Guo X, Du W, Du J, Francis F, Zhao Y, Xia L (2017) Generation of high-amylose rice through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of starch branching enzymes. Front Plant Sci 8:298. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00298
- Swamy B, Kaladhar K, Anuradha K, Batchu AK, Longvah T, Sarla N (2018) QTL analysis for grain iron and zinc concentrations in two O. nivara derived backcross populations. Rice Sci 25:197–207
- Swamy BPM, Marathi B, Ribeiro-Barros AIF, Ricachenevsky FK (2021) Editorial: development of healthy and nutritious cereals: recent insights on molecular advances in breeding. Front Genet 12:635006. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2021.635006

- Taira H, Nakagahra M, Nagamine T (1988) Fatty acid composition of Indica, Sinica, Javanica, japonica groups of nonglutinous brown rice. J Agric Food Chem 36(1):45–47
- Tan YF, Sun M, Xing Y et al (2001) Mapping quantitative trait loci for milling quality, protein content and color characteristics of rice using a recombinant inbred line population derived from an elite rice hybrid. Theor Appl Genet 103:1037–1045
- Terasawa Y, Ito M, Tabiki T, Nagasawa K, Hatta K, Nishio Z (2016) Mapping of a major QTL associated with protein content on chromosome 2B in hard red winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Breed Sci 66(4):471–480
- Tiwari C, Wallwork H, Arun B et al (2016) Molecular mapping of quantitative trait loci for zinc, iron and protein content in the grains of hexaploid wheat. Euphytica 207:563–570
- Townsend JA, Wright DA, Winfrey RJ, Fu F, Maeder ML, Joung JK, Voytas DF (2009) High frequency modification of plant genes using engineered zinc finger nucleases. Nature 459:442. https://doi.org/10.1038/2Fnature07845
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA et al (2010) Comprehensive, quantitative mapping of T cell epitopes in gluten in celiac disease. Sci Transl Med:2:41ra51. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3001012
- Usman B, Nawaz G, Zhao N, Liu Y, Li R (2020) Generation of high yielding and fragrant rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) lines by CRISPR/Cas9 targeted mutagenesis of three homoeologs of cytochrome P450 gene family and *OsBADH2* and transcriptome and proteome profiling of revealed changes triggered by mutations. Plan Theory 9(6):788. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9060788
- Velu G, Tutus Y, Gomez-Becerra HF et al (2017) QTL mapping for grain zinc and iron concentrations and zinc efficiency in a tetraploid and hexaploid wheat mapping populations. Plant Soil 411:81–99
- Velu G, Singh RP, Crespo-Herrera L et al (2018) Genetic dissection of grain zinc concentration in spring wheat for mainstreaming biofortification in CIMMYT wheat breeding. Sci Rep 8:13526. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31951-z
- Vivek BS, Krivanek AF, Palacios-Rojas N, Twumasi-Afriyie S, Diallo AO (2008) Breeding quality protein maize (QPM): protocols for developing QPM cultivars. CIMMYT, Mexico, D.F.
- Vlčko T, Ohnoutková L (2020) Allelic variants of CRISPR/Cas9 induced mutation in an inositol trisphosphate 5/6 kinase gene manifest different phenotypes in barley. Plan Theory 9:195. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9020195
- Waltz E (2016) CRISPR-edited crops free to enter market, skip regulation. Nat Biotechnol 34:582. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0616-582
- Waltz E (2018) With a free pass, CRISPR-edited plants reach market in record time. Nat Biotechnol 36:6–7
- Wang L, Cui F, Wang J et al (2012) Conditional QTL mapping of protein content in wheat with respect to grain yield and its components. J Genet 91(3):303–312
- Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Gao C, Qiu JL (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeo alleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotech 32:947–952
- Wang B, Zhu L, Zhao B, Zhao Y, Xie Y, Zheng Z, Li Y, Sun J, Wang H (2019) Development of a haploid-inducer mediated genome editing system for accelerating maize breeding. Mol Plant 12(4):597–602
- Wang Y, Liu X, Zheng X, Wang W, Yin X, Liu H, Ma C, Niu X, Zhu J, Wang F (2021a) Creation of aromatic maize by CRISPR/Cas. J Integr Plant Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/jipb.13105
- Wang Y, Xu X, Hao Y et al (2021b) QTL mapping for grain zinc and iron concentrations in bread wheat. Front Nutr 8:680391. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.680391
- Wendt T, Holm PB, Starker CG, Christian M, Voytas DF, Brinch-Pedersen H, Holme IB (2013) TAL effector nucleases induce mutations at a pre-selected location in the genome of primary barley transformants. Plant Mol Biol 83(3):279–285
- White PJ, Broadley MR (2005) Biofortifying crops with essential mineral elements. Trends Plant Sci 10(12):586–593
- Wright DA, Townsend JA, Winfrey RJ Jr et al (2005) High-frequency homologous recombination in plants mediated by zinc-finger nucleases. Plant J 44:693–705

- Wu YB, Li G, Zhu YJ et al (2020) Genome-wide identification of QTLs for grain protein content based on genotyping-by-resequencing and verification of *qGPC1-1* in rice. Int J Mol Sci 21(2):408. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21020408
- Xu Q, Zheng T-Q, Hu X et al (2015) Examining two sets of introgression lines in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) reveals favorable alleles that improve grain Zn and Fe concentrations. PLoS One 10:e0131846. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131846
- Yadav RC, Jangra S, Yadav NR (2018) Pros and cons of GM crops. In: Yadav PK, Kumar S, Kumar S, Yadav RC (eds) Crop improvement for sustainability, pp 330–342
- Yadava DK, Choudhury PR, Hossain F, Kumar D, Mohapatra T (2020) Biofortified varieties: Sustainable way to alleviate malnutrition (Third Edition). Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi. p:86
- Yang Y, Guo M, Li R et al (2015) Identification of quantitative trait loci responsible for rice grain protein content using chromosome segment substitution lines and fine mapping of *qPC-1* in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Mol Breed 35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-015-0328-z
- Yang Q, Zhong XJ, Li Q et al (2020) Mutation of the D-hordein gene by RNA-guided Cas9 targeted editing reducing the grain size and changing grain compositions in barley. Food Chem 311:125892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125892
- Yu YH, Li G, Fan YY, Zhang KQ, Min J, Zhu ZW, Zhuang JY (2009) Genetic relationship between grain yield and the contents of protein and fat in a recombinant inbred population of rice. J Cereal Sci 50(1):121–125
- Yun BW, Kim MG, Handoyo T, Kim KM (2014) Analysis of rice grain quality associated quantitative trait loci by using genetic mapping. Am J Plant Sci 5:1125–1132
- Yunyan F, Jie Y, Fangquan W, Fangjun F, Wenqi L, Jun W, Yang X, Jinyan Z, Weigong Z (2019) Production of two elite glutinous rice varieties by editing *wx* gene. Rice Sci 26(2):118–124
- Zafar K, Sedeek KEM, Rao GS et al (2020) Genome editing technologies for rice improvement: progress, prospects, and safety concerns. Front Genome Ed 2:5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgeed.2020.00005
- Zaidi SS, Mahas A, Vanderschuren H, Mahfouz MM (2020) Engineering crops of the future: CRISPR approaches to develop climate-resilient and disease-resistant plants. Genome Biol 21(1):289. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-020-02204-y
- Zeng D, Liu T, Ma X, Wang B, Zheng Z, Zhang Y, Xie X, Yang B, Zhao Z, Zhu Q, Liu YG (2020) Quantitative regulation of waxy expression by CRISPR/Cas9-based promoter and 5'UTRintron editing improves grain quality in rice. Plant Biotechnol J 12:2385–2387
- Zhang W, Bi J, Chen L et al (2008) QTL mapping for crude protein and protein fraction contents in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Cereal Sci 48:539–547
- Zhang M, Pinson SR, Tarpley L et al (2014) Mapping and validation of quantitative trait loci associated with concentrations of 16 elements in unmilled rice grain. Theor Appl Genet 127:137–165
- Zhang J, Zhang H, Botella JR, Zhu JK (2018a) Generation of new glutinous rice by CRISPR/Cas9targeted mutagenesis of the waxy gene in elite rice varieties. J Integr Plant Biol 60(5):369–375
- Zhang S, Zhang R, Song G et al (2018b) Targeted mutagenesis using the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated CRISPR-Cas9 system in common wheat. BMC Plant Biol 18:302. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-018-1496-x
- Zhang D, Hussain A, Manghwar H et al (2020) Genome editing with the CRISPR-Cas system: an art, ethics and global regulatory perspective. Plant Biotechnol J 18(8):1651–1669
- Zhang S, Zhang R, Gao J, Song G, Li J, Li W, Qi Y, Li Y, Li G (2021) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing for wheat grain quality improvement. Plant Biotechnol J. https://doi. org/10.1111/pbi.13647
- Zhong M et al (2011) Identification of QTL affecting protein and amino acid contents in rice. Rice Sci 18(3):187–195
- Zhu Y, Lin Y, Chen S, Liu H, Chen Z, Fan M, Hu T, Mei F, Chen J, Chen L, Wang F (2019) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated functional recovery of the recessive rc allele to develop red rice. Plant Biotechnol J 11:2096–2105

Chapter 15 Genome Editing for Nutrient Use Efficiency in Crops



Ayten Kübra Yağız, Caner Yavuz, Muhammad Naeem, Sarbesh Das Dangol, and Emre Aksoy

Contents

15.1	Introduction		
15.2	Transgenic Approach for Enhancement of Nutrient Use Efficiency		
15.3	3 Improvement of Macronutrients Use Efficiency in Crops by Transgenic Appro		
	15.3.1	Nitrogen	350
	15.3.2	Phosphorous	353
	15.3.3	Potassium.	355
	15.3.4	Sulfur	356
15.4	Improvement of Micronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Transgenic Approach		
	15.4.1	Iron	357
	15.4.2	Zinc	359
	15.4.3	Manganese	360
	15.4.4	Magnesium	361
	15.4.5	Boron	361
	15.4.6	Calcium	362
15.5	Genome Editing Approach for the Enhancement of Nutrient Use Efficiency in		
	Crops		363
15.6	Improvement of Macronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing		
	Approach		
	15.6.1	Nitrogen	363
	15.6.2	Phosphorous	365
	15.6.3	Potassium and Phosphorous	366
15.7	Improvement of Micronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing		
	Approach		
	15.7.1	Iron	366
	15.7.2	Zinc	368
	15.7.3	Boron	369
	15.7.4	Cadmium	369

A. K. Yağız (🖂) · C. Yavuz · M. Naeem · S. D. Dangol

Department of Agricultural Genetic Engineering, Nigde Omer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Technologies, Nigde, Turkey e-mail: ayagiz@ohu.edu.tr

E. Aksoy

Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey

C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_15

15.8	Improvement of Other Compounds' Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing		
	Approach	369	
	15.8.1 Phytic Acid	369	
	15.8.2 Amylose/Amylopectin.	370	
15.9	Conclusion.		
Referen	nces	372	

15.1 Introduction

The rapid growth in the world population increases the demand for crop production, whereas the available arable lands are diminishing due to human activities. In addition to these two mostly encountering problems in agriculture, climate change and changes in soil structure/texture also affect crop production and yield at different extents. Other environment-related external factors and farmers' extensive use of irrigation and fertilizers make a significant part of the problem in agriculture such that irresponsible use of water and fertilizers pollutes the environment and therefore negatively affects the environment and crop production (Khan et al. 2018). To adapt the plants in these unfavorable conditions, the improvement of plant characteristics has taken the attention of plant breeders in the last century. The improvement of the plant is conducted by two main steps: creating a variation and selecting superior individuals. As sessile organisms, plants obtain their nutrients from the soil via their root systems. Absorbed nutrients are later translocated to other parts of the plant such as leaves and stem. Plants harness various pathways to uptake, translocate, and accumulate essential minerals and nutrients in their bodies (Brown et al. 2021). These pathways include a diverse mixture of mineral transporter, transcription factors, and regulator. Numerous genes involved in these pathways have already been characterized; however, our knowledge to enhance nutrient uptake and accumulation in crops is still limited.

Plants need different nutrients for growth and development. They are not always able to reach these nutrients in nature easily, therefore they evolved different ways to cope with the environmental extremities based on their needs. This adaptation enabled plants to develop mechanisms to avoid any type of danger or extremity or scarcity, and ultimately, plants shaped their internal processes according to the external supplies (Maqbool et al. 2020). Nutrient use efficiency (NUE) is, basically, the uptake of available nutrients in the environment and their allocation for the production of certain biomass in plants (Nieves-Cordones et al. 2020). These processes are controlled by multiple genes, therefore they are highly complex. Moreover, the complete structure of these mechanisms has not been illuminated yet. On the other hand, the knowledge about NUE gives a chance for improvement of use efficiency of each nutrient type one by one. Thus, according to the environmental conditions and plant needs, the genome of the crop can be edited by genome editing techniques for specific nutrients, which will be discussed later (Korotkova et al. 2019; Lu and Zhu 2017; Faiz et al. 2021).

Past several years, new techniques have been developed to edit certain genome parts of plants. The main idea behind genome editing is the modification of a DNA strand by inducing double-stranded DNA breaks. Nowadays, it is possible to create double-stranded DNA breaks on purpose at a specific region and insert or delete genes of interest (Wada et al. 2020). For this purpose, Zing-Finger nucleases (ZFN), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR-associated (Cas) nuclease 9 (CRISPS/Cas9) system are the most commonly used techniques (Kamburova et al. 2017). ZFN is an artificial endonuclease, which contains Zing-Finger Proteins (ZFP) and the Fok1 enzyme. The ZFP part recognizes the target region in the genome and the Fok1 enzyme cleavages the double-strand DNA and creates a break in the genome. The defined technique is used for 'knock-out' or 'gene insertion' purposes (Urnov et al. 2010). Another technology used for genome editing is TALENs. The working principle of TALENs is almost the same with ZNF with small changes. The TALE proteins are used as recognition domain instead of ZFP and the Fok1 enzyme is used as a restriction enzyme in the TALENs system, like ZNF (Jankele and Svoboda 2014). CRISPR/Cas is a microbial adaptive immune system that uses RNA-guided nucleases to cleave foreign genetic elements (Horvath and Barrangou 2010). It has been used in genome editing in many different organisms to cause mutations in precise locations. This genome editing system enabled genome editing in a much simpler and cheaper way in plants. It produces doublestrand breaks (DSBs) (Nasti and Voytas 2021). DSB repair is followed by NHEJ (nonhomologous end joining) or HDR (homology-dependent repair) pathways. NHEJ can cause insertion/deletion, whereas HDR can cause the introduction of a DNA template (Dangol et al. 2019; Nasti and Voytas 2021). The targeting of DNA occurs at PAM (protospacer adjacent motifs) sites and the most used PAM sequence is NGG in terms of Cas9 derived from *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Other Cas9 variants have also been utilized in plants to recognize the relaxed PAM sites (Ren et al. 2021). T-rich PAMs are recognized in another genome editing system known as CRISPR/Cas12a (previously CRISPR/cpf1) (Zhang et al. 2018; Zhang and Qi 2021). Other genome editing technologies have also been used in plants such as using deamination of cytosine and adenine via deaminases to create base excision repair (Nasti and Voytas 2021). Base editing can be performed via conversion of a single base to the other, such as CBE (cytosine base-editing) mediated by CRISPR/ Cas9 technology causing cytosine deamination converting CG to TA. Similarly, ADE (adenosine base-editing) can convert AT to GC (Bharat et al. 2020). The ploidy level of plants can also make functional genomics studies quite challenging and the CRISPR/Cas9 system can be used to select the best single guide RNA (sgRNA) candidates in targeting multiple homoeoalleles (Sattar et al. 2019). Using various gene editing and CRISPR technologies, several plant species have been studied under different environmental conditions (Zhang et al. 2018). This technology is currently the simplest, most versatile, and precise method of genetic manipulation and is therefore causing a buzz in the crop breeding sector. In this chapter, the use of genome editing techniques on nutrient use efficiency and its implications in biofortification is discussed.

15.2 Transgenic Approach for Enhancement of Nutrient Use Efficiency

Nutrient use efficiency (NUE) encompasses a combination of efficiently acquiring nutrients from the soil followed by nutrient redistribution, assimilation, and utilization efficiency (i.e., high amount of dry matter production per unit nutrient uptake). All these processes are coordinated and mediated through a complex network of genes (Giehl and von Wiren 2014). The biological function and the working model of these sets of genes were studied within the framework of functional genomics. Transgenic approaches are considered to be an effective tool to study and improve various aspects of NUE in different crops together with plant transformation methodology. It includes gene-targeted or site-directed mutagenesis (i.e., T-DNA or transposon-tagging to generate loss-of-function mutations) and gene overexpression studies in transgenic plants (i.e., insertion of random transcriptional enhancers into the genome or expression of transgenes under the control of strong promoters) (Abdeeva et al. 2012; Ichikawa et al. 2006).

NUE can be improved through biotechnological intervention with an attempt to decipher the molecular basis of plant responses to macro- and micronutrients and by the identification of nutrient-responsive genes. One of the promising approaches is to engineer the overexpression of genes encoding NUE to enhance the nutrient assimilation efficiency and nutrient utilization efficiency of crops (Good et al. 2007). Wan et al. (2017) showed that key processes such as nutrient uptake, redistribution, assimilation, signaling, and storage are mediated by several transporters, regulatory elements, and transcription factors (TF). Transporters showed differences depending upon the location and affinities and were helpful in nutrient homeostasis and assimilation. Moreover, regulatory elements and TFs modulate the expression of genes involved in nutrient signaling that impacts NUE and ultimately improves crop productivity.

15.3 Improvement of Macronutrients Use Efficiency in Crops by Transgenic Approach

15.3.1 Nitrogen

Nitrogen (N) is a key limiting nutrient required for the growth and development of staple crops. Excessive N application in the form of nitrogenous fertilizers maximizes crop yields, but causes ecological imbalance. Plants uptake N in the form of nitrate (NO_3^-) and ammonium (NH_4^+) . The obvious candidate genes responsible for N uptake, assimilation, and regulation include nitrate and ammonium transporters, glutamine and glutamate synthase genes, such as alanine aminotransferase (*AlaAT*), nitrate reductase, and transcription factors, such as Dof1, etc. (Kurai et al. 2011). In plants, nitrate transporters are of two types: nitrate transporter 1/peptide transporter

(NRT1/PTR also referred to as NPF family) and nitrate transporter 2 (NRT2 family). NPF family can transport broad substrates and generally possess low affinity except for AtNPF6.3 or NRT1.1 (dual affinity NO₃⁻ transporter) (Chiba et al. 2015). NRT2, on the other hand, possesses high affinity and may require a partner protein like NRT3 (NAR2) to mediate NO₃⁻ transport at a relatively low concentration (Feng et al. 2011). NRT1.1 serves as a nitrate sensor and aids in the gene regulation of *NRT2.1* in plants (Ho et al. 2009). AMT/MEP/Rh transporters comprise a family of ammonium transporters. The activity of NH₄⁺ transporters is important in the regulation of nitrogen use efficiency in NH₄⁺ preferred rice crop (Khademi et al. 2004).

An overexpression of ammonium transporter OsAMT1.1 in rice (cv. Kaybonnet) enhanced NH₄⁺ uptake in the plant and significantly improved N assimilation in the roots and shoots ultimately causing a rise in grain yield (Ranathunge et al. 2014), but the expression of AMT transporter is genotype-dependent (Kumar et al. 2006). Although NH₄⁺ transporters are crucial for rice, NO₃⁻ uptake may also improve nitrogen use efficiency. Overexpression of OsNRT2.1 with a NO₃⁻-inducible promoter of OsNAR2.1 increases the rice grain yield by 25% and 21% as compared to the wild-type plants at the N application rates of 180 and 300 kg ha^{-1} , respectively. A 40% enhancement in agronomic NUE, recovery efficiency, and nitrogen uptake was also observed by overexpression of OsNRT2.3b in rice (Chen et al. 2016; Fan et al. 2016). The expression of NRT2 genes for enhancing NUE in crops is subjected to the use of suitable promoters. Overexpression of OsNRT2.1 with a maize ubiqui*tin* promoter (*pUbi*) significantly inhibited grain yield and N utilization efficiency in maize (Chen et al. 2016). N metabolism in potato has been improved owing to the key roles of nitrate transporters such as StNRT2.4, StNRT2.5, and StNRT2.7, glutamine synthetase, glutamate dehydrogenase, and carbonic anhydrase. Genetic manipulation of these transporter activities using tissue-specific or constitutive promoters improved NUE in potato (Zhang et al. 2020a). NPF family (nitrate transporter 1/peptide transporter) constitutes promising sources of genes for improving NUE in crops. Rice and Arabidopsis consist of at least 84 and 53 NRT-1/PRT genes, respectively (Zhao et al. 2015). Tsay et al. (2007) found 7 NRT2 genes in Arabidopsis. Among them, AtNPF8.2/AtPTR5 encodes a high-affinity dipeptide transporter and its overexpression causes an improvement in N uptake and shoot growth (Komarova et al. 2008). The uptake of N and its translocation within the plants in nitrate form has been carried out by AtNRT1.1-1.9. Likewise, the expression of NRT1.1b has been extensively studied in rice with major contributions in N uptake and root to shoot ratio in *indica* species compared to *japonica* species (Hu et al. 2015). In transgenic rice, elevated expression of OsPTR9 under the control of cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) 35S promoter followed by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation increased the ammonium uptake, enhanced lateral root formation, and finally improved grain yield. Alternatively, downregulation studies with T-DNA insertion lines (04Z11AH79, OsPTR) and OsPTR9-RNAi approach produced opposite results (Fang et al. 2013). The overexpression of OsPTR9 is known to influence glutamine synthetase (GS) activity, which helps in efficient remobilization of amino acids from senescing leaves towards the filling of grains in cereals (Tabuchi et al. 2007).

N utilization and remobilization efficiency in rice, canola, wheat, and sugarcane have been efficiently enhanced due to the upregulation of genes involved in glycolysis and the TCA cycle. Alanine aminotransferase (AlaAT) gene from Hordeum vulgare performs a key role in such circumstances, converting glutamate to pyruvate and then to alanine and α -ketoglutarate. Alanine is the main source of amino acid during the conditions of hypoxia (Miyashita et al. 2007). A root-specific btg26 promoter is used for the overexpression of HvAlaAT in canola lines, which resulted in higher above-ground biomass and seed yield (Good et al. 2007). An elevated shoot and root biomass has been observed in transgenic rice lines overexpressing HvAlaAT driven by rice antiquitin promoter (OsAnt1) (Selvaraj et al. 2017). The same promoter (OsAnt1::HvAlaAT) was used for the transformation of sugarcane and wheat plants displaying enhanced NUE and higher biomass production compared to the untransformed plants (Snyman et al. 2015; Peña et al. 2017). The roots are primary sites of *AlaAT* expression perturbing pyruvate levels and affecting the TCA cycle, causing an increase in energy production and hence promote N uptake followed by assimilation. Overexpression of HvAlaAT in transgenic plants resulted in the upregulation of genes involved in ethylene production. The biosynthesis of ethylene involves ATP and thus generates higher biomass. Higher levels of glycine production and reactive oxygen species (ROS) detoxification were some other factors of enhanced NUE and biomass production as a result of AlaAT overexpression in plants (Tiong et al. 2021). Other N metabolizing and assimilation enzymes like glutamine synthetase (GS) and glutamate synthase (GOGAT) enhance N remobilization into biomass mainly through the degradation of proteins (Rubisco, PEPc, and GS) which act as storage reservoirs containing glutamate, glutamine, aspartate, and asparagine (Brauer and Shelp 2010; McAllister et al. 2012). Evidence from the overexpression studies of GS1/GOGAT in dicots (tobacco, pea, and alfalfa) (Ortega et al. 2001; Oliveira et al. 2002; Fei et al. 2003) and monocots (rice, wheat, and maize) (Habash et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2006; Cai et al. 2009a, b) displayed a potential for improvement of usage index and uptake efficiency in dicots and uptake efficiency and utilization efficiency in monocots.

Transcription factors are regulatory elements vital for efficient signaling, remobilization, and utilization of key nutrients in plants. N assimilation in crops can be enhanced by transcriptional regulators or TFs such as NAC, DEP1, MADS25, NAP, Dof1, NLP7, bZIP, and HY5. Overexpression of *NAC2-5A* in wheat enhances root nitrate influx rate, accumulation of N in aerial parts, N HI (harvest index), and grain yield (He et al. 2015). In rice, DEP1 enhanced NH₄⁺ uptake and assimilation (Sun et al. 2014), while MADS25 played a critical role in mediating NO₃⁻ uptake through primary and lateral root development and increased the expression levels of nitrate transporter genes and accumulation of nitrate in rice (Yu et al. 2015). Maize Dof1 (ZmDof1) is a potent plant-specific TF that holds the capacity to enhance N assimilation and modulates the gene expression of the C-N skeleton network involved in the biosynthesis of amino acids such as glutamine (Glu). Under a low N environment, an overexpression of *ZmDof1* in transgenic Arabidopsis and potato increases carbon flow towards N assimilation with induced expression of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase (*PEPC*) genes (Yanagisawa et al. 2004). Net photosynthetic rate, root biomass, and root to shoot ratio were increased due to overexpression of *Dof1* under N-deficient conditions in rice (Kurai et al. 2011). Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing *NLP7* (Nin-like protein 7) influence nitrate signaling, transporter, and assimilation genes, and ultimately, enhance NUE in both N-rich and deficient conditions (Yu et al. 2016). Nitrate reductase is a key enzyme known to influence the assimilation of nitrate in plants. In Arabidopsis, bZIP HY5 (LONG HYPOCOTYL5) was identified as the regulator and activator of nitrate reductase encoding gene *NIA2*, a key enzyme, and the gene for N assimilation in plants (Jonassen et al. 2009). *MdHY5* gene was cloned and overexpressed in apple; the resulting transgenic apple calli showed enhanced anthocyanin accumulation along with improvement in nitrate contents and nitrate reductase activity. *MdHY5* positively regulates the expression of *MdNIA2* and *MdNRT2.1*, *MdNRT2.4*, and *MdNRT2.7* genes, which is in accordance with observations in *Arabidopsis*. Thus, nitrogen assimilation and NUE in apple are controlled by the *MdHY5* gene (An et al. 2017; Jonassen et al. 2009).

15.3.2 Phosphorous

Phosphorous (P) is another crucial macronutrient that is absorbed by the plants in the form of orthophosphate ions, i.e., HPO_4^{-2} and $H_2PO_4^{-}$ (forms of inorganic phosphate (Pi) in aqueous solution). In acidic soils, P forms low solubility molecules with aluminum (Al) and iron (Fe), while the reaction of P with calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) forms sparingly soluble compounds of phosphate in alkaline soils (Bar-Yosef 1991). P availability depends upon a very narrow range of neutral soil pH. Approximately 80% of applied P becomes immobile in the soil and unavailable to the plants due to adsorption, precipitation, and transformation to organic forms (Holford 1997). Various strategies are displayed by the plants to improve the acquisition of inorganic phosphate (Pi) in P-deficient soils, including remodeling of root morphology, the release of carboxylates in the rhizosphere, and induction of high-affinity Pi transporters (Hammond et al. 2004).

Phosphorous use efficiency (PUE) largely depends on the acquisition and remobilization of Pi within the plants. It relies on activating the expression of phosphorous transporter genes. Phosphate transporters are classified into PHT1, PHT2, PHT3, and PHT4 families (Liu et al. 2011). Rice genome contains 13 *PHT1* genes. In rice, overexpression of *OsPHT1.1* is responsible for increasing Pi in the shoots and the number of tillers (Seo et al. 2008). *Agrobacterium*-mediated cotyledonary node transformation method was used to develop transgenic soybean lines expressing rice phosphate transporter gene (*OsPT6 or PHT1.6*) using *CaMV 35S* promoter (Yan et al. 2014). The results suggested that overexpression of *PHT1.6* enhances the accumulation of P in roots, stems, and leaves under Pi-deficient conditions. Transformed soybean plants showed better growth and development and produced a greater number of seeds and pods compared to the untransformed plants mainly because they regulate the transfer of Pi at the junction of root nodules along with controlling expression in the vascular bundles of both juvenile and mature nodules. Phosphorous transporters (PTs) serve to improve the acquisition and translocation of Pi in the plants during the periods of Pi starvation. In another study, 41% Pi accumulation was noted in the leaves of transgenic rice plants overexpressing tobacco PT, i.e., NtPT1 under Pi stress conditions (Park et al. 2010). In wheat, the high-affinity TaPT2 gene correlates with external Pi concentration and showed sensitivity to low Pi conditions as the overexpression enhanced photosynthetic efficiency, dry mass, and content of P in the plant (Guo et al. 2014). The acquisition of Pi into the cell is an energy-dependent process mediated by H⁺-ATPases. They pump protons outside the cell creating a concentration gradient with an influx of Pi within the cell via H⁺-Pi cotransporters. In addition to PHT acting as Pi cotransporters, another gene, PHO1, belonging to PHO (phosphate permease) family was identified in Arabidopsis. Expression patterns of this gene in Arabidopsis suggest that it is involved in the loading of Pi to the xylem, root epidermal, and cortical cells (Hamburger et al. 2002). Transgenic rice lines overexpressing OsPHT1;8 enhanced the acquisition of Pi from the soil by 3 to 4 folds; hence, PUE was enhanced (Jia et al. 2011). Stefanovic et al. (2011) revealed that overexpression of AtPHO1 in Arabidopsis improved shoot Pi uptake by 2 to 3 folds.

Apart from proton secretions and homeostasis mechanisms involving cotransporters, plants have adapted other strategies to deal with immobilized and unavailable Pi within the soils. The mobilization of both organic and inorganic P can be achieved through the release of organic anions and phosphatase enzymes into the soil. Engineering plants to produce more organic acids such as overproduction of citrate results in more biomass and fruit weight. For instance, transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing Pseudomonas aeruginosa citrate synthase (CSb) yielded 25% to 35% more dry weight in comparison to non-transformed plants (Lopez-Bucio et al. 2000; Iqrar et al. 2020). Transgenic CSb lines accumulated more P within the tissues due to citrate exudation, which causes rhizosphere acidification resulting in more P solubilization. Furthermore, phosphorous was removed from sparingly soluble calcium phosphate complexes as it is converted to calcium citrate. This free Pi is readily available for uptake by the plants. In barley and tobacco, increasing malate exudation through overexpression of malate dehydrogenase (MDH) and wheat malate transporter (TaALMT1) genes from mycorrhizal fungi (Penicillium oxalicum) enhanced the P uptake, biomass, and tolerance to P deficiency (Lu et al. 2012). As 80% of organic P within the soil is present in the form of phytic acid, overexpression of genes encoding phytases (PHY1 and PhyA) and purple acid phosphatases (GmACP1, LaSAP2, PAP1, PAP3, PAP15) contribute to Pi uptake and higher enzyme activity and enhance PUE and more biomass production in soybean, white lupin, Medicago trunculata, common bean, and Arabidopsis (Wang et al. 2009; Wasaki et al. 2009; Liang et al. 2010a, b; Ma et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2014).

TFs such as MYB2P-1 (Rice), WRKY45 (Arabidopsis), BnPHR1 (*Brassica napus*), and TaPHR1 (wheat) increase root growth and dry matter partitioning owing to improved PUE. The majority of these molecular regulatory components improved PUE under low or deficient P environments since sufficient conditions may lead to excessive Pi accumulation and growth retardation (Zhou et al. 2008; Dai et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2014).

15.3.3 Potassium

Potassium (K) use efficiency (KUE) depends upon the uptake and redistribution of K⁺ regulated by a complex network of genes encoding K⁺ channels and transporters. Engineering KUE in plants relies on manipulating the expression of K⁺ transporters and channels. The genes include three families, namely tandem-pore K⁺ (TPK), shaker, and K⁺ inward rectifier-like family (K_{ir}-like channels), and encode for K⁺ channel proteins in plants. K⁺ transporters belong to different families including KUP/HAK/KT (K⁺ transporter/ high-affinity K⁺ transporter/K⁺ uptake permease), HKT (high-affinity K⁺ transporter), CHX (cation:proton antiporter), and NHX (Na⁺/ H⁺ antiporter) (Wang and Wu 2013; He et al. 2017).

Approximately 71 K⁺ channels and transporters have been reported in the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana (Wang and Wu 2010). Arabidopsis acquired K⁺ through the roots through inward rectifier potassium channel AtAKT1. It is sensitive to low K⁺ stimulus in the rhizosphere and activated by the protein kinase AtCIPK23. AtCIPK23 overexpression in Arabidopsis improved tolerance to low K+ by enhancing its uptake from the rhizosphere (Xu et al. 2006). A similar response of this channel protein was noticed in potato (Wang et al. 2011). The overexpression of AtCIPK23 in transgenic tobacco plants enhanced primary root length, dry biomass, K^+ content, and overall growth parameters in comparison to wild-type tobacco (Xue et al. 2016). AtCIPK23 regulates one of the largest groups of transporters (i.e., KUP/HAK/KT) in plants. K_{ir} channels belong to TPK (tandem-pore K⁺) family based on evolutionary events, i.e., duplication and partial deletion (Gomez-Porras et al. 2012). TPK family is involved in maintaining cellular K⁺ homeostasis due to their presence in the vacuolar membrane. For instance, rice lines overexpressing OsTPKb enhance uptake of K⁺ in the roots and shoots and also provide tolerance against stress conditions (low K⁺ or water stress) mainly due to the increase of cytoplasm: vacuole K⁺ ratio (Ahmad et al. 2016).

Overexpression of AtHAK5 transporter in Arabidopsis at low edaphic K⁺ levels enhanced the uptake and absorption of K⁺ ions within the plant (Nieves-Cordones et al. 2010). The expression of this significant transporter was regulated by four transcription factors (TFs), namely JLO (Jagged Lateral Organs), DDF2 (Dwarf and Delayed Flowering 2), bHLH121 (basic Helix-Loop-Helix 121), and Transcription factor II A Gamma chain (TFII-A) (Hong et al. 2013). These TFs were upregulated due to overexpression in the plant under salt and K deficiency stress conditions, enabling an increase in root growth as compared to the control. In rice, the overexpression of OsHAK5 not only improved K⁺ acquisition from the rhizosphere, but also enhanced its transport to the aerial parts, ultimately boosting up the K⁺/Na⁺ concentration in the shoots (Yang et al. 2014). ApKUP3 gene from alligator weed (Alternanthera philoxeroides) overexpressed in rice showed an improved drought tolerance, K⁺ nutrition, and resulted in better net K⁺ influx and accumulation in rice plants due to an increase in net chlorophyll content, photosynthesis rate, stomatal conductance, and antioxidant activities (Song et al. 2014). Studies about K⁺ homeostasis and recirculation within the model plant Arabidopsis showed that knockout of *AtCHX14* and overexpression of *AtCHX13* enhanced K⁺ uptake (Zhao et al. 2015). The former mediates low-affinity K⁺ efflux, while the latter was involved in relatively high-affinity K⁺ efflux. These cation: proton antiporters were mainly expressed in the vascular tissues of the plant.

15.3.4 Sulfur

Sulfur (S) is taken up from the soils in the form of sulfate (SO_4^{-2}) . It is stored in the plant vacuoles. Roots are the major sites of reduction and assimilation, while transportation of sulfate to the leaves was carried out through the xylem. Remobilization of sulfate to the roots was done through the phloem (Hartmann et al. 2000). Sulfate transporters (SULTRs) control the process of transport and mobilization of sulfate within the plant body (Hawkesford and De Kok 2006). Sulfur utilization efficiency (SUE) in plants is divided into (i) efficient transporters (transporters involved in sulfur uptake and assimilation) (ii) mobilizable sinks and reserves (the use of stored or accumulated S efficiently) (Iqrar et al. 2020).

There are 12 members of sulfate transporters organized in 4 groups, i.e., SULTR1 to SULTR4 in rice (monocots) and Arabidopsis (dicots) (Takahashi et al. 2012). Sulfate acquisition from the rhizosphere in the roots is done by SULTR1:1 and SULTR1;2. The studies conducted by Rae and Smith (2002) and Yoshimoto et al. (2002) demonstrated the expression of these genes in root epidermal cells, root hairs, and cortical cells. SULTR1;3 is involved in the mobilization of sulfate within phloem (Yoshimoto et al. 2003). An overexpression of soybean GmSULTR1;2b in transgenic tobacco plants resulted in improved biomass, seed weight, and accumulation of organic matter. Transcriptome analysis of the tobacco leaves overexpressing GmSULTR1;2b revealed differential expression of 227 genes involving transporter gene families like NRAMP and OPT (Ding et al. 2016). In yeast, the coexpression of both SULTR3;5 and SULTR2;1 increased S uptake (Kataoka et al. 2004). Overexpression of an S-assimilation gene PaAPR from bacteria in Arabidopsis and maize resulted in the enhancement of S-containing compounds such as cysteine, glutathione, and sulfite (Tsakraklides et al. 2002). Group 3 StSULTR3 members constitute the largest cluster of S transporters in potato (Vatansever et al. 2016). In Arabidopsis, the overexpression of SULTR3; 1 under the control of CaMV 35S promoter confirmed that it was involved in sulfate transport within the chloroplast (Cao et al. 2013; Nikolić and Tomašević 2020). Apart from SULTR, the genes involved in sulfur metabolism include sulfurylases (APS), adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), sulfite reductase (SiR), and 5-adenylylsulfate reductase (APR) (Cui et al. 2020). An overexpression of ZmSiR in Arabidopsis plants showed tolerance against cold, oxidative, and SO₂ stress through the modulation of sulfite reduction and scavenging of H₂O₂ via glutathione (GSH)-dependent pathway (Xia et al. 2018). APS4 transcript was downregulated by overexpression of mir395 (Liang et al. 2010a; b). These overexpression plants depicted higher accumulation of sulfate, but encounter S deficiency symptoms due to impaired sulfate translocation transporters such as *SULTR2;1*. Taken together, these findings suggest that S transport involves complex players regulated at the transcriptional, posttranscriptional, and posttranslational levels.

Cysteine formation is the major step for assimilation of reduced S into organic compounds (Kortt et al. 1991). Sunflower seed albumin (SSA) was isolated and characterized from sunflower seeds. It is expressed from the gene sfa8. SSA is rich in sulfur-containing amino acids, i.e., methionine and cysteine. In grain legumes, the overexpression of *sfa8* improved the nutritional increment of the feed so that a significant improvement in weight and wool quality was observed in the sheep fed with transgenic Lupinus angustifolius overexpressing sfa8 in the seeds. The nutritional gains were due to higher methionine (16%) and cysteine (8%) accumulation within the seeds (Molvig et al. 1997). In rice, however, an expression of the chimeric gene encoding SSA under the control of wheat glutenin promoter did not show a significant enhancement in total S seed content or either of the S-rich amino acids. It may be due to the transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms that result in the replacement of endogenous proteins with little or no S-rich amino acids (Hagan et al. 2003). Tomato contains sulfur transporter gene (LeST1.1), the constitutive expression of which in transgenic Brassica juncea resulted in enhanced S status, ATP sulfurylase activity, chlorophyll content, protein content, and higher biomass as compared to the non-transgenic plants. This gene encodes HAST (highaffinity sulfate transporter) and is thus involved in S uptake and assimilation particularly under S inefficient conditions (Abdin et al. 2011).

15.4 Improvement of Micronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Transgenic Approach

15.4.1 Iron

Iron (Fe) homeostasis is tightly regulated in plants as both deficiency and excess can result in stunted plant growth. Ferrous (Fe⁺²) iron is relatively soluble but oxidized to form Fe⁺³ (ferric) in the soil. The availability of iron in ferric form largely relies upon the soil pH. Fe represents the third most important limiting nutrient in calcareous-alkaline soils for the growth and development of plants, after N and P (Marschner 1995). Plants usually adopt two distinct strategies for the uptake, solubilization and mobilization of Fe. The strategy I is utilized mainly by dicots such as peas, tomato, and Arabidopsis, which is based on soil acidification and reduction of Fe⁺³ to Fe⁺².

The genes involved in strategy I belong to the family of proteins including *AHA* (H⁺-ATPase), *FRO* (Ferric chelate reductase/oxidase), and *IRT* (iron-regulated transporter) (Palmgren 2001; Vert et al. 2002; Waters et al. 2002). These protein families carry vital genes (*FRO1*, *FRO2*, *FRO6*, *IRT1*, and *IRT2*), which are induced by Fe-deficient conditions. *bHLH* transcription factors are involved in the iron

uptake as shown by the overexpression of the *MdbHLH*104 gene in apple. It enhanced the AHA activity causing Fe solubilization in the rhizosphere (Zhao et al. 2016). Plasma membrane (PM)-localized AHA provides an electrochemical gradient within the rhizosphere due to the release of protons which results in the soil acidification and uptake of mineral nutrients. In Arabidopsis, PM AHAs are encoded by 11 AHA genes, and the AHA2 gene is mainly involved in rhizosphere acidification, resulting in Fe solubility and uptake (Santi and Schmidt 2009; Zhao et al. 2016). FRO1 and FRO2 are involved in catalyzing the reduction reaction of Fe^{+3} in pea and Arabidopsis, respectively (Waters et al. 2002). The conversion of ferric iron (Fe⁺³) to ferrous (Fe⁺²) is the rate-limiting step for high-affinity iron uptake as shown in the CaMV 35S-FRO2 transgenic Arabidopsis lines grown under Fe deficiency (Connolly et al. 2003). Interestingly, the posttranscriptional regulation studies also showed that it hampers the accumulation of potentially toxic amounts of iron in the plants, meaning that no elevated levels of iron were detected due to FRO2 activity under Fe-deficient conditions. Li et al. (2011) demonstrated that the overexpression of the Arabidopsis AtFRO6 gene in tobacco increased the ferric chelate reductase activity rendering the plant tolerant against IDC (iron deficiency chlorosis). The reduced iron in ferrous form (Fe⁺²) serves as a substrate for the IRT1 transporter to be taken up from the root epidermal cells. *IRT1* loss-of-function mutants were found to be chlorotic under normal growth conditions and cannot be complemented by the overexpression of IRT2 (Vert et al. 2002). It simplifies that IRT2 had a distinct function from *IRT1*, controlled at transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels. Both these transporters belong to the ZIP (Zinc-regulated and iron-regulated transporter like-protein) family, which is not specific only to the Fe uptake, but also involved in mediating the uptake of other critical divalent elements such as zinc (Zn^{+2}) , manganese (Mn⁺²), and cadmium (Cd⁺²) (Maser et al. 2001). An overexpressing IRT1 line revealed protein accumulation only under Fe-deficient conditions, suggesting it regulates Fe homeostasis in plants (Barberon et al. 2011). In rice, OsIRT1 is involved in the direct uptake of Fe⁺² under anaerobic conditions, and its overexpression depicted low FRO enzyme activity (Ishimaru et al. 2006). This observation explains the additional diverse functional role of IRT1 for transporting Fe in monocots.

Strategy II features the release of chelating agents like mugineic acids (MAs) or phytosiderophores in the rhizosphere which are natural Fe⁺³ chelators enhancing the solubilization, uptake, and mobilization of Fe⁺³. It is adopted by plants belonging to the Poaceae family (wheat, rice, and maize) (Forieri and Hell 2014). These plants using the chelation strategy enhance Fe uptake due to the expression of certain enzymes including NAS (nicotianamine synthase), NAAT (nicotianamine amino-transferase), TOM (transporter of mugineic acids), YS (Yellow stripe), and YSL (Yellow stripe-like). Nicotianamine (NA) synthesized by NAS is the precursor for MAs. *NAS* gene cloning was done from rice, barley, and Arabidopsis and expression analysis revealed that it was induced under Fe-deficient conditions (Nakanishi et al. 2000; Forieri and Hell 2014). Masuda et al. (2009) demonstrated that the barley *NICOTIANAMINE SYNTHASE1 (HvNAS1)* gene under the control of *CaMV 35S* promoter improves NA and DMA (2'-deoxymugineic acid) concentrations, thereby increasing both Fe and Zn levels in the rice grains. NA production had a positive

impact on the internal translocation of Fe towards the grain. DMA functions as both internal transporter of Fe⁺³ and a metal chelator. The chelated MA-Fe⁺³ complexes are up by the roots via YS1 and YSL1 transporters, vellow stripe1 (vs1) mutants depict IDC and fail to uptake phytosiderophores attached to Fe⁺³ (von Wiren et al. 1994). YSL1 shares homology with YS1, which was identified in crops other than maize including Arabidopsis (AtYSL1) and rice (OsYSL2). Loss-of-function AtYSL1 mutant and OsYSL2 overexpressing lines showed that YSL transporters are involved in long-distance Fe transport through phloem and aid in Fe loading to the seed and grains (Koike et al. 2004; Jean et al. 2005). Studies on rice and barley revealed a family of transporters of phytosiderophores (i.e., TOM) responsible for the secretion of MAs in the rhizosphere (Nozoye et al. 2011). In rice, the overexpression of OsIRO2, which controls key genes involved in strategy II Fe⁺³ uptake like OsNAAT1, OsDMAS1, OsNAS1, OsNAS2, OsYSL15, and TOM1, resulted in enhanced MA secretion and showed tolerance to IDC in calcareous soils (Ogo et al. 2011; Masuda et al. 2019). The overexpression of NRAMP (natural resistance-associated macrophage protein) transporters such as NRAMP1, NRAMP2, and NRAMP4 in both nongraminaceous and graminaceous plants enhanced Fe uptake and its accumulation in developing seeds. These transporters can also mediate the transport of other divalent metal elements such as Zn⁺², Mn⁺², nickel (Ni⁺²), and Cd⁺² (Cailliatte et al. 2010; Forieri and Hell 2014).

15.4.2 Zinc

Zinc is deficient in the plants if the concentration drops below 15 to 20 µg/g dry weight, leading to stunted growth, early senescence, and chlorotic older leaves (Marschner 1995). The factors affecting Zn uptake by the plants include soil pH and composition and soil phosphate (P) amounts. The suggested mechanism of Zn uptake from the rhizosphere showed that it is taken up in the form of Zn-DMA complexes and Zn²⁺ ions (Kawakami and Bhullar 2018). *ZIP* transporters were involved in Zn²⁺ uptake as shown in a study conducted by Ramesh et al. (2003). The study depicted an upregulation of *OsZIP1* in root exodermis under Zn-deficient environment, suggesting its role in Zn uptake. A study by Arnold et al. (2010) confirmed the uptake of Zn²⁺ in the form of the Zn2+-DMA complex. On the other hand, Zn²⁺-PS is the primary form of Zn²⁺ uptake in maize and barley (Kawakami and Bhullar 2018). Zn⁺² is uptaken and transported via apoplastic and symplastic pathways up to the xylem vessels (Moreira et al. 2018).

Several members of the ZIP family are thought to be involved in Zn uptake. For instance, overexpression of *OsZIP4*, *OsZIP5*, and *OsZIP8* in rice enhanced the content of Zn^{2+} in the roots (Ishimaru et al. 2005). Zn in edible plant parts can be increased and Zn deficiency in plants can be engineered by targeting the transporters of plasma membrane and vacuole. ZIP family proteins (ZRT, IRT-like protein) constitute a group of plasma membrane transporters to transport iron

and zinc into the cytosol through the plasma membrane (Maser et al. 2001). Additionally, other transporters such as ZAT and MHX transport Zn²⁺ through the vacuolar membranes (Ramesh et al. 2004). An overexpression of AtZIP1 from Arabidopsis in Hordeum vulgare using Ubiquitin promoter showed increased Zn uptake in comparison to non-transgenic lines (Ramesh et al. 2004). Xylem unloading and translocation to shoots were improved in ZIP overexpressing plants. AtZIP1 is also involved in Mn²⁺/Zn²⁺ homeostasis, and mainly, the movement of Mn²⁺ out of the vacuole to the cytosol and the xylem parenchyma. Functional heterologous expression of 6 Arabidopsis ZIP genes (ZIP1, ZIP2, ZIP3, ZIP7, ZIP11, and ZIP12) complemented the yeast Zn uptake deficient mutants, zrt1 and zrt2 (Milner et al. 2013). Overexpression of OsZIP4 in transgenic rice under the control of CaMV 35S promoter increased the Zn accumulation mainly in the roots (Ishimaru et al. 2007). Zinc Arabidopsis transporter (ZAT) belongs to a large transporter family called CDF (cation diffusion facilitator). These are characterized and identified in plants including barley, Arabidopsis, and poplar for their roles in vacuolar Zn²⁺ transport (Yang and Chu 2011; Ajeesh Krishna et al. 2017). MHX (Mg⁺² /H⁺ exchanger) belongs to the CAX (cation exchanger) family responsible for the mobilization of Mg²⁺ and Zn²⁺ into the organelles. An overexpression of *AtMHX1* improved Zn²⁺ transport in transgenic tobacco lines (Shaul et al. 1999). Similarly, NcTZN1 and AhHMA4 genes from Neurospora crassa and Arabidopsis halleri were overexpressed in tobaccodepicted-enhanced Zn²⁺ acquisition and accumulation under Zn-deficient conditions (Barabasz et al. 2010; Dixit et al. 2010).

15.4.3 Manganese

Manganese (Mn) is an essential micronutrient that plants use as a cofactor for enzymes (almost 35 known so far) and is involved in redox reactions during photosynthesis (Hänsch and Mendel 2009; Williams and Pittman 2010; Sun et al. 2019). The uptake of Mn^{2+} contributes to plant biomass and yield (Schmidt et al. 2016). Mn^{2+} is prevalent in acidic soils and plants increase the acidity of the soil to increase the concentration of available Mn^{2+} under deficient conditions. The symptoms of Mn-deficient plants are mostly reflected in plant development particularly in root architecture (Wei Yang et al. 2008; White and Neugebauer 2021). Mild symptom under deficit-Mn is chlorosis in leaves (Schmidt et al. 2016).

Transporters are known to enable Mn²⁺ uptake through root and translocate Mn²⁺ to other parts of the plants (Gao et al. 2018). ZIP family members, MTP/CDF family transporters, and NRAMPs are the main Mn²⁺ transporters, and they have a role in Mn translocation, detoxification, sequestrating, and partitioning (Delhaize et al. 2003; Milner et al. 2013). Therefore, scientists target these transporters to understand the Mn²⁺ pathway in plants. Transgenic *irt1* Arabidopsis plants showed limited Mn²⁺ uptake (Vert et al. 2002). NRAMPs are functioning in the Mn pathway

such that their single (*nramp1* and *nramp2*) and double (*nramp3nramp4*) mutants showed retarded growth in Arabidopsis due to failure in Mn^{2+} uptake (Cailliatte et al. 2009, 2010). The overexpression of cell number regulator (*CNR*) in rice enhanced Mn^{2+} and Cd^{2+} translocation and could promote Mn-biofortification in plants (Qiao et al. 2019).

15.4.4 Magnesium

Magnesium (Mg) is a vital micronutrient required for many cellular processes such as photosynthesis, protein synthesis, and cell wall structure and has a role as a cofactor for enzymatic reactions (Guo 2017; Cakmak and Yazici 2010; Hermans et al. 2013). Plants in the field generally do not experience Mg²⁺ deficiency because soil already contains high concentrations of it (Guo 2017). N. P. K fertilization, however, can limit Mg²⁺ uptake by plants so that plants in the field may not uptake adequate Mg²⁺ from the soil due to antagonistic effect of other cationic ions (Farhat et al. 2016). Calcareous soils also prevent Mg²⁺ uptake by plants (Cakmak and Kirkby 2008). Plants take Mg⁺² via roots and translocate to shoots in apoplastic and symplastic ways (Alcock et al. 2017). Plants suffering Mg²⁺ deficiency show chlorosis and increased ROS and malondialdehyde production (Cakmak and Marschner 1992; Tewari et al. 2004). The photosynthetic capacity of plants decreases when plants do not take needed Mg²⁺ (Farhat et al. 2016). Mg-deficient plants have problems with root growth and gametophyte development (Cakmak et al. 1994; Chen et al. 2009) as well as sucrose transport (Farhat et al. 2016). Mg deficiency can further cause other nutrient deficiencies in plants, therefore it has a big role in defining plant biomass.

MRS2/MGT-type Mg^{2+} transporter family is responsible for low- and highaffinity Mg^{2+} transport in plants and the overexpression of one of its member, *MGT*, in tobacco and Arabidopsis ensures normal growth compared to non-transgenic lines under Mg-deficiency (Deng et al. 2006; Mao et al. 2014; Li et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2019). Current knowledge can explain the Mg pathway comprehensively; however, transgenic studies are very less and existing information is only restricted to MRS2/MGT-type Mg²⁺ transporter family members.

15.4.5 Boron

Boron (B) is an important micronutrient that is involved in plant developmental processes with a structural role in membrane/cell wall (by generating cis-diol complexes) and has a critical role to define final plant biomass (Brdar-Jokanović 2020; He et al. 2021). Plants take boron from the soil through their roots as boric acid. Although many soils are deficient in boron, it accumulates more in saline

soils (Brdar-Jokanović 2020). Current management strategies focus to replace deficient B by applying fertilizer; however, it should be done very carefully since the excess B can lead to toxic effects in plants (Brdar-Jokanović 2020). Under deficient B conditions, meristematic regions in root cells are severely affected and plants become more sensitive to drought and other abiotic stresses (Snowball and Robson 1983). B deficiency can cause failure in seed formation and yield can be negatively affected so plants may not generate any biomass or will have very low biomass (Rerkasem et al. 1993). Besides breeding strategies that target the development of boron efficient crops, some transgenic studies have been also accomplished. These strategies are based on manipulating two main transporters responsible for B uptake in plants: NIP5;1 (NOD26-LIKE MAJOR INTRINSIC PROTEIN5:1) and BOR1 (Takano et al. 2002; He et al. 2021). The overexpression of BOR1 in Arabidopsis or NIP5:1 in Arabidopsis and Brassica napus could be able to compensate B and these transgenic plants were less likely to show deficiency symptoms under B deficiency (Miwa et al. 2006; Kato et al. 2009; He et al. 2021). Additionally, *nip3;1* mutant in rice had deficient-like symptoms (Hanaoka et al. 2014).

15.4.6 Calcium

Calcium (Ca) is an essential nutrient that mainly has a structural and regulatory role in plants. Ca²⁺ deficiency is not common; however, if plants survive its deficiency, they can show mild or severe symptoms (Simon 1978; Hepler 2005). The deficiency can be visible during the vegetative reproductive stage or after harvest. Fruits may crack easily (almost over 30% cracking in Cape Gooseberry) under low or limited Ca²⁺ concentrations (Álvarez-Herrera et al. 2019). This cracking can result in significant losses in yield and fruit production. Necrosis is a common symptom in young leaves of vegetables like lettuce, cauliflower, artichoke, and cereal (Saure 1998; Rosen 1990; Francois et al. 1991; Koik and Smith 2010; de Freitas et al. 2016). Ca has a key role in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance. Therefore, its deficiency can make plants more susceptible to different stress factors (Dayod et al. 2010).

The prominent role of Ca^{2+} in plants and humans has well-gained importance for transgenic studies. Unlike other micronutrients, Ca^{2+} biofortification using transgenic approaches has plenty of implementation in different crops (Dayod et al. 2010). The overexpression of calcium proton/exchanger (*CAX*) using constitutive *CaMV 35S* promoter has enhanced Ca²⁺ accumulation in tomato, potato, and tobacco (Hirschi 1999; Park et al. 2005; Chung et al. 2010). Ca²⁺ accumulation was as high as 100% in tomato fruit and tobacco root (Hirschi 1999; Park et al. 2005). Transgenic potato tubers accumulated three times more Ca²⁺ than non-transgenic plants (Park et al. 2005).
15.5 Genome Editing Approach for the Enhancement of Nutrient Use Efficiency in Crops

As mentioned above, the nutrient use efficiency of crops can be improved by transgenic technologies. In addition to conventional genetic engineering technologies, genome editing technologies can also be employed to develop crop plants with better NUE. Using CRISPR/Cas9 technology, crops can be improved to develop into elite qualities via knocking out negative regulators through the NHEJ mechanism (Korotkova et al. 2019). Genome editing of plants can be used to scrutinize the role of the genes with high efficacy and specificity, introducing targeted indels or substitution (targeted mutagenesis). With respect to TALENs and ZFNs, their intricate engineering and off-target DNA cleavage, which can arise from domain interactions, have led scientists to move to CRISPR/Cas9 system for their lower cost, simple foundation in designing targets, multiplexing, higher efficiency, and applications in trait discovery and improvement. The different types and variants of CRISPR, including Cas9 orthologues with varied PAM specificities, have led to flexibility in sgRNA design as well as multiple gene targeting (Kumar et al. 2019; Zhan et al. 2021). In addition, ZFNs further confer cytotoxic effects and can re-cleave a site that has been repaired (Papaioannou et al. 2012). Several CRISPR gene-edited crops have been generated to improve or alter nutritional levels in food crops, such as generating sweet orange, sweeter strawberries, attractive/appetizing mushrooms, non-browning apples, low phytic acid-containing maize, improved aroma in rice grains, increased oleic acid in soybean, etc. Of course, these new genome-edited crop lines show a very high potential to solve the malnutrition and/or undernutrition problems in the world. For instance, the further potential of gene-editing technology in highly promising superfood rice-bean (Vigna umbellate) (contains high nutritional values for human health) needs to be explored to treat malnutrition in the world (Kaul et al. 2020). For these reasons, genome editing techniques are also used for the improvement of NUE of crops with several promising studies (Table 15.1) as discussed in this section.

15.6 Improvement of Macronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing Approach

15.6.1 Nitrogen

Several genes have been chosen to conduct gene manipulation in cereal plants to improve nitrogen use efficiency such as ammonium/nitrate transporters involved in pathways of nitrogen metabolism, transcription factors as well as assimilation genes (Tiwari et al. 2020). A study conducted by Li et al. (2020) examined data for metaanalysis from several published papers in determining nitrogen use efficiency to elucidate the reasons behind ameliorated nitrogen use efficiency in wheat, rice, and

Gene	Crop	Technology	Nutrient	Inference	Reference
MIR396ef	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	nitrogen	Knockouts exhibited ameliorated grain size and panicle branching. Under nitrogen deficiency, more gains in grain size and biomass in above-ground parts	Zhang et al. (2020b)
NRT1.1B	rice	base-editing system	nitrogen	Improved nitrogen use efficiency	Lu and Zhu (2017)
MYB61	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	nitrogen	<i>myb61</i> mutants showed decreased nitrogen use efficiency. <i>grf4</i> mutants repressed <i>MYB61</i> .	Gao et al. (2020)
OsNramp5	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	cadmium	Low cadmium accumulation	Tang et al. (2017)
OsIRO3	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	iron	<i>OsIRO3</i> is imperative for rice survival under iron deficiency	Wang et al. (2020)
FEP1	Arabidopsis	CRISPR/ Cas9	iron	Suggested role of FEP1 in iron homeostasis for iron uptake	Hirayama et al. (2018)
OsVIT2	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	iron	<i>vit2</i> mutants showed increased iron allocation to rice grains/ leaf blades	Che et al. (2021)
IMA genes	Arabidopsis	CRISPR/ Cas9	iron	Silencing caused absence of iron uptake	Grillet et al. (2018)
BnaA9. WRKY47	Brassica napus	CRISPR/ Cas9	boron	BnaWRKYs has role in plant adaptation under boron deficiency	Feng et al. (2020)
OsZIP9	rice	CRISPR/ Cas9	Zinc/ iron	Knockouts showed that zinc uptake was reduced, and iron accumulation increased in shoots under zinc deficiency	Huang et al. (2020)

 Table 15.1 Examples of genome editing for nutrient use efficiency in crops

maize after gene manipulations. Apart from the rise in nitrogen uptake efficiency, other factors such as shoot biomass, yield, etc. were increased upon genetic transformation, specifically improved nitrogen use efficiency and yield via transporter genes; however, the study noted a plunge in nitrogen use efficiency of grains and shoots (Li et al. 2020). NUE differences in various studies were not due to methods used such as overexpression/ectopic expression, but mainly occurred due to the type of crop and experimentation, and NUE was not related to overexpression levels of utilized genes (Li et al. 2020). In recent years, CRISPR/Cas9 technology and base editing have been seen as promising tools to improve plant nitrogen use efficiency (Tiwari et al. 2020).

In a study conducted by Zhang et al. (2020b), *miR396* (represses growth-regulating factor) overexpression was found to increase the yield and branching of

panicles in rice. At the same time, knockouts using CRISPR/Cas9 for *MIR396ef* were found to improve grain size and branching of panicles. Under deficiency of nitrogen, the knockouts exhibited further increment in grain size and increased biomass of plant parts above the ground. The study concluded that miR39ef can be targeted for developing varieties that would need reduced nitrogen fertilizers (Zhang et al. 2020b).

Lu and Zhu (2017) demonstrated one instance of base editing in rice performed with a gene affecting NUE. The genes of rice such as *SLR1* (encodes DELLA protein) and *NRT1.1B* (responsible for encoding a nitrogen transporter) were chosen to be edited via the base-editing system. C/T replacement in rice for *NRT1.1B* gene caused amelioration of the NUE, whereas substitution of amino acid in DELLA protein near the motif of TVHYNP could decrease the height of the plant. After the transformation of rice calli, it was observed that the base-editing efficiency of *SLR1* was higher than *NRT1.1B* (Lu and Zhu 2017).

CRISPR/Cas9 technology can also be used to determine the function of a gene, such as in a study conducted by Gao et al. (2020). In this study, it was observed that at depleted nitrogen status, *MYB61* is responsible for improving NUE as well as the production of grains. In their study, they generated mutants of *myb61* (1-bp insertion that generated a stop codon) using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. The *myb61* mutants exhibited a decline in NUE. Further, to show that MYB61 (transcriptional regulator in the biosynthesis of cellulose) along with GRF4 (GROWTH-REGULATING FACTOR4) could have the same regulatory pathway, they generated (loss-of-function) *grf4-1* and *grf4-2* mutants using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. At the same time, it was observed that in *grf4* mutants, *MYB61* was highly repressed. It was concluded from their study that under low nitrogen status, the *indica* allele of *MYB61* in association with *indica* GRF4 as well as *MYB61* ameliorated NUE (Gao et al. 2020). Such a study using CRISPR/Cas9 technology can verify the candidate genes that can be suitable in improving nutrient use efficiency in crop plants.

15.6.2 Phosphorous

A study conducted by Lee et al. (2019) showed decreased lateral root growth in rice mutants obtained by targeting the *OsACS* (1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) synthase) gene that is responsible for rate-limiting ethylene biosynthesis under phosphate-limited conditions, suggesting the role of this gene in phosphate uptake. It is inevitable for the plant to initiate elongation of lateral roots to detect the phosphorous-deficient condition and to uptake maximum phosphorous from the rhizosphere (Lee et al. 2019). Inhibitor(s) or repressor(s) of the *OsACS* gene can be edited to explore their role in the phosphorous uptake mechanism. Another study conducted by Qin et al. (2019) with the use of CRISPR/Cas9 technology in rice generated mutants of *OsDOF15* (DNA-binding with one finger proteins), showing that OsDOF15 interacts with the *OsACS1* gene promoter and positively regulates

the development of rice primary roots. However, this study did not study the nutrient uptake efficiency under nutrient-deficient conditions, which can be explored in future studies given its interaction with *OsACS1*.

15.6.3 Potassium and Phosphorous

The use of the CRISPR/Cas9 system has been performed by Mohammed (2018) to study nutrient use efficiency in rice by knocking out sodium transporters (OsHKT1;1 and OsHKT1;4) in a bid to find its potential role in potassium use efficiency, and OsHA1 (H+-ATPase) was knocked out in an expectation to improve uptake of phosphorous. Manipulation of the regulatory domain via CRISPR technology was aimed to elevate H⁺-ATPase activity. Approximately 80% of T₀ plants stopped showing wild-type allele of OsHA1, with nearly 80% (33) of the tested plants (42) exhibiting biallelic or homozygous mutations. The majority of the mutations were either deletion or insertion of 1 bp. Chimeric plants were also observed in the study. The study observed various truncated sizes of OsHA1 protein with expectations of changes that would influence enzyme activities differently. The authors believe that this would improve the phosphorous uptake. It is also yet to be determined further by genotyping for the two candidates, OsHKT;1 and OsHKT;4, in double knockouts (Karunarathne et al. 2020). In a study conducted by Mao et al. (2018), OsPRX2 (localization of which is chloroplast) was knocked out using CRISPR/Cas9 technology that led to detrimental effects in the opening of stomata as well as the phenotype of the leaf (causing chlorosis) under the condition of potassium deficiency. The results from the overexpressed OsPRX2 further corroborated its potential role in the improvement of plants' tolerance to potassium-deficient conditions (Mao et al. 2018).

15.7 Improvement of Micronutrient Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing Approach

15.7.1 Iron

Using the floral dip method in Arabidopsis, Cui et al. (2018) used CRISPR/Cas9 technology to transform Arabidopsis to target the first exon of *bHLH18*, *bHLH19*, and *bHLH20* using different sgRNA combinations and constructs. The indels generated in targeted sites formed frameshifts generating premature termination of translation. The mutants were grown under conditions such as without iron, without iron, and with jasmonic acid, with iron, and finally with iron and with jasmonic acid. Iron deficiency tolerance was observed increasingly through single, double, and triple mutants, respectively, under the condition of without iron and with jasmonic acid. Not much variation was seen in the case of two triple and

quadruple mutants. There were no apparent variations for the conditions of without iron, with iron, and with iron + jasmonic acid, in terms of single, double, triple, and quadruple mutants as compared to the wild types. Triple/quadruple mutant lines showed a greater effect on phenotype as well as FIT accumulation as compared to single/double mutants (Cui et al. 2018). Cui et al. (2018) showed that jasmonic acid in Arabidopsis has a role in negatively regulating the uptake of iron and homeostasis. Jasmonic acid has been shown to repress *FIT* and some *bHLH* genes (transcription factors). The study suggests that jasmonic acid can increase sensitivity to deficiency of iron in plants.

In a study conducted by Wang et al. (2020), it was found that OsIRO3 protein (a bHLH protein, functioning as a repressor in iron homeostasis regulation) was imperative at the time of iron deficiency for homeostasis of iron. Using the CRISPR/Cas9 system, Wang et al. (2020) developed *osiro3* mutants which showed reduced iron deficiency response gene induction in shoots; however, the response genes related to iron deficiency were induced in the roots. The study highlighted the importance of *OsIRO3* in rice plants' survival under the conditions of iron deficiency (Wang et al. 2020). Another study performed by Cai et al. (2021) aimed to scrutinize the crosstalk between signaling networks of copper and iron homeostasis. Using the CRISPR/Cas9 system, Cai et al. (2021) generated *bhlh4x* mutants by knocking out the *bHLH39* gene. The study reported that when copper was applied to mutants of *bhlh4x* and *fit-2* under iron deficiency, plant growth was improved (Cai et al. 2021). Further studies can be performed by regulating a set of *bHLH* genes in improving Fe or other nutrient use efficiency in crop plants.

Hirayama et al. (2018) found that the Arabidopsis *ahg2-1* mutant (*aba hypersensitive germination2-1*; a mutant with ABA hypersensitivity) upregulated genes responsive to the deficiency of iron (including *bHLH38* and *bHLH39*, *IRT1*, *FRO2*) in RNA sequencing analysis, but *FER1* (gene related to iron overload response) was downregulated. Furthermore, the study suggested the possibility of disturbance of iron metabolism and homeostasis in the case of *ahg2-1* mutants. Further analysis on this mutant is recommended by this study for its role in the metabolism of iron via plant hormones generated by the stress conditions (Hirayama et al. 2018). CRISPR/Cas9-generated *fep1* mutants (*FEP1: FE-UPTAKE-INDUCING PEPTIDE1*) exhibited weakened root-to-shoot iron translocation (Hirayama et al. 2018). The study suggested a role of FEP1 in the homeostasis of iron in Arabidopsis for iron uptake (Hirayama et al. 2018). The role of *FEP1* and *AHG2* can be further explored for their roles in iron uptake efficiency in crop plants, with further emphasis on CRISPR/Cas9-generated *ahg2* in future studies.

Che et al. (2021) aimed to understand the mechanisms in iron loading to rice grains via the *OsVIT2* gene (vacuolar iron transporter). CRISPR/Cas9-generated *vit2* mutants exhibited ameliorated iron allocation to rice grains as well as leaf blades, with abundant iron accumulation in grain endosperm and embryos with no effect in polished rice yield. The study found that the CRISPR/Cas9-generated *vit2* had a role in the biofortification of iron in rice. To help with the deficiency of micro-nutrients in crop plants, biofortification is crucial. This research has an important

aspect in providing iron nutrients via rice grains for humans, especially to cure the problem of anemia caused by the deficiency of iron in humans, as the rice contains less amount of iron which is decreased further in the polished rice (Ansari et al. 2020; Che et al. 2021).

IMA1 and *IMA2* genes were silenced by Grillet et al. (2018) using microRNA constructs to elucidate its role in iron uptake, as well as silencing of all 8 *IMA* genes (IMA: IRON MAN, highly diversified peptides responsible for iron uptake in angio-sperms) using CRISPR/Cas9 system in Arabidopsis. microRNA-based knock-down plants showed characteristics similar to the wild type. Silencing *IMA1* and *IMA2* via artificially constructed microRNA generated silenced plants with a decreased level of expression of these genes; however, these plants grew in size similar to that of the controls as well as the health of the silenced plants was similar to that of the wild types. Further, these silenced plants did not affect the induction of iron deficiency. On the other hand, CRISPR/Cas9-generated silencing caused the absence of iron uptake as well as the presence of a huge amount of chlorosis. *IMA* overexpression in Arabidopsis demonstrated genes responsible for iron uptake being induced in roots, leading to more iron accumulation in Arabidopsis seeds and other parts. Their study elucidated the role of IMA in tuning nutrient uptake via soil (Grillet et al. 2018).

15.7.2 Zinc

Lilay et al. (2021) showed that bZIP19 and bZIP23 transcription factors (regulators in response to zinc-deficient condition) have a role in sensing zinc via binding of the motif of zinc sensor to Zn²⁺ ion. Deleting/modifying such a motif can lead to the accumulation of zinc in seeds and other plant parts (Lilay et al. 2021). Their study suggests the implication of the CRISPR/Cas9 system in modulating F-bZIP homologs to ameliorate the uptake of zinc in crop seeds. Huang et al. (2020) used CRISPR/Cas9 technology in knocking out OsZIP9 in elucidating its role in zinc transport. Its knockout mutation resulted in reduced uptake of zinc absolutely under the condition of zinc deficiency, in line with Inaba et al. (2015) who demonstrated the role of bZIP19 in the expression of ZIP9 under the condition of zinc deficiency (Inaba et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2020). The knockout mutants of OsZIP9 under the condition of decreased zinc content exhibited elevated accumulation of iron in shoots. The authors point that the few genes associated with uptake of iron in roots might have been induced due to zinc deficiency in mutants. The study reported that the shoot iron accumulation of OsZIP9 knockouts did not change when grown in soil. It was suggested by the study that other transporters need to be characterized (such as those which function at higher concentrations of zinc). To elucidate the role in zinc uptake, genes such as OsZIP1 can also be explored since OsZIP9 knockout did not result in full abortion of zinc uptake under the condition of zinc deficiency (Huang et al. 2020).

15.7.3 Boron

Feng et al. (2020) found that 51 BnaWRKY transcription factors in *Brassica napus* are involved in response to boron deficiency. Knockout studies using CRISPR/Cas9 system in *B. napus* of *BnaA9.WRKY47* gene demonstrated ameliorated sensitivity to boron deficiency, with reduced boron in mutants as compared to the wild type, while its overexpression improved the plant's adaptation to boron deficiency as well as an increase in boron content as compared to wild-type plants. This study demonstrated the role of BnaWRKYs under boron deficiency and the role of BnaA9.WRKY47 in plant's adaptation to boron-deficient condition by upregulation of *BnaA3.NIP5;1* gene to improve boron uptake efficiency (Feng et al. 2020).

15.7.4 Cadmium

The CRISPR/Cas9 technology can also be used in decreasing the toxic metal concentrations in plants by reducing their uptake from the rhizosphere as demonstrated by Tang et al. (2017). To minimize the health risks of consuming a high concentration of cadmium in rice grains, Tang et al. (2017) developed low cadmium accumulated lines of rice using CRISPR/Cas9 technology by targeting *OsNramp5*, a metal transporter gene responsible for cadmium uptake in rice roots. The study showed that the *osnramp5* mutants in hydroponic culture exhibited a strong decrease in the root and shoot cadmium concentrations. This resulted in absence of impaired growth in the *osnramp5* mutants even under the elevated concentration of cadmium. In the field trials at the paddy fields contaminated with cadmium, grains of *osnramp5* mutants accumulated cadmium lower than 0.05 mg/kg. In the case of the wild-type plant, the cadmium concentration in the grain was as high as 2.90 mg/kg. The study reported that the yield change in the mutants was not compromised as compared to the wild types.

15.8 Improvement of Other Compounds' Use Efficiency in Crops by Genome Editing Approach

15.8.1 Phytic Acid

The study performed by Liang et al. (2014) described the use of both TALENs and CRISPR/Cas9 systems in maize to target *ZmMRP4*, *ZmIPK*, and *ZmIPK1A* involved in phytic acid biosynthesis to minimize the seed phytic acid content. Phytic acid comprises 75% phosphorus in maize seeds which is an undesired compound causing the digestive problem in some animals, and at the same time,

can pollute the environment (Liang et al. 2014). The study targeted four different genes using five TALENs. These genes were *ZmMRP4*, *ZmIPK*, *ZmIPK1A*, and *ZmPDS*. The efficiency of this gene-editing at the protoplast level was reported to be as much as 23.1%. In terms of the somatic mutations obtained in transgenics, the efficiency was between 13.3% and 39.1%. To target the *ZmIPK* gene in the protoplasts, the construction of two gRNAs was performed. The mutation efficiency of gRNA1 was 16.4% and that of gRNA2 was 19.1%. The study saw a closer targeting efficiency in the protoplast study of *Zea mays* of 13.1% in the CRISPR system as compared to 9.1% in TALENs (Liang et al. 2014). Karunarathne et al. (2020) point the potentiality of this study in ameliorating nutrient value in maize (Karunarathne et al. 2020).

15.8.2 Amylose/Amylopectin

Sticky rice or glutinous rice that has negligible or little amylose can be used in brewing. Yunyan et al. (2019) developed two elite varieties of rice using CRISPR/Cas9 technology to knock out the Wx gene in Suken 118 (SK118) and Huaidao 5 (HD5). The study received Wx gene deletion greater than 200 bp in the six homozygous T₀ plants. Further, they have also reported several homozygous T_1 plants which were also transgene-free. The phenotype of these seeds was opaque and white just like the sticky rice with an amylose content of 2.6-3.2% with no compromise in rice quality (Yunyan et al. 2019). Ma et al. (2015) knocked out the OsWaxy gene (responsible for amylase biosynthesis) in rice, which reduced amylose content as much as 2.6% in mutated rice seeds from 14.6% amylose content (cut seeds stained with I₂-KI solution, 1%), similar to glutinous natural rice varieties. In this study, the authors used the Cas9 gene that was codon-optimized for plants. Biallelic and homozygous were major mutagenesis types with 85.4% efficiency obtained after several target sites were aimed (46) in rice (Ma et al. 2015). The CRISPR construct targeted three different sites in the OsWaxy gene. Seeds obtained from the T_1 generation of T_0 plants were chosen for analysis which had up to two targeted mutations in this gene. The transformation was performed in the rice cultivar of japonica named Taichung 65 (T65) (Ma et al. 2015).

Amylose-rich crops in association with resistant starch can have health impacts on humans. In a study performed by Sun et al. (2017), rice *SBEI* and *SBEIIb* were targeted. The mutagenesis obtained in this targeted gene editing ranged from 26.7% to 40% with biallelic as well as homozygous mutations. The mutants of *sbeII* showed much elevated debranched amylopectin, higher amylose (25%), and resistant starch (9.8%). In the case of *sbeI* mutants, there was not much variation with the wild type (Sun et al. 2017; Ansari et al. 2020).

15.9 Conclusion

Genome editing has been utilized in many different aspects of crop biotechnology from yield enhancement to stress tolerance. As expected, its implications will be tremendous in the biofortification of plants (Fig. 15.1). As compared to earlier genome editing tools, CRISPR/Cas-based technology shows high promise due to its several advantages. More importantly, this technology is continuously being improved so that the disadvantages such as off-targets cease away. With the advancement of this technology, now it is easier to manipulate multiple genes from the same family or function in the same pathway simultaneously. Also, new Cas variants show high potential for their usage in base-editing and overexpression studies. We can use these technological advancements in developing new cultivars with enhanced nutrient uptake, root system architecture, and root colonization of beneficial microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi. We can also design plants that efficiently translocate and accumulate the nutrients in their green and/or edible tissues. Therefore, we expect to see new crop lines with higher nutrient use efficiency, biofortified with nutrients and vitamins. Moreover, we can now precisely design new varieties that are biofortified with essential minerals, and at the same time, devoid of toxic or unhealthy organic/inorganic materials.

Acknowledgments The authors thank Duygu Koldere Vilain for preparing the illustrations.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests



Fig. 15.1 Future implications of CRISPR/Cas-based genome editing in NUE in crops

References

- Abdeeva I, Abdeev R, Bruskin S, Piruzian E (2012) Transgenic plants as a tool for plant functional genomics. In: Ciftci YO (ed) Transgenic plants-advances and limitations, 1st edn. IntechOpen, Rijeka, pp 259–283
- Abdin MZ, Akmal M, Ram M et al (2011) Constitutive expression of high-affinity sulfate transporter (HAST) gene in Indian mustard showed enhanced sulfur uptake and assimilation. Protoplasma 248:591–600
- Ahmad I, Devonshire J, Mohamed R, Schultze M, Maathuis FJ (2016) Overexpression of the potassium channel TPK b in small vacuoles confers osmotic and drought tolerance to rice. New Phytol 209:1040–1048
- Ajeesh Krishna TP, Ceasar SA, Maharajan T, Ramakrishnan M, Duraipandiyan V, Al-Dhabi NA, Ignacimuthu S (2017) Improving the zinc-use efficiency in plants: a review. SABRAO J Breed Genet 49
- Alcock TD, Havlickova L, He Z, Bancroft I, White PJ, Broadley MR, Graham NS (2017) Identification of candidate genes for calcium and magnesium accumulation in *Brassica napus* L. by association genetics. Front Plant Sci 8(1968)
- Álvarez-Herrera J, González H, Fischer G (2019) Water potential in cape gooseberry (*Physalis peruviana* L.) plants subjected to different irrigation treatments and doses of calcium. Agron Colomb 37:274–282
- An JP, Qu FJ, Yao JF, Wang XN, You CX, Wang XF, Hao YJ (2017) The bZIP transcription factor MdHY5 regulates anthocyanin accumulation and nitrate assimilation in apple. Hortic Res 4:1–9
- Ansari WA, Chandanshive SU, Bhatt V, Nadaf AB, Vats S, Katara JL, Sonah H, Deshmukh R (2020) Genome editing in cereals: approaches, applications and challenges. Int J Mol Sci 21(11):4040
- Arnold TIM, Kirk GJ, Wissuwa M, Frei M, Zhao FJ, Mason TF, Weiss DJ (2010) Evidence for the mechanisms of zinc uptake by rice using isotope fractionation. Plant Cell Environ 33(3):370–381
- Barabasz A, Krämer U, Hanikenne M, Rudzka J, Antosiewicz DM (2010) Metal accumulation in tobacco expressing Arabidopsis halleri metal hyperaccumulation gene depends on external supply. J Exp Bot 61:3057–3067
- Barberon M, Zelazny E, Robert S, Conejero G, Curie C, Friml J, Vert G (2011) Monoubiquitindependent endocytosis of the iron-regulated transporter 1 (IRT1) transporter controls iron uptake in plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:E450–E458
- Bar-Yosef B (1991) Root excretion and their environmental effects: influence on availability of phosphorus. In: Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U (eds) Plant Roots Hidden Half. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, pp 529–557
- Bharat SS, Li S, Li J, Yan L, Xia L (2020) Base editing in plants: current status and challenges. Crop J 8(3):384–395
- Brauer EK, Shelp BJ (2010) Nitrogen use efficiency: re-consideration of the bioengineering approach. Botany 88(2):103–109
- Brdar-Jokanović M (2020) Boron toxicity and deficiency in agricultural plants. Int J Mol Sci 21(4):1424
- Brown PH, Zhao FJ, Dobermann A (2021) What is a plant nutrient? Changing definitions to advance science and innovation in plant nutrition. Plant Soil S97:1–13
- Cai CQ, Doyon Y, Ainley WM, Miller JC, DeKelver RC, Moehle EA, Rock JM, Lee YL, Garrison R, Schulenberg L, Blue R, Worden A, Baker L, Faraji F, Zhang L, Holmes MC, Rebar EJ, Collingwood TN, RubinWilson B, Gregory PD, Urnov FD, Petolino JF (2009a) Targeted transgene integration in plant cells using designed zinc finger nucleases. Plant Mol Biol 69:699–709
- Cai H, Zhou Y, Xiao J, Li X, Zhang Q, Lian X (2009b) Overexpressed glutamine synthetase gene modifies nitrogen metabolism and abiotic stress responses in rice. Plant Cell Rep 28(3):527–537
- Cai Y, Li Y, Liang G (2021) FIT and bHLH Ib transcription factors modulate iron and copper crosstalk in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Environ 44(5):1679–1691

- Cailliatte R, Lapeyre B, Briat JF, Mari S, Curie C (2009) The NRAMP6 metal transporter contributes to cadmium toxicity. Biochem J 422(2):217–228
- Cailliatte R, Schikora A, Briat JF, Mari S, Curie C (2010) High-affinity manganese uptake by the metal transporter NRAMP1 is essential for Arabidopsis growth in low manganese conditions. Plant Cell 22(3):904–917
- Cakmak I, Kirkby EA (2008) Role of magnesium in carbon partitioning and alleviating photooxidative damage. Physiol Plant 133(4):692–704
- Cakmak I, Marschner H (1992) Magnesium deficiency and high light intensity enhance activities of superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase in bean leaves. Plant Physiol 98(4):1222–1227
- Cakmak I, Yazici AM (2010) Magnesium: a forgotten element in crop production. Better Crops 94(2):23–25
- Cakmak I, Hengeler C, Marschner H (1994) Changes in phloem export of sucrose in leaves in response to phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency in bean plants. J Exp Bot 45(9):1251–1257
- Cao MJ, Wang Z, Wirtz M, Hell R, Oliver DJ, Xiang CB (2013) SULTR 3; 1 is a chloroplastlocalized sulfate transporter in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J 73(4):607–616
- Che J, Yamaji N, Ma JF (2021) Role of a vacuolar iron transporter OsVIT2 in the distribution of iron to rice grains. New Phytol 230(3):1049–1062
- Chen J, Li LG, Liu ZH, Yua YJ, Guo LL, Mao DD, Tian LF, Chen LB, Luan S, Li DP (2009) Magnesium transporter AtMGT9 is essential for pollen development in Arabidopsis. Cell Res 19(7):887–898
- Chen JG, Zhang Y, Tan YW, Zhang M, Zhu LL, Xu GH, Fan XR (2016) Agronomic nitrogen-use efficiency of rice can be increased by driving OsNRT2.1 expression with the OsNAR2.1 promoter. Plant Biotechnol J 14:1705–1715
- Chiba Y, Shimizu T, Miyakawa S, Kanno Y, Koshiba T, Kamiya Y, Seo M (2015) Identification of Arabidopsis thaliana NRT1/ PTR FAMILY (NPF) proteins capable of transporting plant hormones. J Plant Res 128:679–686
- Chung MY, Han JS, Giovannoni J, Liu Y, Kim CK, Lim KB, Chung JD (2010) Modest calcium increase in tomatoes expressing a variant of Arabidopsis cation/H+ antiporter. Plant Biotechnol Rep 4(1):15–21
- Connolly EL, Campbell NH, Grotz N, Prichard CL, Guerinot ML (2003) Overexpression of the FRO2 ferric chelate reductase confers tolerance to growth on low iron and uncovers posttranscriptional control. Plant Physiol 133(3):1102–1110
- Cui Y, Chen CL, Cui M, Zhou WJ, Wu HL, Ling HQ (2018) Four IVa bHLH transcription factors are novel interactors of FIT and mediate JA inhibition of iron uptake in Arabidopsis. Mol Plant 11(9):1166–1183
- Cui W, Yao P, Pan J, Dai C, Cao H, Chen Z, Zhang S, Xu S, Shen W (2020) Transcriptome analysis reveals insight into molecular hydrogen-induced cadmium tolerance in alfalfa: the prominent role of sulfur and (homo) glutathione metabolism. BMC Plant Biol 20(1):1–19
- Dai X, Wang Y, Yang A, Zhang WH (2012) OsMYB2P-1, an R2R3 MYB transcription factor, is involved in the regulation of phosphate-starvation responses and root architecture in rice. Plant Physiol 159(1):169–183
- Dangol SD, Barakate A, Stephens J, Çalıskan ME, Bakhsh A (2019) Genome editing of potato using CRISPR technologies: current development and future prospective. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult (PCTOC) 139(2):403–416
- Dayod M, Tyerman SD, Leigh RA, Gilliham M (2010) Calcium storage in plants and the implications for calcium biofortification. Protoplasma 247(3-4):215–231
- De Freitas ST, Amarante CD, Mitcham EJ (2016) Calcium deficiency disorders in plants. In: Postharvest ripening physiology of crops. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 477–502
- Delhaize E, Kataoka T, Hebb DM, White RG, Ryan PR (2003) Genes encoding proteins of the cation diffusion facilitator family that confer manganese tolerance. Plant Cell 15(5):1131–1142

- Deng W, Luo K, Li D, Zheng X, Wei X, Smith W, Thammina C, Lu L, Pei Y (2006) Overexpression of an Arabidopsis magnesium transport gene, AtMGT1, in Nicotiana benthamiana confers Al tolerance. J Exp Bot 57(15):4235–4243
- Ding Y, Zhou X, Zuo L, Wang H, Yu D (2016) Identification and functional characterization of the sulfate transporter gene GmSULTR1; 2b in soybean. BMC Genomics 17(1):1–19
- Dixit P, Singh S, Vancheeswaran R, Patnala K, Eapen S (2010) Expression of a Neurospora crassa zinc transporter gene in transgenic Nicotiana tabacum enhances plant zinc accumulation without co-transport of cadmium. Plant Cell Environ 33(10):1697–1707
- Faiz S, Wang X, Khan SA, Ahmar S, Noor MA, Riaz A, Ali K, Abbas F, Mora-Poblete F, Figueroa CR, Alharthi B (2021) Novel plant breeding techniques to advance nitrogen use efficiency in rice: a review. GM Crops Food 12(2):1–20
- Fan X, Tang Z, Tan Y, Zhang Y, Luo B, Yang M, Lian X, Shen Q, Miller AJ, Xu G (2016) Overexpression of a pH-sensitive nitrate transporter in rice increases crop yields. Proc Natl Acad Sci 113:7118–7123. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1525184113
- Fang Z, Xia K, Yang X, Grotemeyer MS, Meier S, Rentsch D, Xu X, Zhang M (2013) Altered expression of the PTR/NRT 1 homologue Os PTR 9 affects nitrogen utilization efficiency, growth and grain yield in rice. Plant Biotechnol J 11(4):446–458
- Farhat N, Elkhouni A, Zorrig W, Smaoui A, Abdelly C, Rabhi M (2016) Effects of magnesium deficiency on photosynthesis and carbohydrate partitioning. Acta Physiol Plant 38(6):145
- Fei H, Chaillou S, Hirel B, Mahon JD, Vessey KJ (2003) Overexpression of a soybean cytosolic glutamine synthetase gene linked to organ-specific promoters in pea plants grown in different concentrations of nitrate. Planta 216(3):467–474
- Feng H, Yan M, Fan X, Li B, Shen Q, Miller AJ, Xu G (2011) Spatial expression and regulation of rice high-affinity nitrate transporters by nitrogen and carbon status. J Exp Bot 62(7):2319–2332
- Feng Y, Cui R, Wang S, He M, Hua Y, Shi L, Ye X, Xu F (2020) Transcription factor BnaA9. WRKY47 contributes to the adaptation of Brassica napus to low boron stress by up-regulating the boric acid channel gene BnaA3.NIP5;1. Plant Biotechnol J 18(5):1241–1254
- Forieri I, Hell R (2014) Micronutrient use efficiency–cell biology of iron and its metabolic interactions in plants. In: Hawkesford MJ, Kopriva S, De Kok LJ (eds) Nutrient use efficiency in plants, 1st edn. Springer, Cham, pp 133–152
- Francois LE, Donovan TJ, Maas EV (1991) Calcium deficiency of artichoke buds in relation to salinity. Hort Sci 26(5):549–553
- Gao H, Xie W, Yang C, Xu J, Li J, Wang H, Chen X, Huang CF (2018) NRAMP2, a trans-Golgi network-localized manganese transporter, is required for Arabidopsis root growth under manganese deficiency. New Phytol 217(1):179–193
- Gao Y, Xu Z, Zhang L, Li S, Wang S, Yang H, Liu X, Zeng D, Liu Q, Qian Q, Zhang B, Zhou Y (2020) MYB61 is regulated by GRF4 and promotes nitrogen utilization and biomass production in rice. Nat Commun 11:5219
- Giehl RF, von Wiren N (2014) Root nutrient foraging. Plant Physiol 166:509-517
- Gomez-Porras JL, Riaño-Pachón DM, Benito B, Haro R, Sklodowski K, Rodriguez-Navarro A, Dreyer I (2012) Phylogenetic analysis of K⁺ transporters in bryophytes, lycophytes, and flowering plants indicates a specialization of vascular plants. Front Plant Sci 3:167
- Good AG, Johnson SJ, De Pauw M, Carroll RT, Savidov N, Vidmar J, Lu Z, Taylor G, Stroeher V (2007) Engineering nitrogen use efficiency with alanine aminotransferase. Can J Bot 85:252–262. https://doi.org/10.1139/B07-019
- Grillet L, Lan P, Li W, Mokkapati G, Schmidt W (2018) IRON MAN is a ubiquitous family of peptides that control iron transport in plants. Nat Plants 4(11):953–963
- Guo W (2017) Transgenic approaches for improving nitrogen and potassium use efficiency in plants. In: Hossain MA, Kamiya T, Burrit D, Phan LS, Toru F (eds) Plant macronutrient use efficiency, 1st edn. Academic, pp 339–356
- Guo C, Guo L, Li X, Gu J, Zhao M, Duan W, Ma C, Lu W, Xiao K (2014) TaPT2, a high-affinity phosphate transporter gene in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), is crucial in plant Pi uptake under phosphorus deprivation. Acta Physiol Plant 36(6):1373–1384

- Habash DZ, Massiah AJ, Rong HL, Wallsgrove RM, Leigh RA (2001) The role of cytosolic glutamine synthetase in wheat. Ann Appl Plant Biol 138(1):83–89
- Hagan ND, Upadhyaya N, Tabe LM, Higgins TJV (2003) The redistribution of protein sulfur in transgenic rice expressing a gene for a foreign, sulfur-rich protein. Plant J 34(1):1–11
- Hamburger D, Rezzonico E, MacDonald-Comber Petétot J, Somerville C, Poirier Y (2002) Identification and characterization of the Arabidopsis PHO1 gene involved in phosphate loading to the xylem. Plant Cell 14(4):889–902
- Hammond JP, Broadley MR, White PJ (2004) Genetic responses to phosphorus deficiency. Ann Bot 94:323–332
- Hanaoka H, Uraguchi S, Takano J, Tanaka M, Fujiwara T (2014) O s NIP 3; 1, a rice boric acid channel, regulates boron distribution and is essential for growth under boron-deficient conditions. Plant J 78(5):890–902
- Hänsch R, Mendel RR (2009) Physiological functions of mineral micronutrients (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Ni, Mo, B, Cl). Curr Opin Plant Biol 12(3):259–266
- Hartmann T, Mult S, Suter M, Rennenberg H, Herschbach C (2000) Leaf age-dependent differences in sulphur assimilation and allocation in poplar (Populus tremulax P. alba) leaves. J Exp Bot 51(347):1077–1088
- Hawkesford MJ, De Kok LJ (2006) Managing sulphur metabolism in plants. Plant Cell Environ 29(3):382–395
- He X, Qu B, Li W, Zhao X, Teng W, Ma W, Ren Y, Li B, Li Z, Tong Y (2015) The nitrate-inducible NAC transcription factor TaNAC2-5A controls nitrate response and increases wheat yield. Plant Physiol 169:1991–2005
- He X, Teng W, Tong Y (2017) Transgenic approaches for improving nitrogen and potassium use efficiency in plants. In: Hossain MA, Kamiya T, Burrit D, Phan LS, Toru F (eds) Plant macronutrient use efficiency, 1st edn. Academic, pp 339–356
- He M, Wang S, Zhang C, Liu L, Zhang J, Qiu S, Wang H, Shi GL, Xu F (2021) Genetic variation of BnaA3. NIP5; 1 expressing in the lateral root cap contributes to boron deficiency tolerance in *Brassica napus*. PLoS Genet 17(7):e1009661
- Hepler PK (2005) Calcium: a central regulator of plant growth and development. Plant Cell 17(8):2142–2155
- Hermans C, Conn SJ, Chen J, Xiao Q, Verbruggen N (2013) An update on magnesium homeostasis mechanisms in plants. Metallomics 5(9):1170–1183
- Hirayama T, Lei GJ, Yamaji N, Nakagawa N, Ma JF (2018) The putative peptide gene FEP1 regulates iron deficiency response in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiol 59(9):1739–1752
- Hirschi KD (1999) Expression of Arabidopsis CAX1 in tobacco: altered calcium homeostasis and increased stress sensitivity. Plant Cell 11(11):2113–2122
- Ho CH, Lin SH, Hu HC, Tsay YF (2009) CHL1 functions as a nitrate sensor in plants. Cell 138:1184–1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.004
- Holford ICR (1997) Soil phosphorus: its measurement, and its uptake by plants. Soil Res 35(2):227-240
- Hong JP, Takeshi Y, Kondou Y, Schachtman DP, Matsui M, Shin R (2013) Identification and characterization of transcription factors regulating Arabidopsis HAK5. Plant Cell Physiol 54(9):1478–1490
- Horvath P, Barrangou R (2010) CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea. Science 327(5962):167–170
- Hu B, Wang W, Ou SJ et al (2015) Variation in NRT1.1B contributes to nitrate-use divergence between rice subspecies. Nat Genet 47:834–838
- Huang S, Sasaki A, Yamaji N, Okada H, Mitani-Ueno N, Ma JF (2020) The ZIP transporter family member OsZIP9 contributes to root zinc uptake in rice under zinc-limited conditions. Plant Physiol 183(3):1224–1234
- Ichikawa T, Nakazawa M, Kawashima M et al (2006) The FOX hunting system: an alternative gain-of-function gene hunting technique. Plant J 48(6):974–985

- Inaba S, Kurata R, Kobayashi M, Yamagishi Y, Mori I, Ogata Y, Fukao Y (2015) Identification of putative target genes of bZIP19, a transcription factor essential for Arabidopsis adaptation to Zn deficiency in roots. Plant J 84:323–334
- Iqrar S, Ashrafi K, Kiran U, Fatima S, Abdin MZ (2020) Transgenic plants with improved nutrient use efficiency. In: Kiran U, Kamaluddin MA (eds) Transgenic technology based value addition in plant biotechnology, 1st edn. Academic, pp 157–185
- Ishimaru Y, Suzuki M, Kobayashi T, Takahashi M, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2005) OsZIP4, a novel zinc-regulated zinc transporter in rice. J Exp Bot 56(422):3207–3214
- Ishimaru Y, Suzuki M, Tsukamoto T, Suzuki K, Nakazono M, Kobayashi T, Wada Y, Watanabe S, Matsuhashi S, Takahashi M, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2006) Rice plants take up iron as an Fe3+-phytosiderophore and as Fe2+. Plant J 45:335–346
- Ishimaru Y, Masuda H, Suzuki M, Bashir K, Takahashi M, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2007) Overexpression of the OsZIP4 zinc transporter confers disarrangement of zinc distribution in rice plants. J Exp Bot 58:2909–2915
- Jankele R, Svoboda P (2014) TAL effectors: tools for DNA targeting brief funct. Genomics 13(5):409–419
- Jean ML, Schikora A, Mari S, Briat JF, Curie C (2005) A loss-of-function mutation in AtYSL1 reveals its role in iron and nicotianamine seed loading. Plant J 44(5):769–782
- Jia H, Ren H, Gu M, Zhao J, Sun S, Zhang X, Chen J, Wu P, Xu G (2011) The phosphate transporter gene OsPht1; 8 is involved in phosphate homeostasis in rice. Plant Physiol 156(3):1164–1175
- Jonassen EM, Sévin DC, Lillo C (2009) The bZIP transcription factors HY5 and HYH are positive regulators of the main nitrate reductase gene in Arabidopsis leaves, NIA2, but negative regulators of the nitrate uptake gene NRT1. J Plant Physiol 166(18):2071–2076
- Kamarn M, Wenwen C, Irshad A, Xiangping M, Xudong Z, Wennan S, Junzhi C, Shakeel A, Fahad S, Qingfang H, Tiening L (2017) Effect of paclobutrazol, a potential growth regulator on stalk mechanical strength, lignin accumulation and its relation with lodging resistance of maize. Plant Growth Regul 84:317–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-017-0342-8
- Kamburova VS, Nikitina EV, Shermatov SE, Buriev ZT, Kumpatla SP, Emani C, Abdurakhmonov IY (2017) Genome editing in plants: an overview of tools and applications. Int J of Agron:1–15
- Karunarathne SD, Han Y, Zhang XQ, Li C (2020) Advances in understanding the molecular mechanisms and potential genetic improvement for nitrogen use efficiency in barley. Agronomy 10(5):66
- Kataoka T, Hayashi N, Yamaya T, Takahashi H (2004) Root-to-shoot transport of sulfate in Arabidopsis. Evidence for the role of SULTR3; 5 as a component of low-affinity sulfate transport system in the root vasculature. Plant Physiol 136(4):4198–4204
- Kato Y, Miwa K, Takano J, Wada M, Fujiwara T (2009) Highly boron deficiency-tolerant plants generated by enhanced expression of NIP5; 1, a boric acid channel. Plant Cell Physiol 50(1):58–66
- Kaul T, Sony SK, Verma R, Motelb KFA, Prakash AT, Eswaran M, Bharti J, Nehra M, Kaul R (2020) Revisiting CRISPR/Cas-mediated crop improvement: Special focus on nutrition. J Biosci 45(1):137
- Kawakami Y, Bhullar NK (2018) Molecular processes in iron and zinc homeostasis and their modulation for biofortification in rice. J Integr Plant Biol 60(12):1181–1198
- Khademi S, O'Connell J, Remis J, Robles-Colmenares Y, Miericke LJW, Stroud RM (2004) Mechanism of ammonia transport by Amt/MEP/Rh: Structure of AmtB at 1.3.5 angstrom. Science 305:1587–1594
- Khan MN, Mobin M, Abbas ZK, Alamri SA (2018) Fertilizers and their contaminants in soils, surface and groundwater. In: DellaSala D, Goldstein M (eds) Encyclopedia of the anthropocene 5. Elsevier, pp 225–240
- Koik S, Smith R (2010) Calcium deficiency disorders hit vegetable crops in central coast. Copyright© 2015 Regents of the University of California, Agriculture and Natural Resources

- Koike S, Inoue H, Mizuno D, Takahashi M, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2004) OsYSL2 is a rice metal-nicotianamine transporter that is regulated by iron and expressed in the phloem. Plant J 39:415–424
- Komarova NY, Thor K, Gubler A, Meier S, Dietrich D, Weichert A, Suter Grotemeyer M, Tegeder M, Rentsch D (2008) AtPTR1 and AtPTR5 transport dipeptides in planta. Plant Physiol 148:856–869
- Korotkova AM, Gerasimova SV, Khlestkina EK (2019) Current achievements in modifying crop genes using CRISPR/Cas system. Vavilov J Genet Breed 23(1):29–37
- Kortt AA, Caldwell JB, Lilley GG, Higgins TJ (1991) Amino acid and cDNA sequences of a methionine-rich 2S protein from sunflower seed (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Eur J Biochem 195(2):329–334
- Kumar A, Kaiser BN, Siddiqi MY, Glass AD (2006) Functional characterisation of OsAMT1. 1 overexpression lines of rice, *Oryza sativa*. Funct Plant Biol 33(4):339–346
- Kumar R, Kaur A, Pandey A, Mamrutha HM, Singh GP (2019) CRISPR-based genome editing in wheat: a comprehensive review and future prospects. Mol Biol Rep 46(3):3557–3569
- Kurai T, Wakayama M, Abiko T, Yanagisawa S, Aoki N, Ohsugi R (2011) Introduction of the ZmDof1 gene into rice enhances carbon and nitrogen assimilation under low-nitrogen conditions. Plant Biotechnol J 9:826–837. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2011.00592
- Lee HY, Chen Z, Zhang C, Yoon GM (2019) Editing of the OsACS locus alters phosphate deficiency-induced adaptive responses in rice seedlings. J Exp Bot 70(6):1927–1940
- Li LY, Cai QY, Yu DS, Guo CH (2011) Overexpression of AtFRO6 in transgenic tobacco enhances ferric chelate reductase activity in leaves and increases tolerance to iron-deficiency chlorosis. Mol Biol Rep 38(6):3605–3613
- Li H, Wang N, Ding J, Liu C, Du H, Huang K, Cao M, Lu Y, Gao S, Zhang S (2017) The maize CorA/MRS2/MGT-type Mg transporter, ZmMGT10, responses to magnesium deficiency and confers low magnesium tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. Plant Mol Biol 95(3):269–278
- Li M, Xu J, Gao Z, Tian H, Gao Y, Kariman K (2020) Genetically modified crops are superior in their nitrogen use efficiency-A meta-analysis of three major cereals. Sci Rep 10:8568
- Liang C, Tian J, Lam HM, Lim BL, Yan X, Liao H (2010a) Biochemical and molecular characterization of PvPAP3, a novel purple acid phosphatase isolated from common bean enhancing extracellular ATP utilization. Plant Physiol 152(2):854–865
- Liang G, Yang F, Yu D (2010b) MicroRNA395 mediates regulation of sulfate accumulation and allocation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J 62(6):1046–1057
- Liang Z, Zhang K, Chen K, Gao C (2014) Targeted mutagenesis in *Zea mays* using TALENs and the CRISPR/Cas system. J Genet Genomics 41(2):63–68
- Lilay GH, Persson DP, Castro PH, Liao F, Alexander RD, Aarts MGM, Assunção AGL (2021) Arabidopsis bZIP19 and bZIP23 act as zinc sensors to control plant zinc status. Nat Plants 7(2):137–143
- Liu F, Chang XJ, Ye Y, Xie WB, Wu P, Lian XM (2011) Comprehensive sequence and whole-lifecycle expression profile analysis of the phosphate transporter gene family in rice. Mol Plant 4:1105–1122
- Liu X, Guo LX, Luo LJ, Liu YZ, Peng SA (2019) Identification of the magnesium transport (MGT) family in Poncirus trifoliata and functional characterization of PtrMGT5 in magnesium deficiency stress. Plant Mol Biol 101(6):551–560
- Lopez-Bucio J, De la Vega OM, Guevara-Garcia A, Herrera-Estrella L (2000) Enhanced phosphorus uptake in transgenic tobacco plants that overproduce citrate. Nat Biotechnol 18(4):450–453
- Lu Y, Zhu JK (2017) Precise editing of a target base in the rice genome using a modified CRISPR/ Cas9 system. Mol Plant 10(3):523–525
- Lu J, Gao X, Dong Z, Yi J, An L (2012) Improved phosphorus acquisition by tobacco through transgenic expression of mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase from *Penicillium oxalicum*. Plant Cell Rep 31(1):49–56

- Ma Z, Liu J, Wang X (2013) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) shoot apex with a fungal phytase gene improves phosphorus acquisition. In: Zhang B (ed) Transgenic cotton, 2nd edn. Humana Press, Totowa, pp 211–222
- Ma X, Zhang Q, Zhu Q, Liu W, Chen Y, Qiu R, Wang B, Yang Z, Li H, Lin Y, Xie Y, Shen R, Chen S, Wang Z, Chen Y, Guo J, Chen L, Zhao X, Dong Z, Liu YG (2015) A robust CRISPR/Cas9 system for convenient, high-efficiency multiplex genome editing in monocot and dicot plants. Mol Plant 8(8):1274–1284
- Mao D, Chen J, Tian L, Liu Z, Yang L, Tang R, Li J, Lu C, Yang Y, Shi J, Chen L, Li D, Luan S (2014) Arabidopsis transporter MGT6 mediates magnesium uptake and is required for growth under magnesium limitation. Plant Cell 26(5):2234–2248
- Mao X, Zheng Y, Xiao K, Wei Y, Zhu Y, Cai Q, Chen L, Xie H, Zhang J (2018) OsPRX2 contributes to stomatal closure and improves potassium deficiency tolerance in rice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 495(1):461–467
- Maqbool A, Abrar M, Bakhsh A, Çalışkan S, Khan HZ, Aslam M, Aksoy E (2020) Biofortification under climate change: the fight between quality and quantity. In: Fahad S, Hasanuzzaman M, Alam M, Ullah H, Saeed M, Khan AK, Adnan M (eds) Environment, climate, plant and vegetation growth. Springer, Cham, pp 173–228
- Marschner H (1995) Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic/Harcourt Brace, Company, London
- Martin A, Lee J, Kichey T et al (2006) Two cytosolic glutamine synthetase isoforms of maize are specifically involved in the control of grain production. Plant Cell 18(11):3252–3274
- Maser P, Thomine S, Schroeder JI, Ward JM, Hirschi K, Sze H, Talke IN, Amtmann A, Maathuis FJ, Sanders D, Harper JF, Tchieu J, Gribskov M, Persans MW, Salt DE, Kim SA, Guerinot ML (2001) Phylogenetic relationships within cation transporter families of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 126:1646–1667
- Masuda H, Usuda K, Kobayashi T, Ishimaru Y, Kakei Y, Takahashi M, Higuchi K, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2009) Overexpression of the barley nicotianamine synthase gene HvNAS1 increases iron and zinc concentrations in rice grains. Rice 2(4):155–166
- Masuda H, Aung MS, Kobayashi T, Hamada T, Nishizawa NK (2019) Enhancement of iron acquisition in rice by the mugineic acid synthase gene with ferric iron reductase gene and OsIRO2 confers tolerance in submerged and nonsubmerged calcareous soils. Front Plant Sci 10:1179
- McAllister CH, Beatty PH, Good AG (2012) Engineering nitrogen use efficient crop plants: the current status. Plant Biotechnol J 10(9):1011–1025
- Milner MJ, Seamon J, Craft E, Kochian LV (2013) Transport properties of members of the ZIP family in plants and their role in Zn and Mn homeostasis. J Exp Bot 64(1):369–381
- Miwa K, Takano J, Fujiwara T (2006) Improvement of seed yields under boron-limiting conditions through overexpression of BOR1, a boron transporter for xylem loading, in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J 46(6):1084–1091
- Miyashita Y, Dolferus R, Ismond KP, Good AG (2007) Alanine aminotransferase catalyses the breakdown of alanine after hypoxia in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J 49:1108–1121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.03023.x
- Mohammed NAA (2018) Exploring rice genetic resources to improve nutrient use efficiency. Ph.D. Thesis. University of York, York
- Molvig L, Tabe LM, Eggum BO, Moore AE, Craig S, Spencer D, Higgins TJ (1997) Enhanced methionine levels and increased nutritive value of seeds of transgenic lupins (*Lupinus angustifolius* L.) expressing a sunflower seed albumin gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci 94(16):8393–8398
- Moreira A, Moraes LA, dos Reis AR (2018) The molecular genetics of zinc uptake and utilization efficiency in crop plants. In: Hossain MA, Kamiya T, Burritt DJ, Tran LSP, Fujiwara T (eds) Plant micronutrient use efficiency, 1st edn. Academic Press, pp 87–108
- Muhammad Z, Abdul MK, Abdul MS, Kenneth BM, Muhammad S, Shahen S, Ibadullah J, Fahad S (2019) Performance of Aeluropus lagopoides (mangrove grass) ecotypes, a potential turfgrass, under high saline conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(13):13410–13421. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-019-04838-3

- Nakanishi H, Yamaguchi H, Sasakuma T, Nishizawa NK, Mori S (2000) Two dioxygenase genes, Ids3 and Ids2, from *Hordeum vulgare* are involved in the biosynthesis of mugineic acid family phytosiderophores. Plant Mol Biol 44:199–207
- Nasti RA, Voytas DF (2021) Attaining the promise of plant gene editing at scale. Proc Natl Acad Sci 118(22):e2004846117
- Nieves-Cordones M, Alemán F, Martínez V, Rubio F (2010) The *Arabidopsis thaliana* HAK5 K+ transporter is required for plant growth and K+ acquisition from low K+ solutions under saline conditions. Mol Plant 3(2):326–333
- Nieves-Cordones M, Rubio F, Santa-María GE (2020) Nutrient use-efficiency in plants: an integrative approach. Front Plant Sci 11:2006
- Nikolić M, Tomašević V (2020) Implication of the plant species belonging to the brassicaceae family in the metabolization of heavy metal pollutants in urban settings. Pol J Environ Stud 30(1):523–534
- Nozoye T, Nagasaka S, Kobayashi T, Takahashi M, Sato Y, Sato Y, Uozimi Y, Nakanishi N, Nishizawa NK (2011) Phytosiderophore efflux transporters are crucial for iron acquisition in graminaceous plants. J. Biol. Chem 286(7):5446–5454
- Ogo Y, Itai RN, Kobayashi T, Aung MS, Nakanishi H, Nishizawa NK (2011) OsIRO2 is responsible for iron utilization in rice and improves growth and yield in calcareous soil. Plant Mol Biol 75:593–605. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-011-9752-6
- Oliveira IC, Brears T, Knight TJ, Clark A, Coruzzi GM (2002) Overexpression of cytosolic glutamine synthetase. Relation to nitrogen, light, and photorespiration. Plant Physiol 129(3):170–1180
- Ortega JL, Temple SJ, Sengupta-Gopalan C (2001) Constitutive overexpression of cytosolic glutamine synthetase (GS1) gene in transgenic alfalfa demonstrates that GS1 may be regulated at the level of RNA stability and protein turnover. Plant Physiol 126(1):109–121
- Palmgren MG (2001) Plant plasma membrane H+-ATPases: powerhouses for nutrient uptake. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 52:817–845
- Papaioannou I, Simons JP, Owen JS (2012) Oligonucleotide-directed gene-editing technology: mechanisms and future prospects. Expert Opin Biol Ther 12(3):329–342
- Park S, Cheng NH, Pittman JK, Yoo KS, Park J, Smith RH, Hirschi KD (2005) Increased calcium levels and prolonged shelf life in tomatoes expressing Arabidopsis H+/Ca2+ transporters. Plant Physiol 139(3):1194–1206
- Park MR, Tyagi K, Baek SH, Kim YJ, Rehman S, Yun SJ (2010) Agronomic characteristics of transgenic rice with enhanced phosphate uptake ability by overexpressed tobacco high affinity phosphate transporter. Pak J Bot 42:3265–3273
- Peña PA, Quach T, Sato S, Ge Z, Nersesian N, Dweikat IM, Soundararajan M, Clemente T (2017) Molecular and phenotypic characterization of transgenic wheat and sorghum events expressing the barley alanine aminotransferase. Planta 246:1097–1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00425-017-2753-1
- Qiao K, Wang F, Liang S, Wang H, Hu Z, Chai T (2019) New biofortification tool: Wheat TaCNR5 enhances zinc and manganese tolerance and increases zinc and manganese accumulation in rice grains. J Agric Food Chem 67(35):9877–9884
- Qin H, Wang J, Chen X, Wang F, Peng P, Zhou Y, Miao Y, Zhang Y, Gao Y, Qi Y, Zhou J, Huang R (2019) Rice OsDOF15 contributes to ethylene-inhibited primary root elongation under salt stress. New Phytol 223(2):798–813
- Rae AL, Smith FW (2002) Localisation of expression of a high-affinity sulfate transporter in barley roots. Planta 215(4):565–568
- Ramesh SA, Shin R, Eide DJ, Schachtman DP (2003) Differential metal selectivity and gene expression of two zinc transporters from rice. Plant Physiol 133(1):126–134
- Ramesh SA, Choimes S, Schachtman DP (2004) Over-expression of an Arabidopsis zinc transporter in *Hordeum vulgare* increases short-term zinc uptake after zinc deprivation and seed zinc content. Plant Mol Biol 54(3):373–385

- Ranathunge K, El-Kereamy A, Gidda S, Bi YM, Rothstein SJ (2014) AMT1; 1 transgenic rice plants with enhanced NH4+ permeability show superior growth and higher yield under optimal and suboptimal NH4+ conditions. J Exp Bot 65(4):965–979
- Ren Q, Sretenovic S, Liu S, Tang X, Huang L, He Y, Liu L, Guo Y, Zhong Z, Liu G, Cheng Y, Zheng X, Pan C, Yin D, Zhang Y, Li W, Qi L, Li C, Qi Y, Zhang Y (2021) PAM-less plant genome editing using a CRISPR–SpRY toolbox. Nat Plants 7(1):25–33
- Rerkasem B, Netsangtip R, Lordkaew S, Cheng C (1993) Grain set failure in boron deficient wheat. Plant Soil 155(1):309–312
- Rosen CJ (1990) Leaf tipburn in cauliflower as affected by cultivar, calcium sprays, and nitrogen nutrition. HortScience 25(6):660–663
- Saleh J, Maftoun M (2008) Interactive effect of NaCl levels and Zinc sources and levels on the growth and mineral composition of rice. J Agric Sci Technol 10:325–336
- Santi S, Schmidt W (2009) Dissecting iron deficiency-induced proton extrusion in Arabidopsis roots. New Phytol 183:1072–1084
- Sattar MN, Iqbal Z, Dangol SD, Bakhsh A (2019) Advances in plant breeding strategies: industrial and food crops. Springer, Cham
- Saud S, Li X, Chen Y, Zhang L, Fahad S, Hussain S, Sadiq A, Chen Y (2014) Silicon application increases drought tolerance of Kentucky bluegrass by improving plant water relations and morph physiological functions. SciWorld J 2014:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/368694
- Saure MC (1998) Causes of the tipburn disorder in leaves of vegetables. Sci Hortic 76(3-4):131-147
- Schmidt SB, Jensen PE, Husted S (2016) Manganese deficiency in plants: the impact on photosystem II. Trends Plant Sci 21(7):622–632
- Selvaraj MG, Valencia MO, Ogawa S, Lu Y, Wu L, Downs C, Skinner W, Lu Z, Kridl JC, Ishitani M, Boxtel J (2017) Development and field performance of nitrogen use efficient rice lines for Africa. Plant Biotechnol J 15:775–787. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12675
- Seo HM, Jung Y, Song S, Kim Y, Kwon T, Kim DH, Jeung SJ, Yi YB, Yi G, Nam MH, Nam J (2008) Increased expression of OsPT1, a high-affinity phosphate transporter, enhances phosphate acquisition in rice. Biotechnol Lett 30:1833–1838
- Shaul O, Hilgemann DW, de Almeida-Engler J, Van Montagu M, Inzé D, Galili G (1999) Cloning and characterization of a novel Mg2+/H+ exchanger. EMBO Rep 18(14):3973–3980
- Simon EW (1978) The symptoms of calcium deficiency in plants. New Phytol 80(1):1-15
- Snowball K, Robson AD (1983) Symptoms of nutrient deficiencies: subterranean clover and wheat. University of Western Australia Press, Perth
- Snyman SJ, Hajari E, Watt MP, Lu Y, Kridl JC (2015) Improved nitrogen use efficiency in transgenic sugarcane: phenotypic assessment in a pot trial under low nitrogen conditions. Plant Cell Rep 34(5):667–669
- Song ZZ, Yang SY, Zuo J, Su YH (2014) Over-expression of ApKUP3 enhances potassium nutrition and drought tolerance in transgenic rice. Biol Plant 58(4):649–658
- Stefanovic A, Arpat AB, Bligny R, Gout E, Vidoudez C, Bensimon M, Poirier Y (2011) Overexpression of PHO1 in Arabidopsis leaves reveals its role in mediating phosphate efflux. Plant J 66(4):689–699
- Sun H, Qian Q, Wu K et al (2014) Heterotrimeric G proteins regulate nitrogen-use efficiency in rice. Nat Genet 46(6):652–656
- Sun Y, Jiao G, Liu Z, Zhang X, Li J, Guo X, Du W, Du J, Francis F, Zhao Y, Xia L (2017) Generation of high-amylose rice through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of starch branching enzymes. Front Plant Sci 8:298
- Sun K, Wang H, Xia Z (2019) The maize bHLH transcription factor bHLH105 confers manganese tolerance in transgenic tobacco. Plant Sci 280:97–109
- Tabuchi M, Abiko T, Yamaya T (2007) Assimilation of ammonium ions an reutilization of nitrogen in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Exp Bot 58:2319–2327
- Takahashi H, Buchner P, Yoshimoto N, Hawkesford MJ, Shiu SH (2012) Evolutionary relationships and functional diversity of plant sulfate transporters. Front Plant Sci 2:119

- Takano J, Noguchi K, Yasumori M, Kobayashi M, Gajdos Z, Miwa K, Hayashi H, Yoneyama T, Fujiwara T (2002) Arabidopsis boron transporter for xylem loading. Nature 420(6913):337–340
- Tang L, Mao B, Li Y, Lv Q, Zhang L, Chen C, He H, Wang W, Zeng X, Shao Y, Pan Y, Hu Y, Peng Y, Fu X, Li H, Xia S, Zhao B (2017) Knockout of OsNramp5 using the CRISPR/Cas9 system produces low Cd-accumulating indica rice without compromising yield. Sci Rep 7:14438
- Tewari RK, Kumar P, Sharma PN (2006) Magnesium deficiency induced oxidative stress and antioxidant responses in mulberry plants. Sci Hortic 108(1):7–14
- Tewari RK, Kumar P, Tewari N, Srivastava S, Sharma PN (2004) Macronutrient deficiencies and differential antioxidant responses—influence on the activity and expression of superoxide dismutase in maize. Plant Sci 166(3):687–694
- Tiong J, Sharma N, Sampath R, MacKenzie N, Watanabe S, Meto C, Lu Z, Skinner W, Lu Y, Kridl J, Baumann U, Heuer S, Kaiser B, Okamoto M (2021) Improving nitrogen use efficiency through overexpression of alanine aminotransferase in rice, wheat, and barley. Front Plant Sci 12:29
- Tiwari JK, Buckseth T, Singh RK, Kumar M, Kant S (2020) Prospects of improving nitrogen use efficiency in potato: lessons from transgenics to genome editing strategies in plants. Front Plant Sci 11:597481
- Tsakraklides G, Martin M, Chalam R, Tarczynski MC, Schmidt A, Leustek T (2002) Sulfate reduction is increased in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana* expressing 5'-adenylylsulfate reductase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Plant J 32(6):879–889
- Tsay YF, Chiu CC, Tsai CB, Ho CH, Hsu PK (2007) Nitrate transporters and peptide transporters. FEBS Lett 581:2290–2300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.04.047
- Urnov F, Rebar E, Zhang HS HM, Gregory PD (2010) Genome editing with engineered zinc finger nucleases. Nat Rev Genet 11:636–646. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2842
- Vatansever R, Koc I, Ozyigit II, Sen U, Uras ME, Anjum NA, Pereira E, Filiz E (2016) Genomewide identification and expression analysis of sulfate transporter (SULTR) genes in potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). Planta 244(6):1167–1183
- Vert G, Grotz N, Dédaldéchamp F, Gaymard F, Guerinot ML, Briat JF, Curie C (2002) IRT1, an Arabidopsis transporter essential for iron uptake from the soil and for plant growth. Plant Cell 14(6):1223–1233
- Wada N, Ueta R, Osakabe Y, Osakabe K (2020) Precision genome editing in plants: state-of-the-art in CRISPR/Cas9-based genome engineering. BMC Plant Biol 20:1–12
- Wan TENG, Xue HE, Tong YP (2017) Transgenic approaches for improving use efficiency of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in crops. J Integr Agric 16(12):2657–2673
- Wang Y, Wu WH (2010) Plant sensing and signaling in response to K⁺- deficiency. Mol Plant 3:280–287
- Wang Y, Wu WH (2013) Potassium transport and signaling in higher plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol 64:451–476
- Wang X, Wang Y, Tian J, Lim BL, Yan X, Liao H (2009) Overexpressing AtPAP15 enhances phosphorus efficiency in soybean. Plant Physiol 151(1):233–240
- Wang X, Li J, Zou X, Lu L, Li L, Ni S, Liu F (2011) Ectopic expression of AtCIPK23 enhances tolerance against low-K+ stress in transgenic potato. Am J Potato Res 88(2):153–159
- Wang H, Xu Q, Kong YH, Chen Y, Duan JY, Wu WH, Chen YF (2014) Arabidopsis WRKY45 transcription factor activates PHOSPHATE TRANSPORTER1; 1 expression in response to phosphate starvation. Plant Physiol 164(4):2020–2029
- Wang F, Itai RN, Nozoye T, Kobayashi T, Nishizawa NK, Nakanishi H (2020) The bHLH protein OsIRO3 is critical for plant survival and iron (Fe) homeostasis in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) under Fe-deficient conditions. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 66(4):579–592
- Wasaki J, Maruyama H, Tanaka M, Yamamura T, Dateki H, Shinano T, Ito S, Osaki M (2009) Overexpression of the LASAP2 gene for secretory acid phosphatase in white lupin improves the phosphorus uptake and growth of tobacco plants. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 55(1):107–113
- Waters BM, Blevins DG, Eide DJ (2002) Characterization of FRO1, a pea ferric-chelate reductase involved in root iron acquisition. Plant Physiol 129:85–94

- Wei Yang TJ, Perry PJ, Ciani S, Pandian S, Schmidt W (2008) Manganese deficiency alters the patterning and development of root hairs in Arabidopsis. J Exp Bot 59(12):3453–3464
- White PJ, Neugebauer K (2021) Possible consequences of an inability of plants to control manganese uptake. Plant Soil 461(1):63–68
- Williams LE, Pittman JK (2010) Dissecting pathways involved in manganese homeostasis and stress in higher plant cells. In: Hell R, Mendel RR (eds) Cell biology of metals and nutrients, 1st edn. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 95–117
- Wu C, Tang S, Li G, Wang S, Fahad S, Ding Y (2019) Roles of phytohormone changes in the grain yield of rice plants exposed to heat: a review. Peer J 7:e7792. https://doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.7792
- Xia Z, Wang M, Xu Z (2018) The maize sulfite reductase is involved in cold and oxidative stress responses. Front Plant Sci 9:1680
- Xu J, Li HD, Chen LQ, Wang Y, Liu LL, He L, Wu WH (2006) A protein kinase, interacting with two calcineurin B-like proteins, regulates K+ transporter AKT1 in Arabidopsis. Cell 125(7):1347–1360
- Xue G, Lu LM, Yang TZ, Li XH, Xing XX, Xu SX (2016) Enhanced tolerance to low-K+ stress in tobacco plants, that ectopically express the CBL-interacting protein kinase CIPK23 gene. Czech J Genet Plant Breed 52(2):77–82
- Yan W, Chen GH, Yang LF, Gai JY, Zhu YL (2014) Overexpression of the rice phosphate transporter gene OsPT6 enhances tolerance to low phosphorus stress in vegetable soybean. Sci Hortic 177:71–76
- Yanagisawa S, Akiyama A, Kisaka H, Uchimiya H, Miwa T (2004) Metabolic engineering with Dof1 transcription factor in plants: Improved nitrogen assimilation and growth under lownitrogen conditions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:7833–7838
- Yang Z, Chu C (2011) Towards understanding plant response to heavy metal stress. In: Ak S, Venkateswarlu B (eds) Abiotic stress in plants–Mechanisms and adaptations, vol 59. Intech, Rijeka, p 78
- Yang T, Zhang S, Hu Y, Wu F, Hu Q, Chen G, Cai J, Wu T, Moran N, Yu L, Xu G (2014) The role of a potassium transporter OsHAK5 in potassium acquisition and transport from roots to shoots in rice at low potassium supply levels. Plant Physiol 166(2):945–959
- Yoshimoto N, Takahashi H, Smith FW, Yamaya T, Saito K (2002) Two distinct high-affinity sulfate transporters with different inducibilities mediate uptake of sulfate in Arabidopsis roots. Plant J 29(4):465–473
- Yoshimoto N, Inoue E, Saito K, Yamaya T, Takahashi H (2003) Phloem-localizing sulfate transporter, Sultr1; 3, mediates re-distribution of sulfur from source to sink organs in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 131(4):1511–1517
- Yu CY, Liu YH, Zhang AD, Su S, Yan A, Huang L, Ali I, Liu Y, Forde BG, Gan YB (2015) MADSbox transcription factor OsMADS25 regulates root development through affection of nitrate accumulation in rice. PLoS One 10:e0135196
- Yu LH, Wu J, Tang H, Yuan Y, Wang SM, Wang YP, Zhu QS, Li SG, Xiang CB (2016) Overexpression of Arabidopsis NLP7 improves plant growth under both nitrogen-limiting and -sufficient conditions by enhancing nitrogen and carbon assimilation. Sci Rep 6:27795
- Yunyan F, Jie Y, Fangquan W, Fangjun F, Wenqi L, Jun W, Yang X, Jinyan Z, Weigong Z (2019) Production of two elite glutinous rice varieties by editing Wx gene. Rice Sci 26(2):118–124
- Zhan X, Lu Y, Zhu JK, Botella JR (2021) Genome editing for plant research and crop improvement. J Integr Plant Biol 63(1):3–33
- Zhang Y, Qi Y (2021) Efficient multiplexed CRISPR-Cas12a genome editing in plants. In: Islam MT, Molla KA (eds) CRISPR-Cas methods. Springer protocols handbooks. Humana, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-1657-4_4
- Zhang F, Wu XN, Zhou HM, Wang DF, Jiang TT, Sun YF, Cao Y, Pei WX, Sun SB, Xu GH (2014) Overexpression of rice phosphate transporter gene OsPT6 enhances phosphate uptake and accumulation in transgenic rice plants. Plant Soil 384(1):259–270

- Zhang Y, Massel K, Godwin ID, Gao C (2018) Applications and potential of genome editing in crop improvement. Genome Biol 19:210
- Zhang J, Wang Y, Zhao Y, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Ma H, Han Y (2020a) Transcriptome analysis reveals Nitrogen deficiency induced alterations in leaf and root of three cultivars of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). PLoS One 15:e0240662. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240662
- Zhang J, Zhou Z, Bai J, Tao X, Wang L, Zhang H, Zhu J-K (2020b) Disruption of MIR396e and MIR396f improves rice yield under nitrogen-deficient conditions. Natl Sci Rev 7:102–112
- Zhao J, Li P, Motes CM, Park S, Hirschi KD (2015) CHX 14 is a plasma membrane K-efflux transporter that regulates K+ redistribution in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Cell Environ 38(11):2223–2238
- Zhao Q, Ren YR, Wang QJ, Yao YX, You CX, Hao YJ (2016) Overexpression of Mdb HLH 104 gene enhances the tolerance to iron deficiency in apple. Plant Biotechnol J 14(7):1633–1645
- Zhou J, Jiao F, Wu Z, Li Y, Wang X, He X, Zhong W, Wu P (2008) OsPHR2 is involved in phosphate-starvation signaling and excessive phosphate accumulation in shoots of plants. Plant Physiol 146(4):1673–1686
- von Wiren N, Mori S, Marschner H, Romheld V (1994) Iron Inefficiency in Maize Mutant ys1 (Zea mays L. cv Yellow-Stripe) Is Caused by a Defect in Uptake of Iron Phytosiderophores. Plant Physiol 106(1):71–77

Chapter 16 Aromatic Plants as New Candidates in Phytoremediation-OMICS Technology



Antony de Paula Barbosa, Mario Augusto Izidoro, Eli José Miranda Ribeiro Junior, Joy Ruby Violet Stephen, Patrícia de Araújo Rodrigue, Sajid Fiaz, and Stephen Rathinaraj Benjamin

Contents

16.1	Introdu	ction	386
16.2	Medicinal and Aromatic Plant Species.		
16.3	Aromat	ic Plants for a Phytoremediation	387
	16.3.1	Cymbopogon	388
	16.3.2	Vetiver Grass.	390
	16.3.3	Basil (Ocimum Species).	392
	16.3.4	Geranium	393
	16.3.5	Mentha Genus	393
	16.3.6	Chamomile (Matricaria sps)	394
	16.3.7	Rosemary (Rosmarinus Officinalis).	394
	16.3.8	Cymbopogon Martini	395

A. de Paula Barbosa

Department of Pharmaceutical Products, Faculty of Pharmacy, Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG), Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil

M. A. Izidoro

Laboratório de Espectrometria de Massas. Associação Beneficente de Coleta de Sangue (COLSAN), Indianópolis, SP, Brazil

E. J. M. R. Junior Faculty of Inhumas (FacMais), Avenida Monte Alegre, Inhumas, GO, Brazil

J. R. V. Stephen Department of Geography, Queen Mary's College (A), Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

P. de Araújo Rodrigue · S. R. Benjamin (🖂)

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Post-Graduate Programme in Medical Sciences, Department of Medicine, Drug Research and Development Center (NPDM), Federal University of Ceará, Fortaleza, CE, Brazil

S. Fiaz

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, University of Haripur, Haripur, Pakistan

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_16

	16.3.9 Sage	395	
	16.3.10 Lavandula	396	
	16.3.11 Lippia	397	
	16.3.12 Origanum	398	
16.4	Metabolomics Research Within Analytical Technologies in Phytoremediation	398	
16.5	Advantages and Limitations of Phytoremediation.	407	
16.6	Prospects and Conclusion. 40		
Refere	ences	409	

16.1 Introduction

The industrial revolution has led to significant improvements in people's socioeconomic conditions, and it has also received a by-product that is environmental contamination and pollution. Environmental pollution is a major cause of concern for global health, as its accumulation of contaminants in complex compartments presents a significant risk for the development of several diseases in humans (Manisalidis et al. 2020). The amount of soil, water, and air pollutants has risen to thresholds that are unhealthy for present generations. Environmental contamination with heavy metals has enhanced well beyond the recommended limit, which is harmful to all life forms. Pollution from heavy metals are undoubtedly a significant environmental concern as metal ions affect the environment due to various nonbiodegradable natural environment (Ali et al. 2019). In particular, any metal (or metalloid) species may also be perceived as the "contaminant" until it appears undesired or in a form or concentration that causes a deleterious impact on humans or the environment. As a consequence, a few soil pollution-based major issues have been evolving which include disorders, the decline in soil fertility and efficiency, biodiversity loss, and natural resource loss. Both anthropogenic and natural sources release heavy metals into soil properties. There are growing public health and environmental concerns due to the noxious effects of these metals, as well as a corresponding need for increased awareness to remedy the polluted heavy metal environment. Accordingly, the removal or reduction of accumulation of heavy metals is imperative to reduce or eliminate environmental contamination and the likelihood of food web uptake. The effective protection and restoration of heavy metal-contaminated soil ecosystems require their characterization and remediation. Remediation methods that are used to clean up contaminated soils of heavy metal(loid) may be in situ; ex situ, on-site; off-site which may include biological, physical, and chemical techniques. All such technologies are used in combined effects with each other to remediate a contaminated site more cost-effectively and effectively (Cristaldi et al. 2017). Phytoremediation is among the most promising ways of rectifying and restoring the natural state of soil deemed harmful to the environment and health and uses microorganisms/plants for detoxification or removal of heavy metals and trace elements from the soil.

16.2 Medicinal and Aromatic Plant Species

The medicinal and aromatic plants (MAPs) are widespread and predominantly gathered for human health care from natural environments. The World Health Organization (WHO) reports that conventional or traditional medicines derived from medicinal plants are still the keystone of about 75-80% of the global population for primary care, particularly in developing countries, owing to better cultural appropriateness, compliance with the human system, and fewer complications. India has a vast heritage of medicinal plants and stands on the well-recorded and quite well-practiced awareness of traditional medicine for the treatment (more than 8000 species). However, India has an abundant tradition of Ayurvedic, Siddha, and Unani medicinal plant usage. The worldwide distribution of medicinal and aromatic plants includes South and South-East Asia, America, Europe, Africa, and Australia. The ethnomedicine industry in India employs more than 7500 plant species, which is half of the native plant species in the nation (Shiva 2011). China contains approximately 6000 species that are used for their medicinal properties (Shan-an and Zhong-ming 1991). Brazil, the South American region's largest country, emerges in unique topographical conditions as well as extensive flora comprising medicinal and aromatic plants. In Brazil, over 48,576 plant species are used for medicinal purpose (Flora do Brasil 2019). Despite the large Brazilian biodiversity (20–22%) total worldwide), it includes two of the hottest hotspots; Mata Atlântica or Atlantic rainforest (19,355 species) and Cerrado (12,669 species) (Forzza et al. 2012). In Cerrado (Central Brazilian Savanna), 220 species produce medicinal values and a wide range of native fruits are consumed regularly by the local population and sold in urban centers.

16.3 Aromatic Plants for a Phytoremediation

Aromatic plants are more stress-tolerant and perennial in a natural environment; however, with low input, these crops provide significant importance. Aromatic plants for the phytoremediation of contaminated heavy metal sites were recognized from families – Asteraceae, Poaceae, Geraniaceae, and Lamiaceae. Tropical aromatic grasses produce large biomass and are extensively cultivated for the production of essential oil of high value, such as, Palmarosa (*Cymbopogon martinii* (Roxb.) Watson), Vetiver (*Chrysopogon zizanioides* (L.) Nash), Lemongrass, and Citronella (*Cymbopogon winterianus* Jowitt ex Bor). Such aromatic grasses provide tremendous potential for heavy metal-polluted areas to be phytoremediation. Aromatic grasses have been demonstrated to become more effective targets for the phytoremediation of a variety of contaminants from wasteland, and in addition, impact from environmental to socioeconomic significance (Verma et al. 2014; Pandey and Singh 2015; Pandey et al. 2019). Many widely planted aromatic types of grass correspond to the Vetiver grass and lemongrass. On the other hand, the recent endorsement of aromatic grasses for phytoremediation is because of its economic benefit, adaptability, effectiveness for remediation, and marginal pollution of marketable goods (Table 16.1). The importance of OMICS technologies and their impact and applicability of aromatic plants contribute to phytoremediation, which has been discussed in detail in this chapter.

16.3.1 Cymbopogon

Cymbopogon (Nees ex Steud.) has a huge proportion of odoriferous organisms throughout the family of grasses (Poaceae) around 50 other species, but it is categorized as aromatic plant with essential oils (70%-90% citrol). Within the grass family, Lemongrass is widely used as a medicinal herb. Lemongrass oil is among the most valuable essential oils broadly used in perfumes, cosmetics, and flavors. Aromatic grasses are metal accumulators or metal stress-tolerant species that are therefore effective for the phytoremediation of metal soils (Verma et al. 2014; Pandey and Singh 2015). Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Stapf., commonly referred to as lemongrass, is a metal plant tolerant to adverse environmental conditions (Das and Maiti 2009). Gautam et al.(2017) evaluated the research study utilizing lemongrass grown in different RM (Red mug) treatment options in soil modified with livestock manure to ascertain the physicochemical characteristics of the soil under various soil treatment conditions, to evaluate the likelihood for phytoremediation with lemongrass, as well as to evaluate the effects of metals mostly on the productivity of crop production under various soil treatment options. From these studies, the authors observed that Lemongrass acted as potential phytostabilizer of Fe, Mn, and Cu, whereas Al, Zn, Cd, Pb, Ni, Cr, and As from roots to shoot were found to be efficiently translocated cultivation and could be used to phytoremediation of RM-contaminated sites. Moreover, Jha and Kumar (2017) reported Cymbopogon flexuosus' applicability to remove hexavalent chromium and arsenic from aqueous media. The authors (Lee et al. 2014) studied the potential of Cymbopogon citratus (C. citratus) as an effective alternative bio sorbent for removing nickel (Ni²⁺) from aqueous solution. In another study, Lermen et al. (2015) observed that arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) Rhizophagus clarus are inoculated in the lemongrass uptake of heavy metal such as Pb (100 kg⁻¹ soil) and its metabolites. However, without AMF inoculation, the substantial changes were not ascertained in the production of essential oil content in lemongrass, the values being estimated 0.5% distinct of the Pb levels together with the soil. Aromatic grasses are metal accumulators or metal stress-tolerant plants and are useful for the phytoremediation of metallic soils.

The species *C. flexuosus* has been evaluated for its ability to phytoremediation and its potential role in stabilization of chromium (Cr^{+6}) contaminated soil. Lemongrasses displayed distinguishing properties of proline accumulation in the

	Scientific		
Common names	names	Main components of essential oil	References
Lemon grass	Cymbopogon citratus	Citral α , citral β , nerol geraniol, citronellal, terpinolene, geranyl acetate, Myrecene and terpinol methylheptenone	Patra et al. (2018a)
Geranium	Pelargonium	citronellol, geraniol	Pohlit et al. (2011)
peppermint	Mentha Piperita L.	Menthyl acetate, cineole, limonene, beta-pinene and beta-caryophyllene	Pandey et al. (2020)
Spearmint	<i>Mentha spicata</i> L.	Carvone, limonene, cineole pinene <i>cis</i> -dihydrocarvone, and dihydrocarveol	Chrysargyris et al. (2019)
Chamomile	Matricaria chamomilla L.	terpenoids, flavonoids, and lactones, including matricin and apigenin.	Mann and Staba (1986)
Palmarosa	Cymbopogon martini	Geraniol, geranyl acetate, and linalool	Rao (2001)
Clary Sage	Salvia sclarea L.	Linalool, linalyl acetate geraniol, geranyl acetate, terpineol, nerol, neryl acetate, and sclareol	Hayet et al. (2007), Džamić et al. (2008)
Culinary sage, common garden sage, or garden sage	Salvia officinalis L.	Thujone, camphor, pinene, humulene, camphene, pinene, limonene, bornyl acetate, linalool, and cineol	Angelova et al. (2016)
Genus	Lavandula L.	Major component linalyl acetate, linalool, tannins and caryophyllene, with lesser amounts of sesquiterpenoids, perillyl alcohols, esters, oxides, ketones, cineole, camphor, beta-ocimene, limonene, caproic acid, and caryophyllene oxide	Baptista et al. (2015)
Spike lavender	Lavandula latifolia Medik	Cineole, linalool, and camphor	Afonso and Franco (2013)
Fernleaf lavender	Lavandula multifida L.	Linalool, camphene, linalyl acetate, thujene, bornyl acetate, caryophellene, nerol, and terpinolene	
Green lavender or white lavender	Lavandula viridis	Pinene, camphene, cineol, linalool, camphor, borneol	
species of tree in the family Fagaceae	Lithocarpus gracilis	Carvacrol, ρ-cimene, and thymol	Matos (2007)
Oregano	O. vulgare	Monoterpenoids and monoterpenes and monoterpene hydrocarbons, carvacrol, oxygenated monoterpenes, fenchyl alcohol, terpineol and thymol	Teixeira et al. (2013)
Oregano	Origanum heracleoticum L.	Carvacrol, thymol, and phellandrene	Zheljazkov et al. (2008)

 Table 16.1
 Essential oils of aromatic plants

shoot and root under high levels of soil present in chromium using metal stress tolerance capacity (Patra et al. 2018a). Subsequently, the research with manure in the farmyard has proven its efficacy by boosting the growth of C. citratus holding a high ratio of root: shoot. These can be applied effectively in the area for the regeneration of fly ash dumps without even any possibility of pollution of groundwater. Furthermore, stress-resistant, effective biomass production and rapidly expanding species of plants are promoted for the restoration of fly ash dump sites, which will help to establish rapid natural vegetation (Maitti and Prasad 2017). Consequently, fly ash with soil modification can provide correction of these limitations and an effective mixture to promote plant growth with reduced metal toxicity risk(Verma et al. 2014). Low levels of fly ash can only be used to modify the soil for a short period; however, persistent using fly ash can cause significant contamination of the soil by raising the load of toxic metals (Panda et al. 2018). In addition, lemongrass may be an appropriate species to develop as a cover crop in low and alkaline soils that can sustain steep slopes and reintegrate mining and processing disposal sites or wasteland (Pandey and Singh 2015). Additionally, Gautam et al. (2017) conducted an assessment of the impact of different concentrations of red mud (5 and 10%) in soil adjusted with sewage sludge on the material and chemical properties of lemongrass-derived essential oil. Furthermore, the content of Fe, Zn, Cu, Cd, Ni, and Pb in the above-ground parts of plants increased, whereas Mn was observed under WHO allowable limits for edible herbs. Chemically induced phytoextraction was proposed due to the obvious lower growth efficiency and low biomass production. Elevated biomass and high growth crops are used in this methodology to retrieve substantial amounts of heavy metals whose strength in the soil increased by chelating agents such as EDTA, DTPA, and CA generally increasing the solubility, absorption of metals, and stimulated growth into the lemongrass plants. Patra et al. (2018b) evaluated the analysis and indicated enhanced bioavailability of Chromium (50 mg/kg) bio to chelator and metal ion (Fe, Mg and Zn) applications by reducing the dependence of heavy metals contamination in contaminated soil.

16.3.2 Vetiver Grass

Vetiver (*Crysopogon zizanioides*) is a plant that is a species of the Poaceae family. Since it grows well in sandy loam soil, it is a perennial plant. The word "vetiver" is a Tamil word ((Gauing Caut)) describing vetti" (to cut/dug up) and "ver" (root), "root that is dug up." The vetiver has been in use in India since ancient times. Vetiver is predominantly produced in tropical countries. Old Tamil literature mentions vetiver use for medical applications. The plant is cultivated because of its aromatic root system, an origin of essential oil widely recognized as vetiver oil. Also, it is defined as "Tranquility Oil" and used in aromatherapy and perfumery. However, few variations with vetiver prevalent in northern and southern India were observed.

Along with its notable characteristics, including a tremendous and profound root system and sensitivity to drastic weather differences like continuous drought, flooding, frost, and heatwaves, vetiver grass is especially appropriate for phytoremedial implementations and also for processing biosorption. It can allow high soil salinity, alkalinity, acidity, and elevated concentrations of heavy metals such as Al, Mn, Mg, As, Cr, Hg, and Cu and the pesticides and herbicides in soils. Vetiver is a C4, whereas a four-carbon chemical called the first product is Oxaloacetic acid (OAA), a persistent organism that grows in tropical climates. This species is best able to continue providing facility as a model to the ecosystem and due to the various unique characteristics that have a significant opportunity for carbon sequestration along with remediation potential. Vetiver has applications worldwide to overcome numerous environmental problems such as soil erosion, soil remediation, and water pollution. Suelee et al. (2017) stated which vetiver grass (VG) is used in polluted water suitably for heavy metals. The removal efficiency of heavy metals such as Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb, and Zn in water was assessed in this method by different root lengths and densities from VG. Likewise, metal uptakes in vetiver root were usually higher than in shoot. The plant is a strong heavy metal accumulator and the root portions of the plant acquired a large proportion of metals than the shoot, suggesting that VG is a strong phytostabilizer (Banerjee et al. 2016); also, they exhibited increased metal concentrations improving catalase, guaiacol peroxidase, and glutathione activities. Environmental contamination by antibiotics such as Ciprofloxacin (CIP) and tetracycline (TC) are broadspectrum antibiotics, not just to disturb the ecosystems and raise a hazard to public health through accelerating the development of multiantibiotic-resistant bacteria. Since the abundance of pharmaceutical products is increasingly released into the environment, research is underway to investigate different methods for their remediation. Datta et al. (2013) recommended to remove and degrade TC from aqueous solutions and soil, utilizing vetiver grass as an agent for phytoremediation under hydroponic conditions within 40 days. The high root to shoot translocation factors (TF) in higher TC treatments (10 and 15 mg L⁻¹) demonstrate the great possibility of vetiver grass. Constructed wetlands (CW) are widely recognized as a promising technology among phytoremediation techniques with the best efficient wastewater treatment technology. The current study has shown that wetlands built from integrated vertical flow have a significant potential for natural products, nutrient-dissolved particles (nitrogen, phosphorous), and pathogen removal owing to their special redox-reducing environment, microbial growth, and community dispersion. Some evidence suggests that Vetiveria zizanioides is used effectively inbuilt wetlands for waste management, has quite a great potential to a reduction of chemical oxygen demand (COD) (80.65%), Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) (91.44%), total suspended solids (TSS) (98.34%), free and saline ammonia (98.95%), but also has a considerable effect on the water quality improvement (Suelee et al. 2017; Badejo et al. 2018).

16.3.3 Basil (Ocimum Species)

The genus Ocimum, a member of the family of Lamiaceae, features prominently among many of the herbs with therapeutic potential. Tulsi (The queen of herbs), also widely recognized as "holy plant" or "elixir of life", is native to the Indian continent and is highly respected for its medicinal properties and within Ayurvedic and Siddha medical systems. Among some of the distinct Ocimum species, *Ocimum basilicum* L. "Basil/Sweet basil" (common name in Tamil language, Naitulasi), *Ocimum sanctum* L. or *Ocimum tenuiflorum* L. "Holy basil" (common name in Tamil language, Tulasi) (Samy et al. 2008) also known as Tulsi in India, and *Ocimum gratissimum* L. Basil plants with 22–88% oestragole may be used efficiently for aromatherapy. Additionally, phenolic compounds including rosemarinic and cynamic acids flavonoids and essential oils and saponins anthocyanins were among the major sweet basil biochemicals (Filip et al. 2017).

Heavy metals like Cd, Cu, and As can prevent the germination of seeds at even small concentrations. However, contaminated soils with Cd and Pb had a major impact on the growth of sweet basil. Fattahi et al. (2019) suggested the amount of essential oil (EO) yield generated under heavy metal stresses and those EO components with a high correlation with the quantity of contaminations of the Cd and Pb. Likewise, Siddiqui et al.(2013) reported that an increase in essential oil content could be directly linked to a decrease in primary metabolites in addition to the impacts of heavy metal stress. Soil bioaugmentation with heavy metal phytoremediation bacteria is a promising approach to cleaning contaminated soil. Prapagdee and Khonsue (2015) described that the highest percentage of cadmium removal was found in the soil that was used to grow O. gratissimum L treated with EDTA followed by an inoculated plant with Arthrobacter sp. Kunwar et al. (Kunwar et al. 2015) studied that heavy metal addition such as Cu, Cd, and Pb leads to an enhanced level of linalool and EO composition. This important relation demonstrates the ability to provide O.basilicum with EO quality through the implementation of opportunities for improvement of these metals. In a recent study, O.basilicum demonstrated its feasibility for the phytoremediation of soil contaminated with Cd, which was further strengthened when different varieties of fertilizers (Potassium nano-chelate) were supplied to the plants (Zahedifar et al. 2016). In another experiment, Chand et al. (2015) reported that root accumulation of Cd and Pb acceptance by *O. basilicum* significantly increased at 20 t ha⁻¹ sludge use. Nevertheless, Cr accumulation increased with a sludge dose of up to 50 t ha⁻¹. The yield of basil essential oil (Ocimum basilicum) decreases with maximum dosages of assessment of sludge. Recently, Dinu et al.(2020) observed that basil plants were exposed to a combination of heavy metals that could significantly decrease the mobility of metals from soil to plants. The existence of other metals in contaminated soil had a stimulating effect on the growth of plants evaluated by the amount of vegetable biomass.

16.3.4 Geranium

The genus Pelargonium belonging to the family Geraniaceae consists of approximately 270 species, of which only 10 species are used for geranium oil production; commercially grown rose-scented geranium in various parts of the world such as Egypt, Brazil, China, Russia, India, and Mideast, European countries. Currently, it grows all over the globe and is grown in herb gardens in a variety of nations, mostly for its mosquito repelling properties (Pohit et al. 2011). Geranium crop was grown in the environment that would allow a high rate of photosynthesis as well since oil yields are derived by herb yield and oil content. Rose-scented geranium, Pelargonium sepulchre L., is an aromatic plant. Geranium essential oil (GEO) is retrieved from geranium leaves and is considered to be essential both for fragrance and cosmetic formulations as well as for the food industry. Other benefits of essential geranium oil, which has become more prominent, usually involve dysentery treatment, inflammation, haemorrhoids, menstrual disorders, and cancer (Dimayuga 2004; Tajkarimi et al. 2010). Besides this, similar botanical terms are also in use, including certain Pelargonium graveolens and Pelargonium. roseum. Recently, Chand et al. (2016) identified that response to the stress of heavy metals demonstrated that geranium is most sensitive to chromium accompanied by Cd, Ni, and Pb in terms of its yield of EO and the concentration of heavy metals in plant parts at its increased soil concentration. Arshad et al. (2016) investigated the potential of Pb as a relation to organic species in roots and the binding with cysteine and glutathione indicates the possible drawback of phytochelatins and metallothiones, which can also play an essential part in metal accumulation and plant tolerance.

16.3.5 Mentha Genus

Mentha Piperita belongs to the *Lamiaceae* family, a popular herb called peppermint, that can be used in many aspects, including leaf extract oil and leaf water (Pandey et al. 2020). There are approximately different mentha species native to India, which include *M. arvensa*, *M. piper*, *M. speck*, *M. waters*, *M. sylvestris*, and *M. citrus*. *M.Piperita* (pepper mint) is a major crop-producing essential oil that contains menthol, menthofuran, menthone, 1,8 cineole, isomenthone, etc. Chelating agents are used to significantly boost nutrient and heavy metal bioavailability for plant growth through the roots. Recently, Khair et al. (2020) proposed that *M. Piperita* could be a potential candidate for Ni-contaminated wastewater and soil phytoextraction technique once integrated with citric acid as suitable chelating agents. In addition, higher concentrations of Ni and accumulation according to CA application in plants and all parts (stem, root and leaves) were evaluated. Amirmoradi et al. (2012) reported that with a medium range of Cd and Pb concentrations, the essential oil percentage was not affected. Hasanpour et al. (2019) reported that *Mentha aquatica L* roots have a much greater capacity to uptake and accumulate Cd than shoot. In another study, Cu addition extended in commercial cultivation (both in soil and soilless production systems) as a process of enhancing the content of active substances in spearmint plants (*Mentha spicata L*) essential oil without altering the essential oil yield (Chrysargyris et al. 2019).

16.3.6 Chamomile (Matricaria sps)

Chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.) is a very well-known Asteraceae family of medicinal plants often referred to as "star among medicinal plant species." The flower Chamomilla contains 0.2 to 1.9% of the blue essential oil, which is used in a variety of ways (Mann and Staba 1986). Chamomile contains various classes of bioactive components that have been extracted and used as medicinal products and cosmetic products. Chamomile's most well-known active molecules involve luteolin, apigenin, α -bisabolol, quercetin, matricin, and α -bisabololol oxides A and B. Chamomile also contains a high proportion of coumarins, hydroxycoumarins, and terpenoids and is also one of the richest food sources of antioxidants (Bigagli et al. 2017). Typical applications include acne diagnosis, ulcers, digestive disorders, wounds, stomach ache, gastroenteritis, skin rashes, and rheumatoid arthritis (Sanjay et al. 2010). According to Stancheva et al. (2014), chamomile grown from heavy metals-contaminated soils effectively accumulated cadmium, lead, and zinc, with significantly higher potential for cleaning polluted sites, without even a decrease in essential oil quality and yield. Phytoavailability evaluation of cadmium and lead in contaminated soil and accumulation by chamomilla matricaria. Throughout the case of cadmium, which were greater similarities among its presence of various plant parts (flowers, stems and roots) and also between the content of cadmium in chamomile sections and all soil derivatives. This demonstrates that Cd is dispersed on the soils in forms easily extractable, both with acetic acid and EDTA, which would provide a reasonable estimate of possible cadmium mobility from soil to plant and of the danger for cadmium pollution, respectively (Voyslavov et al. 2013).

16.3.7 Rosemary (Rosmarinus Officinalis)

Rosmarinus officinalis, popularly called rosemary, belonged to the family Leguminosae and is native and very widespread in the Mediterranean basin native herb with an extreme pinewood indicative of aromatic odor and is recognized for a wide range of applications and biological properties (Oliveira et al. 2019). The chemical properties of rosemary EO with various chemotypes are quite variable depending on the specific percentages of 1,8-cineol (12%), camphor (14.5%), α -pinene (8.5%), borneol (10.5%), and camphene (7%) (Satyal et al. 2017). Bozdogan et al. (Bozdogan Sert et al. 2019) showed that *R. officinalis* is a useful tool for an estimate of the concentration of pollution associated with traffic in urban

areas. In addition, this plant could be capable of accumulating Al, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb, and Zn in both leaves and stems. (Abbaslou et al. 2018) demonstrated that rosemary was evaluated and resulted in an endeavor to remediate mine tailing sites with significant concentrations of Cd, Pb, Cu, and Zn. Research has also shown that roots are more capable of utilizing and extracting elements from contaminated soils, and also that leaves may be better included as herbal medicine for rosemary plants. Nevertheless, plants adsorbed metals by phytoextraction and phytostabilization, where root phytostabilization was more effective.

16.3.8 Cymbopogon Martini

Cymbopogon martini is a perennial aromatic herb of the Poaceae family that produces essential oil in its flowering shoot. The essential oil (Commonly known in India as rosha grass oil) is effective in geraniol, which is used to make high-grade fragrances of cosmetic aromas and pharmaceutical products (Rao 2001). Generally, phytoremediation of sewage sludge is known to contain heavy metal by greater proportion biomass and essential oil-producing palmarosa aromatic crop. Palmarosa acts as an excellent plant for phytoextraction, as well as the essential oil derived from the plant had no risk of contamination by heavy metals. Expanding the aromatic grass in soil modified by sewage sludge could provide a cost-effective, longterm, and environmentally sustainable solution to minimize the risk of pollution from heavy metals (Singh et al. 2020). Likewise, Palmarosa was found to be an acceptable product to the phytostabilization of metals when grown in tannery sludge mixed soil. Overall, tannery sludge increased crop yield, and accumulation of metals existed in roots with a meager translocation to shoots. That also implies this plant's suitability as a good phytostabilizer (Pandey et al. 2015).

16.3.9 Sage

Salvia sclarea L., Lamiaceae, (clary sage) are 60–100 cm tall with large hairy leaves and small blue, white, or purple flowers. The plant is native to countries in southern Europe and northern Africa, including Italy, France, and Morocco, being grown in these countries to obtain essential oils and other compounds used in perfumery (Hayet et al. 2007; Džamić et al. 2008). Its inflorescences present in the fresh state 0.15% to 0.20% essential oil. Sage oil is obtained by steam distillation because the distillation of water reduces the oil yield and the content of the esters in it. The analysis of essential oils obtained from *S. sclarea* inflorescences and leaves has been reported in the literature(Yadav et al. 2010). The essential oil of *S. sclarea* has a low viscosity, transparent, colorless to pale yellow, liquid with a characteristic smell of similar inflorescences lavender, bergamot, and amber and has a long-lasting effect, besides having a strong fixation, being used in perfume and cosmetics industry. The major constituents present in the essential oil of S. sclarea leaves in vivo were, in decreasing order, germacrene D (51%), E-karyophylene (12%), γ -gurjunene (10%), α -copaene (6%), and δ -element (3%). In the seedling leaves in vitro, the two major sesquiterpenes were germacrene D(15%) and E-karyophylene (3%). The predominance of germacrene D compared to other constituents of the leaves of this species had already been observed by other authors (Carrubba et al. 2002). Salvia sclarea is a plant species that is tolerant of heavy metals and can be attributed as hyperaccumulators of Pb and accumulators of Cd and Zn, having its successful use when used in phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals. The amounts of Pb, Cu, and Cd in the essential oil of S. sclarea grown in contaminated soils were less than the maximum acceptable concentrations accepted, which allows its use in the perfumery and cosmetics, and tobacco industries (Angelova et al. 2016). The essential oil of Salvia officinalis L. contains composition of oxygenated monoterpenes, monoterpenic hydrocarbons, and sesquiterpene hydrocarbons. Salvia officinalis L. demonstrated growth in soils enriched with lead, cadmium, and zinc; the tolerance of these metals reflects the accumulative and translocating capacity of PB, Cd, and Zn (Angelova et al. 2016).

16.3.10 Lavandula

The genus Lavandula L. belongs to the Lamiaceae family whose plants present themselves as aromatic subshrubs that can measure between 20 and 170 cm in height depending on the species. The species-genus are characterized by the presence of a chalice (8-)13(-15)-nervous, whose upper dentition presents, normally, an apical appendage, and by a bilabiated corolla with coloration between pale purple and blue-violet, whose upper lip is bilobed and the lower lip is trilobed (Figueiredo et al. 2014). The genus Lavandula L. comprises about 39 species, some of which are used for centuries, not only because of their interest in perfumery, food, and cosmetics, but also due to biological activity and, consequently, action therapy (Baptista et al. 2015). Essential oils from Lavandula L. have therefore been used traditionally for various purposes. There are descriptions related to a potential activity antispasmodic in intestinal and uterine smooth muscle, antifungal, and antibacterial which, for times, has shown efficacy even against strains resistant to conventional drugs. The genus Lavandula L. has a complex taxonomy, with designations scientific knowledge, which sometimes makes it difficult to analyze existing scientific information about these plants. There are five species of Lavandula L., namely Lavandula latifolia Medik., Lavandula multifida L., Lavandula pedunculata (Mill.) Cav., Lavandul stoechas subsp. Luisieri (Roseira), and Lavandula viridis L'Hér; also exist are cultivated species, namely Lavandula dentata L., for their value ornamental, and Lavandula angustifolia Mill. and some hybrid species due to their industrial interests (Afonso and Franco 2013). Heavy metals accumulate in different ways in vegetative organs of lavender species. Lavender accumulates heavy metals through the root system, leaving low retention in the roots. In addition, the movement of metals and their accumulation more readily in the above-ground parts (stems, leaves, and petals). Generally, lavender species are highly tolerant of heavy metals; therefore, they are Pb hyperaccumulators and Cd and Zn accumulators and can be successfully used in the phytoremediation of soils polluted by these heavy metals (Angelova et al. 2015). In addition, lavender plant species (*Lavandula dentata* L) have phytomanagement capability in soils at maximum Cr concentration levels; cost-effective biochar and citrus peel waste were incorporated as soil modifications owing to their higher capacity to respond quickly directly or indirectly with heavy metals in the soil atmosphere, consequently lowering Cr uptake bioavailability (Ye et al. 2020).

16.3.11 Lippia

The genus *Lippia*, the second largest in the Verbenaceae family, has approximately 200 species of herbs, shrubs, and small trees, whose largest centers of dispersion are found in countries in South and Central America, as well as in territories in tropical Africa. The main centers of specific diversity of the *Lippia* genus are in Mexico and Brazil (Pascual et al. 2001). *Lippia gracilis* S. is an aromatic plant endemic to northeastern Brazil, typical of semiarid vegetation, popularly known as "Alecrim-dachapada" or "Alecrim-serrote". It is found predominantly in the states of Bahia, Sergipe, and Piauí. It presents itself as a shrub approximately 2.5 cm high, well-branched, with small leaves and white flowers, both very odorous (Sairam and Tyagi 2004; Oliveira et al. 2007).

L. gracilis leaves are rich in essential oil with significant antimicrobial activity against fungi and bacteria. In addition, they are widely used in throat and mouth infections, vaginal problems, acne treatment, white cloths, impigens, dandruff, burns, and wounds (Matos 2007). Several results are referring to the chemical composition of *Lippia* species which is known widely for the presence of volatile oils. However, other minor compounds such as flavonoids, iridoids, and naphthoquinones are also often cited. The major essential oil components were analyzed by Gas Chromatography coupled with Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS); it is clear that limonene (1), β -karyophylene (2), *p*-cymene (3), camphor (4), linalool (5), α -pinene (6) and thymol (7) are the components that appear most frequently (Gomes et al. 2011). *L. gracilis* was able to accumulate Pb extracted from the soil and stored in the vegetable, without a change in oil production, signaling the possibility of being used for program remediation of areas contaminated by Pb using the phytoextraction technique. The content of *L. gracilis* essential oil was not influenced by exposure to Pb (Brandão 2016).

16.3.12 Origanum

Origanum vulgare L. (OV), also known as "oregano" or "marjoram", is an aromatic plant commonly used as culinary herb of the Lamiaceae family and is popular across Asia, Europe and Northern Africa. There are other origanum species, such as, O. microphyllum, O. ramonese, O. heracleoticum, and O. scabrum. O. Vulgare is used as folk medicine and to treat respiratory problems, dyspepsia, menstrual cramps, muscular dystrophy, and urinary infections. OV essential oil (EO) mainly consists of monoterpenoids and monoterpenes (53.8%) and monoterpene hydrocarbons (26.4%), carvacrol (14.5%) oxygenated monoterpenes, β-fenchyl alcohol (12.8%), δ -terpineol (7.5%), and thymol (12.6%) (Teixeira et al. 2013). Accordingly, OVEO showed antispasmodic, anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, diaphoretic, carminative, and analgesic functions (Faleiro et al. 2005; Souza et al. 2007; Tommasi et al. 2009). Phytoremediation effectiveness depends on the metal bioaccumulation efficiency of the specified plant species which is related to the soil contamination reduction. Currently, Levizou and coworkers investigated Cr phytoremediation of Origanum vulgare (Levizou et al. 2019). The oregano roots showed the highest identified Cr (VI) (4300 mg kg⁻¹) bioaccumulation value for soil-checked plant species. In some medicinal plants grown in heavily metal-contaminated soil, the bioavailability factor (BF) raised with decreased cadmium concentrations in soils. Zheljazkov et al. (2008) detected cadmium, lead, and copper mainly in roots, while large quantities of manganese and zinc were detected in Origanum heracleoticum L. and other plant leaves and it could be cultivated on soils contaminated with heavy metal without contamination of the commercial product, essential oil (Table 16.2).

16.4 Metabolomics Research Within Analytical Technologies in Phytoremediation

Genetic studies through genomics and metagenomics and the further achievements acquired by proteomics have offered a great contribution to the understanding of various kinds of diseases and its processes. However, biological processes function via a complicated network of connections between genes, RNA, proteins, enzymes, and metabolites, which may also describe this complex interaction network as an interactom (Dunn 2011). Furthermore, environmental factors may alter the interaction and subsequent biological processes of living organisms (Fig. 16.1), as it is observed for human metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes mellitus and the development of atherosclerosis.

Furthermore, genome and proteome research is just an aspect of the picture and ultimately provides an ideal pathway to creating novel therapies and monitoring impacts for both pathogenesis and environmental activities. The urge to comprehend this complex interaction network led to the creation of biological systems of novel research techniques, such as metabolomics, that investigate endogenous and

Aromatic	Trace elements		
plants	studied	Results	References
Lemongrass	Fe, Mn, Cu, Al, Zn, Cd, Pb, Ni, Cr, and As	Lemongrass acted as a potential phytostabilizer, whereas Al, Zn, Cd, Pb, Ni, Cr, and As from roots to shoot were found to be efficiently translocated and could be used to phytoremediation of RM contaminated sites.	Gautam and Agrawal (2017)
lemongrass	Pb	Aromatic grasses are metal accumulators or metal stress-tolerant plants and are useful for the phytoremediation of metallic soils	Lermen et al. (2015)
Lemongrass	Cr ⁺⁶	Lemongrasses displayed distinguishing properties of proline accumulation in the shoot and root under high levels of soil present in chromium using metal stress tolerance capacity	Patra et al. (2018b)
Lemongrass	Fe, Zn, Cu, Cd, Ni, Pb, and Mn	Other elements in above-ground parts of plants increased, whereas Mn was observed under WHO-allowable limits for edible herbs. Chemically induced phytoextraction was proposed due to the obvious lower growth efficiency and low biomass production	Gautam and Agrawal (2017)
Lemongrass	Cr, Fe, Mg, and Zn	Enhanced bio-availability of chromium and metal ion applications by reducing the dependence of heavy metals contamination in contaminated soil	Patra et al. (2018a)
Vetiver grass	Al, Mn, Mg, As, Cr, Hg, and Cu	Vetiver has applications worldwide to overcome numerous environmental problems such as soil erosion, soil remediation, and water pollution	Truong and H BHMEC (2001)
Vetiver grass	Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb, Zn	The plant is a strong heavy metal accumulator, and the root portions of the plant acquired a large proportion of metals than the shoot, suggesting that Vetiver grass is a strong phytostabilizer	Suelee et al. (2017)
Vetiver grass (Vetiveria zizanioides	SO ₄ , Cl, Na, K, Mg, Ca	Assessed the potential efficiency of vetiver system phytoremediation in Mine wastewater for innovative water treatment and salinity reduction	Keshtkar et al. (2016)
L. Nash)	Cl, Na, PO ₄	A new and novel phytoremediation technique is used for wastewater treatment	Maharjan and Pradhanang (2017)
	Cr (5 ppm) (87%), Cr (10 ppm) (51%)	Indicated vetiver grass' phytoextraction of chromium and hyperaccumulator capability for other heavy metals	Masinire et al. (2020)
	NH ₃ , NO ₂ , NO ₃ , NH ₄ , PO ₄	Compared the efficacy of various vetiver planting densities in reducing nitrogen and phosphorus from tilapia wastewater in aquaponic recirculating systems	Effendi et al. (2020)
	NO ₃ , Cl, PO ₄ , K.	Utilizing <i>V. zizanioides</i> as a phytoremediator in tofu wastewater treatment with zeliac	Seroja et al. (2018)

 Table 16.2
 The phytoremediation potential of different aromatic plants against various elements

(continued)
Anomatia	Trace		
plants	studied	Results	References
Sweet basil	Cd and Pb	The amount of essential oil (EO) yield generated under heavy metal stresses, and those EO components with a high correlation with the quantity of contaminations of the Cd and Pb	Fattahi et al. (2019)
Basil	Cu, Cd, Pb	Heavy metal addition such as Cu, Cd, and Pb leading to an enhanced level of linalool and EO composition.	Kunwar et al. (2015)
Basil	Cd	<i>O. basilicum</i> demonstrated its feasibility for the phytoremediation of soil contaminated with Cd	Zahedifar et al. (2016)
Basil	Cd, Pb,Cr	Root accumulation of Cd and Pb acceptance by <i>O. basilicum</i> significantly increased at 20 t ha ^{-1} sludge use. Nevertheless, Cr accumulation increased with a sludge dose of up to 50 t ha ^{-1}	Chand et al. (2015)
Pelargonium	Cr, Cd, Ni, and Pb	The stress of heavy metals demonstrated that geranium is most sensitive to chromium accompanied by Cd, Ni, and Pb in terms of its yield of EO and the concentration of heavy metals in plant parts at its increased soil concentration	Chand et al. (2016)
Pelargonium	Pb	The potential of Pb was a relation to organic species in roots, and the binding with cysteine and glutathione indicates the possible drawback of phytochelatins and metallothiones, which can also play an essential part in metal accumulation and plant tolerance	Arshad et al. (2016)
Peppermint	Ni	<i>M. piperita</i> could be a potential candidate for Ni-contaminated wastewater and soil phytoextraction technique once integrated with citric acid as suitable chelating agents	Khair et al. (2020)
Mentha genus	Cd, Pb	Medium range of Cd and Pb concentrations, and the essential oil percentage was not affected	Amirmoradi et al. (2012)
Water mint	Cd	<i>Mentha aquatica L</i> roots have a much greater capacity to uptake and accumulation Cd than shoot	Hasanpour et al. (2019)
Spearmint	Cu	Cu addition extended in commercial cultivation (both in soil and soilless production systems) as a process of enhancing the content of active substances in spearmint plants (<i>Mentha spicata</i> <i>L</i>) essential oil without altering the essential oil yield	Chrysargyris et al. (2019)
Chamomile	Cd, Pb, Zn	Chamomile grown from heavy metals contaminated soils effectively accumulated cadmium, lead, and zinc, with significantly higher potential for cleaning polluted sites, without even a decrease in essential oil quality and yield	Stancheva et al. (2014)

Table 16.2 (continued)

(continued)

	Trace		
Aromatic	elements		
plants	studied	Results	References
Chamomile	Cd ,Pb	Cadmium has greater similarities among its presence of various plant parts (flowers, stems, and roots). And it is distributed in the soils in forms readily extractable with both acetic acid and EDTA and that both extraction procedures would give a reliable estimate for potential cadmium mobility from the soil to the plant and for respective risk assessment for cadmium pollution	Voyslavov et al. (2013)
Rosemary	Al, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb, and Zn	<i>R. officinalis</i> is a useful tool for an estimate of the concentration of pollution associated with traffic in urban areas. In addition, this plant could be capable of accumulating Al, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mn, Pb, and Zn in both leaves and stems	Bozdogan Sert et al. (2019)
Rosemary	Cd, Pb, Cu, and Zn.	Roots are more capable of utilizing and extracting elements from contaminated soils, and also that leaves may be better included as herbal medicine for rosemary plants. Nevertheless, plants adsorbed metals by phytoextraction and phytostabilization, where root phytostabilization was more effective	Abbaslou et al. (2018)
Europe sage or Clary sage	Pb, Cd, Cu, and Zn	Salvia sclarea is a plant species that is tolerant of heavy metals and can be attributed as hyperaccumulators of Pb and accumulators of Cd and Zn, having its successful use when used in phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals	Angelova et al. (2016)
Garden sage	Pb, Cd, and Zn	Salvia officinalis L. demonstrated growth in soils enriched with lead, cadmium, and zinc; the tolerance of these metals reflects the accumulative and translocating capacity of PB, Cd, and Zn	Angelova et al. (2016)
Lavender	Pb, Cd and Zn	Lavender species are highly tolerant of heavy metals; therefore, they are Pb hyperaccumulators and Cd and Zn accumulators and can be successfully used in the phytoremediation of soils polluted by these heavy metals	Angelova et al. (2015)
French lavender	Cr	Lavender plant species are phytomanagement capability in soils at maximum Cr concentration levels, cost-effective biochar and citrus peel waste were incorporated as soil modifications owing to its higher capacity to respond quickly directly or indirectly with heavy metals in the soil atmosphere, consequently lowering Cr uptake bioavailability	Ye et al. (2020)

(continued)

Table 16.2 (continued)

	Trace		
Aromatic	elements		
plants	studied	Results	References
Slender Bottle-daisy	Pb	<i>L. gracilis</i> was able to accumulate Pb extracted from the soil and stored in the vegetable, without a change in oil production, signaling the possibility of being used for program remediation of areas contaminated by Pb using the phytoextraction technique	Brandão (2016)
Oregano	Cr	The oregano roots showed the highest identified Cr (VI) (4300 mg kg ⁻¹) bioaccumulation value for soil-checked plant species	Levizou et al. (2019)
Oregano	Cd, Pb, Cu, Mn, and Zn	Cd, Pb, and Cu were accumulated mainly in roots, while large quantities of Mn and zinc were detected in <i>Origanum heracleoticum</i> L. and other plant leaves, and it could be cultivated on soils contaminated with heavy metal without contamination of the commercial product, essential oil	Zheljazkov et al. (2008)
Lavender	Cr	Phytoremediation performance can be limited by low plant production and low lavender species growth rate in these increasingly Cr-contaminated soils	Ali et al. (2013)

 Table 16.2 (continued)



Fig. 16.1 The representation of the interactome (interaction between genome, transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome with the environment in a given biological system). (Figure adapted from Tan et al. 2016) external metabolites. The objective of the survey consists of quantitative and qualitative information on the biological system investigated via its metabolites and is often employed as a supplementary method in the fields of genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics, because the measurement of these metabolites may be precise and sensitive (Tan et al. 2016).

The emphasis of the metabolome research on the metabolome typically defines the metabolome benefit of the entire collection of metabolites in a biological sample which are the end result of the expression of the gene where changes in the metabolome occur quickly at timescales of seconds or minutes, precisely representing the status of the biological process at a particular stage (Tan et al. 2016). Metabolites are small compounds that undergo chemical transformation throughout metabolism and, as a result, they serve as a functional readout of cellular state. Unlike genes and proteins, their activities serve as direct markers of biochemical activity and hence are simpler to connect with the phenotype. In this respect, metabolite (or metabolomics) profiling has now become a strong technique extensively used in clinical, agricultural, and environmental research and applications (Patti et al. 2012). Metabolomics has become a new area in biology promising to clarify the functional analysis of genes with unknown functions. Although the ideas of unbiased and unbiased cellular metabolite analysis have grown in parallel with hypothesis-led approach, methodological methods in the life sciences have drastically altered (Villas-Bôas and Bruheim 2007).

Currently, metabolomics approaches and technologies are of interest in a range of fields such as animal and human nutrition (Wang and Hu 2018; Di Renzo et al. 2019), medicinal prognosis and diagnosis of metabolic syndromes (Karczewski and Snyder 2018; Taware et al. 2020), toxicology (Viant et al. 2019), drug discovery (Wishart 2016), bioremediation (Singh 2006; Singh et al. 2008), (Desai et al. 2010) and phytoremediation (Zhang et al. 2019; Hedgespeth and Nichols 2019). Recent advances in plant physiology, biochemistry, and their ecology can be a good and significant terrain for metabolomics study, due to the fact that plants produce a huge number of metabolites than microorganisms and animals could, and the most important point is that plants secondary to metabolites are generally a response to the stress caused to the environment. Comprehending the metabolome alterations and the changes they bring to plant physiology. Thus, environmental metabolomics is a promising field and has plenty of space to apply its technology with enough power to understand plant behavior towards environmental and ecological factors.

The development of the analytical methods for metabolomical investigations, notably the mass spectrometry, enabled the fast screening concurrently of thousands of metabolites from any complicated biological sample and provided extremely valuable information about the metabolism of sampled live organisms. Because metabolites are the intermediates of biological processes, they serve a major role in enabling many distinct paths in the living cell. Consequently, the metabolite level in the cell or tissue provides integral cell function information and yet determines the cell or tissue's phenotype in respect to genetic and environmental changes (Villas-Bôas and Bruheim 2007).

However, the mass spectrometry does not stand alone in this scenario, and the use of already well-stabilized analytical technologies for chemical separation, like liquid chromatography (LC), gas chromatography (GC), capillary electrophoresis (CE), and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) for imaging metabolomics screening works, coupled to different kinds of mass spectrometers; in an association that works just fine for an accurate refinement in metabolomic studies when it is needed. Recent advances in devices, techniques, and software allow an integrated study of cellular and fluid metabolites without bias (Patti et al. 2012). The uses of such technologies have shown wide changes to unanticipated metabolites, which caused unforeseen changes in the metabolism-related disturbance paths, where many of these identified compounds are not included in the metabolite reposits and databases, indicating how inadequate the concept of metabolism has been till now (Baker 2011). To perform an accurate and reliable metabolomics analysis, it is fundamental to choose the best analytical(s) platform(s) possible, able to extract the maximum information from the biological samples and the experimental design, so in this way, will be possible to answer the experimental question which is the focus of the study. Then, for that we have to follow a set of essential rules stabilized to define, in order to construct a metabolomics line of work, as follows: (1) Define the experimental design; (2) A clear biological question defined; (3) Sample type and size; (4) The analytical platform to be used; (5) Confounding factors; (6) Sampling and the sample extraction(s) method(s); (7) Data analysis scenario(s); (8) Randomization; and (9) Validation methods.

The analytical technologies that surround the metabolomics studies provide two different lines of analysis, wherein some instances, it may be of interest to perform a targeted approach where it is possible to examine a predefined set of metabolites, and the possibility to measure the levels of each metabolite on the biological sample. Normally, targeted analysis is employed when the focus is one or more pathways of interest or even a specific metabolite that is part of the pathway of interest. Target analysis is usually motivated by particular biochemical concerns or hypotheses which are highly useful for drug metabolism pharmacokinetic investigations, for example (Patti et al. 2012). Advances in mass spectrometry and NMR offer advantages in performing targeted analysis due to their high specificity and quantitative reproducibility even in large-scale metabolomics studies. On the other hand, an untargeted metabolomics approach possesses a global extent workflow for simultaneously detecting as many metabolites as possible from any sample without bias, metabolomics profiling (or fingerprinting), which can be related to the global picture of the cellular metabolism. Untargeted approaches have been employed massively in metabolomics studies today due to their huge power of analysis, and this is because it can be performed using either NMR or newly mass spectrometry technologies (Time-of-Flight (TOF) and/or Triple Quadrupoles (QqQ)). The use of LC/ MS for an untargeted approach has been preferred for several studies nowadays, enabling the detection of thousands of peaks routinely even in high throughput studies (Nandania et al. 2018). Although targeted metabolomic findings do not show large file sizes, untarget metabolomics data sets have gigabyte file size per sample

in view of modern mass spectrometry devices with high resolution, making manual examination of thousands of peaks an impracticable and tedious task.

Albeit the handling in LC/MS instruments works with the concept of exact mass, minor issues usually occur, like the small deviations in retention time among samples as a consequence to column degradation, sample carryover, and variations on mobile phase pH and room temperature fluctuations. Recent progress in the past decade has been realized to surpass these obstacles in interpreting untargeted data sets, and now this task has become routine with the development of metabolomics softwares such as MetAlign, NOREVA, MZMine, and XCMS (Smith et al. 2006; Katajamaa et al. 2006; Lommen 2009; Yang et al. 2020). Despite the available analyzing software suites used for the untargeted approach being intuitive and complete to analyze gigabytes of the data, the metabolite identification is still an obstacle and a time-intensive process that represents a rate-limiting step of the untargeted metabolomics workflow. To identify the feature of interest, public databases like Human Metabolome Database (HMDB) (Wishart 2009) and METLIN (Smith et al. 2005) are freely available, yet the match in the database indicates just a potential metabolite assignment that must be verified by comparing certain data set characteristics such as retention time and the model compound MS/MS fragmentation pattern data, after ionization method of data acquisition information (if the analysis was taken on positive or negative ionization mode).

Once knowing the approach to be employed in the metabolomics study and the experimental design once set up, the next is choosing the analytical instrument(s), which must have some characteristics for analyzing extracted metabolites, whereas its reliability, high sensitivity, robustness, and the capacity to screen a large number of samples are essential features required for this purpose. Considerable advances in the technology of the instruments were realized so far, offering good choices for multiplatform analysis of complex biological samples, being that the most preferred instruments used for metabolomic analysis are the NMR spectroscopy, GC/MS, and LC/MS. Once an entire metabolome can be analyzed inside a single platform owing to a large dynamic and chemical range of biological low molecular-weight chemicals in biological mixtures (Patti et al. 2012). GC/MS is the most powerful and established analytical platform for analysis of very complex samples matrices such as those plant extracts, and this popularity is partly attributed to the possibility to detect a large number of molecules from a profiling metabolomics analysis, such as sugar-sugar alcohols, amino acids and organic acids, and others (Jorge et al. 2016; Beale et al. 2018).

Environmental conditions such as biotic and abiotic stress induce plants to produce specific classes of metabolites as polyols (mannitol and sorbitol), amino acids (glycine betaine), and carbohydrates (sucrose, trehalose, and fructan). Metabolites as proline and ectoine may be involved whether the plant is under high salt concentration, drought, and desiccation stresses, as osmolytes and osmoprotectant (Baharum and Azizan 2018). Fields such as plant physiology and plant biochemistry have increased their interests in metabolomics studies, where applications of metabolomics in plant studies and its response to environmental stress have become increasingly common. Among the several kinds of abiotics stresses that threaten plant growth worldwide (drought, temperature, salt, flooding, nutrient deficiency, heavy metals excess, and the lack of a few chemical elements), oxidative stress is probably the major limiting factor for plant growth. Its process occurs by overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), for example, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), superoxide (O^{2-}), and the single oxygen ($^{1}O_2$). We may assert here that oxidative stress can be caused by jointly several other abiotic stresses, like high sunlight, low temperature, drought, and salted environment. This procedure is caused by the constant ROS production by the plant cells as a by-product of aerobic metabolism even under nonstress conditions, and notably during photosynthesis, in mitochondria and peroxisomes in different biochemical processes, like photosynthesis or fatty acids b-oxidation. However, the cell antioxidant system is able to detoxify ROS via the ascorbate glutathione (GSH) cycle, maintaining in this way the redox status of the cells (Jorge et al. 2016; Ghatak et al. 2018).

Investigating metabolic variations under abiotic stresses may detect a different class of metabolites that could permit restoration or treatment of plant conditions to its homeostasis by normalizing the metabolic modifications caused by abiotic stresses. Many analytical instruments and tools, like NMR, LC/MS, and GC/MS, that work in synergy with metabolomics are employed to elucidate stress tolerance in plants; also, TOF-MS and QqQ for mass detecting technologies for example also provide the detection of hundreds or even thousands of metabolites from various types of samples or treatments (Ma et al. 2018; Guo et al. 2018). The conjunction between post-genomics tools with metabolomics approaches offers new possibilities to study plant physiology and ecology, taking into consideration their metabolism and their complex metabolic networks, where metabolomics is still very young, but with an extensive potential to grow in a complementary way with the other omics sciences (genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics). The forthcoming tools and applications for metabolomics, like identifying markers, may predict the nature and scale of abiotic/biotic stress, or even assist crop improvement programs with more resistant engineering species with better varieties. Moreover, metabolomics profiling of genome-edited plants that use the CRISPR/Cas9 system can be applied to understand the changes in the environment through the plant metabolome for example (Razzaq et al. 2019).

Lastly, metabolomics is the ideal platform that can be employed to identify and quantify small molecules which are present in plant complex samples and transformed into the data set information acquired through high precision instruments, like the mass spectrometry coupled to any chromatography system, and leading this information to the understanding of the environmental stimuli responsible to the living organism physiological and biochemical alterations. The finality of these approaches is their application to accelerate and improve plant adaptation strategies towards adverse environmental stresses worldwide (Ghatak et al. 2018). A promising use of the metabolomics tools would offer an improvement in the plant biology research nowadays, reminding its important role in monitoring soil, plants, and environmental characteristics and lacks, making also the procedure of phytoremediation more accessible to be employed by the governments and agriculture. At long

last, plant metabolomics is a field with an extensive demand for data mining, processing, and data evaluation, where its integration with even more precision bioinformatics tools could result in an excellent scenario for helping elucidate a comprehensive view of plant metabolome (Razzaq et al. 2019).

16.5 Advantages and Limitations of Phytoremediation

The advantages of phytoremediation (i.e., green technology and low costs) have led to high public acceptance; generally, these methods are considered esthetically pleasing and environmentally friendly management strategies for the remediation of contaminated soils (Ali et al. 2013). Phytoremediation is associated with effective, cost-efficient, and environmentally friendly rehabilitation strategies with using plants and correlated soil microorganisms to accumulate pollutants that are present in various contaminated environments. In addition, the technology's wide applicability enables to use it at sites not commonly remediated by any other methods. The benefits of using phytoremediation include application in situ, passive, 'green', solar-driven technology, ease of application, and suitability of a wide variety of metals, organic substances, and radionuclides. It also provides the benefit of eliminating secondary air or water-borne waste that can contribute to possible sources of human and environmental exposure. Furthermore, phytoremediation is used as an economically viable way to clean up pollutants in wastewater and sediments. It has prospective adaptability in treating a wide variety of potentially dangerous environmental contaminants. The main limitation on the clean-up of metal-contaminated soils is the long period required to adequately remediate the sites. Furthermore, the treatment is usually applied to soils within a few meters from both the surface and groundwater; the soil surface at the site can need to be changed to prevent erosion or flooding; contaminants can also enter the food chain by animals /insects that consume contaminated plant material (Mahar et al. 2016); the treatment is usually applicable to soils in a few meters of the surface and groundwater; climate or hydrological conditions will also limit the growth rate of plants that could be used, and soil modifications might be mandated. The remediation productivity can also be significantly affected by site characteristics including certain soil characteristics, combined contamination, and climatic conditions(Mendez and Maier 2008). Despite temperature conditions, vetiver needs to improve grass-based phytoremediation strategies around the nations specifically hot and cold countries. Generally, the aromatic plant of vetiver roots grows out leaves of soil that are sensitive to soil erosion and rippling due to being broad and reaches the ground deeply. Hence, in order to avoid unregulated cultivation, adequate vigilance is required. However, the low yield of plants as well as the low growth rate of lavender species under such heavily contaminated soil may limit its phytoremediation. Interestingly, phytoremediation performance can be limited by low plant production and low lavender species growth rate in these increasingly Cr-contaminated soils. The study of effectiveness and comparison with emerging technologies is notably still needed to assess the different proportions of phytoremediation over the remediation industry as well as the potential for marketing. In order to enhance the phytoremediation of polluted areas, the targeted plants should be perpetual to nature and sensitive of environmental and strategic value, and harvestable. However, the environmental factors, particularly low plant productivity especially implanting to planting, in other words planting season and growth stages, together with bioavailability and bioaccessibility of heavy metal ions present in the soil, will prolong the removal time (Ali et al. 2013). Although phytoremediation is a rather cost-effective approach for cleaning up contaminated land, even more, validation verification field conditions and cost comparisons were also required to enable effective task cost estimates and site-specific process feasibility.

16.6 Prospects and Conclusion

The rise in the heavy industry associated with global growth during the last decade has accelerated the release into the ecosystem of chemical materials. The plants have been documented very frequently for generating different endophyte microbial communities which can be very successful in improving the efficiency of extracting contaminants from plant species. In addition, the use of aromatic plants requires additional benefits like biodiversity resources for both farmers and society than traditional methods used throughout phytoremediation. Research nowadays should concentrate on heavy metals-induced signal transduction pathways as they can be used through signal components that could really help to better understand metal homeostasis; certain environmental stresses will also be exhibited. Advancements including the use of chelating agents, transgenic, and soil modifications may also be effective ways of overcoming the limitations (Zahedifar et al. 2016; Patra et al. 2018b). A new era of "integrative-omics" has enabled the development and effective implementation of smart remediation methods. However, effective statistical methods and bioinformatics tools are still required to understand and handle the enormous data produced by these "-omics" techniques. Recent advances in microbial biodegradation and/or biotransformation have a huge effect on our attempts to keep industrialized society clean. In general, techniques to improve the efficiency of phytoremediation include practical challenges in large-scale applications, predominantly resulting from increased costs and potential environmental risks like leaching, which hinder the commercial deployment of these methods (Mahar et al. 2016). The comprehensive and detailed investigations are needed to optimize processes that understand the problems of plant-pollutant interactions and means of proper disposal with minimal environmental damage. In addition, the use of advanced molecular methods and the production of transgenic plants with intensified phytoremediation performance are growing wide acceptance; genetic modification is indeed considered to play an increasing role in strengthening the applicability of phytoremediation developments.

Acknowledgments The authors are thankful for Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES)-Brazil and Drug Research and Development Centre (NPDM), Federal University of Ceará (UFC), Fortaleza, Brazil.

References

- Abbaslou H, Bakhtiari S, Hashemi SS (2018) Rehabilitation of iron ore mine soil contaminated with heavy metals using rosemary phytoremediation-assisted mycorrhizal arbuscular fungi bioaugmentation and fibrous clay mineral immobilization. Iranian J Sci Technol Trans A: Sci 42:431–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40995-018-0543-7
- Afonso M da L da R, Franco J do A (2013) Nova flora de Portugal: (continente e Açores)
- Ali H, Khan E, Sajad MA (2013) Phytoremediation of heavy metals—concepts and applications. Chemosphere 91:869–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.075
- Ali H, Khan E, Ilahi I (2019) Environmental chemistry and ecotoxicology of hazardous heavy metals: environmental persistence, toxicity, and bioaccumulation. J Chem 2019:1–14. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2019/6730305
- Amirmoradi S, Moghaddam PR, Koocheki A et al (2012) Effect of cadmium and Lead on quantitative and essential oil traits of peppermint (Mentha piperita L.). Notulae Sci Biol 4:101–109. https://doi.org/10.15835/nsb448185
- Angelova V, Grekov D, Kisyov V, Ivanov K (2015) Potential of lavender (Lavandula vera L.) for phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals. Int J Agric Biosyst Eng 9:465–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-10395-2_10
- Angelova VR, Ivanova RV, Todorov GM, Ivanov KI (2016) Potential of Salvia sclarea L. for phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals. Int J Agric Biosyst Eng 10:780–790. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.1127523
- Arshad M, Merlina G, Uzu G et al (2016) Phytoavailability of lead altered by two pelargonium cultivars grown on contrasting lead-spiked soils. J Soils Sediments 16:581–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-015-1248-6
- Badejo AA, Omole DO, Ndambuki JM (2018) Municipal wastewater management using Vetiveria zizanioides planted in vertical flow constructed wetland. Appl Water Sci 8:110. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13201-018-0756-0
- Baharum SN, Azizan KA (2018) Metabolomics in. Sys Bio pp: 51-68
- Baker M (2011) Metabolomics: from small molecules to big ideas. Nat Methods 8:117–121. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth0211-117
- Banerjee R, Goswami P, Pathak K, Mukherjee A (2016) Vetiver grass: an environment clean-up tool for heavy metal contaminated iron ore mine-soil. Ecol Eng 90:25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoleng.2016.01.027
- Baptista R, Madureira AM, Jorge R et al (2015) Antioxidant and Antimycotic activities of two native Lavandula species from Portugal. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2015:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/570521
- Beale DJ, Pinu FR, Kouremenos KA et al (2018) Review of recent developments in GC-MS approaches to metabolomics-based research. Springer
- Bigagli E, Cinci L, D'Ambrosio M, Luceri C (2017) Pharmacological activities of an eye drop containing Matricaria chamomilla and Euphrasia officinalis extracts in UVB-induced oxidative stress and inflammation of human corneal cells. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 173:618–625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2017.06.031
- Bozdogan Sert E, Turkmen M, Cetin M (2019) Heavy metal accumulation in rosemary leaves and stems exposed to traffic-related pollution near Adana-İskenderun highway (Hatay, Turkey). Environ Monit Assess 191:553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-019-7714-7

- Brandão YKFS (2016) Tolerância e Potencial Fitorremediador De Lippia gracilis Schauer em Substrato Contaminado Com ChumboTolerância e Potencial Fitorremediador De Lippia gracilis Schauer em Substrato Contaminado Com Chumbo. Universidade do estado do Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil
- Carrubba A, La Torre R, Piccaglia R, Marotti M (2002) Characterization of an Italian biotype of clary sage (Salvia sclarea L.) grown in a semi-arid Mediterranean environment. Flavour Fragr J 17:191–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.1080
- Chand S, Singh S, Singh VK, Patra DD (2015) Utilization of heavy metal-rich tannery sludge for sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) cultivation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:7470–7475. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4446-2
- Chand S, Singh G, Patra DD (2016) Performance of rose scented geranium (Pelargonium graveolens) in heavy metal polluted soil Vis-à-Vis phytoaccumulation of metals. Int J Phytoremediation 18:754–760. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2015.1131236
- Chrysargyris A, Papakyriakou E, Petropoulos SA, Tzortzakis N (2019) The combined and single effect of salinity and copper stress on growth and quality of Mentha spicata plants. J Hazard Mater 368:584–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.01.058
- Cristaldi, A., Conti, G. O., Jho, E. H., Zuccarello, P., Grasso, A., Copat, C., & Ferrante, M. (2017). Phytoremediation of contaminated soils by heavy metals and PAHs. A brief review. Environ Tech & Inno, 8, 309–326
- Das M, Maiti SK (2009) Growth of cymbopogon citratus and vetiveria zizanioides on cu mine tailings amended with chicken manure and manure-soil mixtures: a pot scale study. Int J Phytoremediation 11:651–663. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510802568547
- Datta R, Das P, Smith S et al (2013) Phytoremediation potential of vetiver grass [Chrysopogon Zizanioides (L.)] for tetracycline. Int J Phytoremediation 15:343–351. https://doi.org/10.108 0/15226514.2012.702803
- Desai C, Pathak H, Madamwar D (2010) Advances in molecular and "-omics" technologies to gauge microbial communities and bioremediation at xenobiotic/anthropogen contaminated sites. Bioresour Technol 101:1558–1569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.080
- Di Renzo L, Gualtieri P, Romano L et al (2019) Role of personalized nutrition in chronicdegenerative diseases. Nutrients 11:1–24. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11081707
- Dimayuga RE (2004) Medicinal and aromatic plants—industrial profiles, Vol 27: geranium and pelargonium. Phytomedicine 11:704–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2004.06.006
- Dinu C, Vasile G-G, Buleandra M et al (2020) Translocation and accumulation of heavy metals in Ocimum basilicum L. plants grown in a mining-contaminated soil. J Soils Sediments 20:2141–2154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-019-02550-
- Dunn WB (2011) Mass spectrometry in systems biology, pp 15-35
- Džamić A, Soković M, Ristić M et al (2008) Chemical composition and antifungal activity of Salvia sclarea (Lamiaceae) essential oil. Arch Biol Sci 60:233–237. https://doi.org/10.2298/ ABS0802233D
- Faleiro L, Miguel G, Gomes S et al (2005) Antibacterial and antioxidant activities of essential oils isolated from Thymbra capitata L. (Cav.) and Origanum vulgare L. J Agric Food Chem 53:8162–8168. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0510079
- Fattahi B, Arzani K, Souri MK, Barzegar M (2019) Effects of cadmium and lead on seed germination, morphological traits, and essential oil composition of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.). Ind Crop Prod 138:111584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.111584
- Figueiredo AC, Pedro LG, Barroso JG, et al (2014) Lavandula luisieri (Rozeira) Rivas-Martínez e Lavandula pedunculata (Mill.) Cav. Agrotec 38–41
- Filip S, Pavlić B, Vidović S et al (2017) Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction of polyphenolic compounds from Ocimum basilicum by response surface methodology. Food Anal Methods 10:2270–2280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-017-0792-7
- Flora do Brasil (2019) Flora do Brasil 2020. In: Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro
- Forzza RC, Baumgratz JFA, Bicudo CEM et al (2012) New Brazilian floristic list highlights conservation challenges. Bioscience 62:39–45. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.1.8

- Gautam M, Agrawal M (2017) Influence of metals on essential oil content and composition of lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Stapf.) grown under different levels of red mud in sewage sludge amended soil. Chemosphere 175:315–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.02.065
- Gautam M, Pandey D, Agrawal M (2017) Phytoremediation of metals using lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Stapf.) grown under different levels of red mud in soil amended with biowastes. Int J Phytoremediation 19:555–562. https://doi.org/10.1080/1522651 4.2016.1267701
- Ghatak A, Chaturvedi P, Weckwerth W (2018) Metabolomics in plant stress physiology, pp 187-236
- Gomes SVF, Nogueira PCL, Moraes VRS (2011) Aspectos químicos e biológicos do gênero Lippia enfatizando Lippia gracilis schauer. Ecletica Quim 36:64–77. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S0100-46702011000100005
- Guo R, Shi L, Jiao Y et al (2018) Metabolic responses to drought stress in the tissues of droughttolerant and drought-sensitive wheat genotype seedlings. AoB PLANTS 10:1–13. https://doi. org/10.1093/aobpla/ply016
- Hasanpour R, Zaefarian F, Rezvani M, Jalili B (2019) Potential of Mentha aquatica L., Eryngium caucasicum Trautv. And Froriepia subpinnata Ledeb. For phytoremediation of cd-contaminated soil. Rev Bras Bot 42:399–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40415-019-00550-1
- Hayet E, Fatma B, Souhir I et al (2007) Antibacterial and cytotoxic activity of the acetone extract of the flowers of Salvia sclarea and some natural products. Pak J Pharm Sci 20:146–148
- Hedgespeth ML, Nichols EG (2019) Expanding phytoremediation to the realms of known and unknown organic chemicals of concern. Int J Phytoremediation 21:1385–1396. https://doi. org/10.1080/15226514.2019.1633265
- Jha AK, Kumar U (2017) Studies on removal of heavy metals by cymbopogon flexuosus. Int J Agric Environ Biotechnol 10:89. https://doi.org/10.5958/2230-732X.2017.00017.1
- Jorge TF, Rodrigues JA, Caldana C et al (2016) Mass spectrometry-based plant metabolomics: metabolite responses to abiotic stress. Mass Spectrom Rev 35:620–649. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mas.21449
- Karczewski KJ, Snyder MP (2018) Integrative omics for health and disease. Nat Rev Genet 19:299–310. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2018.4
- Katajamaa M, Miettinen J, Oresic M (2006) MZmine: toolbox for processing and visualization of mass spectrometry based molecular profile data. Bioinformatics 22:634–636. https://doi. org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btk039
- Keshtkar AR, Ahmadi MR, Naseri HR, et al (2016) Application of a vetiver system for unconventional water treatment. Desalin Water Treat 57:25474–25483. https://doi.org/10.1080/1944399 4.2016.1157043
- Khair KU, Farid M, Ashraf U et al (2020) Citric acid enhanced phytoextraction of nickel (Ni) and alleviate Mentha piperita (L.) from Ni-induced physiological and biochemical damages. Environ Sci Pollut Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08978-9
- Kunwar G, Pande C, Tewari G et al (2015) Effect of heavy metals on Terpenoid composition of Ocimum basilicum L. and Mentha spicata L. J Essential Oil Bearing Plants 18:818–825. https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2014.935091
- Lee LY, Lee XJ, Chia PC et al (2014) Utilisation of Cymbopogon citratus (lemon grass) as biosorbent for the sequestration of nickel ions from aqueous solution: equilibrium, kinetic, thermodynamics and mechanism studies. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 45:1764–1772. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtice.2014.02.002
- Lermen C, Morelli F, Gazim ZC et al (2015) Essential oil content and chemical composition of Cymbopogon citratus inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under different levels of lead. Ind Crop Prod 76:734–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.07.009
- Levizou E, Zanni AA, Antoniadis V (2019) Varying concentrations of soil chromium (VI) for the exploration of tolerance thresholds and phytoremediation potential of the oregano (Origanum vulgare). Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:14–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-2658-y

- Lommen A (2009) MetAlign: Interface-driven, versatile metabolomics tool for hyphenated fullscan mass spectrometry data preprocessing. Anal Chem 81:3079–3086. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac900036d
- Ma NL, Che Lah WA, Abd. Kadir N et al (2018) Susceptibility and tolerance of rice crop to salt threat: physiological and metabolic inspections. PLoS One 13:e0192732. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192732
- Mahar A, Wang P, Ali A et al (2016) Challenges and opportunities in the phytoremediation of heavy metals contaminated soils: a review. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 126:111–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.12.023
- Maharjan A, Pradhanang S (2017) Potential of Vetiver Grass for Wastewater Treatment. Environ Ecol Res 5:489–494. https://doi.org/10.13189/eer.2017.050704
- Masinire FF, Adenuga DO, Tichapondwa SM, Chirwa EMN (2020) Remediation of Chromium(VI) containing wastewater using Chrysopogon zizanioides (Vetiver Grass). Chem Eng Trans 79: https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2079065
- Maitti D, Prasad B (2017) Studies on colonisation of fly ash disposal sites using invasive species and aromatic grasses. J Environ Eng Landsc Manag 25:251–263. https://doi.org/10.384 6/16486897.2016.1231114
- Manisalidis I, Stavropoulou E, Stavropoulos A, Bezirtzoglou E (2020) Environmental and health impacts of air pollution: a review. Front Public Health 8:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpubh.2020.00014
- Mann C, Staba EJ (1986) The chemistry, pharmacology, and commercial formulations of chamomile. Herbs, spices, and medicinal plants: recent advances in botany, horticulture, and pharmacology (USA) v. 1
- Matos FJ de A (2007) Plantas medicinais: guia de seleção e emprego de plantas usadas em fitoterapia no Nordeste do Brasil
- Mendez MO, Maier RM (2008) Phytoremediation of mine tailings in temperate and arid environments. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 7:47–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-007-9125-4
- Nandania J, Peddinti G, Pessia A et al (2018) Validation and automation of a high-throughput multitargeted method for Semiquantification of endogenous metabolites from different biological matrices using tandem mass spectrometry. Meta 8:44. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo8030044
- Oliveira DR, Leitão GG, Bizzo HR et al (2007) Chemical and antimicrobial analyses of essential oil of Lippia origanoides H.B.K. Food Chem 101:236–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2006.01.022
- Oliveira JR, Camargo SEA, de Oliveira LD (2019) Rosmarinus officinalis L. (rosemary) as therapeutic and prophylactic agent. J Biomed Sci 26:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0499-8
- Panda D, Panda D, Padhan B, Biswas M (2018) Growth and physiological response of lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Stapf.) under different levels of fly ash-amended soil. Int J Phytoremediation 20:538–544. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2017.1393394
- Pandey VC, Singh N (2015) Aromatic plants versus arsenic hazards in soils. J Geochem Explor 157:77–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2015.05.017
- Pandey J, Chand S, Pandey S et al (2015) Palmarosa [Cymbopogon martinii (Roxb.) wats.] as a putative crop for phytoremediation, in tannery sludge polluted soil. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 122:296–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.08.005
- Pandey VC, Rai A, Korstad J (2019) Aromatic crops in phytoremediation. Phytomanagement of Polluted Sites. Elsevier, In, pp 255–275
- Pandey AK, Kumar P, Saxena MJ, Maurya P (2020) Distribution of aromatic plants in the world and their properties. In: Feed additives. Elsevier, pp 89–114
- Pascual ME, Slowing K, Carretero E et al (2001) Lippia: traditional uses, chemistry and pharmacology: a review. J Ethnopharmacol 76:201–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-8741(01)00234-3
- Patra DK, Pradhan C, Patra HK (2018a) An in situ study of growth of lemongrass Cymbopogon flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) W. Watson on varying concentration of chromium (Cr+6) on soil and its bioaccumulation: perspectives on phytoremediation potential and phytostabilisation of chromium toxicity. Chemosphere 193:793–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.11.062

- Patra DK, Pradhan C, Patra HK (2018b) Chelate based phytoremediation study for attenuation of chromium toxicity stress using lemongrass: Cymbopogon flexuosus (nees ex steud.) W. Watson Int J Phytoremed 20:1324–1329. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2018.1488812
- Patti GJ, Yanes O, Siuzdak G (2012) Innovation: metabolomics: the apogee of the omics trilogy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13:263–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3314
- Pohlit AM, Lopes NP, Gama RA et al (2011) Patent literature on mosquito repellent inventions which contain plant essential oils - a review. Planta Med 77:598–617. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0030-1270723
- Prapagdee B, Khonsue N (2015) Bacterial-assisted cadmium phytoremediation by Ocimum gratissimum L. in polluted agricultural soil: a field trial experiment. Int J Environ Sci Technol 12:3843–3852. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-015-0816-z
- Rao BRR (2001) Biomass and essential oil yields of rainfed palmarosa (Cymbopogon martinii (Roxb.) Wats. Var. motia Burk.) supplied with different levels of organic manure and fertilizer nitrogen in semi-arid tropical climate. Ind Crop Prod 14:171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0926-6690(01)00081-4
- Razzaq A, Sadia B, Raza A et al (2019) Metabolomics: a way forward for crop improvement. Meta 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo9120303
- Sairam RK, Tyagi A (2004) Physiology and molecular biology of salinity stress tolerance in plants. Curr Sci 86:407–421
- Samy RP, Thwin MM, Gopalakrishnakone P, Ignacimuthu S (2008) Ethnobotanical survey of folk plants for the treatment of snakebites in Southern part of Tamilnadu, India. J Ethnopharmacol 115:302–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2007.10.006
- Sanjay G, Janmejai K, Srivastava ES (2010) Chamomile: a herbal medicine of the past with a bright future (review). Mol Med Rep 3:1–6. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2010.377
- Satyal P, Jones T, Lopez E et al (2017) Chemotypic characterization and biological activity of Rosmarinus officinalis. Foods 6:20. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6030020
- Seroja R, Effendi H, Hariyadi S (2018) Tofu wastewater treatment using vetiver grass (Vetiveria zizanioides) and zeliac. Appl Water Sci 8:2. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-018-0640-y https:// doi.org/10.3390/foods6030020
- Shan-an H, Zhong-ming C (1991) The role of Chinese botanical gardens in conservation of medicinal plants. In: Conservation of medicinal plants. Cambridge University Press, pp 229–238
- Shiva MP (2011) Inventory of forestry resources for sustainable management and biodiversity conservation. Indus Publishing Company, pp 1–16
- Siddiqui F, Krishna SK, Tandon PK, Srivastava S (2013) Arsenic accumulation in Ocimum spp. and its effect on growth and oil constituents. Acta Physiol Plant 35:1071–1079. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11738-012-1145-1
- Singh OV (2006) Proteomics and metabolomics: the molecular make-up of toxic aromatic pollutant bioremediation. Proteomics 6:5481–5492. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200600200
- Singh S, Kang SH, Mulchandani A, Chen W (2008) Bioremediation: environmental clean-up through pathway engineering. Curr Opin Biotechnol 19:437–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. copbio.2008.07.012
- Singh G, Pankaj U, Ajayakumar PV, Verma RK (2020) Phytoremediation of sewage sludge by Cymbopogon martinii (Roxb.) Wats. Var. motia Burk. Grown under soil amended with varying levels of sewage sludge. Int J Phytoremediation 22:540–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/1522651 4.2019.1687422
- Smith CA, Maille GO, Want EJ et al (2005) METLIN. Ther Drug Monit 27:747–751. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.ftd.0000179845.53213.39
- Smith CA, Want EJ, O'Maille G et al (2006) XCMS: processing mass spectrometry data for metabolite profiling using nonlinear peak alignment, matching, and identification. Anal Chem 78:779–787. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac051437y
- Souza EL, Stamford TLM, Lima EO, Trajano VN (2007) Effectiveness of Origanum vulgare L. essential oil to inhibit the growth of food spoiling yeasts. Food Control 18:409–413. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2005.11.008

- Stancheva I, Geneva M, Boychinova M et al (2014) Physiological response of foliar fertilized Matricaria recutita L. grown on industrially polluted soil. J Plant Nutr 37:1952–1964. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01904167.2014.911891
- Suelee AL, Hasan SNMS, Kusin FM et al (2017) Phytoremediation potential of vetiver grass (Vetiveria zizanioides) for treatment of metal-contaminated water. Water Air Soil Pollut 228:158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-017-3349-x
- Tajkarimi MM, Ibrahim SA, Cliver DO (2010) Antimicrobial herb and spice compounds in food. Food Control 21:1199–1218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2010.02.003
- Tan SZ, Begley P, Mullard G et al (2016) Introduction to metabolomics and its applications in ophthalmology. Eye (Basingstoke) 30:773–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/eye.2016.37
- Taware R, Taunk K, Kumar TVS et al (2020) Extracellular volatilomic alterations induced by hypoxia in breast cancer cells. Metabolomics 16:21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-020-1635-x
- Teixeira B, Marques A, Ramos C et al (2013) Chemical composition and bioactivity of different oregano (Origanum vulgare) extracts and essential oil. J Sci Food Agric 93:2707–2714. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.6089
- Tommasi L, Negro C, Miceli A, Mazzotta F (2009) Antimicrobial activity of essential oils from aromatic plants grown in the Mediterranean area. J Essent Oil Res 21:185–189. https://doi. org/10.1080/10412905.2009.9700143
- Truong P, H BHMEC (2001) Vetiver System For Wastewater Treatment. Pacific Rim Vetiver Netw Tech Bull.
- Verma SK, Singh K, Gupta AK et al (2014) Aromatic grasses for phytomanagement of coal fly ash hazards. Ecol Eng 73:425–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.106
- Viant MR, Ebbels TMD, Beger RD et al (2019) Use cases, best practice and reporting standards for metabolomics in regulatory toxicology. Nat Commun 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-10900-y
- Villas-Bôas SG, Bruheim P (2007) The potential of metabolomics tools in bioremediation studies. OMICS: J Integr Biol 11:305–313. https://doi.org/10.1089/omi.2007.0005
- Voyslavov T, Georgieva S, Arpadjan S, Tsekova K (2013) Phytoavailability assessment of cadmium and lead in polluted soils and accumulation by Matricaria chamomilla (chamomile). Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 27:3939–3943. https://doi.org/10.5504/BBEQ.2013.0038
- Wang DD, Hu FB (2018) Precision nutrition for prevention and management of type 2 diabetes. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 6:416–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30037-8
- Wishart DS (2009) Computational strategies for metabolite identification in metabolomics. Bioanalysis 1:1579–1596. https://doi.org/10.4155/bio.09.138
- Wishart DS (2016) Emerging applications of metabolomics in drug discovery and precision medicine. Nat Rev Drug Discov 15:473–484. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2016.32
- Yadav A, Chanotiya CS, Singh AK (2010) Terpenoid compositions and enantio-differentiation of linalool and sclareol in salvia sclarea l. from three different climatic regions in India. J Essent Oil Res. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2010.9700406
- Yang Q, Wang Y, Zhang Y et al (2020) NOREVA: enhanced normalization and evaluation of timecourse and multi-class metabolomic data. Nucleic Acids Res 48:W436–W448. https://doi. org/10.1093/nar/gkaa258
- Ye L-L, Chen Y-S, Chen Y-D et al (2020) Phytomanagement of a chromium-contaminated soil by a high-value plant: Phytostabilization of heavy metal contaminated sites. Bioresources 15(2):3545–3565
- Zahedifar M, Moosavi AA, Shafigh M et al (2016) Cadmium accumulation and partitioning in Ocimum basilicum as influenced by the application of various potassium fertilizers. Arch Agron Soil Sci 62:663–673. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2015.1074187
- Zhang Z-HH, Zhou T, Tang T-JJ et al (2019) A multiomics approach reveals the pivotal role of subcellular reallocation in determining rapeseed resistance to cadmium toxicity. J Exp Bot 70:5437–5455. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz295
- Zheljazkov VD, Jeliazkova EA, Kovacheva N, Dzhurmanski A (2008) Metal uptake by medicinal plant species grown in soils contaminated by a smelter. Environ Exp Bot 64:207–216. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2008.07.003

Index

A

ABA-responsive elements (ABRE), 156 Abiotic stress, 199, 202, 204, 208, 210, 224 Abiotic stress response in Arabidopsis thaliana AP2/ERF family, 159 basic region/leucine zipper family, 156 calcium sensor family, 164 core gene cluster downregulated, 152 core gene cluster upregulated, 152 functional enrichments, 155 GAI, RGA, SCR family, 162 gene networks, 153 gene ontology analysis, 154 homeodomain leucine zipper family, 157 HSFs, 161 myeloblastosis family, 159 NAM, ATAF, and CUC family, 161 protein networks, 153 type B ARRs family, 163 WRKY family, 160 zinc finger protein family, 157 Abiotic stress tolerance in crops, 76-79 Abiotic stress tolerance in plants drought, 259, 260, 262 heavy metal tolerance, 269 high-temperature tolerance cellular and metabolic responses, 263 global warming, 262 HSP, 263, 264 low-temperature tolerance barley proteome analysis, 266, 267 changes in genes expression, 265 rice proteome analysis, 267, 268

wheat proteome analysis, 266 salinity stress tolerance, 270, 271 Abscisic acid (ABA), 98 Actinidia arguta, 137 Adult plant resistance (APR), 107 Agrobacterium tumefaciens, 225 Amino acids QTLs for, 319-322 Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), 106 Amylopectin macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 370 Amylose macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 370 Anthocyanins, 333 Aquaporins, 262 Arabidopsis, 35, 74 Arabidopsis thaliana, 355 Arabidopsis thaliana, abiotic stresses AP2/ERF family, 159 B3 domain family, 158 basic region/leucine zipper family, 156 bioinformatic studies, 151 abiotic stress conditions, 151 abiotic stress response gene networks, 153 abiotic stress response protein networks, 153 core gene cluster downregulated, 152 core gene cluster upregulated, 152 functional enrichments, 155 gene ontology analysis, 154 calcium sensor family, 164

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7 Arabidopsis thaliana, abiotic stresses (cont.) future prospects, 165 GAI family, 162 homeodomain leucine zipper, 157 HSFs, 161 myeloblastosis family, 159 NAM, ATAF, and CUC families, 161 RGA family, 162 SCR family, 162 type B ARRs family, 163 WRKY family, 160 zinc finger proteins, 157 Aromatic plants for phytoremediation, 387, 388 basil, 392 Chamomile, 394 Cymbopogon, 388, 390 Cymbopogon martini, 395 geranium, 393 Lavandula, 396, 397 Lippia, 397 Mentha Genus, 393, 394 Origanum, 398 rosemary, 394, 395 Sage, 395, 396 vetiver grass, 390, 391 phytoremediation-OMICS technology, 386 medicinal and aromatic plant species, 387 Artificial intelligence, 103, 104 in phenomics, 246 Asia-Pacific Plant Phenotyping Conference (APPP), 244 AtGenExpress global stress expression dataset, 151 AtMYB44, 160 Atted II, 151 Auxin, 98

B

Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.), 266, 334
Base editing, 303
Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST), 186
Basic region/leucine zipper family (bZIP), 156
Basil, 392
Bayesian networks, 246
BBX31-HY5 interaction, 163
Bean yellow dwarf virus (BeYDV), 10
Benson–Calvin cycle, 268
Betula platyphylla (birch), 260
Big data, 249
Biofuel manufacturing, 229 Biological data, 186 BioNano genomics, 181 Biotic stress, 204 artificial intelligence, 103 bacterial and fungal pathogens, 95 bioinformatics tools for, 103 breeding for resistant varieties, 100 challenges and opportunities, 99 data integration, 105 generations of sequencers, 101 genomics, 101 genomics in biotic stress tolerance, 106.107 impact on crop production and productivity, 95, 96 online resources, 105 plant defence responses to, 96, 97 transcriptomics, 102 transcriptomics in biotic stress tolerance, 108, 114 defence regulatory genes, 114 disease-resistant gene, 108 functional markers, 115 long non-coding RNAs, 114 microRNAs, 114 susceptibility gene, 114 viral pathogens, 95 vield losses, 96 Biotic stress tolerance, 99, 106-108, 115 Biotic stressors, 94, 95, 99 Bna MAXI, 7 Boron (B) macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 369 macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 361, 362 Botrytis cinerea, 159 Brassica juncea, 357 Brassica napus, 216, 248, 362 Brassinosteroids (BRs), 98 Breeding targets, 182 Bulked segregant analysis (BSA), 115 Bulked segregant analysis-RNA-Seq (BSR-Seq), 115

С

Ca²⁺-binding proteins, 164 Ca²⁺-dependent kinases (CDPKs), 98 Cadmium macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 369 Calcineurin B-like proteins (CBL), 164 Calcium (Ca)

Index

macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 362 Calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs), 164.261 Calcium sensor family, 164 Calcium-triggered protein phosphorylation, 261 Calmodulin (CaM), 98, 164 Camelina sativa, 159 CaM-like proteins (CMLs), 98 Carbon-based nanoparticles, 216 Carbon quantum dots (CD), 216 Cas12. 5 Cas13, 5, 6 Cas9.3 use of. 8, 10, 11 Cas-database, 178 cDNA library, 102 Cellular cDNA libraries, 44 Cereals crops, changing climate maize, 60, 61 rice, 61, 62 wheat, 62, 63 grain quality improvement, 316, 317 amino acids and grain protein content, QTLs for, 319-322 barley, 334 commercial varieties with improved nutritional value, 322, 323 CRISPR/ Cas9, 328-330 CRISPR/Cas, 330 genome editing, 323 genomic regions/OTLs, 317 iron and zinc content, OTLs for, 318.322 maize, 330, 331 pro-vitamin A, OTLs for, 317 rice, 332, 333 sorghum, 327, 335 TALENs, 325, 326, 328 wheat, 334 zinc finger nucleases, 324 Chamomile, 394 Charge-coupled device (CCD), 28 Chlorophyll, 216, 221, 228 Chloroplast, 224 Chloroplast factory, 225 CHOPCHOP V3, 180 Ciprofloxacin (CIP), 391 Cis-regulatory elements (CREs), 184 Climate change, 150 on food crops, 59, 60 maize, 60, 61

pulses, 63-66 rice, 61, 62 vegetables, 60 wheat, 62, 63 Cn3D tool, 187 Coeliac disease (CD), 334 Cold-responsive proteins, 268 Computational tools, 174, 175, 186 Conventional breeding, 94, 100, 115 Conventional phenomics, 241 Conventional QTL mapping approaches, 128 COST Action FA1306 projects, 244 Coverage-based consensus calling (CbCC), 131 Cpf1 systems, variants and orthologs of, 302 Cpf1-database, 178 CRISPOR 4.99, 180 CRISPR. 3 CRISPR/Cas9, 328-330 cereals, grain quality improvement, 328-330 CRISPR/Cas. 330 CRISPR/Cas system, 129 CRISPR/Cas technology application, 280 classes and types, 280 CRISPRi, 280 delivery approaches, 281 limitations and challenges, 281, 282 modes of delivery approaches, 282 nonviral delivery modes critical challenges, 288, 289 gold NPs, 288 lipid NPs, 285-287 polymeric NPs, 287 repertories and NPs for vector delivery system, 283 viral delivery modes, 284 CRISPR/Cas9, 3 CRISPR/Cas9 approach genome editing by, 69, 70 CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing databases Cas-database, 178 CHOPCHOP V3, 180 Cpf1-Database, 178 CRISPOR 4.99, 180 CRISPR-Local, 179 GuidePro, 179 MultiGuideScan, 179 PAVOOC, 180 **SWISS**, 180 synergizing CRISPR, 179 use of, 177

CRISPR/Cas9 technology, 365 CRISPR/CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9) tool. 132 CRISPR-associated complex for antiviral defense (CASCADE), 280 CRISPR-based genome editing system, limitations of, 12 CRISPR-Cas genome editing, 226 CRISPR-Cas system, 299, 300 base editing, 303 Cpf1 systems, variants and orthologs of, 302 CRISPR-Cpf1 system, 302 SpCas, mechanistic features of, 301 variants and orthologs SpCas9 systems, 301 CRISPR-Cpf1 System, 302 CRISPR interference (CRISPRi) technology, 280 CRISPR revolution, 4 Cas12. 5 Cas13. 5. 6 crop domestication, 10, 12 disease-resistant cultivars development, 8, 10, 11 SpCas9 protein, 4, 5 for yield and quality improvement, 6-10 Crop breeding system, 125, 127, 133-135 Crop editing CREs, 184 crop phenotyping, 184, 185 databases and bioinformatics tools in. 186 functional annotation and crop genomics, 185 objectives for genome editing of crops plants, 188 omics approaches, 187 Crop genome assemblies, 180 Crop improvement omics approaches for, 70, 71 genomic approach, 71, 72 ionomic approach, 75, 76 phenomic approach, 75 proteomic and metabolomic approaches, 73-75 transcriptomic approach, 72, 73 Crop improvement, modern breeding approaches for, 63, 67 Crop phenotyping, 184, 185 Crop plants genome editing technologies, mechanisms, 296 CRISPR-Cas System, 299-303

engineering plant biotic stress resistance, 307 enhanced produce quality, 306 plant abiotic stress resilience, 306, 307 transcription activator-like effector nucleases, 298, 299 yield traits, improvement of, 304, 306 zinc finger nucleases, 297 Crops abiotic stress tolerance in, 76-79 changing climate, impacts of, 59, 60 maize, 60, 61 pulses, 63-66 rice, 61, 62 vegetables, 60 wheat, 62, 63 conventional breeding vs novel approaches CRISPR/Cas9 approach, genome editing by, 69, 70 crop improvement, modern breeding approaches for, 63, 67 high-throughput marker genotyping technology, 68 next-generation sequencing technology, genome applications by, 67, 68 crop improvement, omics approaches for, 70, 71 genomic approach, 71, 72 ionomic approach, 75, 76 phenomic approach, 75 proteomic and metabolomic approaches, 73-75 transcriptomic approach, 72, 73 multi-omics approaches, for strategic improvements, 58, 59 Cryobionomics, 199, 207 Cryopreservation, 199, 207 Cymbopogon, 388, 390 Cymbopogon citratus (C. citratus), 388 Cymbopogon martini, 395 Cysteine, 357 Cytokinins (CK), 98 Cytoplasm trafficking, 269

D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 98 Database management system, 186 Databases CRISPR/Cas9 (*see* CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing databases) integrated crop databases, 175 sequence databases, 189

structure databases, 189 web links, 176 Dead Cas9 (dCas9) protein, 280 Deep learning, 241, 245-247, 249 Defence regulatory genes, 114 Differential in-gel electrophoresis (DIGE), 38 Differentially expressed genes (DEGs), 104 Digital gene expression (DGE), 108 Dioleoyl-ammonium chloride (DODAC) act. 286 Direct flow injection (DFI), 132 Disease-resistant gene, 108 Dispersion, of nanomaterials, 220 DNA repair system, 298 Double-strand breaks (DSBs), 131, 324, 328, 329 Downconversion nanoparticles (DNCP), 229 Drought stress, 216, 217, 219, 221, 227 Drought stress tolerance, 259, 260, 262

E

Earth BioGenome Project, 101 Effector-triggered immunity (ETI), 98 Electron transport chain, 229 Electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA), 156 Emulsion PCR (emPCR), 30 Engineered nanomaterials (ENMs), 222 Engineering plant biotic stress resistance, 307 Environmental stresses, 136 EPPN projects, 244 Essential oils, 396 Euclidian distance, 102 European Molecular Biology Laboratory, 175 EXORDIUM (EXO), 155

F

Fatty acid desaturase 2 (FAD2), 332 *Ficus carica*, 137 Finger millet, 131 First-generation sequencing, 25, 26 Foliar Mn nanoparticle treatment, 222 Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), 100 Food production, 94, 95 Food security, 61, 62, 80 Foodomics, 205, 206 Forward genetic screening, 183 Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS), 132 Fruit

metabolomics, 136

Functional genomics, 107 Functional markers, 115 *Fusarium oxysporum* infection, 219

G

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), 132, 134 GenBank, 174, 175 Gene cloning, 183 Gene network, 150-153, 160 Gene ontology analysis, 154 Gene staking/pyramiding, 100 General regulatory factors (GRFs), 164 GeneSpring GX software (Agilent), 151 Genetic diversity, 125 Genetic engineering, 161, 165, 166 Genetic modification (GM), 316 Genome Association and Prediction Integrated Tool (GAPIT), 183 Genome editing (GE), 2, 3, 296, 323 CRISPR-based genome editing system, limitations of, 12 by CRISPR/Cas9 approach, 69, 70 CRISPR revolution, 4 Cas12, 5 Cas13, 5, 6 crop domestication, 10, 12 disease-resistant cultivars development, 8.10.11 SpCas9 protein, 4, 5 for yield and quality improvement, 6-10 regulatory concerns of, 12, 13 Genome editing approach macronutrient use efficiency amylose/amylopectin, 370 boron, 369 cadmium, 369 iron, 366-368 nitrogen, 363-365 phosphorous, 365, 366 phytic acid, 369, 370 potassium and phosphorous, 366 zinc, 368 nutrient use efficiency, 363, 364 Genome editing technologies crop plants, 296 CRISPR-Cas System, 299–303 engineering plant biotic stress resistance, 307 enhanced produce quality, 306 plant abiotic stress resilience, 306, 307

Genome editing technologies (cont.) transcription activator-like effector nucleases, 298, 299 yield traits, improvement of, 304, 306 zinc finger nucleases, 297 Genome-wide associated studies (GWAS), 106, 125, 182, 239, 242, 245, 247, 248 Genomic approach crop improvement, omics approaches, 71, 72 Genomic databases, 175 Genomic regions for cereal grain quality improvement, 317 Genomics, 32-35, 39, 101, 199-201, 206 Genotyping by sequencing (GBS), 106, 107 Geranium, 393 Geranium essential oil (GEO), 393 German Plant Phenotyping Network (DPPN), 244 Gibberellic acid, 98 Global warming, 244, 245 Glutathione peroxidase (GPX), 268 Glutathione S-transferase (GST), 268 Gluten-free diets (GF), 334 Gnla,7 Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), 288 Grain protein content (GPC) OTLs for, 319-322 Grain quality improvement cereals, 316, 317 amino acids and grain protein content, QTLs for, 319-322 barley, 334 commercial varieties with improved nutritional value, 322, 323 CRISPR/ Cas9, 328-330 CRISPR/Cas, 330 genome editing, 323 genomic regions/QTLs, 317 iron and zinc content, QTLs for, 318.322 maize, 330, 331 pro-vitamin A, QTLs for, 317 rice, 332, 333 sorghum, 327, 335 TALENs, 325, 326, 328 wheat, 334 zinc finger nucleases, 324 GrainGenes, 175, 176 Gramene, 175 Green fluorescent protein (GFP), 225 Guide RNA (gRNA), 178, 280 GuidePro, 179 GuideScan, 179

H

Heat shock protein (HSP), 263, 264 Heat shock transcription factors (HSFs), 161 Heavy metals, 386-388, 390, 391 Heavy metal tolerance, 268, 270 Helicos sequencing, 101 Herbivore-associated elicitors (HAEs), 98 Herbivore-associated molecular patterns (HAMPs), 98 Herbivore-induced plant volatiles (HIPVs), 107 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), 132, 134 High-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS), 132 High-temperature tolerance in plants, 262-264 High-throughput marker genotyping technology crop improvement, 68 High-throughput phenomics, 247 High-throughput plant phenotyping, 244, 245 Homeodomain leucine zipper (HD-ZIP) family, 157 Homology-dependent repair (HDR), 280, 325, 349 Hypersensitive responses (HRs), 98

I

Illumina (sequencing by synthesis), 101 Illumina technology, 28, 29 IMA1, 368 IMA2, 368 Image-based traits (i-traits) approach, 248 InfoCrop rice model, 61 Inositol methyl transferase gene (IMT1), 260 Integrative genomics in crop improvement breeding targets, 183 forward genetic approach, 183 GWAS, 182 quantitative trait loci, 181, 182 reverse genetic approach, 183 Interactome, 402 Ion Torrent, 30, 131 Ionomic approach crop improvement, omics approaches, 75, 76 Iron (Fe) macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 366-368 macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 357-359 QTLs for, 318, 322

Index

J

Jasmonic acid (JA), 98, 367 Jatropha curcas, 131

K

KnetMiner, 176

L

Lander-Waterman equation, 27 Lemongrass, 388 Leucine-rich repeat (LRR), 98 Leucine zipper domain (ZIP), 157 Ligation, 27 Light-capturing nanomaterials, 229 Light harvesting by nanoparticles, 228, 229 Lipid NPs, 285, 286 Lipoxygenase (LOX), 99 Lippia, 397 Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS), 134 Lolium rigidum, 131 Long non-coding RNAs, 114 Low-temperature tolerance in plants barley proteome analysis, 266 changes in genes expression, 265 rice proteome analysis, 267, 268 wheat proteome analysis, 266 Lupinus angustifolius, 357

Μ

Machine learning (ML), 185, 247 in phenomics, 245 Macronutrient use efficiency transgenic approach boron, 361, 362 calcium, 362 iron, 357-359 magnesium, 361 manganese, 360, 361 nitrogen, 350-353 phosphorous, 353, 354 potassium, 355, 356 sulfur, 356, 357 zinc, 359, 360 genome editing approach amylose/amylopectin, 370 boron, 369 cadmium, 369 iron, 366-368 nitrogen, 363-365

phosphorous, 365, 366 phytic acid, 369, 370 potassium and phosphorous, 366 zinc. 368 Magnaporthe oryzae, 10, 108 Magnesium (Mg) macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 361 Maize crops, changing climate, 60, 61 Manganese (Mn) macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 360, 361 Mannitol dehydrogenase (mtlD), 260 Marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC), 322 Marker-assisted breeding (MAB), 322 Marker-assisted selection (MAS), 106 Marker-trait associations (MTAs), 128 Matricaria sps., 394 Medicinal and aromatic plants (MAPs), 387 Mentha Genus, 393, 394 Mentha Piperita, 393 Metabolic genome-wide association study (mGWAS), 133 Metabolic quantitative trait loci (mQTLs), 133 Metabolites, 124, 131-137 Metabolomics, 39, 40, 79, 204-206 association analysis between metabolites and trait, 133, 134 crop breeding system, 125 crop improvement, omics approaches, 73-75 for fruit improvement, 136, 137 future perspective, 138 genetically modified crops, 134, 135 metabolomics-guided elucidation of plant stress responses, 135, 136 Metallothioneins, 269 Microarray-based methods, 34 Microarrays, 36 Microphenotypic traits, 242, 243 MicroRNAs (miRNAs), 38, 114 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), 98 Molecular marker, 183 Monsoon patterns, 62 Mugineic acids (MAs), 358 MultiGuideScan, 179 Multi-omics, 41 Multi-omics integration (MOI), 41 MutMap, 128 Mutual information, 102 Myeloblastosis (MYB), 159, 160

N

Nanobiotechnology agrochemicals based on nanoparticles chloroplasts to synchronize plant performance, 223 nanofertilizers and nanopesticides, 222, 223 CRISPR-CasU genome editing, 226 future perspectives, 229, 230 light harvesting by nanoparticles, 228, 229 nanomaterials as delivery platform, 225 nanoparticle sensors, 220, 221 plant stress tolerance by nanoparticles concentration, plant species abiotic stress, 217-218 dispersion of nanomaterials, 220 nano vs bulk materials, 215, 219 plants sensors for initial stress recognition, 221, 222 role, 215 seed nanopriming, 227, 228 Nanofertilizers, 222 Nanoparticle sensors, 220, 221 Nanopesticides, 222 Nanopriming, 227, 228 NAS gene, 358 National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), 188 Near-infrared radiation (nIR), 228 Next-generation mapping (NGM), 128 Next-generation sequencing (NGS), 26, 27, 180 agri-genomics for sustainable agricultural production, 128 application in phenotypic traits of agricultural crops, 126 future perspective, 138 genome applications by, 67, 68 genomics and pangenomes for agriculture, 127 in plant breeding, 130, 131 NGS platforms (NGSPs), 125 Nitrogen (N) macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 363, 365 macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 350-353 Non-destructive liquid chromatography mass-spectroscopy (LC-MS), 132 Nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ), 280, 325, 349 North American Plant Phenotyping Network (NAPPN), 244

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectrometry, 40, 132 Nucleotide-binding site (NBS), 98 Nutrient use efficiency (NUE), 348 genome editing approach, enhancement of, 363, 364 transgenic approach, enhancement of, 350

0

Ocimum basilicum, 392 Ocimum Species, 392 Oligogalacturonoids (OGAs), 99 Omics cryobionomics, 207 foodomics, 205, 206 future perspectives, 208-210 genomics, 199, 201 metabolomics, 204, 205 proteomics, 201 transcriptomics, 203 Omics technology in plant science, 24 first-generation sequencing, 25, 26 functional genomics, 35 genomics, 32-35 Illumina technology, 28, 29 Ion Torrent technology, 30 metabolomics, 39, 40 multi-omics, 41 next-generation sequencing, 26, 27 Oxford Nanopore technology, 32 Pacific Biosciences technology, 31 proteomics, 38, 39 pyrosequencing technology, 27, 28 second-generation sequencing, 27 single-cell technologies, 42, 43 single-cell transcriptomics, 43-45 third-generation sequencing, 30, 31 transcriptomics, 35-38 Optical mapping, 181 Origanum, 398 Origanum vulgare L. (OV), 398 Oropetium thomaeum, 181 Oryza sativa, 182, 332, 333 OsCDPK7 gene, 262 OsEFF922, 10 Osnramp5, 369 OsPTR9-RNAi approach, 351 Overexpression of OsNRT2.1, 351 Oxaloacetic acid (OAA), 391 Oxford Nanopore Technologies, 32, 101, 180, 181

Р

Pacific biosciences (PacBio), 31, 101, 180.181 Pangenomes, 127, 128 Pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI), 97 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 97-98 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 97 PAVOOC tool, 180 Pearson correlation, 102 Pelargonium sepulchre L., 393 Perceptron, 246 Phenomic approach crop improvement, omics approaches, 75 Phenomics controlled environment phenotyping, 244 for crop microphenotypic traits, 242, 243 future perspectives, 249 high-throughput phenomics, 247, 248 high-throughput plant phenotyping platforms, 244, 245 machine learning application in, 245, 247 ongoing challenges, 241 Phonoscope, 242 Phosphorous (P) macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 365, 366 macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 353, 354 Phosphorous use efficiency (PUE), 353 Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), 229 Physcomitrella patens, 270 Phytic acid macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 369, 370 Phytochelatins, 269 Phytogenomic machine learning, 247 Phytohormones, 98, 99 Phytoremediation advantages and limitations of, 407, 408 aromatic plants for, 387, 388 basil, 392 Chamomile, 394 Cymbopogon, 388, 390 Cymbopogon martini, 395 geranium, 393 Lavandula, 396, 397 Lippia, 397 Mentha Genus, 393, 394 Origanum, 398 rosemary, 394, 395 Sage, 395, 396

vetiver grass, 390, 391 metabolomics research within analytical technologies in, 398, 403-407 Phytoremediation-OMICS technology aromatic plants, as new candidates, 386 medicinal and aromatic plant species, 387 Phytosiderophores, 358 Phytozome, 175 Plant abiotic stress resilience, gene editing, 306, 307 Plant breeding, 58, 130, 132 Plant genomes, 101 Plant science omics technology in, 24 first-generation sequencing, 25, 26 functional genomics, 35 genomics, 32-35 Illumina technology, 28, 29 Ion Torrent technology, 30 metabolomics, 39, 40 multi-omics, 41 next-generation sequencing, 26, 27 Oxford Nanopore technology, 32 Pacific Biosciences technology, 31 proteomics, 38, 39 pyrosequencing technology, 27, 28 second-generation sequencing, 27 single-cell technologies, 42, 43 single-cell transcriptomics, 43-45 third-generation sequencing, 30, 31 transcriptomics, 35-38 Plant secondary metabolites, 132 Plant stress responses, 135 Plasmid cytomegalovirus chloramphenicol transference (pCMVCAT), 286 Ploidy, 130 Poly (B-amino ester) (PBAE) polymers, 287 Poly(N-(N-(2-aminoethyl)-2-aminoethyl) aspartamide) (PAsp(DET), 288 Poly[(2-dimethylamino) ethyl methacrylate] (pDMAEMA), 287 Polyamidoamine (PAMAM), 287 Polyethylene glycol (PEG), 268, 286 Polymeric NPs, 287 Portcullis, 185 Potassium (K) macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 355, 356 Potassium (K) use efficiency (KUE), 355 Potassium and phosphorous macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 366 Proanthocyanidins, 333

Programmed cell death (PCD), 98 Proteomics, 38, 39, 201, 202, 206 crop improvement, omics approaches, 73-75 Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) spectroscopy, 136 Proto-spacer adjacent-motif (PAM), 280, 300 Pro-vitamin A QTLs for, 317 Pseudomonas aeruginosa citrate synthase (CSb), 354 Pseudomonas syringae, 160 psRNATarget, 114 Puccinia striiformis, 130 Pulses crops, changing climate, 63-66 Pyricularia oryzae, 219 Pyrosequencing technology, 27, 28

Q

Quantitative trait loci (QTL), 71, 106, 128, 181–183, 190, 201, 204, 239 for amino acids and grain protein content, 319–322 for cereal grain quality improvement, 317 for iron and zinc content, 318, 322 for pro-vitamin A, 317

R

Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), 106 RASQUAL, 182 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 150, 157, 160 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 106 Reverse genetic approach, 183 Rice (Oryza sativa L.), 267, 332, 333 crops, changing climate, 61, 62 Rice seedlings, 268 RNA-guided nucleases, 349 RNAi methods, 129 RNA-seq, 37 Robust phenomics, 241 Roche 454, 101, 130 Roche technology, 130 RootAnalyzer, 242 Rosemary, 394, 395 Rose-scented geranium, 393 Rosmarinus Officinalis, 394, 395

\mathbf{S}

Sage, 395, 396 Salicylic acid (SA), 98 Salinity, 131 Salinity stress tolerance, 270 Salt overly sensitive (SOS) pathway, 165 Salt shock proteins (SSPs), 271 Salvia sclarea L., 395, 396 Scanalyzer3D platform, 242 Seed nanopriming, 227, 228 Selectively amplified microsatellite polymorphic locus (SAMPL), 106 Sequence databases, 186 Sequence-related amplified polymorphism (SRAP), 106 Sequencing by synthesis (SBS)-based technology, 28 Serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE), 125 sfa8, 357 sgRNA, 282 Shoot apical meristems (SAMs), 247 SHOREmap, 128 Shotgun sequencing, 32 Silicon nanoparticles, 216 Simple sequence repeats (SSR), 106, 131 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 131.182 Single-cell technologies, 42, 43 Single-guide RNA (sgRNA), 280, 282-285 Single-molecule real-time (SMRT) sequencers, 101 Single-stranded oligodeoxynucleotide (ssODN), 282 Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), 221, 225 SMRT sequencing, 31 SNP ratio mapping (SRM), 128 Soil bioaugmentation, 392 SOLiD technologies, 125 Sorghum, 327, 335 Sorghum bicolor, 326-327, 335 SOS3 protein, 165 SpCas, mechanistic features of, 301 SpCas9 protein, 4, 5 SpCas9 systems, variants and orthologs, 301 Spodoptera litura, 219 Stabilized plasmid particles (SPLPs), 286 Staggered herringbone mixing (SHM), 286 String software, 151 Structure databases, 186 Sulfur (S)

Index

macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 356, 357 Sunflower seed albumin (SSA), 357 Support vector machines, 246 Susceptibility genes, 108 SWISS tool, 180 Synergizing CRISPR, 179 Systemic acquired resistance (SAR), 98

Т

Target region amplification polymorphism (TRAP), 106 Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING), 183 Taxonomy Browser, 188 Template-primer-polymerase, 31 Tetracycline (TC), 391 Third-generation sequencing techniques, 181 Tobacco curly shoot virus (TbCSV), 297 Tomato yellow leaf curl China virus (TYLCCNV), 297 Transcriptional activator-like effector nuclease (TALEN), 2, 177, 298, 299 cereals, grain quality improvement, 325, 326, 328 Transcriptome sequencing (RNA-seq), 130 Transcriptomic approach crop improvement, omics approaches, 72, 73 Transcriptomics, 35-38, 102, 104, 203, 204, 206 Transfer learning, 247 Transgenic approach macronutrients use efficiency boron, 361, 362 calcium, 362 iron, 357-359 magnesium, 361 manganese, 360, 361 nitrogen, 350-353 phosphorous, 353, 354 potassium, 355, 356 sulfur, 356, 357 zinc, 359, 360 nutrient use efficiency, 350 T-rich PAMs, 349 Trifolium pratense, 131 TrinotateWeb, 130 Triticum aestivum, 185

Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, 38 Type B *Arabidopsis thaliana* response regulators (ARRs), 163

U

Ubiquitin promoter (pUbi), 351 UDPglucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase), 268 Ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC), 132 Unfolded protein response (UPR), 162 Upconversion and downconversion of nanoparticles, 228 Upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs), 228

V

Vegetables changing climate, 60 Vetiver grass (VG), 390, 391

W

Weeds, 95, 96 Wheat, 266, 334 crops, changing climate, 62, 63 Wheat Information System, 175 WRKY family, 160

Х

Xanthomonas, 10

Y

Yield traits improvement of, 306

Z

Zea mays, 330, 331 Zinc macronutrients use efficiency, genome editing approach, 368 macronutrients use efficiency, transgenic approach, 359, 360 QTLs for, 318, 322 Zinc finger nuclease (ZFN), 2, 177, 297, 324 Zinc finger proteins (ZFPs), 157